
Wednesday, July 21, 2021
1:00 PM

Napa Valley Transportation Authority
625 Burnell Street

Napa, CA 94559

REFER TO COVID-19 SPECIAL NOTICE

NVTA Board of Directors

******************************************COVID-19 SPECIAL NOTICE*****************************************

PUBLIC MEETING GUIDELINES FOR PARTICIPATING VIA PHONE/VIDEO CONFERENCING

Consistent with Governor’s Executive Orders No. N-25-20 and N-29-20 from the State of California and 

Napa County’s workplace restrictions, the NVTA Board of Directors meeting will be held virtually. To 

maximize public safety while still maintaining transparency, members of the public are invited to 

participate at the noticed meeting time via the methods below, barring technical difficulties:

1)  To join the meeting via Zoom video conference from your PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone or Android: go to 

https://zoom.us/join and enter meeting ID 997 5007 2830

2) To join the Zoom meeting by phone: dial 1-669-900-6833, enter meeting ID: 997 5007 2830 If asked 

for the participant ID or code, press #.

3) Watch live on YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCrpjLcW9uRmA0EE6w-eKZyw?

app=desktop

Public Comments:  Members of the public may comment on matters within the subject matter of the 

Board’s jurisdiction that are not on the meeting agenda during the general public comment item at the 

beginning of the meeting.  Comments related to a specific item on the agenda must be reserved until the 

time the agenda item is considered and the Chair invites public comment. (Members of the public are 

welcome to address the Board, however, under the Brown Act Board members may not deliberate or 

take action on items not on the agenda, and generally may only listen.)

Instructions for submitting a Public Comment are on the next page.

Agenda



Members of the public may submit a public comment in writing by emailing info@nvta .ca.gov by 10:00 

a.m. on the day of the meeting with PUBLIC COMMENT as the subject line (for comments related to an 

agenda item, please include the item number). All written comments should be 350 words or less, which 

corresponds to approximately 3 minutes or less of speaking time. Public comments emailed to 

info@nvta.ca.gov after 10 a.m. the day of the meeting will be entered into the record but not read out 

loud.  If authors of the written correspondence would like to speak, they are free to do so and should 

raise their hand and the Chair will call upon them at the appropriate time.

1.  To comment during a virtual meeting (Zoom), click the “Raise Your Hand” button (click on the 

“Participants” tab) to request to speak when Public Comment is being taken on the Agenda item.  You 

must unmute yourself when it is your turn to make your comment for up to 3 minutes.  After the allotted 

time, you will then be re-muted.  Instructions for how to “Raise Your Hand” is available at 

https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/205566129-Raise-Hand-In-Webinar.

2.  To comment by phone, press “*9” to request to speak when Public Comment is being taken on the 

Agenda item.  You must unmute yourself by pressing “*6” when it is your turn to make your comment, 

for up to 3 minutes.  After the allotted time, you will be re-muted. 

I n s t r u c t i o n s  o n  h o w  t o  j o i n  a  v i d e o  c o n f e r e n c e  a r e  a v a i l a b l e  a t : 

https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362193-Joining-a-Meeting

Ins t ruc t ions  on  how to  jo in  a  meet ing  by  phone a re  ava i lab le  a t : 

https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362663-Joining-a-meeting-by-phone

Note: The methods of observing, listening, or providing public comment to the meeting may be altered 

due to technical difficulties or the meeting may be cancelled, if needed.    

All materials relating to an agenda item for an open session of a regular meeting of the NVTA Board of 

Directors are posted on the NVTA website 72 hours prior to the meeting at : 

https://nctpa.legistar.com/Calendar.aspx  or by emailing  info@nvta.ca.gov to request a copy of the 

agenda. 

Materials distributed to the members of the Board present at the meeting will be available for public 

inspection after the meeting. Availability of materials related to agenda items for public inspection does 

not include materials which are exempt from public disclosure under Government Code sections 6253.5, 

6254, 6254.3, 6254.7, 6254.15, 6254.16, or 6254.22.

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA): This Agenda shall be made available upon request in alternate 

formats to persons with a disability.  Persons requesting a disability -related modification or 

accommodation should contact Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary, at (707) 259-8633 during 

regular business hours, at least 48 hours prior to the time of the meeting.

Note: Where times are indicated for agenda items, they are approximate and intended as estimates 

only, and may be shorter or longer as needed.

Acceso y el Titulo VI: La NVTA puede proveer asistencia/facilitar la comunicación a las personas 

discapacitadas y los individuos con conocimiento limitado del ingl és quienes quieran dirigirse a la 

Autoridad.  Para solicitar asistencia, por favor llame al número (707) 259-8633.  Requerimos que solicite 

asistencia con tres días hábiles de anticipación para poderle proveer asistencia.

Ang Accessibility at Title VI: Ang NVTA ay nagkakaloob ng mga serbisyo/akomodasyon kung hilingin 

ang mga ito, ng mga taong may kapansanan at mga indibiduwal na may limitadong kaalaman sa wikang 

Ingles, na nais na matugunan ang mga bagay-bagay na may kinalaman sa NVTA Board.  Para sa mga 

tulong sa akomodasyon o pagsasalin-wika, mangyari lang tumawag sa (707) 259-8633.  Kakailanganin 

namin ng paunang abiso na tatlong araw na may pasok sa trabaho para matugunan ang inyong 

kahilingan.



July 21, 2021NVTA Board of Directors Agenda

1.  Call to Order

2.  Roll Call

3.  Adoption of the Agenda

4.  Public Comment

5.  Chairperson’s, Board Members’, Metropolitan Transportation Commissioner's, 

and Association of Bay Area Governments Update

6.  Director's Update

7.  Caltrans' Update

Note: Where times are indicated for the agenda items, they are approximate and intended as estimates 

only and may be shorter or longer as needed.

8.  CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

8.1 Meeting Minutes of June 16, 2021 (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 8-10)

Board action will approve the June 16, 2021 meeting minutes.Recommendation:

1:15 p.m.

 

Estimated Time:

Draft MinutesAttachments:

Page 3 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/21/2021

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1dc1c36c-c01e-4c02-ad7b-1a044e923722.pdf


July 21, 2021NVTA Board of Directors Agenda

8.2 Resolution No. 21-18 Approving the Amended and Restated 

Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement and Authorization 

to Transfer an Easement Interest in Real Property Identified as 

Assessor Parcel Number 035-110-028 by Quitclaim Deed to the 

City of Napa (Kate Miller) (Pages 11-46)

Board action will approve Resolution No. 21-18 approving the Amended 

and Restated Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement and 

Authorization to Transfer an Easement Interest in Real Property Identified 

as Assessor Parcel Number (APN) 035-0110-028 by Quitclaim Deed to 

the City of Napa and authorize the Executive Director to execute and take 

all actions necessary to quitclaim the deed portions of APN 035-0110-028 

to the City of Napa.

Recommendation:

1:15 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

8.3 Amendment #4 to Project Work Order No. E-13 to NVTA 

Agreement No. 18-23 with RSA+, Inc. for Professional 

Engineering Design, Environmental & Construction Document 

Services for the Napa Valley Vine Trail-Calistoga to St. Helena 

Project (Sanjay Mishra) (Pages 47-54)

Board action will authorize the Executive Director, or designee, to 

execute and make minor modification to Amendment #4 to Project 

Work Order No. E-13 to NVTA Agreement No. 18-23 with RSA+ for 

the Project Specification and Estimates (PS&E) phase for added 

scope for an amount not to exceed $85,000.  

Recommendation:

1:15 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

9.  REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS

Page 4 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/21/2021

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3228e4d1-0cb0-402c-b6f9-baf832203487.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=810c1832-3654-462c-9004-81caf12e6377.pdf


July 21, 2021NVTA Board of Directors Agenda

9.1 Transportation Development Act Article 3 (TDA-3) Countywide 

Claim and Three-Year Program of Projects (Diana Meehan) (Pages 

55-63)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve (1) 

Resolution No. 21-19 Authorizing the Submittal of the Countywide 

Coordinated Claim to the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) 

for the Allocation of Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 TDA-3 Pedestrian/Bicycle 

Project Funds to Claimants in Napa County, and (2) Adopting the FY 

2021-22 through FY 2023-24 (3-Year Cycle) TDA-3 Program of Projects.

Recommendation:

1:15 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

9.2 Financing Approvals for the Vine Bus Maintenance Facility 

Project (Antonio Onorato) (Pages 64-370)

Board action will adopt Resolution No. 21-20 approving (1) Credit and 

Security Agreement, (2) TIFIA Loan Agreement, (3) Collateral 

Accounts and Security Agreement, (4) Irrevocable Direction to 

Deposit Farebox Revenues, (5) Irrevocable Direction to Deposit Local 

Transportation Funds (LTF), and (6) Debt Management Policy relating 

to the financing of the Vine Transit Maintenance Facility, authorizing 

the execution and delivery thereof, and authorizing staff to take actions 

related thereto.

Recommendation:

1:30 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

Page 5 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/21/2021

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bd78a929-3df5-4310-ac6d-88cd9b267bab.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cf9a5a08-d0cd-4873-baec-2716375a065f.pdf


July 21, 2021NVTA Board of Directors Agenda

9.3 Transit Operations Services Agreement No. 21-12 with Transdev 

Services Inc. (Antonio Onorato) (Pages 371-490)

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve 

Resolution No. 21-21 authorizing the Executive Director to make minor 

modifications to and execute Agreement No. 21-12 with Transdev Service, 

Inc. for transit operation services, pending the California Department of 

Transportation (Caltrans) approval. The proposed award is a five (5) year 

base contract from 2022 through 2026 and two (2) one-year options 

through 2028 for a total contract amount of $81,355,292.

 

Recommendation:

1:45 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

9.4 Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Salary Ranges for Napa Valley 

Transportation Authority (NVTA) Job Classifications (Laura 

Sanderlin) (Pages 491-502)

Board action will adopt Resolution No. 21-22 approving the FY 2021-22 

Salary Ranges for NVTA Job Classifications based upon a compensation 

study of comparable transportation agencies and Bay Area Consumer 

Price Index (CPI).

Recommendation:

2:00 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

9.5 Federal and State Legislative Update (Kate Miller) (Pages 503-515)

Information only. The Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board 

receive the Federal and State Legislative updates.

Recommendation:

2:15 p.m.Estimated Time:

Staff ReportAttachments:

10.  FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

11.  ADJOURNMENT

Page 6 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/21/2021

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=45783dda-4fc8-47ed-b323-42e88497e508.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a4311c92-b312-44ce-a9ae-c406708b4a76.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=85e66daf-edc4-4b49-aed8-e26c2f48c1d7.pdf


July 21, 2021NVTA Board of Directors Agenda

11.1  Approval of Special Meeting Date of August 18, 2021 and Adjournment

I hereby certify that the agenda for the above stated meeting was posted at a location freely

accessible to members of the public at the NVTA Offices, 625 Burnell Street, Napa, CA by

5:00 p.m. by Friday, July 16, 2021.

_______________________________________

Karalyn E. Sanderlin, Acting NVTA Board Secretary

Page 7 Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/21/2021



Napa Valley Transportation Authority
625 Burnell Street

Napa, CA 94559

Meeting Minutes

NVTA Board of Directors

1:00 PM REFER TO COVID-19 SPECIAL NOTICEWednesday, June 16, 2021

1. Call to Order

Chair Pedroza called the meeting to order at 1:01pm.

2. Pledge of Allegiance

Director Joseph recited the Pledge of Allegiance.

3. Roll Call

Chris Canning

Alfredo Pedroza

Paul Dohring

Mark Joseph

John F. Dunbar

Kerri Dorman

Belia Ramos

Geoff Ellsworth

Liz Alessio

Beth Painter

Mariam Aboudamous

Doug Weir

Gary Kraus

4. Adoption of the Agenda

Motion MOVED by JOSEPH, SECONDED by DORMAN to approve adopting of the agenda. Motion 

carried by the following vote:

Aye: Canning, Pedroza, Dohring, Joseph, Dunbar, Dorman, Ramos, Ellsworth, Alessio, and 

Painter

17 - 

Absent: Kraus, and Aboudamous2 - 

5. Public Comment

None

6. Chairperson’s, Board Members’, Metropolitan Transportation Commissioner's,

and Association of Bay Area Governments Update

ABAG Update

Next scheduled meeting is June 17, 2021

MTC Update

Chair Pedroza provided an update on recent MTC activities

Page 1Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/13/2021

July 21, 2021
NVTA Agenda Item 8.1

Continued From: New
Action Requested: APPROVE 

8



June 16, 2021NVTA Board of Directors Meeting Minutes

7.  Director's Update

Director Miller reported:

-Update to COVID 19 Mask requirement for staff and visitors of NVTA

-Update on Governor's Executive Order regarding Brown Act for Board and Committee meetings

-Introduced NVTA new staff member Farhad Farazmand

-Maintenance Facility financing update

8.  Caltrans' Update

Kelly Hirschberg provided a Caltrans update.

Daniel Chang of Caltrans, provided a presentation of Huichica Creek project.

9.  PRESENTATIONS

9.1 Napa County Safe Routes to School - Public Opinion Research Findings and Next Steps 

(Patrick Band)

Patrick Band of Napa County Bicycle Coalition and Sara LaBatt of EMC Research led the 

presentation.

10.  CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

Motion MOVED by CANNING, SECONDED by JOSEPH to APPROVE Consent Items 10.1. Motion 

carried by the following vote:

Aye: Canning, Pedroza, Dohring, Joseph, Dunbar, Dorman, Ramos, Ellsworth, and Alessio16 - 

Absent: Kraus, and Aboudamous2 - 

Abstain: Painter1 - 

10.1 Meeting Minutes of May 19, 2021 (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 8-11)

Draft Minutes.pdfAttachments:

11.  REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS

11.1 Resolution 21-17 Exception to the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act 180-Day Wait 

Period (Laura Sanderlin) (Pages 12-16)

Staff Report.pdfAttachments:

Motion MOVED by ALESSIO, SECONDED by ELLSWORTH to APPROVE Resolution 21-17. Motion 

carried by the following vote:

Aye: Canning, Pedroza, Dohring, Joseph, Dorman, Ramos, Ellsworth, Alessio, Painter, and 

Aboudamous

17 - 

Absent: Dunbar, and Kraus2 - 

Page 2Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/13/2021

9

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d1c8d36e-7a0e-473d-be99-5bf4a9d95aca.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e3e2525a-c446-4fb8-8db6-2aca2ba9f3d1.pdf


June 16, 2021NVTA Board of Directors Meeting Minutes

11.2 Design and Install Four (4) Electric Vehicle Charging Stations including Two (2) in 

Yountville and Two (2) in St. Helena (Sanjay Mishra) (Pages 17-28)

Staff Report.pdfAttachments:

Motion MOVED by JOSEPH, SECONDED by DORMAN to APPROVE design and installation of four 

electric charging stations. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Canning, Pedroza, Dohring, Joseph, Dorman, Ramos, Ellsworth, Alessio, Painter, and 

Aboudamous

17 - 

Absent: Dunbar, and Kraus2 - 

11.3 Vine Transit Update (Rebecca Schenck) (Pages 29-33)

Staff Report.pdfAttachments:

Information Only/No action taken

11.4 Federal and State Legislative Update (Kate Miller) (Pages 33-47)

Staff Report.pdfAttachments:

Information Only/No action taken

12. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

None

13. CLOSED SESSION

Reportable action: Board voted in favor to formally reject claim.

14. ADJOURNMENT

Chair Pedroza adjourned the meeting at 2:28pm.

14.1  Approval of Next Regular Meeting Date of July 21, 2021 and Adjournment

_____________________________________

Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary

Page 3Napa Valley Transportation Authority Printed on 7/13/2021

10

http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8d9d8eae-2072-468f-9e14-b484f0f52631.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=339a3ddf-8f9e-41aa-bf90-3bb282236c07.pdf
http://nctpa.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b44deef5-e421-4c71-a3b7-734652f9c7ec.pdf


July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Resolution No. 21-18 Approving the Amended and Restated Grant of Easement and 
Easement Agreement and Authorization to Transfer an Easement Interest in Real 
Property Identified as Assessor Parcel Number 035-110-028 by Quitclaim Deed to the 
City of Napa 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-
18 Authorization to Convey Fee Simple Interest in Real Property Identified as Assessor 
Parcel Number (APN) 035-0110-028 by Quitclaim Deed to the City of Napa and authorize 
the Executive Director to execute and take all actions necessary to quitclaim the deed 
portions of APN 035-0110-028 to the City of Napa. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On April 15, 2015 the NVTA Board approved an agreement and accepted a parcel from 
Arthur and Judith Housley to construct the Solano Section of the Napa Valley Vine Trail. 
Since that time, NVTA completed the project and staff is now proposing to transfer the 
parcel to the City of Napa.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

11



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

ERRATA 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Kate Miller, Executive Director 

(707) 259-8634/Email: kmiller@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Resolution No. 21-18 Approving the Amended and Restated Grant of 
Easement and Easement Agreement and Authorization to Transfer an 
Easement Interest in Real Property Identified as Assessor Parcel 
Number 035-110-028 by Quitclaim Deed to the City of Napa 

______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-
18 (Attachment 1) approving the Amended and Restated Grant of Easement and 
Easement Agreement and Authorization to Transfer an Easement Interest in Real 
Property Identified as Assessor Parcel Number (APN) 035-0110-028 by Quitclaim Deed 
to the City of Napa and authorize the Executive Director to execute and take all actions 
necessary to quitclaim the deed portions of APN 035-0110-028 to the City of Napa. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
Not applicable. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On April 15, 2015 the NVTA Board approved an easement agreement and accepted a 
parcel from Arthur Housley and Judith Housley to construct the City of Napa to Yountville 
section of the Vine Trail.  The trail was completed and is being maintained by the City of 
Napa and the easement is to be transferred to the City of Napa consistent with the project 
plan.  In order for the City to accept the transfer of the easement, the City requested 
certain modifications to the easement.  NVTA obtained the approval of the Housleys for 
the attached Amended and Restated Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement. Staff 
is requested that the Board approve the acceptance of the Amended and Restated Grant 
of Easement and Easement Agreement and authorize the transfer of the easement 
interest of the City of Napa.   

12

mailto:kmiller@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 2 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
The Quitclaim Deed has been reviewed by the City of Napa.  Once the NVTA Executive 
Director executes the Quitclaim Deed, the documents will be presented to the City Council 
of Napa for Approval.  City Council’s action will allow for NVTA to transfer the property to 
the City of Napa.  
 
The delay was caused by the City rejecting the original easement language.  The 
language was subsequently modified in coordination with the City and the Amended and 
Restated Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement has been signed by Arthur 
Housley and Judith Housley. 
 
Notice of the proposed transfer to the City was published in the Napa Valley Register on 
June 27, 2021.  A copy of the notification has been included as attachment.  
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Board could decide to delay or not transfer the easement to the City of Napa and, 
therefore, continue to incur costs and liability exposures to insure and maintain the parcel. 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
List which goal and note how it will be met. 
 
Goal 3: Use taxpayer dollars efficiently – the Napa Valley Vine Trail meets all of the goals 
adopted by the NVTA board but this specific action reduces NVTA’s legal liability 
exposure and maintenance costs by permanently transferring the parcel to the City of 
Napa. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachments:  (1) Resolution No. 21-18 (Errata) 

(2) Amended and Restated Grant of Easement and Easement 
  Agreement APN 035-110-028 (Errata) 
(3) Quitclaim Deed to City of Napa 035-110-028 
(4) Public Notice (Errata) 

13



RESOLUTION No. 21-18 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

AUTHORIZATION TO APPROVE THE AMENDED AND RESTATED GRANT OF 
EASEMENT AND TRANSFER AN EASEMENT INTEREST IN REAL PROPERTY 

IDENTIFIED AS ASSESSOR PARCEL NUMBER 035-110-028 BY 
QUITCLAIM DEED TO THE CITY OF NAPA 

WHEREAS, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is the owner of 
certain real property consisting of the Napa Valley Vine Trail easement identified as a 
portion of Assessor Parcel Number 035-110-028 in the City of Napa, County of Napa, 
State of California (Property); 

WHEREAS, NVTA desires to convey the easement to the City of Napa for the 
maintenance of the Napa Valley Vine Trail and thereafter the Property will no longer be 
required for NVTA but it will remain as part of the Napa Valley Vine Trail;  

WHEREAS, NVTA desires to approve the acceptance of the Amended and 
Restated Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement executed by the grantors on May 
21, 2021, which provided revisions to the easement requested by the City of Napa prior 
to the transfer of the easement to the City of Napa;  

WHEREAS, NVTA has reviewed and determined that the conveyance of the 
Property as being categorically exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”) pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) as the proposed 
project is merely the conveyance of title to real property and does not involve construction 
or development; therefore, no significant impact on the environment will occur; and 

WHEREAS, NVTA and the City of Napa concur that it would be in both parties best 
interest to transfer the Property to the City therefore; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors hereby 
adopts, based upon a review of the evidence and information presented on the matter, 
and has determined that the proposed conveyance is categorically exempt from CEQA 
pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b) (3) as there is no possibility that 
the activity in question will have a significant effect on the environment because it is only 
a transfer of title to real property and no further construction activities or development is 
to occur. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors finds that with this 
transfer the City of Napa will continue to maintain the Property as part of the Napa Valley 
Vine Trail and therefore the Property will no longer be required for NVTA use and the 
transfer of this easement is in the public interest.   

ATTACHMENT 1 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2 

July 21, 2021
ERRATA 

14



 
Resolution No. 21-18 

Page 2 of 2 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors authorizes the 
acceptance of the Amended and Restated Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement 
attached as Exhibit “A” related to Assessor Parcel Numbers 035-110-028. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors authorizes the 

conveyance of the Easement by Quitclaim Deed to the City of Napa for the easement 
portion of the real property located in the City of Napa identified as a portion of Assessor 
Parcel Numbers 035-110-028, in the substantial form as Exhibit “A” attached hereto.  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Executive Director, or designee, is 
authorized to execute any documents and take such action to complete this transaction. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the NVTA Board Secretary had given notice 
hereof as provided in Section 6061 of the Government Code. 
 

THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION WAS DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED by 
the Board of Directors of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, at a regular meeting 
held on July 21, 2021, by the following vote: 
 
 
_______________________ 
Alfredo Pedroza, NVTA Chair      Ayes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                Nays: 
 
 
 
                Absent: 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  
 
________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
APPROVED:  
 
_______________________________ 
DeeAnne Gillick, NVTA Legal Counsel 

15



RESOLUTION No. 21-18
EXHIBIT "A"

16



1. This Amended Agreement shall modify and replace the Original Easement
Agreement. 

2. Grantor hereby grants and conveys to Grantee, a permanent, non-exclusive public
access easement ("Subject Easement") over, across, above and under that portion of the Property 
described on Exhibit "B" attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference ("Easement 
Area"), subject to the terms, conditions and limitations set forth herein. 

3. The Subject Easement shall be for the sole and limited purposes of constructing,
making future improvements to, repairing, maintaining and operating a recreational bicycle and 
pedestrian trail for use by the general public, and including those related improvements described 
in section 5 below. If the stated purpose of the Subject Easement ceases for a continuous period 
of more than one year, that is, if the Subject Easement is not used by the general public as a 
recreational pedestrian and bicycle trail for that continuous period, at any time in the future, then in 
that event, upon written demand by Grantor, Grantee shall proceed with the abandonment of the 
public easement pursuant to the procedure set forth in California Streets & Highways Code section 
8320 et seq .. Within thirty days of receipt of such written demand Grantee shall initiate the process 
to vacate the Subject Easement and at the conclusion of such proceedings, if approved, Grantee 
shall record a resolution of abandonment of the Subject Easement, with Grantee having no further 
right, title or interest therein. Closure of, or cessation of use upon, the Easement Area at times for 
repairs, maintenance, reconstruction or other improvement, due to acts of God or nature, or other 
causes beyond the reasonable control of Grantee, shall not be deemed abandonment nor count 
towards said one year period. 

4. No motorized vehicles shall be permitted to use the Easement Area, save and
except for emergency, public safety vehicles (police, fire and ambulance services), normal 
construction and maintenance vehicles, and motorized wheelchairs for use by handicapped users 
of the Easement Area. This paragraph does not apply to electric bicycles, electric scooters and 
other similar personal transportation or recreational devices that are allowed on City bicycle trails 
in accordance with California state law and/or local ordinance. 

5. Grantee shall operate and maintain the Easement Area with reasonable diligence
and care to keep it free of graffiti and trash and in good condition and repair. Grantee further 
agrees to promptly and in good faith take reasonable steps to resolve any damage or 
maintenance issue related to these obligations that Grantor brings to the attention of Grantee. 

6. The Subject Easement includes the right of Grantee to design, install, repair,
improve and maintain a paved and/or graveled trail, related drainage improvements, and any and 
all utility lines and fixtures, including for utilities such as water, lighting, emergency telephone 
call boxes, or other telecommunications, all to be for the exclusive use and benefit of users of the 
Easement Area. Provided however Grantee is prohibited from planting trees within the Easement 
Area and from installing commercial signs. The parties agree that Grantee may install and 
maintain directional or information signs related to the purpose of the Subject Easement. Grantee 
shall cause all improvements in the Easement Area to be designed, installed and maintained in a 
good, workmanlike manner and condition, in accordance with all applicable codes and regulations. 

2 

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



. 

29



ATTACHMENT 2 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2 

July 21, 2021
ERRATA

30



1. This Amended Agreement shall modify and replace the Original Easement
Agreement. 

2. Grantor hereby grants and conveys to Grantee, a permanent, non-exclusive public
access easement ("Subject Easement") over, across, above and under that portion of the Property 
described on Exhibit "B" attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference ("Easement 
Area"), subject to the terms, conditions and limitations set forth herein. 

3. The Subject Easement shall be for the sole and limited purposes of constructing,
making future improvements to, repairing, maintaining and operating a recreational bicycle and 
pedestrian trail for use by the general public, and including those related improvements described 
in section 5 below. If the stated purpose of the Subject Easement ceases for a continuous period 
of more than one year, that is, if the Subject Easement is not used by the general public as a 
recreational pedestrian and bicycle trail for that continuous period, at any time in the future, then in 
that event, upon written demand by Grantor, Grantee shall proceed with the abandonment of the 
public easement pursuant to the procedure set forth in California Streets & Highways Code section 
8320 et seq .. Within thirty days of receipt of such written demand Grantee shall initiate the process 
to vacate the Subject Easement and at the conclusion of such proceedings, if approved, Grantee 
shall record a resolution of abandonment of the Subject Easement, with Grantee having no further 
right, title or interest therein. Closure of, or cessation of use upon, the Easement Area at times for 
repairs, maintenance, reconstruction or other improvement, due to acts of God or nature, or other 
causes beyond the reasonable control of Grantee, shall not be deemed abandonment nor count 
towards said one year period. 

4. No motorized vehicles shall be permitted to use the Easement Area, save and
except for emergency, public safety vehicles (police, fire and ambulance services), normal 
construction and maintenance vehicles, and motorized wheelchairs for use by handicapped users 
of the Easement Area. This paragraph does not apply to electric bicycles, electric scooters and 
other similar personal transportation or recreational devices that are allowed on City bicycle trails 
in accordance with California state law and/or local ordinance. 

5. Grantee shall operate and maintain the Easement Area with reasonable diligence
and care to keep it free of graffiti and trash and in good condition and repair. Grantee further 
agrees to promptly and in good faith take reasonable steps to resolve any damage or 
maintenance issue related to these obligations that Grantor brings to the attention of Grantee. 

6. The Subject Easement includes the right of Grantee to design, install, repair,
improve and maintain a paved and/or graveled trail, related drainage improvements, and any and 
all utility lines and fixtures, including for utilities such as water, lighting, emergency telephone 
call boxes, or other telecommunications, all to be for the exclusive use and benefit of users of the 
Easement Area. Provided however Grantee is prohibited from planting trees within the Easement 
Area and from installing commercial signs. The parties agree that Grantee may install and 
maintain directional or information signs related to the purpose of the Subject Easement. Grantee 
shall cause all improvements in the Easement Area to be designed, installed and maintained in a 
good, workmanlike manner and condition, in accordance with all applicable codes and regulations. 

2 

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



. 

43



WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:

NAME City of Napa 
Attn:  City Clerk
P.O. Box 660
Napa, CA  94559-0660 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER'S USE 

QUITCLAIM DEED 

(portion of) A.P.N: 035-110-028 

This document is exempt from recording fees 
pursuant to Government Code § 27383 and 
exempt from Documentary Transfer Tax pursuant 
to Revenue and Taxation Code §11922 

FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the CITY 
OF NAPA, a municipal corporation, does hereby remise, release, and forever quitclaim 
to Napa County Transportation and Planning Agency, all right, title, and interest in the 
following described real property situate, lying and being in the County of Napa, State of 
California, more particularly described as follows: 

All that certain real property conveyed by the Grant Deed to Napa County Transportation and 
Planning Agency recorded June 28, 2018 as Instrument Number 2018-0012840, Napa 
County Official Records, further described and shown in Exhibits A and B, attached hereto 
and by this reference incorporated herein. 

Dated     _________________ 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 

By:_____________________________________ 
     Alfredo Pedroza, NVTA Board Chair 

MAIL TAX STATEMENTS TO: 
SAME AS ABOVE 

ATTACHMENT 3 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2 

July 21, 2021 

44



ALL PURPOSE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who 
signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of 
that document.  

STATE OF CALIFORNIA  ) 
 )SS 

COUNTY OF NAPA   ) 

On ________________________________, before me,  ____         _____________, Notary Public, 
personally appeared _______________________________________, who proved to me on the basis of 
satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and 
acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the 
person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

Signature  (Seal) 
Notary Public 

45



NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION  AUTHORITY 

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO CONVEY FEE SIMPLE INTEREST IN REAL PROPERTY 
TO THE CITY OF NAPA 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is the 
owner of certain real property consisting of the Napa Valley Vine Trail identified with 
Assessor Parcel Number 035-110-028 in the City of Napa, County of Napa, State of 
California (Property). NVTA desires to convey the Property to the City of Napa (City) for 
the maintenance of the Napa Valley Vine Trail and thereafter will no longer be required 
for NVTA use. NVTA and the City concur that it would be in both parties best interests to 
transfer the Property to the City. Therefore, the NVTA Board of Directors, in regular 
session on July 21, 2021 at 1:00 PM at 625 Burnell St Napa, CA 94559 intends to covey 
to the City the Property.  Due to the Pandemic, in-person NVTA Board meetings have 
been suspended until further notice.  Members of the public who wish to comment during 
the meeting, are encouraged to do so by participating on-line at:  
https://countyofnapa.zoom.us/j/99750072830 or by phone at:   1-669-900 6833  Webinar 
ID: 997 5007 2830 

Contact: 

Kate Miller 

(707) 259-8634

625 Burnell St.

Napa, CA 94559

kmiller@nvta.ca.gov

PUBLISH: Sunday, June 27, 2021 #136648 

#### 

ATTACHMENT 4 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.2 

July 21, 2021 
ERRATA 

46

https://countyofnapa.zoom.us/j/99750072830


July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.3 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 
 
Amendment #4 to Project Work Order No. E-13 to NVTA Agreement No. 18-23 with RSA+ 
Inc. for Professional Engineering Design, Environmental & Construction Document 
Services for the Vine Trail–St. Helena to Calistoga project. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Work Authorization 
No. E-13 to NVTA Agreement No. 18-23 – Amendment #4 with RSA+ for professional 
engineering services to complete the environmental process, Plans, Specifications and 
Estimation (PS&E) phase for the Vine Trail between St. Helena to Calistoga segment for 
additional scope for an amount not to exceed $85,000.  This additional scope constitutes 
new work by RSA+ for alignment changes due to CalFire development project, design 
changes necessary for PG&E gas project changes south of York creek, additional lead 
studies, soil sampling and hazmat disposal determination, Vine trail design changes on 
York creek and other miscellaneous changes not included in the original scope. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
PS&E for this Vine Trail segment was awarded to RSA+ Inc., on June 12, 2019 for a not 
to exceed amount of $1,400,000 for phase 1 and phase 2.  
 
Amendment #1 modified scope and did not authorize any additional funds. 
Amendment #2 authorized additional scope and added $194,160 funds to PS&E phase. 
Amendment #3 authorized $10,000 contingency to PS&E phase not to exceed amount. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Is there a Fiscal Impact? Yes:    $85,000 
Is it currently budgeted?  Yes 
Where is it budgeted?   Contributions from Napa Valley Vine Trail Coalition - $21,250 

County of Napa -$31,750 City of St. Helena – $16,000 
  City of Calistoga - $16,000 
 
Consequences if not approved:  The project would not move forward and ATP grant 
funding committed to the project for construction will be lost.   

47



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 8.3 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE or INFORMATION 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      NVTA Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Sanjay Mishra, Program Manager-Engineer 

(707) 259-5951 / Email: smishra@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Amendment #4 to Project Work Order No. E-13 to NVTA Agreement 
No. 18-23 with RSA+ Inc. for Professional Engineering Design, 
Environmental & Construction Document Services for the Vine Trail–
Calistoga to St. Helena Project 

______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive 
Director, or designee, to execute and make minor modification to Amendment #4 to 
Project Work Order No. E-13 (Attachment 1) to NVTA Agreement No. 18-23 with RSA+ 
for the Project Specification and Estimates (PS&E) phase for added scope for an amount 
not to exceed $85,000. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Napa Valley Vine Trail is envisioned as a 47-mile Class 1 mixed-use path for 
pedestrians and cyclists that will run the length of the Napa Valley (Calistoga to American 
Canyon) and connect to the San Francisco Bay Ferry Terminal in Vallejo, providing a 
crucial link to the City of San Francisco and the greater Bay Area.  The project will 
construct a bike and pedestrian trail adjacent to the State Route (SR) 29 corridor which 
will encourage bicyclists and pedestrians to take alternative modes of transportation.  The 
project will enhance the accessibility and connectivity of Napa Valley linking communities 
and neighborhoods when all segments of the 47-mile Vine Trail planned are completed.   
 
Up Valley areas currently lack significant alternative transportation and recreational 
infrastructure and these improvements will promote using transit, biking and walking.  

48

mailto:smishra@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.3 
April 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
The project has broad based community support from the Napa Valley Vine Trail,  a 
coalition representing over 20 private and public sector organizations, all involved in its 
planning, design and philanthropic funding. The largest portion of the project funding will 
come from federal, state, local government funds.  
 
The Calistoga to St. Helena Segment project will construct a 7.4 mile Class I 
bicycle/pedestrian path within the public right of way from the intersection of Fair Way 
and Lincoln Avenue in Calistoga on the northern end to Pratt Ave in St. Helena along 
State Route 29. The segment of this trail from Fair Way and Lincoln Ave to Dunaweal 
Lane is already 100% designed and has CEQA clearance.  The path shall be designed 
in accordance with local, state and federal requirements.  In general, the path will be 10 
feet wide asphalt concrete pavement, with 2 foot shoulders on either side and will 
encompass highway safety improvements. 
 
Most of the path will be located in the public right of way and runs parallel to State Highway 
29 on property belonging to or controlled by Caltrans and the State of California (State 
Parks and CalFire), all of which support this project.  Portions of the trail will be built on 
easements provided by adjacent private agricultural properties.  Owners of these 
properties have entered into agreements with the County of Napa to provide the 
easements necessary to accommodate a Class I bike and pedestrian pathway which the 
County of Napa will hold and maintain. The agreement also provides for a construction 
agreement for NVTA, it’s consultants and contractors. 
 
To date, NVTA has amended the agreement as follows: 

• Amendment #1 issued on July 7, 2020 to RSA+ Inc., to add environmental scope 
which was not part of the original scope and authorized reallocation of funds from 
the available design funds to environmental tasks to continue moving forward with 
the project. Amendment #1 did not authorize any additional funds. 

• Amendment #2 authorized additional scope and added funds to the current PS&E 
contract with RSA+ Inc. for modifications and amendments to easements at 
Twomey Cellars, New Vavin, Flynnville, Ahern, Krug and other property owners, 
to complete additional environmental work including a Finding of No Adverse Effect 
(FNAE) for 15 cultural resources along the trail alignment, to design several trail 
alignment revisions and complete associated survey, plat and legal work. 
Amendment #3 authorized the $10,000 contingency added during amendment #2 
and extended the contract time. 

 
This amendment, Amendment #4, will authorize additional scope and funds to the current 
PS&E for redesign of the Vine Trail alignment required by the CalFire development 
project, design changes necessary for the PG&E gas project changes south of York 
Creek, additional lead studies, soil sampling and hazmat disposal determination, Vine 
trail design changes on York Creek and other minor changes not included in the original 
scope. 
 

49



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 8.3 
April 21, 2021 
Page 3 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________  
 
To minimize the PS&E cost, NVTA staff continue to assist with various scope changes by 
completing tasks internally including environmental coordination, Right of Entry Permit 
with State park, design changes with CalFire, public presentations, engineering support 
for appraisals, cost estimates and various other tasks. 
 
The construction funding allocation was approved by the California Transportation 
Commission (CTC) at its May meeting. To comply with the conditions of CTC allocation, 
the project must award the construction contract within six month of the fund allocation or 
no later than October of 2021.    
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The board could decide not to approve the additional work and staff would either need to 
proceed with a request for proposal to identify another design team or terminate the 
contract and not proceed with the project.  This alternative option would likely delay the 
project beyond the current timeline to award construction and the $6.1 million in ATP 
grant funds for construction would be lost. 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 1 - Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, 
income, or ability.  
 
Goal 2 - Improve system safety in order to support all modes and serve all users. 
 
A class 1 facility along the highway would greatly improve safety by reducing collisions.  
The facility will be open to all bicyclists and pedestrians – many of whom cannot or choose 
not to drive. 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
(1) Amendment #4 to Project Work Order No. E-13 On-Call A/E & Project Delivery 

Services 

50



PROJECT WORK ORDER NO. E-13 
ON-CALL A/E & PROJECT DELIVERY SERVICES 

PROJECT NAME:  PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING DESIGN, ENVIRONMENTAL & 

CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENT SERVICES FOR THE VINE TRAIL – 
CALISTOGA TO ST HELENA – ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

PROJECT MANAGER:  Sanjay Mishra, PE, QSD, TE, Program Manager – Engineer, 
smishra@nvta.ca.gov, T 707.259.5951 

CONSULTANT DESIGNATED TEAM MEMBERS: 

 RSA+ , Staff; and

 Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., Parisi and Parikh, Staff as described in EXHIBIT A of the Project Work
Order.

SCOPE OF SERVICE:  Provide professional engineering design and environmental services as described 
in the scope of services of the Project Work Order (June 2019) – see EXHIBIT A and its EXHIBIT A-4 of 
Amendment #4 (July 2020) for the Vine Trail Calistoga to St Helena segment. 

 WHEREAS NVTA REQUIRES ADDITIONAL SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED BY THE
CONTRACTOR UNDER EXHIBIT A, A-1, A-2, AND EXHIBIT A-3 OF THE PROJECT WORK
ORDER AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT A-4 ATTACHED; AND

 WHEREAS CONTRACTOR IS ABLE TO PROVIDE THE DESCRIBED SERVICES AT AN
ADDITIONAL COST TO NVTA IN THE AMOUNT OF $85,000 AS PER COST PROPOSAL
ATTACHED IN EXHIBIT B-4; AND

 WHEREAS PROJECT WORK ORDER IS HEREBY AMENDED TO INCLUDE THE
ADDITIONAL SERVICE PERFORMANCE BY THE CONTRACTOR AT THE ADDITIONAL
AMOUNT OF $85,000 AND THE AGREEMENT NOT-TO- EXCEED TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE
PROJECT IS AMENDED TO $1,689,160.

START DATE: JUNE 12, 2019  COMPLETION DATE:  DECEMBER 31, 2022 

$1,604,160 NOT-TO-EXCEED AMOUNT FOR THIS PROJECT
NEW NTE AMOUNT OF FOR THIS PROJECT:  $1,689,160  

CHARGE NUMBER FOR PAYMENT: TDA/CMA  8301001  52310 CMA_PLAN_PRGMS  VINE_TRAIL 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS: This Amendment No. 4 to Project Work Order is issued and entered into as of the 
last date written below in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Master Agreement with 
CONTRACTOR dated MAY 15, 2018, which terms are hereby incorporated and made part of to the Project Work 
Order. 

 NVTA 

By___________________________  __________ 
KATE MILLER, Executive Director            Date 

CONTRACTOR:  RSA+ 

By:___________________________    ___________ 
CHRISTOPHER M. TIBBITS, PE, PLS         Date 
Vice President + Principal 

TAX ID 68-0427410:   
1823 RSA+/E13/A4/071221_sm_ryk 

AMENDMENT #4 
D R A F T

Page 1 of 4

ATTACHMENT 1
NVTA Agenda Item 8.3

July 21, 2021

51

mailto:smishra@nvta.ca.gov


AMENDMENT #4 

EXHIBIT A-4 

SCOPE OF WORK 

The added scope below is work required to be done in order to complete the PS&E 
documents.  These are changes necessitated by unknown elements of the project or 
changes to the project by outside sources. 

CONTRACTOR shall complete the following anticipated scope: 

 Vine Trail Alignment changes due to CalFire project.  This will require the currently
“finished” alignment to be modified.  Since this is a change late in the design process
substantial amount of re-work is necessary, including:

1. Complete restationing of reach north to next reach in plan set and all
accompanying pages/details with stationing and call outs.

2. Grading Redesign at the affected area
3. Driveway change at CalFire
4. Drainage culvert modifications
5. Relocation and partial redesign of Pedestrian Hybrid Beacon
6. Updated signage/striping plans, erosion control plans, traffic control plans

 PG&E changes south of York Street.  The new alignment to shift the trail eastward
to accommodate PG&E comes with the following updates:

1. Complete restationing of reach north to next reach in plan set and all
accompanying pages/details with stationing and call outs.

2. Grading redesign at the affected area
3. Curvature changes in Caltrans right of way
4. Potential DSDD amendment due to curvature change
5. Coordination with Vineyard 29 and Revana

 Additional Lead Studies.
1. Does not include permitting - Geocon will work under Encroachment and

Access Permits issued to Client.
2. Soil Sampling to Screen Deeper Soil (1 to 1.5 ft) for Aerially Deposited Lead

(ADL)

 Field Activities.
1. Collect deeper soil samples (1 to 1.5 ft) from 25 locations where surface

samples were previously collected and analyzed for total lead.

 Laboratory Analyses. 25 deeper soil samples for Total Lead, Incorporate result into
letter report 

 Laboratory Analysis to Establish Waste Classification.
1. Analyze soil samples with total lead concentrations >50 mg/kg for soluble

WET lead.
2. Analyze soil samples with total lead concentrations >100 mg/kg and soluble

WET lead concentrations
3. >5 mg/l for soluble TCLP lead.

Page 2 of 4
52



 

 

 Laboratory Analyses. Up to 20 soil samples for soluble WET lead Up to 10 soil 
samples for soluble TCLP lead; Incorporate result into letter report. 

 Sample Analysis to Preliminarily Characterize Soil for Class II Landfill Disposal. 
1. Submit 12 soil samples for the following laboratory analyses: CAM 17 Metals 

a. Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons as gasoline (TPHg) 
b. Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons as diesel and motor oil (TPHd/mo) 

Organochlorine Pesticides (OCPs) 
c. Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs) Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) 
d. Semi-Volatile Organic Compounds (SVOCs) Naturally Occurring 

Asbestos (NOA) 
2. Incorporate results into letter report. 

 York Creek Bridge changes.  Due to Caltrans no longer replacing York Creek 
Bridge, the project has to accommodate a new design.  The project required bike 
path revisions on the bridge. 

 Property owner requests and design items/meetings exceed originally scoped 
amounts. 

CONTRACTOR’s cost proposal and for the additional services to be provided are 
attached in EXHIBIT B-4. 

 
  

Page 3 of 4
53



 

 

AMENDMENT #4 
 

EXHIBIT B-4 

 
                        FEE SCHEDULE 
                                 (Revised) 

 

 
DESCRIPTION           AMOUNT 
 
Additional services to be performed under             $   85,000   
PS&E Phase of the project as described in  
EXHIBIT A-4 and CONTRACTOR’s cost 
proposal (revised October 8, 2020). 
 
WORK ORDER NTE AMOUNT                              $1,604,160  

 
 

                                              TOTAL NOT-TO-EXCEED                        $1,689,160 

 
The total amount to be paid to the CONTRACTOR for the scope of work defined 
under EXHIBITs A, A-1, A-2, A-3 and A-4 shall not exceed $1,689,160. Subject 
to Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall periodically invoice NVTA based on 
progress towards completion of tasks/deliverables listed, amounts not to exceed 
tasks/deliverable totals. 

 
 

 

Page 4 of 4
54



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.1 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested: APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Transportation Development Act Article 3 (TDA-3) Countywide Claim and Three-Year 
Program of Projects 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-
19 requesting the Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Transportation Development Act Article 3 
(TDA-3) allocation for Pedestrian/Bicycle project funds in the amount of $209,745 to the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) as part of the annual Countywide Claim 
and adopt the FY 2021-22 through FY 2023-24 Three-Year program of projects. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The TDA-3 program is funded by approximately 2% of the ¼ cent Statewide Sales Tax. 
NVTA receives the sales tax revenues generated in Napa which is approximately 
$150,000 per year in revenues.  All Napa jurisdictions are eligible to apply for these funds.  
Unused funds are accumulated and rolled over for programming in future cycles. The 
TDA-3 program provides grants for local bicycle and pedestrian projects. A countywide 
project claim and resolution must be submitted annually to MTC. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None - the funds will be passed through to project sponsors and will not be retained by 
NVTA. 

55



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.1 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested: APPROVE 

 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Letter 
____________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 

REPORT BY:  Diana Meehan, Senior Program Planner/Administrator 
       (707) 259-8327 / Email: dmeehan@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Transportation Development Act Article 3 (TDA-3) Countywide Claim 
and Three-Year Program of Projects  

____________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve (1) Resolution No. 
21-19 (Attachment 1) requesting the Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Transportation 
Development Act Article 3 (TDA-3) allocation for Pedestrian/Bicycle project funds in the 
amount of $209,745 to the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) as part of the 
annual Countywide Claim and (2) adopt the FY 2021-22 through FY 2023-24 Three-Year 
program of projects. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
At its May 24th meeting the Active Transportation Advisory Committee (ATAC) 
recommended that the NVTA Board of Directors approve the FY 2021-22 through FY 
2023-24 Three-Year TDA 3 project list shown in Resolution 21-19.  
 
At its July 1st meeting the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) recommended that the 
NVTA Board of Directors approve TDA 3 FY 2021-22 through FY 2023-24 Three-Year 
project list shown in Resolution 21-19.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The TDA-3 program is for bicycle and pedestrian projects funded by approximately 2% of 
the ¼ cent statewide sales tax.  This generates roughly $150,000 per year for Napa 
County jurisdictions.  Priority is given to capital projects.  Planning is a permissible activity 
under TDA-3 revenues but the funds can only be used for comprehensive planning 
activities every 5 years per jurisdiction.  Unallocated funds are rolled over for 
programming to projects in Napa County in future years.  The Metropolitan Transportation 

56

mailto:dmeehan@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.1 
July 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Commission accepts project applications annually.  Projects must be completed within 
two (2) years plus the fiscal year of allocation.  
 
A call for projects for a three-year program was issued on March 17, 2021.  Applications 
were due on May 23, 2021.  Four (4) applications were received totaling $1,085,000 
dollars. One project request can be fully funded under the recommended three-year 
programming cycle and three projects can receive partial funding as shown in Attachment 
2.  
 
The FY 2021-22 revenue estimate (Attachment 3) is $ 209,745.  NVTA revenue estimate 
for the FYs 2022-23 and 2023-24 is $150,000 annually. In addition, $53,000 from the FY 
2018-19 cycle previously programmed to the City of American Canyon will be re-
programmed to the same project.  The total estimate for the three-year cycle is $562,255, 
including the reallocated funds.  Fund estimates will be reconciled each year when MTC 
revenue estimates are received.  Full funding for projects may be considered if funding is 
significantly higher; conversely, if revenues result lower than estimated then projects will 
be reduced proportionately or rolled over to future years.   
 
The ATAC met on May 24, 2021 to finalize its recommendations to the NVTA Board.  The 
TAC met on July 1, 2021 to finalize its recommendations to the NVTA Board.   
 
After reviewing all project submittals and ATAC’s project recommendations, the TAC 
approved the list of projects included in Attachment A on Resolution No. 21-19 
(Attachment 1) and in Attachment 2 below.  Staff recommends that the Board approve 
the recommended three-year program project list and adopt Resolution No. 21-19 TDA-
3 FY 2021-22 Countywide Claim 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Board may choose not to approve the recommended three-year program project list. 
Projects would be delayed, and revenue would be carried over until a new call for projects 
is opened.  
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 1 – Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, 
income, or ability 
 
Funding through TDA-3 is reserved for bicycle and pedestrian projects and/or planning. 
This funding has provided for a wide variety of projects in this category countywide to 
serve the needs of many community members. 
 
Goal 5 – Minimize the energy and other resources required to move people and goods 

57



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.1 
July 21, 2021 
Page 3 of 3 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Bicycle and pedestrian projects can significantly reduce the adverse effects of automobile 
use, including reducing harmful auto emission and traffic congestion by encouraging 
walking and cycling. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
(1) Resolution No. 21-19 
(2) TDA-3 Program Fiscal Years 2021-22 to 2023-21 Program List of Projects 
(3) TDA-3 Program FY 2021-22 Fund Estimate 

58



 
 
 

RESOLUTION No. 21-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

AUTHORIZING THE SUBMITTAL OF 
COUNTYWIDE COORDINATED CLAIM TO THE 

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION (MTC) 
FOR THE ALLOCATION OF FISCAL YEAR (FY) 2021-22 

TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT ARTICLE 3 (TDA-3) 
PEDESTRIAN/BICYCLE PROJECT FUNDS TO CLAIMANTS IN NAPA COUNTY 

 
 

WHEREAS, Article 3 of the Transportation Development Act (TDA), Public Utilities 
Code (PUC) Section 99200 et seq., authorizes the submission of claims to a regional 
transportation planning agency for the funding of projects exclusively for the benefit 
and/or use of pedestrians and bicyclists; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC), as the regional 
transportation planning agency for the San Francisco Bay region, has adopted MTC 
Resolution No. 4108, which delineates procedures and criteria for submission of requests 
for the allocation of TDA Article 3 funds; and 
 

WHEREAS, MTC Resolution No. 4108 requires that requests from eligible 
claimants for the allocation of TDA Article 3 funds be submitted as part of a single, 
countywide coordinated claim, composed of certain required documents; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority has undertaken a 
process in compliance with MTC Resolution No. 4108 for consideration of project 
proposals submitted by eligible claimants of TDA Article 3 funds in Napa County, and a 
prioritized list of projects, included as Attachment A of this resolution, was developed as 
a result of this process; and 
 

WHEREAS, each claimant in Napa County whose project or projects have been 
prioritized for inclusion in the fiscal year 2021-22 TDA Article 3 countywide coordinated 
claim, has forwarded to the Napa Valley Transportation Authority a certified copy of its 
governing body resolution for submittal to MTC requesting an allocation of TDA Article 3 
funds;  
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Napa Valley Transportation 
Authority approves the prioritized list of projects included as Attachment A to this 
resolution; 
  

ATTACHMENT 1 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.1 

July 21, 2021 

59



Resolution No. 21-19 
Page 2 of 3 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Napa Valley Transportation Authority 

approves the submittal to MTC, of the Napa County fiscal year 2021-22 TDA Article 3 
countywide, coordinated claim, composed of the following required documents:   

A. transmittal letter 
B. a certified copy of this resolution, including Attachment A;  
C. one copy of the governing body resolution and required attachments, for each 

claimant whose project or projects are the subject of the coordinated claim; 
D. a description of the process for public and staff review of all proposed projects 

submitted by eligible claimants for prioritization and inclusion in the countywide, 
coordinated claim; 

 
Passed and Adopted the 21st day of July 2021. 
 
 
______________________ 
Alfredo Pedroza, NVTA Chair      Ayes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                Nays: 
 
 
 
                Absent: 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
APPROVED: 
 
_______________________________ 
DeeAnne Gillick, NVTA Legal Counsel 

 
  

60



Resolution No. 21-19 
Page 3 of 3 

 
ATTACHMENT A 

 
Re: Submittal of Countywide Coordinated Claim to the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission for the Allocation of Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 TDA Article 3 
Pedestrian/Bicycle Project Funds to Claimants in Napa County 
 
Prioritized List of Projects (FY 2021-22) 
 

 Short Title Description of Project 
TDA 

Article 3 
Amount 

Total 
Project 

Cost 

1. Town of Yountville Washington Park ADA 
Improvement project $ 160,000 $ 185,000 

2. City of American Canyon Eucalyptus Dr. Sidewalk 
Gap Closure $ 49,745* $210,000 

 TOTALS $ 209,745 $395,000 
  *NOTE: $53,000 will be reallocated from FY 2018-19 to this project 
 
 

61



TDA-3 Program 
Fiscal Years 2021-22 to 2023-24

ATTACHMENT 2
NVTA Agenda Item 9.1     

July 21, 2021
FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 Three Year Cycle Total

$209,745 $150,000 $150,000 509,745

53,000* $0 $0 53,000

$209,745 $150,000 $150,000 562,745

Project Sponsor Project Description Amount Requested FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 Unfunded amount Staff Recommendation Notes

City of American Canyon Eucalyptus Dr. sidewalk 
Gap Closure 150,000 102,745  $ 47,255 

Partial funding (includes 
$53,000 re-allocation 
from FY 2018-19) Staff 
recommends re-
programming previous 
allocation and an 
additional $102,745 to 
the project.

Environmental complete; Resolution of 
local support.  This project was 
delayed due to staffing changes. 
Funds previously allocated have 
expired and will be reallocated to this 
project.

City of Calistoga Logvy Park Sidewalk 
Extension 415,000 150,000  $ 265,000 Partial funding

City of Calistoga

Brannon St. Crosswalk 
and Rectangular 
Rapid Flashing 
Beacon( RRFB)

$360,000 150,000  $ 210,000 Partial funding 

This project has received funding 
through the Lifeline Transportation 
Program Cycle IV and has 
experienced significant delays due to 
requested changes by Caltrans. The 
project has a significant funding 
shortfall

Town of Yountville Washington Park ADA 
Sidewalk Improvements $160,000 160,000  $ -   Fully Fund

Yountville staff postponed requesting 
funds for this project in the last TDA-3 
Cycle Call for Projects to allow time to 
do additional public outreach and in 
lieu of receiving funding priority in this 
round.

$1,085,000 262,745
Proposed Programming $562,745 $262,745 $150,000 $150,000 

$522,255 0 0

Comments

Fund Estimate

Amount rolled over from prior years

Total Available for Programming

*$53,000 allocation to the American Canyon  
Eucalyptus Sidewalk Gap closure in FY 2018-19 will 
be rescinded in June 2021 and reallocated to the 
same project.

Total Project Request

Total Shortfall

NVTA Proposed Programming by YearProject Information

62



Attachment A
Res No. 4450
Page 5 of 20
2/24/2021

FY2020 21 TDA Revenue Estimate FY2021 22 TDA Revenue Estimate
FY2020 21 Generation Estimate Adjustment FY2021 22 County Auditor's Generation Estimate
1. Original County Auditor Estimate (Feb, 20) 9,885,444 13. County Auditor Estimate 8,979,207
2. Revised Revenue (Feb, 21) 8,973,457 FY2021 22 Planning and Administration Charges
3. Revenue Adjustment (Lines 2 1) 911,987 14. MTC Administration (0.5% of Line 13) 44,896

FY2020 21 Planning and Administration Charges Adjustment 15. County Administration (0.5% of Line 13) 44,896
4. MTC Administration (0.5% of Line 3) (4,560) 16. MTC Planning (3.0% of Line 13) 269,376
5. County Administration (Up to 0.5% of Line 3) (4,560) 17. Total Charges (Lines 14+15+16) 359,168
6. MTC Planning (3.0% of Line 3) (27,360) 18. TDA Generations Less Charges (Lines 13 17) 8,620,039
7. Total Charges (Lines 4+5+6) (36,480) FY2021 22 TDA Apportionment By Article
8. Adjusted Generations Less Charges (Lines 3 7) (875,507) 19. Article 3.0 (2.0% of Line 18) 172,401

FY2020 21 TDA Adjustment By Article 20. Funds Remaining (Lines 18 19) 8,447,638
9. Article 3 Adjustment (2.0% of line 8) (17,510) 21. Article 4.5 (5.0% of Line 20) 422,382
10. Funds Remaining (Lines 8 9) (857,997) 22. TDA Article 4 (Lines 20 21) 8,025,256
11. Article 4.5 Adjustment (5.0% of Line 10) (42,900)
12. Article 4 Adjustment (Lines 10 11) (815,097)

Column A B C=Sum(A:B) D E F G H=Sum(C:G) I J=Sum(H:I)
6/30/2020 FY2019 20 6/30/2020 FY2019 21 FY2020 21 FY2020 21 FY2020 21 6/30/2021 FY2021 22 FY2021 22

Apportionment
Jurisdictions

Balance
(w/o interest)

Interest
Balance

(w/ interest) 1
Outstanding

Commitments2
Transfers/
Refunds

Original
Estimate

Revenue
Adjustment

Projected
Carryover

Revenue
Estimate

Available for
Allocation

Article 3 249,948 8,033 257,981 (392,928) 0 189,801 (17,510) 37,344 172,401 209,745
Article 4.5 33,783 126 33,909 (382,540) 0 465,011 (42,900) 73,480 422,382 495,862
SUBTOTAL 283,731 8,159 291,891 (775,468) 0 654,812 (60,410) 110,824 594,783 705,607

Article 4/8
NVTA3 2,283,067 73,033 2,356,100 (7,192,201) 2,486,395 8,835,215 (815,097) 5,670,412 8,025,256 13,695,668

SUBTOTAL 2,283,067 73,033 2,356,100 (7,192,201) 2,486,395 8,835,215 (815,097) 5,670,412 8,025,256 13,695,668
GRAND TOTAL $2,566,799 $81,192 $2,647,991 ($7,967,669) $2,486,395 $9,490,027 ($875,507) $5,781,236 $8,620,039 $14,401,275
1. Balance as of 6/30/20 is from the MTC FY2019 20 Audit, and it contains both funds available for allocation and funds that have been allocated but not disbursed.
2. The outstanding commitments figure includes all unpaid allocations as of 6/30/20, and FY2020 21 allocations as of 1/31/21.
3. NVTA is authorized to claim 100% of the apporionment to Napa County.

FY 2021 22 FUND ESTIMATE
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS
NAPA COUNTY

TDA APPORTIONMENT BY JURISDICTION

         ATTACHMENT 3 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.1             

July 21, 2021

63

dmeehan
Highlight



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Financing Approvals for the Vine Bus Maintenance Facility Project 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve: 

1) Resolution 21-20 approving the following actions to provide financing for
construction of the Vine Bus Maintenance Facility project: (Attachment 1), and

2) Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver a TIFIA
Loan Agreement in the amount not to exceed $19,917,401, or 49% of the total
eligible project cost, whichever is greater (Attachment 3), and

3) Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver a
Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement (CASA) with US Bank (Attachment
4), and

4) Adopt NVTA’s Debt Management Policy (Attachment 5), and
5) Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver a loan

agreement with the Bank of Marin in an amount not to exceed $5,000,000
(Attachment 6A and 6B), and

6) Authorize the Executive Director to execute and deliver an Irrevocable Direction
regarding Deposit of Local Transportation Funds between NVTA and the County
of Napa with Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) concurrence in
support of the financing arrangement (Attachment 8), and

7) Authorize the Executive Director to execute and deliver an Irrevocable Direction
regarding Deposit of Farebox Revenues between NVTA and the County of Napa
in support of the financing arrangement (Attachment 9).

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

At its February 17, 2021 meeting, the Board approved the conceptual financing package 
budget, and authorized the Executive Director to execute all necessary documents to 
proceed with loan agreements with TIFIA and the Bank of Marin for the Vine Bus 
Maintenance Facility. These actions items today formally approves the project and 
secures a full funding package needed to advertise for the construction of the Bus 
Maintenance Facility. 

64



Napa Valley Transportation Authority              Agenda Item 9.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Is there a fiscal impact?  Yes.  NVTA could incur up to $26,000,000 plus interest and fees 
of debt for the construction of the maintenance facility.  However, Regional Measure 3 
could be used to reduce borrowing for up to $20 million if pending litigation is resolved in 
favor of the Bay Area Toll Authority and Regional Measure 3 funds become available. 

65



 

July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested: APPROVE 

 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Antonio Onorato, Director of Administration, Finance and Policy 

(707) 259-8779 / Email: aonorato@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Financing Approvals for the Vine Bus Maintenance Facility Project 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve: 
 

1) Resolution No. 21-20 approving the following actions to provide financing for 
construction of the Vine Bus Maintenance Facility project: (Attachment 1), and 

2) Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver a TIFIA 
Loan Agreement in the amount not to exceed $19,917,401, or 49% of the total 
eligible project cost, whichever is greater (Attachment 3), and  

3) Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver a 
Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement (CASA) with US Bank (Attachment 
4), and 

4) Adopt NVTA’s Debt Management Policy (Attachment 5), and 
5) Authorize the Executive Director to negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver a loan 

agreement with the Bank of Marin in an amount not to exceed $5,000,000 
(Attachment 6A and 6B), and 

6) Authorize the Executive Director to execute and deliver an Irrevocable Direction 
regarding Deposit of Local Transportation Funds between NVTA and the County 
of Napa with Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) concurrence in 
support of the financing arrangement (Attachment 8), and 

7) Authorize the Executive Director to execute and deliver an Irrevocable Direction 
regarding Deposit of Farebox Revenues between NVTA and the County of Napa 
in support of the financing arrangement (Attachment 9). 

 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
  

66

mailto:aonorato@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 8 

 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
Prior to the pandemic, the Vine Transit system provided over 1 million unlinked passenger 
trips annually for both the residents and workers of Napa County.  Already, the Vine is 
experiencing a strong recovery and ridership is coming back.  Riders rely on Vine Transit 
for work, school, and other lifeline services. The Vine serves as a support network to the 
community and provides evacuation and food and transport services during fires and 
other emergencies. The existing maintenance facility was built for a significantly smaller 
system than the services currently provided.  The facility was created by the City of Napa 
when the system provided just fixed route services in the City. Since then, the services 
provided to all the jurisdictions have consolidated, Americans with Disability (ADA) 
services, Express Bus and Regional Services were added.  Consequently, the existing 
maintenance facility has become woefully inadequate for the Vine’s existing fleet and its 
systems and infrastructure have become obsolete.    
 
The maintenance facility is the operational backbone of the Vine Transit System. 
Challenges with the current transit yard are numerous and interdependent. Working 
conditions, utilities, infrastructure, and occupant amenities are substandard, inefficient, 
and dated. Inadequate ventilation, heating, and cooling have been identified as the most 
deficient system causing risks to the occupants. Nearly all of the mechanical units are 
past their useful life and inefficient, and showing greater and greater signs of imminent 
failure. The general construction of the facility further compromises its condition, with its 
poor insulative properties and limited utility.  Beyond the need for building and equipment 
replacement, the mobile trailer is woefully inadequate. Currently the management, 
dispatch, and training functions are conducted in extremely tight conditions.  The facility 
is now compromising NVTA’s ability to adequately meet the demand bus transportation 
for the citizens, businesses, and visitors of Napa County. 
 
NVTA would realize substantial savings when the new maintenance facility comes into 
public service.  NVTA could potentially see savings of $77 million over a thirty-five (35) 
year time horizon.  Table 1 below illustrates a detailed analysis comparing costs of the 
new facility versus the current transit yard. 
 

67



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 3 of 8 

 
 
Table 1:  35 year Cost Comparison/ Savings of a New Maintenance Facility 
 Jackson St. 

(Old) 
Sheehy Ct. 

(NEW) 
Cost/(Savings) 

Utilities     $5,133,700    $8,636,400     $3,502,700 
Transit Admin Srvcs.     $3,362,700    $7,072,300     $3,709,600 
Preventive Maintenance  

  $14,730,700 
 
    $2,635,000 

 
$(12,095,700) 

Fuel for Buses (gasoline, 
diesel or electric) 

 
 
  $52,841,500 

 
 
   $9,551,500 

 
 
$(43,290,000) 

GHG Emissions*     $2,478,000   $(2,478,000)   $(4,956,000) 
Health and Economic*    $12,040,000 $(12,040,000) $(24,080,000) 
Total Cost (35 years)   $90,586,600   $13,377,200   $77,209,400 

*Credit = benefit 
 
Project Funding and Financing  
Since 2013, the NVTA Board has provided various approvals for the Executive Director 
and staff to proceed with the planning, land purchase, environmental, design, 
engineering, construction and preliminary financing phases of the Vine Bus Maintenance 
Facility project (“Project”).  All preconstruction phases have been completed and were 
fully funded with Federal, State, and Local funding sources.  
 
In anticipation of the cost and financing associated with the construction phase of the 
Project, staff has taken a number of steps to secure the Project funding.  At its February 
17, 2021 meeting, the Board held a public hearing to approve the budget appropriation 
and conceptual financing plan for Vine Bus Maintenance Facility in the amount of 
$35,747,000 and authorized the Executive Director to negotiate and execute a loan 
agreement with the Bank of Marin in the amount of $5,000,000.  
 
The current project budget stands at $40,649,823, which includes $4,902,594 of costs 
already incurred - the purchase of real estate parcels, architectural and engineering 
documents, and environmental impact report (EIR).  The project is at 100% design and 
shovel ready.  The Invitation for Bid (IFB) for Construction Service will be released upon 
Board approval of the loan documents which secures the financing package for the 
project.  Based on the results of the IFB, staff will propose a contract award at the 
September 15th, 2021 Board meeting.  If the bids come in higher than the engineer’s 
estimate, NVTA is eligible to receive additional financing through the Transportation 
Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA) Program in an amount up to 49% of the 
project cost.  Other funding sources may also need to be identified depending on the 
bidding outcome.   
  

68



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 4 of 8 

 
 
Table 2 provides a summary project budget and fund sources.  Attachment 7 provides a 
more detailed project budget and funding sources.  
 
Table 2:  Project Budget and Fund Sources (in ‘000) 

  Local Grants State Grants Federal Federal Non-Federal 
 BUDGET TDA SGR, SB1 

LPP 
FTA Grants TIFIA Loan Bank Loan 

Pre- 
Construction 

$4,903 $4,903 - - - - 

       
Construction 
Costs 

$35,747 $4,413 $1,163 $5,253 $19,918 $5,000 

Total Project 
Cost 

$40,650 $9,316 $1,163 $5,253 $19,918 $5,000 

       
Interest 
Expense- 
TIFIA* 

 
 
$7,287 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

 
 
$7,287 

 
 
- 

Interest 
Expense- 
BofM* 

 
 
$1,750 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

 
 
- 

 
 
$1,750 

 
Total Cost 

 
$49,687 

 
$9,316 

 
$1,163 

 
$5,253 

 
$27,205 

 
$6,750 

*for illustrative purposes only.  TDA funds will be used to pay down interest expense 
 
TIFIA Loan ($19.918 Million): The TIFIA/Rural Project Initiative (RPI) program offers 
NVTA significantly reduced borrowing cost and annual budgetary benefits.  Notably, 
NVTA will lock-in a fixed interest rate for a 35-year term based on 50% of the current US 
Treasury rate on the closing date.  By way of illustration, if current US Treasury rates 
remained unchanged between now and the closing date, then the NVTA’s interest cost 
on a 35-year obligation would be 1.06% (based on a 30-year UST rate of 2.11% as of 
June 29, 2021).  The actual interest rate will not be known until the closing date, and may 
increase or decrease. The current planning estimates, including the good faith estimates 
which are summarized in Attachment 10 and reflect a more conservative rate of 1.4% to 
allow some cushion against Treasury rates rising between now and closing. 
 
The TIFIA Loan program typically requires high upfront fees to cover U.S. Department of 
Transportation/Build American Bureau (DOT/BAB) legal and advisor costs; however, 
under RPI a limited amount of Federal funds are available to cover such costs, and 
NVTA’s upfront TIFIA program costs incurred by U.S. DOT/BAB have been fully offset. 
Among other advantages, the TIFIA loan offers ample flexibility, as it can be prepaid and 
redeemed at any time without penalty. 
 
The staff recommended Board action would authorize the Executive Director to sign the 
loan documents prior to the closing of the loan. This will allow the BAB to process the 
loan in timely manner as opposed to waiting until the close, which is expected to occur in 
September, 2021. The close date coincides with the federal fiscal year end of September 

69



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 5 of 8 

 
 
30, 2021.  Signing the documents prior to the end of the federal fiscal year would avoid 
delays in the delivery of federal assistance.   
 
Bank of Marin Loan ($5 Million):  Resolution 21-06 approved the term sheet with the 
Bank of Marin.  Under those proposed terms, the Bank of Marin loan would bear interest 
at prime (currently 3.25%) during the draw period, fixed thereafter at the then-prevailing 
10-year US Treasury rate plus 2.5% (based on UST rates as of June 29, 2021, amounting 
to a rate of approximately 3.97%). Current planning estimates, including the good faith 
estimates summarized in Attachment 10, reflect a more conservative rate of 4.5% to allow 
cushion against Treasury rates rising. With a two-year drawdown period, Bank of Marin’s 
amortization period is effectively up to twelve years.  While NVTA intends to pay back any 
loans as quickly as possible, a 10-year payback period provides NVTA maximum 
flexibility for cash flow purposes if RM3 funds do not become available.  Table 3 shows 
the amortization schedule if all the loan proceeds were used.  The Bank of Marin loan 
can be prepaid and redeemed at any time without a prepayment penalty. 
 
The Loan Repayment and Security Structure 
Table 3 presents the expected annual debt service payments for the combined loans.  If 
the full $5 million is drawn, the Bank of Marin loan will amortize in approximately 10 years 
(following the construction period).  The TIFIA loan would be structured to “wrap” around 
the Bank of Marin payments, with interest-only payments in the intervening years and 
principal amortization beginning after the Bank of Marin matures. This proposed loan 
repayment structure aims to achieve fixed level annual payments to support ongoing 
budget certainty.   The Bank of Marin loan will be paid off using RM 3 funds should they 
become available.  Neither loan approval is subject to the RM 3 funds becoming available. 
 
Table 4:  Loan Payment Amortization Schedule (based on fully amortized loans) 

Year TIFIA Bank of Marin Total Debt Service 
2022                $22,115  $ 0                              $22,115  
2023              189,813                 52,476                242,290  
2024              279,228               454,283                733,511  
2025              278,460               681,717                960,176  
2026              278,844               681,717                960,560  
2027              278,844               681,717                960,560  
2028              279,228               681,717                960,944  
2029              278,460               681,717                960,176  
2030              278,844               681,717                960,560  
2031              278,844               681,717                960,560  
2032              279,228               681,717                960,944  
2033              621,744                                 962,602  
2034              963,120                                963,120  
2035              963,120                 963,120  
2036              963,120                 963,120  
2037              963,120                 963,120  
2038              963,120                 963,120  

70



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 6 of 8 

 
 

2039              963,120                 963,120  
2040              963,120                 963,120  
2041              963,120                 963,120  
2042              963,120                 963,120  
2043              963,120                 963,120  
2044              963,120                 963,120  
2045              963,120                 963,120  
2046              963,120                 963,120  
2047              963,120                 963,120  
2048              963,120                 963,120  
2049              963,120                 963,120  
2050              963,120                 963,120  
2051              963,120                 963,120  
2052              963,120                 963,120  
2053              963,120                 963,120  
2054              963,120                 963,120  
2055              963,120                 963,120  
2056              963,120                 963,120  
2057 (Last Year)              963,120                 963,120  
    

Totals 
                                                                                                                                       

$26,458,533          $6,301,350  
                                   

$32,759,882  
 
Based on the Bank of Marin Loan rate of 3.25% during the draw period and an assumed 
rate of 4.5% during repayment, and an assumed TIFIA Loan rate of 1.4%, under the 
current estimated repayment structure, full aggregate annual debt service payments 
would be in the range of approximately $960,000 to 963,000 per year starting in FY 2025, 
with lower payments in the intervening years gradually ramping up to those levels. 
 
Debt Management Policy 
The adoption of the proposed Debt Management Policy is a 2017 requirement under 
State law for public agencies wishing to incur debt. The Debt Management Policy is 
included as Attachment 5. 
 
Senate Bill 450 Disclosures 
The following information is made available in accordance with California legislation 
(Senate Bill 450 Chapter 625 of the 2017-2018 Session of the California Legislature as 
codified in Government Code Section 5852.1) to provide certain public disclosures related 
to the TIFIA Loan.  Certain figures are good-faith estimates and are subject to final market 
conditions upon close, as follows: 
 
A. True Interest Cost of the TIFIA Loan. Based on market interest rates prevailing at the 
time of preparation of this information, a good faith estimate of the true interest cost of the 
TIFIA Loan, which means the rate necessary to discount the amounts payable on the 
respective principal and interest payment dates to the purchase price received for the 
TIFIA Loan, is 1.40%. 

71



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 7 of 8 

 
 
B. Finance Charge of the TIFIA Loan. Based on market interest rates prevailing at the 
time of preparation of this information, a good faith estimate of the finance charge of the 
TIFIA Loan, which means the sum of all fees and charges paid to third parties (or costs 
associated with the TIFIA loan), is $264,500. 
 
C. Net Proceeds of the TIFIA Loan. Based on market interest rates prevailing at the time 
of preparation of this information, a good faith estimate of the amount of TIFIA Loan 
proceeds expected to be received by NVTA less the finance charge described in item B. 
above and any reserves or capitalized interest paid or funded with proceeds of the TIFIA 
loan is $19,917,401. 
 
D. Total Payment Amount for the TIFIA Loan. Based on market interest rates prevailing 
at the time of preparation of this information, a good faith estimate of the total payment 
amount, which means the sum total of all payments NVTA (principal and interest 
combined), will make to pay debt service on the TIFIA Loan plus the finance charge of 
the TIFIA Loan described in item B. above not paid with the proceeds of the TIFIA Loan 
calculated to the final maturity of the TIFIA Loan, is $27,204,593. 
 
Bank of Marin Loan 
A. True Interest Cost of the Bank Loan. Based on market interest rates prevailing at the 
time of preparation of this information, a good faith estimate of the true interest cost of the 
Bank Loan, which means the rate necessary to discount the amounts payable on the 
respective principal and interest payment dates to the purchase price received for the 
Bank Loan, is 4.5%. 
 
B. Finance Charge of the Bank Loan. Based on market interest rates prevailing at the 
time of preparation of this information, a good faith estimate of the finance charge of the 
Bank Loan, which means the sum of all fees and charges paid to third parties (or costs 
associated with the Bank Loan), is $108,000. 
 
C. Net Proceeds of the Bank Loan. Based on market interest rates prevailing at the time 
of preparation of this information, a good faith estimate of the amount of proceeds 
expected to be received by NVTA for sale of the Bank Loan less the finance charge of 
the Bank Loan described in B. above and any reserves or capitalized interest paid or 
funded with proceeds of the Bank Loan is $5,000,000. 
 
D. Total Payment Amount for the Bank Loan. Based on market interest rates prevailing 
at the time of preparation of this information, a good faith estimate of the total payment 
amount, which means the sum total of all payments the NVTA, through the payment of 
principal and interest, will make to pay debt service on the Bank Loan plus the finance 
charge of the Bank Loan described in item B. above not paid with the proceeds of the 
Bank Loan calculated to the final maturity of the Bank Loan, is $6,750,208. 
  

72



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.2 
July 21, 2021 
Page 8 of 8 

 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
NVTA could forego the loans and wait for RM3 or other grant funding to become available.  
There is no guarantee grant funds will become available but further delays in constructing 
the facility will result in project cost escalation of between 3-5% annually.  Other costs 
may be associated with a delay in TIFIA financing, including higher interest rates, fees to 
update indicative rating letters and additional consultant fees. 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 1: Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, income 
or ability and Goal 2: Improve system safety in order to support all modes and serve all 
users. 
Replacement of the Vine Maintenance facility can only move forward with financing.  The 
Board’s approval of the financing package will ensure that the Vine continues to provide 
safe services to all members of the community.   
 
Goal 3: Use taxpayer dollars efficiently.   
Financing to complete the project funding package and begin the construction phase will 
significantly offset the cost associated with construction escalation delays.   
 
Goal 4: Support Napa County’s economic vitality. 
Replacing the Vine Maintenance Facility is necessary to maintain a well-functioning 
transit system. The Vine transports members of the community and workers to their jobs 
and helps reduce congestion supporting economic vitality. 
 
Goal 6: Prioritize the maintenance and rehabilitation of the existing system. 
The existing maintenance facility has reached the end of its useful life. Replacing it will 
result in additional economic and operational efficiencies. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
(1) Resolution No. 21-20 
(2) TIFIA Loan Term Sheet 
(3) DRAFT TIFIA Loan Agreement 
(4) DRAFT Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement (CASA) 
(5) Debt Management Policy 
(6) DRAFT Bank of Marin Loan Agreement 
(7) Vine Bus Maintenance Facility Budget 
(8) Agreement for Irrevocable Direction to Deposit Local Transportation Funds 
(9) Agreement for Irrevocable Direction to Deposit Farebox Revenues 
(10) Good Faith Estimate of TIFIA and Bank of Marin Loans (SB450 Disclosure) 

73



ATTACHMENT 1 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 

 

 
RESOLUTION No. 21-20 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 
APPROVING (1) CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT, (2) TIFIA LOAN 

AGREEMENT, (3) COLLATERAL ACCOUNTS AND SECURITY AGREEMENT, 
(4) IRREVOCABLE DIRECTION TO DEPOSIT FAREBOX REVENUES, 

(5) IRREVOCABLE DIRECTION TO DEPOSIT LOCAL TRANSPORTATION FUNDS 
(LTF), AND (6) DEBT MANAGEMENT POLICY REQUIRED BY STATE LAW, 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY THEREOF, AND 
AUTHORIZING STAFF TO TAKE ACTIONS RELATED THERETO 

 
WHEREAS, since 2012, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (“NVTA”) has 

been developing a new bus maintenance facility in Napa County, California (“Project”); 
and 

 
WHEREAS, based on current cost estimates and a preliminary financing plan as 

described to this Board, the NVTA will need to finance a portion of the cost of the Project; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the financing of the Project will produce significant public benefits, 
including: (a) demonstrable savings in effective interest rate, debt preparation, debt 
underwriting, and debt issuance costs, and (b) significant efficiencies by the NVTA for its 
transit service; and  
 

WHEREAS, to provide a portion of the funding needed to pay for the Project, NVTA 
applied for a loan not to exceed $19,917,401, or 49% of the Project cost, whichever is 
greater (“TIFIA Loan”) with the United States Department of Transportation, acting 
through the Build America Bureau (the “TIFIA Lender”) under the Transportation 
Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act—Rural Projects Initiative Program (“TIFIA”); 
and 
 

WHEREAS, since TIFIA limits the amount of financing that may be made available 
for the Project to 49% of eligible project costs, NVTA has received a commitment from 
the Bank of Marin (“BOM”) to make a loan not to exceed $5,000,000 (“BOM Loan”) to 
NVTA to pay for a portion of the remaining cost of the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, to secure the TIFIA Loan and the BOM Loan, each of the lenders is 

requiring NVTA to enter into (i) the Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement (“CASA”) 
with U.S. Bank acting as collateral agent (the “Collateral Agent”), (ii) the Irrevocable 
Direction to Deposit Farebox Revenues with the County of Napa (“County”), and (iii) the 
Irrevocable Direction to Deposit Local Transportation Funds (LTF) with the County; and 

 
 

74



 
Resolution No. 21-20 

Page 2 of 3 
 

WHEREAS, the NVTA Board desires to delegate to the Authorized Officers (as 
defined below) the authority to negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, the BOM Loan Agreement, the CASA, the Irrevocable Direction to Deposit 
Farebox Revenues, and the Irrevocable Direction to Deposit LTF Funds, all substantially 
in the forms presented to this Board at this; and 
 

WHEREAS, there has been presented to this Board the form of a Debt Management 
Policy for NVTA, the adoption of which is a requirement under state law for NVTA 
incurring indebtedness to finance a portion of the cost of the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the County of Napa (“County”) has held a 

public hearing and adopted its resolution approving the financing of the Project as 
provided in the TIFIA Loan and the BOM Loan and making certain findings in 
connection therewith as required by the California Government Code Section 6586.5. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the Napa 

Valley Transportation Authority does hereby resolve and order as follows that: 
 

Section 1. The TIFIA Loan Agreement not to exceed $19,917,401, or 49% of the 
Project cost, whichever is greater, the BOM Loan Agreement not to exceed 
$5,000,000, the CASA, the Irrevocable Direction to Deposit Farebox Revenues, 
and the Irrevocable Direction to Deposit LTF Funds, all substantially in the forms 
presented to this Board at this meeting are hereby approved.  The Executive 
Director or her designee (the “Authorized Officers”) are hereby authorized to 
negotiate, finalize, execute and deliver said agreements together with such 
changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by the Authorized Officers, 
such approval to be conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery thereof.  
 
SECTION 2.  The Authorized Officers are authorized to negotiate, finalize, execute 
and deliver any and all certificates, receipts, agreements and other documents, that 
they may deem necessary or advisable in order to consummate any of the 
transactions contemplated by the documents approved pursuant to this Resolution, 
and such certificates, receipts, agreements and other documents are hereby 
approved.  
 
SECTION 3.  NVTA General Counsel is hereby authorized to execute and deliver 
its opinion as borrower’s counsel substantially as set forth in the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement. 
 
SECTION 4. As required by the California Government Code, this Board hereby 
approves and adopts and the Debt Policy substantially in the form presented to this 
Board at this meeting. 
 
SECTION 5.  This Resolution shall be effective as of the date of its adoption. 

 
 

75



 
Resolution No. 21-20 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 
Passed and adopted this 21st day of July, 2021. 
 
 
________________________ 
Alfredo Pedroza, NVTA Chair       Ayes: 
 
 
 
 
 
                 Nays: 
 
 
 
                 Absent: 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
______________________________ 
DeeAnne Gillick, NVTA Legal Counsel 

76



ATTACHMENT 2 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 

Draft: 5/4/2021 

1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority Vine Transit Maintenance Facility Project 
 

TIFIA Loan Agreement Term Sheet 
 
TIFIA Lender The United States Department of Transportation, acting by and 

through the Executive Director of the Build America Bureau (the 
“TIFIA Lender”) 
 

Borrower The Napa Valley Transportation Authority, a joint powers agency 
created under the laws of the State of California (the “Borrower”) 
 

Project A new transit vehicle operations and maintenance facility to be 
constructed and owned by the Borrower and located in the City of 
Napa, California (the “Project”). 
 

TIFIA Loan 
Agreement 

TIFIA Loan Agreement (the “TIFIA Loan Agreement”), to be 
entered into by the TIFIA Lender and the Borrower. 
 

TIFIA Loan Amount A maximum principal amount not to exceed [$19,917,401]; provided 
that (a) the maximum original principal amount of the TIFIA Loan 
(defined below), together with the amount of any other credit 
assistance provided under the Transportation Infrastructure Finance 
and Innovation Act of 1998 for the Project, shall not exceed forty-
nine percent (49%) of reasonably anticipated eligible costs of the 
Project and (b) the total federal assistance provided to the Project, 
including the original principal amount of the TIFIA Loan and all 
federal direct or indirect grants, shall not exceed eighty percent (80%) 
of eligible costs of the Project. 
 

Interest Rate A fixed rate, set on the execution date of the TIFIA Loan Agreement, 
calculated by adding one basis point (.01%) to the interest rate of 
securities of a similar maturity as published, on the execution date of 
the TIFIA Loan Agreement, in the United States Treasury Bureau of 
Public Debt’s daily rate table for State and Local Government Series 
(SLGS) securities, currently located on the Internet at 
https://www.treasurydirect.gov/GA-SL/SLGS/selectSLGSDate.htm 
and then dividing the resulting sum by two.  
 
The TIFIA Loan shall also bear interest at a default rate of two 
hundred (200) basis points above the otherwise applicable interest 
rate at such times and upon such terms as will be provided in the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement.  
 

77



 

2 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

Debt Service Payment 
Commencement Date 

[•], the semi-annual payment date following the first draw on the loan 
(the “TIFIA Loan”) under the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 
 

Payment Dates Principal of the TIFIA Loan shall be repaid in semi-annual 
installments on [May 1] and [November 1] of each year, beginning 
on [_____]. 
 
Interest shall be paid in arrears on [May 1] and [November 1] of each 
year, beginning on the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date.1 

Final Maturity Date The earlier of (a) [May 1, 2057] and (b) the Payment Date (to be 
defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement) occurring on or immediately 
prior to the thirty-fifth (35th) anniversary of the Substantial 
Completion Date (to be defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement). 

Sources of Funds for 
Loan Repayment 

The following revenue sources of the Borrower will be available to 
pay debt service on the TIFIA Loan and other amounts under the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement (collectively “Revenues”): 
 
 LTF: all Local Transportation Funds (“LTF Funds”) allocated to 

the Borrower;  
 

 Farebox Revenues: all farebox revenues received by or on behalf 
of the Borrower (“Farebox Revenues”); and 
 

 Other Revenues: other Revenues of the Borrower (collectively, 
the “Other Revenues”), consisting of: 
 
o STA Funds: all State Transit Assistance funds (“STA 

Funds”) received by the Borrower; and 
 

o Ancillary Revenues: (i) all income derived from permitted 
investments, (ii) proceeds from business interruption and 
delay in start-up insurance policies, (iii) revenue from any 
lease or other contract (e.g., advertising), (iv) the proceeds of 
any sale or other disposition of assets of the Borrower 
permitted under the TIFIA Loan Documents (to be defined in 
the TIFIA Loan Agreement) and the Other Financing 
Documents (to be defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement), and 
(v) all net cash payments received by the Borrower under or 
in connection with any hedging agreements.  

 

                                                           
1  Note to Draft: Interest and principal payments dates are subject to USDOT review of the Borrower’s latest 

financial model. 

78



 

3 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

Priority The TIFIA Loan will be a senior obligation of the Borrower in right 
of payment from (and claim on) all Revenues, pari passu with the 
loan under the non-revolving credit facility (the “BOM Credit 
Facility”) to be entered into by the Borrower and Bank of Marin 
(“BOM”). 
 

Security The TIFIA Loan will be secured by the following security interests: 
 
 a pledge of all Farebox Revenues; and  

 
 a security interest in each of the accounts established under the 

Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement for the transaction 
(the “CASA”), to be entered into by the Borrower, the TIFIA 
Lender, [____], acting as collateral agent (the “Collateral 
Agent”), and the Borrower’s other lenders, except for those sub-
accounts of the pari passu debt service account and the pari passu 
debt service reserve account that exclusively secure any 
obligations of the Borrower on parity with the TIFIA Loan (such 
obligations, “Pari Passu Obligations”), including, but not 
limited to, the loan under the BOM Credit Facility, including an 
exclusive security interest in (a) the TIFIA debt service sub-
account of the pari passu debt service account established under 
the CASA (the “TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account”), (b) the 
TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Account (defined below), and (c) the 
amounts on deposit in each such sub-account.   

 
TIFIA Debt Service 
Reserve 

The TIFIA Loan will be supported by a debt service reserve in an 
amount equal to all principal and interest on the TIFIA Loan due and 
payable on the next succeeding semi-annual payment date (the 
“TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance”), to be deposited 
into a debt service reserve account (the “TIFIA Debt Service 
Reserve Account”) established under the CASA and collaterally 
assigned exclusively to the TIFIA Lender.  
 
The Borrower shall fully fund the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve 
Required Balance by no later than the earlier to occur of (a) the first 
Business Day following the Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date, and (b) 
the last Business Day of the month following the initial disbursement 
of the TIFIA Loan. 
 

Required Deposits to 
Revenue Account 

The Borrower shall deposit (or cause to be deposited) Revenues to the 
Revenue Account established under the CASA as described below: 
 
 LTF Fund Deposits.  From and after the first date following the 

execution and delivery of the CASA on which the Borrower 
receives LTF Funds (the “Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date”), the 

79



 

4 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

Borrower shall cause all LTF Funds allocated to it to be deposited 
to the Revenue Account established under the CASA as described 
below. 
 

 LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction:  Borrower will issue an 
irrevocable direction letter to the County of Napa, in form and 
substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender, directing the County 
of Napa to transfer all LTF Funds received from the California 
Department of Tax and Fee Administration (CDTFA) that have 
been allocated to the Borrower by the Metropolitan  
Transportation Commission (MTC) directly to the Revenue 
Account when received, but no less frequently than on a quarterly 
basis; provided, that if the full annual allocation of LTF Funds 
with respect to a Borrower Fiscal Year has been deposited to the 
Revenue Account prior to the start of any fiscal quarter within 
such Borrower Fiscal Year, no deposit of LTF Funds  shall be 
required during such fiscal quarter.   

 
 Farebox Revenue Deposits: From and after the Initial LTF Funds 

Deposit Date, the Borrower shall cause all Farebox Revenues 
received by or on behalf of the Borrower to be deposited to the 
Revenue Account established under the CASA, unless otherwise 
directed by the Collateral Agent, as described below.  

 
On each Determination Date (to be defined in the CASA), the 
Collateral Agent shall determine whether the No Transfer 
Conditions (defined below) are satisfied. If the No Transfer 
Conditions are satisfied, the Collateral Agent shall notify the 
County of Napa in writing that no transfer of Farebox Revenues 
to the Revenue Account is required during the remainder of the 
current Payment Period.  
 
"No Transfer Conditions" means (a) amounts on deposit in each 
applicable Pari Passu Debt Service Sub-Account (defined below) 
and the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account are at least equal to the 
Adjusted Debt Service Amount (defined below), and (b) (i) 
amounts on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Account 
are at least equal to the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required 
Balance and (ii) amounts on deposit in each applicable Pari Passu 
Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account (defined below) are at least 
equal to the required balance for such account. 
 

 Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction:  Borrower will issue 
an irrevocable direction letter to the County of Napa, in form and 
substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender, directing the County 
of Napa to send all Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of 

80



 

5 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

the Borrower directly to the Revenue Account on a monthly basis 
unless the County of Napa has received a written notice from the 
Collateral Agent that Farebox Revenues do not need to be 
transferred for the remainder of a given semi-annual period 
because the No Transfer Conditions have been satisfied. 
  

 Shortfall Funding with Other Revenues: If at any time, LTF 
Funds and Farebox Revenues deposited to the Revenue Account 
are not sufficient to satisfy the No Transfer Conditions, the 
Borrower shall promptly (and by no later than a date to be 
specified) deposit or cause to be deposited Other Revenues to the 
Revenue Account in such amounts as are needed to satisfy the No 
Transfer Conditions. 
 

Flow of Funds The flow of funds from the Revenue Account will be detailed in the 
CASA. The following is a summary of the flow of funds. 
 
 First, on a pari passu basis, deposits to the TIFIA Debt Service 

Sub-Account and to the debt service sub-account of the pari passu 
debt service account established under the CASA for any Pari 
Passu Obligations (including, but not limited to, the loan under 
the BOM Credit Facility) (each, a “Pari Passu Debt Service Sub-
Account”) in an amount up to: 
 
(a) for the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, (i) the interest due 

on the TIFIA Loan on the next semi-annual payment date plus 
(ii) the principal due on the TIFIA Loan on the next semi-
annual payment date; and 
 

(b)  for any Pari Passu Debt Service Sub-Account, (i) the interest 
due on the applicable Pari Passu Obligation with respect to 
such account on the next semi-annual payment date plus (ii) 
(A) for any period of six (6) months ending on the date prior 
to a semi-annual payment date (each a “Payment Period”) 
that begins on an annual principal payment date, fifty percent 
(50%) of the principal due on the applicable obligation with 
respect to such account on the next annual principal payment 
date or (B) for any Payment Period that does not begin on an 
annual principal payment date, one hundred percent (100%) 
of the principal due on the applicable obligation with respect 
to such account on the next annual principal payment date; 
provided that if the principal on any applicable Pari Passu 
Obligation is payable on a semi-annual basis (including the 
loan under the BOM Credit Facility), clause (ii) shall read “the 
principal due on the applicable obligation with respect to such 

81



 

6 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

account on the next semi-annual principal payment date for 
such Pari Passu Obligations;” 

 
 Second, on a pari passu basis, deposits to the [TIFIA Debt Service 

Sub-Account] and to each [Pari Passu Debt Service Sub-Account] 
in an amount up to the fees, costs, expenses and other amounts 
then due and payable under the TIFIA Loan Agreement or the 
applicable Pari Passu Obligations, as applicable; 
 

 Third, on a pari passu basis, deposits to (i) fund the TIFIA Debt 
Service Reserve Account as necessary so that the balance thereof 
equals the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance and (ii) 
any debt service reserve sub-account established for any Pari 
Passu Obligations (each, a “Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve 
Sub-Account”) up to the debt service reserve requirement for 
such Pari Passu Obligations;  
 

 Fourth, on [____], on a pari passu basis, deposits to the TIFIA 
Debt Service Sub-Account and to any Pari Passu Debt Service 
Sub-Account, as applicable, until the amounts on deposit in such 
accounts (excluding any amounts on deposit therein that will be 
transferred out of such accounts by the Collateral Agent on the 
next payment date for the payment of interest, principal and any 
other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and 
payable on the applicable secured obligations on such payment 
date) are sufficient to satisfy the No Transfer Conditions set forth 
in clause (a) of the definition thereof for the next succeeding 
Payment Period after the current Payment Period; 
 

 Fifth, on [____], on a pari passu basis, deposits to the TIFIA Debt 
Service Reserve Account and any Pari Passu Debt Service 
Reserve Sub-Account, as applicable, until the amounts on deposit 
in such accounts (excluding any amounts on deposit therein that 
will be transferred out of such accounts by the Collateral Agent 
on the next payment date for the payment of interest and principal 
then due and payable on the applicable secured obligations on 
such payment date) are sufficient to satisfy the No Transfer 
Conditions set forth in clause (b) of the definition thereof for the 
next succeeding Payment Period after the current Payment Period; 
 

 Sixth, if a mandatory prepayment or mandatory redemption under 
any secured obligation is then due and payable, to the mandatory 
prepayment account to be established under the CASA to make 
payments in respect of mandatory prepayments and mandatory 
redemptions of outstanding secured obligations solely to the 
extent not payable from amounts on deposit in another account 

82



 

7 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

pursuant to the terms of the CASA (collectively, the "Mandatory 
Payments"), in an amount equal to the total aggregate amount of 
such Mandatory Payments then due and payable in respect of such 
secured obligations; 
 

 Seventh, if any subordinated obligations permitted under the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement and any issuing documents with respect 
to Pari Passu Obligations (“Permitted Subordinated Loans”) 
are outstanding, to any sub-account of the Revenue Account 
established for the payment of interest on Permitted Subordinated 
Loans (if any), an amount not to exceed (together with amounts 
then on deposit therein) the interest then due and payable on any 
outstanding Permitted Subordinated Loans plus any other 
amounts required to be deposited in accordance with the relevant 
financing documents; 
 

 Eighth, if any Permitted Subordinated Loans are outstanding, to 
any sub-account of the Revenue Account established for the 
payment of principal on Permitted Subordinated Loans (if any), 
an amount not to exceed (together with amounts then on deposit 
therein) the principal then due and payable on any outstanding 
Permitted Subordinated Loans plus any other amounts required to 
be deposited in accordance with the relevant financing 
documents; and 
 

 Ninth, any remaining amounts after items first through eighth will 
be transferred to the Borrower. 

 
“Adjusted Debt Service Amount” means the amounts described in 
clauses (a) and (b) below, subject to the adjustment described in the 
proviso below: 
 
(a) for the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to (i) 
the interest due on the TIFIA Loan on the next semi-annual payment 
date plus (ii) the principal due on the TIFIA Loan on the next semi-
annual payment date, plus (iii) any fees, costs, expenses and other 
amounts then due and payable under the TIFIA Loan Agreement; and  
 
(b) for any Pari Passu Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to 
(i) the interest due on the applicable Pari Passu Obligation with 
respect to such account on the next semi-annual payment date plus 
(ii) (A) for any Payment Period beginning on an annual principal 
payment date, fifty percent (50%) of the principal due on the 
applicable obligation with respect to such account on the next annual 
principal payment date or (B) for any Payment Period that does not 
begin on an annual principal payment date, one hundred percent 

83



 

8 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

(100%) of the principal due on the applicable obligation with respect 
to such account on the next annual principal payment date; provided 
that if the principal on any applicable Pari Passu Obligation is payable 
on a semi-annual basis (including the loan under the BOM Credit 
Facility), clause (ii) shall read “the principal due on the applicable 
obligation with respect to such account on the next semi-annual 
principal payment date for such Pari Passu Obligations”, plus (iii) any 
fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and payable under 
the issuing document for the applicable Pari Passu Obligation with 
respect to such account; 
 
provided, that monthly deposits to the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-
Account and to any Pari Passu Debt Service Sub-Account shall be 
calibrated such that the debt service amounts due as of any semi-
annual or annual payment date shall be on deposit in the applicable 
account as of the date that is no later than six months prior to such 
semi-annual or annual payment date.  
 
For example, if the semi-annual payment dates are May 1 and 
November 1, the debt service amounts payable on May 1 should be 
on deposit as of November 1 of the preceding year and the debt 
service amounts payable on November 1 should be on deposit as of 
May 1 of the same year. 
 

Additional Debt 
 

 The Borrower shall not issue indebtedness for borrowed money 
that is senior to the TIFIA Loan in right of payment or security 
from any Revenues. 
 

 The Borrower shall not issue any Pari Passu Obligations unless 
the following requirements are met: 
 
(a) the sum of (i) LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower and 

received by the County of Napa (on  behalf of  the Borrower) 
and (ii) Farebox Revenues received by the Borrower, in each 
case (for clauses (i) and (ii)) during any twelve (12) 
consecutive months during the eighteen (18) months prior to 
the date of the issuance of such additional indebtedness are at 
least equal to 2.0x the maximum amount of TIFIA Debt 
Service (to be defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement) and debt 
service in respect of all Pari Passu Obligations payable, in the 
aggregate, in each case during any year while the TIFIA Loan 
or any such Pari Passu Obligations are (or are scheduled to be) 
outstanding (“MADS”);  
  

(b) if the proceeds thereof will be used to refinance other Pari 
Passu Obligations, (i) such additional obligations shall only 

84



 

9 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

refinance obligations of the same payment and lien priority as 
the obligations being refinanced, (ii) the net proceeds thereof 
(after deducting any amounts required to be deposited to 
satisfy the applicable debt service reserve required balance), 
must not exceed the principal amount of the obligations being 
refinanced, (iii) debt service in respect of all Pari Passu 
Obligations, after the incurrence of such additional 
obligations, in each year of the term of such additional 
obligations, must be projected to be less than the debt service 
in respect of all Pari Passu Obligations projected for each such 
year in the base case financial model or, if applicable, the 
revised financial model and (iv) final maturity of the 
additional obligations must not be later than the final maturity 
date of the obligations being refinanced; and 
 

(c) if the proceeds thereof will be used for any reason not 
described in clause (b) above, such additional obligations 
must receive an Investment Grade Rating (to be defined in the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement) and the Borrower’s authorized 
representative shall have certified to the TIFIA Lender, and if 
a consulting engineer has been retained, the consulting 
engineer shall have confirmed, that (i) the activity or project 
to which such additional obligations will be applied could not 
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect 
(to be defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement), and (ii) the sum 
of (A) LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower and received by 
County of Napa (on  behalf of  the Borrower) and (B) Farebox 
Revenues received by the Borrower, in each case (for clauses 
(A) and (B)) during any twelve (12) consecutive months 
during the eighteen (18) months prior to the date of the 
issuance of such additional indebtedness were at least equal to 
2.0x MADS (with MADS including the projected debt service 
for such additional obligations); 
 

(d) for each of clauses (b) and (c) above, no Event of Default 
under any Other Financing Document or any TIFIA Loan 
Document has occurred and is continuing; and 
 

(e) for clause (c) above, the Nationally Recognized Rating 
Agency (to be defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement) that 
provided the most recent public ratings of the Pari Passu 
Obligations and the TIFIA Loan in accordance with the TIFIA 
Loan Agreement requirements shall have provided a 
confirmation or affirmation (or the equivalent) that the 
incurrence of such additional obligations shall not result in a 
downgrade of the lower of (i) the then-existing credit ratings 

85



 

10 
1350899.03-WASSR02A - MSW 

of the Pari Passu Obligations and the TIFIA Loan, 
respectively, and (ii) the credit ratings of the Pari Passu 
Obligations and the TIFIA Loan, respectively, as of the 
effective date of the TIFIA Loan Agreement.   

 
 Following the occurrence of an Event of Default under the TIFIA 

Loan Agreement, the Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness 
of any kind payable from, secured or supported by the Collateral 
(to be defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement) or the Revenues 
without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender. 
 

LTF Claims The Borrower shall budget and apply for LTF Funds in each fiscal 
year in amounts at least sufficient to pay 2.0x (a) all principal and 
interest payments on the TIFIA Loan that will be due and payable 
during such fiscal year plus (b) all principal and interest payments on 
all Pari Passu Obligations due and payable during such fiscal year.  In 
the event that the Metropolitan Transportation Commission allocates 
to the Borrower an amount of LTF Funds that is lower than the 
amount requested by the Borrower, the Borrower shall deliver to the 
TIFIA Lender written notice of such event within five (5) Business 
Days after the date of such allocation, which notice shall include an 
explanation for the reasons for such shortfall in allocation of LTF 
Funds to the Borrower. 
 

 

86



ATTACHMENT 3 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 
 

Skadden Draft 6/2/21 

1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

DRAFT 

UNITED STATES 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

 

TIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 

 

For Up to [$19,917,401] 
 

With 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

For the 
 

VINE TRANSIT MAINTENANCE FACILITY PROJECT  
(TIFIA – [_________]) 

 
Dated as of [________], 2021 

 

87



i 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 
 
Section 1. Definitions................................................................................................................2 
Section 2. Interpretation ..........................................................................................................21 
Section 3. TIFIA Loan Amount ..............................................................................................22 
Section 4. Disbursement Conditions .......................................................................................22 
Section 5. Term .......................................................................................................................23 
Section 6. Interest Rate ...........................................................................................................23 
Section 7. Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance; Revisions to Exhibit G and Loan 

Amortization Schedule...........................................................................................23 
Section 8. Security and Priority; Flow of Funds. ....................................................................24 
Section 9. Payment of Principal and Interest ..........................................................................25 
Section 10. Prepayment ............................................................................................................26 
Section 11. Compliance with Laws ..........................................................................................26 
Section 12. Conditions Precedent .............................................................................................27 
Section 13. Representations and Warranties of Borrower ........................................................33 
Section 14. Representations and Warranties of TIFIA Lender .................................................39 
Section 15. Affirmative Covenants ...........................................................................................39 
Section 16. Negative Covenants ...............................................................................................49 
Section 17. Indemnification ......................................................................................................53 
Section 18. Sale of TIFIA Loan ................................................................................................54 
Section 19. Events of Default and Remedies ............................................................................54 
Section 20. Accounting and Audit Procedures; Inspections; Reports and Records .................57 
Section 21. Financial Plan, Statements, and Reports ................................................................58 
Section 22. Project Oversight and Monitoring .........................................................................61 
Section 23. No Personal Recourse ............................................................................................63 
Section 24. No Third Party Rights ............................................................................................64 
Section 25. Borrower’s Authorized Representative..................................................................64 
Section 26. TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative ..........................................................64 
Section 27. Servicer ..................................................................................................................64 
Section 28. Fees and Expenses .................................................................................................65 
Section 29. Amendments and Waivers .....................................................................................65 
Section 30. Governing Law ......................................................................................................65 
Section 31. Severability ............................................................................................................65 
Section 32. Successors and Assigns..........................................................................................66 
Section 33. Remedies Not Exclusive ........................................................................................66 
Section 34. Delay or Omission Not Waiver..............................................................................66 
Section 35. Counterparts; Electronic Signatures ......................................................................66 
Section 36. Notices; Payment Instructions ...............................................................................66 
Section 37. Effectiveness ..........................................................................................................67 
Section 38. Termination ............................................................................................................68 
Section 39. Integration ..............................................................................................................68 
 

88



ii 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

SCHEDULE I – Project Budget  
SCHEDULE II – Construction Schedule 
SCHEDULE III – Existing Indebtedness 
SCHEDULE IV – Section 5.03(b) of the CASA 

 
EXHIBIT A – Form of TIFIA Note 
EXHIBIT B – Anticipated TIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule 
EXHIBIT C – Non-Debarment Certification 
EXHIBIT D – Requisition Procedures 
EXHIBIT E – Compliance With Laws 
EXHIBIT F – [Reserved.] 
EXHIBIT G – TIFIA Debt Service 
EXHIBIT H-1 – Opinions Required from Counsel to Borrower 
EXHIBIT H-2 – Opinions Required from Bond Counsel to Borrower 
EXHIBIT I – Form of Certificate of Collateral Agent 
EXHIBIT J – Form of Borrower’s Officer’s Certificate 
EXHIBIT K – Form of Certificate of Substantial Completion 
EXHIBIT L – Certification Regarding Lobbying 
EXHIBIT M – Form of LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction 
EXHIBIT N – Form of Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction 
EXHIBIT O – Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation 
   

89



 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 

TIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT 

THIS TIFIA LOAN AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of the Effective Date, 
is by and between the NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, a joint powers 
agency created under the laws of the State of California (the “State”), with an address of 625 
Burnell St, Napa, CA 94559 (the “Borrower”), and the UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION, an agency of the United States of America, acting by and through the 
Executive Director of the Build America Bureau (the “Executive Director”), with an address of 
1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20590 (the “TIFIA Lender”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Congress of the United States of America (the “Congress”) has found that 
a well-developed system of transportation infrastructure is critical to the economic well-being, 
health and welfare of the people of the United States of America and, in furtherance thereof, has 
enacted the Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act of 1998 (“TIFIA”), as 
codified at 23 U.S.C. §§ 601-609 (as amended from time to time, the “Act”); and 

WHEREAS, § 603 of the Act authorizes the TIFIA Lender to enter into agreements with 
one or more obligors to make secured loans; and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the TIFIA Lender make the TIFIA Loan (as 
defined herein) in a principal amount not to exceed [$19,917,401] to be used to pay a portion of 
the Eligible Project Costs (as defined herein) related to the Project (as defined herein) pursuant to 
the application for TIFIA credit assistance received on [_______] (the “Application”); and 

WHEREAS, on [_________], the Secretary (as defined herein) approved TIFIA credit 
assistance for the Project in the form of the TIFIA Loan; and 

WHEREAS, the TIFIA Lender is prepared to extend credit upon the terms and conditions 
hereof; and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower agrees to repay any amount due pursuant to this Agreement and 
the TIFIA Note (as defined herein) in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof and thereof; 
and 

WHEREAS, the TIFIA Lender has entered into this Agreement in reliance upon, among 
other things the projections in the Base Case Financial Model (as defined herein) delivered by the 
Borrower.  

NOW, THEREFORE, the premises being as stated above, and for good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged to be adequate, and intending 
to be legally bound hereby, it is hereby mutually agreed by and between the Borrower and the 
TIFIA Lender as follows: 

90



2 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Section 1. Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used 
in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth below in this Section 1 (Definitions) or as 
otherwise defined in this Agreement.  Any term used in this Agreement that is defined by 
reference to any other agreement shall continue to have the meaning specified in such agreement, 
whether or not such agreement remains in effect. 

“Acceptable Credit Rating” means, with respect to any Person, the rating of its unsecured, 
senior long-term indebtedness (or, if such Person has no such rating, then its issuer rating or 
corporate credit rating) is no lower than (a) at the time such Person executes, delivers or issues a 
Liquidity Facility or a policy of bond insurance, surety bond, guarantee or similar instrument, 
‘A+’, ‘A1’ or the equivalent rating from each Rating Agency that provides a rating on such 
Person’s unsecured, senior long-term indebtedness or that provides an issuer rating or corporate 
credit rating for such Person, as applicable; and (b) at any time thereafter, ‘A’, ‘A2’ or the 
equivalent rating from each Rating Agency that provides a rating on such Person’s unsecured, 
senior long-term indebtedness or that provides an issuer rating or corporate credit rating for such 
Person, as applicable.  

“Act” means the Act as defined in the recitals hereto.  

“Additional Obligations” means Pari Passu Obligations that are permitted under Section 
16(a) (Indebtedness) and that are issued or incurred after the Effective Date and shall also satisfy 
the following requirements, as applicable:  

(a) if the proceeds thereof will be used to refinance other Pari Passu 
Obligations, (i) such Additional Obligations shall only refinance Obligations of the same 
payment and lien priority as the Obligations being refinanced, (ii) the net proceeds thereof 
(after deducting any amounts required to be deposited to satisfy the applicable Debt Service 
Reserve Required Balance), must not exceed the principal amount of the Obligations being 
refinanced, (iii) Debt Service in respect of all Pari Passu Obligations, after the incurrence 
of such Additional Obligations, in each year of the term of such Additional Obligations, 
must be projected to be less than the Debt Service in respect of all Pari Passu Obligations 
projected for each such year in the Base Case Financial Model or, if applicable, the Revised 
Financial Model and (iv) final maturity of the Additional Obligations must not be later than 
the final maturity date of the Obligations being refinanced; and  

(b) if the proceeds thereof will be used for any reason not described in clause 
(a) above, such Additional Obligations must receive an Investment Grade Rating and the 
Borrower’s Authorized Representative shall have certified to the TIFIA Lender, and if a 
Consulting Engineer has been retained, the Consulting Engineer shall have confirmed, that 
(i) the activity or project to which such Additional Obligations will be applied could not 
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the LTF Funds 
allocated to the Borrower and deposited into the Revenue Account and Farebox Revenues 
received by or on behalf of the Borrower, in the aggregate, during any twelve (12) 
consecutive months during the eighteen (18) months prior to the date of the issuance of 
such Additional Obligations were at least equal to 2.0x MADS (taking into account such 
proposed Additional Obligations); 

91



3 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

provided that (x) for each of clauses (a) and (b) above, no Event of Default under any Other 
Financing Document or any TIFIA Loan Document has occurred and is continuing, and (y) for 
clause (b) above, the Rating Agency that provided the most recent public ratings of the Pari Passu 
Obligations and the TIFIA Loan in accordance with Section 15(j) (Annual Rating) shall have 
provided a confirmation or affirmation (or the equivalent) that the incurrence of such Additional 
Obligations shall not result in a downgrade of the lower of (A) the then-existing credit ratings of 
the Pari Passu Obligations and the TIFIA Loan, respectively, and (B) the credit ratings of the Pari 
Passu Obligations and the TIFIA Loan, respectively, as of the Effective Date. 

“Adjusted Debt Service Amount” means: 

(a)  for the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to (i) the interest due on 
the BOM Loan on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date, plus (ii) the principal due on the BOM 
Loan on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date, plus (iii) any fees, costs, expenses and other amounts 
then due and payable under the BOM Loan Agreement; 

(b)  for the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to (i) the interest due on 
the TIFIA Loan on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date, plus (ii) the principal due on the TIFIA 
Loan on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date, plus (iii) any fees, costs, expenses and other amounts 
then due and payable under the TIFIA Loan Agreement; and  

(c)  for each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account, an 
amount equal to (i) (A) for any Payment Period beginning on an Annual Payment Date, fifty 
percent (50%) of the interest due on the applicable obligation (in which debt service is due on an 
annual basis) with respect to such account on the next Annual Payment Date or (B) for any 
Payment Period that does not begin on an Annual Payment Date, one hundred percent (100%) of 
the interest due on the applicable obligation with respect to such account on the next Annual 
Payment Date; provided that if the interest on any applicable Pari Passu Obligation is payable on 
a semi-annual basis, clause (i) shall read “the interest due on the applicable obligation with respect 
to such account on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date for such Pari Passu Obligations", plus (ii) 
(A) for any Payment Period beginning on an Annual Payment Date, fifty percent (50%) of the 
principal due on the applicable obligation (in which debt service is due on an annual basis) with 
respect to such account on the next Annual Payment Date or (B) for any Payment Period that does 
not begin on an Annual Payment Date, one hundred percent (100%) of the principal due on the 
applicable obligation with respect to such account on the next Annual Payment Date; provided that 
if the principal on any applicable Pari Passu Obligation is payable on a semi-annual basis, clause 
(ii) shall read “the principal due on the applicable obligation with respect to such account on the 
next Semi-Annual Payment Date for such Pari Passu Obligations”, plus (iii) any fees, costs, 
expenses and other amounts then due and payable under the issuing document for the applicable 
Pass Passu Obligation with respect to such account. 

“Agreement” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“Ancillary Revenue” means (a) all income derived from Permitted Investments, (b) 
proceeds from business interruption and delay in start-up insurance policies, (c) revenue from any 
lease or other contract, (d) the proceeds of any sale or other disposition of assets of the Borrower, 
(e) all net cash payments received by the Borrower under or in connection with any hedging 

92



4 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

agreements, (f) member contributions made to the Borrower pursuant to the Joint Powers 
Agreement, and (g) all proceeds received by or on behalf of the Borrower in respect of "Regional 
Measure 3 (RM3)" pursuant to California S.B. 595  or any successor statute.1 

“Annual Payment Date” means for any Pari Passu Obligations for which interest or 
principal is payable on an annual basis, the date on which interest or principal is payable on such 
Pari Passu Obligations as set forth in, and commencing from the initial payment date provided in, 
the documents pursuant to which such Pari Passu Obligations were incurred.   

“Anticipated TIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule” means the schedule set forth in 
Exhibit B, reflecting the anticipated disbursement of proceeds of the TIFIA Loan, as such schedule 
may be amended from time to time pursuant to Section 4(c) (Disbursement Conditions). 

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all U.S. and other applicable laws, rules and regulations, 
as amended from time to time, concerning or related to bribery or corruption. 

“Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means all U.S. and other applicable laws, rules and 
regulations, as amended from time to time, concerning or related to anti-money laundering, 
including but not limited to those contained in the Bank Secrecy Act and the Patriot Act.  

“Application” has the meaning provided in the recitals hereto. 

“Assumed Variable Rate” means, as of the date of calculation, (a) with respect to 
indebtedness issued by the Borrower that bears interest at a tax-exempt Variable Interest Rate, a 
rate equal to the highest twelve (12)-month rolling average of the SIFMA Swap Index over the 
preceding ten (10) years, and (b) with respect to indebtedness issued by the Borrower that bears 
interest at a taxable Variable Interest Rate, a rate equal to the highest twelve (12)-month rolling 
average of the Federal Funds Rate over the preceding ten (10) years. If either of the foregoing 
indices ceases to be published, the applicable index shall be an index which the TIFIA Lender, in 
consultation with the Borrower, determines most closely replicates the applicable former index. 

“Authorizing Legislation” means California Government Code Sections 5450 et seq. and 
6584 et seq. 

“Bank Lender” means Bank of Marin, as the lender under the BOM Loan Agreement. 

“Bank Secrecy Act” means the Bank Secrecy Act of 1970 (Titles I and II of Pub. L. No. 
91-508, codified at 12 U.S.C. §§ 1829b and 1951-1959 and 31 U.S.C. §§ 312, 5311-5313, and 
5316-5322), as amended from time to time, and any successor statute of similar import, and the 
regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“Bankruptcy Related Event” means, with respect to the Borrower, 

(a) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be 
filed seeking (i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of the Borrower or any of its 
                                                 
1  NTD: Definition includes changes from the term sheet version, including an edit to clause (d) and new clauses 

(f) and (g). 

93



5 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

debts, or of a substantial part of the assets thereof, under any Insolvency Laws, or (ii) the 
appointment of a receiver, trustee, liquidator, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar 
official for the Borrower or for a substantial part of the assets thereof and, in any case referred to 
in the foregoing subclauses (i) and (ii), such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 
sixty (60) days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered;  

(b) the Borrower shall (i) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
liquidator, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official therefor or for a substantial part 
of the assets thereof, (ii) generally not be paying its debts as they become due unless such debts 
are the subject of a bona fide dispute, or become unable to pay its debts generally as they become 
due, (iii) fail to make two (2) consecutive payments of TIFIA Debt Service in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 9 (Payment of Principal and Interest), (iv) make a general assignment for 
the benefit of creditors, (v) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate 
manner, any proceeding or petition with respect to it described in clause (a) of this definition, 
(vi) commence a voluntary proceeding under any Insolvency Law, or file a voluntary petition 
seeking liquidation, reorganization, an arrangement with creditors or an order for relief under any 
Insolvency Law, (vii) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it 
in any proceeding referred to in the foregoing subclauses (i) through (vi), inclusive, of this clause 
(b), or (viii) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing;  

(c) (i) the Collateral Agent shall commence a process pursuant to which all or a 
substantial part of the Collateral may be sold or otherwise disposed of in a public or private sale 
or disposition pursuant to a foreclosure of the Liens thereon securing the TIFIA Loan or any 
Obligations, or (ii) the Collateral Agent shall commence a process pursuant to which all or a 
substantial part of the Collateral may be sold or otherwise disposed of pursuant to a sale or 
disposition of such Collateral in lieu of foreclosure; or  

(d) the Collateral Agent shall transfer, pursuant to directions issued by the Secured 
Lenders, funds on deposit in any of the Project Accounts upon the occurrence and during the 
continuation of an Event of Default under this Agreement or the Other Financing Documents for 
application to the prepayment or repayment of any principal amount of the TIFIA Loan or any 
Obligations other than in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement or the Other Financing 
Documents. 

“Base Case Financial Model” means a financial model prepared by the Borrower that 
includes (a) for each time period through the Final Maturity Date, a forecast of Revenues and the 
Borrower’s expenditures and funding obligations, and (b) the Project Budget, which model, in 
each case in clauses (a) and (b) above, shall be based upon assumptions and methodology provided 
by the Borrower and acceptable to the TIFIA Lender as of the Effective Date, and which model 
shall be provided to the TIFIA Lender as a fully functional Microsoft Excel – based financial 
model or such other format requested by the TIFIA Lender. 

“BOM Debt Service Sub-Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“BOM Loan” means the loan under the BOM Loan Agreement. 

94



6 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“BOM Loan Agreement” means that certain [Credit Agreement], dated as of [_______], 
2021, between the Borrower and the Bank Lender. 

“Borrower” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“Borrower Fiscal Year” means (a) as of the Effective Date, a fiscal year of the Borrower 
commencing on July 1 of any calendar year and ending on June 30 of the immediately succeeding 
calendar year or (b) such other fiscal year as the Borrower may hereafter adopt after giving thirty 
(30) days’ prior written notice to the TIFIA Lender, as provided in Section 16(f) (Organizational 
Documents; Fiscal Year). 

“Borrower’s Authorized Representative” means any Person who shall be designated as 
such pursuant to Section 25 (Borrower’s Authorized Representative). 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which offices 
of the Federal Government or the State are authorized to be closed or on which commercial banks 
are authorized or required by law, regulation or executive order to be closed in New York, New 
York, Napa County, California or [____________]2, California. 

“Calculation Date” means each May 1 and November 1 occurring after the Effective Date. 

“Calculation Period” means a twelve (12) month period ending on a Calculation Date. 

“Capital Appreciation Obligations” means any Obligations as to which interest is 
payable only at the maturity or prior redemption of such Permitted Debt. 

“Capital Expenditures” means expenditures made or liabilities incurred for the 
acquisition of any assets, improvements or replacements thereof that have a useful life of more 
than one (1) year and that are capitalized in accordance with GAAP. 

“CASA” means that certain Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement, dated as of 
[________], 2021, by and among the Borrower, the Bank Lender, the TIFIA Lender, the Collateral 
Agent, the Securities Intermediary (as defined therein), and the other Secured Parties party thereto 
from time to time, including any Accession Agreement (as defined in the CASA) thereto executed 
in accordance with the CASA. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. 

“Collateral” means all of the right, title and interest of the Borrower, whether now owned 
or hereafter acquired or arising, in and to (a) the Farebox Revenues, whether now earned or 
hereafter acquired and (b) the Project Accounts (other than those sub-accounts of the Pari Passu 
Debt Service Account and the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account that exclusively secure 
any Pari Passu Obligations), including the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account and the TIFIA Debt 
Service Reserve Sub-Account, all security entitlements carried therein, and all cash, cash 

                                                 
2  NTD: To include the city in which the Collateral Agent is located. 

95



7 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

equivalents, Permitted Investments (as defined in the CASA), instruments, Securities (as defined 
in the CASA) and other funds or amounts on deposit in the Project Accounts.  

“Collateral Agent” means U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking 
association. 

“Congress” has the meaning provided in the recitals hereto. 

“Construction Period” means the period from the Effective Date through the Substantial 
Completion Date. 

“Construction-Related Contracts” means (a) [_________]3 and (b) any other design or 
construction contract related to the design and construction of the Project entered into by the 
Borrower from time to time after the Effective Date. 

“Construction-Related Contract Party” means any Person (other than the Borrower) 
party to a Constructed-Related Contract. 

“Construction Schedule” means (a) the initial schedule or schedules on which the 
construction timetables for the Project are set forth, attached as Schedule II, and (b) any updates 
thereto included in the Financial Plan most recently submitted to the TIFIA Lender pursuant to 
Section 21(a)(iii)(B) (Financial Plan). 

“Consulting Engineer” means [_______________], or any replacement engineering firm 
selected by the Borrower, subject to Section 22(d).4 

“Control” means, when used with respect to any particular Person, the possession, directly 
or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such 
Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or partnership or other ownership 
interests, by contract or otherwise, and the terms “Controlling” and “Controlled by” have meanings 
correlative to the foregoing. 

“CPI” means the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) for the U.S. 
City Average for All Items, 1982-84=100 (not seasonally adjusted), or its successor, published by 
the Bureau of Labor Statistics, with, unless otherwise specified herein, January 2021 as the base 
period. 

“Cross Covenant Default” has the meaning provided in Section 19(a)(vi) (Cross Default 
to Financing Documents). 

“Cross Misrepresentation Default” has the meaning provided in Section 19(a)(vi) (Cross 
Default to Financing Documents). 

                                                 
3  NTD:  To include the construction agreement for the Project. 

4  NOTE TO BORROWER:  Please provide name of Consulting Engineer. 

96



8 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“County of Napa” means the County of Napa, a general law county duly existing under 
the laws of the State. 

“Debt Service” means, with respect to Pari Passu Obligations, for any period, as of any 
date of calculation, an amount equal to the sum of all interest and principal of such Pari Passu 
Obligations accruing and payable in respect of such period.  In determining the principal and 
interest amounts of Pari Passu Obligations due in such period (unless a subsection below of this 
definition applies for purposes of determining such amounts), payment shall be assumed to be 
made in accordance with any debt service schedule established for such Pari Passu Obligations, 
including any balloon or bullet maturities (which shall be treated as being paid in full on their 
respective due dates), as applicable, and for such purpose the redemption payment shall be deemed 
a principal payment. 

In calculating Debt Service for any future period (except as otherwise specifically provided 
herein): 

(a) any Variable Interest Rate Debt for which the interest rate payable thereon 
has not yet been determined shall be deemed to bear interest at all times prior to the 
maturity date thereof at the Assumed Variable Rate; 

(b) any Put Obligations outstanding during such period which by its terms is 
required to be paid by the Borrower upon tender by the holder thereof shall be assumed to 
mature on the earliest to occur of (i) the stated maturity date thereof, (ii) the earliest date 
as of which the holder of such Put Obligations may tender such Put Obligations to the 
Borrower, as provided in the applicable issuing document for such debt, and (iii) if the 
Liquidity Facility securing such Put Obligations expires within six (6) months or less of 
the date of calculation and has not been renewed or replaced, the expiration date of such 
Liquidity Facility; 

(c) the principal amount of any Put Obligations tendered for payment by the 
Borrower that is required to be paid by the Borrower and that has not yet been purchased 
in lieu of such payment by the Borrower shall be deemed to mature on the date required to 
be paid pursuant to such tender; and 

(d) Extendible Maturity Debt outstanding during such period shall be deemed 
to mature on the earlier of the stated maturity date or the date to which such stated maturity 
date has been extended, unless such extension is not exercisable at the discretion of the 
Borrower. 

“Debt Service Payment Commencement Date” the first Semi-Annual Payment Date 
following the initial draw on the TIFIA Loan. 

“Debt Service Reserve Required Balance” means, as applicable, the TIFIA Debt Service 
Reserve Required Balance or any Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Required Balance. 

“Default” means any event or condition that, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, 
or both, would constitute an Event of Default. 

97



9 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“Default Rate” means an interest rate equal to the sum of (a) the TIFIA Interest Rate plus 
(b) two percent (2.00%).  

“Deferred Interest Obligations” means any Obligations (a) as to which interest accruing 
thereon prior to the applicable Interest Commencement Date of such Permitted Debt is (i) 
compounded on each Valuation Date for such Deferred Interest Obligation and (ii) payable only 
at the maturity or prior redemption of such Permitted Debt and (b) as to which interest accruing 
after the applicable Interest Commencement Date is payable on the first interest payment date 
immediately succeeding the Interest Commencement Date and thereafter on the dates specified in 
or determined pursuant to the instrument authorizing the Permitted Debt.  

“Development Default” means (a) the Borrower fails to diligently prosecute the work 
related to the Project and, if a Recovery Plan has been provided in accordance with Section 
22(b)(ii) (Recovery Plan), in accordance with such Recovery Plan, or (b) the Borrower fails to 
complete the Project by [February 1, 2026]5. 

“Effective Date” means the date of this Agreement. 

“Eligible Project Costs” means amounts in the Project Budget, substantially all of which 
are paid by or for the account of the Borrower in connection with the Project, all of which shall 
arise from the following: 

(a) development phase activities, including planning, feasibility analysis, 
revenue forecasting, environmental review, permitting, preliminary engineering and design 
work and other preconstruction activities; 

(b) construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, replacement and acquisition of 
real property (including land related to the Project and improvements to land), 
environmental mitigation, construction contingencies and acquisition of equipment; or 

(c) capitalized interest necessary to meet market requirements, reasonably 
required reserve funds, capital issuance expenses and other carrying costs during 
construction; 

provided, however, that Eligible Project Costs must be consistent with 23 U.S.C. § 601 et seq., 49 
U.S.C. § 5302(3) and all other applicable federal law. 

“Environmental Laws” has the meaning provided in Section 13(s) (Environmental 
Matters).  

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, Pub. L. 93-406 
(29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.), as amended from time to time, and any successor statute of similar 
import, and the regulations thereunder. 

                                                 
5  NTD:  Date to be three years after the Projected Substantial Completion Date. 

98



10 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together 
with the Borrower, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, 
solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a single 
employer under Section 414 of the Code. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning provided in Section 19(a) (Events of Default and 
Remedies). 

“Event of Loss” means any event or series of events that causes any portion of the Project 
to be damaged, destroyed or rendered unfit for normal use for any reason whatsoever, including 
through a failure of title, or any loss of such property, or a condemnation. 

“Executive Director” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“Existing Indebtedness” means indebtedness of the Borrower that has been issued or 
incurred prior to the Effective Date, as listed and described in Schedule III. 

“Extendible Maturity Debt” means debt the maturity of which may be extended in 
accordance with the applicable issuing document for such debt. 

“Farebox Bank” means each financial institution, Governmental Authority, or other entity 
that receives, or directs the deposit and transfer of, Farebox Revenues on behalf of the Borrower 
(whether based on cash receipts, credit/debit card charges, or wire transfers in connection with 
bulk purchases or payments that supplement subsidized rate fare collections). Initially, the Farebox 
Bank consists of U.S. Bank National Association. 

“Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction” means (a) that certain Agreement for 
Irrevocable Direction to Deposit Farebox Revenues, in the form of Exhibit N, dated as of 
[________], 2021, among the Borrower, the County of Napa and the other signatories thereto and 
(b) any irrevocable direction, in the form of Exhibit N, issued by the Borrower to a Farebox Bank 
and acknowledged and agreed to by such Farebox Bank from time to time in connection with the 
designation of any new Farebox Bank. 

“Farebox Recovery Ratio” means, as of any applicable date, the minimum farebox 
recovery ratio the Borrower is required to comply with pursuant to the TDA and any other 
applicable law.  

“Farebox Revenues” means all farebox revenues and contract service revenues received 
by or on behalf of the Borrower in connection with the operation of the transit vehicles owned or 
leased by the Borrower, including: 

(a) revenues earned under contractual arrangements with public or private 
entities, (i) for transit fares for a specified group of employees, members, or clients, (ii) to 
guarantee a minimum revenue on a line operated especially for the benefit of the paying 
entity (e.g., an employer, shopping center, university, etc.) or (iii) for enhanced service at 
special events; 

99



11 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(b) cash donations made by individual passengers or community organizations 
in lieu of a prescribed fare; 

(c) passenger fares collected by the Borrower; 

(d) fare subsidies from a public or private entity; 

(e) local support, including passenger donations and local business 
contributions made to benefit employees, customers, visitors, or residents; 

(f) parking revenues used as fare subsidies; and 

(g) support from private non-profits to supplement discount or zero fares. 

“Federal Fiscal Year” or “FFY” means the fiscal year of the Federal Government, which 
is the twelve (12) month period that ends on September 30 of the specified calendar year and 
begins on October 1 of the preceding calendar year. 

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted 
average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve 
System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank 
of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day. 

“Federal Government” means the Federal Government of the United States of America 
and its departments and agencies. 

“Final Maturity Date” means the earlier of (a) [May 1, 2057] and (b) the Payment Date 
occurring on or immediately prior to the thirty-fifth (35th) anniversary of the Substantial 
Completion Date. 

“Financial Plan” means (a) the financial plan to be delivered within sixty (60) days after 
the Effective Date in accordance with Section 21(a) (Financial Plan) and (b) any updates thereto 
required pursuant to Section 21(a) (Financial Plan). 

“Financial Statements” has the meaning provided in Section 13(x) (Financial 
Statements). 

“FTA” means the Federal Transit Administration, a modal agency of the USDOT. 

“FTA Master Agreements” means, as of any applicable date, all of the following in effect 
as of such date: (a) the Federal Transit Administration Master Agreement, FTA MA (28), dated 
February 9, 2021, as the same may be supplemented or amended from time to time, (b) any other 
Federal Transit Administration Master Agreement that may be applicable to any federal funds 
awarded in respect of the Project after the Effective Date, as each may be supplemented or 
amended from time to time, and/or (c) any award notification for federal funds awarded in respect 
of the Project that contains special conditions or requirements, if issued.  

100



12 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“FTA Project Management Oversight Requirements” means the requirements and 
conditions for project management oversight procedures set forth in 49 U.S.C. § 5327 and in 49 
CFR part 633. 

“FTA Regional Office” means the United States Department of Transportation, Federal 
Transit Administration, Region IX Office.  

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles as defined by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, or such other nationally recognized professional body, in effect from 
time to time in the United States of America. 

“Government Obligations” means (a) direct obligations of, or obligations on which the 
timely payment of principal and interest are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the Federal 
Government, (b) bonds, debentures or notes issued by any of the following federal agencies:  
Banks for Cooperatives, Federal Intermediate Credit Banks, Federal Home Loan Banks, Export-
Import Bank of the United States, Government National Mortgage Association or Federal Land 
Banks, (c) obligations issued or guaranteed by a Person Controlled or supervised by and acting as 
an instrumentality of the Federal Government pursuant to authority granted by the Congress, and 
(d) evidences of ownership of proportionate interests in future interest or principal payments on 
obligations specified in clauses (a), (b) and (c) of this definition held by a bank or trust company 
as custodian and which underlying obligations are not available to satisfy any claim of the 
custodian or any Person claiming through the custodian or to whom the custodian may be 
obligated, in each case. 

“Governmental Approvals” means all authorizations, consents, approvals, waivers, 
exceptions, variances, filings, permits, orders, licenses, exemptions and declarations of or with any 
Governmental Authority. 

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, provincial, county, city, town, 
village, municipal or other government or governmental department, commission, council, court, 
board, bureau, agency, authority or instrumentality (whether executive, legislative, judicial, 
administrative or regulatory), of or within the United States of America or its territories or 
possessions, including the State and its counties and municipalities, and their respective courts, 
agencies, instrumentalities and regulatory bodies, or any entity that acts “on behalf of” any of the 
foregoing, whether as an agency or authority of such body. 

“Indemnitee” has the meaning provided in Section 17 (Indemnification). 

“Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date” means the earlier of (a) the first date following the 
Effective Date on which the Borrower receives LTF Funds or (b) the first date following the 
Effective Date on which the County of Napa or a Farebox Bank receives such LTF Funds on behalf 
of the Borrower. 

“Insolvency Laws” means the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101 et seq., as 
from time to time amended and in effect, and any state bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, 
conservatorship or similar law now or hereafter in effect. 

101



13 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“Interest Commencement Date” means, with respect to any particular Deferred Interest 
Obligation, the date determined by the instrument authorizing such Deferred Interest Obligation 
after which interest accruing on such Deferred Interest Obligation shall be payable on the first 
interest payment date succeeding such Interest Commencement Date and periodically thereafter 
on the dates determined pursuant to such authorizing instrument. 

“Investment Grade Rating” means a public rating no lower than ‘BBB-’, ‘Baa3’ or the 
equivalent public rating from a Rating Agency. 

"Joint Powers Agreement" means that certain Napa Valley Transportation Authority Joint 
Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated [___]6, and incorporating amendments 1 through 12, by and 
among the County of Napa, City of American Canyon, City of Napa, Town of Yountville, City of 
St. Helena and City of Calistoga. 

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, mandatory deposit 
arrangement, encumbrance, attachment, lien (statutory or other), charge or other security interest, 
or preference, priority or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature 
whatsoever, including any sale-leaseback arrangement, any conditional sale or other title retention 
agreement, any financing lease having substantially the same effect as any of the foregoing, and 
the filing of any financing statement or similar instrument under the UCC or any other applicable 
law. 

“Liquidity Facility” means any letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of 
credit, surety instrument or similar instrument, any bond insurance policy, or any agreement 
relating to the reimbursement of any payment thereunder (or any combination of the foregoing), 
that is obtained by the Borrower and is issued by a Qualified Issuer. 

“Loan Amortization Schedule” means the Loan Amortization Schedule reflected in the 
applicable column of Exhibit G, as amended from time to time in accordance with Section 7 
(Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance; Revisions to Exhibit G and Loan Amortization Schedule). 

“LTF Funds” means Local Transportation Funds distributed by the State pursuant to the 
TDA. 

“LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction” means that certain Agreement for Irrevocable 
Direction to Deposit Local Transportation Funds, in the form of Exhibit M, dated as of [______], 
2021, among the Borrower, the County of Napa and the other signatories thereto. 

“MADS” means the maximum amount of TIFIA Debt Service and Debt Service in respect 
of all Pari Passu Obligations payable, in the aggregate, during any year while the TIFIA Loan or 
any such Pari Passu Obligations are (or are scheduled to be) outstanding. 

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the Project (until the 
Substantial Completion Date) or the Revenues, (b) the business, operations, properties, condition 
(financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Borrower (c) the legality, validity or enforceability of 

                                                 
6 NTD: Date to be added when the 12th Amendment is executed. 

102



14 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

any material provision of any Other Financing Document or TIFIA Loan Document, (d) the ability 
of the Borrower to enter into, perform or comply with any of its material obligations under any 
Other Financing Document or TIFIA Loan Document to which it is a party, (e) the validity, 
enforceability or priority of the Liens provided pursuant to the Authorizing Legislation or under 
the CASA on the Collateral in favor of the Secured Parties or (f) the TIFIA Lender’s rights or 
remedies available under any TIFIA Loan Document.  

“Metropolitan Transportation Commission” means the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission, designated as the Metropolitan Planning Organization and Regional Transportation 
Planning Agency for the San Francisco Bay Area. 

 

“NEPA” means the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, Pub. L. 91-190 (42 U.S.C. 
§ 4321 et seq.), and any successor statute of similar import, and regulations thereunder, in each 
case as in effect from time to time. 

“NEPA Determination” means the Categorical Exclusion for the Project issued by the 
FTA Regional Office on June 19, 2019, in accordance with NEPA. 

“No Transfer Conditions” means (a) amounts on deposit in each sub-account of the Pari 
Passu Debt Service Account are at least equal to the applicable Adjusted Debt Service Amount 
and (b) (i) amounts on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account are at least equal 
to the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance, (ii) amounts on deposit in the BOM Debt 
Service Reserve Sub-Account are at least equal to the BOM Debt Service Reserve Required 
Balance (as defined in the CASA), and (iii) amounts on deposit in each other sub-account of the 
Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account are at least equal to the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve 
Required Balance for such sub-account.   

“No Transfer Order” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“Obligations” means, as of any date, issued and outstanding Pari Passu Obligations and 
Subordinated Obligations. 

“OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of 
the Treasury. 

“Organizational Documents” means: (a) with respect to any Person that is a 
Governmental Authority, (i) the constitutional and statutory provisions that are the basis for the 
existence and authority of such Governmental Authority, including any enabling statutes, 
ordinances or public charters and any other organic laws establishing such Governmental 
Authority and (ii) the bylaws, code of regulations, operating procedures or other organizational 
documents of or adopted by such Governmental Authority by which such Governmental Authority, 
its powers, operations or procedures or its securities, bonds, notes or other obligations are governed 
or from which such powers are derived; and (b) with respect to a Person that is not a Governmental 
Authority, (i) to the extent such Person is a corporation, the certificate or articles of incorporation 
and the by-laws of such Person, (ii) to the extent such Person is a limited liability company, the 
certificate of formation or articles of formation or organization and operating or limited liability 

103



15 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

company agreement of such Person and (iii) to the extent such Person is a partnership, joint 
venture, trust or other form of business, the partnership, joint venture or other applicable agreement 
of formation or organization and any agreement, instrument, filing or notice with respect thereto 
filed in connection with its formation or organization with the applicable Governmental Authority 
in the jurisdiction of its formation or organization and, if applicable, any certificate or articles of 
formation or organization or formation of such Person. The “Organizational Documents” of the 
Borrower shall include the Joint Powers Agreement, as further amended, amended and restated, or 
otherwise modified from time to time. 

“Other Financing Documents” means (a) the BOM Loan Agreement, (b) each indenture, 
contract or other definitive document pursuant to which any Existing Indebtedness is issued, (c) 
with respect to any indebtedness issued by the Borrower after the Effective Date, the indenture, 
contract or other definitive document pursuant to which any such indebtedness is issued by the 
Borrower after the Effective Date, (d) each Liquidity Facility, and (e) each other agreement, 
instrument and document executed and delivered pursuant to or in connection with any of the 
foregoing.  

“Other Revenues” means any revenues of the Borrower (other than LTF Funds allocated 
to the Borrower, Farebox Revenues and federal grant funds), including (a) all STA Funds received 
by the Borrower and (b) all Ancillary Revenues. 

“Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance” means the aggregate principal amount drawn by the 
Borrower and then outstanding with respect to the TIFIA Loan, as determined in accordance with 
Section 7 (Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance; Revisions to Exhibit G and Loan Amortization 
Schedule). 

“Pari Passu Debt Service Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Required Balance” means, at any time, (a) for the 
BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the BOM Debt Service Reserve Required Balance (as 
defined in the CASA) and (b) for any other Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the 
amount required to be on deposit in such Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account as set 
forth in the documents pursuant to which the applicable Pari Passu Obligations were incurred. 

“Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account” means any sub-account of the Pari 
Passu Debt Service Reserve Account established pursuant to the CASA for any Pari Passu 
Obligations, including the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account. 

“Pari Passu Obligations” (a) Existing Indebtedness that is pari passu with the TIFIA 
Note, (b) the Borrower’s obligations under the BOM Loan Agreement, and (c) any Additional 
Obligations that are pari passu with the TIFIA Note.  

“Patriot Act” means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate 
Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, as amended, and all regulations 
promulgated thereunder. 

104



16 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“Payment Date” means each Semi-Annual Payment Date and each Annual Payment Date. 

“Payment Default” has the meaning provided in Section 19(a)(i) (Payment Default). 

“Payment Period” means any period of six (6) months from (and including) a Semi-
Annual Payment Date to (but excluding) the immediately succeeding Semi-Annual Payment Date. 

“Permitted Debt” means: 

(a) Existing Indebtedness; 

(b) the BOM Loan; 

(c) the TIFIA Loan; 

(d) Additional Obligations permitted under Section 16(a) (Indebtedness); and 

(e) purchase money obligations or capitalized leases incurred to finance 
discrete items of equipment not comprising an integral part of the Project that are treated 
as operating expenses in the Borrower’s annual budget, which obligations and leases do 
not require payments by the Borrower in any Borrower Fiscal Year in excess of $250,000 
in the aggregate. 

“Permitted Investments” means (with respect to the investment of the proceeds of the 
TIFIA Loan or any debt proceeds account or reserve account established and maintained pursuant 
to the CASA):  

(a) Government Obligations; 

(b) certificates of deposit where the certificates are collaterally secured by 
securities of the type described in clause (a) of this definition and held by a third party as 
escrow agent or custodian, of a market value not less than the amount of the certificates of 
deposit so secured, including interest, but this collateral is not required to the extent the 
certificates of deposit are insured by the Federal Government; 

(c) repurchase agreements with counterparties that have an Acceptable Credit 
Rating, when collateralized by securities of the type described in clause (a) of this 
definition and held by a third party as escrow agent or custodian, of a market value not less 
than the amount of the repurchase agreement so collateralized, including interest;  

(d) investment agreements or guaranteed investment contracts rated, or with 
any financial institution whose senior long-term debt obligations are rated, or guaranteed 
by a financial institution whose senior long-term debt obligations are rated in one of the 
two (2) highest Rating Categories for comparable types of obligations by any Rating 
Agency; and 

105



17 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(e) money market funds that invest solely in obligations of the United States of 
America, its agencies and instrumentalities, and having a rating by a Rating Agency equal 
to the then applicable rating of the United States of America by such Rating Agency. 

“Person” means and includes an individual, a general or limited partnership, a joint 
venture, a corporation, a limited liability company, a trust, an unincorporated organization and any 
Governmental Authority. 

“Project” means the new transit vehicle operations and maintenance facility to be 
constructed and owned by the Borrower and located at 96 and 101 Sheehy Court, Napa, California 
94558 in the City of Napa, California. 

“Project Accounts” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“Project Budget” means the budget for the Project in the aggregate amount of 
$[40,649,823]7 attached to this Agreement as Schedule I showing a summary of Total Project 
Costs with a breakdown of all Eligible Project Costs and the estimated sources and uses of funds 
for the Project, as amended from time to time subject to the reporting requirements in Section 
22(b) (Reporting). 

“Projected Substantial Completion Date” means [February 1, 2023]8. 

“Put Obligations” means any debt which by its terms may be tendered by and at the option 
of the holder thereof for payment prior to the stated maturity or redemption date thereof either 
(a) by the Borrower and by the Person and/or from the source specified in the applicable issuing 
document for such debt or (b) without recourse to the Borrower, by the Person and/or from the 
source specified in the applicable issuing document for such debt. 

“Qualified Issuer” means (i) with respect to any Liquidity Facility issued by a bank or 
trust company, any bank or trust company authorized to engage in the banking business that is 
organized under or licensed as a branch or agency under the laws of the United States of America 
or any state thereof that has an Acceptable Credit Rating and (ii) with respect to any Liquidity 
Facility issued by an insurance company or other financial institution, any insurance company or 
other financial institution that is authorized and qualified to do business by the state insurance 
commissioner of its jurisdiction of organization and of the State and that has an Acceptable Credit 
Rating. 

“Rating Agency” means any nationally recognized statistical rating organization identified 
as such by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

“Rating Category” means one of the generic rating categories of a Rating Agency without 
regard to any refinement or gradation of such rating by a numerical modifier or otherwise. 

                                                 
7  NTD:  Amount to be added from Schedule I. 

8  NOTE TO BORROWER:  Please confirm. 

106



18 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“Recovery Plan” means a recovery plan with respect to the construction of the Project that 
has been prepared by the Borrower and delivered to the TIFIA Lender and the FTA Regional 
Office, which plan includes a certificate from the Borrower’s Authorized Representative 
concluding that Substantial Completion is likely to occur by the date specified in the recovery plan.  

“Related Documents” means the Other Financing Documents and the TIFIA Loan 
Documents. 

“Requisition” has the meaning provided in Section 4(a) (Disbursement Conditions). 

“Revenue Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA.  

“Revenues” means (a) all LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower, (b) all Farebox Revenues 
received by or on behalf of the Borrower and (c) all Other Revenues received by or on behalf of 
the Borrower. 

“Revised Financial Model” means an updated version of the Base Case Financial Model, 
in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender, taking into account changes in projected 
Revenues, expenditures or other modeling assumptions since the delivery of the Base Case 
Financial Model (or, as applicable, the most recently submitted Revised Financial Model) and 
including a change log describing such changes. 

“Sanctioned Country” means, at any time, a country or territory which is itself the subject 
or target of any Sanctions. 

“Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related 
list of designated Persons maintained by OFAC or the U.S. Department of State, (b) any Person 
operating, organized or resident in a Sanctioned Country, or (c) any Person owned or Controlled 
by any such Person or Persons.  

“Sanctions” means economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, 
administered or enforced from time to time by the Federal Government, including those 
administered by OFAC or the U.S. Department of State.  

“Secretary” means the United States Secretary of Transportation. 

“Secured Lender” means, (a) when used with respect to the TIFIA Note, the TIFIA 
Lender, (b) when used with respect to the BOM Loan, the Bank Lender, and (c) when used with 
respect to any other indebtedness issued by the Borrower from time to time, the owner of such 
indebtedness. 

“Secured Obligations” means the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement and 
the TIFIA Note, the BOM Loan, the other Pari Passu Obligations and the Subordinated 
Obligations. 

“Secured Parties” means the Collateral Agent, the TIFIA Lender, and any other Secured 
Lenders. 

107



19 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“Semi-Annual Payment Date” means (a) for the TIFIA Loan, each [May 1] and 
[November 1] or if any such day is not a Business Day, then the Business Day immediately 
succeeding such date, commencing on the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date, (b) for the 
BOM Loan, each [May 1] and [November 1], or if any such day is not a Business Day, then the 
Business Day immediately succeeding such date, for so long as the BOM Loan is outstanding, 
commencing from the initial payment date provided in the BOM Loan Agreement, and (c) for any 
other Pari Passu Obligations, the date or dates on which interest or principal (in each case, if 
payable on a semi-annual basis) is payable on such Pari Passu Obligations as set forth in, and 
commencing from the initial payment date provided in, the documents pursuant to which such Pari 
Passu Obligations were incurred.  

“Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio” means, for any Calculation Period, the ratio of (a) 
Farebox Revenues received (or projected to be received, as applicable) by the Borrower and LTF 
Funds allocated to the Borrower and received by the County of Napa on behalf of the Borrower 
(or projected to be so allocated and received, as applicable), in the aggregate, during such 
Calculation Period to (b) MADS. 

“Servicer” means such entity or entities as the TIFIA Lender shall designate from time-to-
time to perform, or assist the TIFIA Lender in performing, certain duties hereunder. 

“STA Funds” means State Transit Assistance funds distributed by the State pursuant to 
the TDA. 

“State” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“Subordinated Obligations” means indebtedness of the Borrower that is subordinate to 
the TIFIA Loan and the Pari Passu Obligations in right of payment and in lien priority, payable 
solely from Revenues remaining after the payment of all higher priority Obligations in accordance 
with Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, and issued on terms and conditions satisfactory to the TIFIA 
Lender. 

“Substantial Completion” means (a) all work under the Construction-Related Contracts 
for the Project (other than “punchlist” items and work which is to be done after the Project has 
passed its “acceptance tests” or “performance tests” (however defined under such Construction-
Related Contracts)) has been completed substantially in accordance with such Construction-
Related Contracts and the requirements of all Governmental Approvals related thereto and (b) the 
“acceptance tests” or “performance tests” (however defined) under such applicable Construction-
Related Contracts have been performed and successfully completed and the Project has achieved 
the minimum levels specified in such Construction-Related Contracts for such “acceptance tests” 
or “performance tests”.  

“Substantial Completion Date” means the date on which Substantial Completion occurs. 

“TDA” means California Government Code Section 29530 – 29536, California Public 
Utilities Code Section 99200 – 99408, and Title 21 California Code of Regulations Section 6600 
– 6756. 

“TIFIA” has the meaning provided in the recitals hereto. 

108



20 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

“TIFIA Debt Service” means with respect to any Payment Date occurring on or after the 
Debt Service Payment Commencement Date, the principal portion of the Outstanding TIFIA Loan 
Balance and any interest payable thereon (including interest accruing after the date of any filing 
by the Borrower of any petition in bankruptcy or the commencement of any bankruptcy, 
insolvency or similar proceeding with respect to the Borrower) at the TIFIA Interest Rate (or, as 
applicable, the Default Rate), in each case due and payable on such Payment Date in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 9(b) (Payment of TIFIA Debt Service). 

“TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance” means, as of any date, an amount equal 
to all principal and interest on the TIFIA Loan due and payable on the next succeeding Semi-
Annual Payment Date. 

“TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“TIFIA Interest Rate” has the meaning provided in Section 6 (Interest Rate). 

“TIFIA Lender” has the meaning provided in the preamble hereto. 

“TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative” means the Executive Director and any 
other Person who shall be designated as such pursuant to Section 26 (TIFIA Lender’s Authorized 
Representative). 

“TIFIA Loan” means the secured loan made by the TIFIA Lender to the Borrower on the 
terms and conditions set forth herein, pursuant to the Act, in a principal amount not to exceed 
[$19,917,401], to be used in respect of Eligible Project Costs paid or incurred by or on behalf of 
the Borrower. 

“TIFIA Loan Documents” means this Agreement, the TIFIA Note, the CASA, all filings, 
recordings or registrations required by the other TIFIA Loan Documents to be filed or made in 
respect of the CASA, the LTF Fund Irrevocable Instruction, each Farebox Revenue Irrevocable 
Instruction, and the FTA Master Agreements. 

“TIFIA Note” means the promissory note delivered by the Borrower in substantially the 
form of Exhibit A.  

“Total Project Costs” means (a) the costs paid or incurred or to be paid or incurred by the 
Borrower in connection with or incidental to the acquisition, design, construction and equipping 
of the Project, including legal, administrative, engineering, planning, design, insurance, and costs 
of issuance; (b) amounts, if any, required by the Other Financing Documents or the TIFIA Loan 
Documents to be paid into any fund or account upon the incurrence of the TIFIA Loan or any Pari 
Passu Obligations, in each case in connection with the Project; (c)  payments when due (whether 
at the maturity of principal, the due date of interest, or upon optional or mandatory prepayment) 
during the Construction Period in respect of any indebtedness of the Borrower or any Liquidity 
Facility maintained by the Borrower, in each case in connection with the Project (other than the 
TIFIA Loan); and (d) costs of equipment and supplies and initial working capital and reserves 

109



21 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

required by the Borrower for the commencement of operation of the Project, including general 
administrative expenses and overhead of the Borrower. 

“Uncontrollable Force” means any cause beyond the control of the Borrower, including:  
(a) a hurricane, tornado, flood or similar occurrence, landslide, earthquake, fire or other casualty, 
strike or labor disturbance, freight embargo, act of a public enemy, explosion, war, blockade, 
terrorist act, insurrection, riot, general arrest or restraint of government and people, civil 
disturbance or similar occurrence, sabotage, or act of God (provided that the Borrower shall not 
be required to settle any strike or labor disturbance in which it may be involved) or (b) the order 
or judgment of any federal, state or local court, administrative agency or governmental officer or 
body, if it is not also the result of willful or negligent action or a lack of reasonable diligence of 
the Borrower and the Borrower does not control the administrative agency or governmental officer 
or body; provided that the diligent contest in good faith of any such order or judgment shall not 
constitute or be construed as a willful or negligent action or a lack of reasonable diligence of the 
Borrower. 

“Uniform Commercial Code” or “UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code, as the 
same may, from time to time, be in effect in the State of California. 

“USDOT” means the United States Department of Transportation. 

“Valuation Date” means the date or dates on or prior to the Interest Commencement Date 
set forth in the instrument authorizing any Deferred Interest Obligations on which specific amounts 
for such date or dates are assigned to such Deferred Interest Obligations in accordance with the 
instrument authorizing such Deferred Interest Obligations. 

“Variable Interest Rate” means a variable interest rate to be borne by any Permitted Debt. 
The method of computing such variable interest rate shall be specified in the instrument pursuant 
to which such Permitted Debt is incurred.  Such instrument shall also specify either (a) the 
particular period or periods of time for which each value of such variable interest rate shall remain 
in effect, or (b) the time or times upon which any change in such variable interest rate shall become 
effective. 

“Variable Interest Rate Debt” means Permitted Debt which bears a Variable Interest Rate 
but does not include any Permitted Debt for which the interest rate has been fixed during the 
remainder of the term thereof to maturity. 

Section 2. Interpretation.  Unless the context shall otherwise require, the words 
“hereto”, “herein”, “hereof”, and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a 
whole.  Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative 
words of the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa.  Words importing the singular number 
shall include the plural number and vice versa unless the context shall otherwise require.  The 
words “include,” “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase 
“without limitation.”  Whenever the Borrower’s knowledge is implicated in this Agreement or 
the phrase “to the Borrower’s knowledge” or a similar phrase is used in this Agreement, the 
Borrower’s knowledge or such phrase(s) shall be interpreted to mean to the best of the 
Borrower’s knowledge after reasonable and diligent inquiry and investigation.  Unless the 

110



22 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

context shall otherwise require, references to any Person shall be deemed to include such 
Person’s successors and permitted assigns.  Unless the context shall otherwise require, references 
to preambles, recitals, sections, subsections, clauses, schedules, exhibits, appendices and 
provisions are to the applicable preambles, recitals, sections, subsections, clauses, schedules, 
exhibits, appendices and provisions of this Agreement.  The schedules and exhibits to this 
Agreement, and the appendices and schedules to such exhibits, are hereby incorporated by 
reference and made an integral part of this Agreement. The headings or titles of this Agreement 
and its sections, schedules or exhibits, as well as any table of contents, are for convenience of 
reference only and shall not define or limit its provisions.  Unless the context shall otherwise 
require, all references to any resolution, contract, agreement, lease or other document shall be 
deemed to include any amendments or supplements to, or modifications or restatements or 
replacements of, such documents that are approved from time-to-time in accordance with the 
terms thereof and hereof.  Every request, order, demand, application, appointment, notice, 
statement, certificate, consent or similar communication or action hereunder by any party shall, 
unless otherwise specifically provided, be delivered in writing in accordance with Section 36 
(Notices; Payment Instructions) and signed by a duly authorized representative of such party.  

Section 3. TIFIA Loan Amount.  The principal amount of the TIFIA Loan shall not 
exceed [$19,917,401].  TIFIA Loan proceeds shall be disbursed from time-to-time in accordance 
with Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions) and Section 12(b) (Conditions Precedent to All 
Disbursements). 

Section 4. Disbursement Conditions. 

(a) TIFIA Loan proceeds shall be disbursed solely in respect of Eligible Project 
Costs paid or incurred by or on behalf of the Borrower in connection with the Project.  The 
Borrower acknowledges and agrees that any costs incurred in connection with the Project prior to 
receipt of all necessary authorizations from the USDOT in respect of such costs (which may 
include approvals of prior-incurred costs) are incurred solely at the Borrower’s risk and expense, 
will not constitute Eligible Project Costs, and no TIFIA Loan proceeds will be disbursed in respect 
thereof.  If the Borrower intends to utilize the TIFIA Loan proceeds to make progress payments 
for the Project construction work performed under the Construction-Related Contracts, the 
Borrower shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the TIFIA Lender that such progress payments 
are commensurate with the value of the work that has been completed.  Each disbursement of the 
TIFIA Loan shall be made pursuant to a requisition and certification (a “Requisition”) in the form 
set forth in Appendix One to Exhibit D, along with all documentation and other information 
required thereby, submitted by the Borrower to, and approved by, the TIFIA Lender, all in 
accordance with the procedures of Exhibit D and subject to the requirements of this Section 4 
(Disbursement Conditions) and the conditions set forth in Section 12(b) (Conditions Precedent to 
All Disbursements); provided, however, that no disbursements of TIFIA Loan proceeds shall be 
made on or after the date that is one (1) year after the Substantial Completion Date. 

(b) The Borrower shall deliver copies of each Requisition to the TIFIA Lender, 
the Servicer (if any) and the FTA Regional Office on or before the first (1st) Business Day of each 
month for which a disbursement is requested.  Subject to Section 4(d), if the TIFIA Lender does 
not expressly deny a Requisition, disbursements of funds shall be made on the fifteenth (15th) day 
of the month for which a disbursement has been requested, or on the next succeeding Business 

111



23 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Day if such fifteenth (15th) day is not a Business Day.  Express denial of a Requisition by the 
TIFIA Lender shall be provided substantially in the form annexed hereto as Appendix Two to 
Exhibit D.  In no event shall disbursements be made more than once each month.   

(c) The Borrower may amend the Anticipated TIFIA Loan Disbursement 
Schedule by submitting a revised version thereof to the TIFIA Lender no later than thirty (30) days 
prior to the proposed effective date of such amendment, together with a detailed explanation of the 
reasons for such revisions. 

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement 
(including this Section 4, Section 12 (Conditions Precedent) or Exhibit D), in no event shall the 
TIFIA Lender have any obligation to make any disbursement of proceeds of the TIFIA Loan to 
the Borrower if the TIFIA Lender’s ability to make such disbursement is impaired as a result of a 
partial or total shutdown of the operations of any federal department or agency (including the 
USDOT or any of its agencies), or any contractor of any such department or agency, due to a lapse 
in appropriations by Congress.  

Section 5. Term.  The term of the TIFIA Loan shall extend from the Effective Date 
to the Final Maturity Date or to such earlier date as all amounts due or to become due to the 
TIFIA Lender hereunder have been irrevocably paid in full in cash.  

Section 6. Interest Rate.  The interest rate with respect to the Outstanding TIFIA 
Loan Balance (the “TIFIA Interest Rate”) shall be [_________] percent ([____]%) per annum.  
Interest will be computed on the Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance (as well as on any past due 
interest) from time-to-time on the basis of a 365-day or 366-day year, as appropriate, for the 
actual number of days elapsed; provided, however, in the event of a Payment Default, the 
Borrower shall pay interest on the Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance and on any interest accrued 
thereon but unpaid as of the applicable Semi-Annual Payment Date (including interest accruing 
after the date of any filing by the Borrower of any petition in bankruptcy or the commencement 
of any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding with respect to the Borrower) at the Default 
Rate from (and including) its due date to (but excluding) the date of actual payment.  Upon the 
occurrence of any other Event of Default, the Borrower shall pay interest on the Outstanding 
TIFIA Loan Balance and on any interest accrued thereon but unpaid as of the applicable Semi-
Annual Payment Date (including interest accruing after the date of any filing by the Borrower of 
any petition in bankruptcy or the commencement of any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar 
proceeding with respect to the Borrower) at the Default Rate from (and including) the date such 
Event of Default first occurred to (but excluding) the earlier to occur of (a) the date such Event 
of Default has been waived by the TIFIA Lender and (b) the date the Outstanding TIFIA Loan 
Balance and any interest accrued thereon (at the Default Rate) but unpaid has been irrevocably 
paid in full in cash. 

Section 7. Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance; Revisions to Exhibit G and Loan 
Amortization Schedule.   

(a) The Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance will be (i) increased on each occasion 
on which the TIFIA Lender disburses loan proceeds hereunder, by the amount of such 
disbursement of loan proceeds; and (ii) decreased upon each payment or prepayment of the 

112



24 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance, by the amount of principal so paid.  The TIFIA Lender may in 
its discretion at any time and from time-to-time, or when so requested by the Borrower, advise the 
Borrower by written notice of the amount of the Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance as of the date 
of such notice, and its determination of such amount in any such notice shall be deemed conclusive 
absent manifest error.   

(b) The TIFIA Lender is hereby authorized to modify the Loan Amortization 
Schedule included in Exhibit G from time-to-time to reflect (i) any change to the Outstanding 
TIFIA Loan Balance, (ii) any change to the date and amount of any principal or interest due and 
payable or to become due and payable by the Borrower under this Agreement, and (iii) such other 
information as the TIFIA Lender may determine is necessary for administering the TIFIA Loan 
and this Agreement.  Any calculations described above shall be rounded up or down to the nearest 
whole cent.  Absent manifest error, the TIFIA Lender’s determination of such matters as set forth 
on Exhibit G shall be conclusive evidence thereof; provided, however, that neither the failure to 
make any such recordation nor any error in such recordation shall affect in any manner the 
Borrower’s obligations hereunder or under any other TIFIA Loan Document.  The TIFIA Lender 
shall provide the Borrower with a copy of Exhibit G as revised, but no failure to provide or delay 
in providing the Borrower with such copy shall affect any of the obligations of the Borrower under 
this Agreement or the other TIFIA Loan Documents.  

Section 8. Security and Priority; Flow of Funds. 

(a) As security for the TIFIA Loan, the Borrower shall (i) pledge, assign and 
grant to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the TIFIA Lender, a senior Lien on the Collateral 
described in clause (a) of the definition thereof and (ii) assign and grant to the Collateral Agent for 
the benefit of the TIFIA Lender, a senior Lien on the Collateral described in clause (b) of the 
definition thereof, including an exclusive Lien on the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account and the 
TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account and the amounts on deposit in each such account, in 
each case in accordance with the provisions of the CASA.  The TIFIA Loan shall be secured by 
the Liens on the Collateral and shall be pari passu with the Liens on the Collateral in favor of the 
Pari Passu Obligations. In addition to the foregoing, for so long as the TIFIA Loan remains 
outstanding, the Borrower shall cause all LTF Funds allocable to it to be deposited to the Revenue 
Account in accordance with this Agreement, the CASA and the other applicable TIFIA Loan 
Documents to ensure the timely payment of all TIFIA Debt Service and other amounts due and 
payable hereunder or under such other TIFIA Loan Documents.  

(b) Except (i) for the Liens granted pursuant to the Other Financing Documents 
or the TIFIA Loan Documents in respect of Permitted Debt described in clauses (a) through (c) of 
the definition thereof, or (ii) to the extent otherwise provided in clause (a) of this Section 8 
(Security and Priority; Flow of Funds), the Collateral will be free and clear of any pledge, Lien, 
charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge 
of the Borrower created under the CASA, and all organizational, regulatory or other necessary 
action on the part of the Borrower with respect to the foregoing has been duly and validly taken.  

(c) The Borrower shall not use LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower or Farebox 
Revenues to make any payments or satisfy any obligations other than in accordance with the 
provisions of this Section 8 (Security and Priority; Flow of Funds), the Other Financing 

113



25 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Documents and the TIFIA Loan Documents and shall not apply any portion of the LTF Funds 
allocated to the Borrower or Farebox Revenues in contravention of this Agreement, the Other 
Financing Documents or the TIFIA Loan Documents. The TIFIA Loan will be payable from all 
Revenues and will be a senior obligation of the Borrower in right of payment from (and claim on) 
all Revenues, pari passu with the Pari Passu Obligations. 

(d) The CASA provides that all LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower and all 
Farebox Revenues shall, subject to Section 5.03(g) thereof, be deposited in the Revenue Account 
and amounts on deposit in the Revenue Account shall be applied in the order of priority described 
in Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, a copy of which Section 5.03(b), as of the Effective Date, is 
attached as Schedule IV (all capitalized terms used in Schedule IV and not otherwise defined in 
this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed in the CASA). 

Section 9. Payment of Principal and Interest. 

(a) Payment Dates.  The Borrower agrees to pay the principal of and interest on 
the TIFIA Loan by making payments in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the 
CASA on each Payment Date, beginning on the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date, and 
on each other date on which payment thereof is required to be made hereunder (including the Final 
Maturity Date and any date on which payment is due by reason of the acceleration of the maturity 
of the TIFIA Loan or otherwise); provided that if any such date is not a Business Day, payment 
shall be made on the next Business Day following such date.  Any payment of the TIFIA Note 
shall be treated as a payment of the TIFIA Loan.   

(b) Payment of TIFIA Debt Service.  On each Payment Date occurring on or 
after the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date, the Borrower shall pay TIFIA Debt Service 
in the amounts set forth in respect of such Payment Date on Exhibit G, as the same may be revised 
as provided in Section 7 (Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance; Revisions to Exhibit G and Loan 
Amortization Schedule), which payments shall be made in accordance with Section 9(c) (Manner 
of Payment). 

(c) Manner of Payment.  Payments under this Agreement and the TIFIA Note 
shall be made by wire transfer on or before each Payment Date in immediately available funds in 
accordance with payment instructions provided by the TIFIA Lender pursuant to Section 36 
(Notices; Payment Instructions), as modified in writing from time-to-time by the TIFIA Lender.  
The Borrower may make any such payment or portion thereof (or direct the Collateral Agent to 
make such payment) with funds then on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account.  

(d) Final Maturity Date.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the 
Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance and any accrued interest thereon shall be due and payable in full 
on the Final Maturity Date (or on any earlier date on which the maturity of the TIFIA Loan shall 
be accelerated pursuant to the provisions of Section 19 (Events of Default and Remedies)). 

(e) TIFIA Note; Adjustments to Loan Amortization Schedule.  As evidence of 
the Borrower’s obligation to repay the TIFIA Loan, the Borrower shall issue and deliver to the 
TIFIA Lender, on or prior to the Effective Date, the TIFIA Note substantially in the form of 

114



26 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Exhibit A, having a maximum principal amount of [$19,917,401] (subject to increase or decrease 
as herein provided) and bearing interest at the rate set forth in Section 6 (Interest Rate).   

Section 10. Prepayment. 

(a) Optional Prepayments.  The Borrower may prepay the TIFIA Loan in whole 
or in part (and, if in part, the amounts thereof to be prepaid shall be determined by the Borrower; 
provided, however, that such prepayments shall be in minimum principal amounts of $100,000), 
at any time or from time-to-time, without penalty or premium.  Each prepayment of the TIFIA 
Loan shall be made on such date and in such principal amount as shall be specified by the Borrower 
in a written notice delivered to the TIFIA Lender, which notice shall also specify the amount of 
unpaid interest accrued to the date of such prepayment on the amount of principal to be prepaid 
that the Borrower intends to pay concurrently with such prepayment, if any.  In the case of any 
optional prepayment, such written notice shall be delivered to the TIFIA Lender not less than ten 
(10) days or more than thirty (30) days prior to the date set for prepayment, unless otherwise agreed 
by the TIFIA Lender.  At any time between delivery of such written notice and the applicable 
optional prepayment, the Borrower may, without penalty or premium, rescind its announced 
optional prepayment by further written notice to the TIFIA Lender.  Anything in this Section 10(a) 
(Optional Prepayments) to the contrary notwithstanding, the failure by the Borrower to make any 
optional prepayment shall not constitute a breach or default under this Agreement. 

(b) General Prepayment Instructions.  Upon the TIFIA Lender’s receipt of 
confirmation that payment in full of the entire Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance and any unpaid 
interest and fees with respect thereto has occurred as a result of an optional prepayment, the TIFIA 
Lender shall surrender the TIFIA Note to the Borrower or its representative at the principal office 
of the TIFIA Lender.  If the Borrower prepays only part of the unpaid balance of principal of the 
TIFIA Loan, such partial prepayments of principal shall be applied to reduce future payments due 
on the TIFIA Loan in inverse order of maturity.  Following any partial prepayment of the TIFIA 
Loan, the TIFIA Lender may provide to the Borrower a modified Exhibit G pursuant to Section 7 
(Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance; Revisions to Exhibit G and Loan Amortization Schedule).  
Absent manifest error, the TIFIA Lender’s determination of such matters as set forth on Exhibit 
G shall be conclusive evidence thereof; provided, however, that neither the failure to make any 
such recordation nor any error in such recordation shall affect in any manner the Borrower’s 
obligations hereunder or under any other TIFIA Loan Document.  Any principal amount of the 
TIFIA Loan that is subject to a voluntary prepayment notice (as described in Section 10(a) above) 
but that is not so paid on the applicable prepayment date shall continue to bear interest until 
payment thereof at the rate provided for in Section 6 (Interest Rate). 

Section 11. Compliance with Laws.  The Borrower shall, and shall require its 
contractors and subcontractors at all tiers for the Project to, comply in all material respects with 
all applicable laws, rules, regulations, executive and administrative decrees and orders, and orders 
and judgments of any court or arbitral panel, including all applicable federal and State laws rules, 
regulations and executive orders.  The list of federal laws attached as Exhibit E is illustrative of 
the type of requirements generally applicable to transportation projects and is not intended to be 
exhaustive.  The FTA Regional Office has oversight responsibility for the Project, including 
ensuring compliance in all material respects with all applicable provisions of federal law and with 
the terms of the FTA Master Agreements, to the extent applicable.  The Borrower and TIFIA 

115



27 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Lender mutually acknowledge that not every provision of the FTA Master Agreements will apply 
to the Project.  The FTA Regional Office and the TIFIA Lender (a) will enforce only those federal 
laws, regulations, and guidance that apply to the Project, and (b) will not enforce federal laws, 
regulations, and guidance that do not apply to the Project.  Application of any reference within the 
FTA Master Agreements to the common grant rule (2 CFR Part 200) are limited to Subparts A, B, 
D, and F of the rule and 2 CFR Parts 1200 and 1201, which modify the rule as applied by the 
USDOT.  Any FTA Master Agreement terms included in the “Generally Applicable Provisions” 
found at Section 1 through Section 43 of the FTA Master Agreements may be applicable to the 
Project.  “Special Provisions for the TIFIA Program and RRIF Program” found at Section 47 of 
the FTA Master Agreements are applicable to Project.  The Borrower acknowledges and agrees 
that it has reviewed the FTA Master Agreements and shall comply as required thereby. The 
Borrower acknowledges and agrees that any costs incurred in connection with the Project prior to 
receipt of all necessary authorizations from the USDOT in respect of such costs (which may 
include approvals of prior-incurred costs) are incurred solely at the Borrower’s risk and expense, 
will not constitute Eligible Project Costs, and no TIFIA Loan proceeds will be disbursed in respect 
thereof.   

Section 12. Conditions Precedent. 

(a) Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness. Notwithstanding anything in this 
Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not become effective until each of the following 
conditions precedent shall have been satisfied or waived in writing by the TIFIA Lender: 

(i) The Borrower shall have duly executed and delivered to the TIFIA 
Lender this Agreement and each other TIFIA Loan Document (other than the FTA Master 
Agreements), each in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender.  To the extent 
that any Person other than the Borrower or the TIFIA Lender is party to, or acknowledges 
and agrees to, any TIFIA Loan Document (other than the FTA Master Agreements), the 
Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender the executed signature page of each 
such other signatory to each such TIFIA Loan Document. 

(ii) (A) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender 
certified, complete, and fully executed copies of each Other Financing Document, together 
with any amendments, waivers or modifications thereto, in each case that has been entered 
into on or prior to the Effective Date, and each such agreement shall be in full force and 
effect and in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender, and all conditions 
contained in such documents to the closing of the transactions contemplated thereby shall 
have been fulfilled or effectively waived (provided that for purposes of this Section 
12(a)(ii), any such waiver shall be subject to the TIFIA Lender’s consent in its sole 
discretion); and (B) the Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender certified, 
complete, and fully executed copies of the FTA Master Agreements, together with any 
amendments, waivers or modifications thereto, in each case that is in effect as of the 
Effective Date, and each such agreement shall be in full force and effect. 

(iii) (A) Counsel to the Borrower shall have rendered to the TIFIA 
Lender legal opinions satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender in its sole discretion (including 
those opinions set forth on Exhibit H-1), (B) bond counsel to the Borrower shall have 

116



28 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

rendered to the TIFIA Lender legal opinions satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender in its sole 
discretion (including those opinions set forth on Exhibit H-2), and (C) counsel to the 
County of Napa shall have rendered to the TIFIA Lender legal opinions in form and 
substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender in its sole discretion.  

(iv) The Borrower shall have provided a certificate from the Borrower’s 
Authorized Representative as to the absence of debarment, suspension or voluntary 
exclusion from participation in Federal Government contracts, procurement and non-
procurement matters substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C with respect to 
the Borrower and its principals (as defined in 2 CFR § 180.995). 

(v) The Borrower shall have provided to the TIFIA Lender satisfactory 
evidence that the Project has been included in (A) the transportation improvement program 
adopted by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission, (B) the State transportation plan, 
and (C) the State transportation improvement program approved by the USDOT or its 
designated agency, in each case to the extent required by 23 U.S.C. §§ 134 and 135, and 
23 U.S.C. § 602(a)(3), as applicable; and the financial plan for each such program or plan 
shall reflect the costs of, and the sources of funding for, the Project. 

(vi) The Borrower shall have provided evidence to the TIFIA Lender’s 
satisfaction, no more than thirty (30), but no less than fourteen (14), days prior to the 
Effective Date, of the assignment by at least one (1) Rating Agency of a public Investment 
Grade Rating to the Pari Passu Obligations then outstanding and to the TIFIA Loan and no 
such rating has been reduced, withdrawn or suspended as of the Effective Date.  

(vii) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender a certificate 
from the Borrower’s Authorized Representative in the form attached hereto as Exhibit J 
(A) as to the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent set forth in this Section 12(a) 
(Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) as required by the TIFIA Lender, (B) designating 
the Borrower’s Authorized Representative, and (C) confirming such person’s position and 
incumbency. 

(viii) The Borrower shall have demonstrated to the TIFIA Lender’s 
satisfaction that as of the Effective Date the aggregate of all committed sources of funds 
shown in the Base Case Financial Model and in the Project Budget to pay Total Project 
Costs have been fully and completely committed and allocated to the Borrower by the 
providers thereof and that such funds shall be sufficient to pay all Total Project Costs 
necessary to achieve Substantial Completion. 

(ix) The Borrower shall have provided to the TIFIA Lender certified, 
complete, and fully executed copies of each Construction-Related Contract that has been 
entered into as of the Effective Date, together with any amendments, waivers or 
modifications thereto and any related performance security instruments, in each case that 
has been entered into on or prior to the Effective Date and each such agreement shall be in 
full force and effect and in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender.  In 
addition, the Borrower shall have (A) selected the preferred bidder for the Construction-
Related Contract described in clause (a) of the definition thereof, (B) determined the 

117



29 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

contract price for such Construction-Related Contract, and (C) delivered to the TIFIA 
Lender an execution or near-execution version of such Construction-Related Contract, 
which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender. 

(x) The Borrower shall have demonstrated to the TIFIA Lender’s 
satisfaction that it has obtained all Governmental Approvals necessary to commence 
construction of the Project and that all such Governmental Approvals are final, non-
appealable, and in full force and effect (and are not subject to any notice of violation, 
breach, or revocation). 

(xi) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender a certified 
Base Case Financial Model on the Effective Date, which Base Case Financial Model shall 
(A) demonstrate that the Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio for each Calculation Period 
through the Final Maturity Date is at least equal to 2.00:1.00, (B) demonstrate that 
Revenues in each Calculation Period through the Final Maturity Date are projected to be 
sufficient to satisfy all of the Borrower’s funding obligations pursuant to Section 5.03(b) 
of the CASA, and (C) otherwise be in form and substance acceptable to the TIFIA Lender. 

(xii) The Borrower shall have provided evidence reasonably satisfactory 
to the TIFIA Lender that (A) County of Napa has taken all necessary action to ensure that 
all LTF Funds allocable to the Borrower are deposited directly into the Revenue Account, 
as required under the LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction, and (B) each Farebox Bank has 
taken all necessary action to ensure that all Farebox Revenues it receives are wired 
automatically to the Revenue Account (subject to any No Transfer Order issued by the 
Collateral Agent), as required under the applicable Farebox Revenue Irrevocable 
Instruction. 

(xiii) The Borrower shall have (A) provided evidence satisfactory to the 
TIFIA Lender that the Borrower is authorized, pursuant to the Authorizing Legislation, to 
pledge, assign, and grant the Liens on the Collateral purported to be pledged, assigned, and 
granted pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents and the Other Financing Documents, 
without the need for notice to any Person, physical delivery, recordation, filing or further 
act, (B) recorded or filed, or caused to be recorded or filed, for record in such manner and 
in such places as are required all documents and instruments (other than the UCC-1 
financing statements contemplated in Section 12(a)(xxiv) (Conditions Precedent to 
Effectiveness), which will be filed by the TIFIA Lender), and taken or caused to be taken 
all other actions, as are necessary or desirable to establish and enforce the Collateral 
Agent’s Lien on the Collateral (for the benefit of the Secured Parties) to the extent 
contemplated by the TIFIA Loan Documents, the Other Financing Documents or the 
Authorizing Legislation, and (C) paid, or caused to be paid, all taxes and filing fees that 
are due and payable in connection with the execution, delivery or recordation of any TIFIA 
Loan Document, any Other Financing Document or any instruments, certificates or 
financing statements in connection with the foregoing.  

(xiv) The Borrower shall have (A) provided evidence satisfactory to the 
TIFIA Lender of compliance with NEPA, (B) complied with all applicable requirements 
of the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 

118



30 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.) and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d 
et seq.) and shall have provided evidence satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender of such 
compliance upon request by the TIFIA Lender and (C) complied with the requirements of 
2 CFR §§ 180.300 and 180.330 and shall have provided evidence satisfactory to the TIFIA 
Lender of such compliance upon request by the TIFIA Lender. 

(xv) The TIFIA Lender shall have delivered its initial TIFIA Lender’s 
Authorized Representative certificate. 

(xvi) The Borrower shall have (A) obtained a Federal Employer 
Identification Number, (B) obtained a Data Universal Numbering System number, and (C) 
registered with, and obtained confirmation of active registration status from, the federal 
System for Award Management (www.SAM.gov). 

(xvii) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender 
(A) certificates of insurance or other acceptable documentation evidencing (1) that the 
Borrower has in effect as of the Effective Date insurance with respect to the Project and 
the Borrower, as applicable, that meets the requirements of Section 15(f) (Insurance) and 
(2) that each liability policy (other than workers’ compensation insurance) reflects the 
TIFIA Lender as an additional insured and (B) at the TIFIA Lender’s request, copies of 
such insurance policies.  

(xviii) The Borrower shall have provided to the TIFIA Lender evidence 
that the Borrower is duly organized and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction 
of formation, with full power, authority and legal right to own its properties and carry on 
its business and governmental functions as now conducted, including the following 
documents, each certified by the Borrower’s Authorized Representative: (A) a copy of its 
Organizational Documents and the Authorizing Legislation, each as in effect on the 
Effective Date (and certified by the Secretary of State of the State or the state of its 
formation, to the extent applicable), which Organizational Documents and Authorizing 
Legislation shall each be in full force and effect and shall not have been amended since the 
date of the last amendment thereto shown on the certificate, (B) a copy of all resolutions 
authorizing the Borrower to execute and deliver, and to perform its respective obligations 
under, the TIFIA Loan Documents to which it is a party, and such resolutions have not 
been subsequently modified, rescinded or amended, are in full force and effect in the form 
adopted, and are the only resolutions adopted by the Borrower relating to the matters 
described therein, and (C) a copy of such further instruments and documents as are 
necessary, appropriate or advisable to effectuate the foregoing resolutions and to 
consummate and implement the transactions contemplated by such resolutions and the 
TIFIA Loan Documents. 

(xix) The Borrower shall have provided the TIFIA Lender records of the 
Eligible Project Costs incurred prior to the Effective Date, in form and substance 
satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender and in sufficient time prior to the Effective Date to permit 
the TIFIA Lender and the FTA Regional Office to review such costs.  

119



31 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(xx) The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in this 
Agreement (including Section 13 (Representations and Warranties of Borrower)) and in 
each other Related Document to which the Borrower is a party shall be true and correct, as 
of the Effective Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly 
relate to an earlier date (in which case, such representations and warranties shall be true 
and correct as of such earlier date). 

(xxi) The Borrower shall have provided the TIFIA Lender with evidence 
satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender that, as of the Effective Date (A) the maximum principal 
amount of the TIFIA Loan, together with the amount of any other credit assistance provided 
under the Act to the Borrower, does not exceed forty-nine percent (49%) of reasonably 
anticipated Eligible Project Costs and (B) as required pursuant to § 603(b)(9) of the Act, 
the total federal assistance provided to the Project, including the maximum principal 
amount of the TIFIA Loan, does not exceed eighty percent (80%) of Eligible Project Costs.  

(xxii) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender a duly 
executed certificate from the Collateral Agent in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I. 

(xxiii) The Borrower shall have provided a certificate from the Borrower’s 
Authorized Representative as to the prohibition on the use of appropriated funds for 
lobbying substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit L in accordance with 49 CFR 
§20.100(b). 

(xxiv) The Borrower shall have authorized the filing of a UCC-1 financing 
statement covering the Project Accounts, satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender and the 
Collateral Agent in form and substance, with the Secretary of State of the State of 
California. 

(xxv) The Borrower shall have delivered such other agreements, 
documents, instruments, opinions and other items required by the TIFIA Lender, all in form 
and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender, including evidence that all other Project 
funding requirements have been met (including evidence of other funding sources or 
funding commitments).  

(b) Conditions Precedent to All Disbursements.  Notwithstanding anything in 
this Agreement to the contrary, the TIFIA Lender shall have no obligation to make any 
disbursement of loan proceeds to the Borrower (including the initial disbursement hereunder) until 
each of the following conditions precedent has been satisfied or waived in writing by the TIFIA 
Lender:  

(i) The Borrower shall have provided to the TIFIA Lender evidence 
satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender that prior thereto, or simultaneously therewith, a 
disbursement of Pari Passu Obligation proceeds has occurred such that as of such TIFIA 
Loan disbursement, the aggregate amount of all disbursements of the TIFIA Loan 
(including the requested disbursement) shall not exceed forty-nine percent (49%) of the 
total amount of reasonably anticipated Eligible Project Costs.  

120



32 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(ii) With respect to any disbursement occurring sixty (60) days or more 
after the Effective Date, the Borrower shall have provided the Financial Plan, or the most 
recent update thereto, in each case in accordance with Section 21(a) (Financial Plan). 

(iii) To the extent not previously delivered to the TIFIA Lender, the 
Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender certified, complete and fully executed 
copies of any Other Financing Document, including any amendment, modification or 
supplement thereto, entered into after the Effective Date. 

(iv) To the extent not previously delivered to the TIFIA Lender, the 
Borrower shall have provided certified copies of all Construction-Related Contracts, 
including any amendment, modification or supplement thereto and related performance 
security instrument, entered into after the Effective Date. 

(v) The Borrower shall have demonstrated to the TIFIA Lender’s 
satisfaction that all Governmental Approvals necessary as of the time of the applicable 
disbursement for the development, construction, operation and maintenance of the Project 
have been issued and are in full force and effect. 

(vi) Each of the insurance policies obtained and other insurance 
arrangements maintained by the Borrower in satisfaction of the conditions in Section 
12(a)(xvii) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) is in full force and effect, and no notice 
of termination thereof has been issued by the applicable insurance provider. 

(vii) At the time of, and immediately after giving effect to, any 
disbursement of TIFIA Loan proceeds then currently requested, (A) no Default or Event of 
Default hereunder, and no event of default (howsoever described or designated) under any 
other Related Document shall have occurred and be continuing, and (B) no event or 
condition that, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, would constitute an 
event of default (howsoever described or designated) of the Borrower under any other 
Related Document, in each case, shall have occurred and be continuing. 

(viii) The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in this 
Agreement (including Section 13 (Representations and Warranties of Borrower)) and in 
each other Related Document shall be true, correct, and complete as of each date on which 
any disbursement of the TIFIA Loan is made, except to the extent such representations and 
warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, such representations and 
warranties shall be true and correct as of such earlier date). 

(ix) No Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could 
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, shall have occurred and be 
continuing since the date the Borrower submitted the Application to the TIFIA Lender. 

(x) For any disbursements to be made after the last Business Day of the 
month following the initial disbursement of the TIFIA Loan, the Borrower shall have fully 
funded the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in accordance with Section 15(k) 
(Reserve Accounts; Permitted Investments). 

121



33 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(xi) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender a 
Requisition that complies with the provisions of Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions), and 
such Requisition has not been expressly denied by the TIFIA Lender. 

Section 13. Representations and Warranties of Borrower.  The Borrower hereby 
represents and warrants that, as of the Effective Date and, as to each of the representations and 
warranties below other than those contained in Section 13(b) (Officer’s Authorization) and 
Section 13(l) (Credit Ratings), as of each date on which any disbursement of the TIFIA Loan is 
requested or made: 

(a) Organization; Power and Authority.  The Borrower is a joint powers agency 
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State, has full legal 
right, power and authority to enter into the Related Documents then in existence to which the 
Borrower is a party, to execute and deliver the TIFIA Note, and to carry out and consummate all 
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and has duly authorized the execution, delivery and 
performance of the Related Documents to which the Borrower is a party. 

(b) Officers’ Authorization.  As of the Effective Date, the officers of the 
Borrower executing (or that previously executed) the Related Documents, and any certifications 
or instruments related thereto, to which the Borrower is a party are (or were at the time of such 
execution) duly and properly in office and fully authorized to execute the same. 

(c) Due Execution; Enforceability.  Each of the Related Documents in effect as 
of any date on which this representation and warranty is made, and to which the Borrower is a 
party, has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower and constitutes the legal, 
valid and binding agreement of the Borrower enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as 
such enforceability (i) may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
moratorium or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally, and (ii) is subject to general 
principles of equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in equity or at law). 

(d) Non-Contravention.  The execution and delivery of the Related Documents 
to which the Borrower is a party, the consummation of the transactions contemplated in the Related 
Documents and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of the Related 
Documents will not (i) conflict with the Borrower’s Organizational Documents, (ii) conflict in any 
material respect with, or constitute a violation, breach or default (whether immediately or after 
notice or the passage of time or both) by the Borrower of or under, any applicable law, 
administrative rule or regulation, any applicable court or administrative decree or order (including 
the Authorizing Legislation and the TDA), or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan 
agreement, lease, contract or other agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by 
which it or its properties or assets are otherwise subject or bound, or (iii) result in the creation or 
imposition of any Lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property 
or assets of the Borrower other than the Liens granted pursuant to the CASA.   

(e) Consents and Approvals.  No consent or approval of any trustee, holder of 
any indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Person, and no consent, permission, authorization, 
order or license of, or filing or registration with, any Governmental Authority is necessary in 
connection with (i) the execution and delivery by the Borrower of the Related Documents to which 

122



34 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

the Borrower is a party, except as have been obtained or made and as are in full force and effect, 
or (ii) (A) the consummation of any transaction contemplated by the Related Documents or (B) 
the fulfillment of or compliance by the Borrower with the terms and conditions of the Related 
Documents, except as have been obtained or made and as are in full force and effect or as are 
ministerial in nature and can reasonably be expected to be obtained or made in the ordinary course 
on commercially reasonable terms and conditions when needed. 

(f) Litigation.  As of the Effective Date, there is no action, suit, proceeding or, 
to the knowledge of the Borrower, any inquiry or investigation, in any case before or by any court 
or other Governmental Authority pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against 
or affecting the Project or the ability of the Borrower to execute, deliver and perform its obligations 
under the Related Documents.9  As of the Effective Date and as of each other date on which the 
representations and warranties herein are made or confirmed, there is no action, suit, proceeding 
or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any inquiry or investigation before or by any court or other 
Governmental Authority pending, or to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or 
affecting the Project, the Borrower or the assets, properties or operations of the Borrower, that in 
any case could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.  To the Borrower’s 
knowledge, there are no actions of the type described above pending, threatened against, or 
affecting any of the Construction-Related Contract Parties except for matters arising after the 
Effective Date that could not reasonably be expected to (i) result in a Material Adverse Effect or 
(ii) adversely affect the Borrower’s ability to receive Revenues in amounts sufficient to meet the 
financial projections contained in the Base Case Financial Model (or any Revised Financial Model, 
to the extent any Revised Financial Model has been submitted to the TIFIA Lender).  The Borrower 
is not in default (and no event has occurred and is continuing that, with the giving of notice or the 
passage of time or both, could constitute a default) with respect to any Governmental Approval, 
which default could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

(g) Security Interests.  The CASA and the Authorizing Legislation establish, in 
favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the TIFIA Lender, the valid and binding Liens on 
the Collateral that they purport to create, irrespective of whether any Person has notice of the 
pledge or grant of security interest, as applicable, and without the need for any physical delivery, 
recordation, filing, or further act.  Such Liens are in full force and effect and are not subordinate 
or junior to any other Liens in respect of the Collateral and not pari passu with any obligations 
other than the Pari Passu Obligations.  The Borrower has duly and lawfully taken all actions 
required under this Agreement, the other TIFIA Loan Documents, and applicable laws for the 
pledge or grant of security interest, as applicable, of the Collateral pursuant to and in accordance 
with the TIFIA Loan Documents.  The Borrower is not in breach of any covenants set forth in 
Section 15(a) (Securing Liens) or in the TIFIA Loan Documents with respect to the matters 
described in such section or documents.  As of the Effective Date and as of each other date this 
representation and warranty is made, (i) no filing, recordation or any other action is necessary to 
establish and perfect a legal, valid, binding, and enforceable Lien on the Collateral in favor of the 
Collateral Agent (for the benefit of the Secured Lenders) to the extent contemplated by the TIFIA 
Loan Documents, (ii) all applicable UCC-1 financing statements have been recorded or filed for 
record in such manner and in such places to notify third parties of the Collateral Agent’s interest 

                                                 
9  NOTE TO BORROWER:  Please confirm there is no litigation 

123



35 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

in the Project Accounts, and (iii) all taxes and filing fees that are due and payable in connection 
with the execution, delivery or recordation of any TIFIA Loan Documents, including any 
instruments, certificates or financing statements in connection with the foregoing, have been paid.  
Neither the attachment, perfection, validity, enforceability or priority of the security interest in the 
Collateral described in clause (a) of the definition thereof granted pursuant to the TIFIA Loan 
Documents is governed by Article 9 of the UCC.   

(h) No Debarment.  The Borrower has fully complied with its verification 
obligations under 2 CFR § 180.320 and confirms that, to its knowledge, neither the Borrower nor 
any of its principals (as defined in 2 CFR § 180.995) is debarred, suspended or voluntarily excluded 
from participation in Federal Government contracts, procurement or non-procurement matters or 
delinquent on a Federal Government debt as more fully set forth in the certificate delivered 
pursuant to Section 12(a)(iv) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness).  Further, the Borrower has 
fully complied with 2 CFR Part 180, including Subpart C, in particular §§ 180.300 and 180.330, 
and with 2 CFR § 1200.332.  The Borrower is not aware of any non-compliance by any of its 
contractors or subcontractors with the applicable requirements of 2 CFR Part 180 

(i) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties.  The representations, 
warranties and certifications of the Borrower set forth in this Agreement and the other Related 
Documents are true, correct, and complete, except to the extent such representations and warranties 
expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, such representations and warranties shall be true, 
correct, and complete as of such earlier date). 

(j) Compliance with Federal Requirements.  The Borrower has complied, with 
respect to the Project, with all applicable requirements of NEPA, the Uniform Relocation 
Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.), and 
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.). 

(k) Transportation Improvement Program.  The Project has been included in (i) 
the transportation improvement program adopted by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission, 
(ii) the State transportation plan, and (iii) the State transportation improvement program approved 
by the USDOT or its designated agency, in each case to the extent required by 23 U.S.C. §§ 134 
and 135 and 23 U.S.C. § 602(a)(3), as applicable.  The financial plan for each such program or 
plan reflects the costs of, and the sources of funding for, the Project. 

(l) Credit Ratings.  The Pari Passu Obligations then outstanding and the TIFIA 
Loan have received a public Investment Grade Rating from at least one (1) Rating Agency and 
written evidence of such ratings has been provided to the TIFIA Lender prior to the Effective Date, 
and no such rating has been reduced, withdrawn or suspended as of the Effective Date. 

(m) No Defaults.  No Default or Event of Default, and no event of default 
(howsoever described or designated) of the Borrower under any Related Document has occurred 
and is continuing. 

(n) Governmental Approvals.  All Governmental Approvals required as of the 
Effective Date and any subsequent date on which this representation is made (or deemed made) 
for the undertaking and completion by the Borrower of the Project, and for the operation and 

124



36 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

management thereof, have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect and there is no 
basis for, nor proceeding that is pending or threatened that could reasonably be expected to result 
in, the revocation of any such Governmental Approval. 

(o) Construction-Related Contracts.  Each Construction-Related Contract in 
effect as of any date on which this representation and warranty is made is in full force and effect 
and all conditions precedent to the obligations of the respective parties under each such 
Construction-Related Contract have been satisfied.  The Borrower has delivered to the TIFIA 
Lender a fully executed, complete, and correct copy of each such Construction-Related Contract 
(including all exhibits, schedules and other attachments) that is in effect, including any 
amendments or modifications thereto and any related credit support instruments or side letters.  No 
event has occurred that gives the Borrower or, to the Borrower’s knowledge, any Construction-
Related Contract Party, the right to terminate such Construction-Related Contract.  The Borrower 
is not in breach of, or in default under, any Construction-Related Contract, and, to the knowledge 
of the Borrower, no Construction-Related Contract Party is in breach of, or in default under, any 
material term of such Construction-Related Contract. 

(p) Information.  The information furnished by the Borrower to the TIFIA 
Lender, when taken as a whole, does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 
state any material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading as of the 
date made or furnished; provided that no representation or warranty is made with regard to 
projections or other forward-looking statements provided by or on behalf of the Borrower 
(including the Base Case Financial Model, any Revised Financial Model, and the assumptions 
therein) except that the assumptions in the Base Case Financial Model and any Revised Financial 
Model were reasonable in all material respects when made. 

(q) OFAC; Anti-Corruption Laws.   

(i) None of the Borrower nor, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any 
Construction-Related Contract Party is a Sanctioned Person. 

(ii) None of the Borrower nor, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any 
Construction-Related Contract Party is in violation of or, since the date that is five (5) years 
prior to the Effective Date, has violated:  (A) any applicable Anti-Money Laundering Laws; 
(B) any applicable Sanctions; (C) any applicable Anti-Corruption Laws; or (D) any 
applicable anti-drug trafficking or anti-terrorism laws, civil or criminal. 

(iii) There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, 
threatened claims or investigations by any Governmental Authority against, or any internal 
investigations conducted by, the Borrower or any Construction-Related Contract Party, 
with respect to any possible or alleged violations of any Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering 
Laws, Anti-Corruption Laws, or any anti-drug trafficking or anti-terrorism laws. 

(iv) No use of proceeds of the TIFIA Loan or other transaction 
contemplated by this Agreement or any other Related Document will violate any applicable 
Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering Laws, or Anti-Corruption Laws, or any applicable anti-
drug trafficking or anti-terrorism laws. 

125



37 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(r) Compliance with Law.  The Borrower is in compliance in all material 
respects with, and has conducted (or caused to be conducted) its business and government 
functions and the business and operations of the Project in compliance in all material respects with, 
the FTA Master Agreements and all applicable laws (other than Environmental Laws, which are 
addressed in Section 13(s) (Environmental Matters)), including those set forth on Exhibit E, to 
the extent applicable.  To the Borrower’s knowledge, each Construction-Related Contract Party is, 
and has caused its respective contractors and subcontractors to be, in compliance in all material 
respects with all applicable laws, including those set forth on Exhibit E, to the extent applicable.  
No notices of violation of any applicable law have been issued, entered or received by (i) the 
Borrower or (ii) to the Borrower’s knowledge, solely in respect of the Project, any Construction-
Related Contract Party other than, in each case, notices of violations that are immaterial.  

(s) Environmental Matters.  Each of the Borrower and, to the Borrower’s 
knowledge, each Construction-Related Contract Party is in compliance with all laws applicable to 
the Project relating to (i) air emissions, (ii) discharges to surface water or ground water, (iii) noise 
emissions, (iv) solid or liquid waste disposal, (v) the use, generation, storage, transportation or 
disposal of toxic or hazardous substances or wastes, (vi) biological resources (such as threatened 
and endangered species), and (vii) other environmental, health or safety matters, including all laws 
applicable to the Project referenced in the notice “Federal Environmental Statutes, Regulations, 
and Executive Orders Applicable to the Development and Review of Transportation Infrastructure 
Projects,” 79 Fed. Reg. 22756 (April 23, 2014) (or any successor Federal Register notice of similar 
import), which document is available at http://www.transportation.gov/policy/transportation-
policy/environment/laws (“Environmental Laws”).  All Governmental Approvals for the Project 
relating to Environmental Laws have been, or, when required, will be, obtained and are (or, as 
applicable, will be) in full force and effect.  The Borrower has not received any written 
communication or notice, whether from a Governmental Authority, employee, citizens group, or 
any other Person, that alleges that the Borrower is not in full compliance with all Environmental 
Laws and Governmental Approvals relating thereto in connection with the Project and, to the 
Borrower’s knowledge, there are no circumstances that may prevent or interfere with full 
compliance in the future by the Borrower with any such Environmental Law or Governmental 
Approval.  The Borrower has provided to the TIFIA Lender all material assessments, reports, 
results of investigations or audits, and other material information in the possession of or reasonably 
available to the Borrower regarding the Borrower’s or the Project’s compliance with (A) 
Environmental Laws, and (B) Governmental Approvals relating to Environmental Laws that are 
required for the Project. 

(t) Insurance.  The Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of Section 
15(f) (Insurance) and all insurance obligations required under each Related Document as of the 
date on which this representation and warranty is made.  

(u) No Liens.  Except for the Liens granted pursuant to the CASA, the Borrower 
has not created, and is not under any obligation to create, and has not entered into any transaction 
or agreement that would result in the imposition of, any Lien on the Collateral. 

(v) Intellectual Property.  The Borrower owns, or has adequate licenses or other 
valid rights to use, all patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, franchises, 
formulas, licenses and other rights with respect thereto and has obtained assignment of all licenses 

126



38 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

and other rights of whatsoever nature, in each case necessary for the Project and the operation of 
its business.  To the Borrower’s knowledge, there exists no conflict with the rights or title of any 
third party with respect to the intellectual property described in the preceding sentence.  Excluding 
the use of commercially available “off-the-shelf” software, to the Borrower’s knowledge, no 
product, process, method, substance, part or other material produced or employed or presently 
contemplated to be produced by or employed by the Project infringes or will infringe any patent, 
trademark, service mark, trade name, copyright, franchise, formula, license or other intellectual 
property right of any third party. 

(w) Investment Company Act.  The Borrower is not, and after applying the 
proceeds of the TIFIA Loan will not be, required to register as an “investment company” within 
the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and is not “controlled” by a 
company required to register as an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 
1940, as amended. 

(x) Financial Statements.  Each statement of net position, balance sheet, 
statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund net position, and statement of cash flows 
(collectively, “Financial Statements”) delivered to the TIFIA Lender pursuant to Section 21(b) 
(Financial Statements) has been prepared in accordance with GAAP and presents fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial condition of the Borrower as of the respective dates of the balance 
sheets included therein and the results of operations of the Borrower for the respective periods 
covered by the statements of income included therein.  Except as reflected in such Financial 
Statements, there are no liabilities or obligations of the Borrower of any nature whatsoever for the 
period to which such Financial Statements relate that are required to be disclosed in accordance 
with GAAP.  

(y) Taxes.  The Borrower is not required to file tax returns with any 
Governmental Authority. 

(z) ERISA.  Neither the Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate maintains or 
otherwise has any liability in respect of any plan or other arrangement that is subject to ERISA or 
Section 412 of the Code. 

(aa) Sufficient Funds.  The aggregate of (i) the undrawn portion of the TIFIA 
Loan, (ii) all funds that are undrawn but fully and completely committed under the Other Financing 
Documents, and (iii) all funds available under any other unused funding that are committed and 
available, will be sufficient to pay all Total Project Costs necessary to achieve Substantial 
Completion. 

(bb) Sovereign Immunity.  Pursuant to California Government Code Section 814 
et seq., the Borrower can sue and be sued in respect of its contractual obligations, and judgments 
against the Borrower can be legally enforced.  The defense of sovereign immunity is not available 
to the Borrower in any proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction relating to the 
enforcement of (or collection on) the obligations of the Borrower under any of the Related 
Documents to which it is a party or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. 

127



39 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(cc) Patriot Act.  The Borrower is not required to establish an anti-money 
laundering compliance program pursuant to the Patriot Act. 

(dd) Irrevocable Instructions. The LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction and each 
Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction is in full force and effect. To the knowledge of the 
Borrower, the County of Napa is (and has been since the most recent date as of which this 
representation and warranty was made) in full compliance with the LTF Funds Irrevocable 
Instruction and each Farebox Bank is (and has been since the most recent date as of which this 
representation and warranty was made) in full compliance with its respective Farebox Revenue 
Irrevocable Instruction. 

Section 14. Representations and Warranties of TIFIA Lender.  The TIFIA Lender 
represents and warrants that: 

(a) Power and Authority.  The TIFIA Lender has all requisite power and 
authority to make the TIFIA Loan and to perform all transactions contemplated by the Related 
Documents to which it is a party. 

(b) Due Execution; Enforceability.  The Related Documents to which it is a 
party have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the TIFIA Lender, and are legally 
valid and binding agreements of the TIFIA Lender, enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

(c) Officers’ Authorization.  The officers of the TIFIA Lender executing each 
of the Related Documents to which the TIFIA Lender is a party are duly and properly in office and 
fully authorized to execute the same on behalf of the TIFIA Lender. 

Section 15. Affirmative Covenants. The Borrower covenants and agrees as follows 
until the date the TIFIA Note and the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement (other 
than contingent indemnity obligations) are irrevocably paid in full in cash and the TIFIA Lender 
no longer has any commitment to make disbursements to the Borrower, unless the TIFIA Lender 
waives compliance in writing:  

(a) Securing Liens.  The Borrower shall at any and all times, so far as it may be 
authorized by law, pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, all and every such further 
resolutions, acts, deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary 
or desirable in connection with assuring, conveying, granting, assigning, securing and confirming 
the Liens in and to the Collateral (whether now existing or hereafter arising) granted to the 
Collateral Agent for the benefit of the TIFIA Lender pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents, or 
intended so to be granted pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents, or which the Borrower may 
become bound to grant, and the Borrower shall at all times maintain the Collateral free and clear 
of any pledge, Lien, charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto that has priority over, 
or equal rank with, the Liens created by the TIFIA Loan Documents, other than as permitted by 
this Agreement, and all organizational, regulatory or other necessary action on the part of the 
Borrower to that end shall be duly and validly taken at all times.  The Borrower shall at all times, 
to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the Liens on the Collateral granted 
pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents and all the rights of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of 

128



40 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

the Secured Lenders under the TIFIA Loan Documents against all claims and demands of all 
Persons other than the Secured Lenders. 

(b) Copies of Documents.   

(i) The Borrower shall provide to the TIFIA Lender a copy of any draft 
Other Financing Documents (or other comparable transaction or offering documents) in 
connection with the incurrence of any Permitted Debt or indebtedness subject to approval 
by the TIFIA Lender pursuant to Section 16(a) (Indebtedness), in each case at least thirty 
(30) days prior to the incurrence of such indebtedness.  The Borrower shall provide to the 
TIFIA Lender a fully executed or final version of each such Other Financing Document (or 
other comparable transaction documentation) within ten (10) days following execution or 
completion thereof.   

(ii) The Borrower shall provide to the TIFIA Lender, promptly after the 
sending or receipt thereof, copies of (A) final ratings presentations sent to, and any notices, 
reports or other written materials (other than those that are ministerial in nature) received 
from, any Rating Agency that has provided, or is being requested to provide, a rating with 
respect to the Project or any indebtedness of the Borrower that is or will be secured by or 
paid from the Revenues or the Collateral, (B) all notices and other written communications, 
other than those that are non-substantive or ministerial in nature, received by it from the 
Collateral Agent or any Secured Lender, and (C) all reports, notices and other written 
materials, other than those that are non-substantive or ministerial in nature, required to be 
sent to the Collateral Agent or any Secured Lender under the TIFIA Loan Documents or 
the Other Financing Documents; unless, in each case, the TIFIA Lender notifies the 
Borrower that any such reports, notices and/or other written materials no longer need to be 
provided. 

(iii) Except as otherwise agreed by the TIFIA Lender in writing, the 
Borrower will provide to the TIFIA Lender (x) copies of any proposed amendments, 
modifications, replacements of, or supplements to any Related Document or Construction-
Related Contract (including proposed change orders to the Construction-Related Contract 
described in clause (c) of the definition thereof (or any replacement of such contract) that 
increase the contract price for such Construction-Related Contract by an amount that is 
greater than ten percent (10%) of the original contract price for such Construction-Related 
Contract) (other than proposed amendments, modifications, replacements or supplements 
that are ministerial in nature and do not change any substantive provision of such Related 
Document or Construction-Related Contract) at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective 
date thereof, and (y) complete, correct and fully executed copies of any amendment, 
modification or supplement to any Related Document or Construction-Related Contract 
(including change orders to the Construction-Related Contract described in clause (c) of 
the definition thereof (or any replacement of such contract) that increase the contract price 
for such Construction-Related Contract by an amount that is greater than ten percent (10%) 
of the original contract price for such Construction-Related Contract) within five (5) 
Business Days after execution thereof. 

129



41 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(iv) If the Borrower enters into a Construction-Related Contract after the 
Effective Date, the Borrower shall provide to the TIFIA Lender an executed version of 
such Construction-Related Contract, together with any related performance security 
instruments, contracts, side letters or other understandings, promptly following the full 
execution thereof.  

(c) Use of Proceeds.  The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the TIFIA Loan 
for purposes permitted by applicable law and as otherwise permitted under this Agreement and the 
other Related Documents. 

(d) Prosecution of Work; Verification Requirements.   

(i) The Borrower shall diligently prosecute the work relating to the 
Project and complete the Project in accordance with the Construction Schedule, and in 
accordance with the highest standards of the Borrower’s industry.  

(ii) The Borrower shall comply, and shall require all of its contractors 
and subcontractors for the Project to comply, with the applicable requirements set forth in 
2 CFR Part 180, Subpart C, including 2 CFR §§ 180.300, 180.320 and 180.330, and in 2 
CFR §1200.332. 

(e) Operations and Maintenance.  The Borrower shall (i) operate and maintain 
the Project in a reasonable and prudent manner and (B) substantially in accordance with the 
regulations, standards and guidelines of the applicable USDOT modal agency, and (ii) maintain 
the Project in good repair, working order and condition and in accordance with the requirements 
of all other applicable laws and each applicable Related Document.  The Borrower shall at all 
times do or cause to be done all things necessary to obtain, preserve, renew, extend and keep in 
full force and effect the Governmental Approvals and any other rights, licenses, franchises, and 
authorizations material to the conduct of its business.   

(f) Insurance.   

(i) The Borrower shall at all times maintain insurance with responsible 
insurers, in amounts and with coverages as are customarily maintained in the United States 
of America by entities similar to the Borrower, or as is required under any Construction-
Related Contract or applicable law (e.g., casualty, commercial general liability, excess 
umbrella liability, automobile liability and workers' compensation). During the 
construction of the Project, the Borrower shall maintain or cause to be maintained 
appropriate casualty and liability insurance covering the Borrower and the Project, 
including a builders all-risk policy and pollution and other environmental liability and 
remediation related coverage.  The Borrower shall cause each Construction-Related 
Contract Party to obtain and maintain casualty and liability insurance in accordance with 
the requirements of the applicable Construction-Related Contract. 

(ii) The Borrower shall cause all liability insurance policies that it 
maintains, other than workers’ compensation insurance, to reflect the TIFIA Lender as an 
additional insured. 

130



42 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(iii) If an Event of Loss shall occur with respect to the Project or any part 
thereof, the Borrower shall (A) diligently pursue all of its rights to compensation against 
all relevant insurers, reinsurers and Governmental Authorities, as applicable, in respect of 
such event and (B) pay or apply all loss proceeds or amounts obtained by the Borrower 
stemming from such event to rebuild, repair or replace the Project, as applicable, within a 
reasonable time period, unless such repair, rebuilding or replacement is reasonably 
determined to be financially unfeasible or the Project, as repaired, rebuilt or replaced, shall 
be determined to be no longer economically viable, in each case based on the determination 
of the Borrower and, if a Consulting Engineer has been retained as of such time, based on 
a written report prepared by a Consulting Engineer; provided, however, that loss proceeds 
must in any event be applied in accordance with all federal disposition rules, including 
those set forth in the FTA Master Agreements and 2 CFR Part 200. 

(g) Notices.   

(i) The Borrower shall, within five (5) Business Days after the 
Borrower learns of the occurrence, give the TIFIA Lender notice of any of the following 
events or receipt of any of the following notices, as applicable, setting forth details of such 
event: 

(A) Substantial Completion:  the occurrence of Substantial 
Completion, such notice to be provided in the form set forth in Exhibit K; 

(B) Ratings Changes:  any change in the rating assigned to the 
TIFIA Loan, any Pari Passu Obligations or any Subordinated Obligations by any 
Rating Agency that has provided a rating on such indebtedness, the Borrower, or 
the Collateral; 

(C) Defaults; Events of Default: the occurrence of any Default 
or Event of Default; 

(D) Construction-Related Contract Defaults:  any material 
breach or default or event of default on the part of the Borrower or any other party 
under any Construction-Related Contract;  

(E) Litigation:  (1) the filing of any litigation, suit or action, or 
the commencement of any proceeding, against the Borrower before any arbitrator, 
Governmental Authority, alternative dispute resolution body, or other neutral third-
party, or the receipt by the Borrower in writing of any threat of litigation, suit, 
action, or proceeding, or of any written claim against the Borrower that, in each 
case, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and any 
material changes in the status of such litigation, suit, action or claim, and (2) any 
judgments against the Borrower with award amounts in excess of $2,000,000 
(inflated annually by CPI) that are payable from Revenues or the Collateral and are 
not otherwise fully covered by insurance (for which the insurer has acknowledged 
and not disputed coverage), either individually or in the aggregate;  

131



43 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(F) Delayed Governmental Approvals:  any failure to receive or 
delay in receiving any Governmental Approval or making any required filing, 
notice, recordation or other demonstration to or with a Governmental Authority, in 
each case to the extent such failure or delay will or could reasonably be expected 
to result in a delay to any major milestone date (including the Projected Substantial 
Completion Date) set forth in the Construction Schedule, together with a written 
explanation of the reasons for such failure or delay and the Borrower’s plans to 
remedy or mitigate the effects of such failure or delay; 

(G) Environmental Notices: any notice of material violation 
under any Environmental Law or any material changes to the NEPA 
Determination; 

(H) Uncontrollable Force:  the occurrence of any 
Uncontrollable Force affecting the Project or that could reasonably be expected to 
result in a Material Adverse Effect;  

(I) Project Changes:  any (1) change to the Total Project Costs 
forecasts in excess of five percent (5%) of total forecasted Eligible Project Costs 
or (2) any proposed change to the construction schedule for the Project in excess 
of five percent (5%) of the total number of days reflected in the Construction 
Schedule attached as Schedule II;  

(J) 2 CFR Notices:  (1) that any of the information set forth in 
the certificate provided pursuant to Section 12(a)(iv) (Conditions Precedent to 
Effectiveness) was incorrect at the time the certificate was delivered or there has 
been a change in status of the Borrower or any of its principals with respect to the 
criteria set forth in 2 CFR § 180.335; (2) any other notification required pursuant 
to 2 CFR § 180.350; and (3) any violation of Federal criminal law involving 
fraud, bribery, or gratuity violations potentially affecting the TIFIA Loan as 
described in 2 CFR § 200.113, and the Borrower shall require its subcontractors 
to provide it notice of any such violation;  

(K) SEC Rule 15c2-12:  the filing of (together with a copy of) 
of any notice of a material event pursuant to clause (b)(5)(i)(C) of Rule 15c2-12 
of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (or any similar rule);  

(L) Farebox Recovery Ratio: any reduction in the Farebox 
Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower that causes the Borrower’s 
actual farebox recovery ratio to fall below the then-applicable Farebox Recovery 
Ratio, as determined by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission;  

(M) Farebox Revenue Policy: any material change to the 
Borrower’s Farebox Revenue policies that could reduce the amount of Farebox 
Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower; 

(N) LTF Funds and STA Funds Availability: 

132



44 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

a.  any suspension, impairment or discontinuance of 
the availability of LTF Funds to the Borrower for 
any reason; and 

b. any material change to the TDA that affects the 
allocation process or the amount available for 
allocation for LTF Funds or STA Funds; and 

(O) BOM Loan Agreement Reporting Requirements: [To 
include the items referenced in Section 14 of the BOM term sheet.] 

(P) Other Adverse Events:  the occurrence of any other event 
or condition, including any notice of breach from a contract counterparty, that 
could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

(ii) The Borrower shall provide the TIFIA Lender with any further 
information reasonably requested by the TIFIA Lender from time to time concerning the 
matters described in Section 15(g)(i) (Notice).  

(h) Remedial Action.  Within thirty (30) calendar days after the Borrower learns 
of the occurrence of an event specified in Section 15(g)(i) (Notice) (other than in Section 
15(g)(i)(A) (Substantial Completion), or Section 15(g)(i)(B) (Ratings Changes) (in the case of a 
ratings upgrade)), the Borrower’s Authorized Representative shall provide a statement to the 
TIFIA Lender setting forth the actions the Borrower proposes to take with respect thereto. 

(i) Maintain Legal Structure.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as a 
joint powers agency under the laws of the State. 

(j) Annual Rating.  The Borrower shall, commencing in 2022, no later than the 
last Business Day of June of each year during the term of the TIFIA Loan, at no cost to the TIFIA 
Lender, provide to the TIFIA Lender a public rating on the TIFIA Loan by a Rating Agency, 
together with the rating report or letter delivered by such Rating Agency in connection with each 
such rating, in each case prepared no earlier than June 1 of such year. 

(k) Reserve Accounts; Permitted Investments.   

(i) The Borrower shall fund the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-
Account in an amount equal to the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance by no 
later than the last Business Day of the month following the initial disbursement of the 
TIFIA Loan. 

(ii) The Borrower shall maintain the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-
Account in an amount equal to the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance and any 
Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in an amount equal to the applicable Pari 
Passu Debt Service Reserve Required Balance for such sub-account, in each case in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the applicable TIFIA Loan 
Documents and Other Financing Documents.  Amounts in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve 
Sub-Account shall be made available to ensure the timely payment of TIFIA Debt Service 

133



45 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

on the TIFIA Loan and amounts in any Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account shall 
be made available to ensure the timely payment of Debt Service on the applicable Pari 
Passu Obligations; provided that the Borrower shall be required to utilize any legally 
available Revenues to make timely payment of TIFIA Debt Service prior to utilizing funds 
in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account for such purpose.    

(iii) Amounts on deposit in the Project Accounts shall be held uninvested 
or invested in Permitted Investments.  Permitted Investments must mature or be redeemable 
at the election of the holder as follows:  (A) with respect to Permitted Investments 
maintained in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-
Account or in any debt service account in respect of other Obligations corresponding to 
amounts needed for the payment of interest or principal, not later than the next Semi-
Annual Payment Date and (B) with respect to any other Project Account, on or prior to the 
date on which the funds invested in such Permitted Investments are reasonably expected to 
be needed for any payment. The Borrower shall, promptly but in any event within five (5) 
days, liquidate any investment that was, but no longer is, a Permitted Investment and shall 
invest the proceeds of such investment solely into one or more Permitted Investments.  

(iv) The Borrower may replace all or a portion of the required balance 
of the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, in accordance with the terms of the 
applicable TIFIA Loan Documents, with a letter of credit or surety instrument issued by a 
Qualified Issuer. If at any time an issuer of such letter of credit or surety instrument 
securing the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account ceases to be a Qualified Issuer, the 
Borrower shall cause such letter of credit or surety instrument to be replaced by a new letter 
of credit or surety instrument within thirty (30) calendar days of the date on which the 
current issuer ceased to be a Qualified Issuer, or the Collateral Agent shall be permitted to 
immediately draw the full amount of such letter of credit or surety instrument and deposit 
the proceeds of such drawing into the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account.  Any new 
letter of credit or surety instrument shall have the same terms and conditions (including 
expiration date and face amount) as the letter of credit or surety instrument being replaced, 
or such other terms and conditions as may be satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender.  If any letter 
of credit or surety instrument securing the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account is 
scheduled to expire prior to the Final Maturity Date, the Borrower shall replace such letter 
of credit or surety instrument with a new letter of credit or surety instrument issued by a 
Qualified Issuer at least ten (10) Business Days prior to the stated expiry date of the existing 
letter of credit or surety instrument and such new letter of credit or surety instrument shall 
be in an amount equal to at least the amount of expiring letter of credit or surety instrument. 
If the Borrower fails to provide such new letter of credit or surety instrument by the date 
required above, the Collateral Agent shall (and the TIFIA Lender shall have the right to 
direct the Collateral Agent to) immediately draw the full undrawn amount of the existing 
letter of credit or surety instrument and deposit the proceeds of such drawing into the TIFIA 
Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account.  If any letter of credit or surety reimbursement or 
indemnification obligations will be payable from the Revenues, the face amount of any 
such letter of credit or surety instrument (and, without duplication, any actual 
reimbursement or indemnification obligation following a draw on or disbursement under 
any such letter of credit or surety instrument) shall be treated as outstanding indebtedness 
of the Borrower for all purposes hereunder and the amount of any reimbursement or 

134



46 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

indemnity payment in any Calculation Period will be added to the calculation of Debt 
Service for such Calculation Period. 

(l) Collection of Revenues.  

(i) The Borrower shall at all times levy, charge and collect Farebox 
Revenues from its customers in accordance with its internal policies.  The Borrower shall 
take all reasonable actions necessary to (A) ensure that it remains eligible under all 
applicable laws and Metropolitan Transportation Commission guidelines to receive LTF 
Funds and STA Funds, (B) maintain compliance with the then-applicable Farebox 
Recovery Ratio and ensure that LTF Funds and STA Funds allocable to the Borrower are 
not subject to reduction due to any act or omission of the Borrower and (C) apply for or 
otherwise request LTF Funds and STA Funds from Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission, in each case in accordance with all applicable Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission guidelines.10 

(ii) The Borrower shall budget and apply for LTF Funds in each 
Borrower Fiscal Year in amounts at least sufficient to pay 2.0x (A) all TIFIA Debt Service 
due and payable during such Borrower Fiscal Year plus (B) all debt service due and payable 
under the Other Financing Documents during such Borrower Fiscal Year.  In the event that 
the Metropolitan Transportation Commission allocates to the Borrower an amount of LTF 
Funds that is lower than the amount requested by the Borrower, the Borrower shall deliver 
to the TIFIA Lender written notice of such event within five (5) Business Days after the 
date of such allocation, which notice shall include an explanation for the reasons for such 
shortfall in allocation of LTF Funds to the Borrower. 

(iii) Pursuant to the LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction, the Borrower 
shall instruct the County of Napa to transfer all LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower from 
and after the Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date to the Collateral Agent to be deposited in the 
Revenue Account immediately upon allocation from the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission but no less frequently than on a quarterly basis provided, that if the full annual 
allocation of LTF Funds with respect to a Borrower Fiscal Year has been deposited to the 
Revenue Account prior to the start of any fiscal quarter within such Borrower Fiscal Year, 
no deposit of LTF Funds shall be required during such fiscal quarter. Pursuant to the 
Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instructions, the Borrower shall instruct each Farebox Bank 
to transfer all Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower from and after 
the Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date to the Collateral Agent to be deposited in the Revenue 
Account as and when received, but no less frequently than on a quarterly basis. The 
Borrower shall ensure that the LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction and each Farebox 
Revenue Irrevocable Instruction remain in full force and effect at all times while the TIFIA 
Loan remains outstanding. The Borrower shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to 
ensure that the County of Napa and each Farebox Bank maintain compliance with, 
respectively, the LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction or the applicable Farebox Revenue 
Irrevocable Instruction at all times while the TIFIA Loan remains outstanding.  Except for 

                                                 
10  NOTE TO BORROWER: Please provide an update regarding the previously discussed legislative measures to 

provide relief for non-compliance with farebox recovery ratio requirements. 

135



47 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

LTF Funds that have been released to the Borrower pursuant to the CASA and Farebox 
Revenues that are not required to be deposited in the Revenue Account pursuant to Section 
5.03(g) of the CASA, the Borrower shall receive and hold in trust for (and remit 
immediately to) the Collateral Agent any LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower and any 
Farebox Revenues, in each case paid to the Borrower and not directly to the Revenue 
Account. During any time when any Farebox Bank is required to transfer Farebox 
Revenues to the Revenue Account in accordance with its Farebox Revenue Irrevocable 
Instruction and Section 5.03(a) of the CASA, the Borrower shall not transfer, or permit the 
withdrawal or transfer of, Farebox Revenues from any Farebox Bank for any purpose other 
than the transfer to the Revenue Account. 

(iv) On each Transfer Date (as defined in the CASA) and, with respect 
to funds deposited to the Revenue Account in accordance with Section 5.03(a)(iii) of the 
CASA, on any date on which such funds are deposited into the Revenue Account, the 
Borrower shall cause the Collateral Agent to make the deposits to the TIFIA Debt Service 
Sub-Account, the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, any other applicable sub-account of 
the Pari Passu Debt Service Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the 
BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account and any other applicable Pari Passu Debt Service 
Reserve Sub-Account, as applicable, pursuant to clauses First through Second in Section 
5.03(b) of the CASA in the amounts required to meet the No Transfer Conditions, to the 
full extent that funds are available in the Revenue Account to make such deposits. 

(v) If LTF Funds and Farebox Revenues on deposit in the Pari Passu 
Debt Service Account (or the applicable sub-accounts thereunder), the TIFIA Debt Service 
Reserve Sub-Account, the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, or any other 
applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account are at any time not 
sufficient to satisfy each of the No Transfer Conditions, the Borrower shall deposit (or 
cause to be deposited) Other Revenues to the Revenue Account and shall instruct the 
Collateral Agent to deposit such funds into the applicable accounts as needed to meet the 
Borrower’s funding obligations pursuant to clauses First through Second in Section 5.03(b) 
of the CASA by the applicable Payment Date or other applicable date set forth in Section 
5.03(b) of the CASA. 

(vi) In the event that the availability of LTF Funds to the Borrower are 
suspended, impaired or discontinued for any reason, the Borrower shall deliver to the 
TIFIA Lender written notice of such event and an explanation for the reasons for such 
suspension, impairment or discontinuance. Upon receipt of such notice by the TIFIA 
Lender, the Borrower and the TIFIA Lender shall cooperate in good faith to amend the 
TIFIA Loan Documents as necessary to account for an appropriate replacement to LTF 
Funds, and to the extent necessary, the Borrower shall use its best efforts to cause the 
Collateral Agent and each other Secured Party to execute any such amendment to the 
TIFIA Loan Documents to which the Collateral Agent or such other Secured Party, as 
applicable, is required to be a party or to acknowledge or agree thereto. 

(m) BOM Loan Proceeds. The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the BOM 
Loan solely for the payment or reimbursement of Eligible Project Costs.  

136



48 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(n) Compliance with Law.  The Borrower shall comply in all material respects 
with all applicable material federal and State laws, including (i) all items set forth in Exhibit E, to 
the extent applicable and (ii) the terms and conditions of the FTA Master Agreements, which have 
no expiration date and which continue to apply until modified or superseded as outlined therein. 

(o) Material Obligations; Liens.  The Borrower shall pay its material 
obligations promptly and in accordance with their terms and pay and discharge promptly all taxes, 
assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon the Revenues or the 
Borrower’s other income or profits or in respect of its property, before the same shall become 
delinquent or in default, as well as all lawful and material claims for labor, materials and supplies 
or other claims which, if unpaid, might give rise to a Lien upon such properties or any part thereof 
or on the Revenues or the Collateral; provided, however, that such payment and discharge shall 
not be required with respect to any such tax, assessment, charge, levy, claim or Lien so long as the 
validity or amount thereof shall be contested by the Borrower in good faith by appropriate 
proceedings and so long as the Borrower shall have set aside adequate reserves with respect thereto 
in accordance with and to the extent required by GAAP, applied on a consistent basis. 

(p) [Reserved].   

(q) SAM Registration.  The Borrower shall (i) maintain its active registration 
status with the federal System for Award Management (www.SAM.gov) (or any successor system 
or registry) and (ii) within sixty (60) days prior to each anniversary of the Effective Date, provide 
to the TIFIA Lender evidence of such active registration status with no active exclusions reflected 
in such registration, in each case until the Final Maturity Date or to such earlier date as all amounts 
due or to become due to the TIFIA Lender hereunder have been irrevocably paid in full in cash. 

(r) Immunity.  Consistent with California Government Code Section 814 et 
seq., the Borrower agrees that it will not assert any immunity (and hereby waives any such 
immunity) it may have as a governmental entity from lawsuits, other actions and claims, and any 
judgments with respect to the enforcement of any of the obligations of the Borrower under this 
Agreement or any other TIFIA Loan Document. 

(s) Patriot Act.  If the anti-money laundering compliance program provisions 
of the Patriot Act become applicable to the Borrower, then the Borrower will provide written notice 
to the TIFIA Lender of the same and will promptly establish an anti-money laundering compliance 
program that complies with all requirements of the Patriot Act. 

(t) Cargo Preference Act.  Pursuant to 46 CFR Part 381, the Borrower hereby 
agrees as follows, and shall insert the following clauses in contracts entered into by the Borrower 
pursuant to which equipment, materials or commodities may be transported by ocean vessel in 
carrying out the Project: 

(i) At least fifty percent (50%) of any equipment, materials or 
commodities procured, contracted for or otherwise obtained with TIFIA Loan proceeds, 
and which may be transported by ocean vessel, shall be transported on privately owned 
United States-flag commercial vessels, if available. 

137



49 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(ii) Within twenty (20) days following the date of loading for shipments 
originating within the United States or within thirty (30) Business Days following the date 
of loading for shipments originating outside the United States, a legible copy of a rated, 
‘on-board’ commercial ocean bill-of-lading in English for each shipment of cargo 
described in paragraph (i) above shall be furnished to both the TIFIA Lender and to the 
Division of National Cargo, Office of Market Development, Maritime Administration, 
Washington, DC 20590. 

(u) Lobbying.  The Borrower shall comply with all applicable certification, 
declaration and/or disclosure requirements under 49 CFR Part 20. 

(v) Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation.  To the extent 
applicable, the Borrower shall comply, and shall require each subrecipient to comply, with the 
reporting requirements set forth in Exhibit O hereto. 

Section 16. Negative Covenants.  The Borrower covenants and agrees as follows until 
the date the TIFIA Note and the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement (other than 
contingent indemnity obligations) are irrevocably paid in full in cash, unless the TIFIA Lender 
waives compliance in writing: 

(a) Indebtedness.   

(i) Except for Permitted Debt, the Borrower shall not, without the prior 
written consent of the TIFIA Lender, issue or incur indebtedness of any kind (including 
financing leases (other than leases described in clause (d) of the definition of Permitted 
Debt), certificates of participation, and Liquidity Facilities) that is secured (in whole or in 
part) by the Collateral or that is otherwise payable (in whole or in part) from Revenues; 
provided that the Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness of any kind payable from, 
secured or supported by the Collateral or the Revenues, including Permitted Debt, without 
the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender, following the occurrence, and during the 
continuation, of an Event of Default. With respect to a Liquidity Facility, the amount of 
indebtedness assigned to such Liquidity Facility shall be the maximum amount that can be 
drawn or claimed against such Liquidity Facility. 

(ii) The Borrower shall not issue indebtedness for borrowed money that 
is senior to the TIFIA Loan in right of payment or security from any Revenues. 

(iii) Prior to the incurrence of Permitted Debt described in clause (c) of 
the definition thereof or any Subordinated Obligations consented to by the TIFIA Lender 
in accordance with clause (iv) below, the Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender (A) 
a Revised Financial Model that takes into account the proposed indebtedness, which 
Revised Financial Model shall reflect and be based on the actual amortization schedules 
for such proposed indebtedness and all Existing Indebtedness in accordance with their 
respective terms and shall otherwise be in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA 
Lender, and (B) a certificate signed by the Borrower’s Authorized Representative, 
demonstrating to the TIFIA Lender’s satisfaction that such proposed indebtedness (1) is 
authorized pursuant to this Section 16(a) (Indebtedness) and (2) satisfies the requirements, 

138



50 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

as applicable, set forth in the definitions of “Permitted Debt,” “Additional Obligations,” 
and “Subordinated Obligations.”   

(iv) The Borrower shall not issue any Subordinated Obligations without 
the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender; provided, that in no event shall the TIFIA 
Lender approve any Subordinated Obligations that (A) are subject to acceleration by the 
holder thereof or (B) provide rights for the holder thereof to participate in the instruction 
or direction of the Collateral Agent under the CASA.  

(v) To the extent any Permitted Debt consists of Put Obligations, the 
Borrower must maintain a Liquidity Facility that will pay any amounts payable by the 
Borrower in respect of such Put Obligations. 

(vi) The Borrower shall not issue or incur Additional Obligations unless 
the LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower and received by the County of Napa on behalf of 
the Borrower and Farebox Revenues received by the Borrower, in the aggregate, during 
any twelve (12) consecutive months during the eighteen (18) months prior to the date of 
the issuance of such Additional Obligations were at least equal to 2.0x MADS.   

(vii) The Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender a copy of the fully 
executed Accession Agreement (as defined in the CASA) delivered pursuant to Sections 
9.01 and 9.02 of the CASA in connection with the issuance of any Additional Obligations, 
promptly upon the execution thereof. 

(viii) The Borrower shall not issue or incur any (A) Capital Appreciation 
Obligations, (B) Deferred Interest Obligations, or (C) Obligations that bear interest at a 
variable interest rate, in each case, without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender. 

(b) No Lien Extinguishment; Adverse Amendments. The Borrower shall not, 
and shall not permit any Person to, without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender, either 
(i) extinguish, impair, or transfer the Liens on the Collateral granted pursuant to the CASA, (ii) 
terminate, assign, amend, modify, replace, or supplement any Related Document (other than the 
LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction and any Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction) in a manner 
that (A) could adversely affect the TIFIA Lender (in the TIFIA Lender’s determination) in 
connection with the TIFIA Loan or (B) is inconsistent with this Agreement or the CASA, (iii) 
waive or permit a waiver of any provision of any Related Document (other than the LTF Funds 
Irrevocable Instruction and any Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction) in a manner that (A) 
could adversely affect the TIFIA Lender (in the TIFIA Lender’s determination) in connection with 
the TIFIA Loan or (B) is inconsistent with this Agreement or the CASA, or (iv) terminate, assign, 
amend, modify, replace, supplement, waive or permit a waiver of any provision of the LTF Funds 
Irrevocable Instruction or any Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction.  

(c) No Prohibited Liens.   

(i) Except for the Liens granted pursuant to the CASA in respect of 
Permitted Debt, the Borrower shall not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on 
the Collateral or the Borrower’s rights therein. The Borrower shall not collaterally assign 
or otherwise pledge its rights to receive LTF Funds or STA Funds without the TIFIA 

139



51 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Lender's prior written consent; provided that the TIFIA Lender shall not consent to any 
such collateral assignment or pledge unless as a condition to such consent the Borrower 
collaterally assigns or otherwise legally pledges its right to receive LTF Funds or STA 
Funds, as applicable, to the TIFIA Lender.  

(ii) Except for the Liens on the Collateral granted pursuant to the CASA, 
the Borrower shall not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on any right or 
interest of the Borrower in or to any asset or property to secure any Pari Passu Obligations 
(other than a debt service reserve account that exclusively secures such Pasi Passu 
Obligations), unless it has assigned and granted, or concurrently assigns and grants, a Lien 
on such assets to secure the TIFIA Loan on a pari passu basis.  

(d) Organizational Documents; Fiscal Year.  The Borrower shall not at any time 
(i) amend or modify its Organizational Documents (other than any amendment or modification 
that is of a ministerial nature and that is not adverse to the interests of the TIFIA Lender under the 
TIFIA Loan Documents or in the Collateral) without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender, 
or (ii) adopt any fiscal year other than the Borrower Fiscal Year, except with thirty (30) days’ prior 
written notice to the TIFIA Lender. 

(e) No Payment with Federal Funds.  The Borrower shall not pay any portion 
of TIFIA Debt Service nor any other amount to the TIFIA Lender or the Federal Government 
pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents with funds received directly or indirectly from the Federal 
Government; provided, however, that the Borrower may prepay the TIFIA Loan in whole or in 
part with the proceeds of a validly issued Federal credit instrument pursuant to, and in accordance 
with, Section 10 (Prepayment). 

(f) Acquisitions; Change in Legal Structure; Sale of Assets; Transactions with 
Third Parties.  The Borrower shall not, and shall not agree to:  

(i) acquire by purchase or otherwise the business, property or fixed 
assets of, or equity interests or other evidence of beneficial ownership interests in, any 
Person (excluding purchases or other acquisitions of inventory or materials or spare parts 
or Capital Expenditures, each in the ordinary course of business) to the extent such 
acquisition or purchase could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;  

(ii) reorganize, consolidate with, or merge into another Person unless 
(A) such merger or consolidation is with or into another transit agency or district in the 
State, and, in each case, including reorganization, would not reasonably be expected to 
adversely affect or impair to any extent or in any manner (1) the Revenues or other elements 
of the Collateral, or (2) the availability of the Revenues for the payment and security of the 
obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement or the other TIFIA Loan Documents; 
and (B) the Borrower provides to the TIFIA Lender, no later than sixty (60) days prior to 
the date of reorganization, consolidation or merger, prior written notice of such 
reorganization, consolidation or merger and the agreements and documents authorizing the 
reorganization, consolidation or merger, satisfactory in form and substance to the TIFIA 
Lender.  The documents authorizing any reorganization, consolidation or merger shall 
contain a provision, satisfactory in form and substance to the TIFIA Lender, that, following 

140



52 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

such reorganization, consolidation or merger, the successor will assume, by operation of 
law or otherwise, the due and punctual performance and observance of all of the 
representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and conditions of this Agreement and 
the other Related Documents to which the Borrower is a party.  In addition, the Borrower 
shall provide all information concerning such reorganization, consolidation or merger as 
shall have been reasonably requested by the TIFIA Lender;  

(iii) sell, lease, or assign its rights in and to the transit system operated 
by the Borrower or to the Project, or its material assets or its rights or obligations under 
any Related Document in a transaction not described in sub-clause (A) of Section 16(f)(ii) 
above, to the extent such sale, lease or assignment could reasonably be expected to have a 
Material Adverse Effect; or  

(iv) otherwise engage in a transaction with any other Person (including 
any other Governmental Authority of or in the State) to the extent such transaction could 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 

(g) No Defeasance of TIFIA Loan.  The Borrower shall not defease the TIFIA 
Loan without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender. 

(h) OFAC Compliance. 

The Borrower shall not:  

(A) violate (1) any applicable Anti-Money Laundering Laws, (2) any 
applicable Sanctions, (3) Anti-Corruption Laws or (4) any applicable anti-drug trafficking 
or anti-terrorism laws, civil or criminal; 

(B) use the proceeds of the TIFIA Loan for purposes other than those 
permitted by applicable law and as otherwise permitted under this Agreement, the other 
Related Documents and the Construction-Related Contracts; or 

(C) make a payment, directly or indirectly, to any Construction-Related 
Contract Party that has violated any of the laws referenced in Section 16(h)(i) (OFAC 
Compliance) or that is a Sanctioned Person. 

(i) The Borrower shall procure that each of its directors, officers, 
employees, and agents, shall not, directly or indirectly, use the proceeds of the TIFIA Loan 
or lend to, make any payment to, contribute or otherwise make available any funds to any 
joint venture partner or other Person (A) in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to 
pay, or authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value, to any 
Person in violation of any applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, (B) in any manner that would 
result in the violation of any applicable Anti-Money Laundering Laws, (C) for the purpose 
of funding, financing or facilitating any activities, business or transaction of or with any 
Sanctioned Person, or in any Sanctioned Country, or (D) in any other manner that would 
result in the violation of any Sanctions by any Person (including the Executive Director, 
the TIFIA Lender, or a Construction-Related Contract Party). 

141



53 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(i) Hedging.  The Borrower shall not enter into any swap or hedging 
transaction, including inflation indexed swap transactions, “cap” or “collar” transactions, futures, 
or any other hedging transaction without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender. 

Section 17. Indemnification.  The Borrower shall indemnify the TIFIA Lender and 
any official, employee, agent, advisor, or representative of the TIFIA Lender (each such Person 
being herein referred to as an “Indemnitee”) against, and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, 
any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, fines, penalties, costs and expenses (including the 
fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnitee and the costs of 
environmental remediation), whether known, unknown, contingent or otherwise, incurred by or 
asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (a) the 
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or any of the other Related Documents, 
(b) the TIFIA Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof, or (c) the violation of any law, rule, 
regulation, order, decree, judgment or administrative decision relating to the environment, the 
preservation or reclamation of natural resources, the management, release or threatened release 
of any hazardous material or to health and safety matters; in each case arising out of or in direct 
relation to the Project; provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available 
to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities, fines, penalties, costs or related 
expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable 
judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee.  
In case any action or proceeding is brought against an Indemnitee by reason of any claim with 
respect to which such Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification hereunder, the Borrower shall be 
entitled, at its expense, to participate in the defense thereof; provided that such Indemnitee has 
the right to retain its own counsel, at the Borrower’s expense, and such participation by the 
Borrower in the defense thereof shall not release the Borrower of any liability that it may have to 
such Indemnitee.  Any Indemnitee against whom any indemnity claim contemplated in this 
Section 17 (Indemnification) is made shall be entitled, after consultation with the Borrower and 
upon consultation with legal counsel wherein such Indemnitee is advised that such indemnity 
claim is meritorious, to compromise or settle any such indemnity claim.  Any such compromise 
or settlement shall be binding upon the Borrower for purposes of this Section 17 
(Indemnification).  Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of any legal immunity that may 
be available to any Indemnitee.  To the extent permitted by applicable law, neither the Borrower 
nor the TIFIA Lender shall assert, and each of the Borrower and the TIFIA Lender hereby 
waives, any claim against any Indemnitee or the Borrower, respectively, on any theory of 
liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual 
damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement, any of the other 
Related Documents, the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, the TIFIA Loan or 
the use of the proceeds thereof, provided that nothing in this sentence shall limit the Borrower’s 
indemnity obligations to the extent such damages are included in any third party claim in 
connection with which an Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification hereunder.  All amounts due 
to any Indemnitee under this Section 17 (Indemnification) shall be payable promptly upon 
demand therefor.  The obligations of the Borrower under this Section 17 (Indemnification) shall 
survive the payment or prepayment in full or transfer of the TIFIA Note, the enforcement of any 
provision of this Agreement or the other Related Documents, any amendments, waivers (other 
than amendments or waivers in writing with respect to this Section 17 (Indemnification)) or 
consents in respect hereof or thereof, any Event of Default, and any workout, restructuring or 
similar arrangement of the obligations of the Borrower hereunder or thereunder. 

142



54 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Section 18. Sale of TIFIA Loan.  The TIFIA Lender shall not sell the TIFIA Loan at 
any time prior to the Substantial Completion Date.  At any time after Substantial Completion, the 
TIFIA Lender may sell the TIFIA Loan to another entity or reoffer the TIFIA Loan into the 
capital markets only in accordance with the provisions of this Section 18 (Sale of TIFIA Loan).  
Any such sale or reoffering shall be on such terms as the TIFIA Lender shall deem acceptable in 
its sole discretion.  However, in making such sale or reoffering the TIFIA Lender shall not 
change the terms and conditions of the TIFIA Loan without the prior written consent of the 
Borrower in accordance with Section 29 (Amendments and Waivers).  The TIFIA Lender shall 
provide, at least thirty (30) days prior to any sale or reoffering of the TIFIA Loan, written notice 
to the Borrower of the TIFIA Lender’s intention to consummate such a sale or reoffering; 
provided, however, that no such notice shall be required during the continuation of any Event of 
Default.  The provision of any notice pursuant to this Section 18 (Sale of TIFIA Loan) shall not 
(x) obligate the TIFIA Lender to sell nor (y) provide the Borrower with any rights or remedies in 
the event the TIFIA Lender, for any reason, does not sell the TIFIA Loan.   

Section 19. Events of Default and Remedies. 

(a) An “Event of Default” shall exist under this Agreement if any of the 
following occurs: 

(i) Payment Default.  The Borrower shall fail to pay any amount of 
principal of or interest on the TIFIA Loan (including TIFIA Debt Service required to have 
been paid pursuant to the provisions of Section 9 (Payment of Principal and Interest) when 
due and payable (such failure, a “Payment Default”). 

(ii) Covenant Default.  The Borrower shall fail to observe or perform 
any covenant, agreement or obligation of the Borrower under this Agreement  (including 
any payment of fees or other amounts (other than principal and interest) payable 
hereunder), the TIFIA Note or any other TIFIA Loan Document (other than in the case of 
any Payment Default or any Development Default), and such failure shall not be cured 
within thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (A) receipt by the Borrower from the 
TIFIA Lender of written notice thereof, (B) the Borrower’s knowledge of such failure, or 
(C) with respect to any non-payment of fees or amounts described above in this clause (ii), 
the date on which any such fees or amounts became due and payable; provided, however, 
that if such failure is capable of cure but cannot reasonably be cured within such thirty (30) 
day cure period, then no Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred or be 
continuing under this Section 19(a)(ii) (Covenant Default), and such thirty (30) day cure 
period shall be extended by up to one hundred fifty (150) additional days, if and so long as 
(x) within such thirty (30) day cure period the Borrower shall commence actions reasonably 
designed to cure such failure and shall diligently pursue such actions until such failure is 
cured, and (y) such failure is cured within one hundred eighty (180) days of the date 
specified in either (A) or (B) above, as applicable; provided, further, that no extension of 
the thirty (30) day cure period shall be permitted for any failure to pay any fee or other 
amount (excluding principal and interest) payable hereunder. 

(iii) Development Default.  A Development Default shall occur.   

143



55 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(iv) Misrepresentation Default.  Any of the representations, warranties 
or certifications of the Borrower made in or delivered pursuant to the TIFIA Loan 
Documents (or in any certificates delivered by the Borrower in connection with the TIFIA 
Loan Documents) shall prove to have been false or misleading in any material respect when 
made or deemed made (or any representation and warranty that is subject to a materiality 
qualifier shall prove to have been false or misleading in any respect); provided that no 
Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred under this Section 19(a)(iv) 
(Misrepresentation Default) if and so long as:   

(A) such misrepresentation is not intentional;  

(B) such misrepresentation is not a misrepresentation in respect 
of Section 13(h) (No Debarment), Section 13(j) (Compliance with Federal 
Requirements), Section 13(k) (Transportation Improvement Program), Section 
13(q) (OFAC; Anti-Corruption Laws), Section 13(cc) (Patriot Act) or Section 
13(dd) (Irrevocable Instructions);  

(C) in the reasonable determination of the TIFIA Lender, such 
misrepresentation has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result in, a 
Material Adverse Effect;  

(D) in the reasonable determination of the TIFIA Lender, the 
underlying issue giving rise to the misrepresentation is capable of being cured;  

(E) the underlying issue giving rise to the misrepresentation is 
cured by the Borrower within thirty (30) days from the date on which the Borrower 
first became aware (or reasonably should have become aware) of such 
misrepresentation; and  

(F) the Borrower diligently pursues such cure during such thirty 
(30) day period. 

(v) Acceleration of Other Obligations.  Any acceleration shall occur of 
the maturity of any Pari Passu Obligations or Subordinated Obligations. 

(vi) Events of Default under Other Financing Documents.  Any default 
under (and as defined in) any Other Financing Document shall occur and shall not have 
been cured by the Borrower or waived in writing in accordance with the requirements of 
the applicable Other Financing Document within the applicable cure period (if any) 
provided under such Other Financing Document. 

(vii) Judgments.  One or more judgments (A) for the payment of money 
in an aggregate amount in excess of $5,000,000 (inflated annually by CPI) that are payable 
from Revenues or the Collateral and are not otherwise fully covered by insurance (for 
which the insurer has acknowledged and not disputed coverage) or (B) that would 
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect shall, in either case, be 
rendered against the Borrower, and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of 
thirty (30) consecutive days during which time period execution shall not be effectively 

144



56 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a judgment creditor to attach or levy upon 
any assets of the Borrower to enforce any such judgment.  

(viii) Failure to Maintain Existence.  The Borrower shall fail to maintain 
its existence as a joint powers agency under the laws of the State, unless at or prior to the 
time the Borrower ceases to exist in such form a successor public agency or governing 
body has been created by the State pursuant to a valid and unchallenged State law and has 
succeeded to the assets of the Borrower and has assumed all of the obligations of the 
Borrower under the TIFIA Loan Documents and the Other Financing Documents, 
including the payment of all Secured Obligations. 

(ix) Occurrence of a Bankruptcy Related Event.  A Bankruptcy Related 
Event shall occur with respect to the Borrower. 

(x) Project Abandonment.  The Borrower shall abandon the Project.  

(xi) Invalidity of TIFIA Loan Documents. (A) Any TIFIA Loan 
Document ceases to be in full force and effect (other than as a result of the termination 
thereof in accordance with its terms) or becomes void, voidable, illegal or unenforceable, 
or the Borrower contests in any manner the validity or enforceability of any TIFIA Loan 
Document to which it is a party or denies it has any further liability under any TIFIA Loan 
Document to which it is a party, or purports to revoke, terminate or rescind any TIFIA 
Loan Document to which it is a party; or (B) any TIFIA Loan Document ceases (other than 
as expressly permitted thereunder) to be effective to grant a valid and binding security 
interest on any material portion of the Collateral other than as a result of actions or a failure 
to act by, and within the control of, the Collateral Agent or any Secured Party, and with the 
priority purported to be created thereby. 

(xii) Authorizing Legislation.  The Authorizing Legislation shall be 
repealed or shall be amended or modified in such a manner that could reasonably be 
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.  

(xiii) TDA.  The TDA shall be repealed or shall be amended or modified 
in such a manner that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.  

(b) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in Section 19(a)(iii) 
(Development Default), the TIFIA Lender may (i) suspend the disbursement of TIFIA Loan 
proceeds hereunder, (ii) terminate all of its obligations hereunder with respect to the disbursement 
of any undisbursed amounts of the TIFIA Loan, and (iii) demand that the Borrower immediately 
repay any unexpended TIFIA Loan proceeds previously disbursed to the Borrower in which event 
the Borrower shall immediately repay any such unexpended TIFIA Loan proceeds to the TIFIA 
Lender. 

(c) Upon the occurrence of any Bankruptcy Related Event with respect to the 
Borrower, all obligations of the TIFIA Lender hereunder with respect to the disbursement of any 
undisbursed amounts of the TIFIA Loan shall automatically be deemed terminated, and the 
Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance, together with all interest accrued thereon and all fees, costs, 
expenses, indemnities and other amounts payable under this Agreement, the TIFIA Note or the 

145



57 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

other TIFIA Loan Documents, shall automatically become immediately due and payable, without 
presentment, demand, notice, declaration, protest or other requirements of any kind, all of which 
are hereby expressly waived. 

(d) Upon the occurrence of any other Event of Default, the TIFIA Lender, by 
written notice to the Borrower, may (i) suspend or terminate all of its obligations hereunder with 
respect to the disbursement of any undisbursed amounts of the TIFIA Loan, (ii) demand that the 
Borrower repay any unexpended TIFIA Loan proceeds disbursed to the Borrower, and (iii) declare 
the unpaid principal amount of the TIFIA Note to be, and the same shall thereupon forthwith 
become, immediately due and payable, together with the interest accrued thereon and all fees, 
costs, expenses, indemnities and other amounts payable under this Agreement, the TIFIA Note or 
the other TIFIA Loan Documents, all without presentment, demand, notice, protest or other 
requirements of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived. 

(e) Whenever any Event of Default hereunder shall have occurred and be 
continuing, the TIFIA Lender shall be entitled and empowered to institute any actions or 
proceedings at law or in equity for the collection of any sums due and unpaid hereunder or under 
the TIFIA Note or the other TIFIA Loan Documents, and may prosecute any such judgment or 
final decree against the Borrower and collect in the manner provided by law out of the property of 
the Borrower the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable, and the TIFIA Lender shall have all 
of the rights and remedies of a creditor, including all rights and remedies of a secured creditor 
under the Uniform Commercial Code, and may take such other actions at law or in equity as may 
appear necessary or desirable to collect all amounts payable by Borrower under this Agreement, 
the TIFIA Note or the other TIFIA Loan Documents then due and thereafter to become due, or to 
enforce performance and observance of any obligation, agreement or covenant of the Borrower 
under this Agreement, the TIFIA Note or the other TIFIA Loan Documents. 

(f) Whenever any Event of Default hereunder shall have occurred and be 
continuing, the TIFIA Lender may suspend or debar the Borrower from further participation in 
any Federal Government program administered by the TIFIA Lender and to notify other 
departments and agencies of such default. 

(g) No action taken pursuant to this Section 19 (Events of Default and 
Remedies) shall relieve Borrower from its obligations pursuant to this Agreement, the TIFIA Note 
or the other TIFIA Loan Documents, all of which shall survive any such action. 

Section 20. Accounting and Audit Procedures; Inspections; Reports and Records. 

(a) Accounting and Audit Procedures. The Borrower shall establish fiscal 
controls and accounting procedures sufficient to assure proper accounting for all Project-related 
transactions (including collection of Revenues, and any other revenues attributable to the Project, 
and TIFIA Loan requisitions received and disbursements made with regard to the Project), so that 
audits may be performed to ensure compliance with and enforcement of this Agreement.  The 
Borrower shall use accounting, audit and fiscal procedures conforming to GAAP, including, with 
respect to the TIFIA Loan, accounting of principal and interest payments, disbursements, 
prepayments and calculation of interest and principal amounts outstanding. 

146



58 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(b) Inspections. So long as the TIFIA Loan or any portion thereof shall remain 
outstanding and until five (5) years after the TIFIA Loan shall have been paid in full, the TIFIA 
Lender shall have the right, upon reasonable prior notice, to visit and inspect any of the locations 
or properties of the Borrower, to examine its books of account and records, to make copies and 
extracts therefrom at the Borrower’s expense, and to discuss the Borrower’s affairs, finances and 
accounts with, and to be advised as to the same by, its officers and employees and its independent 
public accountants (and by this provision the Borrower irrevocably authorizes its independent 
public accountants to discuss with the TIFIA Lender the affairs, finances and accounts of the 
Borrower, whether or not any representative of the Borrower is present, it being understood that 
nothing contained in this Section 20(b) (Inspections) is intended to confer any right to exclude any 
such representative from such discussions), all at such reasonable times and intervals as the TIFIA 
Lender may desire.  The Borrower agrees to pay all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the TIFIA 
Lender in connection with the TIFIA Lender’s exercise of its rights under this Section 20(b) 
(Inspections) at any time when an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 

(c) Reports and Records.  The Borrower shall maintain and retain all files 
relating to the Project, the Collateral, the Revenues and the TIFIA Loan until three (3) years after 
the later of the date on which (i) all rights and duties hereunder and under the TIFIA Note 
(including payments) have been fulfilled and any required audits have been performed and (ii) any 
litigation relating to the Project, the Collateral, the Revenues, the TIFIA Loan or this Agreement 
is finally resolved or, if the TIFIA Lender has reasonable cause to extend such date, a date to be 
mutually agreed upon by the TIFIA Lender and the Borrower.  The Borrower shall provide to the 
TIFIA Lender in a timely manner all records and documentation relating to the Project, the 
Collateral or the Revenues that the TIFIA Lender may reasonably request from time to time. 

(d) Required Audit. The Borrower shall have a single or program-specific audit 
conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F and 31 U.S.C. § 7502 in 2021 and 
annually thereafter, except to the extent biennial audits are permitted for the Borrower pursuant to 
2 CFR § 200.504 and 31 U.S.C. § 7502(b).  Upon reasonable notice, the Borrower shall cooperate 
fully in the conduct of any periodic or compliance audits conducted by the TIFIA Lender, the 
USDOT, or designees thereof, pursuant to 49 CFR § 80.19, 31 U.S.C. § 7503(b), or 31 U.S.C. 
§ 6503(h) and shall provide full access to any books, documents, papers or other records that are 
pertinent to the Project or the TIFIA Loan, to the Secretary, or the designee thereof, for any such 
project or programmatic audit. 

Section 21. Financial Plan, Statements, and Reports. 

(a) Financial Plan. The Borrower shall provide a Financial Plan to the TIFIA 
Lender and the FTA Regional Office within sixty (60) days after the Effective Date and annually 
thereafter, not later than the date of delivery of the Borrower’s annual audited financial statements 
in accordance with Section 21(b) (Financial Statements).  The Financial Plan submitted within 
sixty (60) days after the Effective Date should be consistent in all respects with the projections, 
assumptions and other information contained or reflected in the Base Case Financial Model. 

(i) The Financial Plan shall include: (A) a certificate signed by the 
Borrower’s Authorized Representative to the effect that the Financial Plan, including the 
assumptions and supporting documentation, is accurate and reasonable to the best of the 

147



59 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Borrower’s knowledge and belief; (B) a certificate signed by the Borrower’s Authorized 
Representative demonstrating that annual projected LTF Funds and Farebox Revenues to 
be received by or on behalf of the Borrower, in the aggregate, shall be sufficient to meet 
the Loan Amortization Schedule and to meet the Borrower’s debt service obligations with 
respect to any other Permitted Debt, including all debt service obligations pursuant to the 
Other Financing Documents; and (C) an electronic copy of a Revised Financial Model for 
the period from the Effective Date through the end of the fifth (5th) Borrower Fiscal Year 
after the current Borrower Fiscal Year, in substantially the form of the Base Case Financial 
Model, based upon assumptions and projections with respect to the Revenues and expenses 
of the Borrower as of the most recent practicable date prior to the delivery of such Revised 
Financial Model.  

(ii) Each Financial Plan shall:   

(A) provide a narrative that, in reasonable detail, (1) identifies 
any potential Revenues or funding shortfalls and (2) describes any material matters 
that may affect the future performance of the Borrower’s obligations under this 
Agreement and the causes thereof, including a summary of reports prepared by or 
on behalf of the Borrower relating to the Collateral, the Revenues, operational 
contracts, and third-party transactions; 

(B) provide (1) the current balance of each of the accounts and 
subaccounts established under the CASA and any other accounts of the Borrower 
and (2) the amounts deposited into each of the accounts and subaccounts 
established under the CASA and any other accounts of the Borrower and the 
amount disbursed from such funds and accounts, in each case during the prior 
Borrower Fiscal Year;  

(C) provide the actual Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio for 
the prior Calculation Period;  

(D) provide the total LTF Funds (1) available to be claimed by 
the Borrower, (2) budgeted for by the Borrower, (3) claimed by the Borrower, and 
(4) allocated to the Borrower, in each case during the prior Borrower Fiscal Year; 
and 

(E) provide the current estimate of Farebox Revenues received 
by or on behalf of the Borrower, the Borrower’s current farebox recovery ratio and 
the then-applicable Farebox Recovery Ratio, as determined by the Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission. 

(iii) For the period through the Substantial Completion Date, the 
Financial Plan shall:  

(A) provide the current estimate of Total Project Costs and the 
remaining cost to complete the Project, identify any significant cost changes since 
the previous Financial Plan, discuss the reasons for and implications of the cost 
changes, and include a summary table showing the history of Total Project Costs 

148



60 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

by major activity or category in comparison to the Base Case Financial Model and 
the most recent Financial Plan; 

(B) provide updates to the Construction Schedule, including 
major milestones for each phase of the Project (including an updated Projected 
Substantial Completion Date), and compare current milestone dates with the 
milestone dates in the Construction Schedule and in the most recent Financial Plan, 
and discuss the reasons for any changes to the expected completion of these Project 
milestones; 

(C) provide current estimates of sources and uses of funds for 
the Project, identify any significant funding changes since the preceding Financial 
Plan, discuss the reasons for and implications of such funding changes, and include 
a summary table showing the history of Project funding in comparison to the Base 
Case Financial Model and the preceding Financial Plan; and 

(D) provide the total value of approved changes in Project design 
or scope, and provide a listing of each individual change valued at ten percent 
(10%) of Total Project Costs or more, setting forth the rationale or need for the 
proposed change and describing the impact of such change on the Project. 

(iv) Any schedule or other description of projected or actual Revenues 
of the Borrower in the Financial Plan shall be broken down by each major category of 
Revenues (e.g., LTF Funds, Farebox Revenues, etc.). 

(b) Financial Statements.  

(i) The Borrower shall furnish to the TIFIA Lender:  

(A) as soon as available, but no later than five (5) Business Days 
after presentment to the Borrower’s board or directors, a copy of the unaudited 
operating and financial results attached to the Borrower’s executive director’s 
report presented every two months to the Borrower’s board of directors; and 

(B) as soon as available, but no later than one hundred eighty 
(180) days after the end of each Borrower Fiscal Year, a copy of the audited income 
statement and balance sheet of the Borrower as of the end of such fiscal year and 
the related audited statements of operations and of cash flow of the Borrower for 
such fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the 
previous fiscal year, certified without a “going concern” or like qualification or 
exception, or qualification as to the scope of the audit, by an independent public 
accounting firm selected by the Borrower and which is reasonably acceptable to the 
TIFIA Lender. 

(ii)   All such audited financial statements shall be complete and correct 
in all material respects and shall be prepared in reasonable detail and in accordance with 
GAAP applied consistently throughout the periods reflected therein (except for changes 

149



61 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

approved or required by the independent public accountants certifying such statements and 
disclosed therein). 

(c) Officer’s Certificate.  The Borrower shall furnish to the TIFIA Lender, 
together with each delivery of annual audited financial statements or interim unaudited operating 
and financial results of the Borrower pursuant to Section 21(b) (Financial Statements), a certificate 
signed by the chief executive officer or chief financial officer of the Borrower or any Borrower’s 
Authorized Representative, stating whether or not, to the Borrower’s knowledge, during the annual 
or other period (as the case may be) covered by such financial statements or operating and financial 
results, as applicable, there occurred any Event of Default or event that, with the giving of notice 
or the passage of time or both, would become an Event of Default, and, if any such Event of Default 
or other event shall have occurred during such period, the nature of such Event of Default or other 
event and the actions that the Borrower has taken or intends to take in respect thereof. 

Section 22. Project Oversight and Monitoring. 

(a) Project Development, Design and Construction.  The TIFIA Lender shall 
have the right in its sole discretion to monitor (or direct its agents to monitor) the development, 
including environmental compliance, design, right-of-way acquisition, and construction of the 
Project.  The Borrower shall be responsible for administering construction oversight of the Project 
in accordance with the FTA Master Agreements.  The Borrower’s oversight of Project 
development, environmental compliance, design, right-of-way acquisition, and construction 
monitoring shall be conducted pursuant to the FTA Master Agreements, which may be amended 
from time to time upon mutual agreement of the Borrower and the FTA Regional Office, or when 
so required by federal statute or otherwise required by the Congress.  The Borrower agrees to 
cooperate in good faith with the TIFIA Lender and the FTA Regional Office in the conduct of such 
monitoring by promptly providing the TIFIA Lender and the FTA Regional Office with such 
reports, documentation or other information as shall be requested by the TIFIA Lender and the 
FTA Regional Office, or its agents, including any consulting engineer reports, documentation or 
information. 

(b) Reporting.   

(i) Quarterly Construction Progress Report.  On or before the thirtieth 
(30th) day following the end of each calendar quarter during the Construction Period, the 
Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender a report (which may consist in whole or in part 
of reports received by Borrower from one or more of its contractors) that:  

(A) specifies the amount of Total Project Costs expended since 
the Effective Date as well as during the preceding calendar quarter and the amount 
of Total Project Costs estimated to be required to complete the Project;  

(B) provides a revised Project Budget updated through the end 
of the preceding calendar quarter; 

(C) demonstrates that the Borrower has sufficient funds 
(including funds on hand and funds obtainable without undue delay or conditions 
that cannot reasonably be satisfied by the Borrower as and when such funds are 

150



62 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

needed) to complete the Project, taking into account any changes to the amount of 
Total Project Costs that are reflected in such quarterly construction progress report 
(or prior quarterly construction progress reports); 

(D) to the extent there has been any change (increase or 
decrease) to the Total Project Costs needed to achieve Substantial Completion since 
the most recent quarterly construction progress report, provides a narrative 
description of such changes (specifying the amounts of such changes) and, in the 
case of any increase to the Total Project Costs, a narrative description of (1) which 
line items of the Project Budget have been affected by such cost increases (and the 
extent of any overruns with respect to such line items), (2) any material change 
orders granted or pending under the Construction-Related Contracts with respect to 
such cost increases, and (3) how the Borrower will pay for such increased Total 
Project Costs; 

(E) provides (1) an assessment of the overall construction 
progress of the Project since the date of the last report and since the Effective Date, 
together with an assessment of how such progress compares to the Construction 
Schedule; and (2) to the extent there have been any events or occurrences (e.g., 
delayed equipment deliveries, permit delays, material change orders, etc.), that have 
had, or are anticipated to have, an adverse impact on the Construction Schedule and 
the meeting of critical dates thereunder, a detailed narrative description of steps 
being taken (or proposed to be taken) to address such adverse impacts on the 
Construction Schedule; 

(F) specifies the most recent projections for the Substantial 
Completion Date as compared to the Projected Substantial Completion Date 
specified in the Financial Plan most recently submitted to the TIFIA Lender; and 

(G) provides a discussion or analysis of such other matters 
related to the Project as the TIFIA Lender may reasonably request.   

(ii) Recovery Plan.  If the quarterly construction progress report 
described in Section 22(b)(i) (Quarterly Construction Progress Report) or the monthly 
report issued pursuant to the FTA Project Management Oversight Regulations indicates 
either a failure to maintain the Construction Schedule, including a failure to achieve 
Substantial Completion by the Projected Substantial Completion Date or the anticipated 
Substantial Completion Date set forth in the previous quarterly construction progress report 
provided pursuant to Section 22(b)(i) (Quarterly Construction Progress Report), or actual 
or projected Eligible Project Cost overruns in excess of five percent (5%) of the Eligible 
Project Costs reflected in the Project Budget, or both, then the Borrower shall notify the 
TIFIA Lender and the FTA Regional Office of such failure and shall, upon request by the 
TIFIA Lender or the FTA Regional Office, provide the TIFIA Lender and the FTA 
Regional Office within thirty (30) days of receipt of such request, a Recovery Plan for 
review and acceptance by the TIFIA Lender and the FTA Regional Office. 

151



63 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(iii) Requested Information.  The Borrower shall, at any time while the 
TIFIA Loan remains outstanding, promptly deliver to the TIFIA Lender such additional 
information regarding the business, financial, legal or organizational affairs of the 
Borrower or regarding the Project, the Collateral or the Revenues as the TIFIA Lender may 
from time to time reasonably request, including copies of agreements related to the 
acquisition or control of any Project right-of-way. The Borrower shall respond, and use 
commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Construction-Related Contract Parties to 
respond, to the TIFIA Lender’s inquiries regarding the construction of the Project. 

(c) Project Operations.  For the period following the Substantial Completion 
Date, the TIFIA Lender shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to monitor (or direct its agents 
to monitor) the Project’s operations and, as the TIFIA Lender may request from time to time, to 
receive reporting on the operation and management of the Project, and copies of any contracts 
relating to the operation, maintenance, and safety services for the Project. The Borrower agrees to 
cooperate in good faith with the TIFIA Lender in the conduct of such monitoring by promptly 
providing the TIFIA Lender with such reports, documentation, or other information requested by 
the TIFIA Lender.  The TIFIA Lender has the right, in its sole discretion, to retain a financial 
oversight advisor, under a contract with the TIFIA Lender, to carry out the provisions of this 
Section 22(c).  

(d) Consulting Engineer.  

(i) If requested in writing by the TIFIA Lender (in circumstances where 
the Borrower does not already have a designated Consulting Engineer), the Borrower shall 
hire and retain a Consulting Engineer until final acceptance of the Project by the Borrower.   

(ii) Any Consulting Engineer retained by the Borrower shall advise the 
TIFIA Lender (with a duty of care to the TIFIA Lender) with regard to all technical matters 
related to the performance by the Borrower of its obligations under this Agreement and the 
Related Documents.   

(iii) The Borrower may designate or replace the Consulting Engineer; 
provided, that the TIFIA Lender shall have the right to object to any such Consulting 
Engineer (and the Borrower shall not retain any proposed Consulting Engineer if the TIFIA 
Lender has objected in writing to such proposed Consulting Engineer).  The Borrower shall 
provide the TIFIA Lender with thirty (30) Business Days' advance written notice of any 
proposed initial or replacement Consulting Engineer, together with supporting information 
concerning the qualifications of the proposed Consulting Engineer.  The Borrower may 
designate the proposed Consulting Engineer unless the TIFIA Lender objects in writing 
within fifteen (15) Business Days following receipt of the Borrower’s notice above.  Any 
such objection by the TIFIA Lender shall include a reasonable description of its reasons 
for objecting to the proposed Consulting Engineer.  The Borrower shall pay for all services 
performed by the Consulting Engineer. 

Section 23. No Personal Recourse.  No official, employee or agent of the TIFIA 
Lender or the Borrower or any Person executing this Agreement or any of the other TIFIA Loan 

152



64 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Documents shall be personally liable on this Agreement or such other TIFIA Loan Documents 
by reason of the issuance, delivery or execution hereof or thereof. 

Section 24. No Third Party Rights.  The parties hereby agree that this Agreement 
creates no third party rights against the Borrower, the Federal Government, or the TIFIA Lender, 
solely by virtue of the TIFIA Loan, and the Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold the TIFIA 
Lender, the Servicer (if any), the Executive Director, and the Federal Government harmless, to 
the extent permitted by law and in accordance with Section 17 (Indemnification), from any 
lawsuit or claim arising in law or equity solely by reason of the TIFIA Loan, and that no third 
party creditor or creditors of the Borrower shall have any right against the TIFIA Lender with 
respect to the TIFIA Loan made pursuant to this Agreement. 

Section 25. Borrower’s Authorized Representative.  The Borrower shall at all times 
have appointed a Borrower’s Authorized Representative by designating such Person or Persons 
from time to time to act on the Borrower’s behalf pursuant to a written certificate furnished to 
the TIFIA Lender and the Servicer, if any, containing the specimen signature or signatures of 
such Person or Persons and signed by the Borrower. 

Section 26. TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative. 

(a) The TIFIA Lender shall at all times have appointed the TIFIA Lender’s 
Authorized Representative by designating such Person or Persons from time to time to act on the 
TIFIA Lender’s behalf pursuant to a written certificate furnished to the Borrower and the Servicer, 
if any, containing the specimen signature or signatures of such Person or Persons and signed by 
the TIFIA Lender. 

(b) Pursuant to the delegation of authority, dated July 20, 2016, from the 
Secretary to the Under Secretary of Transportation for Policy, the further delegation of authority, 
dated July 20, 2016, from the Under Secretary of Transportation for Policy to the Executive 
Director of the Build America Bureau, the further delegation of authority, dated August 31, 2016 
(the “Delegation”) by the Executive Director of the Build America Bureau to the Director of the 
Credit Office of the Build America Bureau, the Director of the Credit Office of the Build America 
Bureau has been delegated the authority to enter into contracts and sign all contractual and funding 
documents (with the exception of the term sheets and credit agreements) necessary to implement 
the Act, including entering into technical amendments to, and restatements of, term sheets and 
credit agreements that do not materially impair the credit quality of the revenues pledged to repay 
the TIFIA Lender.  Pursuant to the Delegation, the Director of the Credit Office of the Build 
America Bureau may act and serve as the TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative under this 
Agreement, in addition to the Executive Director of the Build America Bureau for the purposes 
set forth herein. 

Section 27. Servicer.  The TIFIA Lender may from time to time designate another 
entity or entities to perform, or assist the TIFIA Lender in performing, the duties of the Servicer 
or specified duties of the TIFIA Lender under this Agreement and the TIFIA Note.  The TIFIA 
Lender shall give the Borrower written notice of the appointment of any successor or additional 
Servicer and shall enumerate the duties or any change in duties to be performed by any Servicer.  
Any references in this Agreement to the TIFIA Lender shall be deemed to be a reference to the 

153



65 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Servicer with respect to any duties which the TIFIA Lender shall have delegated to such 
Servicer.  The TIFIA Lender may at any time assume the duties of any Servicer under this 
Agreement and the TIFIA Note.  The Borrower shall cooperate and respond to any reasonable 
request of the Servicer for information, documentation or other items reasonably necessary for 
the performance by the Servicer of its duties hereunder. 

Section 28. Fees and Expenses.  The Borrower agrees, whether or not the transactions 
hereby contemplated shall be consummated, to reimburse the TIFIA Lender on demand from 
time-to-time, within thirty (30) days after receipt of any invoice from the TIFIA Lender, for any 
and all fees, costs, charges, and expenses incurred by it (including the reasonable fees, costs, and 
expenses of its legal counsel, financial advisors, auditors and any technical or other consultants 
and advisors, such reasonableness determined in accordance with Part 31 of the Federal 
Acquisition Regulation) in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Agreement and the other TIFIA Loan Documents and the transactions 
hereby and thereby contemplated, including reasonable attorneys’, and engineers’ fees and 
professional costs, including all such fees, costs, and expenses incurred as a result of or in 
connection with: 

(a) the enforcement of or attempt to enforce any provision of this Agreement 
or any of the other TIFIA Loan Documents; 

(b) any amendment, modification, or requested amendment or modification of, 
waiver, consent, or requested waiver or consent under or with respect to, or the protection or 
preservation of any right or claim under, this Agreement, any other Related Document, or the 
Collateral, or advice in connection with the administration, preservation in full force and effect, 
and enforcement of this Agreement or any other Related Document or the rights of the TIFIA 
Lender thereunder; and 

(c) any work-out, restructuring, or similar arrangement of the obligations of the 
Borrower under this Agreement or the other TIFIA Loan Documents, including during the 
pendency of one or more Events of Default. 

The obligations of the Borrower under this Section 28 (Fees and Expenses) shall survive the 
payment or prepayment in full or transfer of the TIFIA Note, the enforcement of any provision of 
this Agreement or the other TIFIA Loan Documents, any such amendments, waivers or consents, 
any Event of Default, and any such workout, restructuring, or similar arrangement. 

Section 29. Amendments and Waivers.  No amendment, modification, termination, or 
waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall in any event be effective without the written 
consent of each of the parties hereto. 

Section 30. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the federal laws of 
the United States of America if and to the extent such federal laws are applicable and the internal 
laws of the State, if and to the extent such federal laws are not applicable. 

Section 31. Severability.  In case any provision in or obligation under this Agreement 
shall be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and 

154



66 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in 
any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

Section 32. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties 
hereto and their respective permitted successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the 
parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns.  Neither the Borrower’s rights or 
obligations hereunder nor any interest therein may be assigned, delegated, or transferred by the 
Borrower without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender. 

Section 33. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy conferred herein or reserved to the 
TIFIA Lender is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each 
and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given 
hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

Section 34. Delay or Omission Not Waiver.  No delay or omission of the TIFIA 
Lender to exercise any right or remedy provided hereunder upon a default of the Borrower 
(except a delay or omission pursuant to a written waiver) shall impair any such right or remedy 
or constitute a waiver of any such default or acquiescence therein.  Every right and remedy given 
by this Agreement or by law to the TIFIA Lender may be exercised from time to time, and as 
often as may be deemed expedient by the TIFIA Lender. 

Section 35. Counterparts; Electronic Signatures.  This Agreement and any 
amendments, waivers, consents or supplements hereto or in connection herewith may be 
executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties hereto in separate 
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, but all 
such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument; signature pages may be 
detached from multiple separate counterparts and attached to a single counterpart so that all 
signature pages are physically attached to the same document.  Electronic delivery of an 
executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement or of any document or instrument 
delivered in connection herewith in accordance with Section 36 (Notices; Payment Instructions) 
shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Agreement or such other 
document or instrument, as applicable.  Each of the parties hereto agrees that the transaction 
consisting of this Agreement may be conducted by electronic means. Each party agrees, and 
acknowledges that it is such party’s intent, that if such party signs this Agreement using an 
electronic signature, it is signing, adopting, and accepting this Agreement and that signing this 
Agreement using an electronic signature is the legal equivalent of having placed its handwritten 
signature on this Agreement on paper. Each party acknowledges that it is being provided with an 
electronic or paper copy of this Agreement in a usable format. 

Section 36. Notices; Payment Instructions.  Notices hereunder shall be (a) in writing, 
(b) effective as provided below and (c) given by (i) nationally recognized courier service, (ii) 
hand delivery, or (iii) email, in each case to: 

155



67 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

If to TIFIA Lender: Build America Bureau 
United States Department of 
Transportation 
Room W12-464 
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE 
Washington, D.C. 20590 
Attention:  Director, Office of Credit 
Programs 
Email:  BureauOversight@dot.gov 
 
 

with copies to: Region IX Office 
Federal Transit Administration 
San Francisco Federal Building 
90 7th Street 
Suite 15-300 
San Francisco, CA 94103 
Attention:  Ray Tellis, Regional 
Administrator 
 

If to Borrower: Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[______________________] 
[______________________] 
Attention: [_____________] 
[Title] 
[Phone Number] 
Email: [____________] 
 

Unless otherwise instructed by the TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative, all notices to the 
TIFIA Lender should be made by email to the email address noted above for the TIFIA Lender. 
Notices required to be provided herein shall be provided to such different addresses or to such 
further parties as may be designated from time to time by a Borrower’s Authorized Representative, 
with respect to notices to the Borrower, or by the TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative, with 
respect to notices to the TIFIA Lender or the Servicer, if any.  The Borrower shall make any 
payments hereunder or under the TIFIA Note in accordance with Section 9(c) (Manner of 
Payment) and the payment instructions hereafter provided by the TIFIA Lender’s Authorized 
Representative, as modified from time-to-time by the TIFIA Lender.  Each such notice, request or 
communication shall be effective (x) if delivered by hand or by nationally recognized courier 
service, when delivered at the address specified in this Section 36 (Notices; Payment Instructions) 
(or in accordance with the latest unrevoked written direction from the receiving party) and (y) if 
given by email, when such email is delivered to the address specified in this Section 36 (Notices; 
Payment Instructions) (or in accordance with the latest unrevoked written direction from the 
receiving party); provided that notices received on a day that is not a Business Day or after 5:00 
p.m. Eastern Time on a Business Day will be deemed to be effective on the next Business Day. 

Section 37. Effectiveness.  This Agreement shall be effective on the Effective Date. 

156



68 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Section 38. Termination.  This Agreement shall terminate upon the irrevocable payment 
in full in cash by the Borrower of the Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance, together with all accrued 
interest and fees with respect thereto; provided, however, that the indemnification requirements of 
Section 17 (Indemnification), the reporting and record keeping requirements of Section 20(b) 
(Inspections) and Section 20(c) (Reports and Records), and the payment requirements of Section 
28 (Fees and Expenses) shall survive the termination of this Agreement as provided in such 
sections. 

Section 39. Integration.  This Agreement constitutes the entire contract between the 
parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any and all previous agreements and 
understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. 

[Signature pages follow] 

157



[Signature Page to Napa Valley Transportation Authority Vine Transit Maintenance Facility 
Project TIFIA Loan Agreement]  

1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly 
executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first 
written above. 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY  

 

By: ______________________________ 
Name:  
Title:  

158



[Signature Page to Napa Valley Transportation Authority Vine Transit Maintenance Facility 
Project TIFIA Loan Agreement]  

1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION, acting by and 
through the Executive Director of the Build 
America Bureau 

 

By: ______________________________ 
Name: Dr. Morteza Farajian  
Title: Executive Director  

159



Schedule I-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

SCHEDULE I 
 

PROJECT BUDGET11 

Borrower Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
Loan Vine Transit Maintenance Facility Project (TIFIA - [________]) 

Date Printed [_________] 
 

FUNDING SOURCES 
   Amount   Percent of Sources  

[Federal Grants]   
[State/Local Grants]   
TIFIA Loan [$19,917,401]  
[Bank of Marin Loan]   
[_________]   
Total Eligible Project Costs  100.0% 

 
FUNDING USES 

   Amount   Percent of Uses  
[Land Acquisition]   
[Environmental and Design]   
[Construction]   
[Furniture, Fixtures, and 
Expenses]   

[Financing Costs]   
[_________]   
Total Eligible Project Costs  100.0% 

 

                                                 
11 NTD:  To be provided by the Borrower. 

160



Schedule II-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

SCHEDULE II 
 

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 

[To be provided by the Borrower.]

161



Schedule III-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

SCHEDULE III 
 

EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS 

I. Pari Passu Obligations12 
 

 Agreement/Series Outstanding 
Principal13 

 [insert description of BOM Loan]  
 

                                                 
12  NTD:  To be provided by the Borrower. 

13  As of Effective Date 

162



Schedule IV-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

SCHEDULE IV 
 

SECTION 5.03(b) OF THE CASA 
 

Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, as of the Effective Date, is copied below. 

Section 5.03. Revenue Account.   

…  

 (b) [_______]14 

                                                 
14  NTD:  To be added from the CASA. 

163



Exhibit A-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FORM OF TIFIA NOTE 

 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY  

 
VINE TRANSIT MAINTENANCE FACILITY PROJECT 

 
(TIFIA – [____________]) 

 
TIFIA NOTE 

Maximum Principal Amount:  [$19,917,401]  

Effective Date:  _____________ Due: __________ 

The NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, a joint powers agency created 
under the laws of the State of California (the “Borrower”), for value received, hereby promises to 
pay to the order of the UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, acting 
by and through the Executive Director of the Build America Bureau, or its assigns (the “TIFIA 
Lender”), the lesser of (x) the Maximum Principal Amount set forth above and (y) the aggregate 
unpaid principal amount of all disbursements (the “Disbursements”) made by the TIFIA Lender 
(such lesser amount being hereinafter referred to as the “Outstanding Principal Sum”), together 
with accrued and unpaid interest (including, if applicable, interest at the Default Rate, as defined 
in the TIFIA Loan Agreement) on the Outstanding Principal Sum and all fees, costs and other 
amounts payable in connection therewith, all as more fully described in the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement.  The principal hereof shall be payable in the manner and at the place provided in the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement in accordance with Exhibit G to the TIFIA Loan Agreement, as revised 
from time to time in accordance with the TIFIA Loan Agreement, until paid in full.  The TIFIA 
Lender is hereby authorized to modify the Loan Amortization Schedule included in Exhibit G to 
the TIFIA Loan Agreement from time to time in accordance with the terms of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement to reflect the amount of each disbursement made thereunder and the date and amount 
of principal or interest paid by the Borrower thereunder.  Absent manifest error, the TIFIA 
Lender’s determination of such matters as set forth on Exhibit G to the TIFIA Loan Agreement 
shall be conclusive evidence thereof; provided, however, that neither the failure to make any such 
recordation nor any error in such recordation shall affect in any manner the Borrower’s obligations 
hereunder or under any other TIFIA Loan Document.   

Payments hereon are to be made in accordance with Section 9(c) (Manner of Payment) and 
Section 36 (Notices; Payment Instructions) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement as the same become 
due.  Principal of and interest on this TIFIA Note shall be paid in funds available on or before the 
due date and in any lawful coin or currency of the United States of America that at the date of 
payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  

This TIFIA Note has been executed under and pursuant to that certain TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, between the TIFIA Lender and the Borrower (the “TIFIA 

164



Exhibit A-2 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Loan Agreement”) and is issued to evidence the obligation of the Borrower under the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement to repay the loan made by the TIFIA Lender and any other payments of any kind 
required to be paid by the Borrower under the TIFIA Loan Agreement or the other TIFIA Loan 
Documents referred to therein.  Reference is made to the TIFIA Loan Agreement for all details 
relating to the Borrower’s obligations hereunder.  All capitalized terms used in this TIFIA Note 
and not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

This TIFIA Note may be prepaid at the option of the Borrower in whole or in part (and, if 
in part, the principal installments and amounts thereof to be prepaid are to be determined in 
accordance with the TIFIA Loan Agreement; provided, however, such prepayments shall be in 
principal amounts of at least $100,000), at any time or from time to time, without penalty or 
premium, by paying to the TIFIA Lender all or part of the principal amount of the TIFIA Note in 
accordance with the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

Payment of the obligations of the Borrower under this TIFIA Note is secured pursuant to 
the CASA and the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

Any delay on the part of the TIFIA Lender in exercising any right hereunder shall not 
operate as a waiver of any such right, and any waiver granted with respect to one default shall not 
operate as a waiver in the event of any subsequent default. 

All acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution and laws of the State to happen, 
exist, and be performed precedent to and in the issuance of this TIFIA Note have happened, exist 
and have been performed as so required.  This TIFIA Note is issued with the intent that the federal 
laws of the United States of America shall govern its construction to the extent such federal laws 
are applicable and the internal laws of the State shall govern its construction to the extent such 
federal laws are not applicable. 

165



Exhibit A-3 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
has caused this TIFIA Note to be executed in its name and its seal to be affixed hereto and attested 
by its duly authorized officer, all as of the Effective Date set forth above. 

 
 
 
(SEAL) 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
By ______________________________ 

Name:____________________________ 
Title:_____________________________ 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Secretary 

 

166



Exhibit A-4 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(FORM OF ASSIGNMENT) 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the Undersigned hereby unconditionally sells, assigns 

and transfers unto 

(Please Insert Social Security or other identifying number of Assignee(s)): 

the within note and all rights thereunder. 

Dated: ________________ 

 NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment 
must correspond with the name as it appears 
upon the face of the within note in every 
particular, without alteration or enlargement or 
any change whatever. 

 

167



Exhibit B-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT B 
 

ANTICIPATED TIFIA LOAN DISBURSEMENT SCHEDULE15 

Borrower Napa Valley Transportation Authority 

Loan Vine Transit Maintenance Facility Project 
(TIFIA - [____________]) 

Date Printed [___________] 
  

PERIOD AMOUNT DISBURSED IN PERIOD 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

TOTAL  

                                                 
15  NTD:  To be provided by the Borrower. 

168



 Exhibit C-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT C 
 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, 
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS— 

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS 

The undersigned, on behalf of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (the 
“Borrower”), hereby certifies that the Borrower has fully complied with its verification 
obligations under 2 CFR § 180.320 and hereby further confirms in accordance with 2 CFR § 
180.335, that, to its knowledge, the Borrower and its principals (as defined in 2 CFR § 180.995): 

(a) Are not presently excluded (as defined in 2 CFR § 180.940) or disqualified (as 
defined in 2 CFR § 180.935); 

(b) Have not within a three (3) year period preceding the Effective Date been convicted 
of any of the offenses listed in 2 CFR § 180.800(a) or had a civil judgment rendered against them 
for one of those offenses within that time period; 

(c) Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a 
governmental entity (federal, state or local) with commission of any of the offenses listed in 2 CFR 
§ 180.800(a); and 

(d) Have not within a three (3) year period preceding the Effective Date had one or 
more public transactions (federal, state or local) terminated for cause or default. 

(e) Capitalized terms used in the certificate and not defined shall have the respective 
meanings ascribed to such terms in that certain TIFIA Loan Agreement, dated as of [_______], 
2021, between the United States Department of Transportation, acting by and through the 
Executive Director of the Build America Bureau, and the Borrower, as the same may be 
amended from time to time. 

Dated: [________], 2021 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY16 
 
 
By: _______________________________________ 
Name: 
Title:

                                                 
16  To be executed by Borrower’s Authorized Representative. 

169



Exhibit D-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT D 
 

REQUISITION PROCEDURES 
 

This Exhibit D sets out the procedures which the Borrower agrees to follow in submitting 
Requisitions for the disbursement of TIFIA Loan proceeds in respect of the Eligible Project Costs 
incurred in connection with the Project.  Section 1 sets out the manner in which Requisitions are 
to be submitted and reviewed.  Sections 2 through Section 4 set out the circumstances in which the 
TIFIA Lender may reject or correct Requisitions submitted by the Borrower or withhold a 
disbursement.  The Borrower expressly agrees to the terms hereof, and further agrees that (i) the 
rights of the TIFIA Lender contained herein are in addition to (and not in lieu of) any other rights 
or remedies available to the TIFIA Lender under the TIFIA Loan Agreement, and (ii) nothing 
contained herein shall be construed to limit the rights of the TIFIA Lender to take actions including 
administrative enforcement action and actions for breach of contract against the Borrower if it fails 
to carry out its obligations under the TIFIA Loan Agreement during the term thereof. 

Section 1.  General Requirements.  All requests by the Borrower for the disbursement of 
TIFIA Loan proceeds shall be made by electronic mail or overnight delivery service by submission 
to the TIFIA Lender, in accordance with Section 36 (Notices; Payment Instructions) of the TIFIA 
Loan Agreement, of a Requisition, in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender and 
completed and executed by the Borrower’s Authorized Representative.  The form of Requisition 
is attached as Appendix One to this Exhibit D.  Supporting documentation should be submitted 
with the Requisition. 

All disbursement requests must be received by the TIFIA Lender at or before 5:00 P.M. 
(EST) on the first (1st) Business Day of a calendar month in order to obtain disbursement by the 
fifteenth (15th) day of such calendar month or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next 
succeeding Business Day. 

Section 2. Rejection.  A Requisition may be rejected in whole or in part by the TIFIA 
Lender if it is: 

(a) submitted without signature; 

(b) submitted under signature of a Person other than a Borrower’s Authorized 
Representative; 

(c) submitted after prior disbursement of all proceeds of the TIFIA Loan; or 

(d) submitted without adequate documentation of Eligible Project Costs 
incurred or paid.  Such documentation shall include invoices for costs incurred or paid. If 
a Consulting Engineer is retained as of such date by the Borrower, pursuant to Section 
22(d) (Consulting Engineer) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement or otherwise, such 
documentation shall include the most recent certificate of or report prepared by the 
Consulting Engineer relating to the construction of the Project (to the extent not previously 
delivered to the TIFIA Lender). 

170



Exhibit D-2 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

The TIFIA Lender shall promptly send to the Borrower, in accordance with Section 36 
(Notices; Payment Instructions) of the TFIA Loan Agreement, a notice of any Requisition so 
rejected, and the reasons therefor, substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix Two to 
this Exhibit D.  Any Requisition rejected for the reasons specified in (a), (b) or (d) above must be 
resubmitted in proper form in order to be considered for approval.  If a Requisition exceeds the 
balance of the TIFIA Loan proceeds remaining to be disbursed, the request will be treated as if 
submitted in the amount of the balance so remaining, and the TIFIA Lender will so notify the 
Borrower. 

Section 3. Correction.  A Requisition containing an apparent mathematical error will 
be corrected by the TIFIA Lender, after telephonic or email notification to the Borrower, and will 
thereafter be treated as if submitted in the corrected amount.   

Section 4. Withholding.  The TIFIA Lender shall be entitled to withhold approval (in 
whole or in part) of any pending or subsequent requests for the disbursement of TIFIA Loan 
proceeds if: 

(a) an Event of Default or event or condition that, with the giving of notice or 
the passage of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default under the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement shall have occurred and be continuing; or 

(b) the Borrower: 

(i) knowingly takes any action, or omits to take any action, amounting 
to fraud or violation of any applicable federal or local criminal law, in connection 
with the transactions contemplated hereby; or 

(ii) fails to construct the Project in a manner consistent with the 
Governmental Approvals with respect to the Project, or in accordance with the 
highest standards of the Borrower’s industry, where such failure prevents or 
materially impairs the Project from fulfilling its intended purpose, or prevents or 
materially impairs the ability of the TIFIA Lender to monitor compliance by the 
Borrower with applicable federal or local law pertaining to the Project or with the 
terms and conditions of the TIFIA Loan Agreement; or 

(iii) fails to observe or comply with any applicable federal or local law, 
or any term or condition of the TIFIA Loan Agreement; or 

(iv) fails to satisfy the conditions set forth in Section 4 (Disbursement 
Conditions) or Section 12(b) (Conditions Precedent to All Disbursements) of the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement; or 

(v) fails to deliver documentation satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender 
evidencing Eligible Project Costs claimed for disbursement at the times and in the 
manner specified by the TIFIA Loan Agreement; provided, that in such case the 
TIFIA Lender may, in its sole discretion, partially approve a disbursement request 
in respect of any amounts for which adequate documentation evidencing Eligible 

171



Exhibit D-3 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Project Costs has been provided and may, in its sole discretion, disburse in respect 
of such properly documented amounts. 

Section 5. Government Shutdown.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth 
in this Exhibit D, the TIFIA Lender (a) shall be entitled to withhold approval of any pending or 
subsequent requests for the disbursement of TIFIA Loan proceeds and (b) shall have no obligation 
to make any disbursement of proceeds of the TIFIA Loan to the Borrower (even if such 
disbursement has been approved by the TIFIA Lender), in each case if the TIFIA Lender’s ability 
to make the relevant disbursement is impaired as a result of a partial or total shutdown of the 
operations of any federal department or agency (including the USDOT or any of its agencies), or 
any contractor of any such department or agency, due to a lapse in appropriations by Congress. 

172



Exhibit D-4 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

APPENDIX ONE TO EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

Build America Bureau  

United States Department of Transportation 
c/o Director,  Office of Credit Programs 
 
Room W12-464 
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE, 
Washington, D.C. 20590 

Region IX Office 
Federal Transit Administration 
San Francisco Federal Building 
90 7th Street 
Suite 15-300 
San Francisco, CA 94103 
Attention: Ray Tellis, Regional Administrator] 

[Loan Servicer] 
[Address] 
[Attention] 

Re: NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY VINE TRANSIT 
MAINTENANCE FACILITY PROJECT (TIFIA – [____________]) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Pursuant to Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement, dated as of 
[________], 2021 (the “TIFIA Loan Agreement”), by and between the NAPA VALLEY 
TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (the “Borrower”) and the UNITED STATES 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, acting by and through the Executive Director of the 
Build America Bureau (the “TIFIA Lender”), we hereby request disbursement in the amount of 
$[___________] in respect of Eligible Project Costs paid or incurred by or on behalf of the 
Borrower.  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meaning set forth in the TIFIA 
Loan Agreement.  In connection with this Requisition the undersigned does hereby represent and 
certify the following: 

1. This Requisition is Requisition number [_______]. 

2. The requested date of disbursement is [____________] 15, 20[__] (the “Disbursement 
Date”)[, which is the first Business Day following [___________] 15, 20[____]]. 

3. The amounts previously disbursed under the TIFIA Loan Agreement equal, in the 
aggregate, $[____________]. The amounts previously disbursed and to be disbursed under 

173



Exhibit D-5 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

the Other Financing Documents in respect of Pari Passu Obligations as of the date of the 
requested disbursement equal, in the aggregate, $[____________].      

4. The amounts hereby requisitioned have been paid or incurred by or on behalf of the 
Borrower for Eligible Project Costs and have not been paid for or reimbursed by any 
previous disbursement from TIFIA Loan proceeds. 

5. The amount of this Requisition, together with all prior Requisitions, does not exceed the 
amount of the TIFIA Loan. 

6. All documentation evidencing the Eligible Project Costs to be reimbursed by the above-
requested disbursement has been delivered by the Borrower at the times and in the manner 
specified by the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

7. The Borrower has all Governmental Approvals necessary as of the date hereof and as of 
the Disbursement Date (immediately after giving effect to the above-requested 
disbursement of TIFIA Loan proceeds), for the development, construction, operation and 
maintenance of the Project and each such Governmental Approval is in full force and effect 
(and is not subject to any notice of violation, breach or revocation). 

8. Each of the insurance policies obtained and other insurance arrangements maintained by 
the Borrower in satisfaction of the condition in Section 12(a)(xvii) (Conditions Precedent 
to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement is in full force and effect, and no notice of 
termination thereof has been issued by the applicable insurance provider. 

9. The Project has been, and is being, constructed in a manner consistent with all plans, 
specifications, engineering reports and facilities plans previously submitted to the TIFIA 
Lender and the FTA Regional Office and in accordance with the highest standards of the 
Borrower’s industry. 

10. The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the TIFIA Loan Agreement 
and in each other Related Document are true and correct as of the date hereof and as of the 
Disbursement Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly 
relate to an earlier date (in which case, such representations and warranties shall be true 
and correct as of such earlier date). 

11. As of the date hereof and on the Disbursement Date (immediately after giving effect to the 
above-requested disbursement of TIFIA Loan proceeds), (i) no Event of Default or event 
of default under any other Related Document and (ii) no event or condition that, with the 
giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default or 
event of default under any Related Document, in each case, has occurred and is continuing. 

12. No Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could reasonably be expected 
to result in a Material Adverse Effect, has occurred since [_______] and is continuing. 

174



Exhibit D-6 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

13. [The Borrower has fully funded the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in 
accordance with Section 15(k) (Reserve Accounts; Permitted Investments) of the TIFIA 
Loan Agreement.]17 

14. [A copy of the most recent certificate or report of the Consulting Engineer delivered 
pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Agreement has been delivered to each of the above named 
addressees.]18 

15. A copy of the quarterly construction progress report pursuant to Section 22(b)(i) (Quarterly 
Construction Progress Report) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement for the quarter preceding the 
date of the applicable Requisition has been delivered to each of the above named addresses. 

16. The undersigned acknowledges that if the Borrower makes a false, fictitious, or fraudulent 
claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government in connection with 
the Project, the Federal Government reserves the right to impose on the Borrower the 
penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5323(l)(1), to the extent the Federal 
Government deems appropriate. 

17. A copy of this requisition has been delivered to each of the above named addressees. 

18. The undersigned is duly authorized to execute and deliver this requisition on behalf of the 
Borrower. 

                                                 
17  Include for the next disbursement to be made after the last Business Day of the month following the initial 

disbursement of the TIFIA Loan. 

18  Include when applicable. 

175



Exhibit D-7 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

[Add wire instructions for [Borrower].] 

 

Date: _______________________ NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY19 
 
By:  _______________________________ 
Name: 
Title:___________________________ 

                                                 
19  To be executed by the Borrower’s Authorized Representative. 

176



Exhibit D-8 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

APPENDIX TWO TO EXHIBIT D 

DISAPPROVAL OF THE TIFIA LENDER 
(To be delivered to the Borrower) 

Requisition Number [●] is [approved in the amount of $[●]] [approved in part in the 
amount of $[●]] [not approved]20 by the TIFIA Lender (as defined herein) pursuant to Section 4 
(Disbursement Conditions) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement, dated as of [_______], 2021, by and 
between the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (the “Borrower”) and the United States 
Department of Transportation, acting by and through the Executive Director of the Build America 
Bureau (the “TIFIA Lender”). 

Any determination, action or failure to act by the TIFIA Lender with respect to the 
Requisition set forth above, including any  withholding of a disbursement, shall be at the TIFIA 
Lender’s sole discretion, and in no event shall the TIFIA Lender be responsible for or liable to the 
Borrower for any and/or all consequence(s) which are the result thereof. 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION, acting by and 
through the Executive Director of the Build 
America Bureau 
 
 
 
By:  ___________________________ 
TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative 
Name: 
Title: 
Dated:  

                                                 
20 Attached hereto as Exhibit A are reasons for any partial or full denial of approval. 

177



Exhibit D-9 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT A TO APPENDIX TWO TO EXHIBIT D 
 

[Insert reasons for any partial or full denial of approval.] 
 

178



Exhibit E-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT E 
 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
 

 
The Borrower shall, and shall require its contractors and subcontractors at all tiers for the Project 
to, comply in all material respects with any and all applicable federal and state laws.  The following 
list of federal laws is illustrative of the type of requirements generally applicable to transportation 
projects.  It is not intended to be exhaustive.  
(i) The Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 and implementing regulations (42 U.S.C. § 
12101 et seq.; 28 CFR Part 35; 29 CFR Part 1630); 
(ii) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.), and 
USDOT implementing regulations (49 CFR Part 21); 
(iii) The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, 
as amended (42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.), with the understanding that the requirements of said Act 
are not applicable with respect to utility relocations except with respect to acquisitions by the 
Borrower of easements or other real property rights for the relocated facilities; 
(iv) Equal employment opportunity requirements under Executive Order 11246 dated 
September 24, 1965 (30 FR 12319), any Executive Order amending such order, and implementing 
regulations (29 CFR §§ 1625-27, 1630; 28 CFR Part 35; 41 CFR Part 60; and 49 CFR Part 27); 
(v) Restrictions governing the use of federal appropriated funds for lobbying (31 U.S.C. § 
1352; 49 CFR Part 20); 
(vi) The Clean Air Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.); 
(vii) The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq.), including the 
environmental mitigation requirements and commitments made by the Borrower that result in the 
FTA Regional Office’s approval of the NEPA Determination; 
(viii) The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.); 
(ix) The Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1531, et seq.; 
(x) 23 U.S.C. § 138 and 49 U.S.C. § 303, as applicable; 
(xi) The health and safety requirements set forth in 40 U.S.C. §§ 3701-3702 and implementing 
regulations (29 CFR Part 1926 and 23 CFR § 635.108, as applicable); 
(xii) The prevailing wage requirements set forth in 40 U.S.C. § 3141 et seq., and implementing 
regulations (29 CFR Part 5), and, as applicable, 23 U.S.C. § 113 and implementing regulations (23 
CFR §§ 635.117(f) and 635.118), and FHWA Form 1273 §§ IV and V for those contracts that 
involve construction of highway improvements; 
(xiii) The Buy America requirements set forth in 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j) and implementing 
regulations (49 CFR Part 661);  
(xiv) The requirements of 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53 and 49 CFR Part 600;  
(xv) The Cargo Preference Act of 1954, as amended (46 U.S.C. §55305), and implementing 
regulations (46 CFR Part 381);  

179



Exhibit E-2 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(xvi) The applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 relating to the Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise program; and 
(xvii) The requirements of Section 889 of the John S. McCain National Defense Authorization 
Act for Fiscal Year 2019 (Pub. L. 115–232) and implementing regulations (2 CFR § 200.216). 

180



Exhibit F-1  
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT F 
 

[Reserved.] 
 

 

181



Exhibit G-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT G 
 

TIFIA DEBT SERVICE21 
 

 

 
 

                                                 
21  NTD:  To be provided. 

Borrower Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
Loan Vine Transit Maintenance Facility Project (TIFIA - [____________]) 
Date 

Printed 
 

     
Closing Date     
Loan Amount     
Interest Rate     
     

PERIOD LOAN 
REPAYMENT  

 INTEREST 
PAID  

 PRINCIPAL 
REPAYMENT  

 ENDING 
BALANCE  

     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

TOTALS     
Note: Interest amounts due during construction period are estimates based on anticipated drawdown schedule -- 
subject to change based on actual timing of disbursements. 

182



Exhibit H-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT H-1 
 

OPINIONS REQUIRED OF COUNSEL TO BORROWER 
 

An opinion of the counsel of the Borrower, dated as of the Effective Date, to the effect that:  

(a) the Borrower is duly formed, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of 
the jurisdiction of its organization;  

(b) the Borrower has all requisite power and authority to conduct its business and to execute 
and deliver, and to perform its obligations under the Related Documents to which it is a party;  

(c) the execution and delivery by the Borrower of, and the performance of its respective 
obligations under, the Related Documents to which it is a party, have been duly authorized by all 
necessary organizational or regulatory action;  

(d) the Borrower has duly executed and delivered each Related Document to which it is a 
party and each such Related Document constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of such 
party, enforceable against such party in accordance with their respective terms;  

(e) no authorization, consent, or other approval of, or registration, declaration or other filing 
with any governmental authority of the United States of America or of the State is required on the 
part of the Borrower for the execution and delivery by such party of, and the performance of such 
party under, any Related Document to which it is a party other than authorizations, consents, 
approvals, registrations, declarations and filings that have already been timely obtained or made 
by the Borrower;  

(f) the execution and delivery by the Borrower of, and compliance with the provisions of, 
the Related Documents to which it is a party in each case do not (i) violate the Organizational 
Documents of the Borrower, (ii) violate the law of the United States of America or of the State or 
(iii) conflict with or constitute a breach of or default under any material agreement or other 
instrument known to such counsel to which the Borrower is a party, or to the best of such counsel’s 
knowledge, after reasonable review, any court order, consent decree, statute, rule, regulation or 
any other law to which the Borrower is subject;  

(g) the Borrower is not an investment company required to register under the Investment 
Company Act of 1940, as amended; and  

(h) to such’s counsel’s knowledge after due inquiry, there are no actions, suits, proceedings 
or investigations against the Borrower by or before any court, arbitrator or any other Governmental 
Authority in connection with the Related Documents or the Project that are pending. 

183



Exhibit H-1 
 

EXHIBIT H-2 
 

OPINIONS REQUIRED FROM BOND COUNSEL TO BORROWER 
 

An opinion of bond counsel to the Borrower, dated as of the Effective Date, to the effect 
that:  

(a) each of the TIFIA Note, this Agreement, the CASA, the LTF Funds Irrevocable 
Instruction and each Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction has been duly authorized, executed, 
and delivered by the Borrower in accordance with the Organizational Documents of the Borrower 
and in compliance with all applicable laws;  

(b) each TIFIA Loan Document is in full force and effect and constitutes the legal, valid, 
and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable in accordance with its respective terms and 
conditions;  

(c) the TIFIA Note is (i) secured by the Collateral, (ii) enforceable under the laws of the 
State without any further action by the Borrower or any other Person, and (iii) is a senior obligation 
of the Borrower and ranks pari passu in right of payment and right of security with all Pari Passu 
Obligations; 

(d) the CASA creates the valid and binding assignment and pledge (as applicable) of the 
Collateral to secure the payment of the principal of, interest on, and other amounts payable in 
respect of, the TIFIA Note, irrespective of whether any party has notice of the pledge or grant of 
security interest, as applicable, and without the need for any physical delivery, recordation, filing 
or further act and no filing, recordation or any other action is necessary to establish and perfect a 
legal, valid, binding, and enforceable Lien on the Collateral in favor of the Collateral Agent (for 
the benefit of the Secured Lenders) to the extent contemplated by the TIFIA Loan Documents;  

(e) all actions by the Borrower that are required for the use of Revenues as required under 
the CASA and under the TIFIA Loan Agreement have been duly and lawfully made;  

(f) the Borrower has complied with the requirements of State law, including the 
Authorizing Legislation, to lawfully assign and pledge (as applicable) the Collateral and use the 
Revenues as required by the terms of the TIFIA Loan Agreement; and 

(g) the Borrower is not entitled to claim governmental immunity in any breach of contract 
action under the TIFIA Loan Agreement or the TIFIA Note or by the Collateral Agent under the 
CASA. 

184



Exhibit I-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT I 
 

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF COLLATERAL AGENT 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
 

TIFIA Note, 
Vine Transit Maintenance Facility Project 

(TIFIA – [____________]) 
 

The undersigned, U.S. Bank National Association (the “Collateral Agent”), by its duly 
appointed, qualified and acting [__________], certifies with respect to the above referenced note 
(the “TIFIA Note”) dated as of [________], 2021, as follows (capitalized terms used in this 
Certificate which are not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to such terms in the 
CASA (as defined below)): 

1. That the Collateral Agent is a national banking association duly organized and validly 
existing under the laws of the United States of America and is duly licensed and in good 
standing under the laws of the United States of America. 

2. All approvals, consents and orders of any governmental authority or agency having 
jurisdiction in the matter which would constitute a condition precedent to the performance 
by the Collateral Agent of its duties and obligations under the CASA have been obtained 
by the Collateral Agent and are in full force and effect. 

3. That the CASA was executed by one or more of the persons whose names and offices 
appear on Annex One attached hereto and made part hereof, that each person was at the 
time of the execution of the CASA and now is duly appointed, qualified and acting 
incumbent of his or her respective office, that each such person was authorized to execute 
the CASA, and that the signature appearing after the name of each such person is a true 
and correct specimen of that person’s genuine signature. 

4. That the undersigned is authorized to act as Collateral Agent, to establish and maintain the 
Project Accounts and to accept the Revenues that have been or will be conveyed to it under 
the CASA, has accepted the Revenues so conveyed and in so accepting the Revenues and 
so acting has not and will not violate any provision of its articles of association or bylaws, 
any law, regulation or court or administrative order or any agreement or other instrument 
to which it is a party or by which it may be bound. 

5. That attached to this Certificate as Annex Two is a full, true and correct copy of excerpts 
from resolutions of the board of directors of the Collateral Agent and other applicable 
documents that evidence the Collateral Agent’s powers to enter into the CASA and to fulfill 
its obligations under the CASA and the TIFIA Loan Agreement and the authority of the 
officers referred to above to act on behalf of the Collateral Agent; and that these excerpts 
and other applicable documents were in effect on the date or dates such officers acted and 
remain in full force and effect today, and such excerpts and documents have not been 
amended since the date of the last amendment thereto shown on any such copy, as 
applicable. 

185



Exhibit I-2 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

6. That receipt is acknowledged of all instruments, certifications and other documents or 
confirmations required to be received by the Collateral Agent pursuant to that certain 
Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement (the “CASA”), dated as of [________], 2021 
by and among the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (the “Borrower”), Pacific 
Western Bank, the TIFIA Noteholder (as defined below), the Collateral Agent, the 
Securities Intermediary (as defined therein), and the other secured parties party thereto 
from time to time. 

7. That receipt is also acknowledged of that certain TIFIA Loan Agreement, dated as of 
[________], 2021 (the “TIFIA Loan Agreement”), between the Borrower and the United 
States Department of Transportation, acting by and through the Executive Director of the 
Build America Bureau (the “TIFIA Noteholder”).  

8. That the Collateral Agent also accepts its appointment and agrees to perform the duties and 
responsibilities of Collateral Agent for and in respect of the TIFIA Note as set forth in the 
CASA and the TIFIA Loan Agreement.  In accepting such duties and responsibilities, the 
Collateral Agent shall be entitled to all of the privileges, immunities, rights and protections 
set forth in Article II of the CASA. 

9. That the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, 
and the other Project Accounts to be established on or prior to the date hereof pursuant to 
the terms of the CASA, have been established as provided in the CASA. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  

186



Exhibit I-3 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Dated: [_________], 2021 
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
 
By:    
 Its:   

187



Exhibit I-4 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

ANNEX ONE TO EXHIBIT I 
 

OFFICERS OF COLLATERAL AGENT 
 

188



Exhibit I-5 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 
ANNEX TWO TO EXHIBIT I 

 
RESOLUTIONS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF COLLATERAL AGENT 

189



 Exhibit J-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 
EXHIBIT J 

 
FORM OF BORROWER’S OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE 

 

Reference is made to that certain TIFIA Loan Agreement, dated as of [________], 2021 
(the “TIFIA Loan Agreement”), by and among the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (the 
“Borrower”) and the United States Department of Transportation, acting by and through the 
Executive Director of the Build America Bureau (the “TIFIA Lender”).  Capitalized terms used in 
this certificate and not defined shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

The undersigned, [___], as Borrower’s Authorized Representative, does hereby certify on behalf 
of the Borrower and not in his/her personal capacity, as of the date hereof:  

(a) pursuant to Section 12(a)(ii) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, (i) attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 are complete and fully executed copies of 
each Other Financing Document, together with any amendments, waivers or modifications 
thereto, in each case that has been entered into on or prior to the Effective Date, and each 
such agreement is in full force and effect, and all conditions contained in such documents 
to the closing of the transactions contemplated thereby have been fulfilled or effectively 
waived by the TIFIA Lender in its sole discretion and (ii) attached hereto as Exhibit A-2 
are complete and fully executed copies of the FTA Master Agreements, together with any 
amendments, waivers or modifications thereto, in each case that is in effect as of the 
Effective Date, and each such agreement is in full force and effect;  

(b) pursuant to Section 12(a)(vii) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit B is an incumbency certificate that lists all persons, 
together with their positions and specimen signatures, who are duly authorized by the 
Borrower to execute the TIFIA Loan Documents, and who have been appointed a 
Borrower’s Authorized Representative in accordance with Section 25 (Borrower’s 
Authorized Representative) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement; 

(c) the aggregate of all committed sources of funds shown in the Base Case Financial Model 
and in the Project Budget to pay Total Project Costs have been fully and completely 
committed and allocated to the Borrower by the providers thereof and such funds shall be 
sufficient to pay all Total Project Costs necessary to achieve Substantial Completion; 

(d) pursuant to Section 12(a)(ix) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit C are true, correct and complete copies of each 
Construction-Related Contract and any related performance security instruments, in each 
case that has been executed on or prior to the Effective Date (as listed below), and each 
such Construction-Related Contract is in full force and effect and has not been amended, 
amended and restated, modified or supplemented except as listed below and attached hereto 
as part of Exhibit C: 

190



 Exhibit J-2 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

1. [Construction-Related Contracts] 

(e) the Borrower has obtained all Governmental Approvals necessary to commence 
construction of the Project and each such Governmental Approval is final and non-
appealable and in full force and effect (and is not subject to any notice of violation, breach 
or revocation); 

(f) pursuant to Section 12(a)(xi) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit D is the Base Case Financial Model, which Base 
Case Financial Model (i) demonstrates that the Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio for 
each Calculation Period through the Final Maturity Date is at least equal to 2.00:1.00, and 
(ii) demonstrates that Revenues in each Calculation Period through the Final Maturity Date 
are projected to be sufficient to satisfy all of the Borrower’s funding obligations pursuant 
to Section 5.03(b) of the CASA;  

(g) pursuant to Section 12(a)(xiii) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, the Borrower hereby certifies that (i) the Borrower is authorized, pursuant to 
the Authorizing Legislation, to pledge, assign, and grant the Liens on the Collateral 
purported to be pledged, assigned, and granted pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents and 
the Other Financing Documents, without the need for notice to any Person, physical 
delivery, recordation, filing or further act, (ii) it has recorded or filed, or caused to be 
recorded or filed, for record in such manner and in such places as are required all 
documents and instruments (other than the UCC-1 financing statements contemplated in 
Section 12(a)(xxiv) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement, 
which will be filed by the TIFIA Lender), and taken or caused to be taken all other actions, 
as are necessary or desirable to establish and enforce the Collateral Agent’s Lien on the 
Collateral (for the benefit of the Secured Parties) to the extent contemplated by the TIFIA 
Loan Documents, the Other Financing Documents or the Authorizing Legislation, and (iii) 
it has paid, or caused to be paid, all taxes and filing fees that are due and payable in 
connection with the execution, delivery or recordation of any TIFIA Loan Document, any 
Other Financing Document or any instruments, certificates or financing statements in 
connection with the foregoing; 

(h) pursuant to Section 12(a)(xiv) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, the Borrower hereby certifies that it has (i) complied with all applicable 
requirements of the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies 
Act of 1970 (42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.) and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 
U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.) and, if previously requested by the TIFIA Lender, has provided 
sufficient evidence of such compliance and (ii) complied with the requirements of 2 CFR 
§§ 180.300 and 180.330 and, if previously requested by the TIFIA Lender, has provided 
sufficient evidence of such compliance;  

(i) pursuant to Section 12(a)(xiv) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit E is a true, correct and complete copy of the final 
NEPA Determination, which document has not been revoked or amended on or prior to the 
date hereof; 

191



 Exhibit J-3 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(j) pursuant to Section 12(a)(xvi) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, (i) the Borrower’s Federal Employer Identification Number is [______] and 
attached hereto as Exhibit F-1 is evidence thereof, (ii) the Borrower’s Data Universal 
Numbering System number is [_____], and (iii) the Borrower has registered with, and 
obtained confirmation of active registration status from, the federal System for Award 
Management (www.SAM.gov), and attached hereto as Exhibit F-2 is evidence of each of 
(ii) and (iii); 

(k) pursuant to Section 12(a)(xvii) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit G are true, correct and complete copies of 
certificates of insurance or other acceptable documentation that demonstrate satisfaction of 
the insurance requirements of Section 12(a)(xvii) of the TIFIA Loan Agreement;  

(l) pursuant to Section 12(a)(xviii) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, attached hereto as (i) Exhibit H-1 is a copy of the Borrower’s Organizational 
Documents and the Authorizing Legislation, each as in effect on the Effective Date (and 
certified by the Secretary of State of the State, to the extent applicable), which 
Organizational Documents and Authorizing Legislation are each in full force and effect 
and have not been amended since the date of the last amendment thereto shown in Exhibit 
H-1, (ii) Exhibit H-2 is a copy of all resolutions authorizing the Borrower to execute and 
deliver, and to perform its respective obligations under, the TIFIA Loan Documents to 
which it is a party, and such resolutions have not been subsequently modified, rescinded 
or amended, are in full force and effect in the form adopted, and are the only resolutions 
adopted by the Borrower relating to the matters described therein, and (iii) Exhibit H-3 is 
a copy of such further instruments and documents as are necessary, appropriate or 
advisable to effectuate the foregoing resolutions and to consummate and implement the 
transactions contemplated by such resolutions and the TIFIA Loan Documents; 

(m) the representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in the TIFIA Loan Agreement 
and in each other Related Document to which the Borrower is a party are true and correct 
on and as of the date hereof, except to the extent that such representations and warranties 
expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties were 
true and correct as of such earlier date;  

(n) (i) the maximum principal amount of the TIFIA Loan, together with the amount of any 
other credit assistance provided under the Act to the Borrower, does not exceed forty-nine 
percent (49%) of reasonably anticipated Eligible Project Costs and (ii) as required pursuant 
to § 603(b)(9) of the Act, the total federal assistance provided to the Project, including the 
maximum principal amount of the TIFIA Loan, does not exceed eighty percent (80%) of 
Eligible Project Costs; and 

(o) pursuant to Section 12(a)(i) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit I are complete and fully executed copies of the LTF 
Funds Irrevocable Instruction and each Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction, and each 
such instruction is in full force and effect. 

 

192



 

[Signature Page to Omnibus Certificate of the Borrower] 
 Exhibit J-4 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this certificate as of the date 
first mentioned above. 

 

[________] 

 

By: _______________________________ 
      Name:  
      Title: Authorized Person 22

                                                 
22 To be executed by Borrower’s Authorized Representative. 

193



Exhibit J-5 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 
 

EXHIBIT B TO EXHIBIT J 
 

INCUMBENCY CERTIFICATE 
 

The undersigned certifies that he/she is the [Secretary] of the Napa Valley Transportation 
Authority, a joint powers agency created under the laws of the State of California, (the 
“Borrower”), and as such he/she is authorized to execute this certificate and further certifies that 
the following persons have been elected or appointed, are qualified, and are now acting as officers 
or authorized persons of the Borrower in the capacity or capacities indicated below, and that the 
signatures set forth opposite their respective names are their true and genuine signatures. He/She 
further certifies that any of the officers listed below is authorized to sign agreements and give 
written instructions with regard to any matters pertaining to the TIFIA Loan Documents as the 
Borrower’s Authorized Representative (each as defined in that certain TIFIA Loan Agreement, 
dated as of the date hereof, between the Borrower and the United States Department of 
Transportation, acting by and through the Executive Director of the Build America Bureau): 
 
Name    Title   Signature 
 
 
[_______________] [___________________] ________________________ 
 
[_______________] [___________________] ________________________ 
 
[_______________] [___________________] ________________________ 
 
[_______________] [___________________] ________________________ 
 
[_______________] [___________________] ________________________ 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this certificate as of this _____ 
day of [___], 2021.  

[________] 

 

By: _______________________________ 
      Name:  
      Title:  

194



Exhibit K-1 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 
EXHIBIT K 

 
FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 

[Letterhead of Borrower] 

[Date] 

Build America Bureau 

United States Department of Transportation 

 
Room W12-464 
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE 
Washington, D.C. 20590 
Attention: Director, Office of Credit Programs 

 

 

Project: Napa Valley Transportation Authority Vine Transit Maintenance Facility Project (TIFIA 
– [____________]) 

Dear Director:  

This Notice is provided pursuant to Section 15(g)(i)(A) (Substantial Completion) of that certain 
TIFIA Loan Agreement (the “TIFIA Loan Agreement”), dated as of [________], 2021, by and 
between the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (the “Borrower”) and the United States 
Department of Transportation, acting by and through the Executive Director of the Build America 
Bureau (the “TIFIA Lender”). 

Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms in this Notice have the meanings assigned 
to those terms in the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

I, the undersigned, in my capacity as the Borrower’s Authorized Representative and not in my 
individual capacity, do hereby certify to the TIFIA Lender that:  

(a) on [insert date Substantial Completion requirements were satisfied], the Project satisfied 
each of the requirements for Substantial Completion set forth in the [Insert reference to the 
concession agreement, design-build or similar agreement for the Project]; 

(b) Substantial Completion has been declared under each of the above-referenced agreements 
and copies of the notices of Substantial Completion under such agreements are attached to 
this certification; and 

195



Exhibit K-2 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(c) Substantial Completion, as defined in the TIFIA Loan Agreement, has been achieved.   

       _______________________________ 
 [Borrower’s Authorized Representative] 
 __________________________________ 
 Name: 
 Title: 
 

196



Exhibit L 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT L 
 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE PROHIBITION ON THE USE OF 
APPROPRIATED FUNDS FOR LOBBYING 

 Reference is made to that certain TIFIA Loan Agreement, dated as of [_____], 2021 (the 
“TIFIA Loan Agreement”), by and among Napa Valley Transportation Authority (the 
“Borrower”) and the United States Department of Transportation, acting by and through the 
Executive Director of the Build America Bureau (the “TIFIA Lender”).  Capitalized terms used 
in this certificate and not defined shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement.  The undersigned, on behalf of the  Borrower, hereby certifies, to the best 
of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

(a) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of 
the Borrower, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of 
an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 
Member of Congress in connection with the making of the TIFIA Loan. 

(b) If any funds other than proceeds of the TIFIA Loan have been paid or will be paid 
to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of 
Congress in connection with the TIFIA Loan, the Borrower shall complete and submit Standard 
Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions. 

(c) The Borrower shall require that the language of this certification be included in the 
award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts 
under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and 
disclose accordingly. 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when the 
TIFIA Lender entered into this Agreement.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite to the 
effectiveness of this Agreement imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code.  Any person who 
fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and 
not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

 

Dated: [_________], 2021 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY23 
 
 
By: _______________________________________ 

                                                 
23  To be executed by Borrower’s Authorized Representative. 

197



Exhibit L 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Name: 
Title: 

198



Exhibit M 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT M 
 

FORM OF LTF FUNDS IRREVOCABLE INSTRUCTION 
 
 

[To be inserted.] 

 

199



 

Exhibit N 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT N 
 

FORM OF FAREBOX REVENUE IRREVOCABLE INSTRUCTION 
 
 

[To be inserted.] 

 

200



 

Exhibit O 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT O 

2 CFR Part 170 

I. REPORTING SUBAWARDS AND EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
a. Reporting of first-tier subawards. 

1. Applicability. Unless you are exempt as provided in paragraph (d) below, you 
must report each action that equals or exceeds $30,000 in Federal funds for a subaward to a non-
Federal entity or Federal agency (see definitions in paragraph (e) below). 

2. Where and when to report. 
i. The non-Federal entity or Federal agency must report each obligating 

action described in paragraph (a)(1) above to http://www.fsrs.gov. 
ii. For subaward information, report no later than the end of the month 

following the month in which the obligation was made. (For example, if the obligation was made 
on November 7, 2010, the obligation must be reported by no later than December 31, 2010.) 

3. What to report. You must report the information about each obligating action 
that the submission instructions posted at http://www.fsrs.gov specify. 

b. Reporting total compensation of recipient executives for non-Federal entities. 
1. Applicability and what to report. You must report total compensation for each of 

your five most highly compensated executives for the preceding completed fiscal year, if— 
i. The total Federal funding authorized to date under this TIFIA Loan equals 

or exceeds $30,000 as defined in 2 CFR § 170.320; 
ii. In the preceding fiscal year, you received— 

(A) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenues from Federal 
procurement contracts (and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR § 170.320 (and subawards), and 

(B) $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from Federal 
procurement contracts (and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR § 170.320 (and subawards); and, 

iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation 
of the executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986. (To determine if the public has access to the compensation information, see the U.S. 
Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at 
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.) 

2. Where and when to report. You must report executive total compensation 
described in paragraph (b)(1) above: 

i. As part of your registration profile at https://www.sam.gov. 
ii. By the end of the month following the month of the Effective Date, and 

annually thereafter. 

201



 

Exhibit O 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

c. Reporting of Total Compensation of Subrecipient Executives. 
1. Applicability and what to report. Unless you are exempt as provided in paragraph 

(d) below, for each first-tier non-Federal entity subrecipient under this TIFIA Loan, you shall 
report the names and total compensation of each of the subrecipient’s five most highly 
compensated executives for the subrecipient’s preceding completed fiscal year, if— 

i. In the subrecipient’s preceding fiscal year, the subrecipient received— 
(A) 80 percent or more of its annual gross revenues from Federal 

procurement contracts (and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR § 170.320 (and subawards) and, 

(B) $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from Federal 
procurement contracts (and subcontracts), and Federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act (and subawards); and 

ii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation 
of the executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986. (To determine if the public has access to the compensation information, see the U.S. 
Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at 
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.) 

2. Where and when to report. You must report subrecipient executive total 
compensation described in paragraph (c)(1) above: 

i. To the recipient. 
ii. By the end of the month following the month during which you make the 

subaward. For example, if a subaward is obligated on any date during the month of October of a 
given year (i.e., between October 1 and 31), you must report any required compensation 
information of the subrecipient by November 30 of that year. 

d. Exemptions. If, in the previous tax year, you had gross income, from all sources, under 
$300,000, you are exempt from the requirements to report: 

1. Subawards, and 
2. The total compensation of the five most highly compensated executives of any 

subrecipient. 
e. Definitions. For purposes of this Exhibit P: 

1. Federal Agency means a Federal agency as defined at 5 U.S.C. § 551(1) and 
further clarified by 5 U.S.C. § 552(f). 

2. Non-Federal entity means all of the following, as defined in 2 CFR Part 25: 
i. A Governmental organization, which is a State, local government, or 

Indian tribe; 
ii. A foreign public entity; 
iii. A domestic or foreign nonprofit organization; and, 
iv. A domestic or foreign for-profit organization 

202



 

Exhibit O 
1629161.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

3. Executive means officers, managing partners, or any other employees in 
management positions. 

4. Subaward: 
i. This term means a legal instrument to provide support for the performance 

of any portion of the Project and that you as the Borrower award to an eligible subrecipient. 
ii. The term does not include your procurement of property and services 

needed to carry out the Project (for further explanation, see 2 CFR § 200.331). 
iii. A subaward may be provided through any legal agreement, including an 

agreement that you or a subrecipient considers a contract. 
5. Subrecipient means a non-Federal entity or Federal agency that: 

i. Receives a subaward from you (the recipient) under this TIFIA Loan; and 
ii. Is accountable to you for the use of the Federal funds provided by the 

subaward. 
6. Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the 

executive during the recipient’s or subrecipient’s preceding fiscal year and includes the following 
(for more information see 17 CFR § 229.402(c)(2)). 
 

 

203



ATTACHMENT 4 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 
 

Skadden Draft 6/2/21 

1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

              

DRAFT 

COLLATERAL ACCOUNTS AND SECURITY AGREEMENT 
Dated as of [_________], 2021 

by and among 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, 
as the Borrower, 

BANK OF MARIN, 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,  
an agency of the United States of America acting by and through the Executive Director of 

the Build America Bureau, 
as the TIFIA Lender, 

and 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
as the Collateral Agent and the Securities Intermediary 

              
 

204



 

1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE I GRANT OF LIEN ON COLLATERAL................................................................................... 2 
Section 1.01 Grant of Lien .......................................................................................................... 2 
Section 1.02 Priority of Liens ..................................................................................................... 2 
Section 1.03 Preservation of Liens ............................................................................................. 2 
Section 1.04 Preservation of Collateral ...................................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE II COLLATERAL AGENT ........................................................................................................ 2 
Section 2.01 Appointment .......................................................................................................... 2 
Section 2.02 Duties and Responsibilities. ................................................................................... 2 
Section 2.03 Authorization ......................................................................................................... 4 
Section 2.04 Administrative Actions .......................................................................................... 4 
Section 2.05 Determination of Amounts of Secured Obligations ............................................... 4 
Section 2.06 Employment of Agents .......................................................................................... 5 
Section 2.07 Reliance of Collateral Agent .................................................................................. 5 
Section 2.08 Non-Reliance on Collateral Agent ......................................................................... 6 
Section 2.09 Collateral Agent in Individual Capacity ................................................................ 6 
Section 2.10 Collateral Agent Under No Obligation .................................................................. 6 
Section 2.11 Resignation and Removal; Successor Collateral Agent; Individual 

Collateral Agent ..................................................................................................... 7 
Section 2.12 Books and Records; Reports .................................................................................. 8 
Section 2.13 No Consequential Damages ................................................................................... 9 
Section 2.14 Authorization of Collateral Agent to Recover Compensation, Fees and 

Expenses ................................................................................................................ 9 
Section 2.15 Force Majeure ........................................................................................................ 9 
Section 2.16 Additional Protections ......................................................................................... 10 
Section 2.17 [Reserved] ............................................................................................................ 10 
Section 2.18 Merger of the Collateral Agent ............................................................................ 10 
Section 2.19 Transfer to an Affiliate ........................................................................................ 10 

ARTICLE III BORROWER REMAINS LIABLE ..................................................................................... 10 

ARTICLE IV REASONABLE CARE ....................................................................................................... 10 

ARTICLE V THE PROJECT ACCOUNTS ............................................................................................... 11 
Section 5.01 Establishment of Project Accounts and Other Accounts ..................................... 11 
Section 5.02 [Reserved.] ........................................................................................................... 13 
Section 5.03 Revenue Account ................................................................................................. 13 
Section 5.04 Pari Passu Debt Service Account ......................................................................... 18 
Section 5.05 Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account ........................................................... 18 
Section 5.06 Mandatory Prepayment Account. ........................................................................ 19 
Section 5.07 Funds as Collateral............................................................................................... 20 
Section 5.08 Investment ............................................................................................................ 20 
Section 5.09 Withdrawal and Application of Funds; Priority of Transfers from Project 

Accounts; Event of Default .................................................................................. 21 
Section 5.10 Termination of Project Accounts ......................................................................... 22 
Section 5.11 Securities Intermediary ........................................................................................ 22 

205



ii 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Section 5.12 Inadequately Identified Amounts ......................................................................... 24 
Section 5.13 Tax Reporting ...................................................................................................... 25 

ARTICLE VI COLLATERAL AND REMEDIES ..................................................................................... 25 
Section 6.01 Administration of Collateral. ............................................................................... 25 
Section 6.02 Knowledge of Event of Default ........................................................................... 25 
Section 6.03 Enforcement of Remedies .................................................................................... 25 
Section 6.04 Remedies of the Secured Parties .......................................................................... 26 
Section 6.05 Secured Party Information ................................................................................... 26 
Section 6.06 Application of Proceeds ....................................................................................... 26 
Section 6.07 Reliance on Information ...................................................................................... 28 
Section 6.08 Right of Holders of Secured Obligations to Direct Collateral Agent .................. 28 

ARTICLE VII COMPENSATION, INDEMNITY AND EXPENSES ...................................................... 28 
Section 7.01 Compensation; Fees and Expenses ...................................................................... 28 
Section 7.02 Borrower Indemnification .................................................................................... 29 

ARTICLE VIII TERMINATION ............................................................................................................... 29 

ARTICLE IX ACCESSION ....................................................................................................................... 29 
Section 9.01 Accession Generally ............................................................................................ 29 
Section 9.02 Collateral Agent Instructions ............................................................................... 30 

ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ..................................................................................... 30 
Section 10.01 Further Assurances .............................................................................................. 30 
Section 10.02 Amendments; Waivers ......................................................................................... 30 
Section 10.03 Successors and Assigns ....................................................................................... 30 
Section 10.04 Notices ................................................................................................................. 31 
Section 10.05 Counterparts ......................................................................................................... 32 
Section 10.06 Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial ........................... 33 
Section 10.07 Captions ............................................................................................................... 33 
Section 10.08 Severability .......................................................................................................... 34 
Section 10.09 Collateral Agent's Rights ..................................................................................... 34 
Section 10.10 Patriot Act Notification ........................................................................................ 34 
Section 10.11 Events Occurring on Days That Are Not Business Days..................................... 35 

  

206



iii 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT A  Definitions and Rules of Interpretation 

EXHIBIT B Form of Funds Transfer Certificate 

EXHIBIT C Incumbency Certificate 

EXHIBIT D Form of Accession Agreement 

207



1 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

COLLATERAL ACCOUNTS AND SECURITY AGREEMENT 

This COLLATERAL ACCOUNTS AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (including any supplements 
and amendments hereafter, this "Agreement"), dated as of [_________], 2021 is made by and among Napa 
Valley Transportation Authority, a California joint powers agency (the "Borrower"), Bank of Marin, a 
California state-chartered bank, as lender under the BOM Loan Agreement (defined below) (including its 
successors and assigns, "BOM"), the United States Department of Transportation, an agency of the United 
States of America, acting by and through the Executive Director of the Build America Bureau, in its 
capacity as lender under the TIFIA Loan Agreement (defined below) (including its successors and assigns, 
the "TIFIA Lender"), U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, in its capacity as 
collateral agent on behalf of itself and the other Secured Parties (in such capacity (including its successors 
and assigns), the "Collateral Agent"), U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, in 
its capacity as Securities Intermediary (as defined herein) and each other Secured Party that accedes to this 
Agreement in accordance with Article IX hereto.  All capitalized terms used herein that are defined in the 
UCC (as defined in Exhibit A hereto) are used herein as defined therein; all other capitalized terms used 
herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in Exhibit A 
hereto.  The rules of interpretation set forth in Exhibit A hereto shall apply to this Agreement. 

RECITALS 

A. The Borrower deems it necessary and appropriate to provide for the financing of a new 
transit vehicle operations and maintenance facility to be constructed and owned by the Borrower and located 
at 96 and 101 Sheehy Court, Napa, California 94558 in the City of Napa, California (the "Project"). 

B. Pursuant to that certain [Credit Agreement], dated as of [_______], 2021 (the "BOM Loan 
Agreement"), by and between the Borrower and BOM, BOM has agreed to make a loan (the "BOM Loan") 
to the Borrower, the proceeds of which will be used to finance a portion of the costs of the Project. 

C. Pursuant to that certain TIFIA Loan Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (the "TIFIA 
Loan Agreement"), between the Borrower and the TIFIA Lender, the TIFIA Lender has agreed to make a 
loan (the "TIFIA Loan") to the Borrower on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, the 
proceeds of which will be used to finance a portion of the costs of the Project. 

D. BOM and the TIFIA Lender wish to appoint U.S. Bank National Association, a national 
banking association, as Collateral Agent and Securities Intermediary under this Agreement, and the 
Collateral Agent wishes to set forth the terms on which it shall accept such appointment and shall undertake 
to perform certain duties on behalf of all Secured Parties with respect thereto. 

E. In consideration of the extensions of credit under the BOM Loan Agreement and under the 
TIFIA Loan Agreement, and other accommodations of BOM set forth in the BOM Loan Agreement and of 
the TIFIA Lender under the TIFIA Loan Agreement, respectively, the Borrower has agreed to secure its 
obligations under the Finance Documents as set forth herein. 

F. In order to facilitate the closing of the TIFIA Loan and BOM Loan, the parties hereto desire 
to enter into this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as 
follows: 

208



2 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

ARTICLE I 
GRANT OF LIEN ON COLLATERAL 

Section 1.01 Grant of Lien.  In order to secure the prompt, irrevocable and indefeasible 
payment and performance in full when due of the Secured Obligations (whether now existing or hereafter 
arising and howsoever evidenced, and whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration, on any optional or 
mandatory prepayment date, redemption date or otherwise), (a) the Borrower hereby pledges and grants to 
the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a first priority and continuing Lien on and 
security interest in all right, title and interest of the Borrower, whether now owned or hereafter acquired or 
arising, in and to all Farebox Revenues, whether now earned or hereafter acquired and (b) the Borrower 
hereby grants to the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties as provided herein, a first priority 
and continuing Lien on security interest in all right, title and interest of the Borrower, whether now owned 
or hereafter acquired or arising, in and to the Project Accounts, all security entitlements carried therein, and 
all cash, cash equivalents, Permitted Investments, instruments, Securities and other funds or amounts on 
deposit in the Project Accounts.  

Section 1.02 Priority of Liens.  The Lien and security interests granted pursuant to Section 1.01 
shall be prior in right to any other pledge, Lien or security interest created by the Borrower in any Collateral 
and shall have priority over any other claims against the Collateral.  

Section 1.03 Preservation of Liens. The Borrower shall promptly take any and all steps that 
may be necessary, or that the Collateral Agent may reasonably request (acting on the written instructions 
of the Secured Parties) to maintain the validity, perfection and first priority position of the Lien on the 
Collateral in favor of the Secured Creditors, to enable the Collateral Agent to exercise and enforce its rights, 
remedies, powers and privileges under this Agreement with respect to such Liens.   

Section 1.04 Preservation of Collateral. The Borrower shall defend the right, title and interest 
of the Borrower in and to the Collateral against the claims of any other Person. 

ARTICLE II 
COLLATERAL AGENT 

Section 2.01 Appointment.  U.S. Bank National Association is hereby appointed as collateral 
agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties with respect to the Liens in the Collateral and the rights and 
remedies granted pursuant to the Security Documents.  The Collateral Agent hereby accepts such 
appointment and agrees to act as Collateral Agent in the manner contemplated herein and in the Security 
Documents.  The Collateral Agent is hereby authorized and directed to act in strict accordance with the 
terms of this Agreement (notwithstanding any contrary provision in any other Security Document) with 
respect to Enforcement Actions or the application of any Collateral or the Proceeds thereof.  The Collateral 
Agent hereby accepts and agrees to, and the Borrower hereby acknowledges and consents to, the foregoing 
authorization and direction.  Any party that shall become a Secured Party after the date hereof pursuant to 
the terms hereof shall be deemed to have so acknowledged and consented to such appointment, 
authorization and direction of the Collateral Agent by the Secured Parties set forth in this Section 2.01. 

Section 2.02 Duties and Responsibilities. 

(a) Subject to the terms hereof, the Collateral Agent agrees, for the benefit of the 
Secured Parties, to administer and enforce this Agreement and any other Security Documents to which it is 
a party as Collateral Agent, and, among other remedies, to foreclose upon, collect and dispose of the 
Collateral and to apply the Proceeds therefrom, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, as provided herein, 
and otherwise to perform its duties and obligations as the Collateral Agent hereunder and thereunder in 

209



3 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

accordance with the terms hereof and thereof; provided, however, that the Collateral Agent shall have no 
duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth herein or in any other Security Documents to 
which it is a party, and no implied covenants or obligations, fiduciary or otherwise, shall be read into this 
Agreement or any such other Security Documents against the Collateral Agent. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Collateral Agent 
shall not be required to exercise any discretion or take any discretionary action but shall only be required 
to act or refrain from acting (and shall be fully protected in so acting or refraining from acting) upon the 
written instructions of the Required Creditors, and such instructions shall be binding upon the Collateral 
Agent and each of the Secured Parties; provided, however, that the written instructions of all of the Secured 
Parties shall be required where expressly provided for herein; provided, further, that the Collateral Agent 
shall not be required to take any action which is contrary to any provision hereof or of the other Finance 
Documents to which the Collateral Agent is a party or applicable Law.  

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Security Documents, in no event shall 
the Collateral Agent be required to foreclose on, or take possession of, any Collateral, if, in the reasonable 
judgment of the Collateral Agent, such action would be in violation of any applicable Law, rule or 
regulation pertaining thereto, or if the Collateral Agent reasonably believes that such action would result in 
the incurrence of liability by the Collateral Agent for which it is not fully indemnified by the Borrower 
pursuant to Sections 2.10 and 7.02 hereof. 

(d) The Collateral Agent shall not be responsible to the other Secured Parties for 
(i) any recitals, statements, representations or warranties by the Borrower or any of the Secured Parties 
(other than its own) contained in this Agreement or the other Finance Documents, or any certificate or other 
document delivered by the Borrower or any of the other Secured Parties thereunder, (ii) the value, validity, 
effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability (other than as to the Collateral Agent with respect to such 
documents to which the Collateral Agent is a party) or sufficiency of this Agreement or any other document 
referred to or provided for herein or therein or of the Collateral held by the Collateral Agent under the 
Security Documents, (iii) the performance or observance by the Borrower or any of the Secured Parties 
(other than as to itself) of any of their respective agreements contained herein or therein, nor shall the 
Collateral Agent be liable to the other Secured Parties because of the invalidity or unenforceability of any 
provisions of this Agreement (other than as to itself) or (iv) the validity, perfection, priority or enforceability 
of the Liens on any of the Collateral, whether impaired by operation of law or by reason of any action or 
omission to act on its part hereunder (except to the extent such action or omission constitutes gross 
negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on the part of the Collateral Agent), the validity of the title of 
the Borrower to the Collateral owned by the Borrower, insuring the Collateral or the payment of Taxes, 
charges, assessments on the Collateral or otherwise as to the maintenance of the Collateral. 

(e) Except when a mandatory action is required by the Collateral Agent under the 
Security Documents, the Collateral Agent may at any time request written instructions from the Required 
Creditors as to a course of action to be taken by it hereunder and under any of the Security Documents or 
in connection herewith and therewith or any other matters relating hereto and thereto.  The Required 
Creditors shall promptly reply to any such request and the Collateral Agent shall be fully justified in failing 
or refusing to take any such action if it shall not have received such written instruction of the Required 
Creditors.  This provision is intended solely for the benefit of the Collateral Agent and its successors and 
permitted assigns and is not intended to and will not entitle the other parties hereto to any defense, claim or 
counterclaim, or confer any rights or benefits on any other party hereto. 

(f) None of the Collateral Agent, the Securities Intermediary or any of their directors, 
officers, employees or agents shall be liable or responsible to the other Secured Parties for any action taken 

210



4 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

or omitted to be taken by it or them hereunder or in connection herewith, except for its or their own gross 
negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct.  

Section 2.03 Authorization.  The Collateral Agent is hereby authorized to (a) execute, deliver, 
and perform in such capacity under this Agreement and each other Finance Document to which the 
Collateral Agent is or is intended to be a party, (b) exercise and enforce any and all rights, powers and 
remedies provided to the Collateral Agent under this Agreement, any other Finance Document to which the 
Collateral Agent is a party or is a third party beneficiary, any applicable Law, or any other document, 
instrument, or agreement to which the Collateral Agent is a party or a third party beneficiary, in each case 
in accordance with the terms thereof, and (c) take any other action under and in accordance with this 
Agreement and any other Finance Document to which the Collateral Agent is a party reasonably incidental 
to the foregoing or in order to facilitate the issuance of new Secured Obligations permitted under, and in 
accordance with, each of the Finance Documents, including executing documents to which it is intended to 
be a party, and amendments, modifications and supplements to the Finance Documents to which it is a 
party, in each case, that do not adversely affect the rights of the existing Secured Creditors or the Liens on 
the Collateral held for the benefit of the existing Secured Creditors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Collateral Agent shall not commence an Enforcement Action except in accordance with written instructions 
given by the Required Creditors (acting in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; provided, that if 
the Collateral Agent is prohibited by any court order or applicable Law from commencing any Enforcement 
Action due to a lack of consent or direction of or from the Required Creditors, the Collateral Agent shall 
seek the requisite authority from, or joinder of, the Required Creditors to commence such Enforcement 
Action but shall not be obligated to commence such Enforcement Action until such authority is obtained.  
All decisions with respect to the type of Enforcement Action which is to be commenced shall be made by, 
and all actions with respect to prosecution and settlement of such Enforcement Action shall require the 
written consent of, the Required Creditors (acting in accordance with the terms of this Agreement), and the 
Collateral Agent shall not be required to take any Enforcement Action in the absence of any such written 
consent.  The Collateral Agent shall pursue, and use all commercially reasonable efforts in connection with, 
the prosecution of any Enforcement Action that the Collateral Agent is so authorized or directed to initiate 
pursuant to this Agreement, subject to the terms of this Agreement.  The Collateral Agent shall deliver 
copies of all notices it receives on behalf of any of the Secured Parties or in connection with the Finance 
Documents or the Project to each Secured Creditor promptly upon receipt. 

Section 2.04 Administrative Actions.  The Collateral Agent shall take such action as it deems 
necessary or advisable to perfect or continue the perfection of the Liens on the Collateral held for the benefit 
of the other Secured Parties, subject to the limitations set forth herein, as instructed by the Secured Parties.  
The Collateral Agent shall not release any of the Collateral held by the Collateral Agent for the benefit of 
such Secured Parties, except:  (a) upon payment in full in cash of all of the Secured Obligations; or (b) with 
respect to amounts on deposit in any sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account or the Pari Passu 
Debt Service Reserve Account, upon the written direction of the Secured Party for which such sub-account 
has been established.  Upon the written request by the Collateral Agent or the Borrower at any time, the 
Required Creditors (acting in accordance with the terms of this Agreement) will confirm in writing the 
Collateral Agent's authority to release particular types or items of Collateral pursuant to clause (c) of this 
Section.  At the Borrower's reasonable expense, the Collateral Agent will take all actions necessary, 
including executing documents to which it is intended to be a party, and amendments, modifications and 
supplements to such documents to which it is a party, in each case, to preserve, protect and accept additional 
Collateral for the benefit of the Secured Parties. 

Section 2.05 Determination of Amounts of Secured Obligations.  Upon the written request 
of the Collateral Agent or the Borrower, the Secured Creditors shall promptly deliver to the Collateral Agent 
(with a copy to each other Secured Party that is a party hereto and the Borrower) a certificate, dated the 
date of delivery thereof and signed by each such Secured Creditor, as to (a) the identity and address of any 

211



5 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Secured Creditor (or representative thereof), (b) the principal amount of the Secured Obligations then 
outstanding held by such Secured Creditor (provided, with respect to BOM, such amount shall be the 
aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding BOM Loan and with respect to the TIFIA Lender, such 
amount shall be equal to the aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding TIFIA Loan), (c) in the 
case of any such certificate being delivered in contemplation of the application of amounts received by the 
Collateral Agent in respect of the Collateral pursuant to Article VI hereof, the amount of interest on the 
Secured Obligations owing and any other amounts in respect of the Secured Obligations owing to such 
Secured Party, as the case may be (in the case of any such other amounts, accompanied by appropriate 
evidence thereof), and/or (d) in the event that any of the Secured Obligations shall have become or been 
declared to be due and payable, (whether at stated maturity, by required prepayment, redemption, 
declaration, acceleration, demand or otherwise), the principal amount of such Secured Obligations then due 
and payable to such Secured Party, as the case may be (to the extent that such information is different from 
that provided in clause (b) above); provided that each such Secured Party shall have not less than fifteen 
(15) days from receipt of such copy of such certificate to review any such certificate and provide any 
objections with respect thereto to the Collateral Agent.  Absent receipt of notice of such objections from a 
Secured Party, the Collateral Agent shall be entitled to rely on certifications received by it in accordance 
with the above for the purposes of determining the amount of the Secured Obligations then outstanding 
held by such Secured Party; provided, that in the absence of the Collateral Agent's receipt of any 
certification requested by it pursuant to this sentence, the Collateral Agent shall be entitled (but not 
obligated) to take such action if the Collateral Agent shall have sufficient knowledge (acting reasonably) to 
make any determination required to be made in connection with such action. 

Section 2.06 Employment of Agents.  The Collateral Agent may, at the Borrower's reasonable 
cost and expense, employ or retain such counsel, accountants, appraisers or other experts or advisers as it 
may reasonably require for the purpose of determining and discharging its rights and duties hereunder and, 
in the absence of the Collateral Agent's gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct in employing or 
retaining, or relying on, any such counsel, accountants, appraisers, experts or advisors, may act and rely 
and shall be fully protected in acting and relying in good faith on the opinion or advice of or information 
obtained from any counsel, accountant, appraiser or other expert or advisor, whether retained or employed 
by the Borrower or by the Collateral Agent, in relation to any matter arising in the administration hereof or 
in the determination or discharging of its rights and duties hereunder, and shall not be responsible to 
Borrower for any act or omission on the part of any of them or for acting or relying in good faith on the 
opinion, advice or information obtained from such expert or advisor; provided, however, that except in 
connection with actions taken by the Collateral Agent in connection with the exercise of its rights under 
Section 10.09(b) or in the case of an actual or asserted Event of Default under the Finance Documents that 
has occurred and is continuing, the Collateral Agent shall not be entitled to incur any costs or expenses of 
the scope contemplated in this Section 2.06 in excess of $2,000 without the prior approval of the Borrower.  
In addition, the Collateral Agent shall not be liable to Borrower for any acts or omissions of its nominees, 
correspondents, designees, agents, subagents or subcustodians as it may reasonably require for the purpose 
of discharging its ministerial duties hereunder, and the Collateral Agent shall not be liable to Borrower 
hereunder in excess of its recourse under contract or law with regards to such third party nominees, 
correspondents, designees, agents, subagents or subcustodians for any acts or omissions of such persons 
except to the extent of its gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct in nominating, appointing, 
directing or instructing such Persons and so long as such Persons are permitted to act hereunder. 

Section 2.07 Reliance of Collateral Agent.  In connection with the performance of its duties 
hereunder, the Collateral Agent shall be entitled to rely conclusively upon, and shall be fully protected in 
acting or refraining from acting in accordance with, any written certification, notice, instrument, opinion, 
request, consent, order, approval, direction or other written communication (including any thereof by 
facsimile or electronic communication) of or from the Required Creditors (including, but not limited to, 
instructions under Section 2.02) or of or from any other Secured Party that is a party hereto (to the extent 

212



6 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

not in violation of the terms hereof or of the other Finance Documents), which the Collateral Agent in good 
faith reasonably believes to be genuine and to have been signed or sent by or on behalf of the proper Person 
or Persons, and it shall be entitled to rely conclusively upon the due execution, validity and effectiveness, 
and the truth, correctness and acceptability of, any provisions contained therein.  The Collateral Agent shall 
not have any responsibility hereunder to make any investigation into the facts or matters stated in any notice, 
certificate, instrument, demand, request, direction, instruction, or other communication furnished to it.  
Whenever this Agreement (or any other Finance Document) specifies that any instruction, direction or 
consent by the Required Creditors is to be given in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the 
Collateral Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any such instruction, direction or consent by the Required 
Creditors (which instruction, direction or consent need not state that it is given in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement), and the Collateral Agent may presume without investigation that any such instruction, 
direction or consent by the Required Creditors has been given in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement and the other applicable Finance Documents. The Required Creditors shall give any instruction, 
direction or consent required to be given by it to the Collateral Agent in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement. 

Section 2.08 Non-Reliance on Collateral Agent.  Each Secured Party that is a party hereto 
hereby expressly acknowledges that neither the Collateral Agent nor any of its officers, directors, 
employees, agents, attorneys-in-fact or Affiliates has made any representations or warranties to it and that 
no act by the Collateral Agent (other than any explicit written representation or warranty made by the 
Collateral Agent) hereafter taken shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by the 
Collateral Agent to such Secured Party or the Borrower.  Except for any notices, reports and other 
documents expressly required to be maintained by the Collateral Agent or furnished to the other Secured 
Parties or to any Farebox Bank by the Collateral Agent hereunder, the Collateral Agent shall not have any 
duty or responsibility to provide any other Secured Party with any credit or other information concerning 
the business, operations, property, condition (financial or other), prospects or creditworthiness of the 
Borrower.  Except to the extent it has made or renewed any Secured Obligations as permitted under Section 
2.09, U.S. Bank National Association is entering into this Agreement and any other Security Documents 
solely in its capacity as Collateral Agent and as Securities Intermediary and not in its individual capacity 
and in no case shall U.S. Bank National Association (or any Person acting as successor Collateral Agent 
under this Agreement) be personally liable for or on account of any of the statements, representations, 
warranties, covenants or obligations of the Borrower (as applicable) hereunder or thereunder, all such 
liability, if any, being expressly waived by the parties hereto and any Person claiming by, through or under 
such party.  This Section 2.08 shall survive the payment of all Secured Obligations.  Except as provided in 
Section 2.12(c) hereof, the Collateral Agent shall have no obligation and shall incur no obligation for its 
failure to monitor or verify the filing of financing statements (or amendments or continuations thereto) and 
the information contained therein.  

Section 2.09 Collateral Agent in Individual Capacity.  The Collateral Agent and its Affiliates 
may make loans to, issue letters of credit in favor of, accept deposits from and generally engage in any kind 
of business with the Borrower and its Affiliates as though the Collateral Agent were not the Collateral 
Agent hereunder and under any Security Documents.  With respect to Secured Obligations made or renewed 
by it and any Additional Pari Passu Debt or Notes issued to it, if any, the Collateral Agent shall have the 
same rights and powers under this Agreement and the Finance Documents as any other Secured Party and 
may exercise the same as though it were not the Collateral Agent, and the term "Secured Party" shall include 
the Collateral Agent in its individual capacity. 

Section 2.10 Collateral Agent Under No Obligation.  None of the provisions of this 
Agreement or any other Security Documents shall be construed to require the Collateral Agent to expend 
or risk its own funds or otherwise to incur any personal liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance 
of any of its duties hereunder or thereunder.  The Collateral Agent shall be under no obligation to exercise 

213



7 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

any of the rights or powers vested in it by the Security Documents unless the Collateral Agent shall have 
been offered and accepted security or indemnity from the Borrower reasonably satisfactory to it against the 
costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred by it in exercising such rights or powers (including 
interest thereon from the time incurred until reimbursed); provided, however, that for purposes of this 
Section 2.10, the indemnification provided to the Collateral Agent by the Borrower pursuant to Section 
7.02 is hereby acknowledged as acceptable.   

Section 2.11 Resignation and Removal; Successor Collateral Agent; Individual Collateral 
Agent.  

(a) Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor Collateral Agent as 
provided below, the Collateral Agent may resign at any time by giving at least thirty (30) days' prior written 
notice thereof to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto and the Borrower, and the Collateral Agent 
may be removed at any time with or without cause by the Required Creditors (acting in accordance with 
the terms of this Agreement and the other applicable Finance Documents) upon thirty (30) days' written 
notice thereof to the Collateral Agent, the other Secured Parties that are parties and the Borrower unless a 
shorter period of notice is required by the Secured Parties.  Upon any such resignation or removal, the 
Required Creditors (acting in accordance with the terms of this Agreement) shall have the right to appoint 
a successor Collateral Agent which, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, shall be 
reasonably acceptable to the Borrower.   

(b) If no successor Collateral Agent shall have been so appointed by the Required 
Creditors within thirty (30) days after the retiring Collateral Agent's giving of notice of resignation or the 
removal of the retiring Collateral Agent by the Required Creditors in accordance with clause (a) above, 
then the retiring Collateral Agent may, on behalf of the Secured Parties, apply, at the reasonable expense 
of the Borrower, to a court of competent jurisdiction (with notice to each Secured Creditor and the 
Borrower) for the appointment of a successor Collateral Agent.  In all such cases, the successor Collateral 
Agent shall (i) be a bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof that 
has an office in the State of New York and which agrees to administer the Collateral in accordance with the 
terms hereof and of any other Security Documents and the unsecured long-term debt of which shall be rated 
no lower than ‘A’, ‘A2’ or the equivalent rating from each Nationally Recognized Rating Agency that 
provides a rating on such bank’s unsecured long-term debt, (ii) have a total capital stock and unimpaired 
surplus of not less than $500,000,000, and (iii) so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing, be reasonably acceptable to the Borrower.  If at any time the Collateral Agent shall fail to meet 
such requirements and qualifications set forth in the sentence above, the Collateral Agent shall promptly 
provide notice of such failure to the Borrower and the other Secured Parties. U.S. Bank National 
Association hereby represents and confirms that it meets the qualifications provided in the second sentence 
of this clause (b).  Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Collateral Agent hereunder by a successor 
Collateral Agent, such successor Collateral Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all 
the rights, powers, privileges, obligations and duties of the retiring Collateral Agent, and the retiring 
Collateral Agent shall be discharged from its duties and responsibilities hereunder arising thereafter.  After 
any retiring Collateral Agent's resignation or removal hereunder as Collateral Agent, the provisions of this 
Agreement (including Sections 2.14, 7.01 and 7.02) shall continue in effect for its benefit in respect of any 
actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was acting as the Collateral Agent. For the avoidance of 
doubt, no resignation or removal pursuant to this Section 2.11 shall be effective until (i) a successor for the 
Collateral Agent has been appointed in accordance with (and subject to) the provisions of this Section 2.11, 
(ii) the resigning or removed Collateral Agent has transferred to its successor all of its rights and obligations 
in its capacity as the Collateral Agent under this Agreement and the other Finance Documents, (iii) the 
resigning or removed Collateral Agent has assigned, transferred or delivered, as applicable, all Collateral 
held by it to the successor Collateral Agent, together with all records, instruments and other documents 
necessary or appropriate to execute such assignment, transfer or delivery to the successor Collateral Agent, 

214



8 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(iv) the resigning or removed Collateral Agent has executed and delivered to the successor Collateral Agent 
the amendments to the applicable financing statements, and has taken other actions as may be necessary or 
appropriate, in connection with the assignment, transfer or delivery to the successor Collateral Agent of the 
Liens created under the Security Documents, and (v) the successor Collateral Agent has executed and 
delivered an agreement to be bound by the terms of this Agreement and to perform all duties required of 
the Collateral Agent hereunder and thereunder. 

(c) If at any time the Collateral Agent shall reasonably determine that it shall be 
necessary or appropriate under applicable Law or in order to permit action to be taken hereunder, the 
Collateral Agent and the Borrower (with written notice to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto) 
shall execute and deliver all instruments necessary to appoint any Person as a Co-Collateral Agent ("Co-
Collateral Agent"), with respect to all or any portion of the Collateral, in any case with such powers, rights, 
duties, obligations and immunities conferred upon the Collateral Agent hereunder as may be specified 
therein (but not in excess of or different from those set forth herein for the Collateral Agent).  If the 
Borrower shall refuse to join in the execution of any such instrument within ten (10) Business Days of any 
written request therefor by the Collateral Agent or if any Event of Default shall have occurred and is 
continuing, the Collateral Agent may act under the foregoing provisions without the concurrence of the 
Borrower; and the Borrower hereby irrevocably makes, constitutes and appoints the Collateral Agent as the 
agent and attorney-in-fact for the same to act for it under the provisions of (and in accordance with) this 
paragraph.  

Each Co-Collateral Agent shall, to the extent permitted by Law, be appointed and act subject to the 
following provisions and conditions: 

(i) all rights and powers, conferred or imposed upon the Collateral Agent may 
be conferred or imposed upon and may be exercised or performed by such Co-Collateral Agent as 
specified in the instrument appointing such Co-Collateral Agent; and 

(ii) no Collateral Agent shall be personally liable by reason of any act or 
omission of any other Collateral Agent or Co-Collateral Agent hereunder. 

A Co-Collateral Agent shall not be required to meet the conditions of eligibility under 
Section 2.11(b) if such Co-Collateral Agent holds only an insubstantial amount of the Collateral, as 
determined by the Required Creditors (acting in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the other 
applicable Finance Documents). 

Section 2.12 Books and Records; Reports. 

(a) The Collateral Agent and, if appointed, a Co-Collateral Agent, shall at all times 
keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and accounts in which complete and accurate entries shall 
be made of all transactions relating to the Secured Obligations, Revenues and all Project Accounts 
established pursuant to this Agreement.  Such books of record and accounts shall be available for inspection 
by the Secured Parties that are parties hereto, or their respective agents or representatives duly authorized 
in writing, at reasonable hours and under reasonable circumstances and upon reasonable prior written 
request. 

(b) Within fifteen (15) days after the end of each month, the Collateral Agent shall 
furnish to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof and the 
Borrower, a report (which may be in the form of the customary account statements of the Collateral Agent) 
that shall set forth in reasonable detail the account balances, receipts, disbursements, transfers, investment 

215



9 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

transactions, and accruals for each of the Project Accounts during such month.  If available from the 
Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent shall provide electronic statements upon request of the Borrower. 

(c) Within sixty (60) days after the end of each calendar year, the Collateral Agent 
shall furnish to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof and the 
Borrower, a report (which may be in the form of the customary account statements of the Collateral Agent) 
setting forth in reasonable detail the account balances, receipts, disbursements, transfers, investment 
transactions, and accruals for each of the Project Accounts during the preceding year.  The Collateral Agent 
shall provide electronic statements upon request of the Borrower. 

(d) The Collateral Agent shall maintain records of all receipts, disbursements, and 
investments of funds with respect to the Project Accounts until the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date on 
which all of the Secured Obligations shall have been paid in full. 

(e) On or prior to the date that is six (6) months prior to the expiration date of any 
UCC financing statement that has been filed with respect to the Collateral for which Collateral Agent is 
secured party and is known to the Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent shall provide the other Secured 
Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof and the Borrower notice of the impending 
expiration date.  The Borrower shall provide the Collateral Agent and the other Secured Parties that are 
parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof evidence that the required continuation statement has been 
properly and timely filed promptly following such filing.  This clause (e) is not intended to modify the 
responsibility of, the liability of, or provide a defense to, the Borrower under any Finance Document with 
respect to the filing of continuation statements or the maintenance of the Collateral Agent's perfected 
security interest in the Collateral with the priority contemplated by the Finance Documents. 

Section 2.13 No Consequential Damages.  In no event shall the Collateral Agent or the 
Securities Intermediary be liable to Borrower or the other Secured Parties under or in connection with the 
Finance Documents for indirect, special, incidental, punitive or consequential losses or damages of any 
kind whatsoever, including but not limited to lost profits, whether or not foreseeable, even if the Collateral 
Agent and/or Securities Intermediary has been advised of the possibility thereof and regardless of the form 
of action in which such damages are sought. 

Section 2.14 Authorization of Collateral Agent to Recover Compensation, Fees and 
Expenses.  To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required to be paid by it to the Collateral 
Agent pursuant to Sections 7.01 and 7.02 hereof and after the delivery of written notice of such failure to 
the Borrower, the Collateral Agent is hereby authorized to transfer funds to reimburse itself for such 
amounts out of the Revenue Account.  The provisions of this Section 2.14 shall survive the termination of 
the Finance Documents and the resignation or removal of the Collateral Agent until the amounts required 
to be paid to the applicable Collateral Agent pursuant to Sections 7.01 and 7.02 hereof are paid in full. 

Section 2.15 Force Majeure.  In no event shall the Collateral Agent be responsible or liable to 
the Borrower or the other Secured Parties for any failure or delay in the performance of its obligations 
hereunder arising out of or caused by, directly or indirectly, forces beyond its control, including strikes, 
work stoppages, accidents, acts of war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, nuclear or natural 
catastrophes or acts of God, epidemics, pandemics, and interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, 
communications or computer (software and hardware) services not within the Collateral Agent's control, 
the unavailability of the Federal Reserve Bank wire or facsimile or other wire or communication facility; it 
being understood that the Collateral Agent shall use reasonable efforts which are consistent with accepted 
practices in the banking industry to resume performance as soon as practicable under the circumstances. 

216



10 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Section 2.16 Additional Protections.  The rights, privileges, protections and benefits given to 
the Collateral Agent or the Securities Intermediary, as the case may be, including its rights to be 
indemnified, are extended to, and shall be enforceable by, each agent, custodian and other Person employed 
to act hereunder by the Collateral Agent or the Securities Intermediary, as the case may be, including any 
Co-Collateral Agent, to the extent permitted to be so employed in accordance with the terms hereof; 
provided, however, that all such rights, privileges, protections and benefits are subject to the same limits 
and conditions imposed upon the Collateral Agent or the Securities Intermediary, as the case may be. 

Section 2.17 [Reserved].  

Section 2.18 Merger of the Collateral Agent.  Any corporation or company into which the 
Collateral Agent shall be merged, or with which it shall be consolidated, or any corporation or company 
resulting from any merger or consolidation to which the Collateral Agent shall be a party, shall be the 
Collateral Agent under this Agreement, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on 
the part of the parties hereto, provided, that such resulting corporation or company shall meet the 
requirements of Section 2.11(b).  Upon the occurrence of any such event the Collateral Agent shall 
promptly provide written notice thereof to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant 
representatives thereof and the Borrower. 

Section 2.19 Transfer to an Affiliate.  In addition to any rights it may have under Section 2.18 
hereof or under any other provision of this Agreement or any other Security Document, each of the 
Collateral Agent and the Securities Intermediary may assign or transfer its rights under this Agreement and 
any other Security Documents to any Affiliate that meets the requirements of Section 2.11(b) subject to the 
prior written consent of the Borrower (so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing) and 
the Required Creditors.   

ARTICLE III 
BORROWER REMAINS LIABLE 

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, (a) the Borrower shall remain liable under its 
contracts and agreements (including the Finance Documents to which it is a party) to its respective 
counterparties to the extent set forth therein to perform all of its duties and obligations thereunder to the 
same extent as if this Agreement had not been executed, (b) the exercise by the Collateral Agent of any of 
the rights hereunder shall not release the Borrower from any of its duties or obligations to its respective 
counterparties under its contracts and agreements, and (c) neither the Collateral Agent nor any of the other 
Secured Parties shall have any obligation or liability to the respective counterparties under the contracts 
and agreements of the Borrower to which the Collateral Agent or any of the other Secured Parties is not a 
party solely by reason of this Agreement, nor shall the Collateral Agent be obligated to perform any of the 
obligations or duties of the Borrower thereunder or to take any action to collect or enforce any claim for 
payment assigned thereunder.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Borrower fails to perform any 
agreement or obligation of the Borrower contained herein relating to the perfection or preservation of the 
Collateral, the Collateral Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) itself perform, or cause performance of, 
such agreement or obligation, and the reasonable and documented expenses of the Collateral Agent incurred 
in connection therewith shall be payable by the Borrower under Article VII hereof. 

ARTICLE IV 
REASONABLE CARE 

The powers conferred on the Collateral Agent hereunder are being conferred solely to protect its interest in 
the Collateral for the benefit of the Secured Parties and shall not impose any duty upon it to exercise any 
such powers unless otherwise expressly provided.  Except for the safe custody and preservation of the 

217



11 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Collateral in its possession, the accounting for monies actually received, transferred or disbursed by it 
hereunder and the obligations pursuant to Section 5.03(g), the Collateral Agent shall have no other duty as 
to the Collateral, whether or not the Collateral Agent or any of the other Secured Parties has or is deemed 
to have knowledge of any matters, or as to the taking of any necessary steps to preserve rights against any 
parties or any other rights pertaining to the Collateral.  The Collateral Agent hereby agrees to exercise 
reasonable care in respect of the custody and preservation of the Collateral.  The Collateral Agent shall be 
deemed to have exercised reasonable care in the custody and preservation of the Collateral in its possession 
if such Collateral is accorded treatment substantially equal to that which the Collateral Agent accords 
property that it customarily holds in the capacity of collateral agent. 

ARTICLE V 
THE PROJECT ACCOUNTS 

Section 5.01 Establishment of Project Accounts and Other Accounts. 

(a) As of the date hereof, the Borrower has established and created the accounts 
identified below with the Securities Intermediary, each in the name of the Borrower (collectively, each such 
account and any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account, including, in each case, any sub-accounts 
established and created from time to time, the "Securities Accounts"; and the Securities Accounts also 
constitute Project Accounts):  

(i) account number [_____________]1 (the “Revenue Account”); 

(ii) the “Pari Passu Debt Service Account”, and within the Pari Passu Debt 
Service Account, the following sub-accounts:  

A. account number [_____________] (the “BOM Debt Service 
Sub-Account”), and within the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, 
the following subaccounts: 

(1)  account number [_____________], the “BOM Interest 
Account”; and 

(2) account number [_____________], the “BOM Principal 
Account”; and 

B. account number [_____________] (the “TIFIA Debt Service 
Sub-Account”), and within the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, 
the following subaccounts:  

(1)  account number [_____________], the “TIFIA Interest 
Account”; and 

(2)  account number [_____________], the “TIFIA Principal 
Account”; and 

(iii) the “Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account”, and within the Pari 
Passu Debt Service Reserve Account, the following sub-accounts: 

                                                      
1  NTD:  All account numbers to be populated once available. 

218



12 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

A. account number [_____________] (the “BOM Debt Service 
Reserve Sub-Account”); and  

B. account number [_____________] (the “TIFIA Debt Service 
Reserve Sub-Account”). 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, upon the written instruction of the Borrower, the 
Securities Intermediary may from time to time hereafter establish and maintain additional sub-accounts 
within the Project Accounts.  Each such sub-account shall be a separately identified account with a separate 
and distinct name and account number and, upon establishment, shall constitute a Project Account 
hereunder.  Each such sub-account shall be for the purposes and the term specified in such instruction, and 
deposits and withdrawals shall be permitted in those circumstances expressly provided for in any such 
instruction, which instructions shall in each case conform to the requirements and limitations applicable to 
the Project Account (including those set forth herein) with respect to which any such sub-account has been 
established.  The Securities Intermediary shall promptly, and in any event prior to establishing any such 
sub-account, provide written notice of any such request or instruction from the Borrower pursuant to this 
paragraph to the Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof. 

(b) Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Accounts 

(i) In connection with the incurrence of any Additional Pari Passu Debt, upon 
the written instruction of the Borrower, the Securities Intermediary may hereafter establish and 
maintain from time to time in the Borrower's name one or more proceeds accounts (each, an 
"Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account").  Each Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds 
Account shall constitute a Project Account and a Securities Account. 

(ii) All proceeds from the issuance of any Additional Pari Passu Debt, net of 
any original issue discount, underwriting discount or similar fee in respect thereof, in each case, 
received by the Borrower pursuant to the terms of the applicable Additional Pari Passu Loan 
Agreement and, thereafter, any Account Earnings with respect to such proceeds, shall be deposited 
in the applicable Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account, if applicable. 

(iii) All moneys in any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account shall be 
applied, at the instruction of the Borrower in accordance with a Funds Transfer Certificate pursuant 
to Section 5.09, solely to pay costs in compliance with the applicable Additional Pari Passu Loan 
Agreement and the applicable provisions of the other Finance Documents (including the BOM 
Loan Agreement and the TIFIA Loan Agreement) relating to the incurrence of such Additional Pari 
Passu Debt, and with respect to any future tax-exempt borrowings comprising Additional Pari 
Passu Debt, in compliance with the Code. 

(iv) With respect to any future tax-exempt borrowings comprising Additional 
Pari Passu Debt, upon a date that is no earlier than five (5) years after the date of issuance of any 
such Additional Pari Passu Debt, and no later than five (5) years and sixty (60) days after the date 
of issuance of such Additional Pari Passu Debt, the remaining unspent proceeds of such Additional 
Pari Passu Debt, in each case, rounded down to the nearest multiple of $5,000, from any remaining 
unspent proceeds of such Additional Pari Passu Debt on deposit in the applicable Additional Pari 
Passu Debt Proceeds Account on such date (with respect to which, for the avoidance of doubt, no 
Secured Party shall have any right) shall be applied as follows, pursuant to one or more written 
directions of an Authorized Representative of the Borrower: (1) first, any applicable amount thereof 
shall be transferred to the applicable rebate fund for any such tax-exempt Additional Pari Passu 
Debt, as applicable; and (2) second, any remaining amount shall be transferred to the applicable 

219



13 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

sub-account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account for redemption of such Additional Pari Passu 
Debt in accordance with the applicable Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement; provided, that no 
such transfer to the applicable sub-account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account or redemption 
of the Additional Pari Passu Debt will be required if the Borrower has obtained an opinion of bond 
counsel stating that the failure to redeem any such Additional Pari Passu Debt will not adversely 
affect the exclusion of interest on such Additional Pari Passu Debt from gross income for federal 
or State income tax purposes and that such redemption is not required by State law, in which case, 
any such remaining proceeds shall be transferred to the Revenue Account. 

(v) With respect to any proceeds of Additional Pari Passu Debt that do not 
constitute tax-exempt borrowings, any amounts on deposit in any related Additional Pari Passu 
Debt Proceeds Account, after the completion of the work with respect to which such Additional 
Pari Passu Debt was incurred (as certified in writing by the Borrower to the Collateral Agent), shall 
promptly be transferred to the applicable sub-account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account for 
redemption of such Additional Pari Passu Debt. 

(vi) As soon as practicable, following the date that all amounts on deposit in 
any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account are transferred out of such Additional Pari Passu 
Debt Proceeds Account, the Collateral Agent shall close such Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds 
Account. 

(vii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein and subject to Section 
6.06(c) hereof, the Lien on any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account (and on all amounts 
deposited thereto and Account Earnings with respect to amounts deposited thereto) shall solely 
secure the obligations of the Borrower under the applicable Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement 
(such exclusive Lien to continue upon and following the occurrence of a Bankruptcy Related Event) 
until such funds have been disbursed in accordance with this Section 5.01(b). 

(c) The Securities Intermediary shall promptly, and in any event prior to establishing 
any account pursuant to clause (b) of this Section 5.01, provide written notice of any request or instruction 
from the Borrower to establish such account to the Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant 
representatives thereof.  Upon creation of any account pursuant to clause (b) of this Section 5.01, the 
Securities Intermediary shall, by written notice, inform the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto or 
relevant representatives thereof of such account's purposes, terms and instructions.  Any Additional Pari 
Passu Debt Proceeds Accounts (each of which shall be a separately identified account with a separate and 
distinct name and account number) shall be identified in the manner set forth in Section 5.01(a). 

(d) All of the Project Accounts shall be under the control of the Collateral Agent and, 
except as expressly provided herein, the Borrower shall not have any right to withdraw funds from any 
Project Account (including sub-accounts).  The Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes the Collateral 
Agent to credit funds to or deposit funds in, and to withdraw and transfer funds from, each Project Account 
in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

Section 5.02 [Reserved.]   
 

Section 5.03 Revenue Account.  

(a) From and after the Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date the Borrower shall deposit (or 
cause to be deposited) (i) immediately upon allocation from the County of Napa, but no less frequently than 
on a quarterly basis, all LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower, (ii) on the [__] day of each month (or, if such 
date is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day), subject to Section 5.03(g), all 

220



14 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower, and (iii) when and to the extent required by 
Section 5.03(f), any other Revenues, in each case into the Revenue Account.  The Borrower shall at all 
times maintain in effect the LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction and each Farebox Bank Irrevocable 
Instruction and use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the County of Napa and each Farebox 
Bank maintain compliance with the respective instruction applicable to it.  If, notwithstanding the LTF 
Funds Irrevocable Instruction and the Farebox Bank Irrevocable Instructions, the Borrower receives any 
LTF Funds (except for LTF Funds that have been released to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement) or, 
except to the extent a No Transfer Order is in effect, Farebox Revenues, the Borrower shall hold all such 
amounts coming into its possession in trust for the benefit of the Secured Parties and shall turn over such 
LTF Funds and Farebox Revenues, in the form received, to the Collateral Agent for deposit to the Revenue 
Account.  

(b) At the instruction of the Borrower in accordance with a Funds Transfer Certificate 
pursuant to Section 5.09, and subject to Section 6.06 hereof, the Collateral Agent shall make the following 
withdrawals, transfers and payments from the Revenue Account (and any sub-accounts thereof) as set forth 
in the applicable Funds Transfer Certificate, on each Transfer Date, and, with respect to funds deposited to 
the Revenue Account in accordance with Section 5.03(a)(iii), on any date on which such funds are deposited 
into the Revenue Account, in the following amounts and in the following order of priority (it being agreed 
that (i) no amount shall be withdrawn on any date pursuant to any clause below (A) until amounts sufficient 
as of that date (to the extent applicable) for all the purposes specified under the prior clauses shall have 
been withdrawn or set aside or (B) in respect of any items for which amounts have previously been 
transferred) and (ii) each such transfer shall be made only to the extent there are sufficient amounts on 
deposit in the Revenue Account, on such date to make any such transfer: 

First, on a pari passu basis, deposits to the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt 
Service Sub-Account, and to each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service 
Account for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, as applicable, until the following amounts have been 
fully funded: 

(1) for the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, (i) the interest due on the BOM Loan on the 
next Semi-Annual Payment Date plus (ii) the principal due on the BOM Loan on the next Semi-
Annual Payment Date; 

(2) for the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, (i) the interest due on the TIFIA Loan on the 
next Semi-Annual Payment Date plus (ii) the principal due on the TIFIA Loan on the next Semi-
Annual Payment Date; and  

(3) for each applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account (other than the 
BOM Debt Service Sub-Account and the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account), in each case, (i) (A) 
for any Payment Period beginning on an Annual Payment Date, fifty percent (50%) of the interest 
due on the applicable Pari Passu Debt with respect to such account on the next Annual Payment 
Date or (B) for any Payment Period that does not begin on an Annual Payment Date, one hundred 
percent (100%) of the interest due on the applicable Pari Passu Debt with respect to such account 
on the next Annual Payment Date; provided that if the interest on any applicable Pari Passu Debt 
is payable on a semi-annual basis, clause (i) shall read “the interest due on the applicable Pari Passu 
Debt with respect to such account on the next semi-annual principal payment date for such Pari 
Passu Debt", plus (ii) (A) for any Payment Period beginning on an Annual Payment Date, fifty 
percent (50%) of the principal due on the applicable Pari Passu Debt with respect to such account 
on the next Annual Payment Date or (B) for any Payment Period that does not begin on an Annual 
Payment Date, one hundred percent (100%) of the principal due on the applicable Pari Passu Debt 
with respect to such account on the next Annual Payment Date; provided that if the principal on 

221



15 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

any applicable Pari Passu Debt is payable on a semi-annual basis, clause (ii) shall read “the 
principal due on the applicable Pari Passu Debt with respect to such account on the next semi-
annual principal payment date for such Pari Passu Debt”; 

 
provided further, that on each Semi-Annual Payment Date, amounts on deposit in the TIFIA Debt 
Service Sub-Account, the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account and any such other applicable sub-
account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account, as applicable, shall be transferred by the Collateral 
Agent in an amount required for the payment of interest and principal then due and payable on the 
applicable Secured Obligations, and on each Annual Payment Date, amounts on deposit in any such 
other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account for which principal is payable 
on an annual basis, as applicable, shall be transferred by the Collateral Agent in an amount required 
for the payment of principal then due and payable on the applicable Secured Obligation; 

Second, on a pari passu basis, deposits to the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt 
Service Sub-Account, and to each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service 
Account for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, as applicable, in an amount up to: 

(1) for the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due 
and payable under the BOM Loan Agreement; 

(2) for the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, the fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due 
and payable under the TIFIA Loan Agreement; and 

(3) for each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account 
established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, in each case, the fees, costs, expenses and other 
amounts then due and payable under the issuing document for the applicable Pass Passu Obligation 
with respect to such account; 

provided, that, on each date when any other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts are then due 
and payable on any Secured Obligations, amounts on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-
Account, the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account and any such other applicable sub-account of the 
Pari Passu Debt Service Account, as applicable, shall be transferred by the Collateral Agent in an 
amount required for the payment of such fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and 
payable on the applicable Secured Obligations; 

Third, on a pari passu basis, deposits to the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA 
Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account and to each applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt 
Service Reserve Account established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, as applicable, in an 
amount, if any: 

(1) for the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, such that amounts on deposit therein 
are at least equal to the BOM Debt Service Reserve Required Balance;  

(2) for the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, such that amounts on deposit therein 
are at least equal to the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance; provided that the TIFIA 
Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account shall initially be funded in an amount equal to the TIFIA Debt 
Service Reserve Required Balance by no later than the last Business Day of the month following 
the initial disbursement of the TIFIA Loan; and 

222



16 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(3) for each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account 
established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, in each case, such that amounts on deposit therein 
are at least equal to the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Required Balance for such sub-account;  

provided, that amounts on deposit in the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt 
Service Reserve Sub-Account, and any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service 
Reserve Account, as applicable, shall be transferred by the Collateral Agent in an amount and when 
required to ensure the timely payment of interest and principal on the BOM Loan, the TIFIA Loan 
or the applicable Additional Pari Passu Debt with respect to such sub-account, as applicable, that 
is not otherwise paid by Revenues deposited to the Revenue Account;  

Fourth, on any Transfer Date occurring in [April] or [October], on a pari passu basis, deposits to 
the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account and any other 
applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account, as applicable, until the amounts on 
deposit in such accounts (excluding any amounts on deposit therein that will be transferred out of 
such accounts by the Collateral Agent in accordance with clauses "First" and "Second" of Section 
5.03(b) on the next Payment Date for the payment of interest, principal and any other fees, costs, 
expenses and other amounts then due and payable on the applicable Secured Obligations on such 
Payment Date) are sufficient to satisfy the No Transfer Conditions set forth in clause (a) of the 
definition thereof for the next succeeding Payment Period after the current Payment Period. 

Fifth, on any Transfer Date occurring in [April] or [October], on a pari passu basis, deposits to the 
BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account and any 
other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account, as applicable, until 
the amounts on deposit in such accounts (excluding any amounts on deposit therein that will be 
transferred out of such accounts by the Collateral Agent in accordance with clauses "Third" of 
Section 5.03(b) on the next Payment Date for the payment of interest and principal then due and 
payable on the applicable Secured Obligations on such Payment Date) are sufficient to satisfy the 
No Transfer Conditions set forth in clause (b) of the definition thereof for the next succeeding 
Payment Period after the current Payment Period. 

Sixth, if a mandatory prepayment or mandatory redemption under any Secured Obligation is then 
due and payable, to the Mandatory Prepayment Account to make payments in respect of mandatory 
prepayments and mandatory redemptions of the outstanding Secured Obligations solely to the 
extent not payable from amounts on deposit in another Project Account pursuant to the terms hereof 
(collectively, the "Mandatory Payments") in an amount equal to the total aggregate amount of 
such Mandatory Payments then due and payable in respect of such Secured Obligations; 

Seventh, if any Permitted Subordinated Loans are outstanding, to any sub-account of the Revenue 
Account established for the payment of interest on Permitted Subordinated Loans (if any), an 
amount not to exceed (together with amounts then on deposit therein) the interest then due and 
payable on any outstanding Permitted Subordinated Loans plus any other amounts required to be 
deposited in accordance with the relevant financing documents; provided, that on each Semi-
Annual Payment Date, amounts on deposit in such sub-account shall be transferred by the Collateral 
Agent for the payment of interest then due and payable on such Permitted Subordinated Loans; and 

Eighth, if any Permitted Subordinated Loans are outstanding, to any sub-account of the Revenue 
Account established for the payment of principal on Permitted Subordinated Loans (if any), an 
amount not to exceed (together with amounts then on deposit therein) the principal then due and 
payable on any outstanding Permitted Subordinated Loans plus any other amounts required to be 
deposited in accordance with the relevant financing documents; provided, that on each Semi-

223



17 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Annual Payment Date, amounts on deposit in such sub-account shall be transferred by the Collateral 
Agent for the payment of the principal then due and payable on such Permitted Subordinated Loans. 

(c) If, on the date of any withdrawal or transfer from the Revenue Account for 
payment pursuant to any of clauses "First" through "Eighth" of Section 5.03(b), the amount required to be 
withdrawn and transferred from the Revenue Account pursuant to such clause exceeds the amount then on 
deposit in or credited to the Revenue Account after the withdrawals and transfers made pursuant to all 
applicable preceding clauses are completed, the amount on deposit in or credited to the Revenue Account 
at the time of application pursuant to such clause shall be transferred pro rata to each of the Persons (or 
Project Accounts) specified in such clause based on the respective amounts owed to such Persons (or 
otherwise required to be transferred) pursuant to such clause (including, upon and following the occurrence 
of a Bankruptcy Related Event) based on outstanding principal, as of such date of withdrawal or transfer); 
provided that (i) the payments described in this paragraph shall be applied in accordance with the payment 
priorities set forth in Section 5.03(b) and (ii) the payments due at a particular level of the waterfall set forth 
in Section 5.03(b) shall be made in full before any payment is made at the next level.  

(d) For the avoidance of doubt, after application of funds in the Revenue Account on 
any Transfer Date or any other specified date pursuant to Section 5.03(b), to the extent any funds remain in 
the Revenue Account, such funds shall be transferred by the Collateral Agent to the Borrower. 

(e) To the extent that the balance of funds on deposit in any Project Account with a 
required minimum balance exceeds such required minimum balance as of any Transfer Date, such excess 
funds will be transferred to the Revenue Account for application as contemplated by this Section 5.03. 

(f) If LTF Funds and Farebox Revenues on deposit in the Pari Passu Debt Service 
Account (or the applicable sub-accounts thereunder), the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the 
BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, or any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt 
Service Reserve Account are at any time not sufficient to satisfy each of the No Transfer Conditions, the 
Borrower shall promptly (and in any case within five (5) Business Days) deposit (or cause to be deposited) 
Other Revenues to the Revenue Account in such amounts as needed to satisfy the No Transfer Conditions 
and, if necessary, continue to deposit (or cause to be deposited) Other Revenues to the Revenue Account 
until the No Transfer Conditions are satisfied. 

(g) On each Determination Date, the Collateral Agent shall determine whether the No 
Transfer Conditions are satisfied. If the No Transfer Conditions are satisfied, the Collateral Agent shall 
notify each Farebox Bank in writing (with a copy to the Borrower, BOM and the TIFIA Lender), by no 
later than the Business Day immediately following the Determination Date, that no transfer of Farebox 
Revenues to the Revenue Account is required during the current Payment Period (a "No Transfer Order"). 
If the Collateral Agent does not issue a No Transfer Order at such time, the Collateral Agent shall continue 
to deposit to the Revenue Account Farebox Revenues received from each Farebox Bank, as described in 
Section 5.03(b), until the No Transfer Conditions are satisfied, at which time the Collateral Agent will issue 
a No Transfer Order (with a copy to the Borrower, BOM and the TIFIA Lender). The Borrower may deposit 
any funds available to it into the Revenue Account in order to satisfy the No Transfer Conditions and the 
Collateral Agent shall deposit such funds in accordance with clauses "First" through "Third" of Section 
5.03(b). If at any time the No Transfer Conditions are satisfied by the deposit of any available funds of the 
Borrower (including Revenues pursuant to Section 5.03(f)) to the Revenue Account, the Collateral Agent 
will issue a No Transfer Order (with a copy to the Borrower, BOM and the TIFIA Lender) at that time. 

(h) To the extent that the Collateral Agent receives Farebox Revenues from any 
Farebox Bank at a time when a No Transfer Order is in effect, the Collateral Agent shall transfer such 
Farebox Revenues to the Borrower.  To the extent that the Collateral Agent fails to issue a No Transfer 

224



18 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Order at a time when the No Transfer Conditions have been satisfied, the Borrower shall deliver written 
notice to the Collateral Agent, BOM and the TIFIA Lender of such circumstances and, upon confirming 
that the No Transfer Conditions are satisfied as of such time, the Collateral Agent shall issue a No Transfer 
Order covering the remainder of such Payment Period.  

Section 5.04 Pari Passu Debt Service Account.   

(a) The BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, and 
any other sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account established for any Additional Pari Passu 
Debt shall be funded in accordance with and subject to clauses "First", "Second" and “Fourth” of Section 
5.03(b), as applicable. 

(b) Funds on deposit in the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account shall be applied to pay 
principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts due and 
payable on the BOM Loan. 

(c) Funds on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account shall be applied to pay 
principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts due and 
payable on the TIFIA Loan. 

(d) Funds on deposit in any other sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account 
shall be applied to pay principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses and other 
amounts due and payable on the applicable Additional Pari Passu Debt related to such sub-account. 

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein and subject to Section 6.06(c) 
hereof, the Lien on (i) the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account (and on all amounts deposited thereto and 
Account Earnings with respect to amounts deposited thereto) shall solely secure the obligations of the 
Borrower under the BOM Loan Agreement (such exclusive Lien to continue upon and following the 
occurrence of a Bankruptcy Related Event), and shall be established solely for the benefit of BOM, and 
will be held by the Collateral Agent, and the lien thereon maintained, for the exclusive benefit of only 
BOM, (ii) the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account (and on all amounts deposited thereto and Account 
Earnings with respect to amounts deposited thereto) shall solely secure the obligations of the Borrower 
under the TIFIA Loan Agreement (such exclusive Lien to continue upon and following the occurrence of a 
Bankruptcy Related Event), and shall be established solely for the benefit of the TIFIA Lender, and will be 
held by the Collateral Agent, and the lien thereon maintained, for the exclusive benefit of only the TIFIA 
Lender and (iii) any other sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account (and on all amounts 
deposited thereto and Account Earnings with respect to amounts deposited thereto) shall solely secure the 
obligations of the Borrower with respect to the applicable Additional Pari Passu Debt related to such sub-
account (such exclusive Lien to continue upon and following the occurrence of a Bankruptcy Related 
Event), and shall be established solely for the benefit of the applicable Secured Party, and will be held by 
the Collateral Agent, and the lien thereon maintained, for the exclusive benefit of only such Secured Party. 

Section 5.05 Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account.   

(a) The BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve 
Sub-Account, and any other sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account established for 
any Additional Pari Passu Debt shall be funded in accordance with and subject to clauses "Third" and 
“Fifth” of Section 5.03(b), as applicable. 

225



19 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(b) Funds on deposit in the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account shall be applied 
when and in an amount required to pay principal and accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on the 
BOM Loan that is not otherwise paid by Revenues deposited to the Revenue Account. 

(c) Funds on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account shall be applied 
when and in an amount required to pay principal and accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on the 
TIFIA Loan that is not otherwise paid by Revenues deposited to the Revenue Account. 

(d) Funds on deposit in any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt 
Service Reserve Account established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt shall be applied when and in an 
amount required to pay principal and accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on the applicable 
Additional Pari Passu Debt with respect to such sub-account that is not otherwise paid by Revenues 
deposited to the Revenue Account. 

(e)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein and subject to Section 6.06(c) 
hereof, the Lien on (i) the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account (and on all amounts deposited thereto 
and Account Earnings with respect to amounts deposited thereto) shall solely secure the obligations of the 
Borrower under the BOM Loan Agreement, and shall be established solely for the benefit of BOM, and 
will be held by the Collateral Agent, and the lien thereon maintained, for the exclusive benefit of only 
BOM, (ii) the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account (and on all amounts deposited thereto and Account 
Earnings with respect to amounts deposited thereto) shall solely secure the obligations of the Borrower 
under the TIFIA Loan Agreement (such exclusive Lien to continue upon and following the occurrence of a 
Bankruptcy Related Event), and shall be established solely for the benefit of the TIFIA Lender, and will be 
held by the Collateral Agent, and the lien thereon maintained, for the exclusive benefit of only the TIFIA 
Lender and (iii) any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account 
established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt (and on all amounts deposited thereto and Account Earnings 
with respect to amounts deposited thereto) shall solely secure the obligations of the Borrower with respect 
to the applicable Additional Pari Passu Debt related to such sub-account (such exclusive Lien to continue 
upon and following the occurrence of a Bankruptcy Related Event), and shall be established solely for the 
benefit of the applicable Secured Party, and will be held by the Collateral Agent, and the lien thereon 
maintained, for the exclusive benefit of only such Secured Party.  

Section 5.06 Mandatory Prepayment Account. 

(a) On or before the date on which the Borrower enters into any Additional Pari Passu 
Loan Agreement that provides for the mandatory prepayment or mandatory redemption of the applicable 
Secured Obligations, the Borrower shall deliver written instructions to the Securities Intermediary directing 
the Securities Intermediary to establish and maintain the Mandatory Prepayment Account (and any sub-
accounts therein with respect to such Secured Obligations) in the Borrower's name in accordance with 
Section 5.01(a). 

(b) The Mandatory Prepayment Account shall be funded as follows: 

(i) from amounts transferred, if any, from the Revenue Account in accordance 
with clause "Sixth" of Section 5.03(b), to make Mandatory Payments in accordance with an 
Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement, as applicable; and 

(ii) from amounts transferred from any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds 
Accounts in accordance with Section 5.01(b)(iv) and Section 5.01(b)(v). 

226



20 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(c) Funds deposited into the Mandatory Prepayment Account will be transferred into  
any sub-account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account established for any Secured Obligations in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.06 for prepayment and redemption of any Secured 
Obligations to the extent required to be repaid thereby (and solely to the extent expressly required, on a pro 
rata basis based on the then outstanding principal amounts of such Secured Obligations) in accordance with 
the terms of the Finance Documents and the other provisions of this Agreement at such redemption prices 
and required prepayment amounts as and to the extent contemplated herein and therein; provided, that 
amounts on deposit in any sub-account established for any Secured Obligations shall be transferred by the 
Collateral Agent to the applicable debt service account for the applicable Secured Party for the mandatory 
redemption and/or mandatory prepayment of the related Secured Obligations at the instruction of the 
Borrower in accordance with a Funds Transfer Certificate pursuant to Section 5.09. 

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein and subject to Section 6.06(c) 
hereof, any sub-account under the Mandatory Prepayment Account established for any Secured Obligations 
shall be pledged solely as collateral to secure the related Secured Obligations and shall be established solely 
for the benefit of the related Secured Parties, and will be held by the Collateral Agent, and the lien thereon 
maintained, for the exclusive benefit of only such related Secured Parties. 

Section 5.07 Funds as Collateral.  Any deposit made into the Project Accounts hereunder 
(except through clerical or other manifest error or in a manner that is otherwise inconsistent with this 
Agreement) shall be irrevocable and all cash, cash equivalents, Permitted Investments, instruments, and 
other Securities on deposit in the Project Accounts are subject to a Lien in favor of the Collateral Agent 
(on behalf of the Secured Parties) pursuant to Section 1.01 and shall be held by the Collateral Agent as 
Collateral for the benefit of the Secured Parties as provided herein. 

Section 5.08 Investment.   

(a) Funds in the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account (and sub-accounts 
thereunder) may be invested and reinvested only in Permitted Investments (at the risk and expense of the 
Borrower) in accordance with written instructions given to the Collateral Agent by the Borrower (prior to 
the occurrence of an Event of Default and, thereafter (so long as such Event of Default shall be continuing), 
as directed by the Required Creditors and in accordance with the written instructions of the Required 
Creditors) and, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower is entitled to instruct 
the Collateral Agent to liquidate Permitted Investments for purposes of effecting any such investment or 
reinvestment, upon permitted withdrawals from the respective accounts or for any other purpose permitted 
hereunder; provided, that absent such instruction, such amounts held in the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve 
Account shall be invested and reinvested in Permitted Investments as selected by the Borrower in advance 
(which may be in the form of a standing instruction).  The Collateral Agent shall not be required to take 
any action with respect to investing the funds in the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account in the absence 
of written instructions by the Borrower or the Required Creditors (to the extent provided in accordance with 
the terms hereof).  The Collateral Agent shall not be liable for any loss resulting from any Permitted 
Investment or the sale or redemption thereof made in accordance with the terms hereof.  The Collateral 
Agent may conclusively rely upon investment instructions provided to it that such investments are 
Permitted Investments.  If and when cash is required for disbursement in accordance with this Article V or 
Section 6.06 hereof, the Collateral Agent is authorized, without instructions from the Borrower, in the event 
the Borrower fails to direct the Collateral Agent to do so in a timely manner and to the extent necessary to 
make payments required pursuant to this Article V or Section 6.06 hereof, to cause Permitted Investments 
to be sold or otherwise liquidated into cash (without regard to maturity) in such manner as the Collateral 
Agent shall deem reasonable and prudent under the circumstances.  The Borrower acknowledges that to the 
extent regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency or other applicable regulatory entity grant the 
Borrower the right to receive brokerage confirmations of security transactions as they occur, the Borrower 

227



21 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

specifically waives receipt of such confirmations to the extent permitted by law.  The Collateral Agent will 
provide the Borrower periodic cash transaction statements which shall include detail for all investment 
transactions made by the Collateral Agent hereunder. 

(b) The Collateral Agent shall have no obligation to invest or reinvest the funds if all 
or a portion of the funds is deposited with (or instructions with respect to the same are given to) the 
Collateral Agent after 11 a.m. (E.S.T. or E.D.T., as applicable) on the day of deposit.  Instructions to invest 
or reinvest that are received after 11 a.m. (E.S.T. or E.D.T., as applicable) will be treated as if received on 
the following Business Day. 

(c) In the event the Collateral Agent does not receive investment instructions, the 
amounts held by the Collateral Agent pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement shall not be invested 
and the Collateral Agent shall not incur any liability for interest or income thereon. 

(d) The parties hereto each acknowledge that non-deposit investment products are not 
obligations of or guaranteed by U.S. Bank National Association nor any of its affiliates, are not FDIC 
insured, and are subject to investment risks, including the possible loss of principal amount invested in one 
or more of the money market funds made available by the Collateral Agent and initially selected by the 
Borrower. 

(e) Any investment direction contained herein may be executed through an affiliated 
broker or dealer of the Collateral Agent and any such affiliated broker or dealer shall be entitled to such 
broker's or dealer's usual and customary fees for such execution as agreed to by the Borrower.  It is agreed 
and understood that the Collateral Agent may earn fees associated with the investments outlined above to 
the extent previously agreed with the Borrower.  Neither the Collateral Agent nor its affiliates shall have a 
duty to monitor the investment ratings of any Permitted Investments. 

(f) Investments may be held by the Collateral Agent directly or through any clearing 
agency or depository (collectively, the "Clearing Agency") including the federal reserve/treasury book-
entry system for United States and federal agency securities, and The Depository Trust Company.  The 
Collateral Agent shall not have any responsibility or liability for the actions or omissions to act on the part 
of any Clearing Agency. 

Section 5.09 Withdrawal and Application of Funds; Priority of Transfers from Project 
Accounts; Event of Default.   

(a) Except as expressly provided herein, each withdrawal or transfer of funds from the 
Project Accounts by the Collateral Agent on behalf of the Borrower will be made pursuant to an executed 
Funds Transfer Certificate, which certificate will be provided and prepared by the Borrower and will 
contain a certification by the Borrower, as applicable, that such withdrawal or transfer complies with the 
requirements of this Agreement. 

(b) Unless a shorter period is acceptable to the Collateral Agent, such Funds Transfer 
Certificate relating to each applicable Project Account will be delivered to the Collateral Agent no later 
than two (2) Business Days prior to each date on which funds are proposed to be withdrawn or transferred. 
In the event that a Funds Transfer Certificate does not comply with the requirements of this Agreement and 
the other Finance Documents, the Collateral Agent has the right to reject such certificate and the Borrower 
will not be entitled to cause the proposed withdrawal or transfer until it has submitted a revised and 
compliant certificate. 

228



22 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, upon 
receipt of a notice of an Event of Default, the Required Creditors may (i) in connection with or following 
the taking of an Enforcement Action, without consent of the Borrower, instruct the Collateral Agent in 
writing to apply proceeds of the Project Accounts to the payment of Secured Obligations, in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement and in the order set forth in Section 6.06, so long as such payments are on 
account of amounts due under the Finance Documents in respect of such Secured Obligations and (ii) at 
any time prior to the taking of an Enforcement Action, instruct the Collateral Agent to apply the proceeds 
of the Project Accounts in the order set forth in Section 5.03(b); provided, that in the case of this clause (ii), 
amounts on deposit in the any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account may only be applied in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 5.01(b). 

Section 5.10 Termination of Project Accounts.  Upon the payment in full in cash of the 
Secured Obligations, this Agreement will terminate, and the Collateral Agent will, within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of a request from the Borrower, countersigned by the Secured Creditors, and at the expense of 
the Borrower, close the Project Accounts and/or liquidate any investments credited thereto and/or transfer 
the funds deposited therein or credited thereto, as directed by the Borrower. Thereafter, the Collateral Agent 
will be released from any further obligation to (a) comply with Entitlement Orders originated by the 
Collateral Agent to the extent that any of the Project Accounts is a "securities account" under the applicable 
provision of the UCC or (b) comply with instructions originated by the Required Creditors, to the extent 
that any of the Project Accounts is a "deposit account" under the applicable provision of the UCC or (c) 
comply with any obligation under any Finance Document except as specifically provided herein or therein, 
in each case as contemplated herein or therein.  Nothing contained in this Section 5.10 will be construed to 
modify or otherwise affect the Collateral Agent's Lien in the Project Accounts and the funds therein, prior 
to such closure and liquidation and/or transfer in accordance with the terms hereof. 

Section 5.11 Securities Intermediary.   

(a) The Securities Accounts shall be established and maintained as securities accounts 
(within the meaning of Section 8-501(a) of the UCC) with a securities intermediary.  Each of the parties to 
this Agreement, including U.S. Bank National Association, hereby agrees that U.S. Bank National 
Association (or any successor thereto) shall act as the securities intermediary (within the meaning of Section 
8-102(a)(14) of the UCC or, with respect to book-entry securities, in the applicable Federal Book-Entry 
Regulations) (in such capacity (including its successors and assigns), the "Securities Intermediary") under 
and for the purposes of this Agreement and for so long as U.S. Bank National Association (or any successor 
thereto) is also acting in the capacity as the Collateral Agent. 

(b) The Securities Intermediary hereby accepts and agrees to act as such under this 
Agreement and represents and warrants that it is as of the date hereof, and shall be for so long as it is the 
Securities Intermediary hereunder, a banking corporation or a national bank that in the ordinary course of 
its business maintains securities accounts for others, meets the requirements and qualifications set forth in 
the first sentence of Section 5.11(e) and is acting in that capacity hereunder.  The Securities Intermediary 
agrees with the parties hereto that each of the Securities Accounts shall be an account to which Financial 
Assets may be credited and undertakes to treat the Collateral Agent as entitled to exercise the rights that 
comprise such Financial Assets.  The Securities Intermediary agrees with the parties hereto that each item 
of property credited to each Securities Account shall be treated as a Financial Asset.  Each of the Collateral 
Agent and the Securities Intermediary represents and warrants that it has not entered into any agreement or 
taken any other action that gives any Person other than the Collateral Agent control over any of the 
Securities Accounts or that is otherwise inconsistent with this Agreement.  Each of the Collateral Agent 
and the Securities Intermediary agrees that it shall not become a party to any agreement or take any action 
that gives any Person other than the Collateral Agent control over any of the Securities Accounts or that is 
otherwise inconsistent with this Agreement.  The Securities Intermediary agrees that any Financial Assets 

229



23 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

credited to such Securities Accounts, or any "securities entitlement" (as defined in Section 8-102(a)(17) of 
the UCC or, with respect to book-entry securities, in the applicable Federal Book-Entry Regulations) with 
respect thereto, shall not be subject to any Lien or right of set-off in favor of the Securities Intermediary or 
anyone claiming through the Securities Intermediary (other than the Collateral Agent).  The Securities 
Intermediary hereby represents that, except for the claims and interests of the Collateral Agent and the 
Borrower in the Securities Accounts, the Securities Intermediary has no knowledge of, and has received no 
notice of, any claim to, or interest in, any Securities Account. If any Person asserts any lien (including any 
writ, garnishment, judgment, warrant of attachment, execution or similar process) against any Securities 
Account, the Securities Intermediary, upon obtaining written notice thereof, will promptly notify the 
Collateral Agent, the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof  and 
the Borrower thereof. 

(c) It is the intent of the Collateral Agent and the Borrower that the Collateral Agent 
(for the benefit of the Secured Parties) be the Entitlement Holder with respect to the Securities Accounts.  
In any event, the Securities Intermediary hereby agrees that it will comply with Entitlement Orders with 
respect to any and/or all of the Securities Accounts originated by the Collateral Agent without further 
consent by the Borrower or any other Person.  The Securities Intermediary covenants that it will not agree 
with any Person other than the Collateral Agent to comply with Entitlement Orders with respect to the 
Securities Accounts originated by any Person or entity other than the Collateral Agent.  The Collateral 
Agent authorizes the Securities Intermediary to follow Entitlement Orders issued by the Borrower unless 
and until the Securities Intermediary receives an Entitlement Order from the Collateral Agent.  Without 
limiting the Securities Intermediary's obligation or ability to comply with Entitlement Orders originated by 
the Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent covenants with the Borrower that it shall not provide any such 
Entitlement Order unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 

(d) The Securities Intermediary shall not change the name or account number of any 
Securities Account without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent and, for so long as no Event of 
Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower and at least five (5) Business Days' prior notice to the 
Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof, and shall not change the 
Entitlement Holder.  The Securities Intermediary shall at all times act as a "securities intermediary" (within 
the meaning of Section 8-102(a)(14) of the UCC or, with respect to book-entry securities, in the applicable 
Federal Book-Entry Regulations) in maintaining the Securities Accounts and shall credit to each Securities 
Account each Financial Asset to be held in or credited to each Securities Account pursuant to this 
Agreement.  To the extent, if any, that the Collateral Agent is deemed to hold directly, as opposed to having 
a security entitlement in, any Financial Asset held by the Securities Intermediary for the Collateral Agent, 
the Securities Intermediary hereby agrees that it is holding such Financial Asset as the agent of the 
Collateral Agent and hereby expressly acknowledges and agrees that it has received notification of the 
Collateral Agent's security interest in such Financial Asset and that it is holding possession of such Financial 
Asset for the benefit of the Collateral Agent. 

(e) Each Securities Account shall remain held at all times by a "securities 
intermediary" (within the meaning of Section 8-102(a)(14) of the UCC or, with respect to book-entry 
securities, in the applicable Federal Book-Entry Regulations) that is a bank organized under the laws of the 
United States of America or any state thereof that has offices in the State of New York with unsecured long-
term debt which shall be rated no lower than ‘A’, ‘A2’ or the equivalent rating from each Nationally 
Recognized Rating Agency that provides a rating on such bank’s unsecured long-term debt and that has a 
total capital stock and unimpaired surplus of not less than $500,000,000.  The Securities Intermediary shall 
give notice to the Collateral Agent and the Borrower of the location of the Securities Accounts and of any 
change thereof prior to the use or change thereof.  If at any time the Securities Intermediary shall fail to 
meet such requirements and qualifications set forth in the first sentence above, the Borrower shall replace 
the Securities Intermediary as soon as practicable with a qualifying Securities Intermediary. 

230



24 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(f) Any income received by the Collateral Agent with respect to the balance from time 
to time on deposit in each Securities Account, including any interest or capital gains on investments in 
overnight securities made with amounts on deposit in each Securities Account, shall be credited to the 
applicable Securities Account.  All right, title and interest in and to the cash amounts on deposit from time 
to time in each Securities Account together with any investments in overnight securities from time to time 
made pursuant to this Section 5.11 shall constitute part of the Collateral for the Secured Obligations and 
shall be held for the benefit of the Secured Parties and the Borrower as their interests shall appear hereunder 
and shall not constitute payment of the Secured Obligations (or any other obligations to which such funds 
are provided hereunder to be applied) until applied thereto as provided in this Agreement. 

(g) In the event that, notwithstanding the last sentence of clause (b) above, the 
Securities Intermediary has or subsequently obtains by agreement, operation of Law or otherwise a Lien in 
any of the Securities Accounts, or any Financial Asset credited thereto, or any "securities entitlement" (as 
defined in Section 8-102(a)(17) of the UCC or, with respect to book-entry securities, in the applicable 
Federal Book-Entry Regulations) with respect thereto, the Securities Intermediary hereby agrees that such 
Lien shall be subordinate to the Lien of the Collateral Agent. 

(h) The "securities intermediary's jurisdiction" of the Securities Intermediary for 
purposes of the UCC (or the Uniform Commercial Code of any other jurisdiction to the extent applicable) 
is the State of New York. 

(i) Terms used in Section 5.10 and this Section 5.11 that are defined in the UCC shall 
have the meaning set forth in the UCC. Without limiting the foregoing, the term "securities intermediary" 
shall, with respect to book-entry securities, have the meanings given to it, as applicable to the types of 
security under: 31 C.F.R. Part 357 (sale and issue of marketable book-entry Treasury bills, notes and Senior 
Loan); 12 C.F.R. Part 615 (book-entry securities of the Farm Credit Administration and related conditions); 
12 C.F.R. 987 (book-entry securities of the Financial Federal Housing Board), 12 C.F.R. Part 1511 (book-
entry securities of the Resolution Funding Corporation); 24 C.F.R. Part 81 (book-entry securities of the 
Federal National Mortgage Association and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation); 31 C.F.R. Part 
354 (book-entry securities of the Student Loan Marketing Association); 18 C.F.R. Part 1314 (book-entry 
securities of Tennessee Valley Authority); and 24 C.F.R. Part 350 (book-entry securities of Government 
National Mortgage Association). 

(j) To the extent that any Project Account is not considered a "securities account" 
(within the meaning of Section 8-501(a) of the UCC), such Project Account shall be deemed to be a "deposit 
account" (as defined in Section 9-102(a)(29) of the UCC), which the Collateral Agent shall maintain with 
the Securities Intermediary acting not as a securities intermediary but as a "bank" (within the meaning of 
Section 9-102(a)(8) of the UCC) and, in such circumstances, the "bank's jurisdiction" of the Securities 
Intermediary for purposes of the UCC (or the Uniform Commercial Code of any other jurisdiction to the 
extent applicable) is the State of New York.  The Securities Intermediary hereby agrees to comply with any 
and all instructions originated by the Collateral Agent directing disposition of funds in any and/or all of the 
Project Accounts without any further consent of the Borrower or any other Person.  The Collateral Agent 
authorizes the Securities Intermediary to comply with any instructions with respect to any such deposit 
accounts from the Borrower unless and until the Securities Intermediary receives instructions with respect 
to any such deposit accounts from the Collateral Agent.  Without limiting the Securities Intermediary's 
obligation or ability to comply with any instructions with respect to any such deposit accounts from the 
Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent covenants with the Borrower that it shall not provide any such 
instructions unless an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 

Section 5.12 Inadequately Identified Amounts.  In the event that the Collateral Agent receives 
any amount which is inadequately or incorrectly identified as to the Project Account into which such amount 

231



25 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

is to be credited, the Collateral Agent shall notify the Borrower (with a copy of such notice to the other 
Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof) of such event and shall request 
instructions as to the Project Account into which such amount should be credited.  With respect to any such 
amount, the Collateral Agent shall credit such amount to the Revenue Account, in each case until such time 
as the Collateral Agent receives instructions from the Borrower in accordance herewith stating that such 
amount should be credited to another Project Account in accordance with the Finance Documents, in which 
case the Collateral Agent shall credit such amount to the Project Account designated by the Borrower. 

Section 5.13 Tax Reporting.  All Account Earnings relating to the Project Accounts shall be 
reported to the Internal Revenue Service and, to the extent applicable, all state and local taxing authorities 
under the name and taxpayer identification number of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall prepare or cause 
to be prepared any tax returns or other forms or information required to be filed in connection with any 
such earnings.  The Collateral Agent does not have any interest in the Collateral deposited hereunder but is 
serving as collateral agent only and having only possession thereof.  The Borrower shall pay or reimburse 
the Collateral Agent upon request for any transfer taxes or other Taxes relating to the Collateral incurred in 
connection herewith and shall indemnify and hold harmless the Collateral Agent from any amounts that it 
is obligated to pay in the way of such Taxes to the extent paid by the Collateral Agent in respect of the 
Collateral.  The Borrower will provide the Collateral Agent with appropriate W-9 forms for taxpayer 
identification numbers, number certifications, or W-8 forms for non-resident alien certifications.  This 
paragraph shall survive notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement or the resignation or removal 
of the Collateral Agent. 

ARTICLE VI 
COLLATERAL AND REMEDIES 

Section 6.01 Administration of Collateral. The Project Accounts and the amounts on deposit 
therein shall be held by the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties pursuant to the terms 
hereof and any other Security Documents and shall be administered by the Collateral Agent in the manner 
contemplated hereby and thereby.   

Section 6.02 Knowledge of Event of Default.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained in this Agreement or any document executed in connection with any of the Secured Obligations, 
the Collateral Agent, unless a responsible officer of the Collateral Agent shall have actual knowledge 
thereof, shall not be deemed to have any knowledge of any Event of Default unless and until it shall have 
received written notice from the Borrower or any other Secured Party describing such Event of Default in 
reasonable detail.  If the Collateral Agent receives any such notice, the Collateral Agent shall deliver a copy 
thereof to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto (or representatives thereof); provided that if the 
Collateral Agent receives any such notice from a Person other than the Borrower, the Collateral Agent also 
shall deliver a copy thereof to the Borrower.   

Section 6.03 Enforcement of Remedies.  Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the 
Collateral Agent shall, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, take such Enforcement Action 
with respect to such Event of Default as shall be directed by the Required Creditors, acting in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement and the other applicable Finance Documents (a "Direction Notice"), 
subject to the requirements of Section 5.09(c) with respect to application of proceeds of the Project 
Accounts; provided that, in the absence of a Direction Notice, the Collateral Agent may (but shall not be 
obligated to) take such action (with written notice thereof to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto 
or the representatives thereof) or refrain from taking such action with respect to such Event of Default as it 
shall deem in the best interests of the Secured Parties and solely to the extent permitted hereunder or 
pursuant to any other Security Documents.  Upon receipt by the Collateral Agent of a Direction Notice, the 
Collateral Agent shall seek to enforce the Security Documents (with prior notice thereof to the Borrower, 

232



26 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

to the extent not in violation of Law or court order) and to realize upon the Collateral in accordance with 
such Direction Notice and otherwise in accordance with the terms hereof and of any other Security 
Documents; provided, however, that the Collateral Agent shall not be obligated to follow any Direction 
Notice if the Collateral Agent reasonably determines that such Direction Notice is in conflict with any 
provisions of any applicable law or any Security Document, and the Collateral Agent shall not, under any 
circumstances except in the event of the Collateral Agent's gross negligence, fraud, bad faith or willful 
misconduct, be liable to any Secured Party, the Borrower or any other Person for following a Direction 
Notice.   

Section 6.04 Remedies of the Secured Parties.  Unless otherwise consented to in writing by 
the Required Creditors (acting in accordance with the terms of this Agreement), no Secured Party, 
individually or together with any other Secured Parties (other than the Collateral Agent, in such capacity), 
shall have the right, nor shall it (i) exercise or enforce any of the rights, powers or remedies which the 
Collateral Agent is authorized to exercise or enforce under this Agreement or under any other Security 
Documents, (ii) sue for or institute any creditor's process (including an injunction garnishment, execution 
or levy, whether before or after judgment) in respect of any Secured Obligation (whether or not for the 
payment of money) owing to it under or in respect of any Finance Document, (iii) take any step for the 
winding-up, administration of or dissolution of, or any insolvency proceeding in relation to, the Borrower, 
or for a voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or other analogous step in relation to the Borrower, 
or (iv) apply for any order for an injunction or specific performance in respect of the Borrower in relation 
to any of the Finance Documents. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Secured Parties hereby expressly 
acknowledge the TIFIA Lender's rights to take the actions described in clauses (b) through (f) of Section 
19 of the TIFIA Loan Agreement, without the consent of the Required Creditors. 

Section 6.05 Secured Party Information.  In the event that the Collateral Agent proceeds to 
foreclose upon, collect, sell or otherwise dispose of or take any other action with respect to any or all of the 
Collateral or to enforce any provisions of the Security Documents or takes any other action pursuant to this 
Agreement or any provision of any other Security Documents or requests directions from the Required 
Creditors as provided herein, upon the request of the Collateral Agent, each of the other Secured Parties (or 
any agent of or representative for such Secured Party) shall promptly deliver a written notice to the 
Collateral Agent and each of the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto setting forth (a) the aggregate 
amount of Secured Obligations owing to such Secured Party under the applicable Finance Documents as of 
the date specified by the Collateral Agent in such request and (b) such other information as the Collateral 
Agent may reasonably request.  

Section 6.06 Application of Proceeds. 

(a) Subject to clauses (b) and (c) of this Section 6.06, after the taking of an 
Enforcement Action, all Proceeds received by the Collateral Agent derived from the funds set forth in 
clauses (i)-(iv) below pursuant to the exercise of any rights or remedies accorded to the Collateral Agent 
pursuant to, or by the operation of any of the terms of, any of the Security Documents shall be applied as 
follows: 

(i) All amounts on deposit in, and all Proceeds attributable to any sub-account 
of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account shall be transferred to the relevant Secured Creditor with 
respect to such sub-account in accordance with the Lien granted on such sub-account and Proceeds 
attributable thereto pursuant to this Agreement as set forth in Section 5.04(e), first to pay for the 
payment of all accrued and unpaid interest on the applicable Secured Obligations with respect to 
such sub-account, second, if any unpaid principal of any such Secured Obligation is due and 
payable (by acceleration or otherwise), to the pro rata payment of such principal amounts, and 
third, if any unpaid fees, costs, expenses and other amounts with respect to any such Secured 

233



27 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Obligation are due and payable, to the pro rata payment of such fees, costs, expenses and other 
amounts;  

(ii) All amounts on deposit in, and all Proceeds attributable to any sub-account 
of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account shall be transferred to the relevant Secured Creditor 
with respect to such sub-account in accordance with the Lien granted on such sub-account and 
Proceeds attributable thereto pursuant to this Agreement as set forth in Section 5.05(e), first to pay 
for the pro rata payment of all accrued and unpaid interest on the applicable Secured Obligations 
with respect to such sub-account, and second, if any unpaid principal of any such Secured 
Obligation is due and payable (by acceleration or otherwise), to the pro rata payment of such 
principal amounts; 

(iii) All amounts on deposit in, and all Proceeds attributable to any Additional 
Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account shall be transferred to the relevant Secured Creditor with respect 
to such account in accordance with the Lien granted on such account and Proceeds attributable 
thereto pursuant to this Agreement as set forth in Section 5.01(b)(vii), first to pay for the pro rata 
payment of all accrued and unpaid interest on the applicable series of Additional Pari Passu Debt 
with respect to such Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account, and second, if any unpaid 
principal of any such Additional Pari Passu Debt is due and payable (by acceleration or otherwise), 
to the pro rata payment of such principal amounts; and 

(iv) All amounts on deposit in, and all Proceeds attributable to, any sub-
account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account shall be transferred to the relevant Secured Creditor 
with respect to such sub-account in accordance with the Lien granted on such sub-account and 
Proceeds attributable thereto pursuant to this Agreement as set forth in Section 5.06(d), first to pay 
for the pro rata payment of all accrued and unpaid interest on the relevant Secured Obligations 
with respect to such sub-account and second, if any unpaid principal of any such Secured 
Obligation is due and payable (by acceleration or otherwise), to the pro rata payment of such 
principal amounts. 

(b) Following the taking of an Enforcement Action, notwithstanding any provision to 
the contrary in this Agreement or any other Finance Document, but subject to Section 5.09(c) and clause 
(a) of this Section 6.06, the Collateral Agent, as directed by the Required Creditors, will have the right to 
direct the application of all amounts on deposit in or credited to the Project Accounts, and to otherwise deal 
with the Collateral, without the need for consent of, or any other action by, the Borrower or any other 
Secured Party.  Subject to the prior application of the funds as described in clause (a) of this Section 6.06, 
following the taking of an Enforcement Action, all Proceeds received by the Collateral Agent pursuant to 
the exercise of any rights or remedies accorded to the Collateral Agent pursuant to, or by the operation of 
any of the terms of, any of the Security Documents, including proceeds from the sale or disposition of 
Collateral or other Enforcement Action and amounts available in or otherwise transferred from the Project 
Accounts shall be applied promptly by the Collateral Agent, after payment of unpaid fees, costs and 
expenses of the Collateral Agent (including those of its attorneys and advisors) due and payable in 
accordance with Sections 7.01 and 7.02, as directed by the Required Creditors as follows (provided, that 
any such proceeds that are to be used to pay any amounts to any Secured Creditor shall be paid to such 
Secured Creditor for deposit into the debt service fund applicable to such Secured Creditor's Secured 
Obligations, as the case may be): 

First, to the pro rata payment of the unpaid fees, administrative costs and expenses due and payable 
to the Secured Parties under the Finance Documents, if any; 

234



28 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Second, to the pro rata payment of all accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on all Secured 
Obligations; 

Third, to the pro rata payment of any unpaid principal of any Secured Obligation that is due and 
payable (by acceleration or otherwise); 

Fourth, to the pro rata payment of all other amounts, if any, due and payable under the Finance 
Documents to the Secured Parties with respect to any Secured Obligations; and 

Fifth, upon the payment in full of all Secured Obligations in accordance with clauses "First" 
through "Fourth" hereof, to pay to the Borrower, or as may be directed by the Borrower, or as a 
court of competent jurisdiction may direct, any Proceeds then remaining. 

(c) If at any time any Secured Party shall for any reason obtain any payment or 
distribution upon or with respect to the Secured Obligations contrary to the terms of this Agreement, 
whether as a result of the Collateral Agent's exercise of any Enforcement Action in respect of the Collateral 
or otherwise, such Secured Party agrees that it shall have received such amounts in trust, and shall promptly 
remit such amount so received in error to the Collateral Agent to be applied in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement. 

Section 6.07 Reliance on Information.  For purposes of applying payments received in 
accordance with this Article VI, the Collateral Agent shall be entitled to rely upon the information received 
by, and upon the request of, the Collateral Agent for such purpose, pursuant to Section 2.05 and Section 
6.05 of this Agreement, with respect to the amounts of the outstanding Secured Obligations owed to the 
Secured Parties and the amount of any proceeds distributed from the Project Accounts.  In the event that 
the Collateral Agent, in its reasonable discretion, determines that it is unable to determine the amount or 
order of payments that should be made hereunder, the parties hereto agree that the Collateral Agent shall 
have the right, at its option, to deposit with, or commence an interpleader proceeding in respect of, such 
funds in a court of competent jurisdiction for a determination by such court as to the correct application of 
such funds hereunder. 

Section 6.08 Right of Holders of Secured Obligations to Direct Collateral Agent. 
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal 
amount of Secured Obligations then outstanding (the "Required Creditors") shall have the right, at any 
time, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Collateral Agent, to give any 
instruction, consent or direction to the Collateral Agent as required or permitted to be given pursuant to the 
terms of this Agreement, subject to the requirements of Section 5.09(c) with respect to application of 
proceeds of the Project Accounts. 

ARTICLE VII 
COMPENSATION, INDEMNITY AND EXPENSES 

Section 7.01 Compensation; Fees and Expenses.  The Borrower hereby agrees to pay to the 
Collateral Agent for its own account compensation in such amount as separately agreed upon in writing 
between the Borrower and the Collateral Agent.  In addition, the Borrower shall pay on the next Transfer 
Date falling at least ten (10) Business Days after written demand from the Collateral Agent the amount of 
any and all other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Collateral Agent, including the 
reasonable and customary fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for the Collateral Agent, in 
connection with (a) the preparation of amendments and waivers hereunder and under any other Security 
Documents requested by the Borrower; (b) the enforcement of the rights or remedies of the Collateral Agent 
under this Agreement or any other Security Document, including all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 

235



29 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

incurred during any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of the Secured Obligations; (c) the 
sale of, collection from or other realization upon, the Collateral in accordance with the terms hereof and of 
any other Security Documents; and (d) lien and security interest searches and filings in connection with the 
Collateral.  

Section 7.02 Borrower Indemnification.  The Borrower shall indemnify each of the Collateral 
Agent, the Securities Intermediary and any Co-Collateral Agent, and each of their respective officers, 
directors, employees, agents and attorneys-in-fact (each such Person being called an "Indemnitee") against, 
and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related 
expenses, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnitee, 
incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the 
execution or delivery of any Security Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated thereby to 
which such Indemnitee is a party or the performance by the parties hereto of their respective obligations 
hereunder or the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby (including the performance by the 
parties hereto of their respective obligations under the Security Documents), (ii) any actual or alleged 
presence or release of hazardous material by the Borrower on or from the Project, or (iii) any actual claim, 
litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or 
any other theory and regardless of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto; provided, that such indemnity 
shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or 
related fees, charges, disbursements or expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by 
final and non-appealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful 
misconduct of such Indemnitee.  The obligations of the Borrower under this Section 7.02 shall survive the 
payment in full of the Secured Obligations, any resignation or removal of the Collateral Agent and the 
Securities Intermediary pursuant to Section 2.11 hereof, and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to 
Article VIII hereof. 

ARTICLE VIII 
TERMINATION 

Upon termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.10 of this Agreement, all rights to the 
Collateral as shall not have been sold or otherwise applied, in each case, pursuant to the terms hereof shall 
revert to the Borrower, its successors or assigns, or otherwise as a court of competent jurisdiction may 
direct.  Upon any such termination, the Collateral Agent shall, at the Borrower's direction and expense, 
execute and deliver to the Borrower such documents as the Borrower shall reasonably request to evidence 
such termination. 

ARTICLE IX 
ACCESSION 

Section 9.01 Accession Generally.  Any Person that is to become a party to this Agreement (an 
‟Acceding Party"), including any Person that replaces any Secured Creditor party to this Agreement, shall 
accede to this Agreement by delivering to the Collateral Agent (with a copy to the Borrower and other 
Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof) an Accession Agreement, duly 
executed by that Acceding Party.  Upon the execution of such Accession Agreement by an Acceding Party 
and the Collateral Agent, and acknowledged by the Borrower, such Acceding Party shall be a Secured 
Creditor hereunder and shall be bound by and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. In 
connection with the issuance of any Additional Secured Debt, the Borrower shall ensure that the secured 
parties with respect to such Additional Secured Debt accede to this Agreement in accordance with this 
Section 9.01. 

236



30 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Section 9.02 Collateral Agent Instructions.  The Collateral Agent is hereby authorized and 
instructed to promptly execute any Accession Agreement duly executed and delivered to the Collateral 
Agent by an Acceding Party, which is acknowledged by the Borrower.  

ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 10.01 Further Assurances.  The Borrower agrees that from time to time, at its expense, 
it will promptly execute and deliver all further instruments and documents, and take all further action as the 
Collateral Agent or any Secured Party, with the consent of the Required Creditors, shall reasonably request 
to perfect and maintain perfected the Liens created and/or perfected hereunder and under the other Security 
Documents and to enable the Collateral Agent to exercise and enforce its rights and remedies hereunder 
and thereunder. Without limiting the foregoing, pursuant to any applicable law, the Borrower and the 
Collateral Agent authorize the TIFIA Lender, on behalf of the Collateral Agent, to file or record financing 
statements and other filing or recording documents or instruments with respect to the Project Accounts 
without the signature of the Borrower in such form and in such offices as the TIFIA Lender determines, in 
its sole discretion, advisable to perfect the security interests of the Collateral Agent under this Agreement.  
The Borrower and the Collateral Agent authorize the TIFIA Lender, on behalf of the Collateral Agent, to 
use any description of the Project Accounts that are Securities Accounts described in Section 1.01 herein 
(including the defined terms used therein), with such broader or lesser scope as the TIFIA Lender, in its 
sole discretion, finds desirable. 

Section 10.02 Amendments; Waivers. 

(a) Any term, covenant, agreement or condition of this Agreement or of any other 
Security Documents may be amended, modified or waived only by an instrument in writing signed by each 
of the Collateral Agent (acting upon the instruction of the Required Creditors) and the Borrower; provided, 
that the consent of the Securities Intermediary shall be required for any amendment to Section 5.11 hereof 
or any other amendment that would modify the rights or obligations of the Securities Intermediary; 
provided, further, that any such amendment, modification or waiver that materially and adversely or 
disproportionately affects the rights of any Secured Party as compared to the other Secured Parties shall 
require the consent of such Secured Party. 

(b) The waiver (whether express or implied) by the Collateral Agent of any breach of 
the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall not prejudice any remedy of the Collateral Agent in respect 
of any continuing or other breach of the terms and conditions hereof, and shall not be construed as a bar to 
any right or remedy which the Collateral Agent would otherwise have on any future occasion under this 
Agreement. 

(c) No failure to exercise nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Collateral 
Agent or any other Secured Party, of any right, power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a 
waiver thereof.  No single or partial exercise by the Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party of any 
right, power or privilege under this Agreement shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of any other right, power or privilege available to it.  All remedies hereunder and under any other 
Security Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other remedies that may be available to 
the Collateral Agent, whether at law, in equity or otherwise. 

Section 10.03 Successors and Assigns. 

(a) This Agreement and the other Security Documents, if any, shall be binding upon 
and inure to the benefit of the Collateral Agent, the Securities Intermediary, the Borrower, the other Secured 

237



31 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Parties that are parties hereto, any Acceding Party and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  
Each Secured Party that is not a party hereto shall be an express third party beneficiary of this Agreement. 

(b) Nothing contained in this Agreement or any other Security Document is intended 
to limit the right of any Secured Party to assign, transfer or grant participations in its rights in its respective 
Secured Obligations and Finance Documents. 

Section 10.04 Notices.  Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, all notices, instructions, 
consents, requests, directions and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall 
be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by facsimile 
or email, as follows: 

(i) if to the Borrower:  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
[______________________] 
[______________________] 
[______________________] 
Attention:  [______________________] 
Email:  [______________________] 

(ii) if to the Collateral Agent and Securities Intermediary:  

U.S. Bank National Association 
633 W. Fifth Street, 24th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90071 
Attention:  Global Corporate Trust 

(iii) if to the TIFIA Lender: 

Build America Bureau 
United States Department of Transportation 
Room W12-464 
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE 
Washington, D.C. 20590 
Attention:  Director, Office of Credit Programs 
Email:  BureauOversight@dot.gov 

(iv) if to BOM:  

Bank of Marin 
[______________________] 
[______________________] 
[______________________] 
Attention:  [______________________] 
Email:  [______________________] 

(v) if to U.S. Bank National Association (as a Farebox Bank) 

U.S. Bank National Association 
[______________________] 

238



32 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

[______________________] 
[______________________] 
Attention:  [______________________] 
Email:  [______________________] 

All instructions required under this Agreement shall be delivered to the Collateral Agent in writing, 
in either original, electronic document format (e.g. pdf) or facsimile form, executed by an Authorized 
Representative.  The identity of such Authorized Representatives, as well as their specimen signatures, shall 
be delivered to the Collateral Agent substantially in the form of a duly completed and executed Incumbency 
Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit C (provided that for the TIFIA Lender, delivery of the TIFIA 
Lender’s Authorized Representative Certificate, as provided pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Agreement, shall 
satisfy the requirements of this section) and shall remain in effect until such party notifies the Collateral 
Agent of any change by delivery of a replacement duly completed and executed Incumbency Certificate 
substantially in the form of Exhibit C.  In its capacity as Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent will accept 
all instructions and documents complying with the above under the indemnities provided in this Agreement, 
and reserves the right to refuse to accept any instructions or documents which fail to comply with the terms 
hereof; provided, that in the event of any such refusal by the Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent shall 
promptly notify the relevant Authorized Representative executing the instructions or delivering the 
documents of such non-compliance and provide a reasonable time period for the correction thereof.  Further 
to this procedure, the Collateral Agent reserves the right to telephone an Authorized Representative of the 
applicable Secured Creditor or the Borrower to confirm the details of such instructions or documents if they 
are not already on file with it as standing instructions, and the Collateral Agent agrees that it will promptly 
telephone an Authorized Representative of the applicable Secured Creditor or the Borrower, as applicable, 
if the Collateral Agent has determined that it will refuse to accept any instructions or documents which fail, 
or appear to fail, to comply.  The Collateral Agent and the parties hereto agree that the above constitutes a 
commercially reasonable security procedure. 

Any party hereto may change its address, email address or facsimile number for notices and other 
communications hereunder by notice to the Borrower, the Collateral Agent, BOM, the TIFIA Lender and 
the other Secured Parties party hereto.  All notices or other communications required or permitted to be 
given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and, if given in accordance with this Section, unless 
otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when delivered by 
hand or, in the case of notice given by mail, overnight delivery service, facsimile or email, when deposited 
in the mail, one Business Day after delivery to the overnight courier, or when sent by fax or email, as 
applicable; provided that any notice to be served on the Collateral Agent shall be effective only when 
actually received by the Collateral Agent, marked for the attention of the department or officer specified by 
the Collateral Agent for such purpose. 

Section 10.05 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts 
and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered 
shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument; 
signature pages may be detached from multiple separate counterparts and attached to a single counterpart 
so that all signature pages are physically attached to the same document.  Electronic delivery of an executed 
counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement or of any document or instrument delivered in connection 
herewith in accordance with Section 10.04 shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart 
of this Agreement or such other document or instrument, as applicable, and any printed or copied versions 
of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of 
such signature page.  Signatures for this Agreement or for any document or instrument delivered in 
connection herewith may be made by electronic means, if accompanied by an email from the applicable 
signatory, contemporaneous or otherwise, confirming the use of such means. 

239



33 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Section 10.06 Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.  

(a) This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement 
shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Each of the 
parties hereto hereby irrevocably consents and submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any California 
state court sitting in [______________]2, California and of the United States District Court of the Central 
District sitting in [______________], in any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement.  

(b) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SET FORTH IN THIS CLAUSE (B), EACH PARTY 
AGREES TO SUBMIT TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 638, ET SEQ., OF THE 
CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION, OR CAUSE OF 
ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY EXHIBIT HERETO, ANY 
CLOSING DOCUMENT OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR 
THEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, STATUTE OR ANY OTHER LEGAL 
THEORY (HEREINAFTER “DISPUTE”)); PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT IF ANY DISPUTE 
HEREUNDER ARISES, THE TIFIA LENDER SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO ELECT, IN ITS SOLE 
DISCRETION, WHETHER TO AGREE TO SUBMIT SUCH DISPUTE TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE, 
AS PROVIDED IN CLAUSE (C) BELOW. IF THE TIFIA LENDER ELECTS IN WRITING TO SUBMIT 
SUCH DISPUTE TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE, EACH OTHER PARTY HERETO HEREBY AGREES 
TO SUBMIT SUCH DISPUTE TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE. IF THE TIFIA LENDER ELECTS NOT 
TO SUBMIT SUCH DISPUTE TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE, EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY 
WAIVES THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO SUCH DISPUTE AND AGREES 
NOT TO SUBMIT SUCH DISPUTE TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE.  

(c) ANY JUDICIAL REFERENCE AGREED TO IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
CLAUSE (B) ABOVE WILL BE FILED AND PROSECUTED IN THE LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR 
COURT. PURSUANT TO SUCH JUDICIAL REFERENCE, THE PARTIES AGREE TO THE 
APPOINTMENT OF A SINGLE REFEREE AND TO USE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO AGREE ON 
THE SELECTION OF A REFEREE. IF THE PARTIES TO THE APPLICABLE DISPUTE ARE 
UNABLE TO AGREE ON A SINGLE REFEREE, A REFEREE WILL BE APPOINTED BY THE 
COURT TO HEAR SUCH DISPUTE IN LIEU OF A JURY TRIAL. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE 
APPOINTED REFEREE WILL HAVE THE POWER TO DECIDE ALL ISSUES REGARDING SUCH 
DISPUTE IN THE APPLICABLE ACTION OR PROCEEDING, WHETHER OF FACT OR LAW, AND 
WILL REPORT A STATEMENT OF DECISION THEREON. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE 
PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT HAVE BEEN FAIRLY NEGOTIATED ON AN 
ARM’S-LENGTH BASIS, WITH ALL PARTIES BEING AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY TO HAVE 
THE ADVICE AND COUNSEL OF THEIR INDEPENDENT ATTORNEY. ANY PARTY MAY FILE 
AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION, TOGETHER WITH THE 
WRITTEN AGREEMENT OF THE TIFIA LENDER PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CLAUSE 
(B) ABOVE, WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE PARTIES 
TO THE APPLICATION OF JUDICIAL REFERENCE IN THE EVENT OF SUCH DISPUTE. 

Section 10.07 Captions.  The headings of the several articles and sections and clauses of this 
Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not in any way affect the meaning or construction 
of any provision of this Agreement. 

                                                      
2  NTD:  To be updated based on the location of the Collateral Agent. 

240



34 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Section 10.08 Severability.  Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be 
interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this 
Agreement shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective only 
to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provisions or the 
remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

Section 10.09 Collateral Agent's Rights.   

(a) If at any time the Collateral Agent is served with any judicial or administrative 
order, judgment, decree, writ or other form of judicial or administrative process which in any way affects 
the Collateral (including but not limited to orders of attachment or garnishment or other forms of levies or 
injunctions or stays relating to the transfer of such property), the Collateral Agent is authorized to comply 
therewith in any manner it or legal counsel of its own choosing reasonably deems appropriate.  If the 
Collateral Agent complies with any such judicial or administrative order, judgment, decree, writ or other 
form of judicial or administrative process, the Collateral Agent shall not be liable to any of the parties hereto 
or to any other Person or entity even though such order, judgment, decree, writ or process may be 
subsequently modified or vacated or otherwise determined to have been without legal force or effect. 

(b) In the event of any dispute between or conflicting claims by or among the Borrower 
and the Secured Parties with respect to any property being held by the Collateral Agent in connection with 
this Agreement or any other Security Documents, the Collateral Agent shall be entitled, in its sole 
discretion, to refuse to comply with any and all claims, demands or instructions with respect to such 
property so long as such dispute or conflict shall continue, and the Collateral Agent shall not be or become 
liable in any way to the Borrower or the Secured Parties for failure or refusal to comply with such 
conflicting claims, demands or instructions. The Collateral Agent shall be entitled to refuse to act until, in 
its sole discretion, either (i) such conflicting or adverse claims or demands shall have been determined by 
a final order, judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, which order, judgment or decree is 
not subject to appeal, or settled by agreement between the conflicting parties as evidenced in a writing 
reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent or (ii) the Collateral Agent shall have received security or 
an indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it sufficient to hold it harmless from and against any and all losses 
which it may incur by reason of so acting (provided that any indemnity that may at any time be requested 
from the TIFIA Lender shall instead be provided by the Borrower and the Collateral Agent shall not refuse 
to take any action on the basis that the Borrower is providing such indemnification in lieu of the TIFIA 
Lender).  Any court order, judgment or decree shall be accompanied by a legal opinion by counsel for the 
presenting party, reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, to the effect that said order, judgment or 
decree represents a final adjudication of the rights of the parties by a court of competent jurisdiction, and 
that the time for appeal from such order, judgment or decree has expired without an appeal having been 
perfected.  The Collateral Agent shall act on such court order and legal opinions without further question. 

(c) To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering 
activities, federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that 
identifies each Person who opens an account.  When any account or sub-account is opened, the Collateral 
Agent shall be entitled to such information that will allow it to identify the individual or entity who is 
establishing the relationship or opening the account and may also ask for formation documents such as 
articles of incorporation or other identifying documents to be provided. 

Section 10.10 Patriot Act Notification.  The Collateral Agent hereby notifies the Borrower that 
pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act, Title III of Pub. I., 107-56 (signed into law October 
26, 2001) (the "Patriot Act"), the Collateral Agent may be required to obtain, verify and record information 
that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name, address, tax identification number and 

241



35 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

other information regarding the Borrower that will allow the Collateral Agent to identify the Borrower in 
accordance with the Patriot Act. 

Section 10.11 Events Occurring on Days That Are Not Business Days.  Other than as 
expressly set forth in this Agreement, if the date for making any payment or the last day for the performance 
of any act or the exercising of any right under this Agreement is a day that is not a Business Day, such 
payment shall be made, such act shall be performed and such right shall be exercised on the next succeeding 
Business Day, with the same force and effect as if done on the nominal date herein. 

[signature pages follow] 

242



[Signature Page to Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement] 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and 
delivered by their respective duly authorized officers as of the date first written above. 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY,  
as Borrower 

 

By:     
 Name:  
 Title:  

  

243



[Signature Page to Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement] 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
as the Collateral Agent and the Securities 
Intermediary on behalf of itself and the other 
Secured Parties 

 

By:     
 Name:  
 Title: 

244



[Signature Page to Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement] 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

BANK OF MARIN 

 

By:     
 Name:  
 Title:  

  

245



[Signature Page to Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement] 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION,  
acting by and through the Executive Director of 
the Build America Bureau 

 

By:     
 Name: Dr. Morteza Farajian 
 Title: Executive Director

246



Exhibit A - 1 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT A 
 

DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF INTERPRETATION 

Defined Terms 

"Acceding Party" has the meaning specified in Section 9.01. 

"Accession Agreement" means an Accession Agreement substantially in the form attached as 
Exhibit D to this Agreement. 

"Account Earnings" means the interest income and other investment earnings earned with respect 
to amounts deposited to any Project Account. 

"Additional Pari Passu Debt" means additional indebtedness that the Borrower incurs after the 
date hereof and that is (a) equally and ratably secured by the Collateral with the BOM Loan and the TIFIA 
Loan, without preference, priority or distinction and (b) permitted pursuant to the terms of the Finance 
Documents, including the requirements for "Additional Obligations" pursuant to the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement.  

"Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(b)(i). 

"Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement" means, for each series of Additional Pari Passu Debt, 
the loan agreement executed by the Borrower and the lender thereto in connection with the issuance of such 
Additional Pari Passu Debt.  

"Adjusted Debt Service Amount" means: 

(a) for the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to (i) the interest due on 
the BOM Loan on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date, plus (ii) the principal due on the BOM 
Loan on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date, plus (iii) any fees, costs, expenses and other amounts 
then due and payable under the BOM Loan Agreement; 

(b) for the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to (i) the interest due 
on the TIFIA Loan on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date plus (ii) the principal due on the TIFIA 
Loan on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date , plus (iii) any fees, costs, expenses and other amounts 
then due and payable under the TIFIA Loan Agreement; and  

(c) for each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account, an 
amount equal to (i) (A) for any Payment Period beginning on an Annual Payment Date, fifty percent 
(50%) of the interest due on the applicable obligation (in which debt service is due on an annual 
basis) with respect to such account on the next Annual Payment Date or (B) for any Payment Period 
that does not begin on an Annual Payment Date, one hundred percent (100%) of the interest due 
on the applicable obligation with respect to such account on the next Annual Payment Date; 
provided that if the interest on any applicable Pari Passu Obligation is payable on a semi-annual 
basis, clause (i) shall read “the interest due on the applicable obligation with respect to such account 
on the next Semi-Annual Payment Date for such Pari Passu Obligations", plus (ii) (A) for any 
Payment Period beginning on an Annual Payment Date, fifty percent (50%) of the principal due on 
the applicable obligation (in which debt service is due on an annual basis) with respect to such 
account on the next Annual Payment Date or (B) for any Payment Period that does not begin on an 

247



Exhibit A - 2 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Annual Payment Date, one hundred percent (100%) of the principal due on the applicable 
obligation with respect to such account on the next Annual Payment Date; provided that if the 
principal on any applicable Pari Passu Obligation is payable on a semi-annual basis, clause (ii) shall 
read “the principal due on the applicable obligation with respect to such account on the next Semi-
Annual Payment Date for such Pari Passu Obligations”, plus (iii) any fees, costs, expenses and 
other amounts then due and payable under the issuing document for the applicable Pass Passu 
Obligation with respect to such account. 

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that is Controlling, Controlled by, 
or under common Control with such Person. For purposes of this definition, "control" (including its 
correlative meanings – "Controlling", "Controlled by" and "under common Control with") shall mean 
possession, directly or indirectly, of power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies 
(whether through ownership of securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract or 
otherwise). 

"Agreement" has the meaning specified in the preamble. 

“Ancillary Revenue” means (a) all income derived from Permitted Investments, (b) proceeds from 
business interruption and delay in start-up insurance policies, (c) revenue from any lease or other contract, 
(d) the proceeds of any sale or other disposition of assets of the Borrower, (e) all net cash payments received 
by the Borrower under or in connection with any hedging agreements, (f) member contributions made to 
the Borrower pursuant to the Joint Powers Agreement, and (g) all proceeds received by or on behalf of the 
Borrower in respect of "Regional Measure 3 (RM3)" pursuant to California S.B. 595  or any successor 
statute.3 

“Annual Payment Date” means for any Pari Passu Debts for which interest or principal payable 
on an annual basis, the date on which interest or principal is payable on such Pari Passu Debts as set forth 
in, and commencing from the initial payment date provided in, the documents pursuant to which such Pari 
Passu Debts were incurred.   

"Authorized Representative" means the authorized representative or other authorized signatory 
of the Borrower or any other party hereto, as set forth in the most recently delivered Incumbency Certificate 
for such party. 

"Bankruptcy Related Event" means, with respect to the Borrower, 

(a) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be 
filed seeking (i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of the Borrower or any of its debts, or 
of a substantial part of the assets thereof, under any Insolvency Laws, or (ii) the appointment of a receiver, 
trustee, liquidator, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Borrower or for a 
substantial part of the assets thereof and, in any case referred to in the foregoing subclauses (i) and (ii), such 
proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for sixty (60) days or an order or decree approving or 
ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered;  

(b) the Borrower shall (i) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
liquidator, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official therefor or for a substantial part of the 
assets thereof, (ii) generally not be paying its debts as they become due unless such debts are the subject of 
a bona fide dispute, or become unable to pay its debts generally as they become due, (iii) fail to make two 

                                                      
3  NTD: Definition includes changes from the term sheet version, including an edit to clause (d) and new clause (f). 

248



Exhibit A - 3 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(2) consecutive payments of principal and interest due and payable on the TIFIA Loan in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 9 of the TIFIA Loan Agreement, (iv) make a general assignment for the benefit 
of creditors, (v) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner, any 
proceeding or petition with respect to it described in clause (a) of this definition, (vi) commence a voluntary 
proceeding under any Insolvency Law, or file a voluntary petition seeking liquidation, reorganization, an 
arrangement with creditors or an order for relief under any Insolvency Law, (vii) file an answer admitting 
the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any proceeding referred to in the foregoing subclauses 
(i) through (vi), inclusive, of this clause (b), or (viii) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the 
foregoing;  

(c) (i) the Collateral Agent shall commence a process pursuant to which all or a 
substantial part of the Collateral may be sold or otherwise disposed of in a public or private sale or 
disposition pursuant to a foreclosure of the Liens thereon securing the Secured Obligations, or (ii) the 
Collateral Agent shall commence a process pursuant to which all or a substantial part of the Collateral may 
be sold or otherwise disposed of pursuant to a sale or disposition of such Collateral in lieu of foreclosure; 
or  

(d) the Collateral Agent shall transfer, pursuant to directions issued by the Secured 
Creditors, funds on deposit in any of the Project Accounts upon the occurrence and during the continuation 
of an Event of Default for application to the prepayment or repayment of any principal amount of the BOM 
Loan, the TIFIA Loan or any other Secured Obligations other than in accordance with the provisions of the 
Finance Documents. 

"BOM" has the meaning specified in the recitals to this Agreement. 

"BOM Debt Service Reserve Required Balance" means, as of any date, an amount equal to [an 
amount equal to all principal and interest on the TIFIA Loan due and payable on the next succeeding 
Payment Date]4. 

"BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(a). 

"BOM Debt Service Sub-Account" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(a). 

"BOM Loan" has the meaning specified in the recitals to this Agreement. 

"BOM Loan Agreement" has the meaning specified in the recitals to this Agreement. 

“BOM Notes” means the promissory notes evidencing the BOM Loan that were delivered by the 
Borrower in accordance with the BOM Loan Agreement. 

"Borrower" has the meaning specified in the recitals to this Agreement. 

"Borrower Fiscal Year" means (a) as of the Effective Date, a fiscal year of the Borrower 
commencing on July 1 of any calendar year and ending on June 30 of the immediately succeeding calendar 
year or (b) such other fiscal year as the Borrower may hereafter adopt after giving thirty (30) days’ prior 
written notice to the Secured Parties. 

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which offices of the 
Federal Government of the United States of America and its departments and agencies or the State of 
                                                      
4  NOTE TO BORROWER: Please confirm the BOM Debt Service Reserve Required Balance. 

249



Exhibit A - 4 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

California are authorized to be closed or on which commercial banks are authorized or required by law, 
regulation or executive order to be closed in New York, New York, Napa County, California or 
[__________]5, California. 

"Clearing Agency" has the meaning specified in Section 5.08(f). 

"Co-Collateral Agent" has the meaning specified in Section 2.11(c). 

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the regulations promulgated and rulings 
issued thereunder, each as amended from time to time, and any successor statute. 

"Collateral" means all real and personal property, now owned or hereafter acquired, that is subject 
to the Liens granted by the Borrower under any of the Security Documents, which as of the Effective Date 
consists of the property described in Section 1.01. 

"Collateral Agent" has the meaning specified in the preamble to this Agreement. 

“County of Napa” means the County of Napa, a general law county duly existing under the laws 
of the State. 

"Debt Service Payment Commencement Date" means the first Semi-Annual Payment Date 
following the initial draw on the TIFIA Loan. 

"Default" means any event or circumstance that, with the giving of notice, the lapse of time, or 
both, would (if not cured or otherwise remedied during such time) constitute an Event of Default. 

"Determination Date" means the Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date, and each May 2 and November 
2 thereafter; provided, that if such day is not a Business Day, the Determination Date shall be the 
immediately preceding Business Day. 

"Direction Notice" has the meaning specified in Section 6.03. 

"Dollars", "U.S. Dollars" or "$" means the lawful currency of the United States of America. 

"Effective Date" means the date of this Agreement. 

"Enforcement Action" means any action, whether by judicial proceedings or otherwise, to enforce 
or exercise any of the rights and remedies granted to the Collateral Agent and/or the Secured Parties 
pursuant to the Finance Documents against the Collateral or the Borrower, in each case, upon the occurrence 
of an Event of Default.  

"Event of Default" means any of the events identified as an "Event of Default" under any Finance 
Document. 

"Farebox Bank" means each financial institution, Governmental Authority, or other entity that 
receives, or directs the deposit and transfer of, Farebox Revenues on behalf of the Borrower (whether based 
on cash receipts, credit/debit card charges, or wire transfers in connection with bulk purchases or payments 

                                                      
5  NTD: To include the city in which the Collateral Agent is located. 

250



Exhibit A - 5 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

that supplement subsidized rate fare collections). Initially, the Farebox Bank consists of U.S. Bank National 
Association. 

“Farebox Bank Irrevocable Instruction” means (a) that certain Agreement for Irrevocable 
Direction to Deposit Farebox Revenues, dated as of [_________], 2021, among the Borrower, the County 
of Napa and the other signatories thereto and (b) any irrevocable direction issued by the Borrower to a 
Farebox Bank and acknowledged and agreed to by such Farebox Bank from time to time in connection with 
the designation of any new Farebox Bank. 

"Farebox Revenues" means all farebox revenues and contract service revenues collected by or on 
behalf of the Borrower in connection with the operation of all transit vehicles owned or leased by the 
Borrower, including: 

(a) revenues earned under contractual arrangements with public or private entities, (i) 
for transit fares for a specified group of employees, members, or clients, (ii) to guarantee a minimum 
revenue on a line operated especially for the benefit of the paying entity (e.g., an employer, shopping center, 
university, etc.) or (iii) for enhanced service at special events; 

(b) cash donations made by individual passengers or community organizations in lieu 
of a prescribed fare; 

(c) passenger fares collected by the Borrower; 

(d) fare subsidies from a public or private entity; 

(e) local support, including passenger donations and local business contributions made 
to benefit employees, customers, visitors, or residents; 

(f) parking revenues used as fare subsidies; and 

(g) support from private non-profits to supplement discount or zero fares. 

"FDIC" means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

"Federal Book-Entry Regulations" means (i) the United States Department of the Treasury's 
regulations governing "Securities" (as defined in 31 C.F.R. § 357.2) issued by the United States Treasury 
and maintained in the form of entries in the federal reserve banks' book-entry system known as the 
Treasury/Reserve Automated Debt Entry System (TRADES), as such regulations are set forth in 31 C.F.R. 
Part 357 and (ii) regulations analogous and substantially similar to the regulations described in clause (i) 
above governing any other automated book-entry system operated by the United States federal reserve 
banks in which securities issued by government sponsored enterprises are issued, recorded, transferred and 
maintained in book-entry form. 

"Finance Documents" means: 

(a) the BOM Loan Agreement; 

(b) the Notes; 

(c) the TIFIA Loan Agreement; 

(d) any Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreements; 

251



Exhibit A - 6 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(e) this Agreement; 

(f) any other Security Documents; and 

(g) any other agreement, document or instrument relating to the foregoing and 
designated as a Finance Document in writing by the Borrower and each of the Secured Parties. 

"Funds Transfer Certificate" means a certificate prepared by the Borrower in accordance with 
the terms of this Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit B attached to this Agreement containing 
the certifications by the Borrower required by this Agreement with respect to a requested transfer of funds 
from a Project Account. 

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles as defined by the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants or such other nationally recognized professional body, in effect from time to 
time in the United States of America. 

"Governmental Authority" means any nation, state, sovereign or government, any federal, 
regional, state or local government or political subdivision thereof or other entity exercising executive, 
legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government and having 
jurisdiction over the Person or matters in question.  

"Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness of such Person for 
borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person for the deferred purchase price of property or services, 
(c) all obligations of such Person evidenced by notes, bonds, loan agreements, debentures or other similar 
instruments, (d) all obligations of such Person created or arising under any conditional sale or other title 
retention agreement with respect to property acquired by such Person (even though the rights and remedies 
of the seller or lender under such agreement in the event of default are limited to repossession or sale of 
such property), (e) all obligations of such Person as lessee under leases that have been or should be, in 
accordance with GAAP, recorded as capital leases, (f) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such 
Person in respect of letters of credit, bankers' acceptances, bank guaranties, surety Pari Passu Debt or similar 
extensions of credit, (g) indebtedness secured by a Lien on property owned or being purchased by such 
Person, whether or not such indebtedness shall have been assumed by such Person or is limited in recourse 
and (h) all Indebtedness of others referred to in clauses (a) through (g) above and other payment obligations 
(collectively, "Guaranteed Indebtedness") guaranteed directly or indirectly in any manner by such Person, 
or in effect guaranteed directly or indirectly by such Person through an agreement (i) to pay or purchase 
such Guaranteed Indebtedness or to advance or supply funds for the payment or purchase of such 
Guaranteed Indebtedness, (ii) to purchase, sell or lease (as lessee or lessor) property, or to purchase or sell 
services, primarily for the purpose of enabling the debtor to make payment of such Guaranteed Indebtedness 
or to assure the holder of such Guaranteed Indebtedness against loss, (iii) to supply funds to or in any other 
manner invest in the debtor (including any agreement to pay for property or services irrespective of whether 
such property is received or such services are rendered) or (iv) otherwise to assure a creditor against loss. 

"Indemnitee" has the meaning specified in Section 7.02.  

“Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date” means the earlier of (a) the first date following the Effective 
Date on which the Borrower receives LTF Funds or (b) the first date following the Effective Date on which 
the County of Napa or a Farebox Bank receives such LTF Funds on behalf of the Borrower. 

"Insolvency Laws" means the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101 et seq., as from 
time to time amended and in effect, and any state bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, conservatorship or 
similar law now or hereafter in effect. 

252



Exhibit A - 7 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

"Law" means any federal, state, local and municipal laws, rules and regulations, orders, codes, 
directives, permits, approvals, decisions, decrees, ordinances or by-laws having the force of law and any 
common or civil law, whether adopted or enacted prior to or after the date hereof including binding court 
and judicial decisions having the force of law, and includes any amendment, extension or re-enactment of 
any of the same in force from time to time and all other instruments, orders and regulations made pursuant 
to statute, including those made by any Governmental Authority. 

"Lien" means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, mandatory deposit arrangement, 
encumbrance, attachment, lien (statutory or other), charge or other security interest, or preference, priority 
or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever, including any 
sale-leaseback arrangement, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, or any financing lease 
having substantially the same effect as any of the foregoing, and the filing of any financing statement or 
similar instrument under the UCC or any other applicable law. 

"LTF Funds" means Local Transportation Funds distributed by the State pursuant to the 
Transportation Development Act (California Government Code Section 29530 – 29536, California Public 
Utilities Code Section 99200 – 99408, and Title 21 California Code of Regulations Section 6600 – 6756). 

“LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction” means that certain Agreement for Irrevocable Direction to 
Deposit Local Transportation Funds, dated as of [_________], 2021, among the Borrower, the County of 
Napa and the other signatories thereto. 

"Mandatory Payments" has the meaning specified in clause "Sixth" of Section 5.03(b). 

"Mandatory Prepayment Account" means the sub-account of the Revenue Account established, 
after the date hereof in accordance with Section 5.06(a), for the prepayment and redemption of any Secured 
Obligations. 

"Nationally Recognized Rating Agency" means any nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization identified as such by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

"No Transfer Conditions" means (a) amounts on deposit in each sub-account of the Pari Passu 
Debt Service Account are at least equal to the applicable Adjusted Debt Service Amount, and (b) (i) 
amounts on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account are at least equal to the TIFIA Debt 
Service Reserve Required Balance, (ii) amounts on deposit in the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account 
are at least equal to the BOM Debt Service Reserve Required Balance, and (iii) amounts on deposit in each 
other sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account are at least equal to the Pari Passu Debt 
Service Reserve Required Balance for such sub-account.  

"No Transfer Order" has the meaning specified in Section 5.03(g). 

"Notes" means the BOM Notes, the TIFIA Note and any promissory note, if any, issued by the 
Borrower relating to any Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement. 

“Other Revenues” means any revenues of the Borrower (other than LTF Funds allocated to the 
Borrower, Farebox Revenues and federal grant funds), including (a) all STA Funds received by the 
Borrower and (b) all Ancillary Revenues. 

"Pari Passu Debt" means the BOM Loan and any Additional Pari Passu Debt. 

"Pari Passu Debt Service Account" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(a). 

253



Exhibit A - 8 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

"Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(a). 

"Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Required Balance" means, at any time for a sub-account of 
the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, the amount 
required to be on deposit in such sub-account as set forth in the applicable Additional Pari Passu Loan 
Agreement for such Additional Pari Passu Debt with respect to such sub-account. 

"Pari Passu Secured Obligations" means any obligations of the Borrower incurred under or in 
connection with the BOM Loan Agreement or any Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement, including all 
such amounts that would be owed by the Borrower but for the fact that collection or receipt of such amounts 
is unenforceable or not allowed due to a pending proceeding by or against the Borrower under any 
Insolvency Law. 

"Patriot Act" has the meaning specified in Section 10.10. 

"Payment Date" means each Semi-Annual Payment Date and each Annual Payment Date. 

"Payment Period" means any period of six (6) months from (and including) a Semi-Annual 
Payment Date to (but excluding) the immediately succeeding Semi-Annual Payment Date.  

"Permitted Indebtedness" means any Indebtedness to the extent permitted by the terms of the 
Finance Documents (including the BOM Loan Agreement prior to the termination thereof). 

"Permitted Investments" means any investments to the extent permitted under each of the Finance 
Documents (including the BOM Loan Agreement prior to the termination thereof). 

"Permitted Lien" means any Liens to the extent permitted by the Finance Documents (including 
the BOM Loan Agreement prior to the termination thereof). 

"Permitted Subordinated Loans" means, to the extent permitted by the terms of the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement, the BOM Loan Agreement and, if applicable, any Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement, 
unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower. 

"Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, 
joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture, Governmental Authority or other 
entity of whatever nature.\ 

"Proceeds" means "proceeds" as such term is defined in the UCC or under other relevant law and, 
in any event, shall include, but shall not be limited to, (i) any and all proceeds of, or amounts (in whatsoever 
form, whether cash, securities, property or other assets) received under or with respect to, any insurance, 
indemnity, warranty or guaranty payable to the Borrower from time to time, and claims for insurance, 
indemnity, warranty or guaranty effected or held for the benefit of the Borrower, in each case with respect 
to any of the Collateral, (ii) any and all payments (in any form whatsoever, whether cash, securities, 
property or other assets) made or due and payable to the Borrower from time to time in connection with 
any requisition, confiscation, condemnation, seizure or forfeiture of all or any part of the Collateral by any 
Governmental Authority (or any person acting under color of Governmental Authority), and (iii) any and 
all other amounts (in any form whatsoever, whether cash, securities, property or other assets) from time to 
time paid or payable under or in connection with any of the Collateral (whether or not in connection with 
the sale, lease or other disposition of the Collateral). 

"Project" has the meaning specified in the recitals hereinabove. 

254



Exhibit A - 9 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

"Project Accounts" means, collectively, (a) each of the Securities Accounts and (b) each such 
other account specified or to be specified as being a "Project Account" in this Agreement, including any 
sub-accounts thereof, from time to time. 

"Required Creditors" has the meaning specified in Section 6.08. 

"Revenues" means (i) all LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower, (ii) all Farebox Revenues received 
by or on behalf of the Borrower and (iii) all Other Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower. 

"Revenue Account" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(a). 

"Secured Creditors" means, collectively, (i) BOM, (ii) the TIFIA Lender, and (iii) any other holder 
of Secured Obligations. 

"Secured Obligations" means (i) the Pari Passu Secured Obligations and (ii) the TIFIA 
Obligations. 

"Secured Parties" means, collectively, the Secured Creditors and the Collateral Agent. 

"Securities" means any stock, shares, partnership interests, voting trust certificates, certificates of 
interest or participation in any profit sharing agreement or arrangement, options, warrants, bonds, 
debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, secured or unsecured, convertible, subordinated or 
otherwise, or in general any instruments commonly known as "securities" or any certificates of interest, 
shares or participations in temporary or interim certificates for the purchase or acquisition of, or any right 
to subscribe to, purchase or acquire any of the foregoing. 

"Securities Accounts" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(a).  

"Securities Intermediary" has the meaning specified in Section 5.11(a). 

"Security Documents" means the collective reference to (a) this Agreement; (b) any other 
agreement, document or instrument hereafter entered into or delivered by the Borrower or any other Person 
which purports to create a Lien in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of all of the Secured Parties; 
and (c) all UCC financing statements and other filings, recordings or registrations required by the Finance 
Documents to be filed or made in respect of any such Security Document. 

“Semi-Annual Payment Date” means (a) for the TIFIA Loan, each [May 1] and [November 1] or 
if any such day is not a Business Day, then the Business Day immediately succeeding such date, 
commencing on the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date, (b) for the BOM Loan, each [May 1] and 
[November 1], or if any such day is not a Business Day, then the Business Day immediately succeeding 
such date, for so long as the BOM Loan is outstanding, commencing from the initial payment date provided 
in the BOM Loan Agreement, and (c) for any other Pari Passu Debts, the date or dates on which interest or 
principal (if payable on a semi-annual basis) is payable on such Pari Passu Debts as set forth in, and 
commencing from the initial payment date provided in, the documents pursuant to which such Pari Passu 
Debts were incurred. 

“STA Funds” means State Transit Assistance funds distributed by the State pursuant to the 
Transportation Development Act (California Government Code Section 29530 – 29536, California Public 
Utilities Code Section 99200 – 99408, and Title 21 California Code of Regulations Section 6600 – 6756). 

"State" means the State of California. 

255



Exhibit A - 10 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

"Taxes" means any and all present or future income, stamp, transfer, turnover and other taxes, 
levies, imposts, duties, charges, fees, deductions or withholdings now or hereafter imposed, levied, 
collected, withheld or assessed by any Governmental Authority, and any and all interest, penalties, claims 
or other liabilities arising under or relating thereto, including those on any of the Secured Parties or on 
payments to be made to or received by any of them from the Borrower under this Agreement. 

"TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance" means, as of any date, an amount equal to all 
principal and interest on the TIFIA Loan due and payable on the next succeeding Semi-Annual Payment 
Date. 

"TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(a). 

"TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account" has the meaning specified in Section 5.01(a). 

"TIFIA Lender" has the meaning specified in the recitals to this Agreement. 

"TIFIA Loan" has the meaning specified in the recitals to this Agreement. 

"TIFIA Loan Agreement" has the meaning specified in the recitals to this Agreement. 

"TIFIA Note" means the promissory note delivered by the Borrower in substantially the form of 
Exhibit A to the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

"TIFIA Obligations" means any obligations of the Borrower incurred under or in connection with 
the TIFIA Loan Agreement, including all such amounts that would be owed by the Borrower but for the 
fact that collection or receipt of such amounts is unenforceable or not allowed due to a pending proceeding 
by or against the Borrower under any Insolvency Law. 

"Transfer Date" means the [__] day of each month (or, if such date is not a Business Day, the 
immediately preceding Business Day); provided, that in any given month, the Borrower may elect to have 
a second Transfer Date that occurs on the first Business Day following the date on which LTF Funds are 
deposited to the Revenue Account in accordance with Section 5.03(a)(i) in such month.  

"Treasury Regulations" means the temporary, proposed or final federal income tax regulations 
promulgated by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, together with the other published written guidance 
thereof, as applicable. 

"Uniform Commercial Code" or "UCC" means the Uniform Commercial Code, as the same may, 
from time to time, be in effect in the State of California; provided that if, with respect to any financing 
statement or by reason of mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the perfection, or priority of the security 
interest in any Collateral is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in a jurisdiction other 
than the State of California, the term "UCC" shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in such 
other jurisdiction for purposes of the provisions hereof or any other Finance Document or any financing 
statement relating to such perfection or priority and for purposes of definitions related to such provisions. 

"U.S. Government" means the United States of America and its departments and agencies. 

  

256



Exhibit A - 11 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 

Rules of Interpretation 

1. The incorporation by reference of definitions or other terms from other agreements shall 
survive any termination of such agreements until this Agreement is terminated as provided 
in Article VIII hereof.  

2. Definitions of terms shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms 
defined. 

3. The use in this Agreement of the word "include" or "including", when following any 
general statement, term or matter, shall not be construed to limit such statement, term or 
matter to the specific items or matters set forth immediately following such word or to 
similar items or matters, whether or not non-limiting language (such as "without limitation" 
or "but not limited to" or words of similar import) is used with reference thereto, but rather 
shall be deemed to refer to all other items or matters that fall within the broadest possible 
scope of such general statement, term or matter. 

4. The word "will" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "shall". 

5. A reference to a Law includes any amendment or modification to such Law, and all 
regulations, rulings and other Laws promulgated under such Law. 

6. A reference to a Person shall be construed to include its successors and permitted assigns. 

7. Except as otherwise expressly specified, all accounting terms have the meanings assigned 
to them by GAAP, as in effect from time to time. 

8. A reference in a document to an Article, Section, Exhibit, Schedule, Annex or Appendix 
is to the Article, Section, Exhibit, Schedule, Annex or Appendix of such document unless 
otherwise indicated.  Exhibits, Schedules, Annexes or Appendices to any document shall 
be deemed incorporated by reference in such document.  

9. Any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document shall be 
construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to 
time amended, supplemented and/or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such 
amendments, supplements or modifications set forth in the Finance Documents).   

10. The words "herein," "hereof," "hereto," "hereby," "hereunder" and other words of similar 
import in this Agreement refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular 
Article, Section or other subdivision; and, if this Agreement has been amended, such words 
shall refer to this Agreement as so amended. 

11. References to "days" means calendar days, unless the term "Business Days" shall be used.  
References to a time of day means such time in New York, New York, unless otherwise 
specified. 

12. The terms lease and license shall include sub-lease and sub-license, as applicable, and as 
may be allowed under this Agreement, any other Finance Documents, as applicable. 

257



Exhibit A - 12 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

13. All references in this Agreement to provisions of the UCC shall include all successor 
provisions under any subsequent version or amendment to the applicable UCC. 

14. The term "money" or "funds" includes any cash, check, deposit, investment security or 
other form in which any of the foregoing are held hereunder. 

15. Any reference to or defined term for any securities account or deposit account, including 
without limitation the Project Accounts and the Securities Accounts, shall include any 
subaccount thereof, and any substitute, successor (whether by renumbering or otherwise) 
or replacement account therefore.

258



 

 
 Exhibit B-1 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF FUNDS TRANSFER CERTIFICATE 

Date:  [_______], [_____] 
Funding Date:  [_______], [_____] 

 
U.S. Bank National Association, 
as Collateral Agent 
633 W. Fifth Street, 24th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90071 
Attention:  Global Corporate Trust 
 
Re:  Napa Valley Transportation Authority 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Reference is made to that certain Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement, dated as of 
[_________], 2021 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time 
to time, the “CASA”), among the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, a California joint powers 
agency (the “Borrower”), Bank of Marin, a California state-chartered bank, as lender under the BOM 
Loan Agreement (including its successors and assigns, “BOM”), the United States Department of 
Transportation, an agency of the United States of America, acting by and through the Executive Director 
of the Build America Bureau, in its capacity as lender under the TIFIA Loan Agreement (including its 
successors and assigns, the "TIFIA Lender"), U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking 
association, in its capacity as collateral agent on behalf of itself and the other Secured Parties (in such 
capacity (including its successors and assigns), the “Collateral Agent”), U.S. Bank National 
Association, a national banking association, in its capacity as securities intermediary (in such capacity 
(including its successors and assigns), the “Securities Intermediary”), and each other Secured Party that 
accedes to the CASA in accordance with Article IX thereto. 

The undersigned is an Authorized Representative of the Borrower and is delivering this certificate 
(this “Funds Transfer Certificate”) pursuant to Section 5.03(b) and Section 5.09 of the CASA.  
Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them (by 
reference or otherwise) in the CASA. 

1. Revenue Account.  The following transfers are requested to be made from the Revenue 
Account on [_______], [_____] (the “Funding Date”)6 in accordance with this Funds Transfer 
Certificate as set forth in greater detail in Part A of the attached Schedule I, each in accordance 
with Section 5.03(b) of the CASA and the other provisions of the CASA: 

(a) In accordance with priority “First” of Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that: 

(i) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
BOM Debt Service Sub-Account for payment of interest and/or principal on the 

                                                      
6 Each Funding Date shall be a Transfer Date or with respect to funds deposited to the Revenue Account in accordance with 
Section 5.03(a)(iii) of the CASA, any date on which such funds are deposited into the Revenue Account. 

259



 Exhibit B-2 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

BOM Loan and/or other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and 
payable under the BOM Loan Agreement.] 

(ii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account for payment of interest and/or principal on the 
TIFIA Loan and/or other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and 
payable under the TIFIA Loan Agreement.] 

(iii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
[insert name of applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account] 
for payment of interest and/or principal on the applicable Additional Pari Passu 
Debt with respect to such sub-account and/or other fees, costs, expenses and 
other amounts then due and payable under the applicable Additional Pari Passu 
Loan Agreement with respect to such sub-account.] 

(b) In accordance with priority “Second” of Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that: 

(i) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
BOM Debt Service Sub-Account for payment of the fees, costs, expenses and 
other amounts then due and payable under the BOM Loan Agreement.] 

(ii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account for payment of the fees, costs, expenses and 
other amounts then due and payable under the TIFIA Loan Agreement.] 

(iii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
[insert name of applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account] 
for payment of the fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and payable 
under the applicable Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement with respect to such 
sub-account.] 

(c) In accordance with priority “Third” of Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that: 

(i) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in order to satisfy the BOM Debt 
Service Reserve Required Balance.] 

(ii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in order to satisfy the TIFIA Debt 
Service Reserve Required Balance.] 

(iii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
[insert name of applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve 
Account] in order to satisfy the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Required 
Balance for such sub-account.] 

(d) [In accordance with priority “Fourth” of Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that, in order to satisfy the No Transfer Conditions set forth in clause (a) of the 
definition thereof for the next succeeding Payment Period after the current Payment 
Period: 

260



 Exhibit B-3 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

(i) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
BOM Debt Service Sub-Account.] 

(ii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account.] 

(iii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
[insert name of applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service 
Account].]]7 

(e) [In accordance with priority “Fifth” of Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that, in order to satisfy the No Transfer Conditions set forth in clause (b) of the 
definition thereof for the next succeeding Payment Period after the current Payment 
Period: 

(i)  [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account.] 

(ii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account.] 

(iii) [$[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to the 
[insert name of applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve 
Account].]]8 

(f) In accordance with priority “Sixth” of Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to 
the Mandatory Prepayment Account for Mandatory Payments to the applicable Secured 
Obligations. 

(g) In accordance with priority “Seventh” of Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to 
[insert name of applicable sub-account] of the Revenue Account for the payment of 
interest on the applicable Permitted Subordinated Loans. 

(h) In accordance with priority “Eigth” of Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the Revenue Account and transferred to 
[insert name of applicable sub-account] of the Revenue Account for the payment of 
principal on the applicable Permitted Subordinated Loans. 

The following transfers are requested to be made from the applicable Project Account set forth below 
on the Funding Date (or such other date as set forth in greater detail in the relevant Part(s) of the attached 
Schedule I) in accordance with the provisions of the CASA: 

2. BOM Debt Service Sub-Account.  In accordance with Section 5.04(b) of the CASA, the 
Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account 
and applied to pay principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses 

                                                      
7 To be included for any Funding Date that is a Transfer Date occurring in [April] or [October]. 

8 To be included for any Funding Date that is a Transfer Date occurring in [April] or [October]. 

261



 Exhibit B-4 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

and other amounts due and payable on the BOM Loan, as set forth in greater detail in Part B 
of the attached Schedule I. 

3. TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account.  In accordance with Section 5.04(c) of the CASA, the 
Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account 
and applied to pay principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses 
and other amounts due and payable on the TIFIA Loan, as set forth in greater detail in Part C 
of the attached Schedule I. 

4. [_____] Sub-Account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account.  In accordance with Section 
5.04(d) of the CASA, the Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the [insert 
name of applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account] established for the 
[describe applicable Additional Pari Passu Debt] and applied to pay principal, accrued and 
unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts due and payable on such 
Additional Pari Passu Debt, as set forth in greater detail in Part D of the attached Schedule I. 

5. BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account.  In accordance with Section 5.05(b) of the CASA, 
the Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the BOM Debt Service Reserve 
Sub-Account and applied to pay principal and accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on 
the BOM Loan that is not otherwise paid by Revenues deposited to the Revenue Account, as 
set forth in greater detail in Part E of the attached Schedule I. 

6. TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account.  In accordance with Section 5.05(c) of the CASA, 
the Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve 
Sub-Account and applied to pay principal and accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on 
the TIFIA Loan that is not otherwise paid by Revenues deposited to the Revenue Account, as 
set forth in greater detail in Part F of the attached Schedule I. 

7. [_____] Sub-Account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account.  In accordance with 
Section 5.05(d) of the CASA, the Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the 
[insert name of applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account] 
established for the [describe applicable Additional Pari Passu Debt] and applied to pay 
principal and accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on such Additional Pari Passu Debt 
that is not otherwise paid by Revenues deposited to the Revenue Account, as set forth in greater 
detail in Part G of the attached Schedule I. 

8. Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account.  

(a) In accordance with Section[s] 5.01(b)(iii) [and (iv)] of the CASA, the Borrower 
requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the [insert name of applicable Additional 
Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account] and transferred as set forth in greater detail in Part 
H of the attached Schedule I to pay costs in compliance with the applicable Additional 
Pari Passu Loan Agreement and the applicable provisions of the other Finance 
Documents relating to the incurrence of the applicable Additional Pari Passu Debt, and 
with respect to any future tax-exempt borrowings comprising Additional Pari Passu 
Debt, in compliance with the Code. 

(b) In accordance with Section 5.01(b)[(iv)][(v)] of the CASA, the Borrower requests that 
$[________] be withdrawn from the [insert name of applicable Additional Pari Passu 
Debt Proceeds Account] and transferred to the [insert name of applicable sub-account] 
of the Mandatory Prepayment Account for redemption of the applicable Additional Pari 

262



 Exhibit B-5 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Passu Debt with respect to such sub-account in accordance with the applicable 
Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement, as set forth in greater detail in Part H of the 
attached Schedule I. 

9. Mandatory Prepayment Account.  In accordance with Section 5.06(c) of the CASA, the 
Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the Mandatory Prepayment Account 
and transferred to the [insert name of applicable sub-account] of the Mandatory Prepayment 
Account for prepayment and redemption of the applicable Secured Obligation, as set forth in 
greater detail in Part I of the attached Schedule I. 

10. [______] Sub-Account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account.  In accordance with Section 
5.06(c) of the CASA, the Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the [insert 
name of applicable sub-account] of the Mandatory Prepayment Account established for the 
[describe applicable Secured Obligations] and transferred as set forth in greater detail in Part 
J of the attached Schedule I for application to the mandatory prepayment and/or mandatory 
redemption of such Secured Obligations. 

11. [______] Sub-Account of the Revenue Account.  In accordance with Section 5.03(b) of the 
CASA, the Borrower requests that $[________] be withdrawn from the [insert name of 
applicable sub-account] of the Revenue Account established for the payment of 
[interest][principal] on Permitted Subordinated Loans and transferred as set forth in greater 
detail in Part K of the attached Schedule I for application to the payment of [interest][principal] 
then due and payable on such Permitted Subordinated Loans. 

The undersigned, as an Authorized Representative of the Borrower, hereby certifies on behalf of 
the Borrower, as of the date hereof, that each withdrawal or transfer requested hereby complies with 
each of the applicable requirements of the CASA and each other relevant Finance Document. 

[Signature page follows] 

  

263



 Exhibit B-6 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caused this Funds Transfer Certificate to be duly executed 
and delivered by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower as of the date first written above. 

 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY, 
as the Borrower 
 
 
 
By:   ________ 
Name: 
Title: 

264



 

 Schedule 1 to Exhibit B-1 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

SCHEDULE I TO FUNDS TRANSFER CERTIFICATE 

[Borrower to attach Excel spreadsheets (in .pdf format) with appropriate detail for each applicable 
transfer, including columns for (i) Section reference, (ii) Transfer Date, (iii) Payee/Account, (iv) 

Purpose, (v) Payment Date, (vi) Wiring or Other Payment Instructions and (vii) Amount, 
divided by Parts A through K (and sub-divided as necessary)] 

 

Part A:  Transfers from Revenue Account 

Part B:  Transfers from BOM Debt Service Sub-Account 

Part C:  Transfers from TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account 

Part D:  Transfers from [______] Sub-Account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account 

Part E:  Transfers from BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account 

Part F:  Transfers from TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account 

Part G:  Transfers from [______] Sub-Account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account 

Part H:  Transfers from Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account 

Part I:   Transfers from Mandatory Prepayment Account 

Part J:  Transfers from [______] Sub-Account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account 

Part K:  Transfers from [______] Sub-Account of the Revenue Account 

 

 

 

 

265



 

 Exhibit C-1 
 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

EXHIBIT C 
 

INCUMBENCY CERTIFICATE 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 

[_______], 20[__] 

I, the undersigned [NAME], [TITLE] of Napa Valley Transportation Authority (the “Borrower”), hereby 
certify that the following Authorized Representatives of the Borrower have been duly elected or appointed 
and are now acting and are qualified to sign on the Borrower’s behalf and that the specimen signatures 
appearing opposite the names and titles are the genuine signatures of such officers and that said elections 
or appointments are now in full force and effect.  You are further authorized to recognize these signatures 
until you receive our written instructions to the contrary. 

 

Name (Print)  Title  Signature 

 

 

     

 

 

     

 

 

     

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Incumbency Certificate to be duly executed 
and delivered as of the date set forth above. 

 By:  

 

 

 Name: 
Title: 

 

266



 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 
EXHIBIT D 

 
FORM OF ACCESSION AGREEMENT 

 
[Date] 

To:  U.S. Bank National Association, 
as Collateral Agent 
633 W. Fifth Street, 24th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90071 
Attention:  Global Corporate Trust 
 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
as the Borrower 
[____________________] 
[____________________] 
Attention:  [____________________] 
 

Re: Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement, dated as of [_________], 2021 (as amended, 
amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “CASA”), 
among the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, a California joint powers agency (the 
“Borrower”), Bank of Marin, a California state-chartered bank, as lender under the BOM Loan 
Agreement (including its successors and assigns, “BOM”), the United States Department of 
Transportation, an agency of the United States of America, acting by and through the Executive 
Director of the Build America Bureau, in its capacity as lender under the TIFIA Loan Agreement 
(including its successors and assigns, the "TIFIA Lender"), U.S. Bank National Association, a 
national banking association, in its capacity as collateral agent on behalf of itself and the other 
Secured Parties (in such capacity (including its successors and assigns), the “Collateral Agent”), 
U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, in its capacity as securities 
intermediary (in such capacity (including its successors and assigns), the “Securities 
Intermediary”), and each other Secured Party that accedes to the CASA in accordance with Article 
IX thereto. 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the CASA and agrees to be bound by and subject to the 
terms of the CASA in its capacity as [INSERT CAPACIT[Y][IES] OF ACCEDING PARTY].  The 
undersigned further agrees to the appointment of the Collateral Agent as its agent in accordance with the 
terms of the CASA.  Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Accession Agreement have the meanings 
given to them (by reference or otherwise) in the CASA. 

The address and fax number for notice of [ACCEDING PARTY] for the purposes of Section 10.04 
(Notices) of the CASA is: 

[INSERT ACCEDING PARTY] 
[INSERT ADDRESS] 
Attention:  [INSERT ATTENTION PARTY] 
Facsimile:  [INSERT FACSIMILE NUMBER] 

267



 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

Telephone:  [INSERT TELEPHONE NUMBER] 
Email:  [INSERT EMAIL] 

The provisions of Section 10.05 (Counterparts) and Section 10.06 (Governing Law; Consent to 
Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial) of the CASA shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Accession Agreement 
as if set out in full herein. 

Very truly yours, 

[NAME OF ACCEDING PARTY], 

as [INSERT CAPACIT[Y][IES] OF ACCEDING PARTY]  

 

By:  
Name:   
Title: 

 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED: 
 
 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,  
as Collateral Agent 

 

By:  
Name:   
Title: 

 

  

268



 
1629160.01E-WASSR01A - MSW 

 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED: 

 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY, 
as the Borrower 

 

By:  
Name:   
Title: 

 
 
 
cc:  Secured Parties to the CASA (other than the Collateral Agent) 

 

 

269



ATTACHMENT 5 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 

 

 

 

 

DEBT MANAGEMENT POLICY 

 

 

 

Approval Date: July 21, 2021 

 

 
 

270



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 1 of 13 
   

Table of Contents 

 

I. Introduction ............................................................................................................. 1 

II. Policy Objectives .................................................................................................... 1 

III. Issuance Authority and Scope of Indebtedness .............................................. 1 

IV. Debt Management Responsibility ....................................................................... 2 

V. Uses and Limits on Indebtedness ...................................................................... 2 

VI. NVTA Revenues and Debt Service Payments .................................................. 3 

VII. Financing Professionals ....................................................................................... 4 

A. Bond, Disclosure, or Special Finance Counsel ................................................... 4 

B. Municipal Advisor ............................................................................................................ 4 

C. Underwriter ........................................................................................................................ 4 

D. Trustee and Collateral Agent ...................................................................................... 4 

VIII. Structuring Debt Financing .................................................................................. 5 

A. Term and Structure ........................................................................................................ 5 

B. Debt Service Reserve Fund ........................................................................................ 5 

C. Capitalized Interest ......................................................................................................... 5 

D. Variable Rate Debt ......................................................................................................... 5 

E. Call Provisions.................................................................................................................. 5 

F. Additional Debt Test ....................................................................................................... 6 

G. Credit Enhancement ...................................................................................................... 6 

H. Derivatives ......................................................................................................................... 6 

I. Disclosure .......................................................................................................................... 6 

J. Credit Ratings ................................................................................................................... 6 

IX. Method of Sale ........................................................................................................ 7 

A. Loan or Private Placement .......................................................................................... 7 

B. Public Offering .................................................................................................................. 7 

X. Refunding Offerings .............................................................................................. 7 

XI. Debt Administration ............................................................................................... 8 

A. Tax-Exemption ................................................................................................................. 8 

271



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 2 of 13 
   

B. Continuing Disclosure ................................................................................................... 8 

C. Investment of Borrowing Proceeds .......................................................................... 9 

D. State Reporting Requirements .................................................................................. 9 

XII. Relationship of Debt to Capital Improvement Program and Budget ........... 9 

XIII. Internal Control Procedures ................................................................................. 9 

XIV. Conclusion ............................................................................................................. 10 

272



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority  

Debt Management Policy 

I. Introduction  

The purpose of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (“NVTA”) Debt 
Management Policy (“Policy”) is to promote sound and uniform practices for issuing 
and managing bonds, loans, and other forms of indebtedness, to provide guidance 
to decision makers regarding the appropriate use of debt and other repayment 
obligations of NVTA.  
The Policy is intended to comply with California Government Code section 8855(i), 
which became effective January 1, 2017 and requires that governmental agencies 
that issue any form of debt have a “debt management policy" in place if any form of 
debt is being contemplated or anticipated. 

II. Policy Objectives 

The Policy objectives are as follows: 
 To help maintain the financial stability of NVTA by encouraging sound decision-

making so that its long-term financing commitments are affordable and do not 
create undue risk or burden to operations and service delivery. 

 To protect NVTA’s creditworthiness and minimize NVTA’s borrowing costs. 

 To meet the requirements of state and federal law and regulation, including state 
debt issuance reporting requirements and federal requirements regarding 
disclosure and administration of tax-exempt (or taxable) indebtedness. 

 To incorporate best practices into NVTA’s borrowings and administration of its 
indebtedness. 

 Ensure that NVTA’s debt is consistent with NVTA’s planning goals and 
objectives, and operating and capital budgets, as applicable. 

  

273



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

III. Issuance Authority and Scope of Indebtedness 

NVTA was formed as a joint powers authority in 1998 in accordance with the Joint 
Exercise of Powers Act (Government Code Section 6500, et seq.).  Pursuant to the 
Marks-Roos Local Bond Pooling Act of 1985 (Government Code Section 6584, et 
seq.) and Amendment No. 12 to the Joint Powers Agreement for the Napa Valley 
Transportation Authority adopted on March 17, 2021, NVTA is authorized to borrow 
money for the purpose of financing projects of NVTA. 
NVTA is an infrequent issuer of debt. The extent of its borrowings are expected to 
be in the form of lines of credit and loan agreements, primarily represented by a 
Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA) Loan with the 
United States Department of Transportation.  If NVTA considers alternative forms of 
indebtedness, this Policy provides flexibility to do so and may also be amended to 
address relevant issues. While this Policy does not specifically address vendor 
financings, capital leases, or other forms of installment contracts, to the extent NVTA 
were to consider such forms of financing, the spirit of this Policy would apply. 

IV. Debt Management Responsibility 

The Executive Director is appointed as the NVTA official responsible for the 
following: 
 Borrowing and debt issuance management, recognizing that assigned staff may 

be charged with certain day-to-day responsibilities. 

 Working with the Director of Finance and other staff deemed appropriate in 
formulating NVTA’s debt management plans, seeking Board of Directors’ 
approval to execute such plans, and ensuring the appropriate management of 
debt.  

 Keeping the Board of Directors informed of NVTA’s debt-related activities 
through informational reports, briefings, or workshops. 

V. Uses and Limits on Indebtedness 

Debt provides a tool for financing capital projects that are too large to accommodate 
as part of the annual budget, to share the cost of major improvements between 
current and future customers and/or to accelerate the delivery of a project when 
compared to funding on a pay-as-you-go-basis. On the other hand, debt service 
represents a fixed cost that will compete with other expenditures in NVTA’s budget 
and cannot be deferred in any given year.  

274



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

In order to achieve the proper balance in its use of debt, NVTA will follow the 
following policy goals:  
 NVTA will not use debt to finance operating expenses, except to alleviate cash-

flow timing issues within a fiscal year. NVTA may consider use of debt in the 
event of an extraordinary expense, such as the financing of a major judgment. 

 NVTA will plan for capital improvements and maintenance as part of its 
budgeting process, seeking to set funds aside in advance of need so that most 
capital projects can be financed on a “pay-as-you-go” basis. Debt financing will 
be reserved for extraordinary capital expenditures. 

 NVTA believes that prudent amounts of debt can be an equitable and cost-
effective means of financing infrastructure and capital project needs of NVTA. 
NVTA will evaluate the benefit and risks of each proposed issue of new debt on 
a case by case basis, considering such factors as NVTA’s overall fiscal health, 
the potential impact of increased debt service on then current service levels, the 
offsetting benefits of a project on operating costs that may mitigate the cost of 
debt, and other long-term considerations.  

In general, debt may be considered to finance such projects if it meets one or more 
of the following minimum criteria: 

 
 It meets NVTA’s goal of distributing the payments for the asset over its useful 

life so that benefits more closely match costs for both current and future users 
of the NVTA system. 

 The need for the project is compelling in terms of on-going cost savings or the 
need for public safety or services, and the size of the project makes funding out 
of existing resources or near-term revenues impractical. 

VI. NVTA Revenues and Debt Service Payments 

The following revenue sources of NVTA will be available to pay debt service on the 
TIFIA Loan and other obligations of NVTA (collectively “Revenues”): 
 LTF: Local Transportation Funds for Transit Operating Assistance (“LTF Funds”) 

allocated to NVTA; and 
 Other Revenues: other Revenues of NVTA consisting of: 

o Farebox Revenues: all farebox revenues received by the Borrower (“Farebox 
Revenues”); 

Loan payments and debt service requirements are to be made by NVTA from 
Revenues whether or not the project being financed or any part thereof is operating 
or operable or seized or its use is suspended, interfered with, reduced or curtailed, 
or terminated in whole or in part.  

275



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

VII. Financing Professionals 

The Executive Director or Director of Finance will be responsible for recommending 
the various professionals required for a financing, based on prior experience, 
recommendations or a request for proposal process, as she or he deems 
appropriate. 
A. Bond, Disclosure, or Special Finance Counsel 

Bond counsel or special finance counsel prepares the various legal documents for 
a transaction and renders a variety of opinions, including opinion regarding the tax-
exemption of bonds. For all public sales of debt (that, is through the issuance of 
bonds or other securities sold to multiple investors), NVTA will retain the services of 
disclosure counsel to prepare the official statement. The Executive Director or 
Director of Finance will also determine whether to select another law firm to provide 
the services of disclosure counsel or to assign such duties to bond counsel. 
B. Municipal Advisor 

A municipal financial advisor assists in evaluating financing options, structuring of 
debt offerings or borrowings, making recommendations as to the method of sale, 
conducting competitive sales, and assisting with bringing negotiated sales to market, 
including making recommendations to NVTA on proposed interest rates, prices and 
yields in light of market conditions and the characteristics of the offering. NVTA will 
utilize a registered municipal advisor for its debt offerings and borrowings as well as 
other matters as it pertains to the management of NVTA’s outstanding obligations. 
C. Underwriter 

When NVTA issues its debt through a public market, negotiated sale, it will select 
one or more underwriters. The basis for selection will primarily be the firm’s 
experience in the transit and related transportation sectors, and its perceived ability 
to secure the lowest cost of funds, including underwriter’s fees and expenses. 
D. Trustee and Collateral Agent 

The trustee or collateral agent is a division of a commercial bank that services debt 
service payments on bonds and other obligations, including the TIFIA Loan. The 
Executive Director or Director of Finance shall have the discretion to select a 
commercial banking firm for recommendation as trustee or collateral agent, either 
through a request for qualifications process or by relying on existing banking 
relationships if deemed to be advantageous.  

276



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

VIII. Structuring Debt Financing 

A. Term and Structure  

Long-term debt financing of capital projects will be amortized over a period no longer 
than the useful life of the assets being financed.  Generally, NVTA will structure its 
financings such that the term does not exceed thirty years.  However, as the case 
with the TIFIA Loan Agreement bearing a low fixed interest rate, if there is a financial 
benefit to NVTA to extend the term of debt beyond 30 years, it may so as long as 
the debt does not extend beyond the useful life of the project.  
Debt service will generally be structured to be level over the length of the borrowing. 
Alternate debt structures may be used to wrap new debt around existing debt to 
create overall level debt service or to achieve other financial planning goals 
appropriate to the specific project.  
 
B. Debt Service Reserve Fund 

To the extent required by the market, NVTA may fund a debt service reserve fund 
out of borrowing proceeds no greater than the amount allowed under federal tax law. 
At the time of the adoption of this policy, NVTA will not structure a debt service 
reserve fund for its loan agreements. 
C. Capitalized Interest 

Funding interest payments out of borrowing proceeds during construction is referred 
to as capitalized interest. NVTA may consider funding capitalized interest when it is 
appropriate to begin the payment of debt service after project completion.  
D. Variable Rate Debt 

To maintain a predictable debt service burden, NVTA will give preference to debt 
that carries a fixed interest rate.  
E. Call Provisions 

NVTA’s securities may include a call feature/prepayment feature to ensure ongoing 
financial flexibility. Based on public municipal market conventions, a call feature is 
typically at par ten (10) years from the date of delivery of tax-exempt offering. The 
2017 tax act stipulates that tax-exempt obligations can only be refunded on a tax-
exempt basis 90 days before the call date and cannot be advance refunded with tax-
exempt bond proceeds. NVTA may determine that a shorter call feature is 
appropriate by balancing cost and/or the desire for increased future optionality. Bank 
borrowings or loans may offer greater or more limited prepayment features than the 
public municipal market, which should be evaluated when pursuing alternative 
borrowing vehicles. 

277



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

F. Additional Debt Test 

Any new money debt issuance must not cause NVTA’s debt service to be expected 
to exceed the level at which Revenues are less than 2.0 times the maximum annual 
debt service for the aggregate outstanding loans and bonds including the debt 
service for the new issuance, calculated in accordance with the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement or form of Trust Indenture.  
G. Credit Enhancement 

NVTA will consider the use of credit enhancements such as bond insurance on a 
case-by-case basis. The cost-benefit of insurance will be evaluated through the final 
maturity and through the first optional call date, recognizing that municipal bonds are 
commonly refunded prior to maturity. NVTA will consider the use of a surety policy 
in lieu of a cash funded debt service reserve, but in doing so will consider estimated 
earnings on a cash funded reserve and the cost of replacing that surety at the time 
of a potential refunding, if applicable.  
H. Derivatives 

NVTA will not use interest rate swaps in connection with its debt program unless a 
separate swap policy is prepared and approved by the NVTA Board of Directors. 
NVTA may use derivative-like investment products to invest borrowing proceeds, 
but only upon staff’s analysis of the investment as part of the staff report transmitting 
the financing and specific approval as part of the Board of Directors’ action.  
I. Disclosure 

For all public sales of debt, NVTA will retain the services of disclosure counsel (who 
may also serve as bond counsel) to prepare the Official Statement to be used in 
connection with the offering and sale of debt. The Executive Director or Director of 
Finance, and other appropriate staff will be asked to review this document to ensure 
that it is accurate and does not fail to include information that such staff and officials 
think might be material to an investor. The NVTA will make every effort to ensure 
the fullest disclosure possible in the NVTA’s disclosure documents, including, as 
appropriate, seeking staff training in disclosure matters. A Preliminary Official 
Statement will be released to the market only after the completion of the "due 
diligence" meetings with appropriate staff and approval by the Board of Directors.  
J. Credit Ratings  

The Executive Director or Director of Finance, in consultation with the Municipal 
Advisor and other members of the financing team, will evaluate and make 
recommendations to the NVTA Board of Directors regarding the number of credit 
ratings to seek on any given public offering. NVTA will work to maintain its current 
credit ratings and to increase ratings when the opportunity to do so exists. The 
Executive Director or Director of Finance will periodically communicate with the 
credit rating agencies that rate NVTA’s debt so that they will remain well-informed. 

278



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

IX. Method of Sale 

NVTA’s borrowings, issuance of debt, and other municipal securities can be 
arranged directly with a lender, privately placed with a purchaser, or sold through a 
public offering in the municipal bond market. 
A. Loan or Private Placement 

A method of obtaining financing through a private placement or direct borrowing with 
a bank or other institution. NVTA will consider privately placing its debt for any small 
and/or short-term borrowings or in instances where difficult credit or disclosure 
considerations or other special circumstances so warrant. 
B. Public Offering 

Bonds and other municipal securities can be sold at a public offering through either 
a competitive or negotiated sale:  
Competitive Sale: Under a competitive sale, the terms of the bonds are determined 
by NVTA, with the assistance of its municipal advisor and bond counsel, and the 
sale is awarded to the underwriter judged to have submitted the lowest true interest 
cost, which takes into account interest rates and any discounts or premiums, 
including the underwriters’ spread (their compensation).  
Negotiated Sale: Under a negotiated sale, NVTA selects its underwriter in advance, 
based on proposals received or by other means. NVTA, its bond counsel and 
municipal advisor work with the underwriter in structuring, marketing and finally 
offering an issue to investors.  
Due to a number of factors, including transit agencies requiring local, state, and 
federal subsidies to fund operations, the bond market is less receptive to transit 
credits than it is to most other municipal transportation revenue bond credits. Thus, 
NVTA’s credit may price more aggressively through a negotiated offering where 
there is the ability to pre-market to potential investors to ensure a wide buyer base. 
As a result, most debt in the transit sector is issued through a negotiated sale. NVTA 
expects to sell most of its debt in this matter unless market conditions change.  

X. Refunding Offerings  

In order to provide for the potential for refunding its loans and other obligations in 
the future, and absent compelling reasons to the contrary, NVTA will structure its 
borrowings with an optional call no longer than ten years from the date of issuance. 
Such compelling reasons to deviate from this policy, for example, could include a 
bond issue that would mature only a few years after the optional call date, making a 
refunding impractical. When structuring its bond issues, NVTA will take into account 
the coupon structure of its debt (i.e., discount bonds or premium bonds that mature 
after the call date) and its impact on its option to execute a refunding. 

279



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

NVTA will periodically review its outstanding debt portfolio to identify opportunities 
to achieve net economic benefits from refunding its outstanding obligations. 
Recognizing that NVTA’s ability to refund its debt is limited because of the market 
practice of making most fixed-rate bond issues non-callable for their first eight to ten 
years, and the elimination of the ability to refund bonds substantially before the call 
date (an “advance refunding,” which was eliminated by the 2017 tax act), NVTA will 
seek to deploy its refunding options prudently. At a minimum, the will seek to achieve 
net present value (“NPV”) savings equal to at least three percent (3%) of the par 
amount of the bonds that are refunded.  
NVTA may also consider a refunding for a non-economic purpose, including the 
retirement of an indenture for more desirable covenants, a change in tax status, or 
to change the type of debt instrument. 

XI. Debt Administration 

The Executive Director or Director of Finance and his or her staff shall be 
responsible for ensuring that the NVTA’s debt is administered in accordance with 
its terms, federal and State law and regulations, and industry best practices.  
A. Tax-Exemption 

Tax-exempt issuances are subject to various IRS rules and regulations regarding 
the use of borrowing proceeds. NVTA will make sure that the use of facilities 
financed with tax-exempt bonds are not used for ineligible private activities, and will 
consult with bond counsel whenever it identifies a change in use or otherwise 
undertakes an action that could change the tax-exempt status of its obligations.  
NVTA will periodically review and will comply with the specific post issuance 
compliance procedures identified in the tax documents for its tax-exempt financings. 
NVTA will retain an arbitrage rebate consultant to assist in calculating any earnings 
on borrowing proceeds in excess of the rate on its bonds, and to calculate whether 
arbitrage should be rebated to the Federal Government. 
B. Continuing Disclosure 

Under federal law, NVTA must commit to provide continuing disclosure to investors 
in any of its debt that is sold to underwriters to be offered to the public. All existing 
and future NVTA debt should be compliant with the requirements of the Continuing 
Disclosure Certificates executed at the time of issuance, including the annual filing 
with the  Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board’s (“MSRB”) Electronic Municipal 
Market Access (“EMMA”) website of NVTA’s Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report and any other required reports; the filing of notices of the material events set 
out in the Continuing Disclosure Certificates; and the filing of any voluntary 
disclosures deemed material. All such filings will be made within the time 
requirements set forth in the Continuing Disclosure Certificates. 

280



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

NVTA may retain a consultant to assist in preparing and filing required reports and 
notices. 
C. Investment of Borrowing Proceeds 

Investments of borrowing proceeds shall generally be consistent with NVTA's 
Investment Policy as modified from time to time, and with the requirements 
contained in the governing bond documents. 
D. State Reporting Requirements 

The Executive Director or Director of Finance will file any reports required by State 
law, including the Annual Debt Transparency Report to the California Debt and 
Investment Advisory Commission required of all debt issued after January 1, 2017, 
pursuant to Government Code section 8855(k). 

XII. Relationship of Debt to Capital Improvement Program and Budget  

NVTA is committed to long-term capital planning. NVTA may issue debt for the 
purposes stated in this Policy and to implement policy decisions incorporated in 
NVTA’s annual capital budget. NVTA shall integrate its debt issuances with the 
goals of its capital planning efforts by considering when projects are needed in 
furtherance of NVTA’s public purposes in determining the timing of debt issuance. 
NVTA will seek to avoid the use of debt to fund recurring infrastructure and 
facilities improvements in circumstances when the sole purpose of such debt 
financing is to reduce annual budgetary expenditures. 

XIII. Internal Control Procedures 

The Executive Director or Director of Finance or designee will monitor the 
expenditure of bond proceeds to ensure they are used for the purpose and authority 
for which the bonds were issued. 
In most cases, proceeds of debt will be held by a third-party trustee or fiscal agent 
and NVTA will submit written requisitions for such proceeds. NVTA will submit a 
requisition only after obtaining the signature of the Executive Director or Director of 
Finance. In cases where the proceeds of debt are not to be held by a third-party 
trustee or fiscal agent, the Executive Director or Director of Finance shall be 
responsible for approving expenditures in the same manner as the approval for the 
expenditures for NVTA revenues. 

281



 
 

 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority  
Debt Management Policy 
Page 12 of 13 

 

XIV. Conclusion 

This Policy is intended to guide NVTA's issuance of debt. This Policy should be 
reviewed and updated periodically to reflect changes in the market, the identification 
of other best practices, and to incorporate NVTA’s own experience or changing 
circumstances. Changes to the Policy are subject to review and approval by the 
NVTA Board of Directors at a legally noticed and conducted public meeting.  
While adherence to this Policy is generally required, it is recognized that changes in 
the capital markets and NVTA’s needs and other unforeseen circumstances may 
from time to time produce situations that are not covered by the Policy or will require 
modifications or exceptions to best achieve policy goals. Any deviations from this 
Policy that is recommended by staff should be highlighted in the staff report 
transmitting the resolution for approval of the financing. 

 

  

282



ATTACHMENT 6A 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 
 

FBM Draft 
6/24/2021 

 

40302\14113060.4   

 

 

DRAFT 

(Subject to Revisions) 

 

CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT 

 

 

by and between 

 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY,  
as the Borrower, 

and 

BANK OF MARIN,  
as the Lender 

 

Dated as of ___________, 2021 

 

283



 

40302\14113060.4  i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ................................................................1 
1.1. Definitions................................................................................................................1 
1.2. Accounting Terms ..................................................................................................15 
1.3. Interpretation ..........................................................................................................15 
1.4. Certifications ..........................................................................................................15 

ARTICLE II LOANS .....................................................................................................................16 
2.1. Loans ......................................................................................................................16 
2.2. Use of Proceeds......................................................................................................16 
2.3. Evidence of Debt; Note ..........................................................................................16 
2.4. Interest on and Repayment of Loans .....................................................................17 
2.5. Reduction and Termination....................................................................................18 
2.6. Maturity Date .........................................................................................................19 
2.7. Default Interest.......................................................................................................19 
2.8. Upfront and Legal Fees ..........................................................................................19 
2.9. Intentionally Omitted .............................................................................................19 
2.10. Application of Payments or Proceeds Upon Acceleration of Obligations .............19 
2.11. General Provisions Regarding Payments ...............................................................19 
2.12. Booking of Loans ...................................................................................................20 
2.13. Increased Costs; Capital Adequacy .......................................................................20 
2.14. Security; Obligations Absolute ..............................................................................21 

ARTICLE III CONDITIONS PRECEDENT ................................................................................23 
3.1. Closing Date...........................................................................................................23 
3.2. Conditions to Each Credit Extension .....................................................................25 
3.3. Notices ...................................................................................................................26 

ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ......................................................26 
4.1. Organization, Powers, Etc ......................................................................................26 
4.2. Authorization, Absence of Conflicts, Etc ..............................................................26 
4.3. Governmental Consent or Approval ......................................................................26 
4.4. Binding Obligations ...............................................................................................26 
4.5. Litigation ................................................................................................................27 
4.6. Financial Condition ................................................................................................27 
4.7. Related Documents ................................................................................................27 
4.8. Incorporation of Representations and Warranties..................................................27 
4.9. Margin Regulations ................................................................................................28 
4.10. No Event of Default ...............................................................................................28 
4.11. Security; Pledge of Revenues Securing Obligations .............................................28 
4.12. Sovereign Immunity...............................................................................................28 
4.13. Accurate Information .............................................................................................28 
4.14. Maximum Rate.......................................................................................................28 
4.15. No Proposed Legal Changes ..................................................................................29 
4.16. Valid Lien ..............................................................................................................29 

284



 

40302\14113060.4  ii 

4.17. ERISA ....................................................................................................................29 
4.18. Solvency .................................................................................................................29 
4.19. Environmental Laws ..............................................................................................29 
4.20. Investment Policy...................................................................................................30 
4.21. Binding Effect ........................................................................................................30 
4.22. Swap Contracts ......................................................................................................30 
4.23. Usury Limits ..........................................................................................................30 

ARTICLE V COVENANTS..........................................................................................................30 
5.1. Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower ................................................................30 
5.2. Negative Covenants of the Borrower .....................................................................36 

ARTICLE VI EVENTS OF DEFAULT ........................................................................................39 
6.1. Events of Default ...................................................................................................39 
6.2. Application of Proceeds .........................................................................................42 

ARTICLE VII MISCELLANEOUS ..............................................................................................42 
7.1. Notices ...................................................................................................................42 
7.2. Expenses ................................................................................................................43 
7.3. Indemnity ...............................................................................................................43 
7.4. Reserved .................................................................................................................44 
7.5. Amendments and Waivers .....................................................................................44 
7.6. Participants .............................................................................................................44 
7.7. Independence of Covenants ...................................................................................44 
7.8. Survival of Representations, Warranties and Related Documents ........................45 
7.9. No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative ........................................................................45 
7.10. Marshalling; Payments Set Aside ..........................................................................45 
7.11. Severability ............................................................................................................45 
7.12. Headings ................................................................................................................46 
7.13. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue; Waiver of Jury Trial ..........46 
7.14. Counterparts; Electronic Execution .......................................................................47 
7.15. No Strict Construction ...........................................................................................47 
7.16. OFAC; Patriot Act .................................................................................................48 
7.17. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship .................................................................48 

 
  

285



 

40302\14113060.4  iii 

APPENDIX: A Notice Addresses 
 B Revenue Account Allocations by Collateral Agent 
 C Existing Indebtedness 
 
EXHIBITS: A Form of Funding Notice 
 B Form of Note 
 C Notice of Termination or Reduction 
 D Notice of Reduction 
 E Form of Farebox Bank Irrevocable Instruction 
 F Form of LTF Irrevocable Instruction 

286



 

40302\14113060.4  1 

CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT 

This CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of 
__________, 2021 is entered into by and between NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY, a joint powers authority organized under the laws of the state of California (with 
its successors, the “Borrower”), and BANK OF MARIN (including its successors and permitted 
assigns hereunder, the “Lender”). 

RECITALS  

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Lender provide a certain tax-exempt 
credit facility to the Borrower, as more particularly set forth in this Agreement, consisting of a 
non-revolving drawdown credit facility in the aggregate principal amount of up to Five Million 
Dollars ($5,000,000) (the “Credit Facility”), for the purpose of funding the construction of the 
Vine Transit Maintenance Facility in Napa County, California (the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower approved this Agreement and the transactions related thereto 
pursuant to Resolution No. _____, adopted by the [Board of Directors] of the Borrower (the 
“Board”) on _____________, 2021 (together with all amendments and modifications thereto, the 
“Authorizing Resolution”); and 

WHEREAS, the Lender is willing to provide the requested Credit Facility to the Borrower 
on the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

AGREEMENT  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants herein 
contained and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1. Definitions.  Any capitalized term used herein (including in the Preamble, recitals, 
exhibits and schedules hereto) shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in this Section 1.1. 

“Additional Obligations” means Pari Passu Obligations that are permitted under 
Section 5.2(i) and that are issued or incurred after the Closing Date and shall also satisfy the 
following requirements, as applicable:  

(a) if the proceeds thereof will be used to refinance other Pari Passu Obligations, 
(i) such Additional Obligations shall only refinance such Pari Passu Obligations or Subordinated 
Obligations of the same payment and lien priority as the Pari Passu Obligations or Subordinated 
Obligations being refinanced, (ii) the net proceeds thereof (after deducting any amounts required 
to be deposited to satisfy the applicable Debt Service Reserve Required Balance), must not exceed 
the principal amount of the Pari Passu Obligations or Subordinated Obligations being refinanced, 
(iii) Debt Service in respect of all Pari Passu Obligations, after the incurrence of such Additional 
Obligations, in each year of the term of such Additional Obligations, must be projected to be less 
than the Debt Service in respect of all Pari Passu Obligations projected for each such year in the 

287



 

40302\14113060.4  2 

Base Case Financial Model or, if applicable, the Revised Financial Model and (iv) final maturity 
of the Additional Obligations must not be later than the final maturity date of the Pari Passu 
Obligations or Subordinated Obligations being refinanced; and  

(b) if the proceeds thereof will be used for any reason not described in clause (a) above, 
such Additional Obligations must receive an Investment Grade Rating and the Borrower’s 
authorized representative shall have certified to the Lender, and if a Consulting Engineer has been 
retained, the Consulting Engineer shall have confirmed, that (i) the activity or project to which 
such Additional Obligations will be applied could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material 
Adverse Effect, and (ii) the Local Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower and deposited 
into the Revenue Account and Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower, in the 
aggregate, during any twelve (12) consecutive months during the eighteen (18) months prior to the 
date of the issuance of such Additional Obligations were at least equal to 2.0x MADS (taking into 
account such proposed Additional Obligations); 

provided that (x) for each of clauses (a) and (b) above, no Event of Default under any 
Related Document or any Other Financing Document has occurred and is continuing, and (y) for 
clause (b) above, the Rating Agency that provided the most recent public ratings of the Pari Passu 
Obligations and the Loan in accordance with Related Documents and Other Financing Documents 
shall have provided a confirmation or affirmation (or the equivalent) that the incurrence of such 
Additional Obligations shall not result in a downgrade of the lower of (A) the then-existing credit 
ratings of the Pari Passu Obligations and the Loan, respectively, and (B) the credit ratings of the 
Pari Passu Obligations and the Loan, respectively, as of the Closing Date. 

“Adjusted Debt Service Amount” means an amount equal to the sum of (a) for the BOM 
Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to (i) the interest due on the Outstanding Amount on 
the next Interest Payment Date; plus (ii) the principal due on the Outstanding Amount on the next 
Principal Payment Date; plus (iii) any fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and 
payable under this Agreement and the other Related Documents; and (b) for the Pari Passu Debt 
Service Sub-Accounts, an amount equal to (i) the interest due on the applicable obligation with 
respect to such sub-account on the next applicable interest payment date; plus (ii) the principal due 
on the applicable obligation with respect to such account on the next applicable principal payment 
date; plus (iii) any fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and payable under the TIFIA 
Loan Agreement or any other issuing document for the applicable Pari Passu Obligation with 
respect to such account. 

“Affiliate” means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under 
common control with such Person, or possessing, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause 
the direction of the management or policies of the controlled Person, including, without limitation, 
such Person’s subsidiaries. 

“Agreement” is defined in the Preamble hereto and shall include all amendments, 
supplements or modifications from time to time. 

“Applicable Law” means, collectively, all federal, state and local statutes, treaties, rules, 
guidelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and administrative or judicial precedents or authorities, 
including the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with 

288



 

40302\14113060.4  3 

the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, and all applicable administrative orders, 
requests, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental 
Authority. 

“Approved Electronic Communications” means any notice, demand, communication, 
information, document or other material that the Borrower provides to the Lender pursuant to any 
Related Document or the transactions contemplated therein which is distributed to the Lender by 
means of electronic communications pursuant to Section 7.1(b) hereof. 

“Assumed Variable Rate” means, as of the date of calculation, (a) with respect to 
indebtedness issued by the Borrower that bears interest at a tax-exempt Variable Interest Rate, a 
rate equal to the highest twelve (12)-month rolling average of the SIFMA Swap Index over the 
preceding ten (10) years, and (b) with respect to indebtedness issued by the Borrower that bears 
interest at a taxable Variable Interest Rate, a rate equal to the highest twelve (12)-month rolling 
average of the Federal Funds Rate over the preceding ten (10) years.  If either of the foregoing 
indices ceases to be published, the applicable index shall be an index which the TIFIA Lender, in 
consultation with the Borrower, determines most closely replicates the applicable former index. 

“Available Commitment” means the Initial Commitment Amount as adjusted from time to 
time as follows: (a) downward in an amount equal to any Loan made to the Borrower hereunder; 
(b) downward in an amount equal to any reduction thereof effected pursuant to Section 2.5 or 6.1 
hereof; and (c) downward to zero upon the expiration or termination of the Available Commitment 
in accordance with the terms hereof. 

“Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code, as now and hereafter in 
effect, or any successor statute. 

“Base Case Financial Model” has the meaning given such term in the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement.  

“Board of Governors” means the Board of Governors of the United States Federal Reserve 
System, or any successor thereto. 

“BOM Debt Service Reserve Required Balance” has the meaning set forth in the CASA.  

“BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account” has the meaning set forth in the CASA. 

“BOM Debt Service Sub-Account” has the meaning set forth in the CASA. 

“BOM Mandatory Prepayment Account” has the meaning set forth in the CASA.  

“BOM NVTA Loan Facility” means the loan facility in the original principal amount of 
$5,000,000 made by the Lender to the Borrower pursuant to the Business Loan Agreement dated 
as of June 24, 2021, as such agreement has been amended through the Closing Date and as such 
agreement may be further amended and supplemented from time to time and any related 
promissory note or other document related thereto.   

“Borrower” is defined in the Preamble hereto and shall include its successors and assigns. 

289



 

40302\14113060.4  4 

“Business Day” means any day other than (a) a Saturday or Sunday or a day on which 
banking institutions are authorized or required by law or executive order to be closed in the State 
of California for commercial banking purposes; (b) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange 
is authorized or required by law or executive order to be closed; and (c) a day upon which 
commercial banks, including the Lender, are authorized or required by law or executive order to 
be closed in the cities or states in which demands for payment may be presented hereunder. 

“Capital Appreciation Obligations” has the meaning given such term in the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement.  

“CASA” means the Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement, dated as of 
[__________], 2021 among the Borrower, the Lender, the TIFIA Lender and the Collateral Agent, 
as such agreement may be amended and supplemented from time to time. 

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the Closing Date, of any of the following:  
(a) the adoption or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, 
rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration, interpretation, implementation or application 
thereof by any Governmental Authority or (c) the making or issuance of any request, rule, 
guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) by any Governmental Authority; 
provided that notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder 
or issued in connection therewith and (y) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated 
by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any 
successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case 
pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date 
enacted, adopted or issued. 

“Closing Date” means the first date on which all of the conditions precedent in Section 3.1 
hereof are satisfied or waived in accordance with Section 7.5 hereof. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor statute 
of similar import, and regulations thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time. 

“Collateral” means all of the right, title and interest of the Borrower, whether now owned 
or hereafter acquired or arising, in and to (a) the Farebox Revenues, whether now earned or 
hereafter acquired; and (b) the Project Accounts (other than those sub-accounts of the Pari Passu 
Debt Service Account that exclusively secure any Pari Passu Obligations), including the BOM 
Debt Service Sub-Account and the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, all security 
entitlements carried therein, and all cash, cash equivalents, Permitted Investments (as defined in 
the CASA), instruments, Securities (as defined in the CASA) and other funds or amounts on 
deposit in the Project Accounts. 

“Collateral Agent” means, initially, [__________________], together with its successors 
and assigns. 

“Commitment” means the agreement of the Lender pursuant to Section 2.1 hereof to make 
Loans under the terms hereof for the account of the Borrower. 

290



 

40302\14113060.4  5 

“Construction-Related Contract” means each of the following:  (a) [____________]; and 
[(b)] any other design or construction contract, in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender, 
related to the design and construction of the Project entered into by the Borrower from time to time 
after the Closing Date. 

“Consulting Engineer” has the meaning given such term in the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“CPI” has the meaning given such term in the TIFIA Loan Agreement. 

“Credit Availability” means the agreement of the Lender to make or otherwise fund any 
Loan, the maximum aggregate amount of which as of the Closing Date equals the Initial 
Commitment Amount. 

“Credit Date” means the date of a Credit Extension.  

“Credit Extension” means the making of a Loan. 

“Credit Facility” has the meaning assigned to that term in the introductory clauses of this 
Agreement. 

“Debt” means, with respect to any Person, (a) all indebtedness of such Person for borrowed 
money; (b) all obligations of such Person as lessee under capital leases; (c) all obligations of such 
Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services; (d) certificates of participation 
evidencing an undivided ownership interest in payments made by such Person as lessee under 
capital leases, as purchaser under an installment sale agreement or otherwise as an obligor in 
connection therewith; (e) the face amount of any letter of credit issued for the account of such 
Person and, without duplication, all drafts drawn and reimbursement obligations arising 
thereunder; (f) all Debt of a second Person secured by any Lien on any property owned by such 
first Person, whether or not such Debt has been assumed; and (g) obligation of such Person due 
and payable under Swap Contracts; provided, however, that Debt shall not include trade payables 
arising in the ordinary course of business. 

“Debt Service” means, with respect to Pari Passu Obligations, for any period, as of any 
date of calculation, an amount equal to the sum of all interest and principal of such Pari Passu 
Obligations accruing and payable in respect of such period.  In determining the principal and 
interest amounts of Pari Passu Obligations due in such period (unless a subsection below of this 
definition applies for purposes of determining such amounts), payment shall be assumed to be 
made in accordance with any debt service schedule established for such Pari Passu Obligations, 
including any balloon or bullet maturities (which shall be treated as being paid in full on their 
respective due dates), as applicable, and for such purpose the redemption payment shall be deemed 
a principal payment. 

In calculating Debt Service for any future period (except as otherwise specifically provided 
herein): 

(a) any Variable Interest Rate Debt for which the interest rate payable thereon 
has not yet been determined shall be deemed to bear interest at all times prior to the 
maturity date thereof at the Assumed Variable Rate; 

291



 

40302\14113060.4  6 

(b) any Put Obligations outstanding during such period which by its terms is 
required to be paid by the Borrower upon tender by the holder thereof shall be assumed to 
mature on the earliest to occur of (i) the stated maturity date thereof, (ii) the earliest date 
as of which the holder of such Put Obligations may tender such Put Obligations to the 
Borrower, as provided in the applicable issuing document for such debt, and (iii) if the 
Liquidity Facility securing such Put Obligations expires within six (6) months or less of 
the date of calculation and has not been renewed or replaced, the expiration date of such 
Liquidity Facility; 

(c) the principal amount of any Put Obligations tendered for payment by the 
Borrower that is required to be paid by the Borrower and that has not yet been purchased 
in lieu of such payment by the Borrower shall be deemed to mature on the date required to 
be paid pursuant to such tender; and 

(d) Extendible Maturity Debt outstanding during such period shall be deemed 
to mature on the earlier of the stated maturity date or the date to which such stated maturity 
date has been extended, unless such extension is not exercisable at the discretion of the 
Borrower. 

“Debt Service Reserve Required Balance” means, as applicable, the BOM Debt Service 
Reserve Required Balance, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance and/or the Pari 
Passu Debt Service Reserve Required Balance.   

“Default” means a condition or event that, after notice or lapse of time or both, would 
constitute an Event of Default. 

“Default Rate” means the then existing Interest Rate plus five percent (5.00%) per annum; 
provided, however, that upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, the Default 
Rate shall be no less than eight and one-half percent (8.50%) per annum.   

“Deferred Interest Obligations” has the meaning given such term in the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement.   

“Dollar” and the sign “$” mean the lawful money of the United States of America. 

“Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state, and local statutes, laws, 
regulations, ordinances, or rules, and all judgments, orders, decrees, permits, concessions, grants, 
franchises, licenses, permits, agreements or governmental restrictions relating to air, water or land 
pollution, wetlands, or the protection of the environment or the release of any materials into the 
environment, including air, water or land and those related to Hazardous Materials, air emissions 
and discharges to waste or public systems. 

“Environmental Liability” means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any 
liability for damages, costs of environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of the 
Borrower directly or indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental 
Law, (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any 
Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the release or threatened release 
of any Hazardous Materials into the environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other 

292



 

40302\14113060.4  7 

consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of 
the foregoing. 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and 
any successor statute of similar import, and regulations thereunder, in each case as in effect from 
time to time.  References to Sections of ERISA shall be construed also to refer to any successor 
Sections. 

“Event of Default” means each of the conditions or events set forth in Section 6.1 hereof. 

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to 
time, and any successor statute of similar import, and regulations thereunder, in each case as in 
effect from time to time. 

“Existing Indebtedness” means indebtedness of the Borrower that has been issued or 
incurred prior to the Closing Date, as listed and described in Appendix C. 

“Extendible Maturity Debt” means debt the maturity of which may be extended in 
accordance with the applicable issuing document for such debt. 

“Farebox Bank” means each financial institution, Governmental Authority, or other entity 
that receives, or directs the deposit and transfer of, Farebox Revenues on behalf of the Borrower 
(whether based on cash receipts, credit/debit card charges, or wire transfers in connection with 
bulk purchases or payments that supplement subsidized rate fare collections).  Initially, the 
Farebox Bank consists of U.S. Bank, National Association.  

“Farebox Bank Irrevocable Instruction” means (a) that certain Irrevocable Direction re 
Deposit of Farebox Revenues, in the form of Exhibit E, dated as of [__________], 2021, among 
the Borrower, the Auditor/Controller/Treasurer/Tax Collector of County of Napa, California and 
the other signatories thereto and (b) any irrevocable direction, in the form of Exhibit E, issued by 
the Borrower to a Farebox Bank and acknowledged and agreed to by such Farebox Bank from 
time to time in connection with the designation of any new Farebox Bank. 

“Farebox Revenues” means all farebox revenues and contract service revenues received by 
or on behalf of the Borrower in connection with the operation of the transit vehicles owned or 
leased by the Borrower, including: 

(a) revenues earned under contractual arrangements with public or private 
entities, either (i) for transit fares for a specified group of employees, members, or clients, 
or (ii) to guarantee a minimum revenue on a line operated especially for the benefit of the 
paying entity (e.g., an employer, shopping center, university, etc.), or (iii) for enhanced 
service at special events; 

(b) cash donations made by individual passengers or community organizations 
in lieu of a prescribed fare; 

(c) passenger fares collected by the Borrower; 

293



 

40302\14113060.4  8 

(d) fare subsidies from a public or private entity; 

(e) local support, including passenger donations and local business 
contributions made to benefit employees, customers, visitors, or residents; 

(f) parking revenues used as fare subsidies; and 

(g) support from private non-profits to supplement discount or zero fares. 

“Final Borrowing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6 hereof. 

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Borrower, commencing on July 1 of any calendar 
year and ending on June 30 of the immediately succeeding calendar year. 

“Funding Notice” means a notice substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto. 

“Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” or “GAAP” means generally accepted 
accounting principles in effect from time to time in the United States and applicable to entities 
such as the Borrower. 

“Governmental Approval” means an authorization, consent, approval, license or exemption 
of, registration or filing with, or report to, any Governmental Authority. 

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States or any state or 
political subdivision thereof or any other nation or political subdivision thereof or any 
governmental or quasi-governmental entity, including any court, department, commission, board, 
bureau, agency, administration, central bank, or other instrumentality of any governmental entity 
or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory, fiscal, monetary or 
administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government, or any arbitrator, mediator or 
other Person with authority to bind a party at law. 

“Hazardous Materials” means (a) any petroleum or petroleum products, flammable 
substance, explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous waste or contaminants, toxic wastes, 
substances or contaminants, or any other wastes, contaminants, or pollutants; (b) asbestos in any 
form that is or could become friable, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, transformers, or other 
equipment that contains dielectric fluid containing levels of polychlorinated biphenyls or radon 
gas; (c) any chemicals, materials or substances defined as or included in the definition of 
“hazardous substances,” “hazardous materials,” “extremely hazardous wastes,” “restricted 
hazardous wastes,” “toxic substances,” “toxic pollutants,” “contaminants” or “pollutants,” or 
words of similar import, under any applicable Environmental Law; (d) any other chemical, 
material or substance, exposure to which is prohibited, limited, or regulated by any governmental 
authority; and (e) any other chemical, material or substance which may or could pose a hazard to 
the environment. 

“Indemnified Liabilities” means, collectively, any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, 
damages (including natural resource damages), penalties, claims, actions, judgments, suits, costs, 
expenses and disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever (including the reasonable fees and 
disbursements of counsel for Indemnitees in connection with any investigative, administrative or 

294



 

40302\14113060.4  9 

judicial proceeding or hearing commenced or threatened by any Person, whether or not any such 
Indemnitee shall be designated as a party or a potential party thereto, and any fees or expenses 
incurred by Indemnitees in enforcing this indemnity), whether direct, indirect or consequential and 
whether based on any federal, state or local laws, statutes, rules or regulations (including securities 
and commercial laws, statutes, rules or regulations), on common law or equitable cause or on 
contract or otherwise, that may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against any such 
Indemnitee, in any manner relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the other Related 
Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including the Lender’s agreement 
to make Credit Extensions or the use or intended use of the proceeds thereof), or any enforcement 
of any of the Related Documents. 

“Indemnitee” is defined in Section 7.3 hereof. 

“Initial Commitment Amount” means, as of the Closing Date, $[5,000,000]. 

“Interest Payment Date” means (a) [May 1 and November 1] or if any such day is not a 
Business Day, then the Business Day immediately succeeding such date, which, prior to the Final 
Borrowing Date, such applicable interest payments shall be made solely for Loans provided 
hereunder prior to such applicable Interest Payment Date, and (b) the Termination Date. 

“Interest Rate” means, with respect to all Loans hereunder until an Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing, (a) prior to the Final Borrowing Date, a per annum rate equal to the 
Prime Rate (provided, however, that such rate as determined by this clause (a) shall never be less 
than 3.25% per annum and never exceed the Maximum Rate); and (b) following the occurrence of 
the Final Borrowing Date, shall continue at a per annum rate equal to the Prime Rate unless 
Borrower elects to fix such rate as permitted by Section 2.4(a)(i) in which case shall be a fixed per 
annum rate equal to the then applicable ten (10) year Treasury Constant Maturity plus two hundred 
fifty basis points (250 bps) (provided, however, that such rate as determined by this clause (b), 
whether the Prime Rate or a fixed rate, shall never be less than 3.50% per annum and never exceed 
the Maximum Rate); provided, however, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an 
Event of Default, Interest Rate shall then mean the Default Rate (in which case, the Maximum 
Rate shall not apply to the Default Rate).   

“Investment Grade Rating” has the meaning given such term in the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement. 

“Joint Powers Agreement” means that certain Napa Valley Transportation Authority Joint 
Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated [___], and incorporating amendments 1 through 12, by and 
among the County of Napa, City of American Canyon, City of Napa, Town of Yountville, City of 
St. Helena and City of Calistoga. 

“Lender” is defined in the Preamble hereto, and if a Participation Agreement is entered 
into, “Lender” as used herein shall also encompass any and all Participants. 

“Lender Agreement” means any credit agreement, bond purchase agreement, liquidity 
agreement or other agreement or instrument (or any amendment, supplement or modification 
thereto) entered into by the Borrower with any Person, directly or indirectly, or otherwise 
consented to by the Borrower, under which any Person or Persons undertakes to make loans, 

295



 

40302\14113060.4  10 

extend credit or liquidity to the Borrower in connection with, or purchase on a private placement 
basis, any Debt secured by or payable from Revenues executed after the Closing Date. 

“Lender’s Office” means the office of the Lender set forth on Appendix A hereto, or such 
other office or person as the Lender may hereafter designate in writing as such to the other parties 
hereto. 

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, 
encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), charge, or preference, priority or other security interest or 
preferential arrangement in the nature of a security interest of any kind or nature whatsoever 
(including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any easement, right of way or 
other encumbrance on title to real property, and any financing lease having substantially the same 
economic effect as any of the foregoing). 

“Liquidity Facility” means any letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of 
credit or similar instrument, or any agreement relating to the reimbursement of any payment 
thereunder (or any combination of the foregoing), which is obtained by the Borrower and is issued 
by a financial institution, insurance provider or other Person and which provides security or 
liquidity in respect of any Debt permitted by the Related Documents. 

“Loan” means a loan made by the Lender to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.1(a), 
bearing interest at the Interest Rate. 

“Local Transportation Fund” means Local Transportation Funds distributed by the State 
pursuant to the TDA. 

“LTF Irrevocable Instruction” means that certain Irrevocable Direction re Deposit of Local 
Transportation Funds, in the form of Exhibit F, dated as of [_________], 2021, among the 
Borrower, the County of Napa, California and the other signatories thereto. 

“Margin Stock” has the meaning ascribed to such term in Regulation U and/or Regulation 
X promulgated by the Board of Governors, as now and hereafter from time to time in effect. 

“Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse 
effect on, the operations, business, assets, properties, liabilities (actual or contingent), condition 
(financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Borrower, taken as a whole; (b) a material impairment 
of the rights and remedies of the Lender under this Agreement, the Notes, or any other Related 
Document, or of the ability of the Borrower to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the 
Note, and any other Related Document to which it is a party, as determined in the reasonable 
discretion of the Lender; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding effect 
or enforceability against the Borrower of this Agreement, the Note, or any other Related Document 
to which it is a party, as determined in the sole discretion of the Lender. 

“Maturity Date” is defined in Section 2.6 hereof. 

“Maximum Annual Debt Service” means the maximum amount of Debt Service hereunder 
and Debt Service in respect of all Pari Passu Obligations payable, in the aggregate, during any year 
while the Loan or any such Pari Passu Obligations are (or are scheduled to be) outstanding.   

296



 

40302\14113060.4  11 

“Maximum Rate” means the lesser of (a) twelve percent (12.0%) per annum, or (b) the 
maximum rate permitted by law. 

“Measure 3” means the State of California Regional Measure 3 (Bay Area Traffic Relief 
Plan) pursuant to Senate Bill 595 (Beall), and any successor statute of similar import, and 
regulations thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time, regarding an increase in the 
amount of the toll rate charged on the state-owned toll bridges in the San Francisco Bay Area to 
be used for specified projects and programs. 

“Measure 3 Funds” means funds and other amounts raised pursuant to Measure 3.   

“MTC” is defined in Section 5.1(b)(ix) hereof. 

“No Transfer Conditions” means (a) amounts on deposit in the Pari Passu Debt Service 
Account (or the applicable sub-accounts thereunder) are at least equal to the Adjusted Debt Service 
Amount; and (b)(i) amounts on deposit in the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account are at least 
equal to the BOM Debt Service Reserve Required Balance, (ii) amounts on deposit in the TIFIA 
Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account (as defined in the CASA) are at least equal to the TIFIA Debt 
Service Reserve Required Balance (as defined in the CASA), and (iii) amounts on deposit in each 
other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account are at least equal to 
the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Required Balance for such sub-account. 

“Note” means the Note evidencing the Credit Facility substantially in the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit B.  

“Obligations” means all obligations of every nature of the Borrower from time to time 
owed to the Lender under any Related Document, whether for principal, interest (including interest 
which, but for the filing of a petition in bankruptcy with respect to the Borrower, would have 
accrued on any Obligation, whether or not a claim is allowed against the Borrower for such interest 
in the related bankruptcy proceeding), fees, expenses, indemnification or otherwise. 

“Other Financing Documents” means (a) the TIFIA Loan Agreement, (b) each indenture, 
contract or other definitive document pursuant to which any Existing Indebtedness is issued, 
(c) with respect to any indebtedness issued by the Borrower after the Closing Date, the indenture, 
contract or other definitive document pursuant to which any such indebtedness is issued by the 
Borrower after the Closing Date, and (d) each other agreement, instrument and document executed 
and delivered pursuant to or in connection with any of the foregoing.  

“Other Revenues” means any revenues of the Borrower (other than Local Transportation 
Funds allocated to the Borrower, Farebox Revenues and federal grant funds), including (a) all State 
Transit Assistance Funds allocated to the Borrower, (b) all income derived from Permitted 
Investments, (c) proceeds from business interruption and delay in start-up insurance policies, 
(d) revenue from any lease or other contract (including advertising revenues), (e) member 
contributions made to the Borrower pursuant to the Joint Powers Agreement, and (f) all Measure 
3 Funds received by or on behalf of the Borrower. 

297



 

40302\14113060.4  12 

“Outstanding Amount” means with respect to any Loans on any date, the aggregate 
outstanding principal amount thereof after giving effect to any borrowings and prepayments or 
repayments of Loans occurring on such date. 

“Pari Passu Debt Service Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Required Balance” has the meaning provided in the 
CASA. 

“Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account” means any sub-account of the Pari Passu 
Debt Service Reserve Account (as defined in the CASA) established pursuant to the CASA for 
any Pari Passu Obligations, including the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account. 

“Pari Passu Debt Service Sub-Account” means any Pari Passu Debt Service Account 
established pursuant to the CASA other than the Debt Service Sub-Account created for the Lender. 

“Pari Passu Obligations” means indebtedness or other obligations (including leases and 
installment sale agreements) issued or incurred by the Borrower and payable from Local 
Transportation Funds and Farebox Revenues and Other Revenues equally and ratably with the 
Obligations hereunder. 

“Participant” means a bank which has purchased a participation from the Lender pursuant 
to a Participation Agreement. 

“Participation Agreement” means any agreement entered into among the Lender and one 
or more other banks purchasing participations and named therein, pursuant to which such other 
bank or banks shall purchase from the Lender a participation or participations in this Agreement 
and the Note. 

“Permitted Debt” means: (a) Existing Indebtedness; (b) the Loan; (c) the TIFIA Loan; 
(d) Additional Obligations permitted under Section 5.2(i); and (e) purchase money obligations or 
capitalized leases incurred to finance discrete items of equipment not comprising an integral part 
of the Project that are treated as operating expenses in the Borrower’s annual budget, which 
obligations and leases do not require payments by the Borrower in any Borrower Fiscal Year in 
excess of $250,000 in the aggregate. 

“Person” means and includes natural persons, corporations, limited partnerships, general 
partnerships, limited liability companies, limited liability partnerships, joint stock companies, joint 
ventures, associations, companies, trusts, banks, trust companies, land trusts, business trusts or 
other organizations, whether or not legal entities, and Governmental Authorities. 

“Prime Rate” means at any time the same is to be determined or applied, the “Prime Rate” 
as defined and most recently published in the Wall Street Journal, Western Edition (the “Index”), 
provided that if for any reason such Index becomes unavailable for any reason as determined by 
the Lender, the Index shall mean the rate of interest per annum announced by the Lender as its 
prime rate in effect at its principal office in the State of California (with such Index is not intended 
to necessarily be the lowest rate charged by Lender on its loans).  The interest rate change will not 
occur more often than each day.  The Borrower understands that the Lender may make loans based 

298



 

40302\14113060.4  13 

on other rates as well.  NOTICE: Under no circumstances will the effective rate of interest on any 
Loan be more than the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. 

“Principal Payment Date” means (a) each [May 1 and November 1] or if any such day is 
not a Business Day, then the Business Day immediately succeeding such date from and after the 
Final Borrowing Date, and (b) the Termination Date. 

“Project” is defined in the Recitals hereto.   

“Project Accounts” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“Put Obligations” means any debt which by its terms may be tendered by and at the option 
of the holder thereof for payment prior to the stated maturity or redemption date thereof either 
(a) by the Borrower and by the Person and/or from the source specified in the applicable issuing 
document for such debt or (b) without recourse to the Borrower, by the Person and/or from the 
source specified in the applicable issuing document for such debt. 

“Related Documents” means this Agreement, the Note, the CASA, and the Authorizing 
Resolution and any other documents related to any of the foregoing or executed in connection 
therewith, and any and all future renewals and extensions or restatements of, or amendments or 
supplements to, any of the foregoing. 

“Revenue Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“Revenues” means (a) all Local Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower, (b) all 
Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower, and (c) all Other Revenues received 
by or on behalf of the Borrower. 

“Revised Financial Model” has the meaning given such term in the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement. 

“Risk-Based Capital Guidelines” means (a) the risk-based capital guidelines in effect in 
the United States on the Closing Date, including transition rules, and (b) the corresponding capital 
regulations promulgated by regulatory authorities outside the United States including transition 
rules, and any amendments to such regulations adopted prior to the Closing Date. 

“Same Day Funds” means with respect to disbursements and payments in Dollars, 
immediately available funds. 

“State Transit Assistance Funds” means a portion of the tax collected on the sale of diesel 
fuel pursuant to the TDA. 

“Subordinated Obligations” means indebtedness of the Borrower that is subordinate to the 
Loan and the Pari Passu Obligations in right of payment and in lien priority, payable solely from 
Revenues remaining after the payment of all higher priority Debt in accordance with 
Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, and issued on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Lender. 

299



 

40302\14113060.4  14 

“Substantial Completion” means (a) all work under the Construction-Related Contracts for 
the Project (other than “punchlist” items and work which is to be done after the Project has passed 
its “acceptance tests” or “performance tests” (however defined under such Construction-Related 
Contracts)) has been completed substantially in accordance with such Construction-Related 
Contracts and the requirements of all Governmental Approvals related thereto; and (b) the 
“acceptance tests” or “performance tests” (however defined) under such applicable Construction-
Related Contracts have been performed and successfully completed and the Project has achieved 
the minimum levels specified in such Construction-Related Contracts for such “acceptance tests” 
or “performance tests”.  

“Substantial Completion Date” means the date on which Substantial Completion occurs. 

“Swap Contract” means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, total return 
swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, equity or equity index swaps or 
options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price 
or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar 
transactions, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the 
foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such 
transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions of 
any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or 
governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives 
Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master 
agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a “Master 
Agreement”), including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement. 

“Taxes” means all present and future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, 
withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees, liabilities or other charges 
imposed by any applicable Governmental Authority, including any interest, fines, additions to tax 
or penalties applicable thereto. 

“TDA” means each of (a) California Government Code Sections 29530 – 29536; 
(b) California Public Utilities Code Section 99200 – 99408 (also known as The Mills-Alquist-
Deddeh Act (SB 325) or the Transportation Development Act of 1971); and (c) Title 21 California 
Code of Regulations Section 6600 – 6756, and, with respect to all of the foregoing, any successor 
statute of similar import, and regulations thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time. 

“Termination Date” means the earliest of (a) the Maturity Date, as such date may be 
extended pursuant to Section 2.6 hereof; (b) the date on which Measure 3 Funds sufficient to repay 
then-outstanding Loans and all other amounts then owed hereunder with respect to the Loans and 
the Credit Availability in full are released to the Borrower; (c) the date on which the Commitment 
and the Available Commitment are otherwise terminated or reduced to zero in accordance with 
Section 2.5 hereof; and (d) the date the Available Commitment terminates by its terms in 
accordance with Section 6.1 hereof. 

“TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

300



 

40302\14113060.4  15 

“TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account” has the meaning provided in the CASA. 

“TIFIA Lender” the United States Department of Transportation, an agency of the United 
States of America, acting by and through the Executive Director of the Build America Bureau with 
an address of 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20590. 

“TIFIA Loan Agreement” means any agreement pursuant to which the TIFIA Lender 
provides financing to the Borrower paid from the Revenues. 

“Total Outstandings” means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate Outstanding 
Amount of all Loans. 

“Variable Interest Rate” means a variable interest rate to be borne by any Debt permitted 
by the Related Documents.  The method of computing such variable interest rate shall be specified 
in the instrument pursuant to which such Debt permitted by the Related Documents is incurred.  
Such instrument shall also specify either (a) the particular period or periods of time for which each 
value of such variable interest rate shall remain in effect, or (b) the time or times upon which any 
change in such variable interest rate shall become effective. 

“Variable Interest Rate Debt” means Debt permitted by the Related Documents which 
bears a Variable Interest Rate but does not include any Debt permitted by the Related Documents 
for which the interest rate has been fixed during the remainder of the term thereof to maturity. 

1.2. Accounting Terms.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all accounting 
terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in conformity with 
GAAP.  Subject to the foregoing, calculations in connection with the definitions, covenants and 
other provisions hereof shall utilize accounting principles and policies in conformity with those 
used to prepare the Submitted Financial Statements. 

1.3. Interpretation.  Any of the terms defined herein may, unless the context otherwise 
requires, be used in the singular or the plural, depending on the reference.  References herein to 
any Section, Appendix, Schedule or Exhibit shall be to a Section, an Appendix, a Schedule or an 
Exhibit, as the case may be, hereof unless otherwise specifically provided.  The use herein of the 
word “include” or “including”, when following any general statement, term or matter, shall not be 
construed to limit such statement, term or matter to the specific items or matters set forth 
immediately following such word or to similar items or matters, whether or not nonlimiting 
language (such as “without limitation” or “but not limited to” or words of similar import) is used 
with reference thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all other items or matters that fall 
within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term or matter.  The terms lease and 
license shall include sub-lease and sub-license, as applicable. 

1.4. Certifications.  Any certificate or other writing required hereunder or under any 
other Related Document to be certified by any officer or other authorized representative of any 
Person shall be deemed to be executed and delivered by such officer or other authorized 
representative solely in such individual’s capacity as an officer or other authorized representative 
of such Person and not in such officer’s or other authorized representative’s individual capacity. 

301



 

40302\14113060.4  16 

ARTICLE II LOANS 

2.1. Loans. 

(a) Available Commitment.  Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the 
Lender hereby agrees to make Loans to the Borrower commencing on the Closing Date and ending 
on the Final Borrowing Date in amounts not to exceed at any time outstanding the Available 
Commitment.  Amounts borrowed pursuant to this Section 2.1(a) may not be reborrowed during 
the Credit Availability Period and shall be fully repaid on or before the Termination Date.  The 
Available Commitment shall expire on the Final Borrowing Date, and all then-outstanding Loans 
and all other amounts then owed hereunder with respect to the Loans and the Credit Availability 
shall be paid in full no later than the Termination Date.  The Borrower’s obligation to repay Loans 
hereunder, together with interest thereon, shall be evidenced by the Note.  The Lender will deposit 
the funds for the Loan into an account held at the Lender or held by a collateral agent under a 
collateral agent and account agreement (the “Borrower’s Account”).  Subject to the terms and 
conditions hereof, including Section 3.2, the Available Commitment may be borrowed during the 
Credit Availability Period by the Borrower delivering a Funding Notice pursuant to Section 2.1(b) 
to the Lender on or before the first (1st) Business Day of each month for which a disbursement is 
requested.  If the Lender does not expressly deny such request for funding, disbursements of funds 
shall be made on the fifteenth (15th) day of the month for which a disbursement has been requested, 
or on the next succeeding Business Day if such fifteenth (15th) day is not a Business Day.  In no 
event shall disbursements be made more than once each month.   

(b) Borrowing Mechanics for Loans.  Whenever the Borrower desires that the 
Lender make a Loan, the Borrower shall deliver to the Lender at the Lender’s Office a fully 
executed and delivered Funding Notice, which shall be signed by [_________] no later than 12:30 
p.m. San Francisco, California time, within the time frame required by Section 2.1(a).  Except as 
provided herein, upon satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent specified herein, including 
Section 3.2, the Lender shall make the proceeds of such Loan available to the Borrower on the 
date set forth in Section 2.1(a) by causing an amount of Same Day Funds in Dollars to be credited 
to the account of the Borrower at the Lender’s Office or such other account as may be designated 
in writing to the Lender by the Borrower. 

2.2. Use of Proceeds.  The proceeds of the Loans may be applied by the Borrower to 
fund the design, study, permitting and construction of a transit maintenance and administration 
facility.  No portion of the proceeds of any Credit Extension shall be used in any manner that 
causes or might cause such Credit Extension or the application of such proceeds to violate 
Regulation T, Regulation U or Regulation X of the Board of Governors or any other regulation 
thereof or to violate the Exchange Act. 

2.3. Evidence of Debt; Note.  The Loans shall be evidenced by one or more accounts or 
records maintained by the Lender in the ordinary course of business.  The accounts or records 
maintained by the Lender shall be conclusive absent manifest error of the amount of the Loans 
made by the Lender to the Borrower and the interest and payments thereon.  Any failure to so 
record or any error in doing so shall not, however, limit or otherwise affect the obligation of the 
Borrower hereunder to pay any amount owing with respect to the Obligations.  The Borrower shall 
execute and deliver to the Lender the Note, which shall evidence the Loans in addition to such 

302



 

40302\14113060.4  17 

accounts or records.  The Lender may attach schedules to the Note and endorse thereon the date, 
amount and maturity of Loans and payments with respect thereto.  The Note will not be 
(a) assigned a separate rating by any rating agency; provided, the Borrower at its sole discretion 
and cost and expense is authorized and permitted to obtain a long-term debt rating relating to the 
Note evidencing the Loans hereunder, and the Lender agrees to provide reasonable assistance in 
connection therewith; provided, further, that the Borrower shall pay for all reasonable amounts 
incurred by the Lender and its legal counsel in connection with such rating on the Loans hereunder, 
(b) registered with the Depository Trust Company or any other securities depository, (c) issued 
pursuant to any type of offering document or official statement, or (d) assigned a CUSIP number 
by Standard & Poor’s CUSIP service. 

2.4. Interest on and Repayment of Loans.  

(a) Interest on Loans.  

(i) Amounts outstanding under this Agreement will (except to the 
extent specifically provided to the contrary) bear interest at the Interest Rate.  With respect to the 
applicable Interest Rate, during the period commencing on the Final Borrowing Date and ending 
on the date which is thirty (30) days following the Final Borrowing Date, the Borrower may elect 
to fix such rate at the rate set forth in clause (b) of the definition of “Interest Rate” so long as the 
Borrower provides written notice to the Lender of such election at least [five (5) Business Days] 
prior to the date on which such election to fix the Interest Rate is to take effect.  

(ii) Interest payable pursuant to Section 2.4(a)(i) hereof shall be 
computed on a 365/360 basis, meaning it is the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of 
days elapsed in the period during which it accrues.  In computing interest on any Loan, the date of 
the making of such Loan shall be included, and the date of payment of such Loan shall be excluded. 

(iii) Except as otherwise set forth herein, interest on each Loan shall 
accrue on a daily basis and be payable on each Interest Payment Date and shall be paid for the 
actual number of days that the funds are advanced under the Loan. 

(b) Repayment of Loans.  From and after the Final Borrowing Date, the 
Borrower shall repay principal amounts then outstanding on the Note on each Principal Payment 
Date, [which such amounts shall be in equal installments (determined for each Principal Payment 
Date) to fully amortize the outstanding principal amount of the Note over a period of ten (10) years 
(i.e. amortized to be equal amounts for [twenty (20)] Principal Payment Dates)]; provided that if 
at any time the outstanding principal balance of the Loans exceeds the Credit Availability, such 
excess shall be due and payable immediately along with interest thereon for the number of days 
that such excess remains outstanding at a rate equal to the Default Rate determined pursuant to 
Section 2.7 hereof. 

(c) The Borrower may prepay the principal amounts then outstanding on the 
Note in whole or in part (and, if in part, the amounts thereof to be prepaid shall be determined by 
the Borrower; provided, however, that such prepayments shall be in minimum principal amounts 
of $100,000), at any time or from time-to-time (including prior to the occurrence of the Final 
Borrowing Date), without penalty or premium.  Any amounts prepaid may not be reborrowed.  

303



 

40302\14113060.4  18 

Each prepayment shall be made on such date and in such principal amount as shall be specified by 
the Borrower in a written notice delivered to the Lender, which notice shall also specify the amount 
of unpaid interest accrued to the date of such prepayment on the amount of principal to be prepaid 
that the Borrower intends to pay concurrently with such prepayment, if any.  In the case of any 
optional prepayment, such written notice shall be delivered to the Lender not less than ten (10) 
days or more than thirty (30) days prior to the date set for prepayment, unless otherwise agreed by 
the Lender.  At any time between delivery of such written notice and the applicable optional 
prepayment, the Borrower may, without penalty or premium, rescind its announced optional 
prepayment by further written notice to the Lender.  Anything in this Section 2.4(c) to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the failure by the Borrower to make any optional prepayment shall not constitute 
a breach or default under this Agreement. 

(d) If on any date the Borrower shall receive notice that Measure 3 Funds will 
be released and allocated to the Borrower and such funds will not be in an amount to fully repay 
all amounts then outstanding under the Note and each other Related Document, Borrower shall 
promptly (and, in any event, within two (2) Business Days of Borrower’s receipt of notice) notify 
the Lender in writing of such release of Measure 3 Funds, including the amount to be released to 
the Borrower and the date on which such Measure 3 Funds shall be released to the Borrower.  
Within [one (1)] Business Day of the Borrower’s receipt of such Measure 3 Funds, the Borrower 
shall transfer all such Measure 3 Funds received by the Borrower to the Collateral Agent to be held 
in the BOM Mandatory Prepayment Account and subsequently released to the Lender on the next 
succeeding Principal Payment Date to occur and the Lender shall apply all such Measure 3 Funds 
received pursuant to this Section 2.4(d) to the principal amounts then outstanding on the Note and 
as otherwise set forth in this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, absent notice from the 
Borrower as described herein regarding the release of Measure 3 Funds, if the Lender knows of 
any pending release of Measure 3 Funds (including in an amount sufficient to repay the then 
outstanding obligations under the Note and other Related Documents in full), the Lender shall be 
permitted to make written demand to the Borrower for the Borrower to pay to the Lender any 
Measure 3 Funds to be received by the Borrower, all in accordance with this Section 2.4(d).   

2.5. Reduction and Termination.  

(a) The Borrower may elect to reduce the Available Commitment from time to 
time prior to the Final Borrowing Date by delivery to the Lender of a written Notice of Termination 
or Reduction in the form of Exhibit C hereto delivered thirty (30) days prior to the date of 
termination or reduction, upon receipt of which the Lender will notify the Borrower by means of 
a notice in the form of Exhibit D hereto, thereby reducing the Available Commitment; provided, 
that (i) each such reduction amount shall be in an amount equal to $100,000 or a whole multiple 
of $1,000 in excess thereof, and (ii) following such reduction, the Available Commitment shall not 
be less than the aggregate principal amount of all Loans outstanding on the date of such reduction. 

(b) The Borrower may at any time and at its sole option terminate this 
Agreement and the Commitment upon [thirty (30)] days prior written notice to the Lender; 
provided, that the Borrower pays to the Lender all Obligations hereunder and under the Note; 
provided, however, that (i) all payments to the Lender shall be made with immediately available 
funds, and (ii) any such termination of this Agreement and the Commitment shall be in compliance 
with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

304



 

40302\14113060.4  19 

2.6. Maturity Date.  The ability of the Borrower to request Loans hereunder shall expire 
on the second (2nd) anniversary of the Closing Date hereunder (the “Final Borrowing Date”).  The 
Note established hereunder to evidence Loans made hereunder from the Closing Date through and 
until the Final Borrowing Date shall, subject to Section 6.1, mature on [____________], 2033 (the 
“Maturity Date”); provided, however, that the Lender may in its sole absolute discretion extend 
the Maturity Date of the Note. 

2.7. Default Interest.  Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of 
Default, the principal amount of all Loans and, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, any 
interest payments on the Loans or any fees or other amounts owed hereunder not paid on the due 
date thereof, in each case whether at stated maturity, by notice of prepayment, by acceleration or 
otherwise, shall bear interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under the 
Bankruptcy Code or other applicable bankruptcy laws) from the date of such Event of Default, 
payable on demand on the unpaid principal balance of all of the Loans at the Default Rate. 

2.8. Upfront and Legal Fees.  On or before the date of execution of this Agreement, 
Borrower shall pay to the Lender a nonrefundable commitment fee of Twenty Five Thousand 
Dollars ($25,000) (i.e., fifty basis points (50 bps)).  The Borrower shall be obligated to pay all 
delivery costs, including legal fees of the Lender’s counsel, Farella Braun + Martel LLP 
(anticipated to be in the amount of [$25,000]) and Borrower’s counsel. 

2.9. Intentionally Omitted.   

2.10. Application of Payments or Proceeds Upon Acceleration of Obligations.  If an 
Event of Default shall have occurred and the Obligations shall have been accelerated pursuant to 
Section 6.1 hereof, all payments or proceeds received by the Lender hereunder in respect of any 
of the Obligations shall be applied in accordance with Section 6.2 hereof. 

2.11. General Provisions Regarding Payments.  

(a) All payments of principal, interest, fees and other Obligations shall be made 
pursuant to the CASA and shall be made in Same Day Funds without defense, setoff or 
counterclaim, free of any restriction or condition, and delivered to the Lender not later than 2:00 
pm (San Francisco, California time) on the date due at the Lender’s Office; for purposes of 
computing interest and fees, funds received by the Lender after that time on such due date shall be 
deemed to have been paid by the Borrower on the next succeeding Business Day. 

(b) Whenever any payment to be made hereunder shall be stated to be due on a 
day that is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day 
and such extension of time shall be included in the computation of the payment of interest 
hereunder. 

(c) Intentionally Omitted.   

(d) The Lender shall deem any payment by or on behalf of the Borrower 
hereunder that is not made in Same Day Funds prior to 2:00 pm (San Francisco, California time) 
on the date due at the Lender’s Office to be a non-conforming payment.  Any such payment shall 
not be deemed to have been received by the Lender until the later of (i) the time such funds become 

305



 

40302\14113060.4  20 

available funds, and (ii) the applicable next Business Day.  The Lender shall give prompt 
telephonic notice to the Borrower (confirmed in writing) if any payment is non-conforming.  Any 
non-conforming payment shall constitute or become a Default or Event of Default in accordance 
with the terms of Section 6.1 hereof.  Interest shall continue to accrue on any principal as to which 
a non-conforming payment is made until such funds become available funds (but in no event less 
than the period from the date of such payment to the next succeeding applicable Business Day) at 
the rate determined pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof from the date such amount was due and payable 
until the date such amount is paid in full. 

2.12. Booking of Loans.  The Lender may make, carry or transfer Loans at, to, or for the 
account of any of its branch offices or the office of an Affiliate of the Lender. 

2.13. Increased Costs; Capital Adequacy.  

(a) If any Change in Law shall: 

(i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, liquidity ratio, 
special deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, 
deposits with or for the account of, or advances, loans or other credit extended or participated in 
by, the Lender; 

(ii) subject the Lender to any Tax (except for Taxes on the overall net 
income or share capital of the Lender) of any kind whatsoever with respect to this Agreement, the 
Loans or the Note, or change the basis of taxation of payments to the Lender or such Participant 
in respect thereof; or 

(iii) impose on the Lender or any Participant any other condition, cost or 
expense affecting this Agreement, the Commitment, the Loans or the Note; 

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to the Lender or such Participant 
related to issuing or maintaining the Commitment, the Loans or holding the Note, or to reduce the 
amount of any sum received or receivable by the Lender or such Participant hereunder, or under 
the Note (whether of principal, interest or any other amount) then, within ninety (90) days after 
written request of the Lender, the Borrower shall pay to the Lender or such Participant, as the case 
may be, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Lender or such Participant, as 
the case may be, for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered determined in good faith 
by the Lender or such Participant. 

(b) If the Lender or any Participant determines that any Change in Law 
affecting the Lender or such Participant or the Lender’s or such Participant’s parent or holding 
company, if any, regarding capital requirements, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate 
of return to the Lender or such Participant or the Lender’s or such Participant’s parent or holding 
company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement, the Loans, the Note or the Commitment, to 
a level below that which the Lender or such Participant or the Lender’s or such Participant’s parent 
or holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration 
such entities policies with respect to capital adequacy), then from time to time upon written request 
of the Lender, the Borrower shall promptly pay to the Lender or such Participant, as the case may 
be, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Lender or such Participant or the 

306



 

40302\14113060.4  21 

Lender’s or such Participant’s parent or holding company for any such reduction suffered 
determined in good faith by the Lender or such Participant. 

(c) A certificate of the Lender or a Participant setting forth the amount or 
amounts necessary to compensate the Lender or such Participant or the Lender’s or such 
Participant’s parent or holding company, as the case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) 
of this Section and delivered to the Borrower, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  The 
Borrower shall pay the Lender, such Participant or their parent or holding company, as the case 
may be, the amount shown as due on any such certificate within sixty (60) days after receipt 
thereof. 

(d) Failure or delay on the part of the Lender or any Participant to demand 
compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of the Lender’s or such 
Participant’s right to demand such compensation.  The Borrower shall not be required to 
compensate, or cause to be compensated, the Lender, or any Participant pursuant to this 
Section 2.13 in respect of a period occurring more than six (6) months prior to the date the above-
described written demand is given to the Borrower with respect thereto (the “Cut-Off Date”), 
except where (i) the Lender, or any Participant had no actual knowledge of the action resulting in 
such increased costs, increased capital or charges or reduction in rate of return, as applicable, as 
of the Cut-Off Date or (ii) such increased costs, increased capital or reduction in rate of return 
applies to the Lender, or any Participant retroactively to a date prior to the Cut-Off Date. 

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.13, in the event 
the Lender grants any participation to any Participant under this Agreement, the Borrower will 
have no obligation to pay amounts pursuant to this Section 2.13 in an amount greater than that 
which it would have been required to pay if the Lender had not granted such participation. 

(f) The obligations of the Borrower under this Section 2.13 shall survive the 
termination of the Commitment and this Agreement. 

2.14. Security; Obligations Absolute.  

(a) As security for the payment of principal and interest of the Note, the 
Borrower shall (i) pledge, assign and grant to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Lender, a 
senior Lien on the Collateral described in clause (a) of the definition thereof and (ii) assign and 
grant to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Lender, a senior Lien on the Collateral described 
in clause (b) of the definition thereof, including an exclusive Lien on the BOM Debt Service Sub-
Account and the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account and the amounts on deposit in each 
such account, in each case in accordance with the provisions of the CASA.  The principal and 
interest of the Note and other obligations outstanding under this Agreement and the Related 
Documents shall be secured by the Liens on the Collateral and shall be pari passu with the Liens 
on the Collateral in favor of the Pari Passu Obligations.  In addition to the foregoing, for so long 
as any principal and/or interest amount of the Note remains outstanding, the Borrower shall cause 
all Local Transportation Funds allocable to it and which are unreserved funds to be deposited to 
the Revenue Account in accordance with this Agreement, the CASA and the Related Documents 
to ensure the timely payment of all principal and interest of the Note and other amounts due and 
payable hereunder or under the Related Documents. 

307



 

40302\14113060.4  22 

(b) Except (i) for the Liens granted pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Agreement and 
the other documents related thereto, the BOM NVTA Loan Facility or this Agreement and the 
other Related Documents, or (ii) to the extent otherwise provided in Section 2.14(a), the Collateral 
will be free and clear of any pledge, Lien, charge or encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto 
prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge of the Borrower created under the CASA, and all 
organizational, regulatory or other necessary action on the part of the Borrower with respect to the 
foregoing has been duly and validly taken. 

(c) The Borrower shall not use Local Transportation Funds allocated to the 
Borrower or Farebox Revenues to make any payments or satisfy any obligations other than in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.14, the TIFIA Loan Agreement, the BOM NVTA 
Loan Facility and the Related Documents and shall not apply any portion of the Local 
Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower or Farebox Revenues in contravention of this 
Agreement, the other Related Documents, the TIFIA Loan Agreement or the BOM NVTA Loan 
Facility.  The principal and interest of the Note and other amounts payable pursuant to the Related 
Documents will be payable from all Revenues and will be a senior obligation of the Borrower in 
right of payment from (and claim on) all Revenues, pari passu with the Pari Passu Obligations. 

(d) The CASA provides that all Local Transportation Funds allocated to the 
Borrower and all Farebox Revenues shall, subject to Section 5.03(g) of the CASA, be deposited 
in the Revenue Account and amounts on deposit in the Revenue Account shall be applied in the 
order of priority described in Section 5.03(b) of the CASA, a copy of which Section 5.03(b), as of 
the Closing Date, is attached as Appendix B (all capitalized terms used in Appendix B and not 
otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed in the CASA). 

(e) No filing, registration, recording or publication of the Authorizing 
Resolution, the Note, the CASA or this Agreement or any other instrument nor any prior separation 
or physical delivery of the Farebox Revenues is required to establish the pledge provided for 
hereunder or to protect or maintain the Lien created thereby on the Collateral to secure the Note.  
As of the Closing Date, there is no Debt of the Borrower payable from or secured by the Farebox 
Revenues or amounts held in funds, accounts or subaccounts under the CASA or any portion 
thereof on a basis that is on a parity with the Obligations other than the Note existing as of the 
Closing Date.  The Borrower authorizes the Lender to file any financing statements as are 
necessary to maintain the security interests granted in or pursuant to this Agreement and the other 
Related Documents. 

(f) The payment obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement shall be 
unconditional and irrevocable and shall be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement under all circumstances, including, without limitation, the following: 

(i) any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement, the 
Obligations or any of the other Related Documents; 

(ii) any amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from all or 
any of the Related Documents; 

308



 

40302\14113060.4  23 

(iii) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other right which the 
Borrower may have at any time against the Lender, or any other person or entity, whether in 
connection with this Agreement, the other Related Documents, the transactions contemplated 
herein or therein or any unrelated transaction; or 

(iv) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not 
similar to any of the foregoing. 

ARTICLE III CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

3.1. Closing Date.  The obligation of the Lender to execute this Agreement is subject to 
the satisfaction, or waiver in accordance with Section 7.5 hereof, of the following conditions on or 
before the Closing Date, each to the satisfaction of the Lender in its sole discretion and, as to any 
agreement, document or instrument specified below, each in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Lender: 

(a) Related Documents.  The Lender shall have received: 

(i) sufficient copies of this Agreement, originally executed and 
delivered by each applicable Borrower for the Lender; 

(ii) the Note executed by the Borrower in favor of the Lender; 

(iii) the CASA executed by the Borrower, the Lender, the TIFIA Lender 
and the Collateral Agent. 

(b) Organizational Documents; Incumbency; Resolution.  The Lender shall 
have received: 

(i) a signature and incumbency certificate of the officers or other 
authorized representatives of the Borrower executing the Related Documents; 

(ii) the Authorizing Resolution of the Board of Directors of the 
Borrower approving and authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Related 
Documents or by which it or its assets may be bound as of the Closing Date, certified as of the 
Closing Date by its secretary or an assistant secretary as being in full force and effect without 
modification or amendment; 

(iii) a certificate executed by an officer of the Borrower providing that 
each of the representations and warranties set forth in each Related Document is true and correct 
as of the Closing Date; 

(iv) audited financial statements, any unaudited financial statements 
since the most recent audited financial statements, and debt management policy; 

(v) a certificate evidencing no default shall have occurred and no 
material adverse change has occurred with respect to the Borrower; 

309



 

40302\14113060.4  24 

(vi) legal opinions of counsel to the Borrower and bond counsel to the 
Borrower each in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender; 

(vii) a certified copy of the Borrower’s Joint Powers Agreement, and 

(viii) such other documents as the Lender may reasonably request. 

(c) No Litigation.  There shall not exist any action, suit, investigation, litigation 
or proceeding or other legal or regulatory developments, pending or threatened to the Borrower’s 
knowledge in any court or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority that, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Lender, singularly or in the aggregate, materially impairs the transactions 
contemplated by the Related Documents, or that could reasonably be expected to have a Material 
Adverse Effect on the Borrower’s ability conduct its business or to perform its obligations 
hereunder or under any of the Related Documents. 

(d) Collateral Agent and other CASA –Related Documents.  The Lender shall 
receive certificates, resolutions, opinions and other documents as the Lender may reasonably 
request from the Collateral Agent and from the Napa Valley Transportation Authority. 

(e) Other Financing Documents.  Concurrently with the effectiveness of this 
Agreement and the Related Documents, the Borrower will deliver to the Lender certified, 
complete, and fully executed copies of each Other Financing Document, together with any 
amendments, waivers or modifications thereto, in each case that has been entered into on or prior 
to the Closing Date, and each such agreement shall be in full force and effect and in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Lender, and all conditions contained in such documents to the closing 
of the transactions contemplated thereby shall have been fulfilled or effectively waived (provided 
that for purposes of this Section 3.1(e), any such waiver shall be subject to the Lender’s consent 
in its sole discretion). 

(f) Other Funding Sources for the Project.  Borrower shall have secured all 
approvals, as demonstrated to the Lender’s satisfaction, for other funding sources for the Project 
from such Persons (including from any applicable Governmental Authority) for at least thirty eight 
percent (38.0%) of the total cost of the Project (estimated as of the Closing Date to be at least 
[$15,732,421]). 

(g) Other Matters.  All other legal matters pertaining to the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement and the Related Documents shall be satisfactory to the Lender and its 
counsel, and the Lender shall have received such other statements, certificates, agreements, 
documents and information (including, but not limited to, the Base Case Financial Model) with 
respect to the Borrower, the Issuer and the other parties to the Related Documents and matters 
contemplated by this Agreement as the Lender may reasonably request.  The execution and 
delivery of this Agreement shall be conclusive evidence that all such statements, certificates, 
agreements, documents and information with respect to the Borrower and the other parties to the 
Related Documents and matters contemplated by this Agreement have been received and approved 
by the Lender or waived. 

310



 

40302\14113060.4  25 

3.2. Conditions to Each Credit Extension.  The obligation of the Lender to make any 
Loan on any Credit Date is subject to the satisfaction, or waiver in accordance with Section 7.5 
hereof, of the following conditions precedent: 

(a) Notice.  The Lender shall have received a fully executed and delivered 
Funding Notice; 

(b) Credit Line.  After making the Credit Extensions requested on such Credit 
Date, the Total Outstandings shall not exceed the Credit Availability then in effect; 

(c) TIFIA Loans.  All amounts to be loaned pursuant to the TIFIA Loan 
Agreement shall be fully disbursed and the TIFIA Lender shall have no further commitments to 
lend, as demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Lender;  

(d) Grants.  Borrower shall be in compliance with the requirements of 
Section 3.1(f); 

(e) Reporting.  Borrower shall have provided all such reporting required by 
Section 5.1(b)(v), including, if such reporting shows a shortfall in funding to complete the Project, 
that the Borrower has secured such additional sources of funding to complete the Project;  

(f) Invoices.  Borrower shall provide all invoices and such other documentation 
required by the Lender in connection with work to be or previously performed in connection with 
such request for a Loan;  

(g) Inspection.  The Lender will have performed or have scheduled to perform 
such inspections of the Project as permitted or otherwise required by Section 5.1(d);  

(h) Construction-Related Contract.  The Borrower shall have provided to the 
Lender certified, complete, and fully executed copies of each Construction-Related Contract that 
has been entered into as of the date of such Credit Extension, together with any amendments, 
waivers or modifications thereto and any related performance security instruments;  

(i) Representations and Warranties.  As of such Credit Date, the 
representations and warranties contained herein and in the other Related Documents shall be true 
and correct in all material respects (except for those representations and warranties that are 
conditioned by materiality, which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of that Credit 
Date to the same extent as though made on and as of that date, except to the extent such 
representations and warranties specifically relate to an earlier date, in which case such 
representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects (except for 
those representations and warranties that are conditioned by materiality, which shall have been 
true and correct in all respects) on and as of such earlier date; 

(j) No Default or Event of Default.  As of such Credit Date, no event shall have 
occurred and be continuing or would result from the consummation of the applicable Credit 
Extension that would constitute a Default or an Event of Default hereunder; and 

311



 

40302\14113060.4  26 

(k) No Material Adverse Effect.  As of such Credit Date, no event, including 
any change in any Law, or omission shall have occurred which has resulted, or is likely to result, 
in a Material Adverse Effect. 

3.3. Notices.  Every Funding Notice shall be executed by an officer of the Borrower in 
a writing delivered to the Lender.  In lieu of delivering a Funding Notice, the Borrower may give 
the Lender telephonic notice by the required time of any proposed borrowing; provided that each 
such notice shall be promptly confirmed in writing by delivery of the applicable Funding Notice 
to the Lender on or before the applicable date of borrowing.  The Lender shall not incur any liability 
to the Borrower in acting upon any telephonic notice referred to above that the Lender believes in 
good faith to have been given by a duly authorized officer or other person authorized on behalf of 
the Borrower or for otherwise acting in good faith. 

ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

4.1. Organization, Powers, Etc.  On the Closing Date, (a) the Borrower is a joint powers 
authority organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of California, and 
(b) the Borrower (i) has full power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted, (ii) 
has (or, if already executed or adopted, had at the time of execution or adoption) full power and 
authority to execute (or adopt, if applicable), deliver and perform its obligations under this 
Agreement and the other Related Documents, to borrow hereunder and to execute, deliver and 
perform its obligations hereunder, the Note and the other Related Documents and to repay the 
Obligations, and (iii) may only contest the validity or enforceability of any provision of, or deny 
that the Borrower has any liability or obligation under this Agreement, the Law, the Note or any 
other Related Document by an act of its governing body. 

4.2. Authorization, Absence of Conflicts, Etc.  The execution (or adoption, if 
applicable), delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Note and the other Related 
Documents (a) have been duly authorized, executed and delivered or, if applicable, adopted by the 
Borrower, (b) do not and will not, to any material extent, conflict with, or result in violation of, 
any Applicable Law, including the Law, or any order, rule or regulation of any court or other 
Governmental Authority and (c) do not and will not, to any material extent, conflict with, result in 
a violation of or constitute a default under, the Authorizing Resolution or any other resolution, 
agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which the Borrower or any of its 
property is bound. 

4.3. Governmental Consent or Approval.  The execution (or adoption, if applicable), 
delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Note and the other Related Documents do not 
and will not require registration with, or the consent or approval of, or any other action by, any 
federal, state or other Governmental Authority or regulatory body other than those which have 
been made or given and are in full force and effect; provided that no representation is made as to 
any blue sky or securities law of any jurisdiction. 

4.4. Binding Obligations.  This Agreement, the Note, and the other Related Documents 
are legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in 
accordance with their respective terms, subject to any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, debt 
adjustment, moratorium, reorganization or other similar laws, judicial discretion and principles of 

312



 

40302\14113060.4  27 

equity relating to or affecting creditors’ rights or contractual obligations generally or limitations 
on remedies against public entities in the State. 

4.5. Litigation.  There is no action or investigation pending or, to the knowledge of the 
Borrower, threatened, against the Borrower before any court or other Governmental Authority 
which questions the validity of any act or the validity of any proceeding taken by the Borrower in 
connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Note or the other Related 
Documents, or wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would in any way adversely 
affect (a) the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, the Note or the other Related Documents, 
(b) the validity, enforceability or the pledge of and lien on the Revenues or on the amounts held in 
funds, accounts and subaccounts under the CASA, or (c) the status of the Borrower as a joint 
powers authority organized pursuant to and existing under the Constitution and other Applicable 
Laws of the State of California. 

4.6. Financial Condition.  All of the Borrower’s financial statements that have been 
furnished to the Lender have been prepared in conformity with GAAP (except as noted therein) 
and are comprised of a balance sheet and a statement of revenues and expenditures and changes in 
fund balances.  All of such financial statements accurately present, in all material respects, the 
financial condition of the Borrower, including the Revenues as of the dates thereof, and there have 
been no changes in the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrower, 
since the dates of said financial statements that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material 
Adverse Effect on the ability of the Borrower to receive Revenues or its ability to perform its 
obligations hereunder or under the Note and under the other Related Documents. 

4.7. Related Documents.  Each of the Related Documents is in full force and effect.  
Except as previously disclosed in writing to the Lender prior to the Closing Date, no event of 
default and no event which, with the giving of notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute 
an event of default, presently exists under any of the Related Documents.  Except as previously 
disclosed in writing to the Lender prior to the Closing Date, neither the Borrower nor any other 
party thereto has waived or deferred performance of any material obligation under any Related 
Document. 

4.8. Incorporation of Representations and Warranties.  In addition to the representations 
and warranties set forth herein, the Borrower hereby makes to the Lender the same representations 
and warranties as are set forth by the Borrower in each of the other Related Documents, which 
representations and warranties, as well as the related defined terms contained therein, are hereby 
incorporated by reference for the benefit of the Lender with the same effect as if each and every 
such representation and warranty and defined term were set forth herein in its entirety.  The 
representations and statements made by the Borrower herein and therein are true and correct as of 
the date of this Agreement.  No amendment to such representations and warranties or definitions 
which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the ability 
of the Borrower to meet its obligations hereunder or under the other Related Documents or the 
rights or security of the Lender hereunder or under the other Related Documents shall be effective 
to amend such representations and warranties and definitions as incorporated by reference herein 
without the prior written consent of the Lender. 

313



 

40302\14113060.4  28 

4.9. Margin Regulations.  The Borrower is not engaged in the business of extending 
credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying Margin Stock, and no part of the proceeds of the 
Loans or the Note or any amounts furnished by the Lender will be used to purchase or carry any 
Margin Stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin 
Stock. 

4.10. No Event of Default.  No Event of Default or Default has occurred and is 
continuing. 

4.11. Security; Pledge of Revenues Securing Obligations.  All of the Farebox Revenues 
are hereby pledged to secure the payment of principal and interest of the Obligations and the Note.  
In addition, the Local Transportation Funds and Other Revenues are available to repay the 
principal and interest of the Obligations.  The Obligations and the Note are secured solely by a lien 
on and pledge of Farebox Revenues hereunder and under the CASA and the Local Transportation 
Funds and Other Revenues are available to repay the Obligations hereunder.  The pledge of the 
Farebox Revenues securing the payment of the principal of and interest on the Note and the 
contractual obligation of the Local Transportation Funds and Other Revenues hereunder and under 
the CASA is a valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, on parity only with the other Pari 
Passu Obligations, if any, subject to any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, debt adjustment, 
moratorium, reorganization or other similar laws, judicial decisions and principles of equity 
relating to or affecting creditors’ rights or contractual obligations generally or limitations of 
remedies against public entities in the State.  No filing, registration, recording or publication of the 
Authorizing Resolution, the CASA or any other instrument nor any prior separation or physical 
delivery of the Revenues is required to establish the pledge of the Farebox Revenues and 
availability of the Local Transportation Funds and Other Revenues provided for hereunder or 
under the CASA- or to protect or maintain the Lien created thereby on the Farebox Revenues.  As 
of the Closing Date, there is no Debt of the Borrower payable from or secured by the Revenues or 
amounts held in funds, accounts or subaccounts under the CASA or any portion thereof on a basis 
that is senior to or on a parity with the Obligations other than the Note. 

4.12. Sovereign Immunity.  The Borrower is subject to claims and to suit for damages in 
connection with its obligations under this Agreement and the other Related Documents pursuant 
to and in accordance with the laws of the State applicable to public entities such as the Borrower; 
provided, however, that a claimant shall be required to comply with the provisions of the 
Government Claims Act set forth in California Government Code Section 810 et seq. in tort or 
contract suits, actions or proceedings brought against the Borrower. 

4.13. Accurate Information.  All information, reports and other papers and data with 
respect to the Borrower furnished to the Lender, at the time the same were so furnished, were 
accurate in all material respects.  Any financial, budget and other projections furnished to the 
Lender were prepared in good faith on the basis of the assumptions stated therein, which 
assumptions were fair and reasonable in light of conditions existing at the time of delivery of such 
financial, budget or other projections. 

4.14. Maximum Rate.  The terms of the Related Documents (including the Note) 
regarding the calculation of interest and fees do not violate any Applicable Laws. 

314



 

40302\14113060.4  29 

4.15. No Proposed Legal Changes.  There is no amendment or, to the knowledge of the 
Borrower, no proposed amendment certified for placement on a statewide or local ballot, to the 
Constitution of the State or any published administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the 
State or any Applicable Laws, or any legislation that has passed either house of the State 
legislature, or any published judicial decision interpreting any of the foregoing, which could 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of the Borrower to receive 
Revenues or its ability to perform its obligations hereunder or under the Note and under the other 
Related Documents. 

4.16. Valid Lien.  The Borrower’s irrevocable pledge of the Farebox Revenues hereunder 
and under the CASA to and for the payment of the Obligations of the Borrower under this 
Agreement and for the payment of the Obligations and the Note and the availability of the Local 
Transportation Funds and the Other Revenues are valid and binding and no further acts, 
instruments, approvals or consents are necessary for the creation, validity or perfection, as 
applicable, thereof. 

4.17. ERISA.  The Borrower is not subject to ERISA.  The Borrower has no funding 
deficiency with respect to any employee benefit plan which could reasonably be expected to 
materially and adversely affect the ability of the Borrower to perform its obligations hereunder or 
under any other Related Documents to which it is a party, and the Borrower is otherwise in 
compliance with terms of any such plan in which the Borrower or any of its employees participate 
to the extent any such failure to comply could reasonably be expected to materially and adversely 
affect the ability of the Borrower to perform its obligations hereunder or under any other Related 
Documents to which it is a party. 

4.18. Solvency.  After giving effect to the issuance of the Note and the other obligations 
contemplated by this Agreement, the Borrower will be able to pay its debts (including contingent, 
subordinated, unmatured and unliquidated liabilities) as they become absolute and matured, and 
the Borrower is able to and anticipates that it will be able to meet its debts as they mature and has 
adequate resources to conduct its business in which it is engaged. 

4.19. Environmental Laws.  The Borrower and its properties (a) have not become subject 
to any Environmental Liability caused by Borrower nor does it know of any basis for any 
Environmental Liability against Borrower, (b) have not received notice to the effect that any of the 
Borrower’s operations are not in compliance with any of the requirements of any Environmental 
Laws or any applicable federal, state or local health and safety statutes and regulations or are the 
subject of any governmental investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to 
respond to a release of any Hazardous Materials into the environment, and (c) to the best of the 
knowledge of the Borrower, is in compliance with all Environmental Laws and has obtained and 
maintains or complies with any permit, license or other approval required under any 
Environmental Law, in each of (a), (b) and (c) above, except with respect to any matters that, 
individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse 
Effect on the ability of the Borrower to receive Revenues or its ability to perform its obligations 
hereunder or under the Note and under the other Related Documents. 

315



 

40302\14113060.4  30 

4.20. Investment Policy.  The Borrower has neither made any investment nor entered into 
any agreements for the purpose of effecting any investment which are not permitted pursuant to 
the Authorizing Resolution or under Applicable Law. 

4.21. Binding Effect.  This Agreement and the other Related Documents constitute legal, 
valid and binding obligations of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance 
with their respective terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, 
by general equitable principles, regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a 
proceeding in equity or at law and by limitations on legal remedies against public agencies in the 
State of California.  The Note will be duly issued, executed and delivered in conformity with the 
Law and the Authorizing Resolution, and constitute legal, valid and binding special, limited 
obligations of the Borrower, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as such 
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other 
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, by general equitable principles, regardless of 
whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law and by limitations on 
legal remedies against public agencies in the State, and entitled to the benefit and security of the 
Authorizing Resolution. 

4.22. Swap Contracts.  As of the Closing Date, the Borrower is not a party to any Swap 
Contract. 

4.23. Usury Limits.  The terms of this Agreement, the Note and the other Related 
Documents regarding calculation and payment of interest and fees do not violate any applicable 
usury laws. 

ARTICLE V COVENANTS 

5.1. Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower.  So long as the Commitment is outstanding 
and until all Obligations shall have been paid in full, the Borrower hereby covenants and agrees, 
that: 

(a) Notice of Default.  As promptly as practical after the date the Borrower shall 
have obtained knowledge of the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default or a breach of this 
Agreement or any other Related Document, the Borrower will provide notice of the same to the 
Lender and, in each such case the Borrower will provide to the Lender the written statement of the 
Borrower setting forth the details of each such event and the action which the Borrower proposes 
to take with respect thereto. 

(b) Reporting Requirements.  The Borrower will provide the following to the 
Lender: 

(i) as soon as available, but in any event no later than one hundred 
eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal Year of the Borrower, the Borrower will provide to 
the Lender (A) the audited financial statements of the Borrower consisting of a balance sheet and 
a statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances of the Borrower, including the 
Revenues for such Fiscal Year, setting forth in comparative form the corresponding figures (if any) 
for the preceding Fiscal Year, all in reasonable detail, and accompanied by an unqualified opinion 

316



 

40302\14113060.4  31 

of an independent certified public accounting firm satisfactory to the Lender stating that they have 
been prepared in accordance with GAAP;  

(ii) as soon as available, but in any event not later than forty five (45) 
days after the end of each quarterly periods of each fiscal year of the Borrower, the unaudited 
consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower as at the end of such quarter and the related unaudited 
consolidated statements of income and of cash flows for such quarter and the portion of the fiscal 
year through the end of such quarter; 

(iii) concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements set forth 
in clauses (i) and (ii) above, a certificate from the Chairman of the Board or another authorized 
officer and addressed to the Lender stating that (A) neither a Default nor an Event of Default has 
occurred which was continuing at the end of such fiscal period or on the date of such certification, 
or, if such an event has occurred and was continuing at the end of such fiscal period or on the date 
of such certification, indicating the nature of such event and the action which the Borrower 
proposes to take with respect thereto, and (B) the representations and warranties of the Borrower 
contained in this Agreement and in each of the other Related Documents are true and correct on 
and as of the date of such certification as though made on and as of such date; 

(iv) promptly after process has been served on the Borrower, the 
Borrower will provide to the Lender written notice of any newly filed action, suit or proceeding 
before any court or other Governmental Authority in which there is a reasonable probability of an 
adverse decision which could (A) materially adversely affect the business, financial position or 
results of operations of the Borrower, the management or operation of the Borrower or the ability 
of the Borrower to perform its obligations hereunder or under the Note or any other Related 
Document, or (B) draw into question the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, the Note or 
any other Related Document; 

(v) as soon as possible after the Borrower acquires knowledge of the 
occurrence of (A) the filing of any initiative or referendum which could lead to the diminution or 
reallocation of the Revenues or any portion thereof, or (B) any other event which, in the reasonable 
judgment of the Borrower, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the 
ability of the Borrower to receive Revenues or its ability to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement, the Note or under any other Related Document, the Borrower will provide written 
notice thereof to the Lender; 

(vi) as soon as available, the Borrower will provide the Lender a copy of 
(A) the Borrower’s annual budget, including all cash flow projections for such periods covered by 
the budget, and (B) the Revised Financial Model, including as it is updated periodically during the 
term of this Agreement;  

(vii) until the Substantial Completion Date, the Borrower will provide the 
Lender, within thirty (30) days following the last day of each calendar quarter, reports, in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Lender, regarding the Project, including percentage of completion and 
demonstrating that the amount of remaining funding sources is sufficient to complete the Project 
or, if such amounts are not demonstrated to be sufficient to complete the Project, that the Borrower 
has secured such additional sources of funds to complete the Project; 

317



 

40302\14113060.4  32 

(viii) promptly following Borrower’s receipt thereof, copies of all annual 
allocation letters and/or funding availability notices;  

(ix) as soon as available, but in any event within forty five (45) days of 
each quarter end, copies of all reports received by the Borrower from the Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission as well as any other Governmental Authority related thereto in 
connection with the collection and administration of Local Transportation Funds (collectively, 
including any successor agency thereto, “MTC”), inclusive of such details for Local 
Transportation Funds activity statements, unpaid allocations, and administrative fee schedules;  

(x) as soon as available (and, in any event, within thirty (30) days of the 
Borrower’s receipt of any notice or other update regarding the status of the Measure 3 Funds), the 
Borrower shall provide updates to the status of the litigation and other proceedings with respect to 
the Measure 3 Funds; and 

(xi) the Borrower will provide the Lender, from time to time, such 
additional information regarding the financial position, operations, business or prospects of the 
Borrower, and the operation and management of the Borrower, as may be in the possession of the 
Borrower, as the Lender may reasonably request. 

(c) Use of Proceeds.  The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Loans for to 
fund the construction of the Project in accordance with the permitted uses set forth in Section 2.2, 
all of which shall comply with Applicable Laws. 

(d) Inspections; Discussion.  The Borrower will permit the Lender or its 
representatives, at any reasonable time during normal business hours and from time to time at the 
request of the Lender to the extent that the Borrower is not legally precluded from permitting 
access thereto, upon no less than forty-eight (48) hours prior written notice, to visit and inspect the 
properties of the Borrower, including the inspection of the Project to determine the percentage of 
completion thereof; to examine and make copies of and take abstracts from the records and books 
of account of the Borrower; and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Borrower 
including, without limitation, the management and operation of the Borrower, with the appropriate 
officers of the Borrower; provided that, if required by the Borrower, as a condition to the Lender 
being permitted by the Borrower to make or conduct any such visit, inspection, examination or 
discussion, the Lender shall certify to the Borrower that the same is being made or conducted 
solely in order to assist the Lender in determining the Borrower’s compliance with its obligations 
under this Agreement, the Note or the other Related Documents. 

(e) Further Assurances.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, the Borrower 
shall take any and all actions necessary or reasonably requested by the Lender to (i) perfect and 
protect, any lien, pledge or security interest or other right or interest given, or purported to be given 
to the Lender or any other Person under or in connection with this Agreement or the other Related 
Documents, (ii) enable the Lender to exercise or enforce its rights under or in connection with this 
Agreement and the other Related Documents or (iii) enable the Lender to assign or pledge the Note 
to any Federal Reserve Bank. 

318



 

40302\14113060.4  33 

(f) Taxes and Liabilities.  The Borrower shall pay all its Debt and obligations 
promptly and in accordance with their terms and pay and discharge or cause to be paid and 
discharged promptly all taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or 
upon its income and profits, or upon any of its property, real, personal or mixed, or upon any part 
thereof, before the same shall become in default, which default could reasonably be expected to 
result in a Material Adverse Effect on the ability of the Borrower to receive Revenues or its ability 
to perform its obligations hereunder or under the Note and under the other Related Documents; 
provided that the Borrower shall have the right to defer payment or performance of obligations to 
Persons other than the Lender so long as it is contesting in good faith the validity of such 
obligations by appropriate legal action and no final order or judgment has been entered with respect 
to such obligations. 

(g) Incorporation of Covenants.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, the 
covenants of the Borrower set forth in each of the Related Documents to which the Borrower is a 
party are hereby incorporated by reference in this Agreement for the benefit of the Lender.  To the 
extent that any such incorporated provision permits any Person to waive compliance with or 
consent to such provision or requires that a document, opinion, report or other instrument or any 
event or condition be acceptable or satisfactory to any Person, for purposes of this Agreement, 
such compliance shall be waived, or such provision shall be consented to, only if it is waived or 
consented to, as the case may be, by the Lender and such document, opinion, report or other 
instrument shall be acceptable or satisfactory to the Lender.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, 
no amendment to such covenants (or the defined terms relating thereto) made pursuant to the 
Related Documents, which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the 
ability of the Borrower to receive Revenues or its ability to perform its obligations hereunder or 
under the Note and under the other Related Documents shall be effective to amend such 
incorporated covenants without the prior written consent of the Lender. 

(h) Waiver of Sovereign Immunity.  Except for applicable requirements of the 
Borrower and the Lender pursuant to the Applicable Law of the State of California relating to the 
Lender asserting a claim hereunder, the Borrower hereby agrees not to assert the defense of any 
future right of sovereign immunity in any legal proceeding to enforce or collect upon the 
obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement or any other Related Document or the 
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. 

(i) Credit Facilities.  Except for the TIFIA Loan Agreement, in the event that 
the Borrower shall, directly or indirectly, enter into or otherwise consent to any Lender Agreement, 
which such Lender Agreement provides such Person with additional remedies (the “Additional 
Rights”) than are provided to the Lender in this Agreement, then, such Additional Rights shall 
automatically be deemed to be incorporated into this Agreement and the Lender shall have the 
benefits of such Additional Rights.  The Borrower shall promptly, upon entering into or otherwise 
consenting to a Lender Agreement containing such Additional Rights, notify the Lender hereunder 
of such Lender Agreement and enter into an amendment to this Agreement to include such 
Additional Rights; provided that the Lender shall have the benefit of such Additional Rights even 
if the Borrower fails to provide such notice or enter into an amendment hereto to include said 
Additional Rights into this Agreement.  If the Borrower shall amend the related Lender Agreement 
such that it no longer provides for such Additional Rights, then, without the consent of the Lender, 

319



 

40302\14113060.4  34 

this Agreement shall automatically no longer contain the related Additional Rights and the Lender 
shall no longer have the benefits of any of the related Additional Rights. 

(j) Right to Accelerate.  In the event the Borrower shall, directly or indirectly, 
enter into or otherwise consent to any Lender Agreement, which Lender Agreement includes the 
right to accelerate the payment of the principal of or interest on any series of Obligations upon the 
occurrence and continuation of an event of default or event of termination under such Lender 
Agreement, or such Lender Agreement includes the right to accelerate the payment of the principal 
of or interest on any series of Obligations upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of 
default or event of termination under such Lender Agreement within a shorter period than is 
available to the Lender under this Agreement (herein referred to as “New Acceleration 
Provisions”), then such New Acceleration Provisions shall automatically be deemed incorporated 
herein and the Lender shall automatically have the benefit of such New Acceleration Provisions.  
The Borrower shall promptly, upon the occurrence of the Borrower entering into any Lender 
Agreement (or amendment thereto) which provides for New Acceleration Provisions, enter into an 
amendment to this Agreement to include such New Acceleration Provisions; provided that the 
Lender shall maintain the benefit of such New Acceleration Provisions even if the Borrower fails 
to provide such amendment.  The release, termination or other discharge of such Lender 
Agreement that provides for such New Acceleration Provisions shall be effective to amend, 
release, terminate or discharge (as applicable) such provisions as incorporated by reference herein 
without the consent of the Lender. 

(k) Revenues; Budget and Appropriation.  The Borrower covenants and agrees 
that it shall take any and all action necessary such that Revenues in each Fiscal Year shall equal 
an amount at least sufficient to satisfy the respective provisions of the Related Documents.  To the 
extent required by the Applicable Law of the State of California or any Related Document, the 
Borrower shall cause the appropriate Borrower official to take any and all actions that may be 
necessary to facilitate the payment of all Obligations under this Agreement, the Note and the other 
Related Documents and to include such Obligations in the Borrower’s budget and included in an 
appropriations request. 

(l) Financial Covenants.  The Borrower shall at all times adequately maintain 
the debt service payments and reserve funds, if any, on any Pari Passu Obligations, including the 
Adjusted Debt Service Amount with respect to such Pari Passu Obligations. 

(m) Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall preserve and maintain its 
existence and rights as a joint powers authority. 

(n) Disclosure to Participants.  Except to the extent expressly prohibited by 
state or federal law, the Borrower shall permit the Lender to disclose any information received by 
the Lender in connection herewith including, without limitation, the financial information 
described in Section 5.1(b)(i) hereof, to any Participant. 

(o) Licenses, Permits, Etc.  The Borrower will take all necessary and 
appropriate action to ensure the continuance in force of all material consents, licenses, permits, 
orders, decrees, authorizations, registrations, filings and other Governmental Approvals obtained 
or made in connection with this Agreement, the Note and the other Related Documents and/or 

320



 

40302\14113060.4  35 

necessary to enable and authorize the ongoing performance by the Borrower of this Agreement, 
the Note and the other Related Documents and all other agreements to be delivered in connection 
with any thereof. 

(p) Insurance.  The Borrower shall maintain insurance with financially sound 
and reputable insurance companies against at least such risks and in at least such amounts as are 
customarily maintained by similar businesses and as may be required by applicable law and as are 
required by any Related Document (including insuring it with respect to any liability or other 
events arising during the construction of the Project, insuring its assets against loss by fire, 
explosion, theft and other risks and casualties as are customarily insured against by companies 
engaged in the same or a similar business, insuring it against liability for personal injury and 
property damages relating to its assets, such policies to be in such amounts and covering such risks 
as are usually insured against by companies engaged in the same or a similar business, and insuring 
such other matters as may from time to time be reasonably requested by the Lender, and insuring 
it against business interruption in such amounts as the Lender shall reasonably deem appropriate).  
After the Closing Date upon the request of the Lender, the Borrower shall provide a certificate in 
reasonable detail as to the insurance then in effect, stating the names of the insurance companies, 
the amounts and rates of the insurance, the dates of the expiration thereof and the properties and 
risks covered thereby. 

(q) Construction-Related Contracts.  If the Borrower enters into a Construction-
Related Contract after the Closing Date, the Borrower shall provide to the Lender an executed 
version of such Construction-Related Contract, together with any related performance security 
instruments, contracts, side letters or other understandings, promptly following the full execution 
thereof. 

(r) Intentionally Omitted.   

(s) Debt Service.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, the Borrower shall 
maintain, at all times, in the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to the requirements 
of clause (a) of the definition of Adjusted Debt Service Amount.  Furthermore, the Borrower must 
maintain, at all times, in the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account an amount equal to the 
principal and interest payments on the Loan due and payable on the next successive Interest 
Payment Date and Principal Payment Date, as applicable.  

(t) Collection of Revenues.  

(i) Pursuant to the LTF Irrevocable Instruction, the Borrower shall 
instruct the County of Napa to transfer all Local Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower 
to the Collateral Agent to be deposited in the Revenue Account immediately upon allocation from 
the MTC but no less frequently than on a quarterly basis.  Pursuant to the Farebox Bank Irrevocable 
Instructions, the Borrower shall instruct each Farebox Bank to transfer all Farebox Revenues 
received by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Collateral Agent to be deposited in the Revenue 
Account as and when received, but no less frequently than on a quarterly basis, unless otherwise 
directed by the Collateral Agent under the CASA.  The Borrower shall ensure that the LTF 
Irrevocable Instruction and each Farebox Bank Irrevocable Instruction remain in full force and 
effect at all times while the Obligations remain outstanding.  The Borrower shall use all 

321



 

40302\14113060.4  36 

commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the County of Napa and each Farebox Bank 
maintain compliance with, respectively, the LTF Irrevocable Instruction or the applicable Farebox 
Bank Irrevocable Instruction at all times while the Obligations remain outstanding.  Except for 
Local Transportation Funds that have been released to the Borrower pursuant to the CASA and 
Farebox Revenues that are not required to be deposited in the Revenue Account pursuant to Section 
5.03(g) of the CASA, the Borrower shall receive and hold in trust for (and remit immediately to) 
the Collateral Agent any Local Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower and any Farebox 
Revenues, in each case paid to the Borrower and not directly to the Revenue Account.  During any 
time when any Farebox Bank is required to transfer Farebox Revenues to the Revenue Account in 
accordance with its Farebox Bank Irrevocable Instruction and Section 5.03(a) of the CASA, the 
Borrower shall not transfer, or permit the withdrawal or transfer of, Farebox Revenues from any 
Farebox Bank for any purpose other than the transfer to the Revenue Account. 

(ii) On each Transfer Date (as defined in the CASA) and, with respect 
to funds deposited to the Revenue Account in accordance with Section 5.03(a)(iii) of the CASA, 
on any date on which such funds are deposited into the Revenue Account, the Borrower shall cause 
the Collateral Agent to make the deposits to the BOW Debt Service Sub-Account, any other 
applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account, the BOW Debt Service Reserve 
Sub-Account, and any other applicable Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, as 
applicable, pursuant to clauses First through Second in Section 5.03(b) of the CASA in the 
amounts required to meet the No Transfer Conditions, to the full extent that funds are available in 
the Revenue Account to make such deposits. 

(iii) If Local Transportation Funds and Farebox Revenues on deposit in 
the Pari Passu Debt Service Account (or the applicable sub-accounts thereunder), the BOM Debt 
Service Reserve Sub-Account, or any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service 
Reserve Account are at any time not sufficient to satisfy each of the No Transfer Conditions, the 
Borrower shall deposit (or cause to be deposited) Other Revenues to the Revenue Account and 
shall instruct the Collateral Agent to deposit such funds into the applicable accounts as needed to 
meet the Borrower’s funding obligations pursuant to clauses First through Second in 
Section 5.03(b) of the CASA by the applicable Payment Date or other applicable date set forth in 
Section 5.03(b) of the CASA. 

5.2. Negative Covenants of the Borrower.  So long as the Commitment is outstanding 
and available to the Borrower and until all of the Obligations shall have been paid in full, the 
Borrower hereby covenants and agrees that it will not: 

(a) Compliance With Laws, Etc.  Violate any laws, rules, regulations, 
governmental orders or other Governmental Approvals to which it, is subject and of which it is 
aware after diligent inquiry, which violation could reasonably be expected to result in a Material 
Adverse Effect on the ability of the Borrower to receive Revenues or its ability to perform its 
obligations hereunder or under the Note and under the other Related Documents. 

(b) Amendments.  (i) Subject to the provisions of the CASA, amend, modify or 
supplement in any manner whatsoever the Authorizing Resolution or the Joint Powers Agreement, 
(ii) amend, modify or supplement in any manner whatsoever the TIFIA Loan Agreement or any 
document related thereto, in each case of (i) and (ii), without the prior written consent of the 

322



 

40302\14113060.4  37 

Lender, nor (iii) shall it amend, modify or supplement any provision of the Authorizing Resolution 
or any other Related Document, in a manner which would have an adverse effect upon the 
Borrower’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or to repay indebtedness that 
is secured by the Revenues or which adversely affects the security for the Note or the Borrower’s 
ability to repay when due the Obligations or the rights, interests, security or remedies of the Lender 
under this Agreement, the Authorizing Resolution or the other Related Documents. 

(c) Liens, Etc.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, create or suffer to exist 
any Lien upon or with respect to any of the funds or accounts created under the CASA other than 
as consented to by the Lender. 

(d) Swap Contract.  Unless otherwise consented to in writing by the Lender, the 
Borrower shall not enter into any Swap Contract relating to Debt secured by Revenues. 

(e) Federal Reserve Board Regulations.  The Borrower shall not use any portion 
of the proceeds of any Loans or the Note for the purpose of carrying or purchasing any Margin 
Stock. 

(f) Use of Lender’s Name.  Except as may be required by law (including, but 
not limited to, federal and state securities laws), the Borrower shall not use the Lender’s name in 
any published materials (other than the Borrower’s staff reports, annual statements, audited 
financial statements and rating agency presentations) without the prior written consent of the 
Lender (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld). 

(g) Accounting Changes.  Change the times of commencement or termination 
of Fiscal Years or other accounting periods without first disclosing in writing such change to the 
Lender. 

(h) Consolidation, Merger, Etc.  Dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or 
substantially all of the assets of the Borrower or consolidate with or merge into another Person or 
permit one or more other Persons to consolidate with or merge into the Borrower; provided, 
however, that the Borrower may consolidate with or merge into another Person or permit one or 
more other Persons to consolidate with or merge into the Borrower if each of the following 
conditions shall have been fulfilled: 

(i) such merger or consolidation shall be with or into another 
governmental entity which shall assume in writing, reasonably satisfactory in form and substance 
to the Lender, or by operation of law the due and punctual performance and observance of all of 
the covenants, agreements and conditions of this Agreement and the other Related Documents; 

(ii) such merger or consolidation shall not adversely affect or impair to 
any extent or in any manner (1) the Revenues, (2) the availability of the Revenues for the payment 
and security of the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement, and (3) an opinion of its 
bond counsel, satisfactory in form and substance to the Lender, to such effect; and 

(iii) the Borrower shall have given the Lender not less than sixty (60) 
days’ prior written notice of such merger or consolidation and furnished to the Lender all such 

323



 

40302\14113060.4  38 

information concerning such merger or consolidation as shall have been reasonably requested by 
the Lender. 

(i) Indebtedness.   

(i) Except for Permitted Debt, without the prior written consent of the 
Lender, issue or incur indebtedness of any kind (including financing leases (other than leases 
described in clause (e) of the definition of Permitted Debt), certificates of participation, and 
Liquidity Facilities) that is secured (in whole or in part) by the Collateral or that is otherwise 
payable (in whole or in part) from Revenues; provided that the Borrower shall not incur any 
indebtedness of any kind payable from, secured or supported by the Collateral or the Revenues, 
including Permitted Debt, without the prior written consent of the Lender, following the 
occurrence, and during the continuation, of an Event of Default. With respect to a Liquidity 
Facility, the amount of indebtedness assigned to such Liquidity Facility shall be the maximum 
amount that can be drawn or claimed against such Liquidity Facility. 

(ii) Issue indebtedness for borrowed money that is senior to the Loan in 
right of payment or security from any Revenues. 

(iii) Issue any Subordinated Obligations without the prior written 
consent of the Lender; provided, that in no event shall the Lender approve any Subordinated 
Obligations that (A) are subject to acceleration by the holder thereof or (B) provide rights for the 
holder thereof to participate in the instruction or direction of the Collateral Agent under the CASA. 

(iv) Issue or incur Additional Obligations unless the Local 
Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower and deposited into the Revenue Account and 
Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower, in the aggregate, during any twelve 
(12) consecutive months during the eighteen (18) months prior to the date of the issuance of such 
Additional Obligations were at least equal to 2.0x Maximum Annual Debt Service. 

(v) Issue or incur any (A) Capital Appreciation Obligations, 
(B) Deferred Interest Obligations, or (C) Pari Passu Obligation or Subordinated Obligation that 
bears interest at a variable interest rate, in each case, without the prior written consent of the 
Lender. 

Furthermore, in connection with the aforementioned restrictions under this Section 5.2(i),  

(1) Prior to the incurrence of Permitted Debt described in clause (d) of the definition 
thereof or any Subordinated Obligations consented to by the Lender in accordance with clause (iii) 
above, the Borrower shall deliver to the Lender (A) a Revised Financial Model that takes into 
account the proposed indebtedness, which Revised Financial Model shall reflect and be based on 
the actual amortization schedules for such proposed indebtedness and all Existing Indebtedness in 
accordance with their respective terms and shall otherwise be in form and substance satisfactory 
to the Lender, and (B) a certificate signed by the Borrower’s authorized representative, 
demonstrating to the Lender’s satisfaction that such proposed indebtedness (x) is authorized 
pursuant to this Section 5.2(i) and (2) satisfies the requirements, as applicable, set forth in the 
definitions of “Permitted Debt,” “Additional Obligations,” and “Subordinated Obligations.”   

324



 

40302\14113060.4  39 

(2) To the extent any Permitted Debt consists of Put Obligations, the Borrower must 
maintain a Liquidity Facility that will pay any amounts payable by the Borrower in respect of such 
Put Obligations. 

(3) The Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender a copy of the fully executed 
Accession Agreement (as defined in the CASA) delivered pursuant to Sections 9.01 and 9.02 of 
the CASA in connection with the issuance of any Additional Obligations, promptly upon the 
execution thereof. 

ARTICLE VI EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

6.1. Events of Default.  If any one or more of the following conditions or events shall 
occur: 

(a) The Borrower shall (i) commence a voluntary case or other proceeding 
seeking liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, dissolution, 
composition or other similar relief with respect to itself or its indebtedness under any bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization or other similar law for the relief of debtors now or hereafter in effect 
or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official for 
it or a substantial part of its property, (ii) consent to any such relief or to the appointment of or 
taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or other proceeding commenced 
against it, (iii) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (iv) admit, in writing, its 
inability to pay its indebtedness as it becomes due, (v) become insolvent within the meaning of 
Section 101(32)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code, or (vi) take any official action to authorize any of the 
foregoing; or 

(b) Any of the following shall occur with respect to the Borrower: (i) an 
involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against the Borrower seeking 
liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to it or its indebtedness under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the appointment 
of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any substantial part of 
its property, and such involuntary case or other proceeding shall not be dismissed within sixty (60) 
days; or (ii) an order for relief shall be entered against the Borrower under the federal bankruptcy 
laws as now or hereafter in effect or pursuant to any other state or federal laws concerning 
insolvency or of similar purpose; or (iii) there shall be commenced against the Borrower any case, 
proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, restraint or 
similar process against all or any substantial part of its assets, which results in the entry of an order 
for any such relief which shall not have been vacated, discharged, or stayed or bonded pending 
appeal within sixty (60) days from the entry thereof; or (iv) the Borrower shall take any action in 
furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the acts set forth 
in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above; or (v) the Borrower shall generally not, or shall be unable to, or 
shall admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts as the same becomes due, or (vi) a debt 
moratorium, debt adjustment, debt restructuring or comparable extraordinary restriction with 
respect to the payment of principal or interest on the indebtedness of the Borrower shall be declared 
or imposed pursuant to a finding or ruling by the Borrower, the United States of America, the State 
of California, any instrumentality thereof or any other Governmental Authority of competent 
jurisdiction over the Borrower; or 

325



 

40302\14113060.4  40 

(c) Any Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall declare a 
financial emergency or similar declaration with respect to the Borrower and shall appoint or 
designate, with respect to the Borrower, an entity such as an organization, a board, a commission, 
an authority, an agency or any other similar body to manage the affairs and operations of the 
Borrower; or 

(d) The dissolution or termination of the existence of the Borrower shall occur; 
or 

(e) The Borrower shall fail to pay the principal of or interest on the Note when 
due; or 

(f) The Borrower shall fail to pay any Obligation when due (other than as 
provided in Section 6.1(e) hereof) and such failure shall continue for five (5) days after the 
Borrower has received written notice from the Lender that any such amount was not paid when 
due; or 

(g) The Borrower shall default in the observance or performance of any 
agreement or condition relating to the Obligations or contained in any instrument or agreement 
evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other default, event of default or similar event shall 
occur or condition exist, the effect of which default, event of default or similar event or condition 
is to cause (determined without regard to whether any notice is required) any such Obligations to 
become immediately due and payable in full as the result of the acceleration, mandatory 
redemption, mandatory tender or mandatory prepayment of such Obligations (whether or not any 
such Obligations are in fact accelerated or subject to mandatory tender for purchase or mandatory 
redemption or mandatory prepayment); or 

(h) The occurrence of any event of default or termination under (i) the TIFIA 
Loan Agreement, (ii) the BOM NVTA Loan Facility, or (iii) under any other document related to 
the TIFIA Loan Agreement (which is not waived pursuant to the terms thereof); or 

(i) Any material representation or warranty made by or on behalf of the 
Borrower in this Agreement (including, without limitation, representation and warranties 
incorporated herein by reference) or in any certificate or statement delivered hereunder or 
thereunder shall be incorrect or untrue in any material respect when made or deemed to have been 
made or delivered; or 

(j) The Borrower shall default in the due performance or observance of any 
term, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any other Related Document (except 
for any default under Sections 6.1(e), 6.1(f), 6.1(g), or 6.1(h)) and such default shall remain 
unremedied for a period of thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (i) receipt by the Borrower 
from the Lender of written notice thereof or (ii) the Borrower’s knowledge of such failure; 
provided, however, that if such failure is capable of cure but cannot reasonably be cured within 
such thirty (30) day cure period, then no Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred or be 
continuing under this clause (j), and such thirty (30) day cure period shall be extended by up to 
one hundred fifty (150) additional days, if and so long as (x) within such thirty (30) day cure period 
the Borrower shall commence actions reasonably designed to cure such failure and shall diligently 

326



 

40302\14113060.4  41 

pursue such actions until such failure is cured, and (y) such failure is cured within one hundred 
eighty (180) days of the date specified in either (i) or (ii) above, as applicable; provided, further, 
that no extension of the thirty (30) day cure period shall be permitted for any failure to pay any fee 
or other amount (excluding principal and interest) payable hereunder; or 

(k) The existence of one or more final, non-appealable judgments, attachments 
or levies against the Borrower for the payment of money payable out of Revenues, the operation 
or result of which, individually or in the aggregate, equals or exceeds $5,000,000 (inflated annually 
by CPI), and such judgment, attachment or levy shall remain unpaid or the lien created thereby 
shall remain unsatisfied, undischarged, unbonded or not otherwise covered by insurance (by 
property other than any of the Revenues) for a period of thirty (30) consecutive days; or 

(l) Any Lien created by this Agreement or any other Related Document in 
favor of, or for the benefit of, the Lender shall at any time or for any reason (except as expressly 
permitted to be released by the terms of such governing document) not constitute a valid Lien; or 

(m) (i) Any provision of this Agreement, the Note or any other Related 
Document related to (A) payment of principal of or interest on the Note or (B) the validity or 
enforceability of the pledge of, and Lien on, the Revenues shall, at any time and for any reason, 
cease to be valid and binding on the Borrower as a result of any legislative or administrative action 
by a Governmental Authority with competent jurisdiction, or shall be declared, in a final non-
appealable judgment by any court of competent jurisdiction, to be null and void, invalid or 
unenforceable; (ii) the validity or enforceability of any material provision of this Agreement, the 
Note or any other Related Document related to (A) payment of principal of or interest on the Note, 
or (B) the validity or enforceability of the pledge of and Lien on the Revenues shall be publicly 
contested, repudiated or denied by the issuer; or (iii) any other material provision of this 
Agreement, the Note or any other Related Document, other than a provision described in clause 
(i) above, shall, at any time and for any reason, cease to be valid and binding on the Borrower as 
a result of any legislative or administrative action by a Governmental Authority with competent 
jurisdiction or shall be declared in a final non-appealable judgment by any court with competent 
jurisdiction to be null and void, invalid, or unenforceable, or the validity or enforceability thereof 
shall be publicly contested by the Borrower; or 

(n) The TDA shall be repealed or shall be amended or modified in such a 
manner that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 

THEN, upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, upon written notice to the Borrower by the 
Lender: 

(1) the Credit Availability shall immediately terminate or be reduced (as 
specified by the Lender); 

(2) the aggregate principal of all Loans, all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, 
all fees and all other Obligations under the Related Documents, shall become due and payable 
immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or further notice of any kind, all of which are 
hereby expressly waived by the Borrower; 

327



 

40302\14113060.4  42 

(3) the Lender may exercise any and all of its other rights and remedies under 
applicable Law or at equity, hereunder and under the other Related Documents; 

(4) all Obligations hereunder and under the Note to accrue interest at the 
Default Rate; 

(5) the Lender may cure any Default, Event of Default or event of 
nonperformance hereunder or under any Related Document; provided, however, that the Lender 
shall have no obligation to effect such a cure; and 

(6) either personally or by attorney or agent without bringing any action or 
proceeding, or by a receiver to be appointed by a court in any appropriate action or proceeding, 
take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to collect the amounts 
due and payable under the Related Documents or to enforce performance or observance of any 
obligation, agreement or covenant of the Borrower under the Related Documents, whether for 
specific performance of any agreement or covenant of the Borrower or in aid of the execution of 
any power granted to the Lender in the Related Documents; 

provided, further, however, that all remedies hereunder are subject to the provisions and terms of 
the CASA. 

6.2. Application of Proceeds.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in 
this Agreement or any other Related Document, upon the occurrence and during the continuance 
of an Event of Default, the Borrower irrevocably waives the right to direct the application of any 
and all payments at any time or times thereafter received by the Lender from or on behalf of the 
Borrower, and, as between the Borrower on the one hand and the Lender on the other, the Lender 
will apply payments received against the Obligations in the following order: interest, then principal 
then late fees. 

ARTICLE VII MISCELLANEOUS 

7.1. Notices. 

(a) Generally.  Any notice or other communication herein required or permitted 
to be given to the Borrower, the Lender, and the Lender shall be sent to such Person’s address as 
set forth on Appendix A hereof or in the other relevant Related Document.  Except as otherwise 
set forth in paragraph (b) below, each notice hereunder shall be in writing and may be personally 
served or sent by facsimile or United States mail or courier service and shall be deemed to have 
been given when delivered in person or by courier service and signed for against receipt thereof, 
upon receipt of facsimile, or three (3) Business Days after depositing it in the United States mail 
with postage prepaid and properly addressed. 

(b) Electronic Communications.  

(i) Notices and other communications to the Lender hereunder may be 
delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including e-mail and Internet or intranet 
websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Lender; provided that the foregoing shall not 
apply to notices to the Lender if the Lender has notified the Borrower that it is incapable of 

328



 

40302\14113060.4  43 

receiving notices by electronic communication.  The Lender or the Borrower may, in its discretion, 
agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications 
pursuant to procedures approved by it; provided that approval of such procedures may be limited 
to particular notices or communications.  Unless the Lender otherwise prescribes, (A) notices and 
other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender’s receipt 
of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested” 
function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement); provided, if such notice 
or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice 
or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next 
Business Day for the recipient, and (B) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet 
website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail 
address as described in the foregoing clause (A) of notification that such notice or communication 
is available and identifying the website address therefor. 

(ii) The Borrower understands that the distribution of material through 
an electronic medium is not necessarily secure and that there are confidentiality and other risks 
associated with such distribution and agrees and assumes the risks associated with such electronic 
distribution, except to the extent caused by the willful misconduct or gross negligence of the 
Lender. 

(iii) Any Approved Electronic Communications are provided “as is” and 
“as available”.  None of the Lender or its respective officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors 
or representatives (the “Lender Affiliates”) warrants the accuracy, adequacy, or completeness of 
the Approved Electronic Communications and each expressly disclaims liability for errors or 
omissions in the Approved Electronic Communications.  No warranty of any kind, express, 
implied or statutory, including any warranty of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, 
non-infringement of third party rights or freedom from viruses or other code defects is made by 
the Lender Affiliates in connection with the Approved Electronic Communications. 

7.2. Expenses.  Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall be 
consummated, the Borrower agrees to pay promptly (a) all the actual and reasonable costs and 
expenses of preparation of the Related Documents and any consents, amendments, waivers or other 
modifications thereto; (b) all the actual and reasonable costs of furnishing all opinions by counsel 
for the Borrower; (c) the reasonable fees and expenses to the Lender in connection with the 
negotiation, preparation, execution and administration of the Related Documents and any consents, 
amendments, waivers or other modifications thereto and any other documents or matters requested 
by the Borrower; (d) all the actual costs and reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of any 
auditors, accountants, consultants or appraisers used in connection with the preparation of the 
Related Documents; and (e) after the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default, all reasonable 
costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of settlement, incurred by the 
Lender in enforcing any Obligations of or in collecting any payments due from the Borrower 
hereunder or under the other Related Documents by reason of such Default or Event of Default or 
in connection with any refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided hereunder 
in the nature of a “work-out” or pursuant to any insolvency or bankruptcy cases or proceedings. 

7.3. Indemnity.  In addition to the payment of expenses pursuant to Section 7.2 hereof, 
whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall be consummated, the Borrower agrees 

329



 

40302\14113060.4  44 

to defend (subject to Indemnitees’ selection of counsel), indemnify, pay and hold harmless, the 
Lender and its officers, partners, directors, trustees, employees, agents and Affiliates (each, an 
“Indemnitee”), from and against any and all Indemnified Liabilities; provided that the Borrower 
shall not have any obligation to any Indemnitee hereunder with respect to any Indemnified 
Liabilities to the extent such Indemnified Liabilities arise from the gross negligence, illegal acts 
or willful misconduct of that Indemnitee.  To the extent that the undertakings to defend, indemnify, 
pay and hold harmless set forth in this Section 7.3 may be unenforceable in whole or in part 
because they are violative of any law or public policy, the Borrower shall contribute the maximum 
portion that it is permitted to pay and satisfy under applicable law to the payment and satisfaction 
of all Indemnified Liabilities incurred by Indemnitees or any of them.  To the extent permitted by 
applicable law, the Borrower shall not assert, and the Borrower hereby waives, any claim against 
the Lender and its Affiliates, directors, employees, attorneys, agents or sub-agents, on any theory 
of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual 
damages) (whether or not the claim therefor is based on contract, tort or duty imposed by any 
applicable legal requirement) arising out of, in connection with, as a result of, or in any way related 
to, this Agreement or any Related Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby 
or thereby or referred to herein or therein, the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, any 
Credit Extension or the use of the proceeds thereof or any act or omission or event occurring in 
connection therewith, and the Borrower hereby waives, releases and agrees not to sue upon any 
such claim or any such damages, whether or not accrued and whether or not known or suspected 
to exist in its favor. 

7.4. Reserved. 

7.5. Amendments and Waivers.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, no amendment, 
modification, termination or waiver of any provision of the Related Documents, or consent to any 
departure by the Borrower therefrom, shall in any event be effective without the written 
concurrence of the Lender.  Any amendment, modification, termination, waiver or consent effected 
in accordance with this Section 7.5 shall be binding upon the Lender at the time outstanding, and, 
if signed by the Borrower, on the Borrower. 

7.6. Participants.  The Lender shall have the right to grant participations from time to 
time (to be evidenced by one or more Participation Agreements or certificates of participation) in 
this Agreement to one or more other banking institutions; provided, that (a) the grant of any such 
participation shall not terminate or otherwise affect any obligation of the Lender hereunder, (b) no 
such participation by any such participant shall in any way affect the obligations of such Lender 
hereunder, (c) the Borrower (and any collateral agent) shall be required to deal only with the 
Lender, with respect to any matters under this Agreement, the Notes, and (d) no such participant 
shall be entitled to enforce any provision hereunder against the Borrower.  In connection with each 
participation, the Lender may disclose to any proposed participant any information that the 
Borrower delivers or discloses pursuant to this Agreement.  The Lender shall give notice to the 
Borrower of any banking institution that is granted a participation pursuant to this Section. 

7.7. Independence of Covenants.  All covenants hereunder shall be given independent 
effect so that if a particular action or condition is not permitted by any of such covenants, the fact 
that it would be permitted by an exception to, or would otherwise be within the limitations of, 

330



 

40302\14113060.4  45 

another covenant shall not avoid the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default if such action 
is taken or condition exists. 

7.8. Survival of Representations, Warranties and Related Documents.  All 
representations, warranties and agreements made herein shall survive the execution and delivery 
hereof and the making of any Credit Extension.  Notwithstanding anything herein or implied by 
law to the contrary, the agreements of the Borrower set forth in Sections 2.13, 2.14, 7.2, 7.3 and 
7.4 hereof shall survive the payment of the Loans and the reimbursement of any amounts drawn 
thereunder, and the termination hereof, provided, however, the agreements of the Borrower set 
forth in Section 2.13 shall terminate at the end of the calendar year in which this Agreement is 
terminated.  Additionally, notwithstanding the termination of any of the other Related Documents 
prior to the termination of this Agreement, each of the representations, warranties and covenants 
set forth in such other Related Documents shall continue in full force and effect upon the 
termination of such other Related Documents, and, in the event of a conflict between the provisions 
of the representations, warranties and covenants in such other Related Documents, the Lender, in 
its sole and absolute discretion, shall determine which such representations, warrants and 
covenants shall control. 

7.9. No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative.  No failure or delay on the part of the Lender in 
the exercise of any power, right or privilege hereunder or under any Related Document shall impair 
such power, right or privilege or be construed to be a waiver of any default or acquiescence herein 
or therein, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power, right or privilege preclude 
other or further exercise thereof or of any other power, right or privilege.  The rights, powers and 
remedies given to the Lender hereby and thereby are cumulative and shall be in addition to and 
independent of all rights, powers and remedies existing by virtue of any statute or rule of law or in 
any of the Related Documents.  Any forbearance or failure to exercise, and any delay in exercising, 
any right, power or remedy hereunder or thereunder shall not impair any such right, power or 
remedy or be construed to be a waiver thereof, nor shall it preclude the further exercise of any such 
right, power or remedy. 

7.10. Marshalling; Payments Set Aside.  The Lender shall not be under any obligation to 
marshal any assets in favor of the Borrower or any other Person or against or in payment of any or 
all of the Obligations.  To the extent that the Borrower makes a payment or payments to the Lender 
on account of the Borrower’s Obligations to exercise its rights of setoff, and such payment or 
payments or the proceeds of such setoff or any part thereof are subsequently invalidated, declared 
to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside and/or required to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any 
other party under any bankruptcy law, any other state or federal law, common law or any equitable 
cause, then, to the extent of such recovery, the obligation or part thereof originally intended to be 
satisfied, and all Liens, rights and remedies therefor or related thereto, shall be revived and 
continued in full force and effect as if such payment or payments or setoff had not been made and 
applied on account of Borrower’s Obligations. 

7.11. Severability.  In case any provision in or obligation hereunder shall be invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, 
shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

331



 

40302\14113060.4  46 

7.12. Headings.  Section headings herein are included herein for convenience of 
reference only and shall not constitute a part hereof for any other purpose or be given any 
substantive effect. 

7.13. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue; Waiver of Jury Trial.  

(a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA. 

(b) EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION.  EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN 
SUBSECTION (c), EACH OF THE PARTIES AGREES THAT ALL DISPUTES AMONG 
THEM ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH, RELATED TO, OR INCIDENTAL TO THE 
RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED AMONG THEM IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS 
AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE OTHER RELATED DOCUMENTS (OTHER THAN THE 
CASA) WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY, OR OTHERWISE, WILL BE 
RESOLVED EXCLUSIVELY BY STATE OR FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN NAPA, 
CALIFORNIA, BUT THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT ANY APPEALS FROM THOSE 
COURTS MAY HAVE TO BE HEARD BY A COURT LOCATED OUTSIDE OF NAPA, 
CALIFORNIA.  EACH OF THE PARTIES WAIVES IN ALL DISPUTES BROUGHT 
PURSUANT TO THIS SUBSECTION (a) ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY HAVE TO THE 
LOCATION OF THE COURT CONSIDERING THE DISPUTE. 

(c) OTHER JURISDICTIONS.  EACH BORROWER AGREES THAT THE 
LENDER HAS THE RIGHT TO PROCEED AGAINST EACH BORROWER AND ITS 
RESPECTIVE PROPERTY IN A COURT IN ANY LOCATION TO ENABLE THE LENDER 
TO (1) OBTAIN PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER ANY BORROWER OR (2) REALIZE 
ON THE COLLATERAL OR (3) ENFORCE A JUDGMENT OR OTHER COURT ORDER 
ENTERED IN FAVOR OF THE LENDER.  EACH BORROWER WAIVES ANY OBJECTION 
THAT IT MAY HAVE TO THE LOCATION OF THE COURT IN WHICH THE LENDER HAS 
COMMENCED A PROCEEDING DESCRIBED IN THIS SUBSECTION (c). 

(d) VENUE.  THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY 
OBJECTION (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY OBJECTION OF THE LAYING 
OF VENUE OR BASED ON THE GROUNDS OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS) WHICH IT 
MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE BRINGING OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR 
PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER INSTRUMENT, 
DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION 
HEREWITH IN ANY JURISDICTION SET FORTH ABOVE. 

(e) SERVICE OF PROCESS.  THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY 
CONSENTS TO THE SERVICE OF PROCESS OF ANY OF THE AFOREMENTIONED 
COURTS IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY THE MAILING OF COPIES 
THEREOF BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL, POSTAGE PREPAID, TO SUCH 
BORROWER’S NOTICE ADDRESS SPECIFIED PURSUANT TO SECTION 7.1, SUCH 
SERVICE TO BECOME EFFECTIVE UPON RECEIPT OF SUCH MAILING.  NOTHING IN 
THIS AGREEMENT WILL AFFECT THE RIGHT TO SERVE PROCESS IN ANY OTHER 
MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW OR LIMIT THE RIGHT OF THE LENDER TO BRING 

332



 

40302\14113060.4  47 

PROCEEDINGS AGAINST ANY BORROWER IN THE COURTS OF ANY OTHER 
JURISDICTION. 

(f) JUDICIAL REFERENCE.  EACH PARTY AGREES TO SUBMIT TO 
JUDICIAL REFERENCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 638, ET SEQ., OF THE CALIFORNIA 
CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION, OR CAUSE OF ACTION 
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY EXHIBIT HERETO, ANY 
CLOSING DOCUMENT OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY 
OR THEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, STATUTE OR ANY OTHER 
LEGAL THEORY (HEREINAFTER “DISPUTE”)).  SUCH JUDICIAL REFERENCE WILL BE 
FILED AND PROSECUTED IN THE NAPA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT.  PURSUANT TO 
SUCH JUDICIAL REFERENCE, THE PARTIES AGREE TO THE APPOINTMENT OF A 
SINGLE REFEREE AND TO USE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO AGREE ON THE SELECTION 
OF A REFEREE.  IF THE PARTIES TO THE DISPUTE ARE UNABLE TO AGREE ON A 
SINGLE REFEREE, A REFEREE WILL BE APPOINTED BY THE COURT TO HEAR ANY 
AND ALL DISPUTES HEREUNDER IN LIEU OF A JURY TRIAL.  THE PARTIES AGREE 
THAT THE APPOINTED REFEREE WILL HAVE THE POWER TO DECIDE ALL ISSUES 
REGARDING THE DISPUTE IN THE APPLICABLE ACTION OR PROCEEDING, 
WHETHER OF FACT OR LAW, AND WILL REPORT A STATEMENT OF DECISION 
THEREON.  THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THIS 
AGREEMENT HAVE BEEN FAIRLY NEGOTIATED ON AN ARM’S-LENGTH BASIS, 
WITH ALL PARTIES BEING AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY TO HAVE THE ADVICE 
AND COUNSEL OF THEIR INDEPENDENT ATTORNEY.  ANY PARTY MAY FILE AN 
ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS 
WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE PARTIES TO THE APPLICATION OF 
JUDICIAL REFERENCE IN THE EVENT OF ANY DISPUTE. 

(g) ADVICE OF COUNSEL.  EACH OF THE PARTIES REPRESENTS TO 
EACH OTHER PARTY HERETO THAT IT HAS DISCUSSED THIS AGREEMENT AND, 
SPECIFICALLY, THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION, WITH ITS COUNSEL. 

7.14. Counterparts; Electronic Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in any 
number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an 
original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.  The 
words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” and words of like import in this Agreement and the 
Related Documents shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or electronic records, each of 
which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature 
or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided 
for in any Applicable Law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National 
Commerce Act, California Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, or any other similar state laws 
based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. [BOM confirming electronic signing] 

7.15. No Strict Construction.  The parties hereto have participated jointly in the 
negotiation and drafting of this Agreement.  In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or 
interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties hereto 
and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of 
the authorship of any provisions of this Agreement. 

333



 

40302\14113060.4  48 

7.16. OFAC; Patriot Act. 

(a) The Lender hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements 
of the Patriot Act it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Borrower, 
which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and other information that will 
allow the Lender to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Patriot Act.  The Borrower hereby 
agrees that it shall promptly provide such information upon request by the Lender. 

(b) The Borrower shall (i) ensure that it is not and shall not be listed on the 
Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List or other similar lists maintained by the 
Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), the U.S. Department of the Treasury or included in 
any Executive Orders, that prohibits or limits the Lender from making any advance or extension 
of credit to the Borrower or from otherwise conducting business with the Borrower and (ii) to 
ensure that the proceeds of any Loan shall not be used to violate any of the foreign asset control 
regulations of OFAC or any enabling statute or Executive Order relating thereto. 

7.17. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship.  connection with all aspects of the 
transaction contemplated hereby, the Borrower acknowledges and agree that: (a) (i) the services 
regarding this Agreement provided by the Lender is an arm’s-length commercial transactions 
between the Borrower, on the one hand, and the Lender and its affiliates, on the other hand, (ii) 
the Borrower has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it 
has deemed appropriate, and (iii) the Borrower is capable of evaluating, and understands and 
accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other 
Related Documents; (b) (i) the Lender and its affiliates each is and has been acting solely as a 
principal and, except as expressly agreed in writing by the relevant parties, has not been, is not, 
and will not be acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary, for the Borrower or any other Person and 
(ii) neither the Lender nor any of its affiliates has any obligation to the Borrower with respect to 
the transactions contemplated hereby except those obligations expressly set forth herein and in the 
other Related Documents; and (c) the Lender and its affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of 
transactions that involve interests that differ from those of the Borrower, and neither the Lender 
nor any of its affiliates has any obligation to disclose any of such interests to the Borrower.  To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, the Borrower hereby waives and releases any claims that it may 
have against the Lender or any of its affiliates with respect to any breach or alleged breach of 
agency or fiduciary duty in connection with any aspect of any transactions contemplated hereby. 

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 

334



 

40302\14113060.4  S-1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly 
executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first 
written above. 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By:    

Name:  
Title: 

 
 
 

[Signatures continue on the following page] 

335



COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE 

40302\14113060.4  S-1 

 

BANK OF MARIN 
 
 
By:    

Name:  
Title:  

 
 

 

[End of signature pages] 

 

336



 

40302\14113060.4  A-1 

APPENDIX A 
Notice Addresses 

Borrower:  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
___________ 
Attention:   
Email:   
Telephone:   

Lender, Lender’s Office and Lender’s Office:  

Bank of Marin 
600 Trancas St. 
Napa, California  94558 
TEL: (707) 265-2000 
Attention: Scott McAdams, SVP Regional Manager 

337



 

40302\14113060.4  A-1 

APPENDIX B 
Revenue Account Allocations by Collateral Agent 

[To include final Section 5.03(b) from CASA] 

338



 

40302\14113060.4  A-1 

APPENDIX C 
Existing Indebtedness 

 

 

339



 

40302\14113060.4  A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF 
FUNDING NOTICE 

Bank of Marin 
___________ 
___________ 
Attention:  
Email: 
Telephone: 

Reference is made to the Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of [__________], 2021 
(as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, the “Agreement”), by and between 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, a joint powers authority organized and 
existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of California (including its successors, the 
“Borrower”), and BANK OF MARIN (including its successors and assigns, the “Lender”).  Any 
capitalized term used but not defined herein has the meaning assigned to such term in the 
Agreement. 

Pursuant to Section 2.1 of the Agreement, the Borrower desires that the Lender makes the 
following Loan in the amount of _______________________ Dollars ($______________) to the 
Borrower in accordance with the applicable terms and conditions of the Agreement on the fifteenth 
(15th) of the month of this Funding Notice (or on the next succeeding Business Day if such 
fifteenth (15th) day is not a Business Day) (the “Credit Date”) into the Borrower’s Account as 
defined herein. [NOTE:  THIS FUNDING NOTICE MUST BE RECEIVED BY THE LENDER 
ON OR BEFORE THE FIRST BUSINESS DAY OF THE MONTH IN WHICH THE ADVANCE 
IS REQUESTED] 

The Borrower hereby certifies that: 

(a) after making the above-requested Loan on the Credit Date, the Total Outstandings 
does not exceed the Credit Availability then in effect; 

(b) as of the Credit Date, the representations and warranties contained in each of the 
Related Documents are true and correct in all material respects (except for those representations 
and warranties that are conditioned by materiality, which are true and correct in all respects) on 
and as of such Credit Date to the same extent as though made on and as of such date, except to the 
extent such representations and warranties specifically relate to an earlier date, in which case such 
representations and warranties are true and correct in all material respects (except for those 
representations and warranties that are conditioned by materiality, which are true and correct in all 
respects) on and as of such earlier date; and 

(c) as of the Credit Date, no event has occurred and is continuing or would result from 
the consummation of the borrowing contemplated hereby that would constitute an Event of Default 
or a Default; 

340



 

40302\14113060.4  A-2 

(d) as of such Credit Date, no event, including any change in any Law, or omission 
shall have occurred which has resulted, or is likely to result, in a Material Adverse Effect; and 

(e) the other Pari Passu Obligations payment funds are adequately maintained, and 
evidence of such is attached hereto.  . 

Date:  _____________ __, 20__ 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY 
 
By:    

Name:  
Title: 

 

341



 

40302\14113060.4  B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF 
NOTE 

[Up to $5,000,000] 

_____________, 2021  [Napa], California 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, a 
joint powers authority organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of 
California (including its successors, the “Borrower”), and BANK OF MARIN (including its 
successors and assigns, the “Payee”) or its registered assigns, on or before the Termination Date, 
the lesser of (a) [FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000)], and (b) the unpaid principal amount 
of all advances made by the Payee to the Borrower as Loans under the Agreement referred to 
below. 

The Borrower also promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount from time to 
time outstanding under this Note, from the date outstanding until paid in full, at the rates and at 
the times which shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of that certain Credit and 
Security Agreement, dated as of _____, 2021 (as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise 
modified, the “Agreement”), by and between the Borrower and the Payee.  Any capitalized term 
used but not defined herein has the meaning assigned to such term in the Agreement. 

This Note is issued pursuant to and entitled to the benefits of the Agreement and the Related 
Documents (as defined in the Agreement) each which reference is hereby made for a more 
complete statement of the terms and conditions under which the Loans evidenced hereby were 
made and are to be repaid. 

This Note is a special limited obligation of the Borrower payable from and secured by a 
upon the Revenues as set forth in the Agreement, and this Note is not a general obligation of the 
Borrower.  The principal of and interest on this Note are not a debt of the Borrower, nor a legal or 
equitable pledge, charge, lien or encumbrance upon any of its property or upon any of its income, 
receipts or revenues, except the Revenues. 

All payments of principal and interest in respect of this Note shall be made in lawful money 
of the United States of America in same day funds at the Lender’s Office or at such other place as 
shall be designated in writing for such purpose from time to time.  Unless and until an assignment 
agreement effecting the assignment or transfer of the obligations evidenced hereby shall have been 
accepted by the Lender and the Borrower, the Lender shall be entitled to deem and treat the Payee 
as the owner and holder of this Note and the obligations evidenced hereby.  The Payee hereby 
agrees, by its acceptance hereof, that at the time of disposing of this Note or any part hereof, if any 
time shall occur, it will make a notation hereon of all principal payments previously made 
hereunder and of the date to which interest hereon has been paid; provided, the failure to make a 
notation of any payment made on this Note shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligations of 
the Borrower hereunder with respect to payments of principal of or interest on this Note. 

342



 

40302\14113060.4  B-2 

This Note is subject to prepayment at the option of the Borrower, as provided in the 
Agreement. 

THIS NOTE AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE BORROWER AND 
THE PAYEE HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND SHALL BE CONSTRUED 
AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 7.13 OF THE AGREEMENT. 

Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, the unpaid balance of the 
principal amount of this Note, together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, may become, 
or may be declared to be, due and payable in the manner, upon the conditions and with the effect 
provided in the Agreement. 

The terms of this Note are subject to amendment only in the manner provided in the 
Agreement. 

This Note and all amounts owed to the Lender hereunder are subject to the right of set-off 
by the Lender as further described in the Agreement. 

No reference herein to the Agreement and no provision of this Note or the Agreement shall 
alter or impair the obligations of the Borrower, which are absolute and unconditional, to pay the 
principal of and interest on this Note at the place, at the respective times, and in the currency herein 
prescribed. 

The Borrower promises to pay all reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees, all as provided in the Agreement, incurred in the collection and enforcement of 
this Note.  The Borrower and any endorsers of this Note hereby consent to renewals and extensions 
of time at or after the maturity hereof, without notice, and hereby waive diligence, presentment 
and protest. 

[Signature appears on the following page] 

  

343



 

40302\14113060.4  B-3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caused this Note to be duly executed and 
delivered by its officer thereunto duly authorized as of the date and at the place first written above. 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY 
 
By:    

Name:  
Title: 

 

  

344



 

40302\14113060.4  B-4 

TRANSACTIONS ON 
NOTE 

     Date      
Amount of Loan 
Made This Date 

Amount of 
Principal Paid 
   This Date    

Outstanding 
Principal 

 Balance This Date  
Notation 

 Made By  
     

 

 

345



 

40302\14113060.4  C-1 

EXHIBIT C 
[FORM OF NOTICE OF TERMINATION OR REDUCTION] 

NOTICE OF TERMINATION OR REDUCTION 

[Date] 

Bank of Marin 
___________ 
___________ 
Attention:  
Email: 
Telephone: 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Re: Credit and Security Agreement dated as of ____, 2021 

The NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (the “Borrower”), acting 
through the undersigned hereby certifies to BANK OF MARIN (with its successors and assigns, 
the “Lender”), with reference to the Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of _________, 2021 
(together with any amendments or supplements thereto, the “Agreement”), by and between the 
Borrower and the Lender (the terms defined therein and not otherwise defined herein being used 
herein as therein defined): 

[The Borrower hereby informs you that the Commitment is terminated in accordance 
with the Agreement.] 

OR 

[The Borrower hereby requests that the current Available Commitment of $[insert 
Available Commitment as of the date of Certificate] be reduced by $[insert amount of 
requested reduction], which is an amount equal to $100,000 or a whole multiple of $1,000 in 
excess thereof so that the new Available Commitment will equal $[insert new Available 
Commitment], which will not be less than aggregate principal amount of all Loans to be 
outstanding on ___________________, 20__, the effective date of such new Available 
Commitment following such reduction.] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have executed and delivered this Notice of Termination as 
of the ____ day of _______________, 20__. 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY 
 
By:    

Name: ____________________ 
Title: _____________________ 

 

346



 

40302\14113060.4  D-1 

 

EXHIBIT D 

[FORM OF NOTICE OF REDUCTION] 
NOTICE OF REDUCTION 

[Date] 
 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
___________ 
___________ 
Attention:  
Email: 
Telephone: 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We hereby notify you that, pursuant to Section 2.5(a) of the Credit Agreement, dated as of 
________, 2021 (including any amendments and supplements thereto, the “Agreement”), by and 
between NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, and BANK OF MARIN 
(including its successors and assigns), the Available Commitment is reduced from [insert 
Available Commitment amount prior to reduction] to [insert new Available Commitment], such 
reduction to be effective on ____________________.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined 
herein have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 

Very truly yours, 
 
BANK OF MARIN 
 
By   
Name: 
Title: 

347



 

40302\14113060.4  D-1 

EXHIBIT E 

FORM OF FAREBOX BANK IRREVOCABLE INSTRUCTION 

 

[to come]

348



 

40302\14113060.4  D-1 

EXHIBIT F 

FORM OF LTF IRREVOCABLE INSTRUCTION 

 

[to come] 

349



ATTACHMENT 6B 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 

40302\14122918.1  1 

CONSENT AND WAIVER 

This Consent and Waiver (this “Agreement”), dated as of ______________, 2021, is 
entered into by and between Napa Valley Transportation Authority, a joint powers authority 
organized under the laws of the state of California (the “Borrower”), and Bank of Marin, a 
California banking corporation (“BOM”). 

RECITALS: 

A. The Borrower and BOM have entered into that certain Business Loan Agreement 
dated as of October 23, 2019 (as amended or otherwise modified through the date hereof, the 
“BOM Business Loan Agreement”) pursuant to which BOM made a loan or loans to the Borrower 
in the original principal amount of $5,000,000.  The BOM Business Loan Agreement, together 
with all Related Documents (as defined in the BOM Business Loan Agreement), as they may be 
amended or otherwise modified from time to time, are referred to herein as the “2019 Loan 
Documents”).  The 2019 Loan Documents are secured by certain property of the Borrower. 

B. The Borrower and BOM are entering into a new Credit and Security Agreement in 
connection with the TIFIA Loan Agreement (defined below) whereby BOM will provide Borrower 
with an additional loan or loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $5,000,000 (such 
agreement, as it may be amended or otherwise modified from time to time, the “2021 BOM CSA”).  
Such additional Related Documents (as defined in the 2021 BOM CSA) together with the 2021 
BOM CSA, as such documents may be amended or otherwise modified from time to time, the 
“2021 BOM Loan Documents”).  The 2021 BOM Loan Documents are or will be secured by 
certain property of the Borrower, which is part of the TIFIA Collateral (as defined below).  

C. The Borrower and the United States Department of Transportation, an agency of 
the United States of America, acting by and through the Executive Director of the Build America 
Bureau (the “TIFIA Lender”) intend to enter into a TIFIA Loan Agreement (the “TIFIA Loan 
Agreement”), a Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement (the “TIFIA CASA”) with 
[______________], as the collateral agent and securities intermediary thereunder (together with 
its successors and assigns, the “Collateral Agent”), and other ancillary agreements related thereto, 
in each case as amended, amended and restated, or otherwise modified from time to time 
(collectively, the “TIFIA Loan Documents” and the transactions contemplated thereunder being 
hereinafter referred to as the “TIFIA Transaction”) pursuant to which the TIFIA Lender will make 
a loan to the Borrower (the “TIFIA Loan”) and the Borrower will grant a security interest in, and 
repay the TIFIA Loan from, proceeds of the TIFIA Collateral (as defined below). 

D. The Borrower has requested that BOM provide its acknowledgment of and consent 
to the TIFIA Transaction (including the 20201 BOM Loan Documents) and, except as expressly 
provided for in the 2021 BOM Loan Documents with respect to the grant of security interests and 
other Liens in favor of BOM, waive any rights that BOM might otherwise have with respect to the 
TIFIA Collateral and BOM has agreed to provide such acknowledgment, consent and waiver. 

350



ATTACHMENT 6B 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 

40302\14122918.1  2 

NOW, THEREFORE, the premises being as stated above, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged to be adequate, and intending 
to be legally bound hereby, it is hereby mutually agreed by and between the Borrower and BOM 
as follows: 

SECTION 1. Definitions. 

“BOM Documents” means (a) the 2019 Loan Documents; and (b) any promissory note, 
business loan agreement, commercial security agreement and other agreement or document from 
time to time issued by the Borrower to BOM or entered into between the Borrower and BOM, 
other than in accordance with the 2021 BOM Loan Documents in relation to the TIFIA 
Transaction. 

“CASA” means the Collateral Accounts and Security Agreement dated on or about 
[_____________], 2021 among the Borrower, BOM and [________________], as Collateral 
Agent, as it may be amended or otherwise modified from time to time. 

“TDA” means each of (a) California Government Code Sections 29530 – 29536; 
(b) California Public Utilities Code Section 99200 – 99408 (also known as The Mills-Alquist-
Deddeh Act (SB 325) or the Transportation Development Act of 1971); and (c) Title 21 California 
Code of Regulations Section 6600 – 6756, and, with respect to all of the foregoing, any successor 
statute of similar import, and regulations thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time. 

“TIFIA Collateral” means all of the right, title and interest of the Borrower, whether now 
owned or hereafter acquired or arising, in and to (a) the Farebox Revenues (as defined in the 2021 
BOM CSA), whether now earned or hereafter acquired; and (b) the Project Accounts (as defined 
in the 2021 BOM CSA) (other than those sub-accounts of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account (as 
defined in the 2021 BOM CSA) that exclusively secure any Pari Passu Obligations (as defined in 
the 2021 BOM CSA)), including the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account (as defined in the 2021 
BOM CSA) and the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account (as defined in the 2021 BOM CSA), 
all security entitlements carried therein, and all cash, cash equivalents, Permitted Investments (as 
defined in the CASA), instruments, Securities (as defined in the CASA) and other funds or 
amounts on deposit in the Project Accounts. 

SECTION 2. Acknowledgments, Consents and Waivers.  BOM hereby: 

(a) acknowledges and consents to the Borrower entering into the 2021 BOM Loan 
Documents and the TIFIA Loan Documents and incurring the obligations owing to both of BOM 
and to the TIFIA Lender associated with the TIFIA Transaction; 

(b) acknowledges that pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents the Borrower will grant 
a security interest in the TIFIA Collateral to the Collateral Agent under the CASA (for the benefit 
of the TIFIA Lender and any other lender to the Borrower that becomes a party to the CASA from 
time to time) and hereby consents to such grant of a security interest in the TIFIA Collateral; 

351



ATTACHMENT 6B 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 

40302\14122918.1  3 

(c) agrees that none of the Borrower’s execution and delivery of the 2021 BOM Loan 
Documents, the TIFIA Loan Documents, the Borrower’s grant of a security interest in the TIFIA 
Collateral to the Collateral Agent under the CASA or the TIFIA CASA (for the benefit of BOM 
and the TIFIA Lender and any other lender to the Borrower that becomes a party to the CASA or 
the TIFIA CASA from time to time), or the Borrower’s performance of its obligations under the 
2021 BOM Loan Documents or the TIFIA Loan Documents will constitute a breach of or default 
under any of the BOM Documents; 

(d) agrees that notwithstanding any security interest held by BOM in property of the 
Borrower pursuant to the BOM Documents, the Collateral Agent (acting at the direction of the 
required creditors under the CASA or the TIFIA CASA) shall have an exclusive security interest 
in the TIFIA Collateral and the exclusive right to bring claims against the Borrower with respect 
to, and receive the proceeds of, the TIFIA Collateral; and 

(e) except as expressly set forth in the 2021 BOM Loan Documents, (i) waives any 
right, title and interest with respect to the TIFIA Collateral that BOM might otherwise have 
pursuant to any BOM Document or in law or in equity and (ii) waives any right at any time to 
claim, enforce against, or direct the allocation, disposition or use of the TIFIA Collateral. 

(f) The Borrower shall not commingle proceeds from TIFIA Collateral, including 
Local Transportation Funds included therein, with proceeds from non-TIFIA Collateral. 

SECTION 3. Third-Party Beneficiaries.  BOM, as lender under the 2021 BOM Loan 
Documents, the TIFIA Lender and the Collateral Agent are each a third-party beneficiary of this 
Agreement with respect to all rights, benefits, remedies, claims and other privileges of the 
Borrower with respect to this Agreement and each has all of the rights and benefits of a third-party 
beneficiary, including an independent right of action to enforce such rights, benefits, remedies, 
claims and other privileges directly, without the consent or joinder of any other person.  Except as 
set forth in this Section 3, nothing herein express or implied shall give to any person any benefit 
or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder. 

SECTION 4. Miscellaneous. 

(a) No amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision of this 
Agreement shall in any event be effective without the written consent of each of the parties hereto 
and the TIFIA Lender. 

(b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California. 

(c) In case any provision in or obligation under this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal 
or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining 
provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in 
any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

352



ATTACHMENT 6B 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 

40302\14122918.1  4 

(d) This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective 
permitted successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
permitted successors and assigns. 

(e) This Agreement and any amendments, waivers, consents or supplements hereto or 
in connection herewith may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties 
hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an 
original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Signature 
pages may be detached from multiple separate counterparts and attached to a single counterpart so 
that all signature pages are physically attached to the same document.  Electronic delivery of an 
executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement shall be effective as delivery of an 
original executed counterpart of this Agreement and any printed or copied versions of any 
signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of 
such signature page.  The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” and words of like import in 
herein shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or electronic records, each of which shall 
be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use 
of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in 
any Applicable Law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National 
Commerce Act, California Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, or any other similar state laws 
based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.  

(f) This Agreement shall be effective as of the date first written above. 

[signature page(s) follow(s)] 

 

353



ATTACHMENT 6B 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 
 

40302\14122918.1   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly 
executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first 
written above. 

BANK OF MARIN 
 
 
 
By:   
 Name:  
 Title:  
 
 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION 
AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
By:   
 Name:  
 Title:  
 

354



Vine Transit Maintenance Facility
Capital Expenditure and Funding Plan

Fund Source: 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Status: Secured Secured Secured

Pending 
Board 

Approval Secured Secured Secured Secured Secured Secured
FY22 Grant 

(Programmed)
Eligible, Pending 
Board Approval

Budget
TDA
LTF/STA STA SGR SB 1 LPP

Bank of Marin 
Loan

FTA 5339(c)
LowNo

FTA 5339(a)
Formula

FTA 5339(a)
Formula

FTA FHWA 
Flex

FTA 5307 
FY21

FTA 5339(a)
Formula

FTA 5339(a)
Formula TIFIA

CA-2018-103 CA-2019-119 CA-2020-166 5001-2021-2 5001-2021-2 5001-2021-2 5001-2022-X
CA-2022-XXX

PRE-CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES
Architectural & Engineering $2,028,594 $2,028,594 - - - - - - - - - - - 
Lot Purchase $2,624,000 $2,624,000 - - - - - - - - - - - 
Environmental Impact Report $250,000 $250,000 - - - - - - - - - - - 

Subtotal Incurred Costs $4,902,594 $4,902,594 -                 - - - - - - - - - - 

CONSTRUCTION    
Site Work $10,096,376 $114,419 - - $289,713 - - - - $2,412,078 - - $7,280,166
Maintenance Building $8,514,168 - $62,727 $469,318 $206,388 $214,207 $23,201 $197,432 $225,046 $7,115,849
Operations/Admin Building $5,282,981 $704,287 $20,678 $2,072,129 $2,000,000 $485,887
Bus Wash $1,036,125 - - $629,841 $406,284
Offsite (Road Improvments) $200,000 - - $200,000
Furniture, Fixtures, & Equipment $2,479,840 - - $50,625 $2,429,215
Construction Manager $1,339,000 - - $1,339,000
Photovoltaic System $3,000,000 $1,900,000 - $1,100,000
Contingency $2,500,000 $500,000 - $2,000,000
Financial Advisor/Legal $200,000 $0 - $200,000
Permitting Fees/ Mitigation $500,000 $500,000 - 
Engineering Services $598,739 $598,739 - 
Subtotal Anticipated Costs $35,747,229 $4,317,445 $83,405 $1,100,000 $5,000,000 $50,625 $206,388 $214,207 $2,000,000 $2,435,279 $197,432 $225,046 $19,917,401

TOTAL PROJECT COSTS $40,649,823 $9,220,039 $83,405 $1,100,000 $5,000,000 $50,625 $206,388 $214,207 $2,000,000 $2,435,279 $197,432 $225,046 $19,917,401

TIFIA Interest Expense* $7,287,192 $7,287,192
Bank of Marin Interest Expense* $1,750,208 $1,750,208

TOTAL COSTS $49,687,223 $18,257,439
*Based on total drawdowns of loans

TIFIA (% of eligible costs) $19,917,401 49.00%

Federal  (up to 80% of eligible costs 
allowed) $25,246,378 62.11%
Total Non-Federal $15,403,445 37.89%

TOTALS  $40,649,823 100.00%

ATTACHMENT 7 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021

355



ATTACHMENT 8 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

 July 21, 2021

356



357



358



359



360



361



362



ATTACHMENT 9 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021

363



364



365



366



367



368



369



ATTACHMENT 10 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.2 

July 21, 2021 

Attachment 10 

GOOD FAITH ESTIMATES 

As required under Section 5852.1 of the California Government Code, summarized in the table 
below are good faith estimates provided by the NVTA’s Municipal Advisor, KNN Public Finance, 
summarizing the following for each of the TIFIA Loan and BOM Loan: 

1. True interest cost

2. Finance charge, including all fees and charges for third parties  (including origination fees,
rating fees, municipal advisory fees, special counsel fees, collateral agent fees, etc.)

3. Amount of proceeds expected to be received by NVTA, net of payments identified in 2
above and any reserve fund or capitalized interest funded with proceeds

4. Total payment amount, being the sum of (a) debt service to final maturity, and (b) any
financing costs not paid from proceeds

TIFIA Loan BOM Loan
1. T IC 1.40% 4.50%
2. Finance Charge 264,500                  108,000                  
3. Loan Proceeds 19,917,401            5,000,000               
4. Total Payments 27,204,593            6,750,208               

The information set forth above is based up estimates of prevailing market conditions; Actual 
results may differ if assumed market conditions change. 

370



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.3 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

 
 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 
 
Transit Operations Services Agreement No. 21-12 with Transdev Services Inc. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-
21 authorizing the Executive Director to make minor modifications to and execute 
Agreement No. 21-12 with Transdev Service, Inc. for transit operation services, pending 
the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) approval.  The proposed award is 
a five (5) year base contract from 2022 through 2026 and two (2) one-year options through 
2028 for a total contract amount of $81,355,292. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
NVTA's current agreement with Transdev Services. (“Transdev”) for Transit Operations 
will end on December 31, 2021.  As such, a new service contract is needed with a start 
date of January 1, 2022. Per federal requirements and NVTA policy, staff conducted a 
Request for Proposals (RFP) to select a transit services provider for the new contract.  
 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors authorize the Executive Director to award, 
a new Transit Operations and Maintenance Services contract to Transdev Services, Inc. 
(Transdev), pending Caltrans approval , with a base term of five years, from January 1, 
2022 through December 31, 2026, and two one-year options that could extend the 
contract  through December 31, 2028.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Is there a fiscal impact?   Yes 
 
January 1, 2022 – December 31, 2026 (5 year base):    $55,903,516 
January 1, 2027 – December 31, 2028 (2 year option):  $25,451,776 
Total Amount (7 years):             $81,355,292 

371



 

July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.3 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested: APPROVE 

 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Errata Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Antonio Onorato, Director of Administration, Finance and Policy 

(707) 259-8779 / Email: aonorato@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Transit Operations Services Agreement No. 21-12 with Transdev 
Services Inc. 

______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-
21 (Attachment 1) authorizing the Executive Director to make minor modifications to and 
execute Agreement No. 21-12 with Transdev Service, Inc. for transit operation services, 
pending the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) approval.  The proposed 
award is a five (5) year base contract from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2026 and 
two (2) one-year options through 2028 for a total contract amount of $81,355,292. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
NVTA's current agreement with Transdev Services. (“Transdev”) for Transit Operations 
will end on December 31, 2021, therefore, a new service contract is needed starting 
January 1, 2022. Per federal requirements and NVTA policy, staff conducted a Request 
for Proposals (RFP) to select a transit services provider for the new contract.  
 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors authorize the Executive Director to award 
the new Transit Operations and Maintenance Services contract to Transdev Services, 
Inc. (Transdev) with a base term of five years, from January 1, 2022 through December 
30, 2026, and two one-year options which could extend the contract to June 30, 2028.  
 
This report summarizes NVTA’s contract history to date, the procurement process, and 
factors in support of staff’s recommendation.   
 

372

mailto:aonorato@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.3 
July 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 8 

 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
This action requests approval to award a transit operation services contract to Transdev 
Service, Inc. for a five (5) year base period (January 1, 2022 to December 30, 2026) and 
two (2) one year option periods (January 1, 2027 to December 30, 2028).   
 
The full cost, inclusive of all options is summarized in Table 1.  Additionally, a small annual 
contingency amount will be added to the budget to allow for minor fluctuations and growth 
based on demand in the services assigned to this contract. 
 
Table 1:  Summary of Best and Final Cost- Transdev Services 

Budget Impact Total 
     Base Year 1      January 1, 2022 – December 31, 2022 $  9,833,079 
     Base Year 2      January 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023 $10,855,445 
     Base Year 3      January 1, 2024 – December 31, 2024 $11,372,268 
     Base Year 4      January 1, 2025 – December 31, 2025 $11,748,911 
     Base Year 5      January 1, 2026 – December 31, 2026 $12,093,813 
Total Base Years $55,903,516 
  
     Option Year 1     January 1, 2027 – December 31, 2027 $12,541,715 
     Option Year 2     January 1, 2028 – December 31, 2028 $12,910,061 
Total Option Years $25,451,776 
  
Total Contract Period $81,355,292 

 
ERRATA 
 
The following corrections are being made to the staff report: 
 
The annual contract amount for the first year is 10% above NVTA’s existing contract for 
the first year.  The contract may be subject to modifications when the Vine Transit 
Maintenance Facility is fully operational. 
 
The contractor is required to maintain all required licenses, certifications, and permits to 
operate within the service area.  NVTA will provide the fleet, facility, and fuel for 
operations.  Additionally, NVTA will provide and/or require access to certain software 
systems (such as UTA APCs, Trapeze and Avail Technologies and its successor- GMV 
Synchromatics).  A NVTA-owned phone system will also be provided when the new Vine 
Maintenance facility becomes operational, however until then, the contractor is required 
to provide a phone system.  The contractor is responsible for all other equipment, 
supplies, staff, and management services. Changes from the existing contract include 
increased performance standards with incentives and penalties to encourage greater 
operating efficiency and on-time performance. 
 

373



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.3 
July 21, 2021 
Page 3 of 8 

 
 
Upon NVTA Board approval, with the Executive Director will execute the contract in 
substantially the form attached, and prepare a “Notice to Proceed” for January 1, 2022. 
Attachment 2 provides the full contract provisions. Highlights of the contract include: 
 

• Maintaining existing service levels, while also providing flexibility to modify service 
levels to meet the community’s needs. 

• Establishing contract performance measures that are consistent with industry 
standards. 

• Includes a series of bonus provisions that serve to incentivize the contractor in 
areas of efficiency, exceeding certain performance standards, or the receipt of 
compliments or accolades given by the public. 

• Includes a series of penalties that serve to compensate the Agency for damages 
resulting from unmet performance measures. 

 
The final negotiated terms of the contract are substantially the same as the terms of the 
RFP except for the following items: 
 

• Performance Bond: Reduced to 10% of the annual contract value, which aligns 
with industry standard.  

• Utilities: Reduced utility cost in years 1 and 2 to align with our actual costs for the 
existing facility; these costs increase for the new larger facility.  

• Staffing: Revised dispatch staffing plan based on added technology and 
efficiencies and reduced by one full time dispatcher position; as a result, there are 
other related reductions in other staffing cost categories (workers’ compensation, 
hiring costs etc.).  

• Administrative Costs: Further reduced overhead for the project to help mitigate 
the increase in costs and as part of our desire to continue working together.  
 

The Request for Proposal (RFP) Process 
As a recipient of federal funds through Caltrans, the draft RFP must be reviewed and 
approved prior to its public release.  NVTA received Caltrans approval on October 13, 
2020 and the RFP was published on October 28th, 2020.  A mandatory pre-proposal 
conference was held on November 20th, 2020 with eight (8) transit services firms present 
at the meeting:  
 
RATP;  
National Express Transit;  
MV Transportation;  
Transdev Services;  
Keolis USA;  
Apara Transit; 
First Transit; 
Storer Transportation 
 

374



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.3 
July 21, 2021 
Page 4 of 8 

 
 
Additionally, there was two bus equipment companies at the virtual meeting:  Coach USA 
and Avail Technologies. 
 
Three (3) proposals were received by the closing date of March 31, 2021 at 2pm by the 
following firms: 
 
1. Transdev Services 
2. Keolis USA 
3. RATP Dev 
 
NVTA’s Procurement Officer determined that all three (3) firms submitted responsive 
proposals, as stated in Section 3.5 and 3.6 of the RFP respectively.  All proposers 
satisfied the prequalification criteria and entered the evaluation phase of the process.  As 
stated in Section 3.1 of the RFP, the primary desire of NVTA is to ensure an award will 
be made based on the highest quality of service proposed that best matches NVTA’s 
requirements using the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) approved Third Party 
Contracting Guidance (FTA Circular C 4220.1F) “Best Value” methodology. Per FTA’s 
Third Party Contracting Guidance, Best Practices Procurement Manual, “Best Value” is 
defined as follows: 
 
“Best Value” is a selection process in which proposals contain both price and qualitative 
components, and award is based upon a combination of price and qualitative 
considerations. Qualitative considerations may include experience of the management 
team, creativity of proposal, quality and comprehensiveness of required Plans. The award 
selection is based upon consideration of a combination of technical and price factors to 
determine the offer deemed most advantageous and of the greatest value to the NVTA.” 
 
Evaluations and Ranking 
The RFP provided that an Evaluation Committee assess the technical proposals.  The 
members of the Committee composed of the Director of Finance and Senior Financial 
Analyst from NVTA, the Manager of Transit and Transportation Planner from NVTA, the 
Transit Manager from Solano County Transit (Soltrans), and a member from the Citizens 
Advisory Committee.  The Executive Director of NVTA was present during the interviews, 
but was not part of the formal Evaluation Committee. 
 
Each proposal was evaluated based on the following criteria with 100 points possible for 
each evaluator and a total score of 600 points: 
 

1. Background and Experience  (40 points available) 
2. Qualifications and Approach (50 points available) 
3. Creative/ Innovative Solutions for Maximizing Service and Efficiency (10 points 

available) 
 
The Evaluation Committee submitted their scoring matrix by the requested April 22nd, 
2021 deadline.  Reference checks forms were sent out to contact lists supplied by the 

375



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.3 
July 21, 2021 
Page 5 of 8 

 
 
Proposers on April 23rd, 2021.  Table 2 below summarizes the results of the evaluation 
scoring. 
 
Table 2: Evaluation Committee Scoring 

PROPOSER TOTAL SCORE 
(Ranking) 

Transdev Services 577   (1) 
Keolis USA 568   (2) 
RATP 525   (3) 

 
An additional 10 percent (10%) was given as a bonus to each of the bidders for retaining 
employees in a new contract, per FTA requirements.  Transdev Services and Keolis 
ranked as the top Proposers based on the scores from the Evaluation Selection 
Committee.  Due to the third place finish, RATP was informed they would not move 
forward in the process. 
 
Best and Final Offers 
 
An invitation to submit a Best and Final Offer (BAFO) was then sent to Transdev Services 
and Keolis USA on May 24th, 2021.  The BAFO gave the opportunity for both firms to 
answer some clarifying questions related to Disadvantage Business Enterprise program 
goals, experience with new technologies, and give them the opportunity to confirm or 
revise their cost proposal. Both firms submitted their best and final offers by the due date 
of May 28th, 2021. 
 
Pricing Analysis 
The pricing from Transdev and Keolis was higher than NVTA’s internal independent cost 
estimate (ICE) survey of nearby transit operators. However, each proposal was found to 
be transparent and competitive.  Table 3 illustrates the pricing structure of the 5 base 
years and 2 option years of the contract compared to the ICE.  Transdev’s price proposal 
was superior to Kelois, for the five base years of the contract.  Cost increased significantly 
during the option years.  NVTA and Transdev will negotiate pricing prior to the exercise 
of those contract years.  If a mutually beneficial agreement cannot be reached, the NVTA 
will issue a new transit services request for proposals. 
 
The agreement is based on a fixed and variable method.  A total of 112,630 service hours 
in Calendar Year (CY) 2022 increasing to 125,130 service hours in CY 2023 – CY 2028 
are projected to be necessary to operate the transit system.  The pricing takes into 
consideration NVTA’s right to increase/decrease hours of operation by 20% without 
renegotiating an amendment to the agreement.  A fixed and variable pricing allows the 
proposers to capture all of their fixed costs in one rate regardless of the change in 
operating revenue vehicle service hours.  This helps the proposer to manage its costs as 
compared to a full variable rate which can affect a proposer’s profitability if the full 
complement of operating hours is not provided during the contractual term. 

376



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.3 
July 21, 2021 
Page 6 of 8 

 
 
 

 Table 3: Overall Pricing (based on Best and Final Offer) 
 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7  

Firm 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 
Option Yr 1 

2028 
Option Yr 2 Total 

Indep. Cost 
Analysis $9,588,916 $10,558,951 $10,822,925 $11,093,498 $11,370,836 $11,655,107 $11,946,484 $77,036,718 

Transdev 
Services- 
BAFO  $9,833,079  $10,855,445  $11,372,268  $11,748,911  $12,093,813  $12,541,715  $12,910,061  

 
$81,355,292  

Keolis USA 
BAFO $10,660,727  $10,915,161  $11,251,192  $11,505,210  $11,762,520  $12,037,701  $12,281,140  

 
$80,413,651  

 
 
Selection Justification 
 
As the highest ranked proposal, Transdev's technical proposal showed exceptional 
attention to detail and an uncommon depth of understanding regarding NVTA's history, 
present situation, and future aspirations.  Transdev Services, Inc. is part of one of the 
largest transportation conglomerates in the world, with over 200 contract operations in 
the United States, including many in California.  They have a significant local presence in 
and around the Bay Area, with several nearby fixed route and paratransit operations 
currently under contract.  This will enable NVTA to leverage the expertise and shared 
resources of numerous peer operations, especially through difficult circumstances such 
as evacuation and support services during wildfires.  Transdev's regional management 
and support team is well regarded in the area and has committed to fully support NVTA’s 
operation through ongoing structured oversight and frequent communication with NVTA’s 
managers and staff. 
 
In addition to driver and staff training that meets or exceeds NVTA’s contract 
requirements, Transdev will also provide ongoing professional development for current 
and future supervisors and managers.  This will ensure that motivated personnel working 
on the NVTA contract have access to opportunities for advancement and will help retain 
and enhance institutional knowledge by creating a sustainable development pipeline for 
new leaders.  
 
Additionally, Transdev has extensive experience maintaining and managing electric bus 
fleets, which will be critical to NVTA success during the new contract term as the NVTA 
Operations and Maintenance Facility is built out with electric charging infrastructure and 
NVTA transitions to an all-electric local fleet.  Also, Transdev will provide an extensive 
array of user interface tools expected to increase the capabilities of dispatchers and other 
supervisory staff while streamlining workflows, which staff believes will greatly enhance 
performance. 
 
Lastly, Transdev will retain the incumbent management team, rather than bringing in new 
personnel unfamiliar with Vine operations.  Retaining the existing team removes much of 
the uncertainty inherent to the transition between contractors for NVTA, the drivers and 

377



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.3 
July 21, 2021 
Page 7 of 8 

 
 
other staff. This continuity would allow the Agency to maintain institutional knowledge and 
safeguard employee morale. 
 
The pandemic has caused several of NVTA’s plans for public transit to be deferred, 
altered, or discarded entirely.  Now NVTA looks forward to emerging from the pandemic 
into a very different transit landscape.  Even as transit funding is likely to remain volatile 
and uncertain for the foreseeable future, the last year has seen unprecedented 
cooperation among Bay Area transit operators, and NVTA has been privileged to take 
part in those efforts.  The work of the Blue-Ribbon Transit Recovery Taskforce is likely to 
improve regional coordination in the coming years, and NVTA must be ready to meet new 
challenges and capitalize on new funding and opportunities for expansion.  To that end, 
NVTA not only needs a transit contractor, but a partner to help meet those challenges. 
Staff therefore recommends that the Board authorize the Executive Director to award a 
new Transit Operations and Maintenance Services contract to Transdev Services, Inc. 
 
Notice of Intent to Award and Protest Period 
 
A Notice of Intent to Award was distributed to the Proposers and posted on the website 
on June 7th, 2021 with the ten (10) day protest period beginning on June 8th, 2021.  The 
protest period ended on June 18th 2021.  No protest letters were received. 
 
Public Records Act (PRA) Requests 
 
On June 15th, 2021, NVTA received a formal public records act request from Keolis 
requesting: 
 

• Complete copies of all technical proposals submitted in response to the RFP 
• Complete copies of all pricing forms submitted in response to the RFP. 
• All internal documentation prepared by evaluators during the proposal evaluation 

process, including scores by proposal section 
• All documents, presentations, or additional information provided by proposers 

during evaluation or interviews; 
• Fully executed contract for awarded vendor; 

 
Staff responded on June 24th, 2021 informing Keolis that the information request will be 
provided after the execution of a contract. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
NVTA may choose to cancel the procurement and re-bid the contract.  However, the 
current contract will lapse and NVTA could potentially be left without a contractor for the 
County’s public transit services. 
  

378



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.3 
July 21, 2021 
Page 8 of 8 

 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Goal 1: Serve the transportation needs of the entire community regardless of age, income 
or ability.  
 
A well-functioning system is essential for adequately providing transportation for 
individuals with mobility challenges, community members who have limited financial 
resources, or members of the community choose to take transit.  To accomplish these 
goals, a strong partnership between NVTA and its transit service provider is essential.  
Transdev has proven to be such a partner. 
 
Goal 3: Use taxpayer dollars efficiently.   
 
Rebidding the long term contract provides several financial benefits for both the Agency 
and the Contractor.  A long term contract allows for prices to be locked in which ensures 
price and budget stability during the initial five year base contract period. The contract 
establishes a firm buying price, preventing surprise increases.  Both the Agency and 
Contractor piece of mind knowing the agreement will last for the foreseeable future.  
Additionally, a long term contract relieves the administrative burden since the purchase 
transportation contract is not constantly up for renewal. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
(1) Resolution No. 21-21 
(2) Draft Napa Valley Transportation Authority Agreement for Transit Operations 

Services Agreement No. 21-12 

379



 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 21-21 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE AGREEMENT NO. 21-12 
WITH TRANSDEV SERVICES INC. FOR TRANSIT OPERATION SERVICES 

 
WHEREAS, the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is designated the 

countywide transportation planning agency responsible for Highway, Street and Road, 
and transit planning and programming within Napa County; and 
 

WHEREAS, NVTA manages a comprehensive transit system known as Vine 
Transit which operates fixed route, commuter service, demand response community 
shuttles, ADA paratransit, and shared vehicles; and  

 
WHEREAS, NVTA endeavors to provide the highest quality public transit services 

to the community; and  
 
WHEREAS, NVTA contracts with a third party for the operations, maintenance, 

and administration of its transit services: and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 13, 2020, the California Department of Transportation 
(Caltrans) authorized the release of a Request for Proposals (RFP) for transit operations 
services number 20-06; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Contract is for a five (5) year base term, with two (2) one year 
options commencing on January 1, 2022; and  

 
WHEREAS, Transdev Services had the highest score in the evaluations of 

perspective operators; and, 
 

WHEREAS has the required skill, ability, experience and expertise to provide the 
requested services; and 
 

WHEREAS, this contract is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA), pursuant to Section 15301 (Existing Facilities), because it consist of the 
operations of the Vine Transit service, an existing use 
 

NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Napa 
Valley Transportation Authority hereby approves Agreement No. 21-12 with Transdev 
Services Inc. for Transit Operation Services and authorizes the Executive Director to 

ATTACHMENT 1 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.3 

July 21, 2021 

380



 
Resolution No. 21-21 

Page 4 of 4 
 

make minor modifications if needed and execute the Agreement No. 21-12  to provide 
fixed route, ADA complementary paratransit, commuter, community shuttles, and 
maintenance for transit vehicles and facilities with Transdev Services commencing on 
January 1, 2022, with a five (5) year base term and two (2) year options pending Caltrans 
approval. 
 
Passed and Adopted the 21th day of July, 2021. 
 
 
_________________________     Ayes: 
Alfredo Pedroza, NVTA Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                Nays: 
 
 
 
                Absent: 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
DeeAnne Gillick, NVTA Legal Counsel      Date:  July 21, 2021 

381



AGREEMENT NO. 21-12 

FOR THE PROVISION OF 

TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES 

BY AND BETWEEN THE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

AND 

TRANSDEV SERVICES, INC. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk

D R A F T 
ATTACHMENT 2

NVTA Agenda Item 9.3
July 21, 2021

382



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
RECITALS 4 
AGREEEMENT 4 
SECTION 1 DEFINITIONS 4 
SECTION 2 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 5 
SECTION 3 MODIFICATIONS TO CONTRACT 5 
SECTION 4 VERBAL AGREEMENT OR CONVERSATION 5 
SECTION 5 SCOPE OF SERVICES 5 
SECTION 6 TERM OF AGREEMENT 7 
SECTION 7 CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIVE 7 
SECTION 8 COMPENSATION 7 
SECTION 9 MANNER OF PAYMENT 7 
SECTION 10  NOTICES 8 
SECTION 11   OWNERSHIP OF WORK 8 
SECTION 12  CONFIDENTIALITY 9 
SECTION 13   USE OF SUBCONTRACTORS/SUBCONSULTANTS 9 
SECTION 14   CHANGES IN SERVICE 9 
SECTION 15  HOLD HARMLESS/DEFENSE/INDEMNIFICATION 10 
SECTION 16  INSURANCE 10 
SECTION 17  ENDORSEMENTS 12 
SECTION 18  GENERAL PROVISIONS 13 
SECTION 19  CONTRACTOR’S STATUS 13 
SECTION 20  ASSIGNMENT 13 
SECTION 21  NVTA WARRANTIES 13 
SECTION 22  NVTA REPRESENTATIVE 14 
SECTION 23   CLAIMS OR DISPUTES 14 
SECTION 24  REMEDIES 14 
SECTION 25   TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF WORK 14 
SECTION 26  TERMINATION 15 
SECTION 27   PERFORMANCE BOND AND PERFORMANCE BOND 15 

RENEWAL 
SECTION 28   ACCESS TO RECORDS, AUDIT 16 
SECTION 29   NON-DISCRIMINATION ASSURANCE - TITLE VI CIVIL 16 

RIGHTS 
SECTION 30   EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EE0) 16 
SECTION 31   OTHER FEDERAL COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS 17 

(FEDERAL CLAUSES) – FEDERAL CHANGES 
SECTION 32   CONFLICT OF INTEREST 20 
SECTION 33   SUBSTANCE ABUSE PROGRAM 22 
SECTION 34  WAIVER 23 
SECTION 35  SEVERABILITY 23 
SECTION 36   NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES 24 
SECTION 37  APPLICABLE LAW 24 
SECTION 38   RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF NVTA 24 

i

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk

383



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

SECTION 39   BINDING ON SUCCESSORS 24 
SECTION 40   ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION 24 

    SIGNATURES 25 

ATTACHMENTS 

ATTACHMENT A Scope of Services                  26 

     ATTACHMENT B Cost Proposal                75 

 ATTACHMENT C Best and Final Offer (BAFO)                  84 

     ATTACHMENT D Federal Clauses                 86 

     ATTACHMENT E Contractor Required Forms                    95

ATTACHMENT F Certificates / Performance Bonds             107 

ii 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk

384



NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 
AGREEMENT 

FOR 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES 

AGREEMENT NO. 21-12 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of this ___ day of 
_________, 2021, by and between the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, a joint 
powers agency under the laws of the State of California, hereinafter referred to as 
“NVTA”, and Transdev Services, Inc., a Maryland Corporation, whose mailing address is 
720 E. Butterfield Road, Suite 300, Lombard, IL 60148, referred to as “CONTRACTOR”; 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, NVTA conducted a competitive procurement process to select a 
contractor to operate fixed-route, paratransit, on-demand dial-a-ride transit, and 
maintenance services for NVTA Transit Operations; and 

WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR was selected by NVTA pursuant to the competitive 
process, and was awarded the contract by the NVTA Board; and 

WHEREAS, NVTA and CONTRACTOR desire to enter into this Agreement to 
describe the Scope of Work to be provided by CONTRACTOR and to set forth the terms 
and conditions that will govern the operation by CONTRACTOR of the Transit Operations 
Services covered by this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter given, 
NVTA and CONTRACTOR hereby agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS.  The following are definitions of special terms 
used in this document. 

a. Authorized Signer: The person who is executing this Contract on behalf of
the CONTRACTOR and who is authorized to bind the CONTRACTOR.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 4 of 109

385



b. Best and Final Offer (BAFO): The last Offer made by a CONTRACTOR. If
a BAFO is not specifically requested by the NVTA, or if the CONTRACTOR does
not timely respond to a request for BAFO, the most recent, current Offer is the
BAFO.

c. Contract: The Offer and its acceptance by the NVTA as manifested by the
contract documents specified in "Contract Documents".

d. CONTRACTOR: The successful CONTRACTOR who is awarded a
Contract for providing all services described in the contract documents.

e. Due Date: The date and time by which Offers (proposals or bids) must be
received by the NVTA as specified in "Instructions to CONTRACTORS" of NVTA's
solicitation.

f. Intellectual Property. The term “Intellectual Property” means copyrights,
patents, trademarks and related interests. Intellectual property consists of works
including but not limited to databases, software, publications, recordings, maps, or
other proprietary information in any tangible form or medium.

g. NVTA: An agency seeking services through a competitive, solicitation
process. In this case, Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) is the NVTA.

h. Offer: A promise, if accepted, to deliver services according to the underlying
solicitation of the NVTA documented using the prescribed form in the solicitation,
including any bid or proposal or Best and Final Offer.

i. Project Manager: The person who is executing this Contract on behalf of
the NVTA and who has complete and final authority except as limited herein.

j. CONTRACTOR: A legal entity which makes an Offer or is making an offer
(also defined as a bidder or CONTRACTOR). CONTRACTOR is the term used to
reference a firm or firms, submitting a proposal to the RFP, prior to the designation
of a successful CONTRACTOR.

k. Request for Proposals (RFP): The document that is issued by the NVTA for
services that it desires to outsource to a Contractor for managing and delivering
on its behalf. The RFP outlines the scope of work and requirements for
CONTRACTORS.

l. Solicitation: NVTA's Request for Proposals.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 5 of 109

386



SECTION 2 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  The Contract consists of the 
following: 

DOCUMENT ATTACHMENT PAGE 
Scope of Services A    26 
Cost Proposal - Pricing B    75 
Best and Final Offer (BAFO) C    84 
Federal Required Clauses D    86 
Contractor Required Forms E    95 
Certificates and Performance Bonds F  107 

SECTION 3 - MODIFICATIONS TO CONTRACT.  NVTA, without invalidating the 
contract, may order additions to or deletions from the work to be performed. If justified, 
the contract charges will be adjusted accordingly. Any alteration(s) made in the provisions 
that are a part of the contract shall not operate to release any surety or sureties from 
liability or any bond(s) attached thereto and made a part thereof. New provisions in excess 
of 20% of the Revenue Service Hours must be mutually agreeable to NVTA and the 
CONTRACTOR. Contract Modifications must be authorized by the Executive Director and 
must be completed as an Amendment to the Agreement. 

 NVTA shall have the right to make changes in routes, schedules and other 
elements of work not involving extra cost and not inconsistent with the work to be 
performed. In addition, NVTA may make alterations or additions in routes or schedules to 
respond to the demands of special events and other occurrences, provided that if 
additional cost to the CONTRACTOR results therefrom, extra payment will be made by 
NVTA in an amount equal to the extended rate specified in the contract or as may be 
otherwise agreed to by NVTA and CONTRACTOR in advance of such extra work. 
Furthermore, should NVTA require changes in routes, schedules and other elements of 
work to respond to immediate issues impacting on-time performance, reliability, 
efficiency, or safety of services, CONTRACTOR shall implement such changes within 30-
calendar days from receipt of written notice to proceed by Executive Director or his/her 
designee. 

SECTION 4 - VERBAL AGREEMENT OR CONVERSATION.  No prior, current, 
or post award verbal agreement(s) with any officer, agent or employee of NVTA shall 
affect or modify any terms or obligations of the RFP (No. 2020-06) or any contract 
resulting from this procurement. 

 SECTION 5 - SCOPE OF SERVICES.   This is an Agreement to provide 
professional oversight of transit services, operations, and maintenance.  The 
CONTRACTOR agrees to provide these services to NVTA in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement. In the performance of its work, the CONTRACTOR 
represents that it 

(1) has and will exercise the degree of professional care, skill, efficiency, and
judgment of CONTRACTORs with special expertise in providing all bus operations, 
maintenance, management, courteous service, operating and supervisory staff, and to 
provide lubricants and other supplies and equipment as relate to operate the 
Transportation Services;  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 6 of 109

387



(2) carries all applicable licenses, certificates, and registrations in current and
good standing that may be required to perform the work; and 

(3) will retain all such licenses, certificates, and registrations in active status
throughout the duration of this engagement. 

 The scope of the CONTRACTOR’s services shall consist of the services set forth 
in the Request for Proposals, RFP No. 2020-06, Transit Operations Services, dated 
October 28, 2020. 

SECTION 6 - TERM OF AGREEMENT.  The CONTRACTOR shall furnish NVTA 
with all the materials, equipment, and services called for under this Agreement, and 
perform all other work, if any. The term of this Contract shall commence on the effective 
date noted in NVTA’s written Notice to Proceed and shall continue thereafter for a five (5) 
year period, unless terminated sooner pursuant to the Agreement. NVTA reserves the 
right, at its sole discretion, to exercise two (2) one (1) year option terms. If NVTA 
determines to exercise the option term(s), NVTA will give the CONTRACTOR at least 
ninety (90) days written notice of its determination. 

SECTION 7 - CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIVE.  It is understood and agreed 
by the parties that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, that the Resident 
Manager shall serve as the primary staff person of CONTRACTOR to undertake, render, 
and oversee all of the services under this Agreement. Upon written notice by the 
CONTRACTOR and written approval by NVTA, which will not be unreasonably withheld, 
the CONTRACTOR may substitute this person with another person, who shall possess 
similar qualifications and experience for this position. 

SECTION 8 - COMPENSATION.  As compensation for the faithful performance 
by the CONTRACTOR of each and every service called for under the base term of this 
Agreement, NVTA shall pay the CONTRACTOR in accordance with the rates set forth  in 
the CONTRACTOR’s Cost Proposal dated March 29, 2021, and the accepted Best and 
Final Offer (BAFO) dated May 28, 2021, ATTACHMENT C. 

      SECTION 9 - MANNER OF PAYMENT.   The CONTRACTOR shall submit 
monthly invoices/billing statements detailing the services performed during the billing 
period. Each invoice/billing statement must provide a description of the work performed 
during the invoice period and the contract number. CONTRACTOR should refer to RFP 
Appendix B - Invoice Template to see the specifics of the invoice. Specifically, 
CONTRACTOR shall present costs by function performed (i.e. Fixed Route, Paratransit, 
Dial-A-Ride, Maintenance) within the given month as based upon the agreed upon 
method by which NVTA shall compensate CONTRACTOR. 

NVTA may require a third-party review of the proposed billable revenue hours prior 
to accepting the invoice/billing statement. NVTA will endeavor to pay approved 
invoices/billing statements within thirty (30) calendar days of their receipt. NVTA reserves 
the right to withhold payment to the CONTRACTOR, if NVTA determines that the quantity 
or quality of the work performed is unacceptable. NVTA shall provide written notice to the 
CONTRACTOR within ten (10) business days of NVTA’s decision not to pay and the 
reasons for non-payment, as based on NVTA assessment of  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 7 of 109

388



CONTRACTOR’S performance against contract requirements. 

One (1) copy of each invoice should be submitted via mail or soft copy format (PDF) via 
electronic mail as follows: 

E-Mail: ap@nctpa.net or mailing address:  Napa Valley Transportation Authority
ATTN: Accounts Payable 
625 Burnell Street 
Napa, CA 94559 

 Invoices, as well as any reports that are required by NVTA to accompany the 
monthly invoice, shall be submitted to NVTA by the tenth (10th) calendar day of each 
month for work performed by CONTRACTOR within the prior month. 

SECTION 10 - NOTICES.  All communications relating to the day-to-day activities 
of the provided services shall be exchanged between NVTA’s Executive Director or 
his/her designee and the CONTRACTOR’s designee. 

  All other notices and communications deemed by either party to be necessary or 
desirable to be given to the other party shall be in writing and may be given by personal 
delivery to a representative of the parties or by mailing the same, postage prepaid, and 
addressed as follows: 

if to NVTA: Kate Miller, Executive Director 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
625 Burnell Street 
Napa, CA 94559 

The address to which mailings may be made may be changed from time to time by 
notice e-mailed as described above. Any notice given by e-mail shall be deemed given 
on the day after that on which it is received. 

SECTION 11 - OWNERSHIP OF WORK. All reports, plans, specifications, 
schedules, and other materials prepared, or in the process of being prepared for the 
services to be performed by CONTRACTOR shall be and are the property of NVTA. NVTA 
shall be entitled to electronic and paper copies and access to these materials during the 
progress of the work. Any such materials remaining in the hands of the CONTRACTOR 
or in the hands of any subcontractor upon completion or termination of the work shall be 
immediately delivered to NVTA. If any materials are lost, damaged, or destroyed before 
final delivery to NVTA, the CONTRACTOR shall replace them at its own expense and the 
CONTRACTOR assumes all risks of loss, damage, or destruction of or to such materials. 
The CONTRACTOR may retain a copy of all material produced under this Agreement for 
its use in its general business activities. 

 Any and all rights, title, and interest (including without limitation copyright and any 
other intellectual-property or proprietary right) to materials prepared under this Agreement 
are hereby assigned to NVTA. The CONTRACTOR agrees to execute any additional 
documents which may be necessary to evidence such assignment. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 8 of 109

389

mailto:ap@nctpa.net


  The CONTRACTOR represents and warrants that all materials prepared under 
this Agreement are original or developed from materials in the public domain (or both) 
and that all materials prepared under and services provided under this Agreement do not 
infringe or violate any copyright, trademark, patent, trade secret, or other intellectual- 
property or proprietary right of any third party. 

SECTION 12 - CONFIDENTIALITY. Any NVTA materials to which the 
CONTRACTOR has access or materials prepared by the CONTRACTOR during the 
course of this Agreement ("confidential information") shall be held in confidence by the 
CONTRACTOR, who shall exercise all reasonable precautions to prevent the disclosure 
of confidential information to anyone except the officers, employees and agents of the 
CONTRACTOR as necessary to accomplish the rendition of services set forth in Section 
1 of this Agreement. 

 The CONTRACTOR, its employees, subcontractors, sub-consultants and agents, 
shall not release any reports, information, or other materials prepared in connection with 
this Agreement, whether deemed confidential or not, without the approval of NVTA’s 
Executive Director or designee. 

SECTION 13 - USE OF SUBCONTRACTORS/SUBCONSULTANTS.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract any services to be performed by it under this 
Agreement without the prior written approval of NVTA, except for service firms engaged 
in drawing, reprographics, typing, and printing. Any subcontractors/sub-consultants must 
be engaged under written contract with the CONTRACTOR with provisions allowing the 
CONTRACTOR to comply with all requirements of this Agreement. 

SECTION 14 - CHANGES IN SERVICE.  NVTA shall reimburse CONTRACTOR 
for each Vehicle Service Hour (VSH) that is deployed as per the published fixed route 
timetables, or other previously specified hours for special events or other services. A VSH 
includes travel time to and from the facility or break area to/from scheduled revenue 
service. Vehicle service hours shall include revenue service hours. A VSH does not 
include vehicle pre- or post-trip inspections, vehicle maintenance time, driver unpaid 
break times, fueling, or probing/vaulting operations. 

  NVTA reserves the right to order an increase or decrease in the overall quantity of 
scheduled VSH(s) with thirty (30) days written notice to CONTRACTOR. NVTA reserves 
the right to reduce overall VSH(s) by up to 20%. Such reduction shall not be considered 
a change in the Scope of Work under the CONTRACT. 

  NVTA reserves the right to add additional VSH(s) by up to 20%. Such addition 
shall not be considered a change in the Scope of Work under the contract. 

  Furthermore, should NVTA require changes in routes, schedules and other 
elements of work to respond to immediate issues impacting on-time performance, 
reliability, efficiency, or safety of services, CONTRACTOR shall implement such 
changes within thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of written notice to proceed by 
Executive Director or his/her designee. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 9 of 109

390



Any changes outside of the aforementioned range or limits may be provided by 
CONTRACTOR at a separately negotiated fee. 

SECTION - 15  HOLD HARMLESS/DEFENSE/INDEMNIFICATION. 

“Hold Harmless/ Defense/ Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, CONTRACTOR shall hold harmless, defend at its own expense, and indemnify 
NCTPA and the officers, agents, employees and volunteers of NVTA from and against 
any and all liability, claims, losses, damages or expenses, including reasonable attorney's 
fees, for personal injury (including death) or damage to property, arising from all acts or 
omissions of CONTRACTOR or its officers, agents, employees, volunteers, contractors 
and subcontractors in rendering services under this Agreement, excluding, however, such 
liability, claims, losses, damages or expenses arising from the sole negligence or willful 
acts of NVTA or its officers, agents, employees, volunteers, or other contractors or their 
subcontractors.  Each party shall notify the other party immediately in writing of any claim 
or damage related to activities performed under this Agreement. The parties shall 
cooperate with each other in the investigation and disposition of any claim arising out of 
the activities under this Agreement. The provisions of this subsection shall under no 
circumstances be interpreted as limiting in any manner the obligations of any insurer 
under any insurance policy maintained by either party pursuant to Section 16 of this 
document.” 

SECTION 16 – INSURANCE.  The insurance requirements specified in this 
Section shall cover CONTRACTOR’s own liability and any liability arising out of work or 
services performed under this Agreement by and any subcontractors, sub-consultants, 
suppliers, temporary workers, independent contractors, leased employees, or any other 
persons, firms or corporations (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Agents”) that 
CONTRACTOR authorizes to work under this Agreement. CONTRACTOR and all Agents 
are required to procure and maintain at their sole cost and expense the insurance 
coverages subject to all of the requirements set forth below. Such insurance shall remain 
in full force and effect throughout the term of this Agreement. CONTRACTOR is also 
required to assess the risks associated with work to be performed by Agents under 
subcontract and to include in every subcontract the requirement that the Agent maintain 
adequate insurance coverages with appropriate limits and endorsements to cover such 
risks; the limit for the Commercial General Liability insurance in each subcontract shall 
not be less than $15 million. To the extent that any Agent does not procure and maintain 
such insurance coverage, the CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for said coverage and 
assume any and all costs and expenses that may be incurred in securing said coverage 
or in fulfilling CONTRACTOR’s indemnity obligation as to itself or any of its Agents in the 
absence of coverage. In the event CONTRACTOR or its Agents procure excess or 
umbrella coverage to maintain certain requirements outlined below, these policies shall 
also satisfy all specified endorsements and stipulations, including provisions that the 
CONTRACTOR’s insurance be primary without any right of contribution from NVTA. Prior 
to beginning work under this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall provide NVTA with 
satisfactory evidence of compliance with the insurance requirements of this Section. 

1. Contractor’s Responsibilities – Minimum Types and Scope of Insurance.
CONTRACTOR shall obtain and maintain in full force and effect throughout the term of 
this Agreement, and thereafter as to matters occurring during the term of this Agreement, 
the following insurance coverage: 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 10 of 109

391



(a) Workers' Compensation Insurance. CONTRACTOR will
provide workers' compensation insurance as required by law during the term of this 
Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall provide workers’ compensation insurance for the 
performance of any of the CONTRACTOR’s duties under this Agreement; including but 
not limited to, coverage for workers’ compensation and employer's liability and a waiver 
of subrogation, and shall provide NVTA with certification of all such coverage’s upon 
request by NVTA’s Risk Manager. 

(b) Liability Insurance. CONTRACTOR shall obtain and maintain
in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement the following liability insurance 
coverage’s, issued by a company licensed (admitted) to transact business in the State of 
California and/or having a A.M. Best rating of A VII or better: 

1. General Liability. Commercial General Liability [CGL]
insurance coverage (personal injury and property damage) of not less than FIVE MILLION 
DOLLARS ($5,000,000) combined single limit per occurrence, covering liability or claims 
for any personal injury, including death, to any person and/or damage to the property of 
any person arising from the acts or omissions of CONTRACTOR or any officer, agent, or 
employee of CONTRACTOR under this Agreement. 

2. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance.
Comprehensive automobile liability insurance (Bodily Injury and Property Damage) on 
owned, hired, leased and non- owned vehicles used in conjunction with 
CONTRACTOR's business of not less than FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000) 
combined single limit per occurrence. 

(c) Certificates. All insurance coverage’s referenced in (b), above,
shall be evidenced by one or more certificates of coverage or, with the consent of NVTA's 
Risk Manager, demonstrated by other evidence of coverage acceptable to NCTPA's Risk 
Manager, which shall be filed by CONTRACTOR with NVTA’s Executive Director prior to 
commencement of performance of any of CONTRACTOR's duties; shall be kept current 
during the term of this Agreement; shall provide that NVTA shall be given no less  than 
thirty (30) days prior written notice of any non-renewal, cancellation, other termination, or 
material change, except that only ten (10) days prior written notice shall be required where 
the cause of non-renewal or cancellation is non-payment of premium; and shall provide 
that the inclusion of more than one insured shall not operate to impair the rights of one 
insured against another insured, the coverage afforded applying as though separate 
policies had been issued to each insured, but the inclusion of more than one insured shall 
not operate to increase the limits of the company's liability. For the commercial general 
liability insurance coverage referenced in (b)(1) and, where the vehicles are covered by a 
commercial policy rather than a personal policy, for the comprehensive automobile liability 
insurance coverage referenced in (b)(2) CONTRACTOR shall also file with the evidence 
of coverage an endorsement from the insurance provider naming NVTA, its officers, 
employees, agents and volunteers as additional insureds and waiving subrogation, and 
the certificate or other evidence of coverage shall provide that if the same policy applies 
to activities of CONTRACTOR not covered by this Agreement then  the limits in the 
applicable certificate relating to the additional insured coverage of NVTA shall pertain only 
to liability for activities of CONTRACTOR under this Agreement, and that the insurance 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 11 of 109

392



provided is primary coverage to NVTA with respect to any insurance or self-insurance 
programs maintained by NVTA. 

(d) Deductibles/Retentions. Any deductibles or self-insured
retentions shall be declared to, and be subject to approval by, NVTA’s Risk Manager, 
which approval shall not be denied unless the NVTA's Risk Manager determines that 
the deductibles or self- insured retentions are unreasonably large in relation to 
compensation payable under this Agreement and the risks of liability associated with the 
activities required of CONTRACTOR by this Agreement. At the option of and upon 
request by NVTA’s Risk Manager if it is determined that such deductibles or retentions 
are unreasonably high, either the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or 
self-insurance retentions as respects NVTA, its officers, employees, agents and 
volunteers or CONTRACTOR shallprocure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and 
related investigations, claims administration and defense expenses. 

a. Property Insurance. Property insurance with Special Form
coverage including theft, but excluding earthquake, with limits at least equal to the 
replacement cost of CONTRACTOR’S business personal property and equipment to be 
used in the performance of this Agreement. 

b. Employee Theft Insurance/Crime Insurance. A crime insurance
policy covering CONTRACTOR’s employees or outsiders for loss of or damage to money, 
securities or other property resulting from theft. The following limits of liability should apply: 

Employee Dishonesty $250,000 
Client Property Blanket Bond $250,000 
Computer Fraud $250,000 
Inside or Outside Premises $50,000 
Depositors Forgery $250,000 

 CONTRACTOR shall reimburse NVTA for any and all losses within the deductible 
and for insured losses, the cost to prove the loss, accountants’ fees, defense costs 
including attorneys and any other fees associated with a claim. 

 In lieu of a Client Property Blanket Bond, the policy shall contain a Joint Loss Payee 
endorsement or other Third Party coverage naming NVTA as further detailed in the 
Endorsements Section below. 

SECTION 17 - ENDORSEMENTS. 

1. Separation of Insureds. The referenced policies and any Excess or
Umbrella policies shall contain a Separation of Insureds Clause and stipulate that 
inclusion of NVTA as an Additional Insured shall not in any way affect NVTA’s rights either 
as respects any claim, demand, suit or judgment made, brought or recovered against the 
CONTRACTOR. The purpose of this coverage is to protect the CONTRACTOR and 
NVTA in the same manner as though a separate policy had been issued to each, but 
nothing in said policy shall operate to increase the insurance company's liability as set 
forth in its policy beyond the amount or amounts shown or to which the insurance 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 12 of 109

393



company would have been liable if only one interest had been named as an insured. 

2. Client Property Blanket Bond, Third Party Bond or Joint Loss Payee
Endorsement. On the CONTRACTOR’s Employee Theft Insurance/Crime Insurance 
policy, NVTA shall be named as a Joint Loss Payee or the CONTRACTOR will provide a 
separate Client Property Blanket Bond or Third Party Crime coverage naming NVTA. 

SECTION 18 - GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

1. Notice of Cancellation. The policies shall provide that the CONTRACTOR’s
policies will not be cancelled without thirty (30) days prior written notice to NVTA’s 
Executive Director. 

2. Acceptable Insurers. All policies will be issued by insurers acceptable to
NVTA (generally with a Best’s Rating of A - 10 or better). 

3. Self-insurance. Upon evidence of financial capacity satisfactory to NVTA and
the CONTRACTOR's agreement to waive subrogation against NVTA respecting any and 
all claims that may arise, the CONTRACTOR's obligation hereunder may be satisfied in 
whole or in part by adequately funded self-insurance. 

4. Deductibles and Retentions. The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
payment of any deductible or retention on the CONTRACTOR’s policies without right of 
contribution from NVTA. Deductible and retention provisions shall not contain any 
restrictions as to how or by whom the deductible or retention is paid. Any deductible or 
retention provision limiting payment to the Named Insured is unacceptable. 

 In the event that the policy of the CONTRACTOR or any subcontractor contains a 
deductible or self-insured retention, and in the event that NVTA seeks coverage under 
such policy as an additional insured, CONTRACTOR shall satisfy such deductible or self-
insured retention to the extent of loss covered by such policy for a lawsuit arising from or 
connected with any alleged act or omission of CONTRACTOR, subcontractor, or any of 
their officers, directors, employees, agents, or suppliers, even if CONTRACTOR or 
subcontractor is not a named defendant in the lawsuit. 

SECTION 19 - CONTRACTOR’S STATUS.  Neither the CONTRACTOR nor any 
party contracting with the CONTRACTOR shall be deemed to be an agent or employee 
of NVTA. The CONTRACTOR is and shall be an independent contractor and the legal 
relationship of any person performing services for the CONTRACTOR shall be one solely 
between that person and the CONTRACTOR. 

SECTION 20 – ASSIGNMENT.  The CONTRACTOR shall not assign any of its 
rights nor transfer any of its obligations under this Agreement without the prior written 
consent of NVTA. 

SECTION 21 - NVTA WARRANTIES.  NVTA makes no warranties, 
representations, or agreements, either express or implied, beyond such as are explicitly 
stated in this Agreement. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 13 of 109

394



SECTION 22 - NVTA REPRESENTATIVE.  Except when  approval  or  other 
action is required to be given or taken by the Board of Directors of NVTA, NVTA’s 
Executive Director, or such person or persons as they shall designate in writing from time 
to time, shall represent and act for NVTA. 

SECTION 23 - CLAIMS OR DISPUTES. The CONTRACTOR shall be solely 
responsible for providing timely written notice to NVTA of any claims for additional 
compensation and/or time in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. It is 
NVTA’s intent to investigate and attempt to resolve any CONTRACTOR claims before the 
CONTRACTOR has performed any disputed work. Therefore, CONTRACTOR’s failure 
to provide timely notice shall constitute a waiver of CONTRACTOR’s claims for additional 
compensation and/or time. 

  The CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to the payment of any additional 
compensation for any cause, including any act, or failure to act, by NVTA, or the failure 
or refusal to issue a modification, or the happening of any event, thing, or occurrence, 
unless it has given NVTA due written notice of a potential claim. The potential claim shall 
set forth the reasons for which the CONTRACTOR believes additional compensation may 
be due, the nature of the costs involved, and the amount of the potential claim. 

  If based on an act or failure to act by NVTA, such notice shall be given to NVTA 
prior to the time that the CONTRACTOR has started performance of the work giving rise 
to the potential claim for additional compensation. In all other cases, notice shall be given 
within ten (10) days after the happening of the event or occurrence giving rise to the 
potential claim. 

  If there is a dispute over any claim, the CONTRACTOR shall continue to work 
during the dispute resolution process in a diligent and timely manner as directed by NVTA, 
and shall be governed by all applicable provisions of the Agreement. The CONTRACTOR 
shall maintain cost records of all work that is the basis of any dispute. If an agreement 
can be reached which resolves the CONTRACTOR claim, the parties will execute an 
Agreement modification to document the resolution of the claim. If the parties cannot 
reach an agreement with respect to the CONTRACTOR claim, they may choose to pursue 
a dispute resolution process or termination of the Agreement. 

SECTION 24 – REMEDIES.  In the event the CONTRACTOR fails to comply with 
the requirements of this Agreement in any way, NVTA reserves the right to implement 
administrative remedies which may include, but are not limited to, withholding of progress 
payments and contract retentions, and termination of the Agreement in whole or in part. 

SECTION 25 - TEMPORARY  SUSPENSION OF  WORK. NVTA, in its sole 
discretion, reserves the right to stop or suspend all or any portion of the work for such 
period as NVTA may deem necessary. The suspension may be due to the failure on  the 
part of the CONTRACTOR to carry out orders given or to perform any provision of the 
Agreement or to factors that are not the responsibility of the CONTRACTOR. The 
CONTRACTOR shall comply immediately with the written order of NVTA to suspend the 
work wholly or in part. The suspended work shall be resumed when the CONTRACTOR 
is provided with written direction from NVTA to resume the work. 

  If the suspension is due to the CONTRACTOR’s failure to perform work or carry 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 14 of 109

395



out its responsibilities in accordance with this Agreement, or other action or omission on 
the part of the CONTRACTOR, all costs shall be at CONTRACTOR’s expense and no 
schedule extensions will be provided by NVTA. 

  In the event of a suspension of the work, the CONTRACTOR shall not be relieved 
of the CONTRACTOR’s responsibilities under this Agreement, except the obligations to 
perform the work which NVTA has specifically directed CONTRACTOR to suspend under 
this section. 

  If the suspension is not the responsibility of the CONTRACTOR, suspension of all 
or any portion of the work under this Section may entitle the CONTRACTOR to 
compensation and/or schedule extensions subject to the Agreement requirements. 

SECTION 26 - TERMINATION.  NVTA shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement at any time for cause or convenience by giving thirty (30) days written notice 
to the CONTRACTOR. Upon receipt of such notice, the CONTRACTOR shall not commit 
itself to any further expenditure of time or resources. 

  If the Agreement is terminated for any reason other than a breach or default by 
CONTRACTOR, NVTA shall pay to the CONTRACTOR all sums actually due and  owing 
from NVTA for all services performed and all expenses incurred up to the day written 
notice of termination is given, plus any costs reasonably and necessarily incurred by 
CONTRACTOR to effect such suspension or termination. If the Agreement is terminated 
for breach or default, NVTA shall remit final payment to CONTRACTOR in an amount to 
cover only those services performed and expenses incurred in full accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement up to the effective date of termination. 

  NVTA shall not in any manner be liable for the CONTRACTOR’s actual or 
projected lost profits had the CONTRACTOR completed the services required by this 
Agreement. 

SECTION 27 -  PERFORMANCE     BOND     AND     PERFORMANCE    BOND 
RENEWAL.  The CONTRACTOR shall provide NVTA with a series of Performance 
Bonds. Pursuant to the RFP, the CONTRACTOR shall maintain a valid Performance 
Bond in a form satisfactory to NVTA, and in an amount equal to twenty-five (25) percent 
of the value of one (1) year of operations as proposed in the final year of operations in 
the executed contract, throughout the entire term of this Agreement, including option 
years if exercised, guaranteeing CONTRACTOR’s full performance under this 
Agreement. The CONTRACTOR shall file a renewed Performance Bond with NVTA a 
minimum of thirty (30) days prior to any expiration date indicated on an existing 
Performance Bond. The Performance Bond then in place shall terminate automatically 
upon provision of a replacement Performance Bond. At no time during the term of the 
Agreement, including any option terms that may be exercised, will there be any gap in 
coverage of a valid Performance Bond. Failure to provide continuous coverage of a 
Performance Bond will constitute a material breach.   If no replacement Performance 
Bond is provided as required, the existing Performance Bond shall continue in effect for 
its full term, but CONTRACTOR may be deemed in material breach of the contract if 
CONTRACTOR fails to provide a replacement bond in the manner described above. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 15 of 109

396



SECTION 28 - ACCESS TO RECORDS, AUDIT.  CONTRACTOR agrees to 
provide NVTA, the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Administrator, the Comptroller 
General of the United States or any of their authorized representatives access to any 
books, documents, papers and records of the Contractor which are directly pertinent to 
this contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions. 
Contractor also agrees, pursuant to 49 C.F.R. 633.17 to provide the FTA Administrator or 
his authorized representatives including any Project Management Oversight (PMO) 
Contractor access to Contractor's records and construction sites pertaining to a major 
capital project, defined at 49 U.S.C. 5302(a)1, which is receiving federal financial 
assistance through the programs described at 49 U.S.C. 5307, 5309 or 5311. 

 The CONTRACTOR agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by 
any means whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed. 

 The CONTRACTOR agrees to maintain all books, records, accounts and reports 
required under this contract for a period of not less than three years after the date of 
termination or expiration of this contract, except in the event of litigation or settlement of 
claims arising from the performance of this contract, in which case CONTRACTOR 
agrees to maintain same until NVTA, the FTA Administrator, the Comptroller General, or 
any of their duly authorized representatives, have disposed of all such litigation, appeals, 
claims or exceptions related thereto. Reference 49 CFR 18.39(i)(11). 

   If, as a result of the audit, it is determined by NVTA’s auditor or staff that 
reimbursement of any costs including profit or fee under this Agreement was in excess of 
that represented and relied upon during price negotiations or represented as a basis for 
payment, the CONTRACTOR agrees to reimburse NVTA for those costs within sixty 
(60) days of written notification by NVTA.

SECTION 29 - NON-DISCRIMINATION ASSURANCE-TITLE  VI  CIVIL RIGHTS 
ACT.  The CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, creed, 
national origin, sex, or age in the performance of this Agreement. The CONTRACTOR 
shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration 
of U.S. DOT-assisted contracts. Further, the CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with all 
provisions prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin of Title 
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C.§§2000d et seq., and with 
U.S. DOT regulations, "Nondiscrimination in Federally- Assisted Programs of the 
Department of Transportation – Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act," 49 CFR. 
Part 21. The CONTRACTOR shall obtain the same assurances from its joint venture 
partners, subcontractors, and sub-consultants by including this assurance in all 
subcontracts entered into under this Agreement. Failure by the CONTRACTOR to carry 
out these requirements is a material breach of this Agreement, which may result in 
the termination of this Agreement or such other remedy as NVTA deems appropriate. 

SECTION 30 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO).  In connection 
with the performance of this Agreement the CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate against 
any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, 
ancestry, sex, gender, sexual orientation, age (over 40), marital status, pregnancy, 
medical condition, or disability as specified in federal, State, and local laws. The 
CONTRACTOR shall take affirmative actions to ensure that applicants are employed, and 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 16 of 109

397



that employees are treated during their employment, without regard to their race, religion, 
color, sex, disability, or national origin. Such actions shall include, but not be limited to, 
the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or recruitment 
advertising, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and 
selection for training, including apprenticeship. CONTRACTOR further agrees to insert a 
similar provision in all subcontracts, except subcontracts for standard commercial 
supplies or raw materials. 

SECTION 31 - OTHER FEDERAL COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS (FEDERAL 
CLAUSES) – FEDERAL CHANGES.  CONTRACTOR shall at all times comply with all 
applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures and directives, including without 
limitation those listed directly or by reference in the Master Agreement between NVTA 
and FTA, and those attached as ATTACHMENT E - Federal Clauses. 

1. No Obligation by the Federal Government - NVTA and CONTRACTOR
acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the Federal 
Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the underlying contract, absent 
the express written consent by the Federal Government, the Federal Government is not 
a party to this contract and shall not be subject to any obligations or liabilities to NVTA, 
CONTRACTOR, or any other party (whether or not a party to that contract) pertaining to 
any matter resulting from the underlying contract. 

  The CONTRACTOR agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract 
financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed 
that the clause shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be 
subject to its provisions. 

2. Program Fraud and False or Fraudulent Statements or Related Acts -
CONTRACTOR acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies 
Act of 1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. §3801 et seq. and U.S. DOT regulations, "Program 
Fraud Civil Remedies," 49 CFR. Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this Project. 
Upon execution of the underlying contract, the CONTRACTOR certifies or affirms the 
truthfulness and accuracy of any statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes 
to be made, pertaining to the underlying contract or the FTA assisted project for which 
this contract work is being performed. In addition to other penalties that may be 
applicable, CONTRACTOR further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, 
a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the 
Federal Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud 
Civil Remedies Act of 1986 on the CONTRACTOR to the extent the Federal Government 
deems appropriate. 

  CONTRACTOR also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, 
fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal 
Government under a contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part 
with Federal assistance originally awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. 
§5307, the Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of 18 U.S.C. §1001
and 49 U.S.C. §5307(n)(1) on the CONTRACTOR, to the extent the Federal Government
deems appropriate.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 17 of 109

398



CONTRACTOR agrees to include the above two clauses in each subcontract financed in 
whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the 
clauses shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to 
the provisions. 

3. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE).  This Agreement is subject to
the requirements of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 26, and Participation by 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in Department of Transportation Financial 
Assistance Programs. NVTA has an established overall three (3) year DBE goal of 2.8%. 
A separate contract goal has been established for this procurement of 1% of the yearly 
contract amount. 

  CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, 
or sex in the performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry out applicable 
requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of this DOT-assisted 
contract. Failure by the CONTRACTOR to carry out these requirements is a material 
breach, which may result in contract termination or such other remedy as NVTA deems 
appropriate. Each subcontract CONTRACTOR signs with a subcontractor must include 
the assurance in this paragraph (see 49 CFR 26.13(b)). 

  The successful CONTRACTOR will be required to report its DBE participation 
obtained through race-neutral means throughout the period of performance. 

  CONTRACTOR will be required to pay its subcontractors performing work related 
to this RFP for satisfactory performance of that work no later than thirty (30) days after 
CONTRACTORS receipt of payment for that work from NVTA. In addition, 
CONTRACTOR is required to return any retainage payments to those subcontractors 
within thirty (30) days after incremental acceptance of the subcontractor’s work by NVTA 
and CONTRACTORS receipt of the partial retainage payment related to the 
subcontractor’s work. 

  CONTRACTOR must promptly notify NVTA, whenever a listed subcontractor 
performing work related to this contract is terminated or fails to complete its work. 
CONTRACTOR may not terminate any listed subcontractor and perform that work 
through its own forces or those of an affiliate without prior written consent of NVTA. 

4. Suspension and Debarment.  This RFP and eventual contract is a covered
transaction for purposes of 49 CFR Part 29. As such, CONTRACTOR is required to verify 
that none of the contractors, its principals, as defined at 49 CFR 29.995, or affiliates, as 
defined at 49 CFR 29.905, are excluded or disqualified as defined at 49 CFR 29.940 and 
29.945.  CONTRACTOR is required to comply with 49 CFR 29, Subpart C and must 
include the requirement to comply with 49 CFR 29, Subpart C in any lower tier covered 
transaction it enters into.  By signing and submitting its bid or proposal, CONTRACTOR 
certifies as follows: 

“The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by 
NVTA. If it is later determined that CONTRACTOR knowingly rendered an erroneous 
certification, in addition to remedies available to NVTA, the Federal Government may 
pursue available remedies, including but not limited to suspension and/or debarment. The 
CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with the requirements of 49 CFR 29, Subpart C, while 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 18 of 109

399



this offer is valid and throughout the period of any contract that may arise from this offer. 
The CONTRACTOR further agrees to include a provision requiring such compliance in its 
lower tier covered transactions.” 

5. Charter Service Operations.  CONTRACTOR/ successful Contractor
agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(d) and 49 CFR Part 604, which provides that 
recipients and sub-recipients of FTA assistance are prohibited from providing charter 
service using federally funded equipment or facilities if there is at least one private charter 
operator willing and able to provide the service, except under one of the exceptions at 49 
CFR 604.9. Any charter service provided under one of the exceptions must be 
"incidental," i.e., it must not interfere with or detract from the provision of mass 
transportation. 

6. School Bus Operations.  Pursuant to 69 U.S.C. 5323(f) and 49 CFR Part
605, recipients and subrecipients of FTA assistance may not engage in  school bus 
operations exclusively for the transportation of students and school personnel in 
competition with private school bus operators unless qualified under specified 
exemptions. When operating exclusive school bus service under an allowable exemption, 
recipients and sub-recipients may not use federally funded equipment, vehicles, or 
facilities. 

7. Federal Privacy Act Requirements.  The following requirements apply to
the CONTRACTOR/ successful Contractor and its employees that administer any system 
of records on behalf of the Federal Government under any contract: 

  The CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with, and assures the compliance of its 
employees with, the information restrictions and other applicable requirements of the 
Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. §552a. Among other things, CONTRACTOR agrees to 
obtain the express consent of the Federal Government before CONTRACTOR or its 
employees operate a system of records on behalf of the Federal Government. 
CONTRACTOR understands that the requirements of the Privacy Act, including the civil 
and criminal penalties for violation of that Act, apply to those individuals involved, and 
that failure to comply with the terms of the Privacy Act may result in termination of the 
underlying contract. CONTRACTOR also agrees to include these requirements in each 
subcontract to administer any system of records on behalf of the Federal Government 
financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 

8. Recovered Materials. CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with all the
requirements of Section 6002 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), 
as amended (42 U.S.C. 6962), including but not limited to the regulatory provisions of 40 
CFR Part 247, and Executive Order 12873, as they apply to the procurement of the items 
designated in Subpart B of 40 CFR Part 247. 

9. Safe Operation of Motor Vehicles.  CONTRACTOR agrees as follows:
a. Seat Belt Use - In accordance with the provisions of Executive Order No.

13043, “Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States,” April 16, 1997, 23 U.S.C. § 
402 note, CONTRACTOR is encouraged to adopt and promote on- the-job seat belt 
use policies and programs for its employees and other personnel that operate 
company-owned, rented, or personally operated vehicles. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 19 of 109

400



b. Distracted Driving, Including Text Messaging While Driving - In accordance
with Executive Order No. 13513, “Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging 
While Driving,” October 1, 2009, and DOT Order 3902.10, “Text Messaging While 
Driving,” December 30, 2009, CONTRACTOR is encouraged to comply with the 
terms of the following Special Provision: 

(1) Definitions. As used in this section Provision:
(a) “Driving” means operating a motor vehicle on a roadway, including

while temporarily stationary because of traffic, a traffic light, stop
sign, or otherwise. “Driving” does not include being in your vehicle
(with or without the motor running) in a location off the roadway
where it is safe and legal to remain stationary.

(b) “Text Messaging” means reading from or entering data into any
handheld or other electronic device, including for the purpose of
short message service texting, e-mailing, instant messaging,
obtaining navigational information, or engaging in any other form of
electronic data retrieval or electronic data communication. The term
does not include the use of a cell phone or other electronic device
for the limited purpose of entering a telephone number to make an
outgoing call or answer an incoming call, unless the practice is
prohibited by State or local law.

(2) Safety. CONTRACTOR is encouraged to adopt and enforce workplace
safety policies to decrease crashes caused by distracted drivers
including policies to ban text messaging while driving:
(a) Contractor-owned or Contractor-rented vehicles or Government

owned, leased or rented vehicles;
(b) Privately owned vehicles when on official contract related business

or when performing any work for or on behalf of NVTA; or
(c) Any vehicle, on or off duty, and using an employer supplied

electronic device.

10. Energy Conservation.  CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with mandatory
standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are contained in the state 
energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation 
Act. 

SECTION 32 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST.  Conflict of Interest terms will be in 
force throughout the term of this Agreement. More specifically, the following shall apply: 

1. General.  Depending on the nature of the work performed, a CONTRACTOR
of NVTA may be subject to the same conflict of interest prohibitions established by the 
Federal Transit Administration (FTA), Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and 
California law that govern NVTA’s employees and officials (Cal. Govt. Code Section 1090 
et seq. and Cal. Govt. Code Section 87100 et seq.). During the proposal process or the 
term of the Agreement, CONTRACTOR and its employees may be required to disclose 
financial interests. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 20 of 109

401



  The CONTRACTOR warrants and represents that it presently has no interest and 
agrees that it will not acquire any interest that would present a conflict of interest under 
California Government Code §1090 et seq. or §87100 et seq. during the performance of 
services under this Agreement. The CONTRACTOR further covenants that it will not 
knowingly employ any person having such an interest in the performance of this 
Agreement. Violation of this provision may result in this Agreement being deemed void 
and unenforceable. 

  Depending on the nature of the work performed, CONTRACTOR may be required 
to publicly disclose financial interests under NVTA’s Conflict of Interest Code. Upon 
receipt, the CONTRACTOR agrees to promptly submit a Statement of Economic Interest 
on the form provided by NVTA. 

  No person previously in the position of Director, Officer, employee or agent of 
NVTA during his or her tenure or for one (1) year after that tenure shall have any interest, 
direct or indirect, in this Agreement or the proceeds under this Agreement, nor may any 
such person act as an agent or attorney for, or otherwise represent the CONTRACTOR 
by making any formal or informal appearance, or any oral or written communication, 
before NVTA, or any Officer or employee of NVTA, for a period of one (1) year after 
leaving office or employment with NVTA if the appearance or communication is made for 
the purpose of influencing any action involving the issuance, amendment, award or 
revocation of a permit, license, grant, or contract. 

2. Organizational Conflicts of Interest. CONTRACTOR shall take  all
reasonable measures to preclude the existence or development of an organizational 
conflict of interest in connection with work performed under this Agreement and other 
solicitations. An organizational conflict of interest occurs when, due to other activities, 
relationships, or contracts, a firm or person is unable, or potentially unable, to render 
impartial assistance or advice to NVTA; a firm or person’s objectivity in performing the 
contract work is or might be impaired; or a firm or person has an unfair competitive 
advantage in proposing for award of a contract as a result of information gained in 
performance of this or some other Agreement. 

  CONTRACTOR shall not engage the services of any subcontractor or independent 
CONTRACTOR on any work related to this Agreement if the subcontractor or 
independent CONTRACTOR, or any employee of the subcontractor or independent 
CONTRACTOR, has an actual or apparent organizational conflict of interest related to 
work or services contemplated under this Agreement. 

  If at any time during the term of this Agreement CONTRACTOR becomes aware 
of an organizational conflict of interest in connection with the work performed hereunder, 
CONTRACTOR immediately shall provide NVTA with written notice of the facts and 
circumstances giving rise to this organizational conflict of interest CONTRACTOR’s 
written notice will also propose alternatives for addressing or eliminating the 
organizational conflict of interest. 

  In the event a conflict is presented, whether disclosed by CONTRACTOR or 
discovered by NVTA, NVTA will consider the conflict presented and any alternatives 
proposed and meet with the CONTRACTOR to determine an appropriate course of 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 21 of 109

402



action. NVTA’s determination as to the manner in which to address the conflict shall be 
final. 

  During the term of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR must maintain lists of its 
employees, and the subcontractors and independent CONTRACTORs used and their 
employees. CONTRACTOR must provide this information to NVTA upon request 
However, submittal of such lists does not relieve the CONTRACTOR of its obligation to 
assure that no organizational conflicts of interest exist CONTRACTOR shall retain this 
record for five (5) years after NVTA makes final payment under this Agreement. Such lists 
may be published as part of future NVTA solicitations. 

  CONTRACTOR shall maintain written policies prohibiting organizational conflicts 
of interest and shall ensure that its employees are fully familiar with these policies. 
CONTRACTOR shall monitor and enforce these policies and shall require any 
subcontractors and affiliates to maintain, monitor and enforce policies prohibiting 
organizational conflicts of interest. 

  Failure to comply with this section may subject the CONTRACTOR to damages 
incurred by NVTA in addressing organizational conflicts that arise out of work performed 
by CONTRACTOR, or to termination of this Agreement for breach. 

3. Ethics in Public Contracting. Each CONTRACTOR, by submitting a
Proposal, certifies that it is not a party to any collusive action or any action that may be in 
violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act. By submitting a Proposal, the CONTRACTOR 
certifies that its Proposal was made without fraud; that it has not offered or received any 
kickbacks or inducements from any other CONTRACTOR in connection with the offer; 
and that it has not conferred on any public employee, public member, or public official 
having responsibility for this procurement transaction, any payment, loan, subscription, 
advance, deposit of money, services, or anything of more than nominal value. The 
CONTRACTOR further certifies that no relationship exists between itself and the NVTA 
or another person or organization that interferes with fair competition or constitutes a 
conflict of interest with respect to a contract with the NVTA. 

  Prior to the award of any contract, the potential CONTRACTOR may be required 
to certify in writing that no relationship exists between the CONTRACTOR and any NVTA 
employee, officer, official, or agent that interferes with fair competition or is a conflict of 
interest with respect to a contract with NVTA. 

  More than one (1) proposal from an individual, firm, partnership, corporation, or 
association under the same or different names may be rejected. Reasonable grounds for 
believing that a CONTRACTOR has interest in more than one (1) proposal for the work 
solicited may result in rejection of all Proposals in which the CONTRACTOR is believed 
to have an interest. 

SECTION 33 - SUBSTANCE ABUSE PROGRAM.  NVTA   adheres   to  US 
DOT/FTA federal regulations, 49 CFR Parts 40 and 655, governing mandatory drug and 
alcohol testing and education for “safety-sensitive” employees. Pursuant to these 
regulations, NVTA requires that CONTRACTORs who “stand in the shoes” of NVTA are 
subject to these regulations, and must have a Substance Abuse Policy, a drug and alcohol 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 22 of 109

403



testing program and provide training for its safety-sensitive employees. CONTRACTOR 
is required to comply fully with all Department of Transportation  (DOT) and Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) regulations prohibiting drug use and alcohol misuse by all 
operators and maintenance personnel or employees of subcontractors  performing 
safety-sensitive  functions.  The CONTRACTOR’s policy,  testing program and training 
must comply with these regulations: 49 CFR Part 655, (“Prevention of Prohibited Drug 
Use in Transit Operations and Prevention of Alcohol Misuse in Transit Operations”) and 
49 CFR Part 40, ("Procedures for Transportation Workplace Drug and Alcohol Testing 
Procedures”). 

  CONTRACTOR will be required to cause its prospective safety-sensitive 
employees who may be assigned to perform safety-sensitive duties for NVTA to undergo 
pre- employment drug testing and make drug test result inquiries of prior DOT regulated 
employers. Safety sensitive employees shall also be subject to post-accident testing, 
reasonable suspicion testing, and random testing, and other tests as required by 49 CFR 
Part 655. 

  The CONTRACTOR must notify NVTA’s Project Manager/Contract Administrator 
immediately of any violation of the regulations or failure to test. Any employee of the 
CONTRACTOR found to have violated the drug and alcohol regulations is subject to 
removal from duties under the contract, depending on the facts and circumstances of the 
situation. 

  CONTRACTOR must fully cooperate with NVTA in such monitoring efforts, 
provide any requested documents or information, and comply with any corrective action 
that NVTA requires of CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR further agrees to annually certify 
its compliance with Part 655 by December 1st and to submit the Management Information 
Systems (MIS) reports before March 1st (for the prior calendar year) to NVTA. 

  CONTRACTOR agrees to submit within thirty (30) days of award of the contract 

(1) verification that its safety-sensitive employees are included as part of a random
testing pool; 

(2) a copy of CONTRACTOR’s substance abuse policy; and
(3) the name of its third party administrator, if applicable. Failure to submit such

documents within the prescribed time period, or failure to submit any other documentation 
relevant to the substance abuse testing requirements as required by NVTA, may result in 
the Agreement being terminated for default. 

SECTION 34 - WAIVER.  Any waiver of any breach or covenant of  this  Agreement 
must be in a writing executed by a duly authorized representative of the party waiving the 
breach. A waiver by any of the parties of a breach or covenant of this Agreement shall 
not be construed to be a waiver of any succeeding breach or any other covenant unless 
specifically and explicitly stated in such waiver. 

SECTION 35 - SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Agreement shall be 
deemed invalid or unenforceable, that provision shall be reformed and/or construed 
consistently with applicable law as nearly as possible to reflect the original intentions of 
this Agreement, and in any event, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 23 of 109

404



SECTION 36 - NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is not 
for the benefit of any person or entity other than the Parties.   

SECTION 37 - APPLICABLE LAW.  This Agreement, its interpretation and all  
work performed under it shall be governed by the laws of the State of California. The 
CONTRACTOR must comply with all federal, state, and local laws, rules, and 
regulations applicable to the Agreement and to the work to be done hereunder, 
including all rules and regulations of NVTA. 

SECTION 38 - RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF NVTA.  The rights and remedies of 
NVTA provided herein shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and 
remedies provided by law or under the Agreement. 

SECTION 39 - BINDING ON SUCCESSORS.  All of the terms, provisions, and 
conditions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their respective successors, assigns and legal representatives. 

SECTION 40 -  ENTIRE AGREEMENT;  MODIFICATION. The following form 
shall be used as the cover page to identify the complete agreement, including any 
attachments, to be signed by all parties: see next page 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 24 of 109

405



ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION 

This Agreement for Services, including any attachments, constitutes the complete 
Agreement between the parties and supersedes any prior written or oral communications. 
This Agreement may be modified or amended only by written instrument signed by both 
the CONTRACTOR and NVTA. In the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement and the attachments, the terms of this Agreement will prevail. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement by their 
duly authorized officers as of the Effective Date. 

NVTA CONTRACTOR 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority Transdev Services, Inc. 

By: By: 
KATE MILLER, Executive Director MIKE MURRAY, President/COO 

 Attest:   By: ____________________ 

By:______________________________ 
    LAURA SANDERLIN, Board Secretary 

Approved as to Form: 

By: 
DEEANNE GILLICK 

  Sloan Sakai Yeung & Woo 
      General Counsel 

Note: If the CONTRACTOR is a Corporation, this Agreement must be executed by two (2) Corporate Officers, 
consisting of: 

(1) The President, Vice President or Chair of the Board, and

(2) the Secretary, Assistant Secretary, Chief Financial Officer, Assistant Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, or
Assistant Treasurer.

In the alternative, this Agreement may be executed by a single Officer or a person other than an Officer provided that 
evidence satisfactory to NVTA is provided demonstrating that such individual is authorized to bind the Corporation (e.g. 
a copy of a certified resolution from the Corporation’s Board or a copy of the Corporation’s bylaws). 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 25 of 109

406



ATTACHMENT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

SERVICE  AREA COVERED 

Local Fixed Route Bus* Routes A-H: Primarily in the City of Napa (which may be wholly or 
partially replaced by stop to stop on demand services temporarily or 
permanently) 

Regional Commuter Express Bus 

Routes 10 & 11: Calistoga to San Francisco Ferry in Vallejo  
Routes 10X & 11X: Calistoga to San Francisco Ferry in 
Vallejo Limited Express 
Route 21: Fairfield and Suisun City  
Route 29: Service to El Cerrito Bart Station in Contra Costa County 

Complementary Paratransit  Local: Primarily in Napa County and to Kaiser Hospital in Vallejo 

On Demand  

American Canyon Transit  
St. Helena Shuttle  
Yountville Trolley  
Calistoga Shuttle  
Vine On Demand (City of Napa) 

Customer Service/Ticket Sales at 
Public Counters  

Soscol Gateway Transit Center  
625 Burnell Street, Napa, CA 94559 

Park and Rides 

Redwood Park and Ride (City of Napa)  
Yountville Park and Ride (Town of Yountville)  
American Canyon Park and Ride (City of American Canyon)  
Imola Park and Ride (In-Service by Summer 2021) 

Service and Area Covered - Continued 
Peripheral services and programs 
for seniors and elderly individuals 
and individuals with disabilities*  

Shared Vehicle Program (Storage and Maintenance Only (for five 
cut-away type vehicles – insurance and drivers are provided by 
NVTA and/or non-profit organization) 

*These services are not included in this RFP and are provided for information-only as they may reduce
demands on certain origin to destination services

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 26 of 109

407



  NVTA uses a web based on-time arrival and trip planning technologies (e.g. 
511.org and Google Transit, which reduces the burden on CONTRACTOR to provide trip
planning assistance to riders. NVTA’s video security systems on all
buses assist CONTRACTOR in addressing safety, security and customer service
issues.  It is crucial that video and security systems are maintained and working. NVTA
requires access to video footage at all times.

  NVTA has implemented a comprehensive Automatic Vehicle Locator (AVL) 
system to further assist with scheduled arrival time and communications, and is in the 
process of upgrading that system. The system includes engine monitoring and dwell 
times. NVTA  has a fully functioning automatic passenger counter (APC) system and uses 
other software to evaluate system performance and implement system efficiencies.  Vine 
buses are equipped with Wi-Fi.   

  NVTA assumes responsibility for managing the basic information technology (IT) 
infrastructure. CONTRACTOR is responsible for supplying and maintaining any systems 
that they may require for records/payroll/time reporting, etc. and the internet connection, 
and the phone system at NVTA’s operations and maintenance facility at 720 
Jackson Street, Napa, CA 94559, as well as the future new bus maintenance facility.   

  NVTA projected annual services hours (revenue + deadhead) can be found in 
Table 1 below.  These hours are estimates and may change due to service expansion or 
reduction. Service hours reflected in the chart below are not a contractual guarantee, only 
an estimate. Current service hours are reduced and some fixed routes have been 
suspended due to the COVID-19 pandemic and actual hours will depend on the pace of 
the recovery process. CONTRACTOR will be paid for actual hours performed not for 
estimates as stated below.  Service hours may vary by 20% and bids should hold constant 
hourly and fixed rates within that fluctuation. 

Table 1  Estimated Service Hours.

 Contract 
Year 

 Fiscal Year 
(FY) 

 Fixed 
Route* 

 ADA 
Paratransit* On Demand Total 

Year 1 FY 2021-22            74,600        12,030            26,000      112,630 
Year 2 FY 2022-23            82,600        13,030            29,500      125,130 
Year 3 FY 2023-24            82,600        13,030            29,500      125,130 
Year 4 FY 2024-25            82,600        13,030            29,500      125,130 
Year 5 FY 2025-26            82,600        13,030            29,500      125,130 
Year 6 FY 2026-27            82,600        13,030            29,500      125,130 
Year 7 FY 2027-28            82,600        13,030            29,500      125,130 

* Includes extended hours during Memorial Day weekend event.

. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 27 of 109

408



1.  List of Routes 
Local Vine Transit Routes 
• Route A: Browns Valley – North Napa 
• Route B: Westwood – South Napa 
• Route C: Jefferson Street – Central Napa 
• Route D: Shetler - Imola 
• Route E: Northwest Napa 
• Route F: Southwest Napa 
• Route G: Coombs – South Napa 
• Route H: North Napa 
• Route 10: Napa Valley College/ Calistoga 
• Route 11: Vallejo Ferry Terminal in Vallejo/ Redwood Park & Ride 

Commuter/Express Routes 
• Route 10X: Napa Valley College/ Calistoga  (limited stops) 
• Route 11X: Vallejo Ferry Terminal in Vallejo/ Redwood Park & Ride (limited  

stops) 
• Route 21: Soscol Gateway Transit Center/ Fairfield Transportation Center/ 

Suisun City Train Depot 
• Route 29: Calistoga/ Redwood Park & Ride/ Soscol Gateway Transit Center/ 

El Cerrito del Norte BART Station 

 
2.  Service Hours and Days 

  Depending on the specific route, service hours vary.  Service is generally available 
between the hours of 4:30 AM (earliest route) to 10:30 PM, Monday through Friday, 6:00 
AM through 10:30 PM on Saturday, and limited service on Sundays from 7:00 AM to 9:30 
PM on Regional Routes 10 and 11. All times listed are Pacfic Standard Time (PST) / local 
time.  

 
   Local fixed route service will operate on a Saturday schedule for the following days: 

President’s Day, Day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve (if day 
doesn’t fall on a Sunday), Martin Luther King Day, Columbus Day, and specific State or 
Federally recognized holidays.  

 
  Fixed route service does not operate on the following holidays: New Year’s Day, 

Memorial Day, Labor Day, Independence Day (July 4th), Thanksgiving Day, and 
Christmas Day. Additional holiday schedules are located at 
https://vinetransit.com/holidays/. ADA paratransit service shall mirror these hours and 
change accordingly with any new schedule.  

 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 28 of 109

409

https://vinetransit.com/holidays/


  As stated in the RFP, service hours are temporarily reduced due to COVID-19.  For 
instructions and further information on COVID-19 requirements see page ____.  

3. Routes and Service Area - Local Fixed Route Services
The Vine Transit generally operates a timed-transfer system of ten (10) regular and

various “limited service routes” on headways that typically vary between 30 to 60 minutes 
throughout the day. NVTA operates Monday through Friday, and provides limited service 
on Saturday and Sunday. The system also provides commuter express bus service 
between Vallejo, Fairfield and BART stations in El Cerrito, which operates on one (1) hour 
headways. (Note: bus service provided to the El Cerrito Del Norte BART station currently 
operates every half hour during peak hours, and less than hourly during non-peak.)  
Please see the current bus schedules on the website (www.VineTransit.com) for more 
information on NVTA’s services and schedules.  

NVTA’s fixed route system focuses on the central area of the City of Napa. A System 
Map for NVTA’s fixed route system, as well as service schedules, may be found online. 
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for ensuring that connections to neighboring 
services are met as well as ensuring that the revenue service it operates is per the 
published schedule in print and on the website; any deviations from the published 
schedule must be approved by NVTA in writing. 

4. Routes and Service Area - Regional Routes
Regional routes connecting communities in the county along the State Route 29

corridor, and to the neighboring communities of Fairfield, Suisun City and Vallejo. NVTA 
provides feeder service to BART (and other connecting systems) at the El Cerrito Del 
Norte BART station (Vine Route 29). The Vine connects to Fairfield and Vacaville systems 
at the Fairfield Transit Center and Amtrak/Capital Corridor at the Suisun Amtrak Station 
(Vine Route 21).  The Vine connects to the San Francisco Bay Ferry – Vallejo Ferry 
Terminal and Soltrans – Vallejo Transit Center (Vine Route 11).   

 CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for ensuring that connections to neighboring 
services are met.  CONTRACTOR shall be further responsible for ensuring that the 
revenue service it operates is per the published schedule in print and on the website; 
any deviations from the published schedule must be approved by NVTA in writing.  For 
COVID-19 current schedules, see Table 2:  Vine Transit Span of Services as of July 
2020.  The website is also updated (www.vinetransit.com) and has additional information 
about NVTA’s services and schedules.  

5. Routes and Service Area – Express Bus Service
Vine Transit currently offers two (2) routes with Express Bus Service:  Route 10X:

Napa Valley College/ Calistoga (limited stops); and Route 11X: Vallejo Ferry Terminal in 
Vallejo/ Redwood Park & Ride (limited stops). Express bus service is currently in 
operation with limited hours.  For COVID-19 current schedules, see Table 2:  Vine Transit 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 29 of 109

74

410

http://www.vinetransit.com/


Span of Services as of July 2020.  The website is also updated (www.vinetransit.com) 
and has additional information about NVTA’s services and schedules.   

6. On Demand Services
On Demand bus service offers local origin to destination shared ride service(s). Other

passengers will be picked-up and dropped-off along the way. This service is open to the 
public with no application necessary for use. Reservations are not required and trips are 
booked on demand by calling dispatch or using the TapRide Ride the Vine mobile 
application. On Demand also serves ADA eligible residents. ADA eligible riders requiring 
a trip will be placed on traditional paratransit in the event that the on demand service is 
not suitable. For COVID-19 current schedules, see Table 2:  Vine Transit Span of 
Services as of July 2020.  The website is also updated (www.vinetransit.com) and has 
additional information about NVTA’s services and schedules.  

a. Area of Coverage.  On Demand bus service operates in the four (4)
communities within the County of Napa outside the City of Napa. On Demand services 
are provided in the City of Calistoga, the City of St. Helena, the Town of Yountville, and 
the City of American Canyon. The City of St. Helena and the City of American Canyon 
also operate on a fixed route during school pick-up and drop-off times to help 
accommodate heavy student loads at these times. In the case of American Canyon and 
St. Helena a traditional fixed route vehicle is utilized during limited peak hours to provide 
sufficient room to students wishing to use transit. 

b. Days and Span of Service.  On Demand Transit service is generally
available. Other local shuttles have specific schedules for their On Demand services that 
Vine operates.  During the COVID-19 pandemic, all services have transitioned to On 
Demand or have limited schedule fixed route of Vine local fixed and Vine Regional 
routes.  If additional vehicles are warranted to expanded service during peak tourist 
season, CONTRACTOR will be given thirty (30) day notice. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 30 of 109

411

http://www.vinetransit.com/
http://www.vinetransit.com/


Table 2: Vine Transit Span of Services as of July 2020 

c. Ride the Vine App.  NVTA will provide Ride The Vine app or similar software for
use by the CONTRACTOR for operating On Demand services. 

7. Fare Collection
CONTRACTOR shall collect fares from all persons riding services provided under this

Contract in accordance with the fare structure established by NVTA.  NVTA reserves the 
right to amend the fare structure. Any changes to the fare structure shall be 
communicated to the CONTRACTOR in writing at least thirty (30) days in advance of their 
taking effect.  CONTRACTOR shall not deny access to any person paying a valid fare 
without specific permission by NVTA.  CONTRACTOR shall honor valid NVTA employee 
passes.  CONTRACTOR will not issue free passes or any other passes without prior 
approval of NVTA. 

All fares collected by CONTRACTOR shall be collected in fareboxes provided by 
NVTA.  CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for depositing fares in a secure vault daily 
to be collected by an armor services carrier at least weekly. NVTA has separately 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 31 of 109

412



contracted with an armored services carrier to provide secured transportation and 
processing of farebox revenues collected on revenue vehicles. 

CONTRACTOR shall ensure the appropriate security systems and procedures are in 
place to safeguard the fares and fare collection process.  Security systems shall include 
video monitoring and taping of probing (equipment and supporting IT infrastructure to be 
provided by NVTA), the transfer of the farebox cash vault to the receiver, the potential 
counting of money, as well as all other areas that may pose an opportunity for theft. NVTA 
shall have the right to accept, reject, or require changes to the security systems or 
procedures outlined by CONTRACTOR.  (Note: Deductions may be assessed for 
discrepancies.)  

NVTA will notify the CONTRACTOR of any promotion NVTA is conducting on a route.  
All “Free Ride/Discount” promotions shall be honored by the CONTRACTOR.  Samples 
of the associated promotional coupons will be provided to familiarize operators with them. 
The operator shall have the responsibility to verify that the “Free Ride/Discount” 
promotion presented is valid and has not expired.  Instructions will be provided for the 
counting of riders using the “Free Ride/Discount” promotions.  Since operators will be 
asked about NVTA activities, the information and related coupons shall be posted in a 
prominent location and/or circulated among the operators.  CONTRACTOR will be further 
required to remove any outdated postings of any information or promotional materials on 
buses and/or bus facilities, unless otherwise directed by NVTA. 

CONTRACTOR will facilitate use of mobile fare payment apps including, but not 
limited to, Hopthru and TokenTransit. 

NVTA reserves the right to observe or perform other checks that NVTA considers 
appropriate to determine the security and reporting accuracy of the fare collection 
procedure.   

8. Clipper Card
CONTRACTOR will facilitate participation in regional fare media coordination efforts,

including all universal tap card CLIPPER-related programs and activities. 
CONTRACTOR will ensure employees receive information about all such programs and 
are trained to assist customer’s efforts to identify and apply for appropriate programs, 
such as Clipper START and other discount fare programs.  CONTRACTOR will support 
NVTA efforts to institute any required technological or procedural changes needed to 
participate in regional fare collection programs. 

9. Pick-Up of On Demand Passengers
Drivers should strive to arrive at their pick-up destination in a timely manner.  Upon

arrival of the vehicle at the passenger’s pick-up point, the driver shall notify the passenger 
of their presence by a honk of the horn.  Passengers who reside in an assisted living 
facility or are to be picked-up at a medical facility must be at the curb.  Drivers will not go 
into facilities.  The driver shall wait no more than five (5) minutes to pick-up a passenger. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 32 of 109

413

https://mtc.ca.gov/our-work/plans-projects/other-plans/means-based-fare-discount-program#:%7E:text=Known%20as%20Clipper%20START%2C%20the,by%20submitting%20a%20paper%20application.


Should the passenger not appear during that time frame, the driver shall resume service 
and proceed to the next scheduled reservation or bus stop.  

 
Drivers shall assist Americans with Disabilities (ADA) passengers using on demand 

services whenever possible from the curb of their origin to the curb of their destination.  
CONTRACTOR shall use the highest reasonable degree of care in assisting 
passengers.  Assistance to ADA passengers shall, at a minimum, meet the 
requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act.  CONTRACTOR shall park as close 
and safely as possible to each passenger’s origin and destination, including entering 
parking lots when necessary.  

  
To create greater operational efficiency, NVTA uses its On Demand services in the 

communities of Calistoga, St. Helena, Yountville, and American Canyon as paratransit 
service for those communities. ADA trips originating and ending within those communities 
may be provided by the community shuttles and not traditional paratransit vehicles. In the 
case of a paratransit trip being scheduled in such a manner, all requirements for pick up 
and drop off as dictated by the ADA apply to that trip.  

 
10. Complementary ADA Para Transit Service 

a. Description of Services - Vine Go.  Vine Go ADA paratransit bus service is 
available to qualified, certified persons with disabilities unable to board a regular Vine 
Transit fixed route bus, access a Vine Transit bus stop, or otherwise navigate the regular 
fixed route bus system due to a disabling condition as defined by the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA).  Vine Go Paratransit provides service parallel to the fixed route 
system, operating the same hours and days. 

 
Note that ADA assessments are completed through a separate contractor, and there 

may be times when the assessment contractor may need to coordinate with the selected 
CONTRACTOR of this RFP.  

 
b. Area of Coverage.  Vine Go’s Paratransit service is operated within three-

quarters (¾) of a mile from a fixed route trip.  Trips continuing outside of the Vine Transit 
service areas to cities are to be coordinated with the adjacent city’s paratransit service if 
such a connection falls within the service parameters. 

 
c. Service Requirements.  Vine Go paratransit bus service is available to qualified 

certified persons with disabilities unable to board a regular Vine Transit fixed route bus, 
access a Vine Transit bus stop, or otherwise navigate the regular fixed route bus system 
due to a disabling condition as defined by ADA does not include disabilities that only make 
use of accessible transit service difficult or inconvenient. Vine Go paratransit provides 
service parallel to the fixed route system, operating the same hours and days. Vine Go 
passengers are able to schedule trips up to seven (7) days in advance. Same day 
reservations may be accepted depending upon available capacity  

 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 33 of 109

414



d. Service Days & Hours. ADA paratransit service hours shall be consistent with
fixed-route service schedule availability and change accordingly with new schedules. To 
view current paratransit schedules, see Table 2: Vine Transit Span of Services as of July 
2020.  

e. Eligibility.  Certification for ADA customers is conducted by CARE Evaluators,
which is a third party contracted by NVTA. Eligible individuals are entered into the regional 
database. 

f. Trapeze Pass.  If the CONTRACTOR does not already use a dispatching
software, NVTA will provide a Trapeze PASS or similar dispatching system for use in 
operating ADA paratransit services. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible at their cost for 
obtaining the appropriate licensing and training for the use of the software.   

g. Pick-Up of ADA Paratransit Passengers.  CONTRACTOR shall arrive at the
appointed passenger pick-up time but under no circumstance no more than fifteen (15) 
minutes after the appointed pick-up time. If in the case the CONTRACTOR arrives early, 
they shall wait until the designated pick-up time, if contact is made with the passenger in 
this time frame no requirement shall be made by the CONTRACTOR for the passenger 
to leave before their scheduled pick-up time. If the CONTRACTOR arrives early and the 
passengers wishes to leave early the CONTRACTOR shall accommodate the passenger 
if it is reasonable.  

Passengers picked up later than fifteen (15) minutes will be considered “late” and 
CONTRACTOR will be subject to an assessed deduction. CONTRACTOR shall notify 
passengers by telephone whenever possible if the vehicle scheduled to pick them up is 
expected to arrive at the appointed pick-up location more than fifteen (15) minutes later 
than the appointed time.   

Upon arrival of the vehicle at the passenger’s pick-up point, the driver shall notify 
the passenger of their presence by a honk of the horn.  Passengers who reside in an 
assisted living facility or are to be picked-up at a medical facility must be at the curb. 
Drivers will not go into facilities.  The driver shall wait no more than five (5) minutes to 
pick-up a passenger after their scheduled pickup time.   

Should the passenger not appear during that time frame and no contact has been 
made with the passenger, the driver shall resume service and proceed to the next 
scheduled reservation or bus stop.  The missed pick-up shall be considered a “no-show” 
and the procedures for no-show shall be followed. In the case of large facilities with 
multiple exits and entrances, CONTRACTOR shall confirm with passengers where they 
wish to be dropped off and picked-up. In the case that a driver will not be performing the 
return trip for a passenger they shall relay the exact pick-up location to dispatch to forward 
to the next driver.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 34 of 109

415



The CONTRACTOR shall make every possible attempt to notify riders whose 
pick-up and/or drop-off time has been unilaterally changed by the CONTRACTOR for 
any reason. Riders who are not notified of a scheduled change shall not be counted as 
a “no-show” if they miss the ride.  

      The CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all operators report all pick-ups and no shows 
to dispatch as they occur.  This can be done through the MDT’s, however, if an MDT is 
not operational for any reason, the operator must contact dispatch via a land line or any 
other means available.  In addition, operators shall inform dispatch whenever a 
passenger fails to pay their appropriate fare for the trip.  
Drivers shall assist passengers whenever possible from the curb of their origin to the 
curb of their destination.  CONTRACTOR shall use the highest reasonable degree of 
care in assisting passengers.  Assistance to passengers shall, at a minimum, meet the 
requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act.   

The CONTRACTOR shall park as close as safely possible to each passenger’s 
origin and destination, including entering parking lots as necessary.   

h. Reservation/Scheduling.  CONTRACTOR shall perform reservations and
scheduling of Paratransit trips as follows: 

• Reservations are required and may be made up to seven (7) days in
advance by calling the ride reservation line. Passengers will be ensured a
negotiated ready time and confirmation for each trip scheduled.
Passengers may call the requested trip any day between 8:00 AM and 5:00
PM to make a reservation.  Reservationists may negotiate with ADA
passengers a pick- up time from one (1) hour before or one (1) hour after
their requested time.

• CONTRACTOR shall use Trapeze PASS software (or replacement
software) to schedule rides.

• The CONTRACTORS communications and scheduling staff must be
trained to proficiency and scheduled to process the volume of incoming
telephone requests for ADA services, accurately enter the required
passenger trip information, monitor on time adherence, and appropriately
dispatch vehicles. CONTRACTOR dispatch and scheduling personnel must
be knowledgeable in all aspects of NVTA’s ADA operations

• CONTRACTOR shall have sufficient reservationists are on duty at all times
to ensure that telephone “wait” or “on hold” time(s) do not exceed three (3)
minutes on ninety five percent (95%) of all calls, and do not exceed five (5)
minutes on ninety nine percent (99%) of all calls.

11. Shared Vehicle Program
NVTA operates a non-revenue service “Shared Vehicle Program”. This program

allows social service agencies to borrow designated vehicles in NVTA’s fleet for the use 
of transporting their clients. The CONTRACTOR shall provide training for individuals 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 35 of 109

416



wishing to participate in this program. The hours for this training will be charged back to 
NVTA on a separate invoice. The maintenance of these vehicles will be a requirement 
of the CONTRACTOR, fueling will be incumbent upon the organization borrowing the 
vehicle. Upon the vehicles return the CONTRACTOR shall verify the vehicle is refueled 
and the corresponding vehicle check sheet and trip stat sheet are completed.   

12. Other Services or Special Assignments
a. Additional Service and Special Events.  NVTA may elect to add additional

hours for special events where increased public transit is needed. The CONTRACTOR 
shall furnish drivers and staff to provide such service.  These services include but are not 
limited to: 

• Extended services during tourist events (specifically Memorial Weekend
Bottlerock Event)

• Holiday parades (Independence Day, December Holiday, Calistoga Tractor
Parade)

• Governmental and transportation-related tours
• Other events as requested

b. Emergency Response and Mutual Aid.  NVTA may be called upon for
emergency operation services in the event of a disaster.  Also NVTA is a party to the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission’s mutual aid agreement.   NVTA could be called 
upon to provide vehicles, drivers, and other manner of support to the areas affected within 
the County or the larger San Francisco Bay Area. The CONTRACTOR should be able to 
furnish staff and capital needs to affected areas as directed by the NVTA and Napa 
County’s Emergency Operations personnel.   

c. Procurement of Equipment or Additional Services.  Should there be a need
to purchase any additional capital assets, those that cost over $10,000 will be purchased 
by NVTA.  Anything below this amount will be the responsibility of the CONTRATOR.  

    Should there be a need to provide for additional services, the CONTRACTOR 
may subcontract out work, with the approval of NVTA.  This subcontracted work may be 
leveraged to meet DBE goals.  

Vehicle Fleet and Matrix 

     The Vine Transit fleet currently consist of 75 revenue service vehicles - 45 fixed route 
vehicles of various sizes, thirty (30) paratransit vehicles of various sizes.  The Agency 
has five (5) 30’ BYD battery electric buses and two (2) 35’ Proterra battery electric buses 
on order for delivery in late 2021 and 2022 respectively coinciding with the opening of the 
new transit facility. 

     Vine Transit also maintains three (3) non-revenue service vehicles as part of the 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 36 of 109

417



shared vehicle program.  Table 3 provides information of each vehicle in the fleet, 
included on the next page. 

Note: NVTA does not provide any (including supervisor and non-revenue) support 
vehicles to CONTRACTOR.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 37 of 109

418



Table 3: Vehicle Matrix as of June 2020 

Veh-
icle

Bus ID Year Built New or 
Used? 

Useful 
Life

Replace 
Year

Make/Model Fuel Type Fixed Route/ 
Partransit

Seated Capacity Standing 
Capacity

Lifetime 
Mileage as of 

6/30/20
Length

1 133 2003 Used 1 2020 Gillig/Phantom Diesel FIXED RT 44-no lift 18 478,781      40'
2 134 2003 Used 1 2020 Gillig/Phantom Diesel FIXED RT 44-no lift 18 459,630      40'
3 135 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 40' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 31 or 27+2 28 206,707      40'
4 136 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 40' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 31 or 27+2 28 375,995      40'
5 137 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 40' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 31 or 27+2 28 368,389      40'
6 138 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 40' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 31 or 27+2 28 329,148      40'
7 139 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 295,660      35'
8 140 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 318,272      35'
9 141 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 289,457      35'

10 142 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 306,261      35'
11 143 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 280,720      35'
12 144 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' Diesel Diesel FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 302,801      35'
21 162 2011 New 7 2018 Chevy ARBOC 28' Unleaded FIXED RT 21/2WC 8 206,985      28'
23 164 2011 New 7 2018 Chevy ARBOC 28' Unleaded FIXED RT 21/2WC 8 146,239      28'
24 165 2011 New 7 2018 Chevy ARBOC 28' Unleaded FIXED RT 21/2WC 8 199,523      28'
25 166 2012 New 7 2019 Chevy ARBOC 28' Unleaded FIXED RT 21/2WC 8 203,424      28'
26 167 2012 New 7 2019 Chevy ARBOC 28' Unleaded FIXED RT 21/2WC 8 171,964      28'
27 168 2012 New 7 2019 Chevy ARBOC 28' Unleaded FIXED RT 21/2WC 8 140,724      28'
28 200 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' CNG CNG FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 201,121      35'
29 201 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' CNG CNG FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 202,993      35'
30 202 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' CNG CNG FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 188,621      35'
31 203 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' CNG CNG FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 203,332      35'
32 204 2013 New 12 2025 El Dorado 35' CNG CNG FIXED RT 32 or 24+2 22 203,593      35'
33 250 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 40' Diesel FIXED RT 36 or 30+2 22 165,263 40'
34 251 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 40' Diesel FIXED RT 36 or 30+2 22 135,522 40'
35 252 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 40' Diesel FIXED RT 36 or 30+2 22 164722 40'
36 253 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 40' Diesel FIXED RT 36 or 30+2 22 163,707 40'
37 254 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 40' Diesel FIXED RT 36 or 30+2 22 160718 40'
38 255 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 35' Diesel FIXED RT 29 or 23+2 22 162,393 35'
39 256 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 35' Diesel FIXED RT 29 or 23+2 22 159291 35'
40 257 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 40' Diesel COMMUTER 31 or 27+2 28 93,166 40'
41 258 2016 New 12 2028 El Dorado 40' Diesel COMMUTER 31 or 27+2 28 95,020       40'
42 1702 2002 Used 5 2007 Gillig/Phantom Diesel FIXED RT 40'
43 1703 2002 Used 5 2007 Gillig/Phantom Diesel FIXED RT 40'
44 1704 2002 Used 5 2007 Gillig/Phantom Diesel FIXED RT 40'
45 1705 2002 Used 5 2007 Gillig/Phantom Diesel FIXED RT 40'
46 656 2020 New 7 2027 Glaval Bus Unleaded Paratransit 28'
47 657 2020 New 7 2027 Glaval Bus Unleaded Paratransit 28'
48 658 2020 New 7 2027 Glaval Bus Unleaded Paratransit 28'
49 659 2020 New 7 2027 Glaval Bus Unleaded Paratransit 28'
50 2021 On Order 12 2033 BYD Electric FIXED RT 30'
51 2021 On Order 12 2033 BYD Electric FIXED RT 30'
52 2021 On Order 12 2033 BYD Electric FIXED RT 30'
53 2021 On Order 12 2033 BYD Electric FIXED RT 30'
54 2021 On Order 12 2033 BYD Electric FIXED RT 30'
55 2022 On Order 12 2034 Proterra Electric FIXED RT 35'
56 2022 On Order 12 2034 Proterra Electric FIXED RT 35'
1 634 2007 New 7 2014 Ford Econo Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 4+3 152,147      23'
2 635 2007 New 7 2014 Ford Econo Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 4+3 175,057      23'
3 636 2008 New 7 2015 FORD Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 4+3 138,947      23'
4 637 2008 New 7 2015 FORD/STARCRAFT Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 4+3 92,973       23'
5 638 2011 New 7 2018 FORD Aerotech Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 98,763       23'
6 639 2011 New 7 2018 FORD Aerotech Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 94,403       23'
7 640 2011 New 7 2018 FORD Aerotech Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 107,789      23'
8 645 2012 New 7 2019 FORD Aerotech Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 90,569       23'
9 646 2012 New 7 2019 FORD Aerotech Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 86,415       23'

10 647 2012 New 7 2019 FORD Aerotech Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 91,837       23'
11 648 2014 New 7 2021 Ford Glaval Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 47,798       23'
12 649 2014 New 7 2021 Ford Glaval Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 45,700       23'
13 650 2014 New 7 2021 Ford Glaval Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 41,303       23'
14 653 2016 New 7 2023 Ford Starcraft Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 24358 22'
15 654 2016 New 7 2023 Ford Starcraft Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 24711 22'
16 655 2016 New 7 2023 Ford Starcraft Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 2+5 22390 22'

Vehicle Matrix as of June 2020

V
in

e 
Tr

an
si

t V
eh

ic
le

s 
V

in
e 

G
o 

(A
D

A
) P

ar
at

ra
ns

it 
V

eh
ic

le
s

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 38 of 109

419



Continued 
 

 
 
 

Description of NVTA Maintained Facilities 
 
 
1. Current Maintenance Yard    

NVTA shall provide the operations and maintenance base for the transit service. The 
current yard is located at 720 Jackson Street, Napa, CA 94559. CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for all aspects of maintenance and upkeep of the provided facility with the 
exception of major repairs such as roof, HVAC system, and structure issues.  
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for CONTRACTOR owned and operated 
technology, such as the telephone system, basic Information Technology (IT) 
infrastructure (i.e. servers, switches and routers) along with the internet connection 
coming into the facility for the CONTRACTOR network.   

 
Utilities shall be provided by CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR shall be responsible 

for the internet connection coming into the facility for CONTRACTOR network. 
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for utility costs, including water, sewer, hazard 
materials disposal, telephone, internet service, electricity, and for the internet connection 
coming into the facility for CONTRACTOR network.  See Section 6 for more details.  

 
CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all OSHA requirements are met, or exceeded. The 

facility shall be kept neat, clean, and organized at all times. NVTA will perform periodic, 
announced, inspections of the yard to ensure a pleasant working environment is 
maintained at all times.  

 
 
 

Veh-
icle

Bus ID Year Built New or 
Used? 

Useful 
Life

Make/Model Fuel Type Fixed Route/ 
Partransit

Seated Capacity Standing 
Capacity

Lifetime 
Mileage as of 

6/30/20
Length

Yountville Trolley
25 403 2000 New 12 Supreme/Trly DIESEL Paratransit 24 or 20+2 198,938      33'
26 404 2012 New 12 Hometown/Trly Unleaded Paratransit 27 or 22+2 74,589       31'

Calistoga Shuttle
27 643 2011 New 7 El Dorado Aerolight Unleaded Paratransit 11 or 9+1 91,840       21'
28 644 2011 New 7 El Dorado Aerolight Unleaded Paratransit 11 or 9+1 88,687       21'

American Canyon Transit
29 651 2014 New 7 Ford/Glaval Uleaded Paratransit 16+2 23,168       23'
30 652 2014 New 7 Ford/Glaval Uleaded Paratransit 16+2 27,420       23'

St Helena Shuttle
31 641 2011 New 7 El Dorado Aerolight Unleaded Paratransit 11 or 9+1 54,430       21'
32 642 2011 New 7 El Dorado Aerolight Unleaded Paratransit 11 or 9+1 49,964       21'

33 628 2004 Used 0 Ford Aerotech Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 4+3 252,085      23'

34 632 2007 Used 0 Ford Econo Unleaded Paratransit 12 or 4+3 155,000 23'

35 633 2007 Used 0 Ford Econo Unleaded Paratransit 18 or 13+2 149,489 23'

C
om

m
un

ity
 S

hu
ttl

es
Sh

ar
ed

 
Ve

hi
cl

es

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 39 of 109

420



The 2-acre yard consists of: 
• Vehicle parking and staging areas
• Vehicle maintenance area
• Farebox vaulting and probing
• Administrative offices
• Training room
• Driver staging area
• Dispatching and customer service center
• minor landscaping

2. Future Maintenance Facility
NVTA is aware that the current maintenance facility at 720 Jackson is inadequate to

meet current and future needs of the transit operations and will be replaced by the new 
facility near the Napa Airport on Sheehy Court.  NVTA has acquired two (2) parcels of 
land at 96 and 101 Sheehy Ct. to house the new maintenance facility in an effort to 
increase capacity and efficiency.   

NVTA plans to start construction before the end of calendar year 2020 with an in-
service date estimated by summer 2022. NVTA will provide the office infrastructure and 
capability for telephone, internet, and some information technology for the new facility. 
NVTA will also provide the telephone system and computer devices needed to operate 
servers and systems for vehicle and facility and equipment operations, including dispatch 
telephone systems.   

CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for all desktop and systems to maintain 
CONTRACTOR-related administration, payroll, run cuts, etc.   CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for all other aspects of operations, maintenance, utilities (including internet 
service), and routine maintenance of the provided facility with the exception of major 
repairs on major structures and systems.  An amendment to the services contract will 
likely be necessary as the cost structure for maintaining and operating a new facility is 
known. 

Because the facility has not been built yet, utility costs are not yet available. Utility 
cost estimates are listed below.  Based on design and the estimated usage of the facility, 
these are estimated costs. Actual costs may vary.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 40 of 109

421



Table 4:  Utilities to be paid by NVTA, charged back to CONTRACTOR 

Table 5:  Utilities to be paid by CONTRACTOR directly to service provider 

  Table 6: Utilities that NVTA pays directly to service provider

When completed, the new bus maintenance facility will include six (6) bays, bus 
parking for over 90 buses of various sizes and 75 passenger cars (DKS Traffic Impact 
Study, August 2016), solar panels, and electric bus charging stations to create net-zero 
energy consumption, a modern bus wash, as well as parking for employees and visitors. 
The facility is planned to operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and buses will be 
primarily operational between the hours of 5:00 AM and 8:00 PM, with two (2) routes that 
operate beyond 9:00 PM, returning to the yard between 10:00 PM and 11:00 PM.  All 
times listed are Pacific Standard Time (PST)/local time.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 41 of 109

422



The new facility has been designed to provide back-up power that is capable of 
maintaining essential services for 72 hours using a 141kW photovoltaic power generation 
system. Facility will comply with Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and California 
Building Code (CBC) standards. A new facility will meet the needs of existing operations 
and allow for projected growth for the next 40+ years. The design and pre-construction 
work has been completed. 

The new facility’s operations and administration building will serve as a driver training 
facility and regional emergency operations space. This is essential given the recent 
evacuations performed by the Vine bus fleet during the October 2017 wildfires. 

The new facility is designed to be turn-key ready. The design and specifications are 
included in Appendix II. The resulting contract with the selected CONTRACTOR will 
include lease-type provisions to ensure that proper measures are taken when using the 
space.  

3. Soscal Gateway Transit Center
Located at 625 Burnell Street, Napa, CA 94559, the Soscol Gateway Center houses

the ticket office, main bus corral, and NVTA offices. CONTRACTOR is responsible for 
maintaining the bus shelters, ticket office area, driver break room, breezeway, and bus 
corral.  NVTA is responsible for landscaping, bike lockers, parking lot, and for maintaining 
the Soscol Transit Center building, with the exception of the ticket office.  

4. Redwood Park and Ride, Napa
CONTRACTOR will be expected to maintain the passenger waiting areas, bus

shelters, parking lot, and sidewalk areas within the Park and Ride facility. 

5. Yountville Park and Ride, Yountville
CONTRACTOR will be expected to maintain the passenger waiting areas, parking

lot and sidewalk areas within the Park and Ride. 

6. Imola Park and Ride - In Service Date of Summer 2021
CONTRACTOR will be responsible for maintaining the new facility that will be

constructed adjacent to SR 29 on Imola Avenue (SR 121).  Imola Park and Ride is 
expected to be in service by July 2021 and will include two (2) bus shelters on the freeway 
ramps, dedicated vehicle parking, lighting, bike storage, signage, sidewalks, waiting area 
with lighting, real-time transit information, wayfinding, seating, Wi-Fi, real-time transit 
information, and new bus platforms on the northbound and southbound ramps of State 
Route 29.    

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 42 of 109

423



Bus Stops 

1. Standard, Benches, and Shelters
Garbage receptacles have been removed at all stops except facilities.

CONTRACTOR is responsible for providing bus shelter and bus stop maintenance 
throughout NVTA’s service area. This service, while part of the maintenance function, 
shall be priced separately on the pricing form. This maintenance shall include:   

• Insertion of customized route and stop information in the display windows of all
NVTA’s shelters, exchange and update with new information and schedules as
necessary,

• General cleaning including, but not limited to, graffiti removal, glass and bench
cleaning, removal of foreign substances, and sweeping shelter interior and
sidewalk adjacent to the shelter,

• NVTA’s twenty (20) high capacity, high profile shelter locations will be cleaned
at least three (3) times a week.

• NVTA’s remaining shelters, forty-two (42) at present, will receive general
cleaning once a week at a minimum. These may be cleaned more frequently
depending upon the need. The Soscol Gateway Transit Center requires daily
general cleaning, and complete detailing as required for maintaining
cleanliness, safety and a respectable image, (spaces specifically occupied by
NVTA staff are not included). The three (3) park and ride sites: 1) Redwood at
Redwood Road and Solano in Napa, Park and Ride at Solano and California in
Yountville, and future Imola Park and Ride.

• Stops with benches and shelters cleaned as needed (trash removal and
pressure washed when needed).

• Perform other minor repairs as required.
• Dismantle, move and erect bus stop poles and signs as required.
• Bus shelters will be power washed according to cleaning schedule.
• General maintenance of bus stop signs and poles, including the removal of

debris daily.  At present, NVTA has approximately additional 300 stop locations
without shelters.

• Twice yearly pressure washing (unless specific required) of all stops using
approved water recovery procedures, or as required by NVTA to ensure proper
cleanliness and safety at each bus stop location. CONTRACTOR may be
required by NVTA to pressure wash more regularly at high visibility and/or high
capacity bus stops.

• CONTRACTOR shall provide all cleaning supplies and cleaning equipment
required.  NVTA shall provide materials including bus stop signs, shelters or
shelter parts, trash containers, or other items to the CONTRACTOR to fulfill the
stop and shelter maintenance obligation.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 43 of 109

424



Responsibility of NVTA 

NVTA is responsible for the tasks, assets, and services included in this section. 

1. Management/Administrative Oversight

• Marketing and public outreach.
• Development and printing of schedules and outreach/informational materials.
• Development and printing of fare media.
• Development and printing of NVTA and Vine Transit logos/decals/signage.
• Advertising and marketing materials on buses and facilities.
• Americans with Disability Act eligibility.

2. Planning

• Service planning and route design.
• Long and short range operating and capital planning (including fleet plans.)
• Provision of shared vehicles.

3. Maintenance and Equipment

• Construction and non-routine maintenance of all facilities, provision of
heavy equipment and heavy-duty tools (excess of $10,000), including lifts,
bus washer, dynameters, paint booth, etc.

• Replacement of GFI farebox equipment and Clipper ™ fare media
equipment.

• Fuel for revenue-generating vehicles.
• Bus stop, shelter, and park and ride equipment
• Office furniture and equipment.

4. Technology

• Computer aided dispatch and automatic vehicle locator (and peripheral
system such as on board annunciator, messaging signs, systems
monitoring).

• ITS infrastructure and storage for owned systems.
• Some internet and Wi-Fi services for dedicated technologies (CONTRACTOR

to provide dedicated internet service to facility).
• Facility and onboard security systems.
• Radio communications system for operations staff.
• Point of sale (POS) system.
• At the future maintenance facility, NVTA will have APC/CAD-AVL phone

system at new facilities, camera systems,

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 44 of 109

425



5. Amenities
NVTA shall be responsible for providing passenger amenities, signage, and related

components necessary for maintenance efforts. 

6. Liability Insurance for Shared Vehicles
Liability insurance coverage of Shared Vehicles will be the responsibility of the
NVTA.

7. Utilities
NVTA pays for the following utilities directly:

• Transit
o Internet and Wi-Fi on buses

 At the current maintenance facility 
o T1 Lines for Internet
o Water (charged back)
o Waste (charged back)
o Gas and/or Electricity (charged back)
o Sewer (charged back)

 At the future new maintenance facility 

• Transit
o Internet and Wi-Fi on buses

• At the current maintenance facility
o T1 Lines for Internet
o Water (charge back to CONTRACTOR)
o Waste (charge back to CONTRACTOR)
o Gas and/or Electricity (charge back to CONTRACTOR)
o Sewer (charge back to CONTRACTOR)

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 45 of 109

426



Responsibility of CONTRACTOR 

1. Bus Operators (Drivers and Supervisors)
CONTRACTOR shall be entirely responsible for the employment and supervision of

operators necessary to perform system operations functions.  Such responsibilities shall 
include, although not necessarily limited to:  

• Operator recruitment
• Onboarding
• Screening
• Selection
• Training
• Supervision
• Proper licensing
• Employee relations
• Evaluation
• Discipline
• Retraining
• Termination

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 46 of 109

427



    Minimum Qualifications  
 

As a part of operator recruitment, operator must:  
 
• Be at least 21 years of age.  
• Have a minimum of three (3) years licensed driving experience.  
• Have no more than three (3) moving violations or accidents within the 

immediately preceding three-year period.  
• Have no convictions for misdemeanor or felony driving under the influence 

(DUI) or no failures to appear.  
• Have never been convicted of a violent crime, or a crime of moral turpitude.  
• Must be eligible to work in the United States.   
• Have a high school diploma or equivalent.  
• CONTRACTOR shall procure background checks before hiring any operator.  

The contents and source of the background check must be approved in 
advance by NVTA.  

• Each operator must hold, and at all times maintain, the proper valid licenses 
and certifications required by the DMV, CHP, State and Federal regulating 
agencies to operate a transit vehicle in revenue or non-revenue service.  
Licenses and certifications shall include, but not be limited to the following:  a 
valid Class B-P (endorsed for air brakes and passenger transport) driver’s 
license issued by the State of California, a DMV Medical Examiner’s Certificate, 
and VTT.  CONTRACTOR shall screen the California Division of Motor Vehicle 
Record (DMV Record) of each prospective operator.   

• CONTRACTOR shall conduct background checks in accordance with 
applicable law, including California Labor Code 432.7, and shall review the 
criminal history of each application for the position of operator and shall reject 
any applicant with any felony conviction.  Exceptions may be submitted in 
writing to NVTA for approval.  Criminal history check must include all places of 
residence noted on the application.  

• All operators must be able to read and speak the English language sufficiently 
to, at minimum, converse with the general public, provide instructions in the 
event of an emergency, understand highway traffic signs and signals, 
understand street signs and maps, understand routes, schedules and detour 
notices, respond to dispatch, and fill out incident and accident reports, run 
sheets, and any other document or report requested or required by law.  

 
    Operator Appearance   
 
    Prior to the first day of service, CONTRACTOR shall set up a committee consisting of 
a NVTA representative, operators, and CONTRACTOR management.  This committee 
shall develop a uniform standard.  CONTRACTOR shall provide an identification badge 
for each employee.  Badges shall be worn at all times employees are performing any 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 47 of 109

428



work provided under this contract.  NVTA reserves the right to change its operator 
uniform.  The CONTRACTOR will be advised of any changes at least 60 days before 
implementation.    

      Road Supervision 

The CONTRACTOR shall have road supervisors in the field, covering the 
CONTRACTOR’s services at all times that there is a revenue vehicle in operation.  At a 
minimum, CONTRACTOR shall have one (1) Road Supervisor for every twenty-five (25) 
operators on the road at any one time. At a minimum, CONTRACTOR shall have one (1) 
Road Supervisor for the Paratransit Service. Road Supervisors shall be in numbers 
sufficient to respond to any incident/accident within a maximum of 20 minutes of the call 
during revenue operating hours.    

Road supervisors are responsible for managing and directing the activities of the 
vehicle operators including on-time performance, maintenance and lift problems, fare 
issues, farebox problems, accident investigation, assistance in disputes/incidents, 
determining and working with detours for the CONTRACTORS routes.  Road Supervisors 
must be available to transport passengers in the event of a breakdown, etc. 
CONTRACTOR shall provide Road Supervisors with a separate, independent radio 
communications system.  Cell phones are permissible.    

2. Emergency Operations
CONTRACTOR shall be aware and make its employees aware that NVTA is an

agency is a first responder that participates in emergency response actions. Although 
NVTA expects all reasonable cooperation in the course of any emergencies or emergency 
response operations, CONTRACTOR employees are not considered Disaster Service 
Workers under California law. During all hours of operation, the CONTRACTOR shall 
have one manager or other supervisory employee on duty and designated as having 
immediate authority over all current operations. The identity of that employee must be 
communicated to all other on-duty employees for that shift, and to NVTA.  

3. Bus, Vehicle, and Equipment Maintenance
The CONTRACTOR will, at its sole expense, be required to maintain all buses and

sub-components in first-class condition.  The CONTRACTOR shall strictly adhere to the 
vehicle manufacturer’s recommended maintenance practices, or NVTA’s established 
practice, whichever is greater.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 48 of 109

429



    State of Good Repair  

A state of good repair preventive maintenance program of all revenue service 
equipment, which meets or exceeds NVTA’s Preventive Maintenance Program, is 
required under this contract.  The CONTRACTOR shall also perform monthly safety 
inspections and record all defects found and the date the defects were corrected. 
Deferring bus maintenance is strictly prohibited and is grounds for contract termination.   

In addition, the CONTRACTOR shall perform such procedures on buses as required 
by Title 13, California Administrative Code, as such provisions currently exist, or hereafter 
amended or superseded. The CONTRACTOR shall comply with all California Highway 
Patrol Motor Carrier Safety Regulations pertaining to inspections.  The CONTRACTOR 
shall notify NVTA’s designee prior to or at first knowledge of all inspections performed by 
the CHP, or any other inspections performed by any other governmental/other agencies, 
and transmit results of said inspections to NVTA. 

The CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all applicable certifications are displayed on all 
buses. 

The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for completing all repairs to all buses required 
to keep them in proper working condition.  The CONTRACTORS obligation to repair will 
include, but not be limited to, all work on and/or replacement of body and paint, power 
train, undercarriage, interior, air conditioning, wheelchair lift, farebox, etc.  Work shall 
occur prior to placing vehicle back in service.  CONTRACTOR may be assessed a 
deduction for not taking corrective action in a timely manner. 

The CONTRACTOR is expected to adhere to the vehicle manufacturers’ 
recommendations in providing these services. A Vehicle Maintenance Plan will be 
developed documenting the manufacturers’ recommendations in the form of Preventative 
Maintenance Inspection sheets.  

• The Fixed Route Fleet operates approximately 1,763,400 total miles annually.
• The Paratransit Fleet operates approximately 175,500 total miles annually.
• The On Demand Fleet operates approximately 147,900 total miles annually.

The CONTRACTOR is responsible for assuring the quick and complete repair of all 
buses and for maintaining a twenty percent (20%) spare ratio of active fleets to the 
number of vehicles required for peak service demands. 

 Preventative Maintenance 

All preventive maintenance (PM) shall be performed at regularly scheduled intervals 
using state of good repair principles as indicated in the preventive maintenance program 
intervals.  All preventive maintenance must be performed within 10% of NVTA’s indicated 
interval, or lacking a NVTA interval, the manufacturer’s recommended interval.  Lack of 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 49 of 109

430



required preventive maintenance by the CONTRACTOR may result in assessed 
deductions and/or further contractual action.    

It shall be the responsibility of the CONTRACTOR to maintain change out records for 
all components.  This includes warranty repairs/replacements.  These records are the 
responsibility of the CONTRACTOR whether work is performed internally or through 
outside vendors.  

The CONTRACTOR shall be required to comply with the California Air Resources 
Board (CARB) Fleet Rule, Federal, State, and Local exhaust emission requirements.   

      Fueling 

CONTRACTOR shall safely store and furnish lubricants and coolant for the operation 
of the buses.  The fuel will be furnished by NVTA.  The fuel used shall be ultra-low sulfur 
fuel only for diesel vehicles. Other specified fuels for alternative fuel vehicles will be 
specified as required.  NVTA currently owns five (5) compressed natural gas (CNG) 
vehicles and has issued orders for five (5) battery electric vehicles.  

CONTRACTOR will maintain a fuel, oil, and mileage log for each vehicle in The 
Reporting Solution.    

CONTRACTOR shall furnish lubricants as required to meet or exceed the specification 
established by NVTA.  NVTA reserves the right to alter specifications at its discretion 
consistent with those changes made to NVTA’s fleet.  

      Cleaning 

CONTRACTOR is required to maintain the inside and outside appearance of buses 
in a neat, safe, and in operable condition.  Such cleaning will include removal of all dirt, 
debris, and graffiti.  CONTRACTOR will promptly repair or replace any broken, cut, worn, 
torn or vandalized components of the buses to eliminate hazards and unsightliness, and 
to minimize passenger discomfort.    

Daily, all vehicles utilized in revenue service shall be cleaned, including washing and 
scrubbing of the full exterior, wheels, fuel-fill area, inside of all windows, scrubbing of oil 
or other excessive residue off the rear end, dusting or vacuuming of all seats, dashboard, 
stanchions and exposed services, and sweeping or vacuuming of all floor areas, including 
the removal of gum, grease, oil, etc.  

Bus exteriors must always be maintained, specifically paint and body work, for an 
aesthetically pleasing appearance.  The CONTRACTOR is responsible for using only 
quality grade of soaps and cleaning solvents that will not damage the exterior or interior 
surfaces of the buses including advertisements.  These solvents should also be 
environmentally friendly. A list of acceptable solvents will be provided to CONTRACTOR 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 50 of 109

431



upon award. 

All graffiti, interior and exterior, that is cleanable shall be removed as soon as 
practicable, preferably before bus is placed back in service.  If the graffiti is obscene, or 
gang related, it shall be removed immediately, or the vehicle shall not be used in revenue 
service until corrected.    

All windows and/or inserts that are scratched/etched/fogged to the point of becoming 
opaque/distorted/seriously damaged causing possible safety issues shall be replaced 
immediately.  All windows that are scratched/etched and hamper clear vision shall be 
replaced at least once per year.  Scratched/etched and hampering vision shall be defined 
to include bus wash abrasion, graffiti, and damage that does not exceed 50% of the 
window or contain obscene or gang-related etching.    

Seats shall be maintained in proper operating condition.  All tears, cuts, gum, graffiti, 
and other damage shall be repaired in a professional manner within seven (7) days of the 
occurrence.  CONTRACTOR shall replace cushion materials that are worn or cannot be 
professionally repaired, or cushions that contain graffiti or stains that cannot be cleaned, 
using seat cover materials that are identical in design and color as those materials being 
replaced. CONTRACTOR shall further ensure that all seats are steam cleaned and 
properly disinfected, as soon as possible, in the event that bodily fluids or solids are 
deposited on any seats and if seat cushion materials cannot be replaced.  

All seats shall be free of excessive dust.  Cushioned seats must be vacuumed, 
keeping dust to a minimum.  Each revenue service vehicle shall have the seats, 
stanchions, ceilings, side walls, and floors scrubbed, washed, or shampooed at the 6,000 
mile interval requirement of a detail.  All seats and surfaces must be completely dry 
before being placed in revenue service.   

CONTRACTOR will perform additional cleaning as directed by NVTA using approved 
cleaning agents in response to emergency or public health conditions. 
See also Special Requirements under COVID-19 Section. 

     Technical Ability 

CONTRACTOR shall ensure that maintenance staff are completely trained, familiar 
with all repair, servicing and maintenance needs associated with the fleet provided 
by NVTA.    

• Maintenance Mechanic – Position requires high school diploma or GED equivalent
and heavy duty bus maintenance experience, a good driving record with a class B
driver’s license or the ability to obtain one; experience and education should be
equivalent to five years; must have the ability to obtain 608 – 609 A/C certification;
must have knowledge of Celect Plus ECM, ATEC, DDEC II and DDEC III systems
with a strong ability to analyze wiring problems using schematics; knowledge of
wedge and s-cam brake systems.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 51 of 109

432



• Maintenance Utility Worker – Position requires a good driving record;
education achievement equivalent to the completion of high school; prior
demonstrated experience in janitorial, bus/car/facility service and cleanup;
knowledge of general janitorial and or bus facility servicing/cleanup
procedures; working familiarity with basic cleaning and routine
mechanical maintenance of gas and diesel-powered equipment.

     Mechanical Maintenance Program and Training  

CONTRACTOR, at its sole cost and expense, shall provide all lubricants, repairs, 
cleaning, parts, tires, supplies, labor, maintenance and component rebuilding and/or 
replacement as required for the safe and reliable operation of all equipment pursuant to 
this contract.  CONTRACTOR shall be fully responsible for the safe and efficient 
maintenance of all vehicles, including servicing of emissions/exhaust systems, to be used 
to perform this contract in strict conformity to requirements of the OEM, 
emissions/exhaust systems manufacturers, the California Highway Patrol (CHP) Out of 
Service Criteria and applicable local, State and Federal regulations and requirements.  

The CONTRACTOR is responsible for assuring that the maintenance personnel 
receive training in all aspects of the servicing and repair of the buses, including any 
evolving vehicle/equipment technologies acquired NVTA, including information on service 
updates and technical bulletins.  CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for maintaining 
complete records of all training given to each employee.  These records may be inspected 
by NVTA personnel at any time.     

 Parts 

All parts supplied by CONTRACTOR shall be new and meet Original Equipment 
Manufacturer (OEM) or NVTA approved standards.  The CONTRACTOR shall not use 
parts from one bus to another unless expressly approved by NVTA.  CONTRACTOR shall 
establish and maintain an ongoing spare parts inventory sufficient to meet peak hour 
vehicle requirements.   The CONTRACTOR shall submit a monthly report for any parts 
used showing the part, part number, part price, vehicle, and work order number. Parts 
over $500 or have a useful life of at least one year must be itemized in a monthly report 
to accompany the monthly invoice. 

NVTA will supply parts with a value of $170,948.  The CONTRACTOR shall return 
parts at the end of the contract term with the same value.   

All fuels, lubricants, and parts shall be maintained, used, and disposed of properly in 
compliance with all relevant State and Federal regulations.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 52 of 109

433



    ADA Equipment  

All wheelchair lifts, tie-downs, and related equipment shall meet ADA requirements. 
Operator pre-trip inspections shall be utilized to check lift operation before pull-out from 
the garage.  If the lift is inoperable at the time of pull-out, the bus shall be repaired or 
traded before pull-out.  No vehicle shall be operated in revenue service without 
functioning ADA equipment.  Doing so may be grounds for contract termination. 

     Tires 

Buses are equipped with various tire sizes. NVTA’s recommended tire brand is 
Firestone, but NVTA reserves the right to dictate a particular brand to CONTRACTOR to 
improve operational efficiency. CONTRACTOR shall replace tires on vehicles using the 
size and load capacity specified by the specific vehicle manufacturers. As a general 
standard the tires shall be steel belted 16 ply radial tires with a load range of H and shall 
be suited for highway speeds. Expenses associated with the purchase and/or leasing of 
tires shall be itemized in a monthly report to accompany the monthly invoice. 

     Tools 

The CONTRACTOR must assure all equipment and tools are available to the 
employees to perform all repairs to the buses, including special tools such as torque 
wrenches, impact guns, electronic readers for charging, starting systems, engine and 
transmission readers, electronic destination sign programmers, opacity meter, etc. 

      Electric Equipment  

The vehicles are equipped with a variety of technologies, including GFI Odyssey and 
Cents-A-Bill fare boxes, and destination signs.  The CONTRACTOR shall maintain each 
of these systems per the manufacturer’s and NVTA’s recommended guidelines.   

     Towing 

CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for all costs for towing vehicles.  Towing must be 
performed properly to assure against damages to the vehicles.  Any damage resulting 
from improper towing procedures shall be the responsibility of the CONTRACTOR. 

     Utilization of Outside Services  

The CONTRACTOR may utilize outside services to perform such repairs as power train 
rebuilds, paint and body, etc.  The CONTRACTOR shall provide NVTA with a list of 
vendors that will be used.  NVTA must approve the list of vendors prior to the 
CONTRACTOR utilizing any vendor. Work performed by outside services shall be the 
responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.  All work done shall be of first grade quality by 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 53 of 109

434



factory authorized and certified technicians and/or repair shops.  Warranties must be 
provided for work performed.   

All outside engine repairs/rebuilds must be performed by a factory authorized repair 
technician or certified shop.  All parts used in the repair of the engines must be genuine 
OEM parts. 

All outside transmission repairs/rebuilds must be performed by a factory authorized 
repair technician shop. All parts used in the repair of the transmissions must be genuine 
OEM parts.  

      Road Calls 

The CONTRACTOR, or an approved subcontractor, is responsible for performing road 
calls, when necessary, in an expedient manner.  The CONTRACTOR must take every 
step possible to assure the least inconvenience and discomfort to the passengers.  In 
order to meet this requirement, the replacement bus must leave the yard within 10 
minutes of the call to maintenance.  All road calls that result in a delay of service shall be 
reported immediately to the Executive Director or his/her designee. 

     Advertisement on Buses 

CONTRACTOR shall make vehicles available for decaling and/or installation of 
advertisements.  The advertising CONTRACTOR will make every attempt to provide 
CONTRACTOR with at least 24 hours of notice.  The majority of decaling and installation 
of advertisements shall take place after 8:00 PM (PST/local time).  

The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the cost of damages to the 
advertisements placed on the buses due to accident damage, abuse or negligence on the 
CONTRACTOR’s part.  The CONTRACTOR shall work with NVTA’s advertisement 
CONTRACTOR to reach mutual settlement for such damages.   

4. Facility Maintenance

Use of Vehicles and Equipment

CONTRACTOR understands that vehicles and equipment provided by NVTA under
this Contract shall be used only to provide services included under this contract or 
preapproved by the Executive Director of NVTA or by his/her designee. Other 
stipulations include:  

• The CONTRACTOR’S right to use the buses and equipment is merely a license
that is terminable at will by NVTA with reasonable notice, and such vehicles may
not be transferred or assigned by the CONTRACTOR.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 54 of 109

435



• Operation of vehicles utilized by CONTRACTOR in the performance of this 
Contract shall comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws and 
regulations governing vehicles used for common carrier passenger transportation.   

• CONTRACTOR agrees that any equipment and/or technology purchased by 
NVTA through this RFP immediately become the property of NVTA. NVTA will also 
retain the right to dictate the location of any equipment placed on NVTA vehicles 
and/or facilities, and NVTA equipment shall have priority consideration with 
regards to its placement. No modifications to NVTA vehicles, equipment or 
facilities will be permitted without prior written approval from the Executive Director 
or by his/her designee.  

• NVTA requires that any vehicles in the designated Contingency Fleet remain there 
unless otherwise directed by NVTA. CONTRACTOR must obtain prior written 
approval by the Executive Director or by his/her designee before any vehicle in the 
Contingency Fleet may be used in service.   

• NVTA also reserves the right to dictate what vehicle type may be used on a specific 
service (local fixed route/commuter express bus service/paratransit/On Demand) 
or route. Furthermore, NVTA reserves the right to dictate to CONTRACTOR how 
many vehicles may be used for revenue service and/or on a NVTA route, and any 
additional vehicles beyond the permitted number for any service must be approved 
by NVTA in writing prior to their use.  

• The use of any NVTA Vine Transit service vehicles and equipment on other 
properties is strictly prohibited.  

 
     Maintenance History and Record Retention   
 

The CONTRACTOR is responsible for maintaining proper records and maintenance 
on the vehicles and their sub-components as per applicable warranty requirements.  The 
CONTRACTOR will work with NVTA in assuring all requirements are met, and that 
paperwork for warranty repairs are processed on a timely basis. Additionally, 
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for ensuring that employees are properly trained to 
perform warranty work as required by NVTA. Any warranty reimbursements from vendors 
shall go to NVTA. 
 
     Maintenance Personnel Uniforms  
 

Maintenance personnel shall wear NVTA-approved uniform shirts and pants while on 
duty.  The CONTRACTOR is responsible for ensuring that maintenance personnel have 
the proper work clothes, shoes, goggles, safety glasses, etc. to assure the safety and 
professionalism of its employees.  Attire shall be clean and neat. The NVTA and/or Vine 
Transit logo shall be displayed prominently on the uniform.  CONTRACTOR logos are 
allowed on the uniform.  However, CONTRACTOR logo shall be displayed secondarily to 
NVTA/Vine Transit logos in respect to size and area.  CONTRACTOR logo placement 
shall be approved by NVTA. 
 
 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 55 of 109

436



5. Training, Testing
All training shall be administered by a qualified trainer.  Trainers shall meet the

following minimum requirements: 
• Must have at least three (3) years of experience as an instructor.
• Must possess a valid Class A or B California License, current Medical Form

DL51 with a passenger endorsement, and VTT.
• All new trainers must be observed instructing and be approved by NVTA

before being used as an instructor.

 Initial Operator Training 

Initial Operator training shall include “Verified Transit Training” (VTT) with a minimum 
of sixty (60) hours of classroom, which includes the following topics:  

• Pre-trip inspection.
• Map reading.
• Schedule reading.
• Farebox, including logging on procedures, fares, transfers, passes, etc.
• Clipper system.
• Recording NTD information including Bus Number, Route, Run, Trip,

Service and Revenue Odometer Readings. Recording any NVTA reporting
requirements.

• On-time performance procedures.
• Detour sheets.
• Bike rack usage.
• Emergency accident and incident procedures and reports.
• Defensive driving.
• Layover and relief procedures.
• Passenger relations, including dealing with the problem passengers.
• Specialized elderly and disabled instruction, including ADA regulations,

wheelchair lift procedures and sensitivity training.
• Blood borne Pathogens Exposure Control Plan.

A minimum of twenty (20) hours of individual behind-the-wheel initial training shall also 
be provided by a qualified trainer. Individual behind-the-wheel instruction is defined as 
the number of hours that the student is behind-the-wheel with a trainer instructing one-on-
one.    

     Refresher Operator Training  

On an annual basis, CONTRACTOR shall conduct an eight (8) hour refresher training 
course for its operators as required by the DMV in order to maintain VTT. This refresher 
course will include farebox and onboard technology retraining.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 56 of 109

437



 Special Retraining  

CONTRACTOR shall provide special retraining for operators who have been involved 
in a preventable accident, who fail to follow proper procedures, who have become lost on 
route, or who fail to use equipment correctly.  Special retraining shall be made available 
for operators who may require it due to a change in bid selection or extended leave of 
absence. Operators who fail to maintain an unclassified revenue rate of less than 7% 
shall be retrained on the farebox operations. Operators who are unable or unwilling to 
maintain an unclassified revenue rate of less than 8% for three consecutive months 
following the retraining will be replaced. 

      Employee Performance 

CONTRACTOR shall be solely responsible for performance of its employees and shall 
take appropriate action to ensure employees perform in a professional acceptable 
manner.  This shall include the regular practice of ride checks and viewing video to 
monitor operator performance. Upon written demand of NVTA, the CONTRACTOR shall 
immediately remove ANY employees whom NVTA considers unsuitable for such work 
from activities associated with this Contract.  Removed employees must be replaced 
within 24 hours.   

6. Utilities

• Internet Access/Broadband Service (except on buses)
• At the current facility:

o NVTA shall pay for the following utilities directly and charge back the costs
to the CONTRACTOR:

• Waste Disposal
• Telephone Lines
• Water Services
• At the new Maintenance Facility, additional utilities that the CONTRACTOR will

be responsible for include:
o PG&E
o HOA Water (Recycled, to be added to chargeback structure)
o Hazardous Materials Disposal
o AT&T Phone Service
o Broadband Internet Services
o Cable TV

See Tables 4-6 in Section 2 - Future Maintenance Facility for cost estimates based on 
current design and estimated usage.  Actual costs may vary once in operation.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 57 of 109

438



7. Dispatch
The CONTRACTOR shall have a Dispatcher on duty during all revenue service hours.

At a minimum, CONTRACTOR shall have three (3) Dispatchers for every shift or as many 
as are required to perform all necessary functions at a level of performance acceptable 
to NVTA.  Dispatchers are responsible for CONTRACTOR coordination and 
communication with the operators and customers.  

 Runcutting 

NVTA seeks to partner cooperatively with the CONTRACTOR in all phases of the 
ongoing development of practicable high-quality routes and schedules. NVTA will take 
the lead role in route and schedule planning, and vehicle blocking, with assistance and 
support from the CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR shall complete all runcutting for NVTA 
via one of the following or another approved program which is compatible with NVTA’s 
AVL system: Schedule Masters (TMS), Trapeze FX, Schedule 21, and HASTUS.  

Run cuts will reflect actual availability of vehicles in the fleet and operators on staff.  
Run cuts will be subject to NVTA review and revisions.  NVTA will provide a Trapeze 
PASS or similar dispatching system for use by the CONTRACTOR in operating ADA 
complementary paratransit services.  On Demand services are scheduled and dispatched 
through TapRide. 

  Dispatch Log 

The dispatchers will be required to keep a daily dispatch logs for each service 
mode, which shall include, but not be limited to: 

• Bus assignment.
• Operator assignment.
• Pull-out and pull-in.
• Late and missed trips.
• Road calls.
• All other incidents or dispatch calls that vary from normal or expected

system operation.
• Accidents and serious incidents will be immediately reported to NVTA staff.
• Dispatch logs shall be submitted to NVTA daily on following business day

8. Ticket Office
CONTRACTOR is responsible for sufficient staffing at the ticket counters at the

Soscol Gateway Transit Center, located at 625 Burnell Street, Napa, CA 94559, between 
the hours of 7:30 AM and 5:30 PM on Monday through Friday, and 6:30 AM to 5:00 PM 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 58 of 109

439



on Saturday. The Transit Center ticket office is closed on Sunday. CONTRACTOR will be 
responsible for the sales of NVTA media, Clipper© regional media, and E-locker cards.  
CONTRACTOR will be responsible for securing and accounting of the cash and point of 
sales transactions that take place in the ticket office. 

9. Customer Service
CONTRACTOR shall staff telephone lines dedicated to service requests with an

understanding of policies and procedures associated with NVTA transit services. 
Dispatchers must be able to communicate service-related information effectively. 
Bilingual English/Spanish personnel shall be available during all hours of operation. 
CONTRACTOR shall add Customer Service personnel or require re-training, if NVTA 
determines that an unacceptable pattern or practice is established of service request 
callers being placed on “hold,” because insufficient personnel is available to answer 
telephones or handle Customer Service duties. The minimum staffing level for customer 
service representative positions is three (3) positions.  

CONTRACTOR employees shall treat all passengers in a courteous and respectful 
manner consistent with good business practices.  If NVTA determines that a pattern of 
indefensible customer service relations complaints is established, CONTRACTOR shall 
upgrade its customer relations training program to NVTA’s satisfaction and retrain its 
personnel as necessary to reduce complaints.   

Additionally, CONTRACTOR shall provide, for NVTA comment and approval, 
customer service standards that CONTRACTOR expects their employees to uphold 
while on duty and when providing customer service.  CONTRACTOR shall further 
describe how employees will be trained and held to these standards during the course 
of employment.  

10. Comments and Complaints
Comments and complaints are critical for maintaining service standards and good

relationships with jurisdiction partners and members of the public.  It is in the best interest 
of both parties under this Contract to minimize complaints regarding transportation 
services.  Comments and Complaints are to be received in many forms including but not 
limited to: phone call, in-person, electronic messaging, etc.  NVTA and the 
CONTRACTOR also receive comments and complaints from the Happy Fox platform. 
All customer comment calls shall be logged by CONTRACTOR and resolved in a timely 
manner. The comment log shall be submitted to NVTA as part of the invoice submittal 
package.  

• Definition of a Complaint.  A complaint is defined as any written or verbal
communication provided to CONTRACTOR, which adversely reflects on
NVTA’s operation of services as provided by the CONTRACTOR, or which

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 59 of 109

440



relates to any incident involving a CONTRACTOR-operated vehicle and/or 
operator.  Complaints received by telephone, written correspondence, e-
mail, fax, etc. will be logged by CONTRACTOR and submitted to NVTA as 
part of the invoice submittal package.    

• Investigation and Response to Comments and Complaints           Every
complaint, concern, suggestion, or commendation concerning personnel and
service provided to or received by CONTRACTOR must be investigated and
a response developed.  Any complaints that concern bus safety issues,
driver behavior, including rudeness, discourtesy, etc., that may result in
disciplinary action must be thoroughly investigated with appropriate action
taken and documented. All complaints must be investigated and responded
to within 72 hours of receipt to avoid deductions. Any complaints,
suggestions, or commendations received by NVTA will be immediately
forwarded to the CONTRACTOR.

In many cases comments and complaints are presented to NVTA staff regarding 
transit operations. Often times these complaints and comments warrant further 
investigation. CONTRACTOR shall, at the request of NVTA, conduct a formal 
investigation into an incident directly reported to NVTA staff. The request for an 
investigation shall be prompted by NVTA staff via email. When appropriate camera 
systems on the vehicle will be utilized by the CONTRACTOR to substantiate or invalidate 
complaints, drivers shall also be interviewed. Video and a written summary of the 
investigation by the CONTRACTOR must be submitted to NVTA staff no more than three 
(3) days after the initial request if it is necessary more time must be requested by the
CONTRACTOR if deductions are to be avoided. In the case that the patron complaining
wishes to have a follow up conversation NVTA has sole discretion as to if the
CONTRACTOR or NVTA will contact the patron making the complaint.

11. Number of Administrative Staff
The Multi-Year Staffing Plan template includes the minimum number of administrative

staff (non-transit operators) required.  Similar data will be requested as part of the monthly 
invoice package.  

12. Federal/State Compliance and Reporting
CONTRACTOR shall be present and responsive at audits or Federal Triennial Reviews or

FTA Drug and Alcohol Compliance Auditing Program or as requested by NVTA for reporting on 
ADA policies, practices, or activities performed by CONTRACTORS staff. CONTRACTOR shall 
also be readily available at a moment’s notice for such events. Additionally, CONTRACTOR shall 
provide any reports requested by NVTA for such events for purposes of responding to or closing-
out any issues or findings.   

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 60 of 109

441



 Federal Reporting 

NVTA requires specific data to meet federal reporting requirements. Data shall be 
provided by the CONTRACTOR to NVTA on a scheduled and as needed basis. 
Operational data will be primarily be used to meet National Transit Database 
(NTD) reporting requirements. The NTD requires reports to be submitted on a monthly 
and annual basis. The format will be determined by NVTA and provided to 
CONTRACTOR. The data required for monthly reporting will be provided to NVTA no 
later than seven (7) days after the end of the month. Data required for annual reporting 
shall be provided to NVTA no later than 14 days after the end of the fiscal year. The NTD 
separates NVTA’s fixed route service into two sub categories, Motor Bus Purchased 
Transportation (MB/PT) and Commuter Bus Purchased Transportation (CB/PT). Data 
required for monthly reporting for these two modes should be reported separately and 
shall include the following:  

• Scheduled Revenue Hours
• Revenue Hours
• Scheduled Revenue Miles
• Revenue Miles
• Total Passengers
• Max number of vehicles in service per day of the week

Data required for annual reporting will consist of the items listed above required for 
monthly reporting however will not be required to be provided by the CONTRACTOR a 
second time when the annual data items are due. The following items shall be provided 
to NVTA at the end of the fiscal year:  

• Odometer reading on July 1 of reporting year.
• Odometer reading on June 30 of reporting year.
• Fuel consumed between July 1 and June 30 of reporting year.
• Major mechanical failures (defined as a time where a mechanical failure

did not allow a vehicle to complete its scheduled trip).
• All other mechanical failures (defined as any mechanical failure that falls

outside of the above definition).

CONTRACTOR shall submit monthly and annual reports on the information collected 
in complying with the FTA Alcohol and Drug Testing regulations. A copy will be submitted 
to NVTA as part of the monthly reporting and invoicing package.  CONTRACTOR shall 
comply with all applicable Federal and State laws and requirements including but not 
limited to the FTA Drug and Alcohol Testing Programs.  The CONTRACTOR will be 
required to furnish a Drug Screening Program.  CONTRACTOR will pay for all drug 
screens for CONTRACTOR’s operators. 

CONTRACTOR will submit reports on the information collected in complying with the 
Safety and Security regulations. A copy will be submitted to NVTA as part of the monthly 
reporting and invoicing package.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 61 of 109

442



NVTA will require specific data from the CONTRACTOR to meet federal reporting 
requirements, specifically the National Transit Database (NTD), as well as for planning 
purposes. The following sections break out those requirements. 

     CONTRACTOR shall be required to submit any reports (i.e. Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) reports) as required by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), 
including reports related to subcontractors and work performed by them, to ensure 
1) continued eligibility for federal funding and 2) the ability to finance operations and
preventive maintenance efforts with such funding.

     State Reporting 

• Equal Opportunity Employer: CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate based on
race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, sex, physical disability or other
protected class.

• Employee Protection: CONTRACTOR will agree to retain qualified, non-
management employees of the current CONTRACTOR or subcontractor(s) for
a period of at least 90 days, in accordance with California Labor Code section
1072.

    General Reporting 

NVTA reserves the right to reject any reports that do not meet requirements. 
NVTA may at its discretion remove or add a report(s) from the requirements, or refine 
report requirements as needed to monitor the maintenance cost and condition of the 
CONTRACTOR operated fleet. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that employees are 
computer fluent to a level that any reports required by NVTA can be completed and 
submitted in a timely manner.   

     Daily Reporting 

The CONTRACTOR will report all vehicular collisions, accidents, and incidents 
involving any NVTA-owned transit or paratransit vehicle immediately to NVTA, including 
passenger falls. In addition, CONTRACTOR will notify NVTA’s Manager of Public Transit 
in writing of the accident/incident within 24 hours of its occurrence report passenger 
complaints related to safety or serious operational deficiencies immediately. 
CONTRACTOR will investigate all accidents and grade as to whether the event was 
preventable or not using industry standards. Failure to report such accidents/incidents in 
the manner and within the time frames specified herein will subject the CONTRACTOR 
to the assessments.   

CONTRACTOR shall provide daily reports to the NVTA Transit Manager or designee 
reporting the following in a manner dictated by NVTA: 

1) missed trips;
2) any Supplemental Service/Trippers dispatched beyond the scheduled

service to address on-time performance or load issues;

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 62 of 109

443



 3) revenue miles and hours, deadhead miles and hours, and routes served 
by supplemental/ tripper service;  

4) road calls and reason; and 
5) bus swaps and reason.   

  
     Monthly Reporting  
 

Monthly reporting should include, but is not limited to the following items:  
• Revenue hours and miles for each route or service operated.  
• Miles between Road Calls, previous fiscal year to current fiscal year.   
• Road Calls by Category, cumulative year-to-date.   
• Monthly mileage by fleet type i.e.: fixed route; on-call; Paratransit and Fixed 

Route fleets (total miles traveled, fuel quantity and miles per gallon for each 
vehicle).   

• On-time performance.  
• Work Order Summary Detail data, including work order number, date finished, 

task description, labor hours, and parts costs labor cost and total cost   
• Monthly Cost per Mile data, parts, labor, miles, and total cost per mile by 

fleet/vehicle number.   
• Summary of any warranty work, including but not limited to vehicle number, 

details of the warranty claim, amount paid or rejected under the warranty.   
• Preventive Maintenance Inspections (PMI) completed by vehicle number. The 

report will indicate:  Vehicle Number, Current Mileage, Last PM Mileage, Next 
PM Due Date, Next PM Type, Current Mileage (miles over/under PM 
requirement).   

• Shelters cleaned or repaired, signs replaced or repaired, including dates and 
times. Cleaning schedule of the Transit Center.  

• NVTA will complete a third-party oversight inspection monthly with review of 
the state of the facility. 

 
Monthly Contractor Employee Staffing Report:  

Unless otherwise waived, CONTRACTOR shall submit a “Monthly CONTRACTOR 
Employee Staffing Report” with its monthly invoice, due by the 10th calendar day of each 
month, that must report any position vacancies, turnover rate since the start of the current 
fiscal year, number of regular hours performed by non-salaried staff (by position 
category), number of overtime hours performed by non-salaried staff (by position 
category), and monthly salaries and benefits paid (by position category). This report shall 
further include the names of each employee, seniority with the CONTRACTOR’s 
organization and seniority under the NVTA contract with CONTRACTOR, if different, and 
individual status as a part-time, temporary or full-time employee. CONTRACTOR shall 
provide additional staffing details as required by NVTA.  

 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 63 of 109

444



     Quarterly and Other Reporting Requirements  
 

CONTRACTOR shall provide fleet status and other data reporting as required for 
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) funding.  

 
Additionally, CONTRACTOR shall submit any reports (i.e. Disadvantaged Business 

Enterprise (DBE) reports) as required by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), 
including reports related to subcontractors, to ensure 1) continued eligibility for federal 
funding and 2) the ability to finance operations and preventive maintenance efforts with 
such funding.  

 
Unless otherwise waived, CONTRACTOR shall submit a “Monthly CONTRACTOR 

Staffing Report” of filled and vacant positions with its monthly invoice, due by the 
10th calendar day of each month, that must report any position vacancies of 60 days or 
more, turnover rate since the start of the current fiscal year, number of regular hours 
performed by non-salaried staff (by position category), number of overtime hours 
performed by non-salaried staff (by position category), and monthly salaries and benefits 
paid (by position category).  

 
If after sixty (60) days CONTRACTOR should fail to fill NVTA shall be entitled to full 

compensation for salaries and benefits allocated for that position on a pro-rated basis, 
until such time that the position is filled. If CONTRACTOR has an employee from a 
different position to work in another position (i.e. road supervisor is a bus operator 
temporarily), the CONTRACTOR will only receive compensation for the services 
performed.  

 
This report shall further include the names of each employee, seniority with the 

CONTRACTOR’s organization and seniority under the NVTA contract with 
CONTRACTOR, if different, and individual status as a part-time, temporary or full-time 
employee. CONTRACTOR shall provide additional staffing details as required by NVTA.  

 
• CONTRACTOR shall submit a report and supporting documentation for 

actual maintenance expenses to include, but not be exclusive of vendor 
invoices, proof of vendor payment(s) of maintenance expenses, applicable 
payroll records, applicable pay stubs, parts costs, lubricants/fluids, etc. This 
report and supporting documentation (full report package) shall be submitted 
with the monthly invoice, due on the 10th day of each calendar month. This 
information is necessary for financing maintenance costs with federal funding.  

 
• CONTRACTOR shall be present and responsive at audits or Federal Triennial 

Reviews as requested by NVTA for reporting on ADA policies, practices, or 
activities performed by CONTRACTORS staff. CONTRACTOR shall also be 
readily available at a moment’s notice for such events. Additionally, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide any reports requested by NVTA for such events 
for purposes of responding to or closing-out any issues or findings.  

 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 64 of 109

445



• Any and all data collected, and any work produced by CONTRACTOR, for and
on behalf of NVTA, during course of contract period, shall be the property of
NVTA. NVTA reserves the right to request this data or work from
CONTRACTOR, as well as dictate the form in which CONTRACTOR shall
provide the data or work.

• NVTA will complete an inspection of all work orders and
preventative maintenance files to ensure completeness and follow up
on maintenance issues.

13. Biannual Fleet Reporting
The CONTRACTOR shall submit an annual Fleet Report based on the preceding

calendar year for all vehicles used in providing Transportation services.  The report shall 
be submitted bi-annually for December 31st by January 8th and for June 30th by July 8th 
to NVTA and shall include, but not be limited to the following data for EACH fleet vehicle 
in service (including assigned spares):     

• Vehicle ID Number
• Vehicle License Number
• Vehicle Manufacturer
• Vehicle Model Year
• Engine Family Name
• Engine Make/Model
• Engine Year
• Fuel Type
• Name, Make and Model of Retrofit Device on Vehicle (if applicable)
• Gross Vehicle Weight
• Maximum Passenger Capacity
• Annual Vehicle Mileage
• Total Vehicle Mileage
• Vehicle Condition Rating

 Paratransit Specific Reporting 

In addition to the basic operational data required by the NTD for paratransit services, 
the CONTRACTOR shall provide the following information:  

• Total booked paratransit trips.
• Total cancellations (defined as a trip that is booked then cancelled by the

potential passenger any time before the trip is to be completed).
• Total no-shows.
• Total attendant trips.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 65 of 109

446



• Total lift assisted trips.
• On-time performance.

14. Access to Records and Facility
CONTRACTOR shall permit authorized representatives of NVTA to examine all data

and records related to Transportation Services on request CONTRACTOR will maintain 
all reports and records pertaining to Transportation Services and will make them available 
for review or inspection by NVTA for a period of three (3) years from the Termination 
Date. Vehicle maintenance records shall be kept in accordance with Federal 
Regulations.Any and all data collected, and any work produced by CONTRACTOR, for 
and on behalf of NVTA, during course of contract period, shall be the property of NVTA. 
NVTA reserves the right to request this data or work from CONTRACTOR, as well as 
dictate the form in which CONTRACTOR shall provide the data or work. 

15. Reporting, Performance Measures, Metrics, and Incentives and
Deductions
Service Reliability

CONTRACTOR shall provide timely and reliable transit services.  This includes
maintaining trip completion levels and on-time performance operating levels within the 
specified arrival and department times as established by NVTA’s performance objectives. 
On-time performance will be closely monitored by NVTA and will be computed on a 
monthly basis by the CONTRACTOR.  NVTA shall not be obligated to pay 
CONTRACTOR for missed trips.  Deductions may be assessed by NVTA for trips missed 
and other areas of non-performance in accordance with the provisions included in this 
document. Any additional service, beyond scheduled, must be preapproved by the 
Agency. 

   Disadvantage Business Enterprise Goal 

This RFP and eventual contract is subject to the requirements of Title 49, Code of 
Federal Regulations, Part 26, and Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises 
in Department of Transportation Financial Assistance Programs.  NVTA establishes a 
separate DBE for every contract.  A separate contract goal has been established for this 
procurement of 1% of yearly contract amount. 

CONTRACTOR will provide a monthly report, as part of the invoice package, listing 
DBE’s used during the month and amount paid.  A deduction per month may be 
assessed if after two quarters, the CONTRACTOR does not meet its DBE goal.  The 
CONTRACTOR must provide a letter of explanation to NVTA and a corrective action 
plan to achieve the DBE goal within the contract year. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 66 of 109

447



    Incentives and Deductions 

Incentives. NVTA wishes to receive the highest level of service from its 
CONTRACTOR. To ensure this as well as encourage innovation in the deployment of 
services NVTA will offer performance bonuses for achieving or exceeding specific metrics 
in the deployment of transit services.   

Table 7:  Incentive Matrix

DEFINITION OF INCENTIVE RATE #OCCURRENCES DATA_SOURCE 
An incentive per month for each month in which a 
customer submits a comment about the cleanliness of the 
vehicles. Not to exceed $2,000 a month.  

$100 0 
Happy Fox 
January Kudos, 
Compliments 

An incentive for each CHP inspection in which a CHP 
officer fails to identify a single defect. Maximum of one 
payment per Biannual inspection.  

$500 0 As needed basis 

An incentive per month where productivity for ADA 
paratransit exceeds 2.6 passengers per revenue hour in 
a single month. 

$1,000 0 
January Demand 
Response Hrs, 
Miles, Pax report 

An incentive per month where productivity for ADA 
paratransit exceeds 2.95 passengers per revenue hour in 
a single month. 

$3,000 0 
January Demand 
Response Hrs, 
Miles, Pax report 

An incentive for each month in which the unclassified 
revenue falls below 3%.  $1,000 0 pending 

An incentive for each month in the NVTA validates that 
the on-time performance of each individual fixed route in 
the NVTA system has an overall, monthly percentage of 
97% or higher.  

$1,000 0 
Jan20 On-Time 
Performance 
Report 

An incentive for each month in which the CONTRACTOR 
and/or NVTA receive zero customer complaints.  $500 0 

Happy Fox 
January 
Complaints 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 67 of 109

448



Deductions.  Due to the nature of the services to be rendered, the CONTRACTOR 
and NVTA agree that it is extremely difficult to ascertain actual damages/deductions that 
may result from failure on the part of the CONTRACTOR to perform any of its contractual 
obligations.  Therefore, the CONTRACTOR liability shall be limited to and fixed at the 
sums stated in this Section, as deductions.  Deductions shall be assessed daily as they 
are identified.  The assessed deductions shall be sent to the CONTRACTOR for 
response.  Once the response is received, a determination on chargeability is made by 
NVTA’s Executive Director.  All assessed deductions that are not responded to by the 
CONTRACTOR within 30 days will automatically be charged to the CONTRACTOR.  The 
decision by NVTA is final with respect to any assessment of deductions.  NVTA’s 
Executive Director may rely on information supplied by the CONTRACTOR, by the public, 
by staff, or by any other means available in determining assessment of deductions. See 
definitions for “Deductions” below. 

Table 8: Deduction Matrix 

DEFINITION OF DEDUCTIONS RATE #OCCURRENCES DATA_SOURCE 

A deduction per month if the CONTRACTOR fails to 
maintain an unclassified revenue rate below 10% $500 0 pending 

A deduction per occurrence basis when a driver fails to 
login or logs in improperly to the GFI, Avail, or Clipper 
systems before beginning their piece of work. 

$100 1 January Daily 
Dispatch Logs 

A deduction per one-way missed trip for all services under 
this contract. $500 12 January Daily 

Dispatch Logs 
A deduction per verified occurrence of a driver passing up 
a passenger at a designated stop. $500 0 January Daily 

Dispatch Logs 
A deduction per month if the CONTRACTOR, and/or 
NVTA receive five (5) or more customer complaints per 
month the complaints are found to be valid and preventable 
by the CONTRACTOR as deemed by NVTA. 

$500 0 Happy Fox 

A deduction per occurrence if CONTRACTOR fails to 
submit a report as required by NVTA. $500 0 As needed basis 

A deduction per observation or valid report of a contingency 
vehicle, an unpermitted vehicle type, or an excessive 
number of vehicles being used in service without prior 
written approval by NVTA. 

$250 0 As needed basis 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 68 of 109

449



Continued 

DEFINITION OF DEDUCTIONS RATE #OCCURRENCES DATA SOURCE 

A deduction per occurrence where an operator fails to 
properly secure a passenger in a mobility device, 
including, but not exclusive of wheelchairs, prior to being 
transported on a vehicle. 

$750 0 January Daily 
Dispatch Logs 

A deduction per month after two quarters where the 
CONTRACTOR does not meet its DBE goal $500 1 DBE reports 

A deduction for every occurrence if the CONTRACTOR 
that it takes longer than 72 hours (excluding weekend 
hours) to make contact with a passenger who has lodged a 
complaint.  

$500 0 Happy Fox 

A deduction will be assessed for each occurrence that a 
customer is kept on hold in excess of the average wait 
time of a revolving 30-day period when dispatch and 
customer service centers are fully staffed. 

$250 0 Happy Fox 

A deduction will be assessed per occurrence per day for each 
time a wheelchair lift is not cycled during a driver’s pre-
trip inspection and then fails in the field.      

$500 2 January Daily 
Dispatch Logs 

A deduction per day for each incident where the exterior 
and/or interior of the bus are not clean as observed by 
NVTA staff. 

$500 0 Happy Fox 

A deduction per occurrence for failure of heating or air 
conditioning system to function properly in revenue 
service and a complaint is received as a result of the 
incident.   

$500 0 Happy Fox 

A deduction per occurrence, per day, per bus for failure to 
follow the preventive maintenance program of NVTA and 
as mandated by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). 
Failure shall be defined as when the bus is in need of the 
next scheduled maintenance procedure, yet the bus is in 
revenue service and the odometer indicates that the bus has 
gone beyond 10% of the scheduled interval.  Adherence to 
the preventive maintenance program is to be reported in the 
monthly report. 

$500 0 Annual NTD 
Report 

A deduction per finding during a Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) Triennial Review that the 
CONTRACTOR is responsible for. 

$200 0 FTA Triennial 
Review PDF 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 69 of 109

450



Continued 

DEFINITION OF DEDUCTIONS RATE #OCCURRENCES DATA SOURCE 

A deduction at the rate of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) if 
the CONTRACTOR fails to pass a California Highway 
Patrol (CHP) inspection. If the CONTRACTOR fails the 
subsequent CHP inspection (i.e. fails two inspections in a 
row), a deduction may be assessed at the rate of Ten 
Thousand Dollars ($10,000). If the CONTRACTOR fails 
another subsequent CHP inspection, which would be the 
third failure in a row, a deduction may be assessed at the rate 
of Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000) and may result in 
termination of the contract. 

$5,000 - 
$20,000 0 As needed basis 

A deduction per day for each incident where the exterior 
and/or interior of the Transit Center are not clean.  $200 0 Happy Fox 

A deduction per day for each incident where a damaged bus 
stop sign or bus shelter is not repaired or replaced within 
five days of notification.   

$250 0 Happy Fox 

A deduction per day for each incident where the bus stop or 
bus shelters are not cleaned on a regular basis. $100 1 Happy Fox 

A deduction per day for each incident where the 
CONTRACTOR misses a scheduled trip for ADA 
paratransit. 

$500 0 January Daily 
Dispatch Logs 

A deduction per occurrence where CONTRACTOR fails to 
pick up a passenger within the 30 minutes allowed for the 
Calistoga Shuttle. 

$100 7 January Daily 
Dispatch Logs 

A deduction per month for each month where productivity 
for ADA paratransit falls below 2 passengers per revenue 
hour in a single month. 

$500 1 
January Demand 
Response Hrs, 
Miles, Pax report 

A deduction per each unfounded denial of service to a 
paratransit registrant by the CONTRACTOR. $500 0 Happy Fox specific 

complaint 
A deduction per each occurrence of a driver leaving before 
the five (5) minute wait period has expired for scheduled 
ADA paratransit pick-ups.  

$100 0 Happy Fox specific 
complaint 

A deduction per each occurrence of a reservationist not 
entering or improperly entering a reservation for an 
ADA paratransit trip three (3) or more times in a single 
month that leads to a registrant missing their trip or being 
excessively late.  

$150 0 Happy Fox specific 
complaint 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 70 of 109

451



16.  Committee and Management Meetings 
 CONTRACTOR’s management staff shall be required to attend all Paratransit 

Coordinating Committee meetings. There will be times when the services operated by the 
CONTRACTOR are the topic of discussion at public meetings (e.g. Citizen Advisory 
Committee (CAC), Paratransit Coordinating Council (PCC), NVTA Board Meetings, etc.)  
CONTRACTOR management staff shall be required to attend such meetings.  Whenever 
possible, NVTA will notify the CONTRACTOR in advance of particular concerns that 
might be raised.  Should comments be directed to CONTRACTOR operational issues, 
the CONTRACTOR shall submit to NVTA within seven (7) days a plan to address the 
issues discussed. 

 
 

17. Transit Workers Focus Group 
CONTRACTOR shall allow NVTA to coordinate an internal committee of 

CONTRACTOR’S non-management employees to identify internal service issues, public-
facing service issues, and engage with non-management employees. This committee will 
be made up of five (5) random CONTRACTOR’s non-management staff with a mix of job 
classifications. Key NVTA staff who will coordinate the meetings be present are:  
Executive Director, Transit Services Manager, and other designated NVTA employees. 

 
 

18. Technology 
The CONTRACTOR  will support innovative efforts and investments, such as 

technology not already owned and operated by NVTA and innovative dispatching 
methods which can enhance the quality and level of service for citizens, businesses, and 
visitors of Napa County, while focusing on maximizing ridership, coverage, and 
efficiencies. 

 
The CONTRACTOR is responsible for using, maintaining, and troubleshooting 

equipment and software provided by NVTA.  Wherever NVTA directly contracts with a 
third party to provide and maintain equipment, the CONTRACTOR will be responsible for 
facilitating and monitoring on board maintenance and installation of equipment.  The 
CONTRACTOR will be a strong partner with NVTA in exploring future technology and 
systems for use by the system. NVTA revenue vehicles contain onboard equipment 
including: 

• Genfare Fareboxes 
• Urban Transit Associates Automatic Passenger Counter (APC) system from 

Urban Transportation Associates 
• Computer-Aided Dispatch / Automatic Vehicle Location (CAD AVL) system 

from Avail Technologies including onboard Mobile Data Terminals (MDT) 
and In-Vehicle Units (IVU), including WiFi. 

• Lytx Onboard Camera System  
• Clipper Card readers 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 71 of 109

452



NVTA provides a variety of software that the CONTRACTOR is responsible for using 
for planning and operations.  NVTA will be responsible for service planning using Remix 
or similar software.  CONTRACTOR will be ultimately responsible for preparing the final 
runcut using HASTUS or similar software which is approved by NVTA and compatible 
with NVTA’s CAD/AVL system.  NVTA reserves the right to comment and adjust runcuts 
as necessary. 

 
NVTA will provide the following software that the CONTRACTOR will be responsible 

for using, including: 
• Avail Technologies Computer-Aided Dispatch / Automatic Vehicle Location 

(CAD AVL) system - or similar - for use in dispatching, monitoring on time 
performance, and communications. 

• Happy Fox - or similar - Customer Relations Database for tracking all customer 
service comments and complaints received by CONTRACTOR 

• Doublemap TapRide - RidetheVine app Cloud-based software for dispatching 
and monitoring On Demand services 

 

19. CHP Inspections 
  CONTRACTOR will facilitate annual CHP inspections of the maintenance facility, 

transit fleet, and any other vehicles or facilities, as required.  CONTRACTOR will be 
responsible for maintaining proper records, preparing for periodic audits, and notifying 
NVTA of any inspections in advance when scheduled.  CONTRACTOR will provide a 
written plan to NVTA, specifying how any findings will be resolved in a timely manner.  

 
 

20. Other 
       Schedule Production   
 

NVTA will print and provide schedules for routes served by CONTRACTOR.  NVTA 
updates schedules at a minimum of three times per year, which will be provided in 
advance of a schedule change.  CONTRACTOR will be responsible for delivering 
schedules at key locations on designated routes. CONTRACTOR will also be responsible 
for placing updated schedules in vehicles on the appropriate routes at least two (2) days 
prior to the changes going into effect. CONTRACTOR shall dispose of all outdated 
schedules.  CONTRACTOR shall maintain an inventory of current schedules, and inform 
NVTA when there is a need for additional schedules four weeks prior to depletion of their 
supply. 

 
       Identification Badges  
 

CONTRACTOR must produce and keep track of its employee badges. 
CONTRACTOR employees must wear badges while they are working.  

 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 72 of 109

453



      Other On-Board Distribution/Collection of Information 

 NVTA will periodically require that the driver distribute and/or collect information 
to/from passengers.  In most instances, this will be service-related materials regarding 
detours, proposed route changes, or passenger surveys.  NVTA will provide specific 
instruction with the materials to be distributed and/or collected.  

      Regional Transit Discount Card 

CONTRACTOR may also be required to mail applications (and provide them at 
customer service windows) for the Regional Transit Discount Card (RTDC). More 
information on the RTDC may be found here: http://transit.511.org/disabled/rtdc.aspx. 
NVTA may also require CONTRACTOR to assist patrons with completing this application 
at the customer service counters at the Soscol Gateway Transit Center, 625 Burnell 
Street, Napa, CA 94559, as well as take any required pictures for completing the 
application.   

      Lost and Found 

CONTRACTOR shall tag lost articles with the day, route number, description of the 
article, and driver’s name.  Articles claimed shall be delivered to NVTA’s Transit Center 
at 625 Burnell Street, Napa, CA 94559, by 11:00 AM (PST/local time), Monday through 
Friday for articles lost on the previous day. CONTRACTOR shall maintain the items found 
for a period of thirty (30) days prior to discarding found items. 

      Emergency Contact 

CONTRACTOR shall provide a list of 24-hour emergency numbers and a contact(s) 
to be used by NVTA for responding to emergency situations as necessary. 

 Media Contact 

News media inquiries regarding bus service shall be forwarded to NVTA for handling 
and replies.  CONTRACTOR shall, however, designate an individual who is authorized to 
speak on behalf of the CONTRACTOR should such a resource or reference be needed, 
as determined by NVTA. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 73 of 109

454

http://transit.511.org/disabled/rtdc.aspx


Special COVID-19 Service and Requirements 
 
 
1. Service during COVID-19  

NVTA has temporarily reduced operating hours due to decreased demand during the 
coronavirus pandemic. The current service availability during the coronavirus pandemic 
is located in Table 2: Vine Transit Span of Services as of July 2020.  NVTA reserves the 
right to amend schedules after the publication of the RFP.   

 
 

2. CONTRACTOR COVID-19 Requirements  
The below standards may be superseded by the County’s Health Order, Metropolitan 

Transportation Commission, State of California, or Federal government agencies.  
 

Vehicle & Cleaning Requirements  
 

All vehicles must be sanitized daily.  Vehicles that may have had drivers or 
passengers infected by COVID-19 must be immediately removed from service and 
sterilized. Public facilities maintained by CONTRACTOR must be sterilized weekly, spot 
cleaning in high touch areas will be sterilized daily.  NVTA vehicles and facilities may be 
subject to additional cleanliness and sterilization mandated by County, Regional, State, 
and Federal agencies.  The CONTRACTOR will adhere to the severest of these 
guidelines. 

 
Staff Requirements  

 
CONTRACTOR staff shall abide by public health guidelines including the guidelines, 

rules and regulations set forth by the County, Regional, State and Federal agencies.  
CONTRACTOR staff who are ill or experiencing COVID-19 symptoms or suffering from 
COVID-19 shall not be allowed to perform services that come into contact with the public 
until cleared by a health professional or other appropriate clearance.  NVTA is to be 
notified if any CONTRACTOR staff who has contact with the public contacts COVID-19.   

 
CONTRACTOR staff shall adhere to wearing masks (unless in an isolated office with 

no other workers), washing hands/maintaining cleanliness, and physical distancing. 
 

CONTRACTOR staff will request that passengers adhere to wearing masks and 
observe physical distancing standards. 

 
CONTRACTOR will spot check to ensure all requirements established by County, 

Regional, State, and Federal requirements are being adhered to. 
 
 
 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 74 of 109

455



ATTACHMENT B 

COST PROPOSAL 

 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 75 of 109

456



Multi-Year Price & Staffing Plans

Updated February 2021

INSTRUCTIONS

1) Fill out yellow box with PROPOSER information located at the top of both tabs: "Attach_B1_Multi-Year Price List"
and "Attach_C_Multi-YearStaffingPlan".

PLEASE DO NOT BREAK LINKS. 
ADDING/SUBTRACTING ROWS FOR DATA ENTRY IS ACCEPTABLE.
UPDATE FORMULAS (I.E. SUM FUNCTION) IF NEEDED. 

2) The Multi-Year Price list is separated by service type (Paratransit, Variable/On-Demand, and Fixed Route).
The staffing costs are already linked from "Attach_A2_Multi-YearStaffingPlan" tab.

3) Enter informed data for the 5-year plans.  Backup/Cost justifications are encouraged.

4) The "Attach_A1_Multi-Year Price List" tab includes the estimated number of service hours by service type per Table 1 of the RFP.
As stated in the RFP, this amount may be increased or decreased up to 20%.

5) The "Attach_A2_Multi-YearStaffingPlan" tab includes the Multi-Year Staffing Plan.  Be sure to add wages and benefit costs for non-
operator positions.
Wage escalation factors may be included to satisfy cost of living increases, company policy, etc.

Attachment A
NVTA Transit Services RFP  - 2020

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 76 of 109

457



Multi-Year Price Plan
NVTA Transit Services RFP  - 2020
Updated February 2021

Current Maintenance 
Facility Option Year 1 Option Year 2

Cost Element CY 2022 CY 2023 CY 2024 CY 2025 CY 2026 CY 2027 CY 2028 Notes (Can include more detail in narrative)

Paratransit
Paratransit Wages and Benefits $522,751 $585,148 $605,918 $628,893 $656,429 $689,736 $722,113 Linked to multi-year staffing plan
Non-Revenue Vehicle Expense $4,087 $5,649 $5,709 $7,319 $8,414 $8,478 $8,543 Lease Costs & Fees, Fuel and Registration costs
Vehicle Parts/Tires/Supplies/Lubes $11,844 $15,565 $20,689 $17,171 $12,529 $12,947 $13,460 Parts, Tires, Lubricants, Supplies
SmartDrive Clip Review $1,615 $1,606 $1,638 $1,671 $1,704 $1,738 $1,773 Paratransit Vehicle DriveCam fees
Uniforms $2,221 $2,344 $2,391 $2,439 $2,488 $2,538 $2,588 Paratransit Driver Uniforms
Drug Testing and Physicals $1,273 $1,375 $1,402 $1,430 $1,459 $1,488 $1,518 Lowered by reduced staff
Employee Incentives $4,218 $4,596 $4,596 $4,596 $4,596 $4,596 $4,596 Paratransit Driver Incentives
Variable Vehicle Insurance $8,410 $9,563 $10,041 $10,543 $11,070 $11,624 $12,205 Paratransit Vehicles Variable Insurance

Cost Allocation from Fixed Costs

Include a cost allocation from fixed costs below - i.e. 
insurance, supplies, etc. Add rows as needed to 
identify each item within the cost allocation.  

[Item 1]
[Item 2]

Overhead $29,600 $33,655 $34,833 $35,874 $37,185 $38,736 $40,514 Corporate Support allocation lowered
Profit $11,960 $20,397 $28,634 $29,581 $30,661 $32,162 $33,638 Profit lowered due to reduced revenue

Total Paratransit Costs $597,977 $679,898 $715,852 $739,516 $766,534 $804,043 $840,949

Total Paratransit Service Hours 12,030 13,030 13,030 13,030 13,030 13,030 13,030 May +/- by 20%; estimate per Table 1 in RFP
Cost Per Paratransit Service Hour 49.71$    52.18$    54.94$    56.75$    58.83$    61.71$    64.54$    Calculation

On Demand/Variable
Variable Wages and Benefits $1,129,803 $1,324,779 $1,371,803 $1,423,817 $1,486,158 $1,561,568 $1,634,869 Linked to multi-year staffing plan
Non-Revenue Vehicle Expense $8,833 $12,789 $12,925 $16,570 $19,049 $19,194 $19,341 Lease Costs & Fees, Fuel and Registration costs
Vehicle Parts/Tires/Supplies/Lubes $25,597 $35,239 $46,841 $38,875 $28,365 $29,311 $30,474 Parts, Tires, Lubricants, Supplies
SmartDrive Clip Review $3,490 $3,636 $3,709 $3,783 $3,858 $3,936 $4,014 On-Demand Vehicle DriveCam fees
Uniforms $4,800 $5,308 $5,414 $5,522 $5,633 $5,745 $5,860 On-Demand Driver Uniforms
Drug Testing and Physicals $2,750 $3,112 $3,175 $3,238 $3,303 $3,369 $3,436 Lowered by reduced staff
Employee Incentives $9,116 $10,404 $10,404 $10,404 $10,404 $10,404 $10,404 On-Demand Driver Incentives
Variable Vehicle Insurance $18,176 $21,651 $22,733 $23,870 $25,063 $26,317 $27,632 On-Demand Vehicles Variable Insurance

Cost Allocation from Fixed Costs

Include a cost allocation from fixed costs below - 
i.e. insurance, supplies, etc. Add rows as
needed to identify each item within the cost
allocation.

[Item 1]
[Item 2]

Overhead $63,973 $76,195 $78,863 $81,219 $84,186 $87,699 $91,725 Corporate Support allocation lowered
Profit $25,848 $46,179 $64,828 $66,971 $69,418 $72,814 $76,157 Profit lowered due to reduced revenue

Total On Demand/Variable Costs $1,292,385 $1,539,291 $1,620,694 $1,674,269 $1,735,438 $1,820,357 $1,903,913

Total On Demand/Variable Service Hours 26,000 29,500 29,500 29,500 29,500 29,500 29,500 May +/- by 20%; estimate per Table 1 in RFP
Cost Per Variable/On Demand Service Hours $49.71 $52.18 $54.94 $56.75 $58.83 $61.71 $64.54 Calculation

------------------- Future Maintenance Facility ------------------

Proposer:
Date Submitted:

Prepared by: 

Transdev Services, Inc. 
5.28.2021

W.C. Pihl Senior Vice President Business Development

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 77 of 109

458



Multi-Year Price Plan
NVTA Transit Services RFP  - 2020
Updated February 2021

Current Maintenance 
Facility Option Year 1 Option Year 2

Cost Element CY 2022 CY 2023 CY 2024 CY 2025 CY 2026 CY 2027 CY 2028 Notes (Can include more detail in narrative)

------------------- Future Maintenance Facility ------------------

Proposer:
Date Submitted:

Prepared by: 

Transdev Services, Inc. 
5.28.2021

W.C. Pihl Senior Vice President Business Development

Fixed Route
Fixed Route Wages and Benefits $3,431,098 $3,758,548 $3,899,279 $4,059,879 $4,167,994 $4,321,026 $4,420,298 Linked to multi-year staffing plan
Non-Revenue Vehicle Expense $25,343 $35,809 $36,190 $46,396 $53,338 $53,743 $54,156 Lease Costs & Fees, Fuel and Registration costs
Vehicle Parts/Tires/Supplies/Lubes $381,826 $423,165 $439,788 $414,652 $410,730 $446,233 $454,394 Parts, Tires, Lubricants, Supplies
SmartDrive Clip Review $10,015 $10,181 $10,384 $10,592 $10,804 $11,020 $11,240 Fixed Route Vehicle DriveCam fees
Uniforms $13,772 $14,862 $15,159 $15,462 $15,772 $16,087 $16,409 Fixed Route Driver Uniforms
Drug Testing and Physicals $7,892 $8,715 $8,889 $9,067 $9,248 $9,433 $9,622 Lowered by reduced staff
Employee Incentives $20,041 $21,906 $21,906 $21,906 $21,906 $21,906 $21,906 Fixed Route Driver Incentives
Variable Vehicle Insurance $149,560 $173,808 $182,498 $191,623 $201,204 $211,264 $221,828 Fixed Route Vehicles Variable Insurance

Cost Allocation from Fixed Costs

Include a cost allocation from fixed costs below - 
i.e. insurance, supplies, etc. Add rows as
needed to identify each item within the cost
allocation.

[Item 1]
[Item 2]

Overhead $214,893 $239,138 $246,364 $253,840 $260,301 $268,972 $275,267 Corporate Support lowered in years 3 - 7
Profit $86,825 $144,932 $202,519 $209,309 $214,637 $223,320 $228,547 Profit lowered due to reduced revenue

Total Fixed Route Costs $4,341,264 $4,831,061 $5,062,976 $5,232,725 $5,365,934 $5,583,004 $5,713,666

Total Fixed Route Service Hours 74,600 82,600 82,600 82,600 82,600 82,600 82,600 May +/- by 20%; estimate per Table 1 in RFP
Cost Per Fixed Route Service Hour $58.19 $58.49 $61.30 $63.35 $64.96 $67.59 $69.17

All Service Hours 112,630 125,130 125,130 125,130 125,130 125,130 125,130 Calculation
Cost Per All Service Hours $31.98 $30.41 $31.75 $32.79 $33.77 $34.64 $35.58 Calculation

Fixed Costs
Fixed Wages and Benefits $2,774,786 $2,867,672 $2,952,458 $3,038,250 $3,126,840 $3,218,034 $3,312,067 Linked to multi-year staffing plan

Building and Grounds Expense $20,250 $20,655 $21,068 $21,490 $21,920 $22,358 $22,805 Facility Maintenance/Supplies, Janitorial Supplies
Parts and Tools $594 $606 $618 $631 $643 $656 $669 Tools

Overhead $178,272 $188,357 $193,314 $199,007 $204,999 $208,814 $214,462 Corporate Support allocation lowered

Insurance
Vehicle Liability - Buses $187,146 $196,503 $206,328 $216,645 $227,477 $238,851 $250,794 Fixed Vehicle Insurance Premiums
Vehicle Liability - Support Vehicles $25,290 $26,555 $27,882 $29,276 $30,740 $32,277 $33,891 Fixed Vehicle Insurance Premiums
Workers Compensation $32,232 $35,734 $37,822 $40,128 $42,316 $44,944 $47,346 Lower due to reduced staff
Uninsured Accident Repairs $26,827 $30,323 $30,930 $31,548 $32,179 $32,823 $33,479 Accident Repairs

Utilities
Water $37,011 $74,776 $90,452 $93,666 $97,011 $98,951 $100,930 Costs through March 2023 revised to actual
Electicity, Gas $34,560 $37,994 $40,116 $41,119 $42,147 $42,990 $43,850 Costs through March 2023 revised to actual
Waste (trash, sewer, recyc) $25,416 $25,925 $26,443 $26,972 $27,511 $28,062 $28,623 Trash Service

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 78 of 109

459



Multi-Year Price Plan
NVTA Transit Services RFP  - 2020
Updated February 2021

Current Maintenance 
Facility Option Year 1 Option Year 2

Cost Element CY 2022 CY 2023 CY 2024 CY 2025 CY 2026 CY 2027 CY 2028 Notes (Can include more detail in narrative)

------------------- Future Maintenance Facility ------------------

Proposer:
Date Submitted:

Prepared by: 

Transdev Services, Inc. 
5.28.2021

W.C. Pihl Senior Vice President Business Development

Hazardous Materials Waste $5,100 $5,202 $5,306 $5,412 $5,520 $5,630 $5,743 Environmental costs
Broadband $7,020 $4,592 $3,877 $3,974 $4,073 $4,154 $4,238 Costs through March 2023 revised to actual
Phone $11,547 $10,440 $10,173 $10,328 $10,487 $10,697 $10,911 Costs through March 2023 revised to actual

COVID19 Expenses
Personal Protective Equipment
Sanitization (labor costs)
Transit EOC services (i.e. food delivery)
Other

Performance Bond $7,375 $8,142 $8,529 $8,812 $9,070 $9,406 $9,683 Bond cost for 10% of annual revenue

Profit $72,029 $114,156 $158,910 $164,096 $169,036 $173,372 $178,061 Profit lowered due to reduced revenue

Other Operations Costs
Office Supplies/Shipping/Printing $26,002 $26,522 $27,053 $27,594 $28,146 $28,708 $29,283 Office Supplies, Shipping, Printing
Employee / Hiring Expenses $72,062 $77,912 $79,470 $81,060 $82,681 $84,335 $86,021 Slight reduction due to lowered staff count

(Fixed Costs - continued)
Other Equipment - Business

Computers/Supplies $33,731 $34,406 $35,094 $35,796 $36,512 $37,242 $37,987 Trapeze and software licenses
Tablet Data Plans

Depreciatian/Amoritized Costs
Existing Equipment Depreciation $7,300 $1,825 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Remaining depreciation on DriveCam units
Replacement Equip. Depreciation $16,900 $16,900 $16,900 $26,598 $26,598 $12,006 $693 MobilEye equipment, IT equipment, Pressure Washer/Trailer
Other

Mobilization Costs

Less Cost Allocations to:
Paratransit $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 ( ) amount linked to cost allocations above
On Demand/Variable $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 ( ) amount linked to cost allocations above
Fixed Route $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 ( ) amount linked to cost allocations above
Subtotal Cost Allocations $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Fixed Costs $3,601,452 $3,805,195 $3,972,745 $4,102,401 $4,225,906 $4,334,311 $4,451,533

Total Annual Amount $9,833,079 $10,855,445 $11,372,268 $11,748,911 $12,093,813 $12,541,715 $12,910,061

$486,738 $537,345 $553,375 $569,940 $586,671 $604,222 $621,968
$196,662 $325,664 $454,891 $469,956 $483,753 $501,669 $516,402

OVERHEAD 4.95% 4.95% 4.87% 4.85% 4.85% 4.82% 4.82%
PROFIT 2.00% 3.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 79 of 109

460



Multi-Year Price Plan
NVTA Transit Services RFP  - 2020
Updated February 2021

Current Maintenance 
Facility Option Year 1 Option Year 2

Cost Element CY 2022 CY 2023 CY 2024 CY 2025 CY 2026 CY 2027 CY 2028 Notes (Can include more detail in narrative)

------------------- Future Maintenance Facility ------------------

Proposer:
Date Submitted:

Prepared by: 

Transdev Services, Inc. 
5.28.2021

W.C. Pihl Senior Vice President Business Development

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 80 of 109

461



Multi-Year Staffing Plan Proposer:
NVTA Transit Services RFP - 2020 Date Submitted:
Updated February 2021 Prepared by: 

CONTRACTOR Position 
Listing Position Classification1

Fixed/Variable  
/Paratransit Cost Position #2

$ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE
General Manager General Manager Fixed Cost 216,454$     1.0 222,169$     1.0 228,027$     1.0 234,059$     1.0 240,265$     1.0 246,648$     1.0 253,210$     1.0
Safety and Training Manager Safety and Training Manager Fixed Cost 88,877$       1.0 91,250$       1.0 93,691$       1.0 96,202$       1.0 98,806$       1.0 101,482$     1.0 104,232$     1.0
Operations Manager Operations Manager Fixed Cost 90,781$       1.0 93,198$       1.0 95,684$       1.0 98,262$       1.0 100,911$     1.0 103,632$     1.0 106,426$     1.0
Maintenance Manager Maintenance Manager Fixed Cost 128,443$     1.0 131,800$     1.0 135,272$     1.0 138,835$     1.0 142,491$     1.0 146,265$     1.0 150,134$     1.0
Office Manager/HR Manager Office Manager/HR Manager Fixed Cost 84,735$       1.0 87,018$       1.0 89,370$       1.0 91,791$       1.0 94,283$       1.0 96,847$       1.0 99,485$       1.0

-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

609,290$     5.0 625,435$     5.0 642,044$     5.0 659,149$     5.0 676,757$     5.0 694,874$     5.0 713,485$     5.0
$ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE  $ FTE

Operations Supervisor Operations Supervisor Fixed Cost 80,777$       1.0 82,945$       1.0 85,181$       1.0 87,487$       1.0 89,838$       1.0 92,261$       1.0 94,756$       1.0
Road Supervisor Road Supervisor Fixed Cost 77,310$       1.0 79,407$       1.0 81,573$       1.0 83,808$       1.0 86,113$       1.0 88,465$       1.0 90,890$       1.0
Road Supervisor Road Supervisor Fixed Cost 78,037$       1.0 80,134$       1.0 82,300$       1.0 84,535$       1.0 86,840$       1.0 89,192$       1.0 91,617$       1.0
Road Supervisor Road Supervisor Fixed Cost 77,733$       1.0 79,832$       1.0 81,999$       1.0 84,236$       1.0 86,543$       1.0 88,897$       1.0 91,324$       1.0
Road Supervisor Road Supervisor Fixed Cost 77,755$       1.0 79,851$       1.0 82,015$       1.0 84,248$       1.0 86,551$       1.0 88,902$       1.0 91,325$       1.0
Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Cost 77,425$       1.0 79,521$       1.0 81,685$       1.0 83,918$       1.0 86,221$       1.0 88,571$       1.0 90,994$       1.0
Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Cost 77,709$       1.0 79,803$       1.0 81,965$       1.0 84,196$       1.0 86,497$       1.0 88,846$       1.0 91,267$       1.0
Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Cost -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0
Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Cost 77,655$       1.0 79,749$       1.0 81,911$       1.0 84,142$       1.0 86,444$       1.0 88,792$       1.0 91,213$       1.0
Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Route Dispatcher Fixed Cost 77,359$       1.0 79,453$       1.0 81,615$       1.0 83,846$       1.0 86,148$       1.0 88,496$       1.0 90,917$       1.0
Paratransit Dispatcher Paratransit Dispatcher Fixed Cost 77,493$       1.0 79,588$       1.0 81,750$       1.0 83,981$       1.0 86,282$       1.0 88,631$       1.0 91,052$       1.0
Paratransit Dispatcher Paratransit Dispatcher Fixed Cost 77,346$       1.0 79,439$       1.0 81,599$       1.0 83,829$       1.0 86,128$       1.0 88,475$       1.0 90,894$       1.0
Paratransit Dispatcher Paratransit Dispatcher Fixed Cost 55,635$       1.0 57,189$       1.0 58,788$       1.0 60,432$       1.0 62,147$       1.0 63,908$       1.0 65,719$       1.0
Paratransit Dispatcher Paratransit Dispatcher Fixed Cost 77,185$       1.0 79,277$       1.0 81,438$       1.0 83,667$       1.0 85,967$       1.0 88,313$       1.0 90,732$       1.0
Customer Service Representative Customer Service Representative Fixed Cost 55,215$       1.0 57,238$       1.0 59,118$       1.0 61,048$       1.0 63,052$       1.0 65,133$       1.0 67,290$       1.0
Customer Service Representative Customer Service Representative Fixed Cost 54,797$       1.0 56,821$       1.0 58,703$       1.0 60,635$       1.0 62,641$       1.0 64,723$       1.0 66,883$       1.0
Customer Service Representative Customer Service Representative Fixed Cost 51,513$       1.0 55,628$       1.0 59,155$       1.0 61,091$       1.0 63,103$       1.0 65,191$       1.0 67,356$       1.0
Trainer Trainer Fixed Cost 80,399$       1.0 82,563$       1.0 84,772$       1.0 87,050$       1.0 89,398$       1.0 91,817$       1.0 94,308$       1.0
Class A Mechanic Class A Mechanic Fixed Cost 93,522$       1.0 96,853$       1.0 99,894$       1.0 103,032$     1.0 106,295$     1.0 109,659$     1.0 113,125$     1.0
Class A Mechanic Class A Mechanic Fixed Cost 93,613$       1.0 96,949$       1.0 99,995$       1.0 103,139$     1.0 106,407$     1.0 109,776$     1.0 113,248$     1.0
Class B Mechanic Class B Mechanic Fixed Cost 88,721$       1.0 91,886$       1.0 94,784$       1.0 97,781$       1.0 100,877$     1.0 104,075$     1.0 107,375$     1.0
Class B Mechanic Class B Mechanic Fixed Cost 88,613$       1.0 91,778$       1.0 94,677$       1.0 97,673$       1.0 100,769$     1.0 103,967$     1.0 107,267$     1.0
Class C Mechanic Class C Mechanic Fixed Cost 71,189$       1.0 73,740$       1.0 76,096$       1.0 78,526$       1.0 81,032$       1.0 83,640$       1.0 86,327$       1.0
Class C Mechanic Class C Mechanic Fixed Cost 69,954$       1.0 73,897$       1.0 76,257$       1.0 78,690$       1.0 81,200$       1.0 83,812$       1.0 86,503$       1.0
Parts Clerk Parts Clerk Fixed Cost 55,272$       1.0 57,302$       1.0 59,193$       1.0 61,155$       1.0 63,169$       1.0 65,258$       1.0 67,424$       1.0
Bus Stop Maintenance Technician Bus Stop Maintenance Technician Fixed Cost 62,721$       1.0 64,983$       1.0 67,072$       1.0 69,236$       1.0 71,476$       1.0 73,795$       1.0 76,193$       1.0
Utility Worker Utility Worker Fixed Cost 62,733$       1.0 64,999$       1.0 67,091$       1.0 69,258$       1.0 71,502$       1.0 73,824$       1.0 76,226$       1.0
Utility Worker Utility Worker Fixed Cost 60,832$       1.0 65,364$       1.0 67,459$       1.0 69,630$       1.0 71,877$       1.0 74,203$       1.0 76,609$       1.0
Utility Worker Utility Worker Fixed Cost 63,058$       1.0 65,320$       1.0 67,409$       1.0 69,573$       1.0 71,813$       1.0 74,132$       1.0 76,530$       1.0
Utility Worker Utility Worker Fixed Cost 63,094$       1.0 65,364$       1.0 67,459$       1.0 69,630$       1.0 71,877$       1.0 74,203$       1.0 76,609$       1.0
Utility Worker Utility Worker Fixed Cost 60,832$       1.0 65,364$       1.0 67,459$       1.0 69,630$       1.0 71,877$       1.0 74,203$       1.0 76,609$       1.0

-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
-$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

2,165,496$  30.0 2,242,236$  30.0 2,310,414$  30.0 2,379,101$  30.0 2,450,083$  30.0 2,523,159$  30.0 2,598,581$  30.0

Operator Positions by Type Position Classification1
Fixed/Variable  
/Paratransit Cost 

# of 
Operators $ FTE $ FTE $ FTE $ FTE $ FTE $ FTE $ FTE

[can add/subract rows] -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0

CY 2026CY 2025CY 2024CY 2023CY 2022
Management Positions w/ Titles

Staff Positions w/ Titles

Staff Subtotal

Management  Subtotal

CY 2027 CY 2028

Transdev Services, Inc. 
5.28.2021
W.C. Pihl  Senior Vice President Business Development

Option Year 1 Option Year 2

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 81 of 109

462



Multi-Year Staffing Plan Proposer:
NVTA Transit Services RFP - 2020 Date Submitted:
Updated February 2021 Prepared by: 

CONTRACTOR Position 
Listing Position Classification1

Fixed/Variable  
/Paratransit Cost Position #2 CY 2026CY 2025CY 2024CY 2023CY 2022 CY 2027 CY 2028

Transdev Services, Inc. 
5.28.2021
W.C. Pihl  Senior Vice President Business Development

Option Year 1 Option Year 2

ParaTransit Operators ParaTransit Operators Paratransit Cost 7.6 514,698$     7.6 576,498$     8.3 597,010$     8.3 619,718$     8.3 646,979$     8.3 680,003$     8.3 712,088$     8.3
-$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0

All Other Operators All Other Operators Fixed Cost -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0 -$  0.0
Fixed Route Cost 43.0 3,381,158$  43.0 3,703,714$  47.0 3,842,808$  47.0 4,001,719$  47.0 4,108,090$  47.0 4,259,325$  47.0 4,356,745$  47.0
On Demand/Variable Cost 16.4 1,112,397$  16.4 1,305,195$  6.4 1,351,635$  18.7 1,403,045$  18.7 1,464,764$  18.7 1,539,531$  18.7 1,612,171$  18.7

Operators in Training Operators in Training Paratransit Cost 8,053$         0.0 8,650$         0.0 8,908$         0.0 9,175$         0.0 9,450$         0.0 9,733$         0.0 10,025$       0.0
Fixed Route Cost 49,940$       0.0 54,834$       0.0 56,470$       0.0 58,160$       0.0 59,904$       0.0 61,701$       0.0 63,552$       0.0
On Demand/Variable Cost 17,405$       0.0 19,583$       0.0 20,168$       0.0 20,772$       0.0 21,394$       0.0 22,036$       0.0 22,697$       0.0

5,083,652$  67.0 5,668,475$  61.6 5,877,000$  74.0 6,112,588$  74.0 6,310,581$  74.0 6,572,330$  74.0 6,777,280$  74.0
2,774,786$  35.0 2,867,672$  35.0 2,952,458$  35.0 3,038,250$  35.0 3,126,840$  35.0 3,218,034$  35.0 3,312,067$  35.0

$1,129,803 16.4 $1,324,779 6.37 $1,371,803 18.7 $1,423,817 18.7 $1,486,158 18.7 $1,561,568 18.7 $1,634,869 18.7
Total Fixed Route Costs $3,431,098 43 $3,758,548 47 $3,899,279 47 $4,059,879 47 $4,167,994 47 $4,321,026 47 $4,420,298 47

$2,774,786 35 $2,867,672 35 $2,952,458 35 $3,038,250 35 $3,126,840 35 $3,218,034 35 $3,312,067 35
$522,751 7.59 $585,148 8.27 $605,918 8.27 $628,893 8.27 $656,429 8.27 $689,736 8.27 $722,113 8.27

1 Position Classiciations should reference the minimum staffing requirement position classifications listed in the RFP, Section 2.9.2. 
2 Position # refers to the position control/position management number. 

Total Fixed Costs
Total Paratransit Costs

Grand Total of All Proposed Positions
 Operator Subtotal

Total On Demand/Variable Costs
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------LINKED TO MULTI-YEAR PRICE LIST - WAGES & BENEFITS--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 82 of 109

463



Cost Element OT/DT Reason
Fixed Cost COVID19 Testing Transport
On Demand/Variable Cost EOC Laundry Transport
Paratransit Cost Food Bank Warehouse
Fixed Route Cost Shelter Pickup
ADA Paratransit? Other
Yes
No

Exempt/Non-Exempt Filled/Vacant
Exempt Filled
Non-Exempt Vacant

Position Type
Reg
Temp

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 83 of 109

464



ATTACHMENT C 

BEST AND FINAL OFFER 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 84 of 109

465



May 28, 2021 

Mr. Antonio Onorato  
Project Manager 
Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
625 Burnell St.  
Napa, CA 94559 

Dear Mr. Onorato, 

Thank you for the opportunity to submit proposal clarifications and our Best and Final Offer 
(BAFO) for NVTA. We are committed to our partnership with you and to working together to 
continuously improve. We are working earnestly to improve our offering to NVTA through added 
technology and performance optimization tools, additional regional and corporate support, as 
well as increased transparency and new resources.   

We are hopeful that we will have the honor of working in the new contract term with NVTA to 
continue caring for our shared community as we embark on a new chapter for the Authority with 
the new operations and maintenance facility, new technology and the implementation of an 
electric fleet. As explained in more detail in the price narrative submitted in our proposal, we 
remain cognizant of NVTA’s budget, but also strive to have a balance that reflects the costs 
necessary to run a successful program. We have adjusted the following items in our BAFO price 
proposal and remain available to address any questions or clarification needed. 

• Performance Bond: Reduced to 10% of the annual contract value, which aligns with
industry standard.

• Utilities: Reduced utility cost in years 1 and 2 to align with our actual costs for the
existing facility; these costs increase for the new larger facility.

• Staffing: Revised dispatch staffing plan based on added technology and efficiencies
and reduced by one full time dispatcher position; as a result, there are other related
reductions in other staffing cost categories (workers’ compensation, hiring costs etc.).

• Administrative Costs: Further reduced overhead for the project to help mitigate the
increase in costs and as part of our desire to continue working together.

Thank you for considering our proposal clarifications and BAFO. If selected to continue working 
with you, you have my commitment that this contract will remain a consistent focus of my team 
and all those who support this operation.  Please contact me at 707.803.2954 or at 
wc.pihl@transdev.com or contact Vice President of Business Development Cristina Russell at 
707.474.7784 or at cristina.russell@transdev.com should you have any questions about our 
proposal.  

Sincerely, 

W.C. Pihl
Senior Vice President of Business Development

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 85 of 109

466



ATTACHMENT D 

FEDERAL CLAUSES 

1. AMENDMENTS
Any changes in the activities to be performed under this Agreement shall be incorporated in written 

amendments, which shall specify the changes in work performed and any adjustments in compensation and schedule. 
All amendments shall be executed by the NVTA Executive Director or a designated representative and CONTRACTOR. 
No claim for additional compensation or extension of time shall be recognized unless contained in a duly executed 
amendment. 

2. TERMINATION
Contractor’s failure to perform any term or condition of this Agreement as a result of conditions beyond its

control such as, but not limited to, war, strikes, fires, floods, acts of God, governmental restrictions, power failures, or 
damage or destruction of any network facilities or servers, shall not be deemed a breach of this Agreement, and may 
be cause for termination of the Agreement. (49 USC 5323 Sec 11) 

3. RETENTION OF RECORDS
Contractor agrees to keep, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, all records pertaining

to the project for audit purposes for a minimum of three (3) years following final payment to Contractor or four (4) years 
following the fiscal year of the last expenditure under this Agreement, whichever is longer,  except in the event of 
litigation or settlement of claims arising from the performance of this contract, in which case Contractor agrees to 
maintain same until NVTA,  the FTA Administrator, the Comptroller General, or any of their duly authorized 
representatives, have disposed of all such litigation, appeals, claims or exceptions related thereto. (49 USC 5323)  

4. AUDITS
Contractor agrees to grant NVTA or any agency that provides NVTA with funds for the Project, including but

not limited to, the U.S. Department of Transportation, FTA, the Comptroller General of the United States, the State, 
and their authorized representatives access to Contractor’s books and records for the purpose of verifying that funds 
are properly accounted for and proceeds are expended in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.  All documents 
shall be available for inspection during normal business hours at any time while the Project is underway, and for the 
retention period specified herein. The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any 
means whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed. (49 USC 5323 (g)) 

Contractor further agrees to include in all its third-party contracts hereunder a provision to the effect that the 
contractor agrees that NVTA, the U.S. Department of Transportation, FTA, the Comptroller General of the United 
States, the State, or any of their duly authorized representatives shall have access to and the right to examine any 
directly pertinent books, documents, papers, and records of such subcontractor, during normal business hours, for the 
term specified above.  The term “contract” as used in this clause excludes agreements not exceeding $25,000. 

5. BREACHES AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION
49 CFR Part 18 FTA Circular 4220.1F Applicable to: All contracts in excess of $100,000. See guidelines

under Chapter 3 of NVTA’s current Contracting and Procurement Procedures which are made a part of this contract 

6. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY/ CIVIL RIGHTS
In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 2000d); Section 303 of the Age

Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 6102); Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
(42 U.S.C. § 12132; and 49 U.S.C. § 5332 for federally funded projects, Contractor agrees that it will not, on the grounds 
of race, religious creed, color, national origin, age, physical disability, or sex, discriminate or permit discrimination 
against any employee or applicant for employment 

7. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBE)
The requirements of 49 CFR Part 26, Regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation, apply to this

contract.  It is the policy of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority to practice nondiscrimination based on race, color, 
sex, or national origin in the award or performance of this contract.  All firms qualifying under this solicitation are 
encouraged to submit bids/proposals.  Award of this contract will be conditioned upon satisfying the requirements of 
this bid specification.  These requirements apply to all bidders/offerors, including those who qualify as a DBE.  A DBE 
contract goal of 1 percent has been established for this contract. NVTA has an overall established DBE goal of 2.8 
percent. The bidder/offeror shall make good faith efforts, as defined in Appendix A, 49 CFR Part 26 , to meet the 
contract goal for DBE participation in the performance of this contract. 

The bidder/offeror will be required to submit the following information: (1) the names and addresses of DBE 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 86 of 109

467



firms that will participate in the contract;  (2) a description of the work that each DBE firm will perform; (3) the dollar 
amount of the participation of each DBE firm participating; (4) Written documentation of the bidder/offeror’s commitment 
to use a DBE subcontractor whose participation it submits to meet the contract goal; (5) Written confirmation from the 
DBE that it is participating in the contract as provided in the commitment made under (4); and (5) if the contract goal is 
not met, evidence of good faith efforts. 

The contractor, subrecipient, or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, 
or sex in the performance of this contract.  The contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in 
the award and administration of DOT assisted contracts.  Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a 
material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the recipient 
deems appropriate. 

The prime contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor under this prime contract for satisfactory performance 
of its contract no later than 15 days from the receipt of each payment the prime contract receives from NVTA.  The 
prime contractor agrees further to return retainage payments to each subcontractor within thirty days after the 
subcontractors work is satisfactorily completed.  Any delay or postponement of payment from the above referenced 
time frame may occur only for good cause following written approval of the NVTA.  This clause applies to both DBE 
and non-DBE subcontracts. 

Failure to comply with the terms of this provision may result in any or all of the following actions including but 
not limited to: 

1. A finding of material breach of contract
2. Suspension of payment of invoices
3. Bringing to the attention of the Department of Transportation any false, fraudulent, or dishonest

conduct in connection with the program, so that DOT can take the steps (e.g., referral to the Department of Justice for 
criminal prosecution, referral to the DOT Inspector General, action under suspension and debarment or Program Fraud 
and Civil Penalties result) provided in 26.109. 

The obligation of the bidder/offeror is to make good faith efforts.  The bidder/offeror can demonstrate that it 
has done so either by meeting the contract goal or documenting good faith efforts.  Examples of good faith efforts are 
found in Appendix A to Part 26. Forms 1 and 2 should be provided as part of the solicitation documents. 

8. INCORPORATION OF FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) TERMS
In the event that this project is funded by FTA in whole or in part, all contractual provisions required by DOT,

as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F are hereby incorporated by reference. Anything to the contrary herein 
notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions 
contained in this Agreement. The Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with 
any NVTA requests which would cause NVTA to be in violation of the FTA terms and conditions.  

9. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT REQUIREMENTS
Contractor will comply with 49 CFR Parts 27, 37, and 38, implementing and Americans with Disabilities Acti

and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 USC 794, as amended. 

10. STATE ENERGY CONSERVATION PLAN
Contractor shall comply with all mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency that are

contained in the State energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act (42 
USC 6321). 

11. DEBARMENT
Contractor certifies that neither it nor any of its participants, principals, or subcontractors is or has been

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions, 
as they are defined in 49 CFR Part 29, by any Federal agency or department. Contractor is required to comply with 49 
CFR 29, Subpart C and must include the requirement to comply with 49 CFR 29, Subpart C in any lower tier covered 
transaction it enters into. 

By signing and submitting its bid or proposal, the bidder or CONTRACTOR certifies as follows: 
The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by NVTA. If it is later determined that the 
bidder or CONTRACTOR knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to remedies available to NVTA, the 
Federal Government may pursue available remedies, including but not limited to suspension and/or debarment. The 
bidder or CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with the requirements of 49 CFR 29, Subpart C while this offer is valid and 
throughout the period of any contract that may arise from this offer. The bidder or CONTRACTOR further agrees to 
include a provision requiring such compliance in its lower tier covered transactions. 

12. CLEAN AIR AND WATER POLLUTION ACTS
Contractor agrees to comply with the applicable requirements of all standards, orders, or requirements issued

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 87 of 109

468

file://data2/legal/laws/circulars/publications_4063.html


under the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.), the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), Executive Order 
11738, and Environmental Protection Agency regulations (40 CFR Part 15).  The Contractor agrees to report each 
violation to NVTA and understands and agrees that NVTA will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure 
notification to FTA and the appropriate EPA Regional Office.  (2) The Contractor also agrees to include these 
requirements in each subcontract exceeding $100,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance. 

13. LOBBYING
Contractor agrees to comply with the restrictions on the use of federal funds for lobbying activities set forth in

31 U.S.C. § 1352 and 49 CFR Part 20.  In addition, in the event the Agreement exceeds $100,000, Contractor agrees 
to comply with the Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, 31 U.S.C. 1352, as amended by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 
1995, P.L. 104-65  and shall file the certification required by 49 CFR Part 20, "New Restrictions on Lobbying."  Each 
tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or 
organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, 
officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal 
contract, grant or any other award coved by 31 U.S.C. 1352.  Each tier shall also disclose the name of any registrant 
under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995 who has made lobbying contacts on its behalf with non-Federal funds with 
respect to that Federal contract, grant or award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352.  Such disclosures are forwarded from tier 
to tier up to the recipient.  APPENDIX A, 49 CFR PART 20--CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING Certification 
for Contracts, Grants, Loans, and Cooperative Agreements (To be submitted with each proposal or offer exceeding 
$100,000).   

14. INDEMNIFICATION
To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall hold harmless, defend at its own expense, and

indemnify NVTA and the officers, agents, employees and volunteers of NVTA from any and all liability, claims, losses, 
damages or expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, for personal injury (including death) or damage to property, 
from claims that to the extent they arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligent acts or omissions  of Contractor or 
its officers, agents, employees, volunteers, contractors and subcontractors in rendering professional services under 
this Agreement which constitute negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct, excluding, however, such liability, 
claims, losses, damages or expenses arising from the negligence or willful acts of NVTA or its officers, agents, 
employees or volunteers or any third parties.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree that Contractor’s 
obligation to defend the NVTA is solely limited to reimbursing NVTA for its reasonable costs for defending a claim 
including reasonable attorney’s fee, incurred by NVTA which are ultimately determined to be due to Contractor’s 
negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct.  Each party shall notify the other party immediately in writing of any 
claim or damage related to activities performed under this Agreement.  

15. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
Contractor shall comply with any and all laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, and requirements of

the federal, state or local government, and any agency thereof, including, but not limited to NVTA, the U.S. DOT and 
FTA, which relate to or in any manner affect the performance of this Agreement.  Those law, statutes, ordinances, 
rules, regulations, and procedural requirements that are imposed on NVTA as a Recipient of federal or state funds are 
hereby in turn imposed on Contractor (including, but not limited to, 49 CFR Part 18, “Uniform Administrative 
Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments”), and are herein incorporated 
by this reference and made a part hereof. 

16. BUY AMERICA REGULATIONS
Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C.  5323(j) and 49CFR Part 661 which provide that Federal funds

may not be obligated unless steel, iron, and manufactured products used in FTA-funded projects are produced in the 
United States, unless a waiver has been granted by FTA or the product is subject to a general wavier.  An Offeror must 
submit to the FTA recipient the appropriate Buy America certification with all proposals on FTA-funded contracts, except 
those subject to a general wavier.  The Buy America Certification may be found on file in the offices of NVTA.  Proposals 
or offers that are not accompanied by a completed Buy America certification must be rejected as nonresponsive.  This 
requirement does not apply to lower tier subcontractors. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH FTA REGULATIONS
Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures and directives,

including without limitation those listed directly or by reference in the Master Agreement between NVTA and FTA, as 
they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the term of this contract.  Contractor's failure to so 
comply shall constitute a material breach of this contract. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 88 of 109

469



18. DAVIS-BACON AND COPELAND ANTI-KICK BACK ACT
(a) Minimum wages
(i) All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon the site of the work (or under the United States

Housing Act of 1937 or under the Housing Act of 1949 in the construction or development of the project), will be paid 
unconditionally and not less often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any account 
(except such payroll deductions as are permitted by regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland 
Act (29 CFR part 3)), the full amount of wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time 
of payment computed at rates not less than those contained in the wage determination of the Secretary of Labor which 
is attached hereto and made a part hereof, regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to exist 
between the contractor and such laborers and mechanics. 

Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits under section 1(b)(2) of the 
Davis-Bacon Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to such laborers or mechanics, subject 
to the provisions of paragraph (1)(iv) of this section; also, regular contributions made or costs incurred for more than a 
weekly period (but not less often than quarterly) under plans, funds, or programs which cover the particular weekly 
period, are deemed to be constructively made or incurred during such weekly period.  Such laborers and mechanics 
shall be paid the appropriate wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination for the classification of work 
actually performed, without regard to skill, except as provided in 29 CFR Part 5.5(a)(4).  Laborers or mechanics 
performing work in more than one classification may be compensated at the rate specified for each classification for 
the time actually worked therein: Provided, That the employer's payroll records accurately set forth the time spent in 
each classification in which work is performed.  The wage determination and the Davis-Bacon poster (WH-1321) shall 
be posted at all times by the contractor and its subcontractors at the site of the work in a prominent and accessible 
place where it can be easily seen by the workers. 

(ii)(A) The contracting officer shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics, including helpers, which is 
not listed in the wage determination and which is to be employed under the contract shall be classified in conformance 
with the wage determination. The contracting officer shall approve an additional classification and wage rate and fringe 
benefits therefore only when the following criteria have been met: 

(1) Except with respect to helpers as defined as 29 CFR 5.2(n)(4), the work to be performed by the
classification requested is not performed by a classification in the wage determination; and 

(2) The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry; and
(3) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship

to the wage rates contained in the wage determination; and 
(4) With respect to helpers as defined in 29 CFR 5.2(n)(4), such a classification prevails in the area

in which the work is performed. 
(B) If the contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be employed in the classification (if known), or their

representatives, and the contracting officer agree on the classification and wage rate (including the amount designated 
for fringe benefits where appropriate), a report of the action taken shall be sent by the contracting officer to the 
Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division, Employment Standards Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, 
Washington, DC 20210.  The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will approve, modify, or disapprove every 
additional classification action within 30 days of receipt and so advise the contracting officer or will notify the contracting 
officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.  

(C) In the event the contractor, the laborers or mechanics to be employed in the classification or their
representatives, and the contracting officer do not agree on the proposed classification and wage rate (including the 
amount designated for fringe benefits, where appropriate), the contracting officer shall refer the questions, including 
the views of all interested parties and the recommendation of the contracting officer, to the Administrator for 
determination.  The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will issue a determination within 30 days of receipt 
and so advise the contracting officer or will notify the contracting officer within the 30-day period that additional time is 
necessary.  

(D) The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) determined pursuant to paragraphs (a)(1)(ii)
(B) or (C) of this section, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the classification under this contract from the
first day on which work is performed in the classification.

(iii) Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes
a fringe benefit which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the contractor shall either pay the benefit as stated in the 
wage determination or shall pay another bona fide fringe benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof. 

(iv) If the contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, the contractor may consider as
part of the wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing bona fide 
fringe benefits under a plan or program, Provided, That the Secretary of Labor has found, upon the written request of 
the contractor, that the applicable standards of the Davis-Bacon Act have been met.  The Secretary of Labor may 
require the contractor to set aside in a separate account assets for the meeting of obligations under the plan or program. 

(v)(A) The contracting officer shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics which is not listed in the wage 
determination and which is to be employed under the contract shall be classified in conformance with the wage 
determination.  The contracting officer shall approve an Additional classification and wage rate and fringe benefits 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 89 of 109

470



therefore only when the following criteria have been met: 
(1) The work to be performed by the classification requested is not performed by a classification in

the wage determination; and 
(2) The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry; and
(3) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship

to the wage rates contained in the wage determination. 

(b) Withholding
The NVTA shall upon its own action or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department 

of Labor withhold or cause to be withheld from the contractor under this contract or any other Federal contract with the 
same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements, 
which is held by the same prime contractor, so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be considered 
necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices, Trainees, and helpers, employed by the contractor 
or any subcontractor the full amount of wages required by the contract.   In the event of failure to pay any laborer or 
mechanic, including any apprentice, trainee, or helper, employed or working on the site of the work (or under the United 
States Housing Act of 1937 or under the Housing Act of 1949 in the construction or development of the project), all or 
part of the wages required by the contract, the NVTA may, after written notice to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or 
owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee 
of funds until such violations have ceased. 

(c) Payrolls and basic records
(i) Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be maintained by the contractor during the course of the

work and preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all laborers and mechanics working at the site of the work 
(or under the United States Housing Act of 1937, or under the Housing Act of 1949, in the construction or development 
of the project).  Such records shall contain the name, address, and social security number of each such worker, his or 
her correct classification, hourly rates of wages paid (including rates of contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide 
fringe benefits or cash equivalents thereof of the types described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act), daily 
and weekly number of hours worked, deductions made and actual wages paid.  Whenever the Secretary of Labor has 
found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) that the wages of any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably 
anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the 
contractor shall maintain records which show that the commitment to provide such benefits is enforceable, that the plan 
or program is financially responsible, and that the plan or program has been communicated in writing to the laborers or 
mechanics affected, and records which show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in providing such benefits. 
Contractors employing apprentices or Trainees under approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the 
registration of apprenticeship programs and certification of trainee programs, the registration of the apprentices and 
Trainees, and the ratios and wage rates prescribed in the applicable programs. 

(ii)(A) The contractor shall submit weekly for each week in which any contract work is performed a copy of all 
payrolls to the NVTA for transmission to the Federal Transit Administration.  The payrolls submitted shall set out 
accurately and completely all of the information required to be maintained under 29 CFR part 5.  This information may 
be submitted in any form desired.  Optional Form WH-347 is available for this purpose and may be purchased from the 
Superintendent of Documents (Federal Stock Number 029-005-00014-1), U.S.  Government printing office, 
Washington, DC 20402.  The prime contractor is responsible for the submission of copies of payrolls by all 
subcontractors. 

(B) Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a "Statement of Compliance,” signed by the contractor
or subcontractor or his or her agent who pays or supervises the payment of the persons employed under the contract 
and shall certify the following:  

(1) That the payroll for the payroll period contains the information required to be maintained under
29 CFR part 5 and that such information is correct and complete; 

(2) That each laborer or mechanic (including each helper, apprentice, and trainee) employed on the
contract during the payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages earned, without rebate, either directly or 
indirectly, and that no deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the full wages earned, other than 
permissible deductions as set forth in Regulations, 29 CFR part 3; 

(3) That each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less than the applicable wage rates and fringe
benefits or cash equivalents for the classification of work performed, as specified in the applicable wage determination 
incorporated into the contract.    

(C) The weekly submission of a properly executed certification set forth on the reverse side of Optional Form
WH-347 shall satisfy the requirement for submission of the "Statement of Compliance" required by paragraph (3)(ii)(B) 
of this section.    

(D) The falsification of any of the above certifications may subject the contractor or subcontractor to civil or
criminal prosecution under section 1001 of title 18 and section 231 of title 31 of the United States Code.   

(iii) The contractor or subcontractor shall make the records required under paragraph (3)(i) of this section
available for inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the Federal Transit Administration or 
the Department of Labor, and shall permit such representatives to interview employees during working hours on the 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 90 of 109

471



job.  If the contractor or subcontractor fails to submit the required records or to make them available, the Federal agency 
may, after written notice to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause 
the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds.  Furthermore, failure to submit the required 
records upon request or to make such records available may be grounds for debarment action pursuant to 29 CFR 
5.12. 

(d) Apprentices and Trainees
(i) Apprentices - Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined rate for the work they

performed when they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a bona fide apprenticeship program 
registered with the U.S.  Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration, Bureau of Apprenticeship and 
Training, or with a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Bureau, or if a person is employed in his or her first 
90 days of probationary employment as an apprentice in such an apprenticeship program, who is not individually 
registered in the program, but who has been certified by the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training or a State 
Apprenticeship Agency (where appropriate) to be eligible for probationary employment as an apprentice.  The allowable 
ratio of apprentices to journeymen on the job site in any craft classification shall not be greater than the ratio permitted 
to the contractor as to the entire work force under the registered program.  Any worker listed on a payroll at an 
apprentice wage rate, who is not registered or otherwise employed as stated above, shall be paid not less than the 
applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed.  In addition, any 
apprentice performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid 
not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed.  Where a contractor 
is performing construction on a project in a locality other than that in which its program is registered, the ratios and 
wage rates (expressed in percentages of the journeyman’s hourly rate) specified in the contractors or subcontractors 
registered program shall be observed.  Every apprentice must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the registered 
program for the apprentice's level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified in 
the applicable wage determination.  Apprentices shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of the 
apprenticeship program.  If the apprenticeship program does not specify fringe benefits, apprentices must be paid the 
full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination for the applicable classification.  If the Administrator of 
the Wage and Hour Division of the U.S.  Department of Labor determines that a different practice prevails for the 
applicable apprentice classification, fringes shall be paid in accordance with that determination.  In the event the Bureau 
of Apprenticeship and Training, or a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Bureau, withdraws approval of an 
apprenticeship program, the contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize apprentices at less than the applicable 
predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable program is approved. 

(ii) Trainees - Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, Trainees will not be permitted to work at less than the
predetermined rate for the work performed unless they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a 
program which has received prior approval, evidenced by formal certification by the U.S. Department of Labor, 
Employment and Training Administration.  The ratio of Trainees to journeymen on the job site shall not be greater than 
permitted under the plan approved by the Employment and Training Administration.  Every Trainee must be paid at not 
less than the rate specified in the approved program for the Trainee level of progress, expressed as a percentage of 
the journeyman hourly rate specified in the applicable wage determination.  Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in 
accordance with the provisions of the Trainee program.  If the Trainee program does not mention fringe benefits, 
Trainees shall be paid the full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination unless the Administrator of 
the Wage and Hour Division determines that there is an apprenticeship program associated with the corresponding 
journeyman wage rate on the wage determination which provides for less than full fringe benefits for apprentices.  Any 
employee listed on the payroll at a Trainee rate who is not registered and participating in a Training plan approved by 
the Employment and Training Administration shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage 
determination for the classification of work actually performed.  In addition, any Trainee performing work on the job site 
in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on 
the wage determination for the work actually performed.  In the event the Employment and Training Administration 
withdraws approval of a Training program, the contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize Trainees at less than the 
applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable program is approved. 

(iii) Equal employment opportunity - The utilization of apprentices, Trainees and journeymen under this part
shall be in conformity with the equal employment opportunity requirements of Executive Order 11246, as amended, 
and 29 CFR part 30. 

(e) Compliance with Copeland Act requirements:  The contractor shall comply with the requirements of 29 CFR part 3,
which are incorporated by reference in this contract.

(f) Subcontracts:  The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses contained in 29 CFR
5.5(a)(1) through (10) and such other clauses as the Federal Transit Administration may by appropriate instructions
require, and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts.  The
prime contractor shall be responsible for the compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all the
contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 91 of 109

472



(g) Contract termination:  debarment - A breach of the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5 may be grounds for termination
of the contract, and for debarment as a contractor and a subcontractor as provided in 29 CFR 5.12.

(h) Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act requirements:  All rulings and interpretations of the Davis-Bacon
and Related Acts contained in 29 CFR parts 1, 3, and 5 are herein incorporated by reference in this contract.

(i) Disputes concerning labor standards:   Disputes arising out of the labor standards provisions of this contract shall
not be subject to the general disputes clause of this contract.  Such disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the
procedures of the Department of Labor set forth in 29 CFR parts 5, 6, and 7.  Disputes within the meaning of this clause
include disputes between the contractor (or any of its subcontractors) and the contracting agency, the U.S.  Department 
of Labor, or the employees or their representatives.

(j) Certification of eligibility:
(i) By entering into this contract, the contractor certifies that neither it (nor he or she) nor any person or firm

who has an interest in the contractor's firm is a person or firm ineligible to be awarded Government contracts by virtue 
of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1). 

(ii) No part of this contract shall be subcontracted to any person or firm ineligible for award of a Government
contract by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1). 

(iii) The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in the U.S.  Criminal Code, 18 U.S.C. 1001.

19. CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT
(a) Overtime requirements:  No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work which

may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic 
in any workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of forty hours in such workweek unless 
such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay 
for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.  

(b) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages :  In the event of any violation of the clause set
forth in paragraph (1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefore shall be liable for the 
unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States for liquidated damages. 
Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen 
and guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each 
calendar day on which such individual was required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty 
hours without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section.  

(c) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages :  The (write in the name of the grantee) shall upon
its own action or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to 
be withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under any 
such contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract 
subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same prime contractor, such sums 
as may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages 
and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in paragraph (2) of this section.  

(d) Subcontracts:  The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in
paragraphs (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in 
any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or lower 
tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this section. (40 USC 3701-3708) 

20. NO GOVERNMENT OBLIGATION TO THIRD PARTIES
(a) Contractor acknowledges and agrees that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the Federal Government

in or approval of the solicitation or award of the underlying contract, absent the express written consent by the Federal 
Government, the Federal Government is not a party to this contract and shall not be subject to any obligations or 
liabilities to NVTA, Contractor, or any other party (whether or not a party to that contract) pertaining to any matter 
resulting from the underlying contract.  

(b) The Contractor agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with
Federal assistance.  It is further agreed that the clause shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who 
will be subject to its provisions. 

21. PROGRAM FRAUD AND FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS AND RELATED ACT
(a) The Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, as

amended, 31 U.S.C. § § 3801 et seq. and U.S. DOT regulations, "Program Fraud Civil Remedies," 49 C.F.R.  Part 31, 
apply to its actions pertaining to this Project.  Upon execution of the underlying contract, the Contractor certifies or 
affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, 
pertaining to the underlying contract or the FTA assisted project for which this contract work is being performed.  In 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 92 of 109

473



addition to other penalties that may be applicable, the Contractor further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to 
be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the Federal Government 
reserves the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 on the Contractor to the 
extent the Federal Government deems appropriate.  

(b) The Contractor also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent
claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government under a contract connected with a project that 
is financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance originally awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. § 
5307, the Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5307(n)(1) on 
the Contractor, to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate.  (3) The Contractor agrees to include the 
above two clauses in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.  It is 
further agreed that the clauses shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject. 

22. TRANSIT EMPLOYEE PROTECTIVE ARRANGEMENTS
The Contractor shall comply with applicable transit employee protective requirements, as follows:

b. Contractor agrees to carry out the transit operations work on the underlying contract in compliance with
terms and conditions determined by the U.S. Secretary of Labor to be fair and equitable to protect the interests of 
employees employed under this Contract and to meet the employee protective requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5333(b), and 
U.S. DOL guidelines at 29 CFR Part 215, and any amendments thereto. 

c. Contractor further agrees to include the applicable requirements in each subagreement involving transit
operations financed in whole or in part with federal assistance provided by the FTA. 

23. CARGO PREFERENCE-U.S.FLAG
(a) Agreement Clauses. "Use of United States-flag vessels:
(1) Pursuant to Pub. L. 664 (43 U.S.C. 1241(b)) at least 50 percent of any equipment, materials or commodities 

procured, contracted for or otherwise obtained with funds granted, guaranteed, loaned, or advanced by the U.S. 
Government under this agreement, and which may be transported by ocean vessel, shall be transported on privately 
owned United States-flag commercial vessels, if available. 

(2) Within 20 days following the date of loading for shipments originating within the United States or within 30
working days following the date of loading for shipments originating outside the United States, a legible copy of a rated, 
'on-board' commercial ocean bill-of-lading in English for each shipment of cargo described in paragraph (a)(1) of this 
section shall be furnished to the Contracting Officer (through the prime contractor in the case of subcontractor bills-of-
lading). 

(b) Contractor and Subcontractor Clauses. "Use of United States-flag vessels: The contractor agrees-
(1) To utilize privately owned United States-flag commercial vessels to ship at least 50 percent of the gross

tonnage (computed separately for dry bulk carriers, dry cargo liners, and tankers) involved, whenever shipping any 
equipment. material, or commodities pursuant to this contract, to the extent such vessels are available at fair and 
reasonable rates for United States-flag commercial vessels.  

(2) To furnish within 20 days following the date of loading for shipments originating within the United States or
within 30 working days following the date of loading for shipments originating outside the United States. a legible copy 
of a rated, 'on-board' commercial ocean bill-of-lading in English for each shipment of cargo described in paragraph (b) 
(1) of this section to the Contracting Officer (through the prime contractor in the case of subcontractor bills-of-lading).
(3) To insert the substance of the provisions of this clause in all subcontracts issued pursuant to this contract.

24. FLY AMERICA
49 U.S.C. § 40118 41 CFR Part 301-10 48 CFR Part 47.4 The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C.

40118 (the "Fly America" Act) in accordance with the General Services Administration's regulations at 41 CFR Part 
301-10, which provide that recipients and subrecipients of Federal funds and their contractors are required to use U.S.
Flag air carriers for U.S Government-financed international air travel and transportation of their personal effects or
property, to the extent such service is available, unless travel by foreign air carrier is a matter of necessity, as defined
by the Fly America Act. The Contractor shall submit, if a foreign air carrier was used, an appropriate certification or
memorandum adequately explaining why service by a U.S. flag air carrier was not available or why it was necessary to
use a foreign air carrier and shall, in any event, provide a certificate of compliance with the Fly America requirements.
The Contractor agrees to include the requirements of this section in all subcontracts that may involve international air
transportation.

25. BUS TESTING
Each third party contract to acquire a new bus model or a bus with significant alterations to an existing model must include

provisions to assure compliance with applicable requirements of 49 U.S.C. Section 5318, as amended by MAP-21, and FTA 
regulations, “Bus Testing,” 49 CFR Part 665.  

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 93 of 109

474



26. PREAWARD REVIEW AND POST DELIVERY REVIEW
Each third party contract to acquire rolling stock must include provisions for compliance with applicable

requirements of 49 U.S.C. Section 5323(m) and those provisions of FTA regulations, “Pre-Award and Post-Delivery 
Audits of Rolling Stock Purchases,” 49 CFR Part 663, that do not conflict with 49 U.S.C. Section 5323(m). 

27. INTELLIGENT TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS (ITS) - NATIONAL ARCHITECTURE
ITS projects shall conform to the National ITS Architecture and standards in accordance with the

requirements contained in this part. Conformance with the National ITS Architecture is interpreted to mean 
the use of the National ITS Architecture to develop a regional ITS architecture in support of integration and 
the subsequent adherence of all ITS projects to that regional ITS architecture. Development of the regional 
ITS architecture should be consistent with the transportation planning process for Statewide and 
Metropolitan Transportation Planning (49 CFR part 613 and 621).

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 94 of 109

475



120

W.C. Pihl, Senior Vice President

3/29/2021

Transdev Services, Inc.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 95 of 109

    ATTACHMENT E
    REQUIRED FORMS

476



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 96 of 109

477



124

W.C. Phil, Senior Vice President

3/26/2021

Transdev Services, Inc.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 97 of 109

478



126

DBE AND GOOD FAITH EFFORTS

NOTE: PLEASE REFER TO INSTRUCTIONS ON THE REVERSE SIDE OF THIS

AGENCY: LOCATION:

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT: $

PROPOSAL DATE:

PROPOSER'S NAME:

CONTRACT DESCRIPTION OR SERVICES TO BE DBE Cert. No. NAME OF DBEs PERCENTAGE OF
ITEM NO. SUBCONTRACTED AND EXPIRATION (Must be certified on the date bids DBE

DATE are opened - include DBE address
and phone number)

For Local Agency to Complete:

Local Agency Contract Number: 
Total Claimed 
Participation

$

Federal Aid Project Number: 

Federal Share: %

Contract Award Date: 

Local Agency certifies that the DBE certification(s) has been verified and all information 
is complete and accurate.

Signature of Proposer

Print Name Signature Date 
Local Agency Representative

(Area Code) Telephone Number:
Date (Area Code) Tel. No.

Print Name Signature Date 

Local Agency Bidder - DBE Commitment(Rev 3/09)

Napa Valley Transportation Authority Napa, CA
Transit Operations Services for the Vine Transit System

82,754,329
March 31, 2021

Transdev Services, Inc.

Uniforms  44655 - Active Cap Uniform Services 0.03%

Fleet maintenance 5898 - Active Walker's Auto Body & Fleet Repair 0.18%

Signs and promotional items 48012 - Active SignaRama 0.003%

173,219

0.21

3/29/21 630.571.7070

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 98 of 109

479



127

DBE Information – Good Faith Efforts

Federal-aid Project No. _ Bid Opening Date 

NVTA established a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) goal of 1% for this project. The 
information provided herein shows that a good faith effort was made. NVTA has an established 
Overall DBE Goal of 2.8%. 

Lowest, second lowest and third lowest bidders shall submit the following information to 
document adequate good faith efforts. Bidders should submit the following information even if 
the “Local Agency Bidder – DBE Commitment” form indicates that the bidder has met the DBE 
goal. This will protect the bidder’s eligibility for award of the contract if the administering 
agency determines that the bidder failed to meet the goal for various reasons, e.g., a DBE firm 
was not certified at bid opening, or the bidder made a mathematical error.

Submittal of only the “Local Agency Bidder – DBE Commitment” form may not provide 
sufficient documentation to demonstrate that adequate good faith efforts were made.

The following items are listed in the Section entitled “Submission of DBE Commitment” of the 
Special Provisions:

A. The names and dates of each publication in which a request for DBE participation
for this project was placed by the bidder (please attach copies of advertisements or
proofs of publication):

Publications Dates of Advertisement

B. The names and dates of written notices sent to certified DBEs soliciting bids for
this project and the dates and methods used for following up initial solicitations to
determine with certainty whether the DBEs were interested (please attach copies of
solicitations, telephone records, fax confirmations, etc.):

Names of DBEs
Solicited

Date of Initial
Solicitation

Follow Up Methods
and Dates

RFP No. 20-06 3/31/21

Please see attached

Please see attached

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 99 of 109

480



128

C. The items of work which the bidder made available to DBE firms, including, where
appropriate, any breaking down of the contract work items (including those items
normally performed by the bidder with its own forces) into economically feasible
units to facilitate DBE participation. It is the bidder's responsibility to demonstrate
that sufficient work to facilitate DBE participation was made available to DBE
firms.

Items of Work Bidder Normally
Performs Item
(Y/N)

Breakdown of
Items

Amount($) Percentage 
of

Contract

E. The names, addresses and phone numbers of rejected DBE firms, the reasons for the
bidder's rejection of the DBEs, the firms selected for that work (please attach copies
of quotes from the firms involved), and the price difference for each DBE if the
selected firm is not a :

Names, addresses and phone numbers of rejected DBEs and the reasons for the 
bidder's rejection of the DBEs:

Names, addresses and phone numbers of firms selected for the work above:

F. Efforts made to assist interested DBEs in obtaining bonding, lines of credit or
insurance, and any technical assistance or information related to the plans,
specifications and requirements for the work which was provided to DBEs:

Uniforms
Fleet repair
Signs & promo items

Please see attached

Please see attached

Not Applicable

Uniforms
Fleet repair
Signs & promo items

$22,303
$148,686

$2,230

0.03%

0.18%

0.003%N
Y

N

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 100 of 109

481



129

F. Efforts made to assist interested DBEs in obtaining necessary equipment,
supplies, materials, or related assistance or services, excluding supplies and
equipment the DBE subcontractor purchases or leases from the prime
CONTRACTOR or its affiliate:

G. The names of agencies, organizations or groups contacted to provide
assistance in contacting, recruiting and using DBE firms (please attach
copies of requests to agencies and any responses received, i.e., lists,
Internet page download, etc.):

Name of Agency/Organization Method/Date of Contact Results

G. Any additional data to support a demonstration of good faith efforts (use
additional sheets if necessary):

NOTE: USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS OF PAPER IF NECESSARY.

Not Applicable

Vectour Transportation Services

Transdev currently works with local MBE and SBE companies, including Hometown Trolley, Ramirez Towing and
Transportation Services, who are not certified by CalTrans at this time.

If NVTA accepts certification from entities other than CalTrans, we would include these organizations.

Phone and email - 11/4/20 Hired to perform outreach

Please see attached.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 101 of 109

482



131

Transdev Services, Inc.

Not Applicable. Transdev does not have any deviations.

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 102 of 109

483



70

TRANSIT EMPLOYEE PROTECTIVE AGREEMENTS 

The Proposer agrees to comply with all applicable transit employee protective requirements. 

49 U.S.C. 5333, 5310 and 5311 

(a) General Transit Employee Protective Requirements - To the extent that FTA determines that
transit operations are involved, the Proposer agrees to carry out the transit operations work on the
underlying contract in compliance with terms and conditions determined by the U.S. Secretary of
Labor to be fair and equitable to protect the interests of employees employed under this contract
and to meet the employee protective requirements of 49 U.S.C. A 5333(b), and U.S. DOL guidelines
at 29 C.F.R. Part 215, and any amendments thereto. These terms and conditions are identified in
the letter of certification from the U.S. DOL to FTA applicable to the FTA Recipient's project from
which Federal assistance is provided to support work on the underlying contract. The Proposer
agrees to carry out that work in compliance with the conditions stated in that U.S. DOL letter. The
requirements of this subsection (1), however, do not apply to any contract financed with Federal
assistance provided by FTA either for projects for elderly individuals and individuals with disabilities
authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 531O(a)(2), or for projects for non-urbanized areas authorized by 49
U.S.C. § 5311. Alternate provisions for those projects are set forth in subsections (b) and (c) of this
clause.

(b) Transit Employee Protective Requirements for Projects Authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5310(a)(2)
for Elderly Individuals and Individuals with Disabilities - If the contract involves transit
operations financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance authorized by 49 U.S.C. §
5310(a)(2), and if the U.S. Secretary of Transportation has determined or determines in the future
that the employee protective requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) are necessary or appropriate
for the state and the public body sub recipient for which work is performed on the underlying
contract, the Proposer agrees to carry out the Project in compliance with the terms and
conditions determined by the U.S. Secretary of Labor to meet the requirements of 49 U.S.C. §
5333(b), U.S. DOL guidelines at 29 C.F.R. Part 215, and any amendments thereto. These terms and
conditions are identified in the U.S. DOL's letter of certification to FTA, the date of which is set forth
Grant Agreement or Cooperative Agreement with the state. The Proposer agrees to perform transit
operations in connection with the underlying contract in compliance with the conditions stated in that
U.S. DOL letter.

(c) Transit Employee Protective Requirements for Projects Authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5311 in
Non-Urbanized Areas - If the contract involves transit operations financed in whole or in part with
Federal assistance authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5311, the Proposer agrees to comply with the
terms and conditions of the Special Warranty for the Non-urbanized Area Program agreed to by the
U.S. Secretaries of Transportation and Labor, dated May 31, 1979, and the procedures
implemented by U.S. DOL or any revision thereto.

The Proposer also agrees to include any applicable requirements in each subcontract involving 
transit operations financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by the FTA. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 103 of 109

484



71

THE PROPOSER, ____________________, CERTIFIES OR AFFIRMS THE TRUTHFULNESS AND 
ACCURACY OF EACH STATEMENT SUBMITTED ON OR WITH THIS CERTIFICATION AND 
UNDERSTANDS THAT THE PROVISIONS OF 49 U.S.C. 5333, 5310 and 5311 APPLY TO THIS 
CERTIFICATION. 

_____________________________ 

_____________________________ Date

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 104 of 109

485



LEVINE ACT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

California Government Code § 84308, commonly referred to as the “Levine Act,” precludes an 
Officer of a local government agency from participating in the award of a contract if he or she 
receives any political contributions totaling more than $250 in the 12 months preceding the 
pendency of the contract award, and for three months following the final decision, from the person 
or company awarded the contract.  This prohibition applies to contributions to the Officer, or 
received by the Officer on behalf of any other Officer, or on behalf of any candidate for office or 
on behalf of any committee.  The Levine Act also requires disclosure of such contributions by a 
party to be awarded a specified contract.  Please refer to the attachment for the complete statutory 
language. 

Current members of the NVTA Board of Directors are: 

1. Have you or your company, or any agent on behalf of you or your company, made any
political contributions of more than $250 to any NVTA Director(s) in the 12 months
preceding the date of the issuance of this request for proposal or request for
qualifications?

___ YES ___  NO

If yes, please identify the Director(s):   ________________________________________

2. Do you or your company, or any agency on behalf of you or your company, anticipate or
plan to make any political contributions of more than $250 to any NVTA Director(s) in the
three months following the award of the contract?

___ YES ___ NO

If yes, please identify the Director(s):   ___________________________________________  

Mark Joseph
Beth Kahiga
Gary Kraus  
Alfredo Pedr oza 
Belia Ramos
Scott Sedgley  

Liz Alessio  
Chris Canning  
Paul Dohring  
Kerri Dorman  
John F. Dunbar 
Geoff Ellsworth  
Leon Garcia 

Answering yes to either of the two questions above does not preclude NVTA from awarding a contract 
to your firm.  It does, however, preclude the identified Director(s) from participating in the contract award 
process for this contract. 

  DATE    (SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED OFFICIAL) 

      (TYPE OR WRITE APPROPRIATE NAME, TITLE) 

    (TYPE OR WRITE NAME OF COMPANY) 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 105 of 109

486



California Government Code Section 84308 

(a) The definitions set forth in this subdivision shall govern the interpretation of this section.
(1) "Party" means any person who files an application for, or is the subject of, a proceeding involving a license, permit, or other

entitlement for use.
(2) "Participant" means any person who is not a party but who actively supports or opposes a particular decision in a proceeding 

involving a license, permit, or other entitlement for use and who has a financial interest in the decision, as described in
Article 1 (commencing with Section 87100) of Chapter 7.  A person actively supports or opposes a particular decision in a
proceeding if he or she lobbies in person the officers or employees of the agency, testifies in person before the agency, or
otherwise acts to influence officers of the agency.

(3) "Agency" means an agency as defined in Section 82003 except that it does not include the courts or any agency in the
judicial branch of government, local governmental agencies whose members are directly elected by the voters, the
Legislature, the Board of Equalization, or constitutional officers.  However, this section applies to any person who is a
member of an exempted agency but is acting as a voting member of another agency.

(4) "Officer" means any elected or appointed officer of an agency, any alternate to an elected or appointed officer of an agency,
and any candidate for elective office in an agency.

(5) "License, permit, or other entitlement for use" means all business, professional, trade and land use licenses and permits and
all other entitlements for use, including all entitlements for land use, all contracts (other than competitively bid, labor, or
personal employment contracts), and all franchises.

(6) "Contribution" includes contributions to candidates and committees in federal, state, or local elections.

(b) No officer of an agency shall accept, solicit, or direct a contribution of more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250) from any party,
or his or her agent, or from any participant, or his or her agent, while a proceeding involving a license, permit, or other entitlement
for use is pending before the agency and for three months following the date a final decision is rendered in the proceeding if the
officer knows or has reason to know that the participant has a financial interest, as that term is used in Article 1 (commencing
with Section 87100) of Chapter 7.  This prohibition shall apply regardless of whether the officer accepts, solicits, or directs the
contribution for himself or herself, or on behalf of any other officer, or on behalf of any candidate for office or on behalf of any
committee.

(c) Prior to rendering any decision in a proceeding involving a license, permit or other entitlement for use pending
before an agency, each officer of the agency who received a contribution within the preceding 12 months in an amount of more
than two hundred fifty dollars ($250) from a party or from any participant shall disclose that fact on the record of the proceeding.
No officer of an agency shall make, participate in making, or in any way attempt to use his or her official position to influence
the decision in a proceeding involving a license, permit, or other entitlement for use pending before the agency if the officer has
willfully or knowingly received a contribution in an amount of more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250) within the preceding
12 months from a party or his or her agent, or from any participant, or his or her agent if the officer knows or has reason to know
that the participant has a financial interest in the decision, as that term is described with respect to public officials in Article 1
(commencing with Section 87100) of Chapter 7.  If an officer receives a contribution which would otherwise require
disqualification under this section, returns the contribution within 30 days from the time he or she knows, or should have known,
about the contribution and the proceeding involving a license, permit, or other entitlement for use, he or she shall be permitted to
participate in the proceeding.

(d) A party to a proceeding before an agency involving a license, permit, or other entitlement for use shall disclose on the record of
the proceeding any contribution in an amount of more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250) made within the preceding 12 months
by the party, or his or her agent, to any officer of the agency.  No party, or his or her agent, to a proceeding involving a license,
permit, or other entitlement for use pending before any agency and no participant, or his or her agent, in the proceeding shall
make a contribution of more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250) to any officer of that agency during the proceeding and for
three months following the date a final decision is rendered by the agency in the proceeding.  When a closed corporation is a
party to, or a participant in, a proceeding involving a license, permit, or other entitlement for use pending before an agency, the
majority shareholder is subject to the disclosure and prohibition requirements specified in subdivisions (b), (c), and this
subdivision.

(e) Nothing in this section shall be construed to imply that any contribution subject to being reported under this title shall not be so
reported.

For more information, contact the Fair Political Practices Commission, 1102 Q St #3000, Sacramento, CA 95811, (916) 322-5660. 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 106 of 109

487



 

ATTACHMENT F 

CERTIFICATES AND PERFORMANCE BONDS 

- RESERVED -
to be added upon award 

Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 107 of 109

488



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 108 of 109

489



Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES

21-12 TRANSDEV/060321_ryk Page 109 of 109

490



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.4 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  APPROVE 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Salary Range for Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) 
Job Classifications 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-
22 (Attachment 1) adopting the FY 2021-22 Salary Ranges for NVTA Job Classifications 
based upon a compensation study of comparable transportation agencies and Bay Area 
Consumer Price Index (CPI). 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

At the February 19, 2014, meeting, the Board approved a revision to Section 2.10 
Performance Evaluation of the NVTA Policies, Practices, and Procedures Personnel 
Policies which established that pay grades will be adjusted annually and indexed to the 
average of County of Napa, Sonoma County Transportation Authority, and Solano 
Transportation Authority increases for a given year or Bay Area Consumer Price Index 
(CPI) for all labor within Napa County, whichever is greater.  For year ending 2020, the 
average increase for the County of Napa (0%), Sonoma County Transportation Authority 
(0%) and Solano Transportation Authority (0%) equaled 0% whereas the CPI was 2%.  

The lack of qualified job applicants for open positions over the last several years prompted 
staff to initiate a compensation study in 2020 which was completed in March 2021.  Prior 
to the study, the most recent compensation study was conducted with partnering 
agencies in 2011.  Staff is recommending that the board use the findings from the 2021 
study as the basis to adjust the FY 2021-22 salary ranges. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Is there a Fiscal Impact?  No, only the salary ranges will be adjusted, not employee 
salaries.  Individual employee salary increases are based on employee performance. 

491



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.4 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested: APPROVE 

 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Letter 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY: Laura Sanderlin, Office Manager/Board Secretary 

(707) 259-8633/ Email: lsanderlin@nvta.ca.gov 
 
SUBJECT: Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Salary Ranges for Napa Valley 

Transportation Authority (NVTA) Job Classifications 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-
22 (Attachment 1) approving the Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Salary Ranges for NVTA Job 
Classifications based upon a compensation study of comparable transportation agencies 
and Bay Area Consumer Price Index (CPI). 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In October 2011, the Board approved Resolution No. 11-25 creating a salary classification 
structure and establishing compensation ranges for NVTA job classifications based upon 
the agency’s compensation and classification study.  At the time, the agency was 
grappling with the fallout of the Great Recession and the cost of living was lower than 
other Bay Area counties.  Until 2014, NVTA relied on annual adjustments based on the 
Consumer Price Index to adjust salary levels.  
 
At the February 19, 2014, meeting, the Board approved a revision to Section 2.10 
Performance Evaluation of the NVTA Policies, Practices, and Procedures Personnel 
Policies which established that pay grades will be adjusted annually and indexed to the 
average of County of Napa, Sonoma County Transportation Authority, and Solano 
Transportation Authority increases for a given year or Bay Area Consumer Price Index 
(CPI) for all labor within Napa County, whichever is greater.   
 

492

mailto:lsanderlin@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.4 
July 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 4 

 
 
At the September 18, 2019 meeting, the Board approved Resolution No. 19-15 
(Attachment 2), adopting a salary increase of 2.4% to all job classifications based on the 
index for FY 2019-20. 
 
For FY 2020-21, there was no increase request brought to the Board in light of the 
uncertain economic impacts of COVID-19, resulting in the last adjustment occurring 
nearly two years ago.  
 
Salary Survey 
 
Recruiting qualified candidates for open positions over the last several years has been 
challenging.  The Napa Consumer Price Index is proportionately higher than a number of 
other Bay Area communities and housing prices are soaring.  Commuting into Napa from 
other locations also limits prospective candidates.  In order to retain staff and draw more 
quality candidates, the agency needs ensure employees are provided with a good work 
experience and fair compensation packages that are commiserate with other 
transportation agencies in the Bay Area.   
 
Staff initiated a salary compensation study in 2020 and completed in March of 2021.  The 
goals of the compensation study are to assist NVTA in developing a competitive pay and 
benefit plan, which is based upon current market data, and to ensure that the plan is 
fiscally responsible but which meets NVTA’s employee recruitment and retention 
objectives. 
 
Analysis was conducted of potential agencies to be included in the Agency’s labor market 
using objective criteria including geographic proximity to the NVTA, number of full‐time 
equivalent employees, population, comparable agency budget, cost of living factors, 
comparable services, and sales tax revenue. 
 
The compensation study surveyed the most current salary schedules from the following 
agencies:  
 
Alameda County Transportation Commission 
Contra Costa Transportation Authority 
Transportation Authority of Marin 
San Francisco County Transportation Authority 
Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority 
Solano Transportation Authority 
Sonoma County Transportation Authority 
City of Napa 
County of Napa 
Fairfield Suisun Transit 
Petaluma Transit 
Santa Rosa City Bus 

493



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.4 
July 21, 2021 
Page 3 of 4 

 
 
Vacaville City Bus  
Solano County Transit 
 
The study included sixteen (16) benchmark classifications for which data was collected. 
Benchmark classifications were selected to collect salary data within the defined labor 
market.  Benchmark classifications are those classifications that are compared to the 
market. 
 
Administrative Technician 
Accounting Technician 
Senior Administrative Technician 
Director – Administration, Finance & Policy 
Director, Capital Development and Planning 
Governmental Affairs – Policy Analyst 
Marketing & Communications Officer 
Senior Administrator  
Manager – Engineering & Projects 
Project Manager/Engineer Associate 
Project Manager/Engineer Senior 
Manager – Public Transit 
Transportation Planner – Principal Planner/Administrator  
Transportation Planner – Senior Planner/Administrator 
Transportation Planner – Associate Planner/Administrator 
Senior Financial Analyst 
 
The findings showed that NVTA salary ranges are lower consistently across all employee 
classifications.  To remain competitive with other agencies, staff is recommending that 
the board adjust salary ranges as follows: 
 

• Adjust the bottom range of each classification by 2% (Bay Area CPI). 
• Adjust the top range to be consistent with the average salary amount by 

classification in the compensation study. 
• Impose a salary cap of no more than 120% of the NVTA existing classification 

range. 
• Maintain parity between existing comparable salary ranges. 

 
The adjustment applies to the salary range only and does not imply that employees will 
receive a raise.  Actual employee salary adjustments are based on each individual 
employee’s performance and awarded at the time of their annual performance evaluation. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Board could decide not approve the annual proposed salary ranges based on the 
compensation study.  However, certain employees would be working “out of class” as 

494



Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.4 
July 21, 2021 
Page 4 of 4 

 
 
their merit increases would place their salaries above the outdated ranges.  The Board 
could instead increase salary ranges by 2.0% based on the current NVTA Policies, 
Practices, and Procedures Personnel Policies. 
 
STRATEGIC GOALS MET BY THIS PROPOSAL 
 
Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
(1) Resolution No. 21-19 Proposed FY 2021-22 Salary Ranges 
(2) Resolution No. 19-15 FY 2019-2020 Salary Ranges 
(3) Salary Matrix with Survey Comparison  

495



 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION No 21-22 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE 
NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (NVTA) 

APPROVING FISCAL YEAR (FY) 2021-22 SALARY RANGES FOR 
NVTA JOB CLASSIFICATIONS 

 
 

WHEREAS, the NVTA policy is to establish and maintain a general compensation 
and classification structure for NVTA employees that is externally competitive and internally 
aligned; and 

 
WHEREAS, the compensation plan, including salary ranges, should be reviewed and 

updated as necessary based on marketplace survey data, internal relationships, and NVTA 
financial constraints; and 

 
WHEREAS, the last compensation study was conducted in July 2010 by 

Cooperative Personnel Services Human Resources Consulting; and  
 

WHEREAS, on June 15, 2011, the Board approved an updated compensation plan 
based on the findings of such study; and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 19, 2011, the Board approved Resolution No. 11-25 
establishing compensation ranges for NVTA job classifications; and 

 
WHEREAS, on February 19, 2014, the Board revised Section 2.10 Performance 

Evaluation of the NVTA Policies, Practices, and Procedures Personnel policies which 
established that pay grade ranges will be adjusted annually and indexed to the average 
of County of Napa, Sonoma County Transportation Authority, and Solano Transportation 
Authority increases for a given year or Bay Area Consumer Price Index (CPI) for all labor 
within Napa County, whichever is greater; and 

 
WHEREAS, the average increase in the 2020 indexes for the County of Napa 

(0%), Sonoma County Transportation Authority (0%) and Solano Transportation Authority 
(0%) equals 0%, and the Bay Area CPI Index ending December 2020 is 2.0%. 
 

WHEREAS, a compensation study of salary schedules from Alameda County 
Transportation Commission, Contra Costa Transportation Authority, Transportation 
Authority of Marin, San Francisco County Transportation Authority, Santa Clara Valley 
Transportation Authority, Solano Transportation Authority, Sonoma County 
Transportation Authority, City of Napa, County of Napa, Fairfield and Suisun Transit, 
Petaluma Transit, Santa Rosa City Bus, Vacaville City Bus and Soltrans; and 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.4 

July 21, 2021 

496



 
Resolution No. 21-22 

Page 2 of 3 

WHEREAS, the findings from such study provided supporting evidence to update 
NVTA’s compensation plan to be in better alignment with the current labor market; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Napa Valley 
Transportation Authority that the FY 2021-22 minimum salary ranges for NVTA Job 
Classifications, which reflects the Bay Area Consumer Price Index (CPI) of 2.0% and FY 
2021-22 maximum salary ranges for NVTA Job Classifications, which reflects the 
competitive marketplace data, are hereby adopted as set forth in Exhibit “A”. 
 

THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION WAS DULY AND REGULARLY ADOPTED by 
the Board of Directors of the Napa Valley Transportation Authority, at a regular meeting 
held on July 21, 2021, by the following vote: 
 
 
______________________ 
Alfredo Pedroza, NVTA Chair       Ayes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                 Nays: 
 
 
 
                 Absent: 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Laura Sanderlin, NVTA Board Secretary 
 
APPROVED:  
 
_______________________________ 
DeeAnne Gillick, NVTA Legal Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 

497



 
Resolution No. 21-22 

Page 3 of 3 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 
 
 

FY 2021-22 Monthly Salary Range 
Job Title Minimum Maximum 

Executive Director Separate Contract 

Director - Administration, Finance and Policy $11,547 $14,943 

Director - Capital Development and Planning $11,547 $14,943 

Program Manager – Engineering and Projects $9,607 $11,547 

Program Manager - Public Transit $9,607 $11,547 

Principle Program Planner/Administrator $8,769 $12,349 

Senior Program Planner/Administrator $7,971 $10,686 

Associate Program Planner/Administrator $6,969 $8,905 

Assistant Program Planner/Administrator $6,027 $7,542 

Transportation Program Planner and Policy Analyst $6,027 $9,835 

Communications Officer $6,969 $9,835 

Senior Financial Analyst $6,969 $9,398 

Accounting Technician $5,753 $7,336 

Senior Administrative Technician $5,753 $7,336 

Administration Technician (Office Coordinator) $5,003 $6,377 

 

498



499



500



501



Salary Matrix with Survey Comparison

Proposed Low High Low High Low (2% 
Increase)

High (20% 
Cap)

% Increase 
Over High 

Current 
Salary

Director - Administration, Finance and Policy $11,321 $12,453 $14,252 $16,215 $11,547 $14,944 20%

Director - Capital Development and Planning $11,321 $12,453 $13,110 $16,826 $11,547 $14,944 20%

Program Manager – Engineering and Projects $9,419 $11,321 $11,509 $14,559 $9,607 $13,585 20%

Program Manager - Public Transit $9,419 $11,321 $9,536 $11,029 $9,607 $13,585 20%

Principle Program Planner/Administrator $8,597 $10,338 $9,951 $12,406 $8,769 $12,406 20%

Senior Program Planner/ Administrator $7,815 $9,398 $8,610 $10,687 $7,971 $10,686 14%

Associate Program Planner/Administrator $6,833 $8,197 $7,190 $8,906 $6,970 $8,906 9%

Assistant Program Planner/Administrator $5,909 $7,086 $6,158 $7,542 $6,027 $7,542 6%

Transportation Program Planner and Policy 
Analyst $5,909 $8,197 $9,886 $12,859 $6,027 $9,835 20%

Communications Officer $6,833 $8,197 $8,194 $10,320 $6,970 $9,835 20%

Senior Financial Analyst $6,833 $8,197 $7,648 $9,657 $6,970 $9,398 15%

Accounting Technician $5,641 $6,986 $5,752 $7,224 $5,754 $7,336 5%

Senior Administrative Technician $5,641 $6,986 $6,093 $7,592 $5,754 $7,336 5%

Administration Technician (Office 
Coordinator) $4,905 $6,073 $5,777 $7,194 $5,003 $6,377 5%

Current Salary Range Range from Survey Proposed Salary Range

ATTACHMENT 3
NVTA Agenda Item 9.4

July 21, 2021

502



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.5 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  INFORMATION 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
COVER MEMO 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT 

Federal and State Legislative Update 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board receive the Federal 
Legislative update and the State Legislative update prepared by Platinum Advisors and 
the State Bill Matrix. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The attached memo will provide the Board with federal and state legislative updates.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

503



July 21, 2021 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.5 

Continued From: New 
Action Requested:  INFORMATION 

 
 

NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Board Agenda Memo 
______________________________________________________________________ 

TO:      Board of Directors 

FROM:     Kate Miller, Executive Director 
REPORT BY:  Kate Miller, Executive Director  

(707) 259-8634 / Email: kmiller@nvta.ca.gov 

SUBJECT: Federal and State Legislative Update 
______________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board Federal Legislative update 
and the State Legislative update prepared by Platinum Advisors (Attachment 1) and the 
State Bill Matrix (Attachment 2). 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Federal Update:  
There is still much division between senate Republicans and Democrats on how to move 
forward with Biden’s multi-trillion dollar infrastructure plan. Senate Minority Leader Mitch 
McConnell has warned against Democrats trying to pass such a bill on party lines. Senate 
Majority Leader, Schumer, would need support of all 50 Democratic senators with two 
senators, Senators Joe Manchin (D-W.VA) and Kyrsten Sinema (D-Arizona), unlikely to 
support a $3 trillion bill.  The Biden Administration is now working on a $1.2 trillion 8-year 
infrastructure bill. 
 
State Update:   
The legislature adopted the budget bill AB 128, there is however, a number of trailer bills 
that will actually define how state funds will flow this year.  The Assembly and Senate 
have already adopted a number of trailer bills which the governor has signed, including 
AB 149 which enacts a number of statutory changes related to transportation projects 
and program. The bill extends the State Transportation Agency (CalStA) National 
Environmental Policy Act authority to January 1, 2025.  The bill also extends Caltrans’ 
indirect cost cap to 10% to Self Help Counties, such as Napa.   
 
The bill further extends Transportation Development Act (TDA)/State Transit Assistance 
(STA) statutory relief implemented during the pandemic associated performance metrics 

504

mailto:kmiller@nvta.ca.gov


Napa Valley Transportation Authority               Agenda Item 9.5 
July 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 2 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
that due to shifting revenues and lower ridership would be difficult if not impossible to 
meet given the current state of transit.  The bill funded a number of programs but detail 
on how the funds will be allocated is pending additional trailer bills. AB 149 made $4.3 
billion available for broadband and $1.8 billion ($3.2 billion over three years) for zero 
emission vehicles, of which roughly 10% will go to towards freight, school buses and 
transit buses. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
(1) June 29, 2021 State Budget Update (Platinum Advisors) 
(2) June 25, 2021 State Bill Matrix (Platinum Advisors) 

505



1 
 

 

 
 
June 29, 2021 
 
TO: Kate Miller, Executive Director 
 Napa Valley Transportation Authority 
 
FR: Steve Wallauch 
 Platinum Advisors 
 
RE: Budget Update          
 
Budget:  With the June 15th deadline having been dispensed with when the legislature adopted 
AB 128, the real budget negotiations have begun.  The administration and legislative leadership 
met over the weekend and every day last week, and an agreement has been reached on the 
first round of bills.  AB 129/SB 129, the first “budget bill junior,” was amended on Friday 
evening, and approved by both houses yesterday evening.  The Governor is expected to sign 
these bills by tomorrow.   
In addition, several budget trailer bills were amended late last week and today.  This first group 
of budget trailer bill will be taken up today, and others will be acted on later this week.  Budget 
bill juniors include the appropriations, while budget trailer bills contain the statutory changes to 
implement the appropriations.   
 
Budget staff estimate that there will be several budget bill juniors and an unknown number of 
budget trailer bills.  The first batch of budget trailer bills include AB/SB 139 regarding the 
Golden State Stimulus proposal, AB/SB 146 regarding correctional facilities, AB/SB 152 on 
elections, and AB/SB 158 on hazardous waste.  Trailer bills expected to be adopted later this 
week include AB/SB 148 on resources, AB 149 on transportation, AB/SB 150 on taxes, AB/SB 
151 on economic development, and AB/SB 157 on crime prevention,  
 
We have previously stated it will be a long summer of budget related legislation, and we are 
sticking to that.  We will keep you posted as budget bills and trailers bill are amended. 
 
AB 149 – Transportation:  AB 149 is the budget trailer bill that enacts numerous statutory 
changes related to transportation projects and programs.  This will likely be to first of several 
transportation trailer bills as negotiations continue on other funding programs included in the 
budget.  AB 149 includes the following provisions: 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.5 

July 21, 2021 

506



2 
 

NEPA Delegation: Existing law has authorized CalSTA to assume the responsibilities of the 
United States Secretary of Transportation under the federal National Environmental Policy Act 
of 1969 and other federal environmental laws for any railroad, public transportation, or 
multimodal project undertaken by state agencies.  This authority has been extended several 
times, and the current authority sunsets on January 1, 2022.  AB 149 extends this authority until 
January 1, 2025. 

Indirect Cost:  Existing law places a temporary cap on the indirect overhead rate Caltrans could 
charge self-help counties for engineering work, which expires on July 1, 2021.  Caltrans is also 
required to submit a report on the impact of that cap by July 1, 2021.  AB 149 extends this 
program until January 1, 2023. 

TDA Revisions:  The January Budget proposal included budget trailer bill language to extend 
statutory relief that was provided to local transit agencies as part of the 2020 Budget Act, as 
well as a variety of changes to various requirements of the Transportation Development Act.  
AB 149 includes the following Transportation Development Act (TDA) law changes. 

• State Transit Assistance (STA) and Local Carbon Transit Operation Program (LCTOP) 
allocations will continue to be based on the amount calculated in August 2020 for an 
additional year, extending this allocation for the 2019-20 to the 2022-23 fiscal year. 

• The annual TDA transit productivity report requirement is suspended for the 2020-21 
through 2022-23 fiscal years. 

• Caltrans is required to prepare and submit a new report by November 30, 2021, 
identifying and proposing changes to streamline existing public transit performance 
audits.  This report will be prepared in consultation with transportation planning 
agencies, transportation commissions, and transit development boards. 

• Farebox recovery ratio requirements are suspended for two additional years. This relief 
would cover fiscal years 2019-20 through fiscal year 2022-23. 

• The operating cost calculation definition is amended to make the following changes: 
o All costs associated with ADA paratransit costs are exempt. 
o Cost to operate demand response transit service or micro transit service is 

exempt. 
o Costs of funding or improving payment and ticketing systems and services is 

exempt. 
o Costs of security services and public safety contracts are exempt 
o Any expense greater than the actuarially determined contribution associated with 

pensions and other post-employment benefits is exempt.   
o Costs of planning for improvements in transit operations, integration with other 

operators and agencies, transitioning to zero-emission operations, and for 
compliance with state and federal mandates are exempt. 

• When calculating fare box revenue, any free or reduced fare may be calculated at the 
full retail value. 

507



3 
 

• Creates a new path that exempts transit operators from TDA requirements.  Under this 
new path a transit operator would be exempt from TDA requirements until July 1, 2026, 
if the operator maintains a level of funding equal to the amount of local funds dedicated 
to transit operations in the 2018-19 fiscal year.  Operators that choose this path must 
comply in a timely manner any requests from the State Controller for expenditure data. 

MOE Relief:  Provides SB 1 local streets and roads maintenance of effort relief for cities and 
counties from the local expenditure requirements in the 2019-20 to 2021-22 fiscal year. 

Clean California Program:    AB/SB 129 includes $418 million for the Clean California Program, 
which would fund littler abatement programs and state and local beautification, and education 
projects.  AB 149 includes provisions to implement the Clean California Local Grant Program.  
This program would provide grants of up to $5 million to local and regional public agencies, 
transit agencies, and tribal governments cleaning up local streets and roads, tribal lands, parks, 
pathways, transit centers, and other public spaces.  Caltrans will have 6 months to develop the 
guidelines for this program, and at least 50% of the funds shall be allocated to projects in 
disadvantaged communities.   

Transportation Funding:  Although AB/SB 129 appropriates funds for various transportation 
funding programs these appropriations remain contingent on future legislation specifying how 
the funds should be allocated.  The language that was added to these line items specifies that 
legislation specifying the allocation must be enacted by October 10, 2021.  The pending trailer 
bills include the following programs: 
 

• Port of Oakland – AB 128, the main budget bill, included nearly $280 million for 
transportation improvement projects accessing and within the Port of Oakland.  SB 129, 
the budget bill junior, does not amend that amount. 

• Los Angeles Olympics - $1 billion General Fund to deliver critical projects in time for the 
2028 Olympic Games.   

• Priority Transit and Rail Projects - $1 billion General Fund for transit and rail projects 
statewide that improve rail and transit connectivity between state and regional/ local 
services.   

• Active Transportation—$500 million General Fund to advance projects that increase the 
proportion of trips accomplished by walking and biking, increase the safety and mobility 
of non-motorized users.   

• Climate Adaptation -- $150 million for the CTC to be used for the development and 
implementation of projects that adapt the state highways system to address changing 
climate impacts. 

• High Priority Grade Separations and Grade Crossing Improvements - $500 million General 
Fund to support critical safety improvements throughout the state.   

• State Highway Rehabilitation and Local Roads and Bridges - $2 billion ($1.1 billion special 
funds through 2028, and $968 million federal funds) to support the advancement of 
priority state and local projects.   

508



4 
 

• Zero-Emission Rail and Transit Equipment Purchases and Infrastructure - $100 million 
General Fund, $280 million Public Transportation Account (PTA), and $27 million federal 
funds) to demonstrate and purchase or lease state-of-the-art clean bus and rail 
equipment and infrastructure. 

Broadband:  Budget for 2021-22 includes $4.3 billion total for broadband for the fiscal year, with 
the entire middle mile appropriation contained in the fiscal year.  However, details will continue 
to be negotiated.  The funding commitment for broadband totals $6 billion, which is currently 
split as follows: $3.75 billion for middle-mile infrastructure; $250 million for a loan-loss reserve, 
and $2 billion for last-mile projects. 

Zero Emission Vehicles:  The budget significantly increases the investment in the transition to 
zero emission vehicles, by allocating $1.8 billion in 2021-22, and a total of $3.2 billion over the 
next three years.  The funding source is a mix of cap & trade, general fund, and Clean 
Transportation Program funding.   

CARB Appropriations: 
• Funds $315 million for drayage, school bus, and transit bus ZEV incentives.   
• Adopts $150 million for transportation equity programs. 
• Approves $525 for the Clean Vehicle Rebate Project with $10 million for e-bikes. 
• Approves $500 million for HVIP/CORE for medium and heavy-duty trucks and buses.  

This includes $70 million in HVIP funds for transit buses. 
• Approves $45 million to replace diesel medium and heavy-duty trucks with low 

emission trucks in severe non-attainment air districts. 
Energy Commission Appropriations: 

• $84.7M for hydrogen and charging infrastructure for drayage trucks 
• $29.7M for hydrogen and charging infrastructure for transit operators. 
• $19.8M for hydrogen and charging infrastructure for school buses 
• $494M for hydrogen and charging for light, medium and heavy-duty infrastructure. 
• $124M for in state manufacturing grants to incentivize in-state manufacturing of 

zero emission vehicles, and charging/fueling equipment.  The grant size is capped at 
$50 million. 

 

509



1 
 

 
 

June 25, 2021 
 
BOARD POSITION ITEMS 

 
Bills 

Subject Status Client 
Positions 

AB 43 
(Friedman D) 
Traffic safety. 

AB 43 would implement some of the findings 
of the Vision Zero Task Force to reduce 
pedestrian and bicyclist fatalities by allowing 
local governments greater flexibility in setting 
speed limits.   
AB 43 authorize a speed limit to be set at a 
level other than the speed limit determined 
by 85th percentile traffic survey in the 
following areas: 

• Requires traffic surveyors to take into 
account the presence of vulnerable 
groups, including children, seniors, the 
unhoused and persons with 
disabilities when setting speed limits;  

• Permits cities to lower speed limits 
beyond the 85th percentile on streets 
with high injuries and fatalities, and 
ensures they will never again have to 
raise a speed limit on any road if there 
have been no design changes; and 
limits the need for updated traffic 
surveys on certain streets; and  

• Provides for greater flexibility in 
setting school speed limits to protect 
children.  

SENATE TRANSP SUPPORT 

AB 117 
(Boerner 
Horvath D) 
Air Quality 
Improvement 
Program: 
electric bicycles. 
 
 

As amended by the Assembly Appropriations 
Committee, AB 117 authorizes, but does not 
require, the California Air Resources Board 
(CARB) to establish an Electric Bicycle 
Rebate Pilot Project.  This project builds 
upon existing rebate programs for zero 
emission vehicles in an effort to promote the 
use of electric bicycles and expand the ability 
to purchase electric bicycles.  Similar 

SENATE TRANSP SUPPORT 

ATTACHMENT 2 
NVTA Agenda Item 9.5 

July 21, 2021 

510

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%2043');
https://a43.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20117');
https://a76.asmdc.org/
https://a76.asmdc.org/


2 
 

AB 117 
(Continued) 

programs have been established at the local 
level and in other states and counties. 

AB 122 
(Boerner 
Horvath D) 
Vehicles: 
required stops: 
bicycles. 

AB 122 would amend existing law to allow 
bicyclists to enter an intersection without 
coming to a complete stop if specified 
conditions are met.   
AB 122 would create a pilot program that 
would sunset on January 1, 2028, and a 
report to the legislature would be required.  
The bill would require a bicyclist when 
approaching a stop sign at an intersection to 
yield the right-of-way to any vehicles that 
have stopped at the entrance of the 
intersection, have entered the intersection, or 
that are approaching on the intersecting 
highway close enough to constitute an 
immediate hazard, and shall continue to yield 
the right-of-way to those vehicles until 
reasonably safe to proceed. 

SENATE TRANSP WATCH 

AB 339 
(Lee D) 
State and local 
government: 
open meetings. 

AB 330 was substantially amended.  As 
amended the bill would only apply to cities 
and counties with a population above 
250,000.  The amendments also remove the 
translator language and allow the effected 
cities and counties to provide public 
testimony by phone OR by an internet-based 
service, but not both.  These new 
requirements would sunset on December 
31st, 2023. 
 

SENATE GOV & F WATCH 

AB 361 
(Rivas, 
Robert  D) 
Open meetings: 
local agencies: 
teleconferences. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AB 361 creates an alternative process for 
local agencies to hold teleconference 
meetings under the following conditions: 
 
• The legislative body holds a meeting for 

the purpose of proclaiming or ratifying a 
local emergency. 

• The legislative body holds a meeting 
during a proclaimed state of emergency 
or declared local emergency, and state or 
local officials have imposed or 
recommended measures to promote 
social distancing. 

• The legislative body holds a meeting 
during a declared local emergency and 

SENATE G &F WATCH 

511

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20117');
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20122');
https://a76.asmdc.org/
https://a76.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20339');
https://a25.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20361');
https://a30.asmdc.org/
https://a30.asmdc.org/


3 
 

AB 361 
(Continued) 

the legislative body determines by 
majority vote that, as a result of the 
emergency, the attendance of one or 
more members of the legislative body in 
person is hindered, or meeting in person 
would present imminent risks to the 
health or safety of attendees. 

 
The bill requires that members of the public 
can access the meeting and the agenda shall 
provide an opportunity for members of the 
public to address the legislative body. 
In addition, the legislative body is required to 
re-adopt the resolution every 30 days 
authorizing during the local or statewide 
emergency. 
  

AB 550 
(Chiu D) 
Vehicles: speed 
safety system 
pilot program. 

AB 550 establishes a five-year pilot program 
to give local transportation authorities in the 
Cities of San Jose, Oakland, Los Angeles, 
two unspecified southern California cities, 
and the City and County of San Francisco 
the authority to install automated speed 
safety systems. 
 
AB 550 specifies the conditions where an 
automated system can be placed, limits the 
amount of the citation, specifies that the 
citation shall count as a point on a license, 
and specifies how the proceeds from citation 
can be spent.  In addition, the bill states that 
the system shall not continue to operate on 
any given street if within the first 18 months 
of installation of a system, specified 
conditions related to a reduction in violations 
are not met.  
  

ASSEMBLY APPR 
Held on Suspense 
Two-Year Bill 

SUPPORT 

AB 629 
(Chiu D) 
San Francisco 
Bay area: public 
transportation. 
 
 
 
 

AB 629 contains an outline of a proposal to 
improve transit coordination in the Bay Area.  
As amended, AB 629 was unanimously 
approved by the Assembly Transportation 
Committee.   
In short, the provisions in AB 629 generally 
outline the need for reports on work already 
underway, such as wayfinding, fare 
integration, and real-time route information.  

ASSEMBLY APPR 
Suspense File 
Two-Year Bill 

WATCH 

512

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20361');
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20550');
https://a17.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20629');
https://a17.asmdc.org/


4 
 

AB 629 
(Continued) 

The controversial content will likely not arise 
until this measure reaches the Senate and 
when the recommendations made by the 
Task Force are complete.   
 

AB 703 
(Rubio, 
Blanca D) 
Open meetings: 
local agencies: 
teleconferences. 

AB 703 is a two-year bill that would allow 
local agencies to use teleconference 
services to hold legislative meetings at any 
time.  However, recent amendments added 
language requiring at least a quorum of the 
legislative body be present at a single 
location, which restricts the flexibility of using 
current technology to conduct public 
meetings. 
 

Under AB 703, the local agency must allow 
members of the public to observe the 
meeting and address the legislative body, 
and it shall give notice of the meeting and 
post agendas as otherwise required.  In 
addition, the bill requires the legislative body 
that uses teleconferencing must implement a 
procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving 
requests for reasonable accommodation for 
individuals with disabilities, consistent with 
the federal Americans with Disabilities Act. 
 

ASSEMBLY   L. 
GOV. 
 
Two-Year Bill 

WATCH 

AB 1157 
(Lee D) 
Local 
transportation 
funds: State 
Transit 
Assistance 
Program: 
reports. 

AB 1157 is the reintroduction of AB 2542 
from last year.  This bill would make the 
following changes to the STA reporting 
requirements. 

• Shifts the deadline for when a regional 
transportation planning agency 
(RTPA) must submit an STA eligibility 
report to the State Controller’s Office 
(SCO) to within seven months of the 
end of each fiscal year. 

• Requires SCO to compile, publish, 
and make publicly available on its 
website the data and information of all 
transit operator financial transaction 
reports (FTRs) on or before November 
1 of each year. 

SENATE APPR WATCH 

513

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20629');
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%20703');
https://a48.asmdc.org/
https://a48.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%201157');
https://a25.asmdc.org/


5 
 

AB 1401 
(Friedman D) 
Residential and 
commercial 
development: 
parking 
requirements. 
 

AB 1401 prohibits local governments from 
imposing or enforcing a minimum automobile 
parking requirement for residential, 
commercial, and other developments if the 
parcel is located within one-half mile walking 
distance of either of a high-quality transit 
corridor or a major transit stop.  These 
locations are defined as follows:  
 
• a high-quality transit corridor means a 

corridor with fixed route bus service with 
service intervals no longer than 15 
minutes during peak commute hours.  

• “Major transit stop” means a site 
containing any of the following: 

o An existing rail or bus rapid transit 
station. 

o A ferry terminal served by either a 
bus or rail transit service. 

o The intersection of two or more 
major bus routes with a frequency 
of service interval of 15 minutes or 
less during the morning and 
afternoon peak commute periods. 
 

SENATE GOV & F WATCH 

ACA 1 
(Aguiar-
Curry D) 
Local 
government 
financing: 
affordable 
housing and 
public 
infrastructure: 
voter approval. 

Identical to last session’s proposal, which 
NVTA supported, ACA 1 would lower the 
voter threshold for property tax increases, 
parcel taxes and sales taxes to 55% if the 
funds are used for affordable housing and 
infrastructure projects.  This includes capital 
improvements to transit and streets and 
highways.   
However, ACA 1 does not allow for the 55% 
local measure to use the tax revenue for 
transit operations. 
 

ASSEMBLY LOC 
GOV 

Support 

SB 274 
(Wieckowski D) 
Local 
government 
meetings: 
agenda and 
documents. 
 

SB 274 requires local agencies that have 
websites to email a copy of, or provide a link 
to, the agenda packet, if an individual 
requests the local agency to deliver these 
items by email.  In addition, SB 274 provides 
if the local agency determines that it is not 
technologically feasible to send a copy of, or 
provide a link to, the agenda packet, the local 

ASSEMBLY APPR WATCH 

514

javascript:OpenBillInfo('AB%201401');
https://a43.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('ACA%201');
https://a04.asmdc.org/
https://a04.asmdc.org/
javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%20274');
http://sd10.senate.ca.gov/


6 

SB 274 
(Continued) 

agency must mail a copy of the agenda, or 
send a link to the agenda, and mail all other 
documents. 

SB 674 
(Durazo D) 
Public 
Contracts: 
workforce 
development: 
transportation-
related 
contracts. 

SB 674 was introduced to create the 
California Jobs Plan Act of 2021, which sets 
the goal of maximizing and supporting the 
creation of equitable high-quality 
transportation and related manufacturing and 
infrastructure jobs in California.  However, 
this bill would create new procurement rules 
and procedures for state and local public 
transportation and transportation-related 
contracts, subsidies, loans, and grants of $10 
million or more to incentivize creation and 
retention of non-temporary full-time 
transportation jobs. 

ASSEMBLY 
TRANSP 

WATCH 

BUDGET ITEM 

CTA Request for 
HVIP Funds 

The California Transit Association (CTA) is 
heading an effort to create a funding set-
aside of at least $80 million for transit 
agencies, specifically, within the Hybrid and 
Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher 
Incentive Project (HVIP).  The proposed 
budget currently dedicates $315 million in 
cap-and-trade funds for truck, bus, and off-
road freight projects.  The CTA’s proposal 
would dedicate $80 million of those funds 
specifically for HVIP rebates for zero 
emission public transit bus purchases. 

Budget 
Negotiations 

SUPPORT 

515

javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%20274');
javascript:OpenBillInfo('SB%20674');
http://sd24.senate.ca.gov/

	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_Draft Minutes
	0002_1_Staff Report
	8.2_Housley Quitclaim Deed_Cover_kes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-18 Authorization to Convey Fee Simple Interest in Real Property Identified as Assessor Parcel Number (APN) 035-0110-028 by Quitclaim Deed to the City of Napa and auth...
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	8.2_Housley Quitclaim Deed_Memo.LS_ERRATA
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board approve Resolution No. 21-18 (Attachment 1) approving the Amended and Restated Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement and Authorization to Transfer an Easement Interest in Real Property Iden...

	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND


	8.2_Housley Quitclaim Deed Attch 1 Resolution 21-18 & Exhibit A_kes_ERRATA
	8.2_Housley Quitclaim Deed Attch 1 Resolution 21-18_kes
	8.2_Housley Quitclaim Deed Attch 1 Resolution 21-18 Exhibit A Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement 5-21-21_kes

	8.2_Housley Quitclaim Deed Attch 2 Grant of Easement and Easement Agreement 5-21-21_kes_ERRATA
	8.2_Housley QuitClaim Deed Attch 3 Quitclaim Deed_kes
	NAME City of Napa
	Napa, CA  94559-0660
	QUITCLAIM DEED

	8.2_Housley Quitclaim Deed Attch 4 Public Notice_kes_ERRATA

	0003_1_Staff Report
	8.3_Amendment #4 to add funds and scope for Vine Trail PSE contract to RSA_Cover-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	8.3_Amendment #4 to add funds and scope for Vine Trail PSE contract to RSA_Memo-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE or INFORMATION
	RECOMMENDATION
	That the Napa Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) Board authorize the Executive Director, or designee, to execute and make minor modification to Amendment #4 to Project Work Order No. E-13 (Attachment 1) to NVTA Agreement No. 18-23 with RSA+ for th...

	COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND


	8.3_Amendment #4 to add funds and scope for Vine Trail PSE contract to RSA Attch 1 Amendment #4 RSA_VT PSE

	0004_1_Staff Report
	9.1_TDA-3 Countywide Claim_Cover DM_ls-KM no changes
	Action Requested: APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	FISCAL IMPACT


	9.1_TDA-3 Countywide Claim_Memo DM_ls-KM changes
	9.1_TDA-3 Countywide Claim Attch 1 Resolution No 21-19 DM_kes-KM no changes
	9.1_TDA-3 Countywide Claim Attch 2 Three Year Project List AE_kes_DM revised
	Sheet1

	9.1_TDA-3 Countywide Claim Attch 3 Fund Estimate 2021-22

	0005_1_Staff Report
	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility_Cover ao_kes-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	FISCAL IMPACT


	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility_Memo ao_kes-Km changes
	Action Requested: APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION


	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 1 Resolution 21-20 TIFIA Loan Bus Maint Fac_kes ss-KM
	Passed and adopted this 21st day of July, 2021.

	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 2 TIFIA_Term_Sheet_ls-KM
	Napa Valley Transportation Authority Vine Transit Maintenance Facility Project
	TIFIA Loan Agreement Term Sheet

	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 3 Draft NVTA TIFIA Loan Agreement_ls-KM
	Section 1. Definitions
	(a) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed seeking (i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of the Borrower or any of its debts, or of a substantial part of the assets thereof, under an...
	(b) the Borrower shall (i) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, liquidator, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official therefor or for a substantial part of the assets thereof, (ii) generally not be paying its ...
	(c) (i) the Collateral Agent shall commence a process pursuant to which all or a substantial part of the Collateral may be sold or otherwise disposed of in a public or private sale or disposition pursuant to a foreclosure of the Liens thereon securing...
	(d) the Collateral Agent shall transfer, pursuant to directions issued by the Secured Lenders, funds on deposit in any of the Project Accounts upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default under this Agreement or the Other Fin...

	Section 2. Interpretation
	Section 3. TIFIA Loan Amount
	Section 4. Disbursement Conditions
	(a) TIFIA Loan proceeds shall be disbursed solely in respect of Eligible Project Costs paid or incurred by or on behalf of the Borrower in connection with the Project.  The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that any costs incurred in connection with th...
	(b) The Borrower shall deliver copies of each Requisition to the TIFIA Lender, the Servicer (if any) and the FTA Regional Office on or before the first (1st) Business Day of each month for which a disbursement is requested.  Subject to Section 4(d), i...
	(c) The Borrower may amend the Anticipated TIFIA Loan Disbursement Schedule by submitting a revised version thereof to the TIFIA Lender no later than thirty (30) days prior to the proposed effective date of such amendment, together with a detailed exp...
	(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement (including this Section 4, Section 12 (Conditions Precedent) or Exhibit D), in no event shall the TIFIA Lender have any obligation to make any disbursement of proceeds of the TIF...

	Section 5. Term
	Section 6. Interest Rate
	Section 7. Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance; Revisions to Exhibit G and Loan Amortization Schedule
	(a) The Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance will be (i) increased on each occasion on which the TIFIA Lender disburses loan proceeds hereunder, by the amount of such disbursement of loan proceeds; and (ii) decreased upon each payment or prepayment of the O...
	(b) The TIFIA Lender is hereby authorized to modify the Loan Amortization Schedule included in Exhibit G from time-to-time to reflect (i) any change to the Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance, (ii) any change to the date and amount of any principal or inte...

	Section 8. Security and Priority; Flow of Funds.
	(a) As security for the TIFIA Loan, the Borrower shall (i) pledge, assign and grant to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the TIFIA Lender, a senior Lien on the Collateral described in clause (a) of the definition thereof and (ii) assign and gran...
	(b) Except (i) for the Liens granted pursuant to the Other Financing Documents or the TIFIA Loan Documents in respect of Permitted Debt described in clauses (a) through (c) of the definition thereof, or (ii) to the extent otherwise provided in clause ...
	(c) The Borrower shall not use LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower or Farebox Revenues to make any payments or satisfy any obligations other than in accordance with the provisions of this Section 8 (Security and Priority; Flow of Funds), the Other Fin...
	(d) The CASA provides that all LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower and all Farebox Revenues shall, subject to Section 5.03(g) thereof, be deposited in the Revenue Account and amounts on deposit in the Revenue Account shall be applied in the order of p...

	Section 9. Payment of Principal and Interest
	(a) Payment Dates.  The Borrower agrees to pay the principal of and interest on the TIFIA Loan by making payments in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the CASA on each Payment Date, beginning on the Debt Service Payment Commencement...
	(b) Payment of TIFIA Debt Service.  On each Payment Date occurring on or after the Debt Service Payment Commencement Date, the Borrower shall pay TIFIA Debt Service in the amounts set forth in respect of such Payment Date on Exhibit G, as the same may...
	(c) Manner of Payment.  Payments under this Agreement and the TIFIA Note shall be made by wire transfer on or before each Payment Date in immediately available funds in accordance with payment instructions provided by the TIFIA Lender pursuant to Sect...
	(d) Final Maturity Date.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance and any accrued interest thereon shall be due and payable in full on the Final Maturity Date (or on any earlier date on which the maturity of...
	(e) TIFIA Note; Adjustments to Loan Amortization Schedule.  As evidence of the Borrower’s obligation to repay the TIFIA Loan, the Borrower shall issue and deliver to the TIFIA Lender, on or prior to the Effective Date, the TIFIA Note substantially in ...

	Section 10. Prepayment
	(a) Optional Prepayments.  The Borrower may prepay the TIFIA Loan in whole or in part (and, if in part, the amounts thereof to be prepaid shall be determined by the Borrower; provided, however, that such prepayments shall be in minimum principal amoun...
	(b) General Prepayment Instructions.  Upon the TIFIA Lender’s receipt of confirmation that payment in full of the entire Outstanding TIFIA Loan Balance and any unpaid interest and fees with respect thereto has occurred as a result of an optional prepa...

	Section 11. Compliance with Laws
	Section 12. Conditions Precedent
	(a) Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall not become effective until each of the following conditions precedent shall have been satisfied or waived in writing by the TIF...
	(i) The Borrower shall have duly executed and delivered to the TIFIA Lender this Agreement and each other TIFIA Loan Document (other than the FTA Master Agreements), each in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender.  To the extent that any ...
	(ii) (A) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender certified, complete, and fully executed copies of each Other Financing Document, together with any amendments, waivers or modifications thereto, in each case that has been entered into on ...
	(iii) (A) Counsel to the Borrower shall have rendered to the TIFIA Lender legal opinions satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender in its sole discretion (including those opinions set forth on Exhibit H-1), (B) bond counsel to the Borrower shall have rendered ...
	(iv) The Borrower shall have provided a certificate from the Borrower’s Authorized Representative as to the absence of debarment, suspension or voluntary exclusion from participation in Federal Government contracts, procurement and non-procurement mat...
	(v) The Borrower shall have provided to the TIFIA Lender satisfactory evidence that the Project has been included in (A) the transportation improvement program adopted by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission, (B) the State transportation plan, a...
	(vi) The Borrower shall have provided evidence to the TIFIA Lender’s satisfaction, no more than thirty (30), but no less than fourteen (14), days prior to the Effective Date, of the assignment by at least one (1) Rating Agency of a public Investment G...
	(vii) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender a certificate from the Borrower’s Authorized Representative in the form attached hereto as Exhibit J (A) as to the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent set forth in this Section 12(a)...
	(viii) The Borrower shall have demonstrated to the TIFIA Lender’s satisfaction that as of the Effective Date the aggregate of all committed sources of funds shown in the Base Case Financial Model and in the Project Budget to pay Total Project Costs ha...
	(ix) The Borrower shall have provided to the TIFIA Lender certified, complete, and fully executed copies of each Construction-Related Contract that has been entered into as of the Effective Date, together with any amendments, waivers or modifications ...
	(x) The Borrower shall have demonstrated to the TIFIA Lender’s satisfaction that it has obtained all Governmental Approvals necessary to commence construction of the Project and that all such Governmental Approvals are final, non-appealable, and in fu...
	(xi) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender a certified Base Case Financial Model on the Effective Date, which Base Case Financial Model shall (A) demonstrate that the Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio for each Calculation Period throu...
	(xii) The Borrower shall have provided evidence reasonably satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender that (A) County of Napa has taken all necessary action to ensure that all LTF Funds allocable to the Borrower are deposited directly into the Revenue Account, ...
	(xiii) The Borrower shall have (A) provided evidence satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender that the Borrower is authorized, pursuant to the Authorizing Legislation, to pledge, assign, and grant the Liens on the Collateral purported to be pledged, assigned,...
	(xiv) The Borrower shall have (A) provided evidence satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender of compliance with NEPA, (B) complied with all applicable requirements of the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (42 U.S...
	(xv) The TIFIA Lender shall have delivered its initial TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative certificate.
	(xvi) The Borrower shall have (A) obtained a Federal Employer Identification Number, (B) obtained a Data Universal Numbering System number, and (C) registered with, and obtained confirmation of active registration status from, the federal System for A...
	(xvii) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender (A) certificates of insurance or other acceptable documentation evidencing (1) that the Borrower has in effect as of the Effective Date insurance with respect to the Project and the Borrower...
	(xviii) The Borrower shall have provided to the TIFIA Lender evidence that the Borrower is duly organized and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of formation, with full power, authority and legal right to own its properties and carry ...
	(xix) The Borrower shall have provided the TIFIA Lender records of the Eligible Project Costs incurred prior to the Effective Date, in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender and in sufficient time prior to the Effective Date to permit the...
	(xx) The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in this Agreement (including Section 13 (Representations and Warranties of Borrower)) and in each other Related Document to which the Borrower is a party shall be true and correct, as o...
	(xxi) The Borrower shall have provided the TIFIA Lender with evidence satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender that, as of the Effective Date (A) the maximum principal amount of the TIFIA Loan, together with the amount of any other credit assistance provided ...
	(xxii) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender a duly executed certificate from the Collateral Agent in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I.
	(xxiii) The Borrower shall have provided a certificate from the Borrower’s Authorized Representative as to the prohibition on the use of appropriated funds for lobbying substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit L in accordance with 49 CFR §...
	(xxiv) The Borrower shall have authorized the filing of a UCC-1 financing statement covering the Project Accounts, satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender and the Collateral Agent in form and substance, with the Secretary of State of the State of California.
	(xxv) The Borrower shall have delivered such other agreements, documents, instruments, opinions and other items required by the TIFIA Lender, all in form and substance satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender, including evidence that all other Project funding...

	(b) Conditions Precedent to All Disbursements.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the TIFIA Lender shall have no obligation to make any disbursement of loan proceeds to the Borrower (including the initial disbursement hereund...
	(i) The Borrower shall have provided to the TIFIA Lender evidence satisfactory to the TIFIA Lender that prior thereto, or simultaneously therewith, a disbursement of Pari Passu Obligation proceeds has occurred such that as of such TIFIA Loan disbursem...
	(ii) With respect to any disbursement occurring sixty (60) days or more after the Effective Date, the Borrower shall have provided the Financial Plan, or the most recent update thereto, in each case in accordance with Section 21(a) (Financial Plan).
	(iii) To the extent not previously delivered to the TIFIA Lender, the Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender certified, complete and fully executed copies of any Other Financing Document, including any amendment, modification or supplement ...
	(iv) To the extent not previously delivered to the TIFIA Lender, the Borrower shall have provided certified copies of all Construction-Related Contracts, including any amendment, modification or supplement thereto and related performance security inst...
	(v) The Borrower shall have demonstrated to the TIFIA Lender’s satisfaction that all Governmental Approvals necessary as of the time of the applicable disbursement for the development, construction, operation and maintenance of the Project have been i...
	(vi) Each of the insurance policies obtained and other insurance arrangements maintained by the Borrower in satisfaction of the conditions in Section 12(a)(xvii) (Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness) is in full force and effect, and no notice of ter...
	(vii) At the time of, and immediately after giving effect to, any disbursement of TIFIA Loan proceeds then currently requested, (A) no Default or Event of Default hereunder, and no event of default (howsoever described or designated) under any other R...
	(viii) The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in this Agreement (including Section 13 (Representations and Warranties of Borrower)) and in each other Related Document shall be true, correct, and complete as of each date on which ...
	(ix) No Material Adverse Effect, or any event or condition that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, shall have occurred and be continuing since the date the Borrower submitted the Application to the TIFIA Lender.
	(x) For any disbursements to be made after the last Business Day of the month following the initial disbursement of the TIFIA Loan, the Borrower shall have fully funded the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in accordance with Section 15(k) (Reser...
	(xi) The Borrower shall have delivered to the TIFIA Lender a Requisition that complies with the provisions of Section 4 (Disbursement Conditions), and such Requisition has not been expressly denied by the TIFIA Lender.


	Section 13. Representations and Warranties of Borrower
	(a) Organization; Power and Authority.  The Borrower is a joint powers agency duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State, has full legal right, power and authority to enter into the Related Documents then in exis...
	(b) Officers’ Authorization.  As of the Effective Date, the officers of the Borrower executing (or that previously executed) the Related Documents, and any certifications or instruments related thereto, to which the Borrower is a party are (or were at...
	(c) Due Execution; Enforceability.  Each of the Related Documents in effect as of any date on which this representation and warranty is made, and to which the Borrower is a party, has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower and co...
	(d) Non-Contravention.  The execution and delivery of the Related Documents to which the Borrower is a party, the consummation of the transactions contemplated in the Related Documents and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions...
	(e) Consents and Approvals.  No consent or approval of any trustee, holder of any indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Person, and no consent, permission, authorization, order or license of, or filing or registration with, any Governmental Author...
	(f) Litigation.  As of the Effective Date, there is no action, suit, proceeding or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any inquiry or investigation, in any case before or by any court or other Governmental Authority pending or, to the knowledge of the ...
	(g) Security Interests.  The CASA and the Authorizing Legislation establish, in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the TIFIA Lender, the valid and binding Liens on the Collateral that they purport to create, irrespective of whether any P...
	(h) No Debarment.  The Borrower has fully complied with its verification obligations under 2 CFR § 180.320 and confirms that, to its knowledge, neither the Borrower nor any of its principals (as defined in 2 CFR § 180.995) is debarred, suspended or vo...
	(i) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties.  The representations, warranties and certifications of the Borrower set forth in this Agreement and the other Related Documents are true, correct, and complete, except to the extent such representations ...
	(j) Compliance with Federal Requirements.  The Borrower has complied, with respect to the Project, with all applicable requirements of NEPA, the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq....
	(k) Transportation Improvement Program.  The Project has been included in (i) the transportation improvement program adopted by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission, (ii) the State transportation plan, and (iii) the State transportation improvem...
	(l) Credit Ratings.  The Pari Passu Obligations then outstanding and the TIFIA Loan have received a public Investment Grade Rating from at least one (1) Rating Agency and written evidence of such ratings has been provided to the TIFIA Lender prior to ...
	(m) No Defaults.  No Default or Event of Default, and no event of default (howsoever described or designated) of the Borrower under any Related Document has occurred and is continuing.
	(n) Governmental Approvals.  All Governmental Approvals required as of the Effective Date and any subsequent date on which this representation is made (or deemed made) for the undertaking and completion by the Borrower of the Project, and for the oper...
	(o) Construction-Related Contracts.  Each Construction-Related Contract in effect as of any date on which this representation and warranty is made is in full force and effect and all conditions precedent to the obligations of the respective parties un...
	(p) Information.  The information furnished by the Borrower to the TIFIA Lender, when taken as a whole, does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not ...
	(q) OFAC; Anti-Corruption Laws.
	(i) None of the Borrower nor, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any Construction-Related Contract Party is a Sanctioned Person.
	(ii) None of the Borrower nor, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any Construction-Related Contract Party is in violation of or, since the date that is five (5) years prior to the Effective Date, has violated:  (A) any applicable Anti-Money Laundering ...
	(iii) There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened claims or investigations by any Governmental Authority against, or any internal investigations conducted by, the Borrower or any Construction-Related Contract Party, with resp...
	(iv) No use of proceeds of the TIFIA Loan or other transaction contemplated by this Agreement or any other Related Document will violate any applicable Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering Laws, or Anti-Corruption Laws, or any applicable anti-drug traffic...

	(r) Compliance with Law.  The Borrower is in compliance in all material respects with, and has conducted (or caused to be conducted) its business and government functions and the business and operations of the Project in compliance in all material res...
	(s) Environmental Matters.  Each of the Borrower and, to the Borrower’s knowledge, each Construction-Related Contract Party is in compliance with all laws applicable to the Project relating to (i) air emissions, (ii) discharges to surface water or gro...
	(t) Insurance.  The Borrower is in compliance with the requirements of Section 15(f) (Insurance) and all insurance obligations required under each Related Document as of the date on which this representation and warranty is made.
	(u) No Liens.  Except for the Liens granted pursuant to the CASA, the Borrower has not created, and is not under any obligation to create, and has not entered into any transaction or agreement that would result in the imposition of, any Lien on the Co...
	(v) Intellectual Property.  The Borrower owns, or has adequate licenses or other valid rights to use, all patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, franchises, formulas, licenses and other rights with respect thereto and has obtaine...
	(w) Investment Company Act.  The Borrower is not, and after applying the proceeds of the TIFIA Loan will not be, required to register as an “investment company” within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and is not “controll...
	(x) Financial Statements.  Each statement of net position, balance sheet, statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund net position, and statement of cash flows (collectively, “Financial Statements”) delivered to the TIFIA Lender pursuant t...
	(y) Taxes.  The Borrower is not required to file tax returns with any Governmental Authority.
	(z) ERISA.  Neither the Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate maintains or otherwise has any liability in respect of any plan or other arrangement that is subject to ERISA or Section 412 of the Code.
	(aa) Sufficient Funds.  The aggregate of (i) the undrawn portion of the TIFIA Loan, (ii) all funds that are undrawn but fully and completely committed under the Other Financing Documents, and (iii) all funds available under any other unused funding th...
	(bb) Sovereign Immunity.  Pursuant to California Government Code Section 814 et seq., the Borrower can sue and be sued in respect of its contractual obligations, and judgments against the Borrower can be legally enforced.  The defense of sovereign imm...
	(cc) Patriot Act.  The Borrower is not required to establish an anti-money laundering compliance program pursuant to the Patriot Act.
	(dd) Irrevocable Instructions. The LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction and each Farebox Revenue Irrevocable Instruction is in full force and effect. To the knowledge of the Borrower, the County of Napa is (and has been since the most recent date as of w...

	Section 14. Representations and Warranties of TIFIA Lender
	(a) Power and Authority.  The TIFIA Lender has all requisite power and authority to make the TIFIA Loan and to perform all transactions contemplated by the Related Documents to which it is a party.
	(b) Due Execution; Enforceability.  The Related Documents to which it is a party have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the TIFIA Lender, and are legally valid and binding agreements of the TIFIA Lender, enforceable in accordance with th...
	(c) Officers’ Authorization.  The officers of the TIFIA Lender executing each of the Related Documents to which the TIFIA Lender is a party are duly and properly in office and fully authorized to execute the same on behalf of the TIFIA Lender.

	Section 15. Affirmative Covenants
	(a) Securing Liens.  The Borrower shall at any and all times, so far as it may be authorized by law, pass, make, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, all and every such further resolutions, acts, deeds, conveyances, assignments, transfers and assuran...
	(b) Copies of Documents.
	(i) The Borrower shall provide to the TIFIA Lender a copy of any draft Other Financing Documents (or other comparable transaction or offering documents) in connection with the incurrence of any Permitted Debt or indebtedness subject to approval by the...
	(ii) The Borrower shall provide to the TIFIA Lender, promptly after the sending or receipt thereof, copies of (A) final ratings presentations sent to, and any notices, reports or other written materials (other than those that are ministerial in nature...
	(iii) Except as otherwise agreed by the TIFIA Lender in writing, the Borrower will provide to the TIFIA Lender (x) copies of any proposed amendments, modifications, replacements of, or supplements to any Related Document or Construction-Related Contra...
	(iv) If the Borrower enters into a Construction-Related Contract after the Effective Date, the Borrower shall provide to the TIFIA Lender an executed version of such Construction-Related Contract, together with any related performance security instrum...

	(c) Use of Proceeds.  The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the TIFIA Loan for purposes permitted by applicable law and as otherwise permitted under this Agreement and the other Related Documents.
	(d) Prosecution of Work; Verification Requirements.
	(i) The Borrower shall diligently prosecute the work relating to the Project and complete the Project in accordance with the Construction Schedule, and in accordance with the highest standards of the Borrower’s industry.
	(ii) The Borrower shall comply, and shall require all of its contractors and subcontractors for the Project to comply, with the applicable requirements set forth in 2 CFR Part 180, Subpart C, including 2 CFR §§ 180.300, 180.320 and 180.330, and in 2 C...

	(e) Operations and Maintenance.  The Borrower shall (i) operate and maintain the Project in a reasonable and prudent manner and (B) substantially in accordance with the regulations, standards and guidelines of the applicable USDOT modal agency, and (i...
	(f) Insurance.
	(i) The Borrower shall at all times maintain insurance with responsible insurers, in amounts and with coverages as are customarily maintained in the United States of America by entities similar to the Borrower, or as is required under any Construction...
	(ii) The Borrower shall cause all liability insurance policies that it maintains, other than workers’ compensation insurance, to reflect the TIFIA Lender as an additional insured.
	(iii) If an Event of Loss shall occur with respect to the Project or any part thereof, the Borrower shall (A) diligently pursue all of its rights to compensation against all relevant insurers, reinsurers and Governmental Authorities, as applicable, in...

	(g) Notices.
	(i) The Borrower shall, within five (5) Business Days after the Borrower learns of the occurrence, give the TIFIA Lender notice of any of the following events or receipt of any of the following notices, as applicable, setting forth details of such event:
	(A) Substantial Completion
	(B) Ratings Changes
	(C) Defaults; Events of Default
	(D) Construction-Related Contract Defaults
	(E) Litigation
	(F) Delayed Governmental Approvals
	(G) Environmental Notices
	(H) Uncontrollable Force
	(I) Project Changes
	(J) 2 CFR Notices
	(K) SEC Rule 15c2-12
	(L) Farebox Recovery Ratio: any reduction in the Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower that causes the Borrower’s actual farebox recovery ratio to fall below the then-applicable Farebox Recovery Ratio, as determined by the Metropol...
	(M) Farebox Revenue Policy: any material change to the Borrower’s Farebox Revenue policies that could reduce the amount of Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower;
	(N) LTF Funds and STA Funds Availability:
	a.  any suspension, impairment or discontinuance of the availability of LTF Funds to the Borrower for any reason; and
	b. any material change to the TDA that affects the allocation process or the amount available for allocation for LTF Funds or STA Funds; and
	(O) BOM Loan Agreement Reporting Requirements: [To include the items referenced in Section 14 of the BOM term sheet.]
	(P) Other Adverse Events:  the occurrence of any other event or condition, including any notice of breach from a contract counterparty, that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
	(Q)

	(ii) The Borrower shall provide the TIFIA Lender with any further information reasonably requested by the TIFIA Lender from time to time concerning the matters described in Section 15(g)(i) (Notice).

	(h) Remedial Action.  Within thirty (30) calendar days after the Borrower learns of the occurrence of an event specified in Section 15(g)(i) (Notice) (other than in Section 15(g)(i)(A) (Substantial Completion), or Section 15(g)(i)(B) (Ratings Changes)...
	(i) Maintain Legal Structure.  The Borrower shall maintain its existence as a joint powers agency under the laws of the State.
	(j) Annual Rating.  The Borrower shall, commencing in 2022, no later than the last Business Day of June of each year during the term of the TIFIA Loan, at no cost to the TIFIA Lender, provide to the TIFIA Lender a public rating on the TIFIA Loan by a ...
	(k) Reserve Accounts; Permitted Investments.
	(i) The Borrower shall fund the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in an amount equal to the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance by no later than the last Business Day of the month following the initial disbursement of the TIFIA Loan.
	(ii) The Borrower shall maintain the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in an amount equal to the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance and any Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account in an amount equal to the applicable Pari Passu Debt ...
	(iii) Amounts on deposit in the Project Accounts shall be held uninvested or invested in Permitted Investments.  Permitted Investments must mature or be redeemable at the election of the holder as follows:  (A) with respect to Permitted Investments ma...
	(iv) The Borrower may replace all or a portion of the required balance of the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, in accordance with the terms of the applicable TIFIA Loan Documents, with a letter of credit or surety instrument issued by a Qualifi...

	(l) Collection of Revenues.
	(i) The Borrower shall at all times levy, charge and collect Farebox Revenues from its customers in accordance with its internal policies.  The Borrower shall take all reasonable actions necessary to (A) ensure that it remains eligible under all appli...
	(ii) The Borrower shall budget and apply for LTF Funds in each Borrower Fiscal Year in amounts at least sufficient to pay 2.0x (A) all TIFIA Debt Service due and payable during such Borrower Fiscal Year plus (B) all debt service due and payable under ...
	(iii) Pursuant to the LTF Funds Irrevocable Instruction, the Borrower shall instruct the County of Napa to transfer all LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower from and after the Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date to the Collateral Agent to be deposited in th...
	(iv) On each Transfer Date (as defined in the CASA) and, with respect to funds deposited to the Revenue Account in accordance with Section 5.03(a)(iii) of the CASA, on any date on which such funds are deposited into the Revenue Account, the Borrower s...
	(v) If LTF Funds and Farebox Revenues on deposit in the Pari Passu Debt Service Account (or the applicable sub-accounts thereunder), the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, or any other applicable sub-acco...
	(vi) In the event that the availability of LTF Funds to the Borrower are suspended, impaired or discontinued for any reason, the Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender written notice of such event and an explanation for the reasons for such suspen...

	(m) BOM Loan Proceeds. The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the BOM Loan solely for the payment or reimbursement of Eligible Project Costs.
	(n) Compliance with Law.  The Borrower shall comply in all material respects with all applicable material federal and State laws, including (i) all items set forth in Exhibit E, to the extent applicable and (ii) the terms and conditions of the FTA Mas...
	(o) Material Obligations; Liens.  The Borrower shall pay its material obligations promptly and in accordance with their terms and pay and discharge promptly all taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon the Revenues...
	(p) [Reserved].
	(q) SAM Registration.  The Borrower shall (i) maintain its active registration status with the federal System for Award Management (www.SAM.gov) (or any successor system or registry) and (ii) within sixty (60) days prior to each anniversary of the Eff...
	(r) Immunity.  Consistent with California Government Code Section 814 et seq., the Borrower agrees that it will not assert any immunity (and hereby waives any such immunity) it may have as a governmental entity from lawsuits, other actions and claims,...
	(s) Patriot Act.  If the anti-money laundering compliance program provisions of the Patriot Act become applicable to the Borrower, then the Borrower will provide written notice to the TIFIA Lender of the same and will promptly establish an anti-money ...
	(t) Cargo Preference Act.  Pursuant to 46 CFR Part 381, the Borrower hereby agrees as follows, and shall insert the following clauses in contracts entered into by the Borrower pursuant to which equipment, materials or commodities may be transported by...
	(i) At least fifty percent (50%) of any equipment, materials or commodities procured, contracted for or otherwise obtained with TIFIA Loan proceeds, and which may be transported by ocean vessel, shall be transported on privately owned United States-fl...
	(ii) Within twenty (20) days following the date of loading for shipments originating within the United States or within thirty (30) Business Days following the date of loading for shipments originating outside the United States, a legible copy of a ra...

	(u) Lobbying.  The Borrower shall comply with all applicable certification, declaration and/or disclosure requirements under 49 CFR Part 20.
	(v) Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation.  To the extent applicable, the Borrower shall comply, and shall require each subrecipient to comply, with the reporting requirements set forth in Exhibit O hereto.

	Section 16. Negative Covenants
	(a) Indebtedness.
	(i) Except for Permitted Debt, the Borrower shall not, without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender, issue or incur indebtedness of any kind (including financing leases (other than leases described in clause (d) of the definition of Permitted...
	(ii) The Borrower shall not issue indebtedness for borrowed money that is senior to the TIFIA Loan in right of payment or security from any Revenues.
	(iii) Prior to the incurrence of Permitted Debt described in clause (c) of the definition thereof or any Subordinated Obligations consented to by the TIFIA Lender in accordance with clause (iv) below, the Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender (A)...
	(iv) The Borrower shall not issue any Subordinated Obligations without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender; provided, that in no event shall the TIFIA Lender approve any Subordinated Obligations that (A) are subject to acceleration by the ho...
	(v) To the extent any Permitted Debt consists of Put Obligations, the Borrower must maintain a Liquidity Facility that will pay any amounts payable by the Borrower in respect of such Put Obligations.
	(vi) The Borrower shall not issue or incur Additional Obligations unless the LTF Funds allocated to the Borrower and received by the County of Napa on behalf of the Borrower and Farebox Revenues received by the Borrower, in the aggregate, during any t...
	(vii) The Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender a copy of the fully executed Accession Agreement (as defined in the CASA) delivered pursuant to Sections 9.01 and 9.02 of the CASA in connection with the issuance of any Additional Obligations, prom...
	(viii) The Borrower shall not issue or incur any (A) Capital Appreciation Obligations, (B) Deferred Interest Obligations, or (C) Obligations that bear interest at a variable interest rate, in each case, without the prior written consent of the TIFIA L...

	(b) No Lien Extinguishment; Adverse Amendments. The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any Person to, without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender, either (i) extinguish, impair, or transfer the Liens on the Collateral granted pursuant ...
	(c) No Prohibited Liens.
	(i) Except for the Liens granted pursuant to the CASA in respect of Permitted Debt, the Borrower shall not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on the Collateral or the Borrower’s rights therein. The Borrower shall not collaterally assign...
	(ii) Except for the Liens on the Collateral granted pursuant to the CASA, the Borrower shall not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on any right or interest of the Borrower in or to any asset or property to secure any Pari Passu Obligat...

	(d) Organizational Documents; Fiscal Year.  The Borrower shall not at any time (i) amend or modify its Organizational Documents (other than any amendment or modification that is of a ministerial nature and that is not adverse to the interests of the T...
	(e) No Payment with Federal Funds.  The Borrower shall not pay any portion of TIFIA Debt Service nor any other amount to the TIFIA Lender or the Federal Government pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents with funds received directly or indirectly from th...
	(f) Acquisitions; Change in Legal Structure; Sale of Assets; Transactions with Third Parties.  The Borrower shall not, and shall not agree to:
	(i) acquire by purchase or otherwise the business, property or fixed assets of, or equity interests or other evidence of beneficial ownership interests in, any Person (excluding purchases or other acquisitions of inventory or materials or spare parts ...
	(ii) reorganize, consolidate with, or merge into another Person unless (A) such merger or consolidation is with or into another transit agency or district in the State, and, in each case, including reorganization, would not reasonably be expected to a...
	(iii) sell, lease, or assign its rights in and to the transit system operated by the Borrower or to the Project, or its material assets or its rights or obligations under any Related Document in a transaction not described in sub-clause (A) of Section...
	(iv) otherwise engage in a transaction with any other Person (including any other Governmental Authority of or in the State) to the extent such transaction could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

	(g) No Defeasance of TIFIA Loan.  The Borrower shall not defease the TIFIA Loan without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Lender.
	(h) OFAC Compliance.
	The Borrower shall not:
	(A) violate (1) any applicable Anti-Money Laundering Laws, (2) any applicable Sanctions, (3) Anti-Corruption Laws or (4) any applicable anti-drug trafficking or anti-terrorism laws, civil or criminal;
	(B) use the proceeds of the TIFIA Loan for purposes other than those permitted by applicable law and as otherwise permitted under this Agreement, the other Related Documents and the Construction-Related Contracts; or
	(C) make a payment, directly or indirectly, to any Construction-Related Contract Party that has violated any of the laws referenced in Section 16(h)(i) (OFAC Compliance) or that is a Sanctioned Person.

	(i) The Borrower shall procure that each of its directors, officers, employees, and agents, shall not, directly or indirectly, use the proceeds of the TIFIA Loan or lend to, make any payment to, contribute or otherwise make available any funds to any ...

	(i) Hedging.  The Borrower shall not enter into any swap or hedging transaction, including inflation indexed swap transactions, “cap” or “collar” transactions, futures, or any other hedging transaction without the prior written consent of the TIFIA Le...

	Section 17. Indemnification
	Section 18. Sale of TIFIA Loan
	Section 19. Events of Default and Remedies
	(a) An “Event of Default” shall exist under this Agreement if any of the following occurs:
	(i) Payment Default.  The Borrower shall fail to pay any amount of principal of or interest on the TIFIA Loan (including TIFIA Debt Service required to have been paid pursuant to the provisions of Section 9 (Payment of Principal and Interest) when due...
	(ii) Covenant Default.  The Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, agreement or obligation of the Borrower under this Agreement  (including any payment of fees or other amounts (other than principal and interest) payable hereunder), t...
	(iii) Development Default.  A Development Default shall occur.
	(iv) Misrepresentation Default.  Any of the representations, warranties or certifications of the Borrower made in or delivered pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents (or in any certificates delivered by the Borrower in connection with the TIFIA Loan Doc...
	(A) such misrepresentation is not intentional;
	(B) such misrepresentation is not a misrepresentation in respect of Section 13(h) (No Debarment), Section 13(j) (Compliance with Federal Requirements), Section 13(k) (Transportation Improvement Program), Section 13(q) (OFAC; Anti-Corruption Laws), Sec...
	(C) in the reasonable determination of the TIFIA Lender, such misrepresentation has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect;
	(D) in the reasonable determination of the TIFIA Lender, the underlying issue giving rise to the misrepresentation is capable of being cured;
	(E) the underlying issue giving rise to the misrepresentation is cured by the Borrower within thirty (30) days from the date on which the Borrower first became aware (or reasonably should have become aware) of such misrepresentation; and
	(F) the Borrower diligently pursues such cure during such thirty (30) day period.

	(v) Acceleration of Other Obligations.  Any acceleration shall occur of the maturity of any Pari Passu Obligations or Subordinated Obligations.
	(vi) Events of Default under Other Financing Documents.  Any default under (and as defined in) any Other Financing Document shall occur and shall not have been cured by the Borrower or waived in writing in accordance with the requirements of the appli...
	(vii) Judgments.  One or more judgments (A) for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of $5,000,000 (inflated annually by CPI) that are payable from Revenues or the Collateral and are not otherwise fully covered by insurance (for which...
	(viii) Failure to Maintain Existence.  The Borrower shall fail to maintain its existence as a joint powers agency under the laws of the State, unless at or prior to the time the Borrower ceases to exist in such form a successor public agency or govern...
	(ix) Occurrence of a Bankruptcy Related Event.  A Bankruptcy Related Event shall occur with respect to the Borrower.
	(x) Project Abandonment.  The Borrower shall abandon the Project.
	(xi) Invalidity of TIFIA Loan Documents. (A) Any TIFIA Loan Document ceases to be in full force and effect (other than as a result of the termination thereof in accordance with its terms) or becomes void, voidable, illegal or unenforceable, or the Bor...
	(xii) Authorizing Legislation.  The Authorizing Legislation shall be repealed or shall be amended or modified in such a manner that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
	(xiii) TDA.  The TDA shall be repealed or shall be amended or modified in such a manner that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

	(b) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default described in Section 19(a)(iii) (Development Default), the TIFIA Lender may (i) suspend the disbursement of TIFIA Loan proceeds hereunder, (ii) terminate all of its obligations hereunder with respect to t...
	(c) Upon the occurrence of any Bankruptcy Related Event with respect to the Borrower, all obligations of the TIFIA Lender hereunder with respect to the disbursement of any undisbursed amounts of the TIFIA Loan shall automatically be deemed terminated,...
	(d) Upon the occurrence of any other Event of Default, the TIFIA Lender, by written notice to the Borrower, may (i) suspend or terminate all of its obligations hereunder with respect to the disbursement of any undisbursed amounts of the TIFIA Loan, (i...
	(e) Whenever any Event of Default hereunder shall have occurred and be continuing, the TIFIA Lender shall be entitled and empowered to institute any actions or proceedings at law or in equity for the collection of any sums due and unpaid hereunder or ...
	(f) Whenever any Event of Default hereunder shall have occurred and be continuing, the TIFIA Lender may suspend or debar the Borrower from further participation in any Federal Government program administered by the TIFIA Lender and to notify other dep...
	(g) No action taken pursuant to this Section 19 (Events of Default and Remedies) shall relieve Borrower from its obligations pursuant to this Agreement, the TIFIA Note or the other TIFIA Loan Documents, all of which shall survive any such action.

	Section 20. Accounting and Audit Procedures; Inspections; Reports and Records
	(a) Accounting and Audit Procedures. The Borrower shall establish fiscal controls and accounting procedures sufficient to assure proper accounting for all Project-related transactions (including collection of Revenues, and any other revenues attributa...
	(b) Inspections. So long as the TIFIA Loan or any portion thereof shall remain outstanding and until five (5) years after the TIFIA Loan shall have been paid in full, the TIFIA Lender shall have the right, upon reasonable prior notice, to visit and in...
	(c) Reports and Records.  The Borrower shall maintain and retain all files relating to the Project, the Collateral, the Revenues and the TIFIA Loan until three (3) years after the later of the date on which (i) all rights and duties hereunder and unde...
	(d) Required Audit. The Borrower shall have a single or program-specific audit conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F and 31 U.S.C. § 7502 in 2021 and annually thereafter, except to the extent biennial audits are permitted for the Borro...

	Section 21. Financial Plan, Statements, and Reports
	(a) Financial Plan. The Borrower shall provide a Financial Plan to the TIFIA Lender and the FTA Regional Office within sixty (60) days after the Effective Date and annually thereafter, not later than the date of delivery of the Borrower’s annual audit...
	(i) The Financial Plan shall include: (A) a certificate signed by the Borrower’s Authorized Representative to the effect that the Financial Plan, including the assumptions and supporting documentation, is accurate and reasonable to the best of the Bor...
	(ii) Each Financial Plan shall:
	(A) provide a narrative that, in reasonable detail, (1) identifies any potential Revenues or funding shortfalls and (2) describes any material matters that may affect the future performance of the Borrower’s obligations under this Agreement and the ca...
	(B) provide (1) the current balance of each of the accounts and subaccounts established under the CASA and any other accounts of the Borrower and (2) the amounts deposited into each of the accounts and subaccounts established under the CASA and any ot...
	(C) provide the actual Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the prior Calculation Period;
	(D) provide the total LTF Funds (1) available to be claimed by the Borrower, (2) budgeted for by the Borrower, (3) claimed by the Borrower, and (4) allocated to the Borrower, in each case during the prior Borrower Fiscal Year; and
	(E) provide the current estimate of Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower, the Borrower’s current farebox recovery ratio and the then-applicable Farebox Recovery Ratio, as determined by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission.

	(iii) For the period through the Substantial Completion Date, the Financial Plan shall:
	(A) provide the current estimate of Total Project Costs and the remaining cost to complete the Project, identify any significant cost changes since the previous Financial Plan, discuss the reasons for and implications of the cost changes, and include ...
	(B) provide updates to the Construction Schedule, including major milestones for each phase of the Project (including an updated Projected Substantial Completion Date), and compare current milestone dates with the milestone dates in the Construction S...
	(C) provide current estimates of sources and uses of funds for the Project, identify any significant funding changes since the preceding Financial Plan, discuss the reasons for and implications of such funding changes, and include a summary table show...
	(D) provide the total value of approved changes in Project design or scope, and provide a listing of each individual change valued at ten percent (10%) of Total Project Costs or more, setting forth the rationale or need for the proposed change and des...

	(iv) Any schedule or other description of projected or actual Revenues of the Borrower in the Financial Plan shall be broken down by each major category of Revenues (e.g., LTF Funds, Farebox Revenues, etc.).

	(b) Financial Statements.
	(i) The Borrower shall furnish to the TIFIA Lender:
	(A) as soon as available, but no later than five (5) Business Days after presentment to the Borrower’s board or directors, a copy of the unaudited operating and financial results attached to the Borrower’s executive director’s report presented every t...
	(B) as soon as available, but no later than one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of each Borrower Fiscal Year, a copy of the audited income statement and balance sheet of the Borrower as of the end of such fiscal year and the related audited st...
	(ii)   All such audited financial statements shall be complete and correct in all material respects and shall be prepared in reasonable detail and in accordance with GAAP applied consistently throughout the periods reflected therein (except for change...

	(c) Officer’s Certificate.  The Borrower shall furnish to the TIFIA Lender, together with each delivery of annual audited financial statements or interim unaudited operating and financial results of the Borrower pursuant to Section 21(b) (Financial St...

	Section 22. Project Oversight and Monitoring
	(a) Project Development, Design and Construction.  The TIFIA Lender shall have the right in its sole discretion to monitor (or direct its agents to monitor) the development, including environmental compliance, design, right-of-way acquisition, and con...
	(b) Reporting.
	(i) Quarterly Construction Progress Report.  On or before the thirtieth (30th) day following the end of each calendar quarter during the Construction Period, the Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender a report (which may consist in whole or in par...
	(A) specifies the amount of Total Project Costs expended since the Effective Date as well as during the preceding calendar quarter and the amount of Total Project Costs estimated to be required to complete the Project;
	(B) provides a revised Project Budget updated through the end of the preceding calendar quarter;
	(C) demonstrates that the Borrower has sufficient funds (including funds on hand and funds obtainable without undue delay or conditions that cannot reasonably be satisfied by the Borrower as and when such funds are needed) to complete the Project, tak...
	(D) to the extent there has been any change (increase or decrease) to the Total Project Costs needed to achieve Substantial Completion since the most recent quarterly construction progress report, provides a narrative description of such changes (spec...
	(E) provides (1) an assessment of the overall construction progress of the Project since the date of the last report and since the Effective Date, together with an assessment of how such progress compares to the Construction Schedule; and (2) to the e...
	(F) specifies the most recent projections for the Substantial Completion Date as compared to the Projected Substantial Completion Date specified in the Financial Plan most recently submitted to the TIFIA Lender; and
	(G) provides a discussion or analysis of such other matters related to the Project as the TIFIA Lender may reasonably request.

	(ii) Recovery Plan.  If the quarterly construction progress report described in Section 22(b)(i) (Quarterly Construction Progress Report) or the monthly report issued pursuant to the FTA Project Management Oversight Regulations indicates either a fail...
	(iii) Requested Information.  The Borrower shall, at any time while the TIFIA Loan remains outstanding, promptly deliver to the TIFIA Lender such additional information regarding the business, financial, legal or organizational affairs of the Borrower...

	(c) Project Operations.  For the period following the Substantial Completion Date, the TIFIA Lender shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to monitor (or direct its agents to monitor) the Project’s operations and, as the TIFIA Lender may reques...
	(d) Consulting Engineer.
	(i) If requested in writing by the TIFIA Lender (in circumstances where the Borrower does not already have a designated Consulting Engineer), the Borrower shall hire and retain a Consulting Engineer until final acceptance of the Project by the Borrowe...
	(ii) Any Consulting Engineer retained by the Borrower shall advise the TIFIA Lender (with a duty of care to the TIFIA Lender) with regard to all technical matters related to the performance by the Borrower of its obligations under this Agreement and t...
	(iii) The Borrower may designate or replace the Consulting Engineer; provided, that the TIFIA Lender shall have the right to object to any such Consulting Engineer (and the Borrower shall not retain any proposed Consulting Engineer if the TIFIA Lender...


	Section 23. No Personal Recourse
	Section 24. No Third Party Rights
	Section 25. Borrower’s Authorized Representative
	Section 26. TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative
	(a) The TIFIA Lender shall at all times have appointed the TIFIA Lender’s Authorized Representative by designating such Person or Persons from time to time to act on the TIFIA Lender’s behalf pursuant to a written certificate furnished to the Borrower...
	(b) Pursuant to the delegation of authority, dated July 20, 2016, from the Secretary to the Under Secretary of Transportation for Policy, the further delegation of authority, dated July 20, 2016, from the Under Secretary of Transportation for Policy t...

	Section 27. Servicer
	Section 28. Fees and Expenses
	(a) the enforcement of or attempt to enforce any provision of this Agreement or any of the other TIFIA Loan Documents;
	(b) any amendment, modification, or requested amendment or modification of, waiver, consent, or requested waiver or consent under or with respect to, or the protection or preservation of any right or claim under, this Agreement, any other Related Docu...
	(c) any work-out, restructuring, or similar arrangement of the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement or the other TIFIA Loan Documents, including during the pendency of one or more Events of Default.

	Section 29. Amendments and Waivers
	Section 30. Governing Law
	Section 31. Severability
	Section 32. Successors and Assigns
	Section 33. Remedies Not Exclusive
	Section 34. Delay or Omission Not Waiver
	Section 35. Counterparts; Electronic Signatures
	Section 36. Notices; Payment Instructions
	Section 37. Effectiveness
	Section 38. Termination
	Section 39. Integration
	SCHEDULE I  PROJECT BUDGET10F
	SCHEDULE II  CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE
	SCHEDULE III  EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS
	SCHEDULE IV  SECTION 5.03(b) OF THE CASA
	A

	EXHIBIT A  FORM OF TIFIA NOTE
	B

	EXHIBIT B  ANTICIPATED TIFIA LOAN DISBURSEMENT SCHEDULE14F
	C

	EXHIBIT C  CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS— PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS
	D

	EXHIBIT D  REQUISITION PROCEDURES
	E

	EXHIBIT E  COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
	F

	EXHIBIT F  [Reserved.]
	G

	EXHIBIT G  TIFIA DEBT SERVICE20F
	H

	EXHIBIT H-1  OPINIONS REQUIRED OF COUNSEL TO BORROWER
	H

	EXHIBIT H-2  OPINIONS REQUIRED FROM BOND COUNSEL TO BORROWER
	I

	EXHIBIT I  FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF COLLATERAL AGENT
	J

	EXHIBIT J  FORM OF BORROWER’S OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE
	K

	EXHIBIT K  FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION
	L
	M

	EXHIBIT L  CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE PROHIBITION ON THE USE OF APPROPRIATED FUNDS FOR LOBBYING
	EXHIBIT M  FORM OF LTF FUNDS IRREVOCABLE INSTRUCTION
	EXHIBIT N  FORM OF FAREBOX REVENUE IRREVOCABLE INSTRUCTION
	I. Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation

	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 4 Draft NVTA CASA_ls-KM
	ARTICLE I  GRANT OF LIEN ON COLLATERAL
	Section 1.01 Grant of Lien
	Section 1.02 Priority of Liens
	Section 1.03 Preservation of Liens
	Section 1.04 Preservation of Collateral

	ARTICLE II  COLLATERAL AGENT
	Section 2.01 Appointment
	Section 2.02 Duties and Responsibilities.
	(a) Subject to the terms hereof, the Collateral Agent agrees, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, to administer and enforce this Agreement and any other Security Documents to which it is a party as Collateral Agent, and, among other remedies, to f...
	(b) Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Collateral Agent shall not be required to exercise any discretion or take any discretionary action but shall only be required to act or refrain from acting (and shall be fully protecte...
	(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Security Documents, in no event shall the Collateral Agent be required to foreclose on, or take possession of, any Collateral, if, in the reasonable judgment of the Collateral Agent, such action would be ...
	(d) The Collateral Agent shall not be responsible to the other Secured Parties for (i) any recitals, statements, representations or warranties by the Borrower or any of the Secured Parties (other than its own) contained in this Agreement or the other ...
	(e) Except when a mandatory action is required by the Collateral Agent under the Security Documents, the Collateral Agent may at any time request written instructions from the Required Creditors as to a course of action to be taken by it hereunder and...
	(f) None of the Collateral Agent, the Securities Intermediary or any of their directors, officers, employees or agents shall be liable or responsible to the other Secured Parties for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it or them hereunder or i...

	Section 2.03 Authorization
	Section 2.04 Administrative Actions
	Section 2.05 Determination of Amounts of Secured Obligations
	Section 2.06 Employment of Agents
	Section 2.07 Reliance of Collateral Agent
	Section 2.08 Non-Reliance on Collateral Agent
	Section 2.09 Collateral Agent in Individual Capacity
	Section 2.10 Collateral Agent Under No Obligation
	Section 2.11 Resignation and Removal; Successor Collateral Agent; Individual Collateral Agent
	(a) Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor Collateral Agent as provided below, the Collateral Agent may resign at any time by giving at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice thereof to the other Secured Parties that are partie...
	(b) If no successor Collateral Agent shall have been so appointed by the Required Creditors within thirty (30) days after the retiring Collateral Agent's giving of notice of resignation or the removal of the retiring Collateral Agent by the Required C...
	(c) If at any time the Collateral Agent shall reasonably determine that it shall be necessary or appropriate under applicable Law or in order to permit action to be taken hereunder, the Collateral Agent and the Borrower (with written notice to the oth...
	(i) all rights and powers, conferred or imposed upon the Collateral Agent may be conferred or imposed upon and may be exercised or performed by such Co-Collateral Agent as specified in the instrument appointing such Co-Collateral Agent; and
	(ii) no Collateral Agent shall be personally liable by reason of any act or omission of any other Collateral Agent or Co-Collateral Agent hereunder.


	Section 2.12 Books and Records; Reports
	(a) The Collateral Agent and, if appointed, a Co-Collateral Agent, shall at all times keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and accounts in which complete and accurate entries shall be made of all transactions relating to the Secured Oblig...
	(b) Within fifteen (15) days after the end of each month, the Collateral Agent shall furnish to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof and the Borrower, a report (which may be in the form of the customary...
	(c) Within sixty (60) days after the end of each calendar year, the Collateral Agent shall furnish to the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto or relevant representatives thereof and the Borrower, a report (which may be in the form of the cus...
	(d) The Collateral Agent shall maintain records of all receipts, disbursements, and investments of funds with respect to the Project Accounts until the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date on which all of the Secured Obligations shall have been paid in...
	(e) On or prior to the date that is six (6) months prior to the expiration date of any UCC financing statement that has been filed with respect to the Collateral for which Collateral Agent is secured party and is known to the Collateral Agent, the Col...

	Section 2.13 No Consequential Damages
	Section 2.14 Authorization of Collateral Agent to Recover Compensation, Fees and Expenses
	Section 2.15 Force Majeure
	Section 2.16 Additional Protections
	Section 2.17 [Reserved]
	Section 2.18 Merger of the Collateral Agent
	Section 2.19 Transfer to an Affiliate

	ARTICLE III  BORROWER REMAINS LIABLE
	ARTICLE IV  REASONABLE CARE
	ARTICLE V  THE PROJECT ACCOUNTS
	Section 5.01 Establishment of Project Accounts and Other Accounts
	(a) As of the date hereof, the Borrower has established and created the accounts identified below with the Securities Intermediary, each in the name of the Borrower (collectively, each such account and any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account, ...
	(i) account number [_____________]0F  (the “Revenue Account”);
	(ii) the “Pari Passu Debt Service Account”, and within the Pari Passu Debt Service Account, the following sub-accounts:
	A. account number [_____________] (the “BOM Debt Service Sub-Account”), and within the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the following subaccounts:
	B. account number [_____________] (the “TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account”), and within the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, the following subaccounts:

	(iii) the “Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account”, and within the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account, the following sub-accounts:
	A. account number [_____________] (the “BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account”); and
	B. account number [_____________] (the “TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account”).


	(b) Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Accounts
	(i) In connection with the incurrence of any Additional Pari Passu Debt, upon the written instruction of the Borrower, the Securities Intermediary may hereafter establish and maintain from time to time in the Borrower's name one or more proceeds accou...
	(ii) All proceeds from the issuance of any Additional Pari Passu Debt, net of any original issue discount, underwriting discount or similar fee in respect thereof, in each case, received by the Borrower pursuant to the terms of the applicable Addition...
	(iii) All moneys in any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account shall be applied, at the instruction of the Borrower in accordance with a Funds Transfer Certificate pursuant to Section 5.09, solely to pay costs in compliance with the applicable Ad...
	(iv) With respect to any future tax-exempt borrowings comprising Additional Pari Passu Debt, upon a date that is no earlier than five (5) years after the date of issuance of any such Additional Pari Passu Debt, and no later than five (5) years and six...
	(v) With respect to any proceeds of Additional Pari Passu Debt that do not constitute tax-exempt borrowings, any amounts on deposit in any related Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account, after the completion of the work with respect to which such...
	(vi) As soon as practicable, following the date that all amounts on deposit in any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account are transferred out of such Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account, the Collateral Agent shall close such Additional Pa...
	(vii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein and subject to Section 6.06(c) hereof, the Lien on any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account (and on all amounts deposited thereto and Account Earnings with respect to amounts deposited there...

	(c) The Securities Intermediary shall promptly, and in any event prior to establishing any account pursuant to clause (b) of this Section 5.01, provide written notice of any request or instruction from the Borrower to establish such account to the Sec...
	(d) All of the Project Accounts shall be under the control of the Collateral Agent and, except as expressly provided herein, the Borrower shall not have any right to withdraw funds from any Project Account (including sub-accounts).  The Borrower hereb...

	Section 5.02 [Reserved.]
	Section 5.03 Revenue Account
	(a) From and after the Initial LTF Funds Deposit Date the Borrower shall deposit (or cause to be deposited) (i) immediately upon allocation from the County of Napa, but no less frequently than on a quarterly basis, all LTF Funds allocated to the Borro...
	(b) At the instruction of the Borrower in accordance with a Funds Transfer Certificate pursuant to Section 5.09, and subject to Section 6.06 hereof, the Collateral Agent shall make the following withdrawals, transfers and payments from the Revenue Acc...
	First, on a pari passu basis, deposits to the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, and to each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, as applicable, until th...
	Second, on a pari passu basis, deposits to the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, and to each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, as applicable, in an a...
	(1) for the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and payable under the BOM Loan Agreement;
	(2) for the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, the fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and payable under the TIFIA Loan Agreement; and
	(3) for each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, in each case, the fees, costs, expenses and other amounts then due and payable under the issuing document for the ...
	provided, that, on each date when any other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts are then due and payable on any Secured Obligations, amounts on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account and any such other appl...
	Third, on a pari passu basis, deposits to the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account and to each applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account established for any Additional Pari Passu ...
	(1) for the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, such that amounts on deposit therein are at least equal to the BOM Debt Service Reserve Required Balance;
	(2) for the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, such that amounts on deposit therein are at least equal to the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Required Balance; provided that the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account shall initially be funded in an am...
	(3) for each other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt, in each case, such that amounts on deposit therein are at least equal to the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Requi...
	provided, that amounts on deposit in the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, and any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account, as applicable, shall be transferred by the ...
	Fourth, on any Transfer Date occurring in [April] or [October], on a pari passu basis, deposits to the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account and any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account, as app...
	Fifth, on any Transfer Date occurring in [April] or [October], on a pari passu basis, deposits to the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account and any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service ...
	Sixth, if a mandatory prepayment or mandatory redemption under any Secured Obligation is then due and payable, to the Mandatory Prepayment Account to make payments in respect of mandatory prepayments and mandatory redemptions of the outstanding Secure...
	Seventh, if any Permitted Subordinated Loans are outstanding, to any sub-account of the Revenue Account established for the payment of interest on Permitted Subordinated Loans (if any), an amount not to exceed (together with amounts then on deposit th...
	Eighth, if any Permitted Subordinated Loans are outstanding, to any sub-account of the Revenue Account established for the payment of principal on Permitted Subordinated Loans (if any), an amount not to exceed (together with amounts then on deposit th...

	(c) If, on the date of any withdrawal or transfer from the Revenue Account for payment pursuant to any of clauses "First" through "Eighth" of Section 5.03(b), the amount required to be withdrawn and transferred from the Revenue Account pursuant to suc...
	(d) For the avoidance of doubt, after application of funds in the Revenue Account on any Transfer Date or any other specified date pursuant to Section 5.03(b), to the extent any funds remain in the Revenue Account, such funds shall be transferred by t...
	(e) To the extent that the balance of funds on deposit in any Project Account with a required minimum balance exceeds such required minimum balance as of any Transfer Date, such excess funds will be transferred to the Revenue Account for application a...
	(f) If LTF Funds and Farebox Revenues on deposit in the Pari Passu Debt Service Account (or the applicable sub-accounts thereunder), the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, or any other applicable sub-acco...
	(g) On each Determination Date, the Collateral Agent shall determine whether the No Transfer Conditions are satisfied. If the No Transfer Conditions are satisfied, the Collateral Agent shall notify each Farebox Bank in writing (with a copy to the Borr...
	(h) To the extent that the Collateral Agent receives Farebox Revenues from any Farebox Bank at a time when a No Transfer Order is in effect, the Collateral Agent shall transfer such Farebox Revenues to the Borrower.  To the extent that the Collateral ...

	Section 5.04 Pari Passu Debt Service Account
	(a) The BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account, and any other sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt shall be funded in accordance with and subject to clauses "First"...
	(b) Funds on deposit in the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account shall be applied to pay principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts due and payable on the BOM Loan.
	(c) Funds on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Sub-Account shall be applied to pay principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts due and payable on the TIFIA Loan.
	(d) Funds on deposit in any other sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account shall be applied to pay principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any other fees, costs, expenses and other amounts due and payable on the applicable Additional Par...
	(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein and subject to Section 6.06(c) hereof, the Lien on (i) the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account (and on all amounts deposited thereto and Account Earnings with respect to amounts deposited thereto) shall sol...

	Section 5.05 Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account
	(a) The BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, and any other sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt shall be funded in accordance with and su...
	(b) Funds on deposit in the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account shall be applied when and in an amount required to pay principal and accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on the BOM Loan that is not otherwise paid by Revenues deposited to the R...
	(c) Funds on deposit in the TIFIA Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account shall be applied when and in an amount required to pay principal and accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on the TIFIA Loan that is not otherwise paid by Revenues deposited to t...
	(d) Funds on deposit in any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account established for any Additional Pari Passu Debt shall be applied when and in an amount required to pay principal and accrued and unpaid interest due...
	(e)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein and subject to Section 6.06(c) hereof, the Lien on (i) the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account (and on all amounts deposited thereto and Account Earnings with respect to amounts deposited thereto) ...

	Section 5.06 Mandatory Prepayment Account.
	(a) On or before the date on which the Borrower enters into any Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement that provides for the mandatory prepayment or mandatory redemption of the applicable Secured Obligations, the Borrower shall deliver written instructi...
	(b) The Mandatory Prepayment Account shall be funded as follows:
	(i) from amounts transferred, if any, from the Revenue Account in accordance with clause "Sixth" of Section 5.03(b), to make Mandatory Payments in accordance with an Additional Pari Passu Loan Agreement, as applicable; and
	(ii) from amounts transferred from any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Accounts in accordance with Section 5.01(b)(iv) and Section 5.01(b)(v).

	(c) Funds deposited into the Mandatory Prepayment Account will be transferred into  any sub-account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account established for any Secured Obligations in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.06 for prepayment and r...
	(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein and subject to Section 6.06(c) hereof, any sub-account under the Mandatory Prepayment Account established for any Secured Obligations shall be pledged solely as collateral to secure the related Secur...

	Section 5.07 Funds as Collateral
	Section 5.08 Investment
	(a) Funds in the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account (and sub-accounts thereunder) may be invested and reinvested only in Permitted Investments (at the risk and expense of the Borrower) in accordance with written instructions given to the Collater...
	(b) The Collateral Agent shall have no obligation to invest or reinvest the funds if all or a portion of the funds is deposited with (or instructions with respect to the same are given to) the Collateral Agent after 11 a.m. (E.S.T. or E.D.T., as appli...
	(c) In the event the Collateral Agent does not receive investment instructions, the amounts held by the Collateral Agent pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement shall not be invested and the Collateral Agent shall not incur any liability for inte...
	(d) The parties hereto each acknowledge that non-deposit investment products are not obligations of or guaranteed by U.S. Bank National Association nor any of its affiliates, are not FDIC insured, and are subject to investment risks, including the pos...
	(e) Any investment direction contained herein may be executed through an affiliated broker or dealer of the Collateral Agent and any such affiliated broker or dealer shall be entitled to such broker's or dealer's usual and customary fees for such exec...
	(f) Investments may be held by the Collateral Agent directly or through any clearing agency or depository (collectively, the "Clearing Agency") including the federal reserve/treasury book-entry system for United States and federal agency securities, a...

	Section 5.09 Withdrawal and Application of Funds; Priority of Transfers from Project Accounts; Event of Default
	(a) Except as expressly provided herein, each withdrawal or transfer of funds from the Project Accounts by the Collateral Agent on behalf of the Borrower will be made pursuant to an executed Funds Transfer Certificate, which certificate will be provid...
	(b) Unless a shorter period is acceptable to the Collateral Agent, such Funds Transfer Certificate relating to each applicable Project Account will be delivered to the Collateral Agent no later than two (2) Business Days prior to each date on which fu...
	(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, upon receipt of a notice of an Event of Default, the Required Creditors may (i) in connection with or following the taking of an Enforcement Action, without consent of the Borro...

	Section 5.10 Termination of Project Accounts
	Section 5.11 Securities Intermediary
	(a) The Securities Accounts shall be established and maintained as securities accounts (within the meaning of Section 8-501(a) of the UCC) with a securities intermediary.  Each of the parties to this Agreement, including U.S. Bank National Association...
	(b) The Securities Intermediary hereby accepts and agrees to act as such under this Agreement and represents and warrants that it is as of the date hereof, and shall be for so long as it is the Securities Intermediary hereunder, a banking corporation ...
	(c) It is the intent of the Collateral Agent and the Borrower that the Collateral Agent (for the benefit of the Secured Parties) be the Entitlement Holder with respect to the Securities Accounts.  In any event, the Securities Intermediary hereby agree...
	(d) The Securities Intermediary shall not change the name or account number of any Securities Account without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent and, for so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower and at...
	(e) Each Securities Account shall remain held at all times by a "securities intermediary" (within the meaning of Section 8-102(a)(14) of the UCC or, with respect to book-entry securities, in the applicable Federal Book-Entry Regulations) that is a ban...
	(f) Any income received by the Collateral Agent with respect to the balance from time to time on deposit in each Securities Account, including any interest or capital gains on investments in overnight securities made with amounts on deposit in each Se...
	(g) In the event that, notwithstanding the last sentence of clause (b) above, the Securities Intermediary has or subsequently obtains by agreement, operation of Law or otherwise a Lien in any of the Securities Accounts, or any Financial Asset credited...
	(h) The "securities intermediary's jurisdiction" of the Securities Intermediary for purposes of the UCC (or the Uniform Commercial Code of any other jurisdiction to the extent applicable) is the State of New York.
	(i) Terms used in Section 5.10 and this Section 5.11 that are defined in the UCC shall have the meaning set forth in the UCC. Without limiting the foregoing, the term "securities intermediary" shall, with respect to book-entry securities, have the mea...
	(j) To the extent that any Project Account is not considered a "securities account" (within the meaning of Section 8-501(a) of the UCC), such Project Account shall be deemed to be a "deposit account" (as defined in Section 9-102(a)(29) of the UCC), wh...

	Section 5.12 Inadequately Identified Amounts
	Section 5.13 Tax Reporting

	ARTICLE VI  COLLATERAL AND REMEDIES
	Section 6.01 Administration of Collateral.
	Section 6.02 Knowledge of Event of Default
	Section 6.03 Enforcement of Remedies
	Section 6.04 Remedies of the Secured Parties
	Section 6.05 Secured Party Information
	Section 6.06 Application of Proceeds
	(a) Subject to clauses (b) and (c) of this Section 6.06, after the taking of an Enforcement Action, all Proceeds received by the Collateral Agent derived from the funds set forth in clauses (i)-(iv) below pursuant to the exercise of any rights or reme...
	(i) All amounts on deposit in, and all Proceeds attributable to any sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Account shall be transferred to the relevant Secured Creditor with respect to such sub-account in accordance with the Lien granted on such s...
	(ii) All amounts on deposit in, and all Proceeds attributable to any sub-account of the Pari Passu Debt Service Reserve Account shall be transferred to the relevant Secured Creditor with respect to such sub-account in accordance with the Lien granted ...
	(iii) All amounts on deposit in, and all Proceeds attributable to any Additional Pari Passu Debt Proceeds Account shall be transferred to the relevant Secured Creditor with respect to such account in accordance with the Lien granted on such account an...
	(iv) All amounts on deposit in, and all Proceeds attributable to, any sub-account of the Mandatory Prepayment Account shall be transferred to the relevant Secured Creditor with respect to such sub-account in accordance with the Lien granted on such su...

	(b) Following the taking of an Enforcement Action, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement or any other Finance Document, but subject to Section 5.09(c) and clause (a) of this Section 6.06, the Collateral Agent, as directed by ...
	First, to the pro rata payment of the unpaid fees, administrative costs and expenses due and payable to the Secured Parties under the Finance Documents, if any;
	Second, to the pro rata payment of all accrued and unpaid interest due and payable on all Secured Obligations;
	Third, to the pro rata payment of any unpaid principal of any Secured Obligation that is due and payable (by acceleration or otherwise);
	Fourth, to the pro rata payment of all other amounts, if any, due and payable under the Finance Documents to the Secured Parties with respect to any Secured Obligations; and
	Fifth, upon the payment in full of all Secured Obligations in accordance with clauses "First" through "Fourth" hereof, to pay to the Borrower, or as may be directed by the Borrower, or as a court of competent jurisdiction may direct, any Proceeds then...

	(c) If at any time any Secured Party shall for any reason obtain any payment or distribution upon or with respect to the Secured Obligations contrary to the terms of this Agreement, whether as a result of the Collateral Agent's exercise of any Enforce...

	Section 6.07 Reliance on Information
	Section 6.08 Right of Holders of Secured Obligations to Direct Collateral Agent

	ARTICLE VII  COMPENSATION, INDEMNITY AND EXPENSES
	Section 7.01 Compensation; Fees and Expenses
	Section 7.02 Borrower Indemnification

	ARTICLE VIII  TERMINATION
	ARTICLE IX  ACCESSION
	Section 9.01 Accession Generally
	Section 9.02 Collateral Agent Instructions

	ARTICLE X  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
	Section 10.01 Further Assurances
	Section 10.02 Amendments; Waivers
	(a) Any term, covenant, agreement or condition of this Agreement or of any other Security Documents may be amended, modified or waived only by an instrument in writing signed by each of the Collateral Agent (acting upon the instruction of the Required...
	(b) The waiver (whether express or implied) by the Collateral Agent of any breach of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall not prejudice any remedy of the Collateral Agent in respect of any continuing or other breach of the terms and conditi...
	(c) No failure to exercise nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party, of any right, power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof.  No single or partial exercise by the Coll...

	Section 10.03 Successors and Assigns
	(a) This Agreement and the other Security Documents, if any, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Collateral Agent, the Securities Intermediary, the Borrower, the other Secured Parties that are parties hereto, any Acceding Party and t...
	(b) Nothing contained in this Agreement or any other Security Document is intended to limit the right of any Secured Party to assign, transfer or grant participations in its rights in its respective Secured Obligations and Finance Documents.

	Section 10.04 Notices
	633 W. Fifth Street, 24th Floor
	Los Angeles, CA 90071
	(iii) if to the TIFIA Lender:

	Section 10.05 Counterparts
	Section 10.06 Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial
	(a) This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably consents and submits to the ...
	(b) EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SET FORTH IN THIS CLAUSE (B), EACH PARTY AGREES TO SUBMIT TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 638, ET SEQ., OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION, OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR RELATIN...
	(c) ANY JUDICIAL REFERENCE AGREED TO IN ACCORDANCE WITH CLAUSE (B) ABOVE WILL BE FILED AND PROSECUTED IN THE LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT. PURSUANT TO SUCH JUDICIAL REFERENCE, THE PARTIES AGREE TO THE APPOINTMENT OF A SINGLE REFEREE AND TO USE THEIR BES...

	Section 10.07 Captions
	Section 10.08 Severability
	Section 10.09 Collateral Agent's Rights
	(a) If at any time the Collateral Agent is served with any judicial or administrative order, judgment, decree, writ or other form of judicial or administrative process which in any way affects the Collateral (including but not limited to orders of att...
	(b) In the event of any dispute between or conflicting claims by or among the Borrower and the Secured Parties with respect to any property being held by the Collateral Agent in connection with this Agreement or any other Security Documents, the Colla...
	(c) To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each Person who opens an account.  When any account or...

	Section 10.10 Patriot Act Notification
	Section 10.11 Events Occurring on Days That Are Not Business Days

	Exhibit A  Definitions and Rules of Interpretation
	Exhibit B  Form of Funds Transfer Certificate
	Exhibit C  Incumbency Certificate
	Exhibit D  Form of Accession Agreement

	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 5 NVTA Debt Policy FINAL_ls-KM
	I. Introduction
	II. Policy Objectives
	III. Issuance Authority and Scope of Indebtedness
	IV. Debt Management Responsibility
	V. Uses and Limits on Indebtedness
	VI. NVTA Revenues and Debt Service Payments
	VII. Financing Professionals
	A. Bond, Disclosure, or Special Finance Counsel
	B. Municipal Advisor
	C. Underwriter
	D. Trustee and Collateral Agent

	VIII. Structuring Debt Financing
	A. Term and Structure
	B. Debt Service Reserve Fund
	C. Capitalized Interest
	D. Variable Rate Debt
	E. Call Provisions
	F. Additional Debt Test
	G. Credit Enhancement
	H. Derivatives
	I. Disclosure
	J. Credit Ratings

	IX. Method of Sale
	A. Loan or Private Placement
	B. Public Offering

	X. Refunding Offerings
	XI. Debt Administration
	A. Tax-Exemption
	B. Continuing Disclosure
	C. Investment of Borrowing Proceeds
	D. State Reporting Requirements

	XII. Relationship of Debt to Capital Improvement Program and Budget
	XIII. Internal Control Procedures
	XIV. Conclusion

	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 6A Draft Credit and Security Agreement (CSA) BofM_PLACEHOLDER_ls-KM
	Article I  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1. Definitions
	1.2. Accounting Terms
	1.3. Interpretation
	1.4. Certifications

	Article II  LOANS
	2.1. Loans
	(a) Available Commitment.  Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Lender hereby agrees to make Loans to the Borrower commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the Final Borrowing Date in amounts not to exceed at any time outstanding the Av...
	(b) Borrowing Mechanics for Loans.  Whenever the Borrower desires that the Lender make a Loan, the Borrower shall deliver to the Lender at the Lender’s Office a fully executed and delivered Funding Notice, which shall be signed by [_________] no later...

	2.2. Use of Proceeds
	2.3. Evidence of Debt; Note
	2.4. Interest on and Repayment of Loans
	(a) Interest on Loans.
	(i) Amounts outstanding under this Agreement will (except to the extent specifically provided to the contrary) bear interest at the Interest Rate.  With respect to the applicable Interest Rate, during the period commencing on the Final Borrowing Date ...
	(ii) Interest payable pursuant to Section 2.4(a)(i) hereof shall be computed on a 365/360 basis, meaning it is the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of days elapsed in the period during which it accrues.  In computing interest on any Loan,...
	(iii) Except as otherwise set forth herein, interest on each Loan shall accrue on a daily basis and be payable on each Interest Payment Date and shall be paid for the actual number of days that the funds are advanced under the Loan.

	(b) Repayment of Loans.  From and after the Final Borrowing Date, the Borrower shall repay principal amounts then outstanding on the Note on each Principal Payment Date, [which such amounts shall be in equal installments (determined for each Principal...
	(c) The Borrower may prepay the principal amounts then outstanding on the Note in whole or in part (and, if in part, the amounts thereof to be prepaid shall be determined by the Borrower; provided, however, that such prepayments shall be in minimum pr...
	(d) If on any date the Borrower shall receive notice that Measure 3 Funds will be released and allocated to the Borrower and such funds will not be in an amount to fully repay all amounts then outstanding under the Note and each other Related Document...

	2.5. Reduction and Termination
	(a) The Borrower may elect to reduce the Available Commitment from time to time prior to the Final Borrowing Date by delivery to the Lender of a written Notice of Termination or Reduction in the form of Exhibit C hereto delivered thirty (30) days prio...
	(b) The Borrower may at any time and at its sole option terminate this Agreement and the Commitment upon [thirty (30)] days prior written notice to the Lender; provided, that the Borrower pays to the Lender all Obligations hereunder and under the Note...

	2.6. Maturity Date
	2.7. Default Interest
	2.8. Upfront and Legal Fees
	2.9. Intentionally Omitted
	2.10. Application of Payments or Proceeds Upon Acceleration of Obligations
	2.11. General Provisions Regarding Payments
	(a) All payments of principal, interest, fees and other Obligations shall be made pursuant to the CASA and shall be made in Same Day Funds without defense, setoff or counterclaim, free of any restriction or condition, and delivered to the Lender not l...
	(b) Whenever any payment to be made hereunder shall be stated to be due on a day that is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day and such extension of time shall be included in the computation of the payment ...
	(c) Intentionally Omitted.
	(d) The Lender shall deem any payment by or on behalf of the Borrower hereunder that is not made in Same Day Funds prior to 2:00 pm (San Francisco, California time) on the date due at the Lender’s Office to be a non-conforming payment.  Any such payme...

	2.12. Booking of Loans
	2.13. Increased Costs; Capital Adequacy
	(a) If any Change in Law shall:
	(i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, liquidity ratio, special deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or advances, loans or other credit extended or partic...
	(ii) subject the Lender to any Tax (except for Taxes on the overall net income or share capital of the Lender) of any kind whatsoever with respect to this Agreement, the Loans or the Note, or change the basis of taxation of payments to the Lender or s...
	(iii) impose on the Lender or any Participant any other condition, cost or expense affecting this Agreement, the Commitment, the Loans or the Note;

	(b) If the Lender or any Participant determines that any Change in Law affecting the Lender or such Participant or the Lender’s or such Participant’s parent or holding company, if any, regarding capital requirements, has or would have the effect of re...
	(c) A certificate of the Lender or a Participant setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate the Lender or such Participant or the Lender’s or such Participant’s parent or holding company, as the case may be, as specified in paragraph ...
	(d) Failure or delay on the part of the Lender or any Participant to demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of the Lender’s or such Participant’s right to demand such compensation.  The Borrower shall not be require...
	(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.13, in the event the Lender grants any participation to any Participant under this Agreement, the Borrower will have no obligation to pay amounts pursuant to this Section 2.13 in an amount...
	(f) The obligations of the Borrower under this Section 2.13 shall survive the termination of the Commitment and this Agreement.

	2.14. Security; Obligations Absolute
	(a) As security for the payment of principal and interest of the Note, the Borrower shall (i) pledge, assign and grant to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Lender, a senior Lien on the Collateral described in clause (a) of the definition the...
	(b) Except (i) for the Liens granted pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Agreement and the other documents related thereto, the BOM NVTA Loan Facility or this Agreement and the other Related Documents, or (ii) to the extent otherwise provided in Section 2.14(a...
	(c) The Borrower shall not use Local Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower or Farebox Revenues to make any payments or satisfy any obligations other than in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.14, the TIFIA Loan Agreement, the BO...
	(d) The CASA provides that all Local Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower and all Farebox Revenues shall, subject to Section 5.03(g) of the CASA, be deposited in the Revenue Account and amounts on deposit in the Revenue Account shall be appl...
	(e) No filing, registration, recording or publication of the Authorizing Resolution, the Note, the CASA or this Agreement or any other instrument nor any prior separation or physical delivery of the Farebox Revenues is required to establish the pledge...
	(f) The payment obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement shall be unconditional and irrevocable and shall be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under all circumstances, including, without limitation, the following:
	(i) any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement, the Obligations or any of the other Related Documents;
	(ii) any amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from all or any of the Related Documents;
	(iii) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other right which the Borrower may have at any time against the Lender, or any other person or entity, whether in connection with this Agreement, the other Related Documents, the transactions conte...
	(iv) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing.



	Article III  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
	3.1. Closing Date
	(a) Related Documents.  The Lender shall have received:
	(i) sufficient copies of this Agreement, originally executed and delivered by each applicable Borrower for the Lender;
	(ii) the Note executed by the Borrower in favor of the Lender;
	(iii) the CASA executed by the Borrower, the Lender, the TIFIA Lender and the Collateral Agent.

	(b) Organizational Documents; Incumbency; Resolution.  The Lender shall have received:
	(i) a signature and incumbency certificate of the officers or other authorized representatives of the Borrower executing the Related Documents;
	(ii) the Authorizing Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Borrower approving and authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Related Documents or by which it or its assets may be bound as of the Closing Date, certified as of the ...
	(iii) a certificate executed by an officer of the Borrower providing that each of the representations and warranties set forth in each Related Document is true and correct as of the Closing Date;
	(iv) audited financial statements, any unaudited financial statements since the most recent audited financial statements, and debt management policy;
	(v) a certificate evidencing no default shall have occurred and no material adverse change has occurred with respect to the Borrower;
	(vi) legal opinions of counsel to the Borrower and bond counsel to the Borrower each in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender;
	(vii) a certified copy of the Borrower’s Joint Powers Agreement, and
	(viii) such other documents as the Lender may reasonably request.

	(c) No Litigation.  There shall not exist any action, suit, investigation, litigation or proceeding or other legal or regulatory developments, pending or threatened to the Borrower’s knowledge in any court or before any arbitrator or Governmental Auth...
	(d) Collateral Agent and other CASA –Related Documents.  The Lender shall receive certificates, resolutions, opinions and other documents as the Lender may reasonably request from the Collateral Agent and from the Napa Valley Transportation Authority.
	(e) Other Financing Documents.  Concurrently with the effectiveness of this Agreement and the Related Documents, the Borrower will deliver to the Lender certified, complete, and fully executed copies of each Other Financing Document, together with any...
	(f) Other Funding Sources for the Project.  Borrower shall have secured all approvals, as demonstrated to the Lender’s satisfaction, for other funding sources for the Project from such Persons (including from any applicable Governmental Authority) for...
	(g) Other Matters.  All other legal matters pertaining to the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Related Documents shall be satisfactory to the Lender and its counsel, and the Lender shall have received such other statements, certificate...

	3.2. Conditions to Each Credit Extension
	(a) Notice.  The Lender shall have received a fully executed and delivered Funding Notice;
	(b) Credit Line.  After making the Credit Extensions requested on such Credit Date, the Total Outstandings shall not exceed the Credit Availability then in effect;
	(c) TIFIA Loans.  All amounts to be loaned pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Agreement shall be fully disbursed and the TIFIA Lender shall have no further commitments to lend, as demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Lender;
	(d) Grants.  Borrower shall be in compliance with the requirements of Section 3.1(f);
	(e) Reporting.  Borrower shall have provided all such reporting required by Section 5.1(b)(v), including, if such reporting shows a shortfall in funding to complete the Project, that the Borrower has secured such additional sources of funding to compl...
	(f) Invoices.  Borrower shall provide all invoices and such other documentation required by the Lender in connection with work to be or previously performed in connection with such request for a Loan;
	(g) Inspection.  The Lender will have performed or have scheduled to perform such inspections of the Project as permitted or otherwise required by Section 5.1(d);
	(h) Construction-Related Contract.  The Borrower shall have provided to the Lender certified, complete, and fully executed copies of each Construction-Related Contract that has been entered into as of the date of such Credit Extension, together with a...
	(i) Representations and Warranties.  As of such Credit Date, the representations and warranties contained herein and in the other Related Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except for those representations and warranties tha...
	(j) No Default or Event of Default.  As of such Credit Date, no event shall have occurred and be continuing or would result from the consummation of the applicable Credit Extension that would constitute a Default or an Event of Default hereunder; and
	(k) No Material Adverse Effect.  As of such Credit Date, no event, including any change in any Law, or omission shall have occurred which has resulted, or is likely to result, in a Material Adverse Effect.

	3.3. Notices

	Article IV  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
	4.1. Organization, Powers, Etc
	4.2. Authorization, Absence of Conflicts, Etc
	4.3. Governmental Consent or Approval
	4.4. Binding Obligations
	4.5. Litigation
	4.6. Financial Condition
	4.7. Related Documents
	4.8. Incorporation of Representations and Warranties
	4.9. Margin Regulations
	4.10. No Event of Default
	4.11. Security; Pledge of Revenues Securing Obligations
	4.12. Sovereign Immunity
	4.13. Accurate Information
	4.14. Maximum Rate
	4.15. No Proposed Legal Changes
	4.16. Valid Lien
	4.17. ERISA
	4.18. Solvency
	4.19. Environmental Laws
	4.20. Investment Policy
	4.21. Binding Effect
	4.22. Swap Contracts
	4.23. Usury Limits

	Article V  COVENANTS
	5.1. Affirmative Covenants of the Borrower
	(a) Notice of Default.  As promptly as practical after the date the Borrower shall have obtained knowledge of the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default or a breach of this Agreement or any other Related Document, the Borrower will provide not...
	(b) Reporting Requirements.  The Borrower will provide the following to the Lender:
	(i) as soon as available, but in any event no later than one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of each Fiscal Year of the Borrower, the Borrower will provide to the Lender (A) the audited financial statements of the Borrower consisting of a bala...
	(ii) as soon as available, but in any event not later than forty five (45) days after the end of each quarterly periods of each fiscal year of the Borrower, the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower as at the end of such quarter and the...
	(iii) concurrently with the delivery of the financial statements set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) above, a certificate from the Chairman of the Board or another authorized officer and addressed to the Lender stating that (A) neither a Default nor an ...
	(iv) promptly after process has been served on the Borrower, the Borrower will provide to the Lender written notice of any newly filed action, suit or proceeding before any court or other Governmental Authority in which there is a reasonable probabili...
	(v) as soon as possible after the Borrower acquires knowledge of the occurrence of (A) the filing of any initiative or referendum which could lead to the diminution or reallocation of the Revenues or any portion thereof, or (B) any other event which, ...
	(vi) as soon as available, the Borrower will provide the Lender a copy of (A) the Borrower’s annual budget, including all cash flow projections for such periods covered by the budget, and (B) the Revised Financial Model, including as it is updated per...
	(vii) until the Substantial Completion Date, the Borrower will provide the Lender, within thirty (30) days following the last day of each calendar quarter, reports, in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender, regarding the Project, including per...
	(viii) promptly following Borrower’s receipt thereof, copies of all annual allocation letters and/or funding availability notices;
	(ix) as soon as available, but in any event within forty five (45) days of each quarter end, copies of all reports received by the Borrower from the Metropolitan Transportation Commission as well as any other Governmental Authority related thereto in ...
	(x) as soon as available (and, in any event, within thirty (30) days of the Borrower’s receipt of any notice or other update regarding the status of the Measure 3 Funds), the Borrower shall provide updates to the status of the litigation and other pro...
	(xi) the Borrower will provide the Lender, from time to time, such additional information regarding the financial position, operations, business or prospects of the Borrower, and the operation and management of the Borrower, as may be in the possessio...

	(c) Use of Proceeds.  The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Loans for to fund the construction of the Project in accordance with the permitted uses set forth in Section 2.2, all of which shall comply with Applicable Laws.
	(d) Inspections; Discussion.  The Borrower will permit the Lender or its representatives, at any reasonable time during normal business hours and from time to time at the request of the Lender to the extent that the Borrower is not legally precluded f...
	(e) Further Assurances.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, the Borrower shall take any and all actions necessary or reasonably requested by the Lender to (i) perfect and protect, any lien, pledge or security interest or other right or interest gi...
	(f) Taxes and Liabilities.  The Borrower shall pay all its Debt and obligations promptly and in accordance with their terms and pay and discharge or cause to be paid and discharged promptly all taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imp...
	(g) Incorporation of Covenants.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, the covenants of the Borrower set forth in each of the Related Documents to which the Borrower is a party are hereby incorporated by reference in this Agreement for the benefit of...
	(h) Waiver of Sovereign Immunity.  Except for applicable requirements of the Borrower and the Lender pursuant to the Applicable Law of the State of California relating to the Lender asserting a claim hereunder, the Borrower hereby agrees not to assert...
	(i) Credit Facilities.  Except for the TIFIA Loan Agreement, in the event that the Borrower shall, directly or indirectly, enter into or otherwise consent to any Lender Agreement, which such Lender Agreement provides such Person with additional remedi...
	(j) Right to Accelerate.  In the event the Borrower shall, directly or indirectly, enter into or otherwise consent to any Lender Agreement, which Lender Agreement includes the right to accelerate the payment of the principal of or interest on any seri...
	(k) Revenues; Budget and Appropriation.  The Borrower covenants and agrees that it shall take any and all action necessary such that Revenues in each Fiscal Year shall equal an amount at least sufficient to satisfy the respective provisions of the Rel...
	(l) Financial Covenants.  The Borrower shall at all times adequately maintain the debt service payments and reserve funds, if any, on any Pari Passu Obligations, including the Adjusted Debt Service Amount with respect to such Pari Passu Obligations.
	(m) Maintenance of Existence.  The Borrower shall preserve and maintain its existence and rights as a joint powers authority.
	(n) Disclosure to Participants.  Except to the extent expressly prohibited by state or federal law, the Borrower shall permit the Lender to disclose any information received by the Lender in connection herewith including, without limitation, the finan...
	(o) Licenses, Permits, Etc.  The Borrower will take all necessary and appropriate action to ensure the continuance in force of all material consents, licenses, permits, orders, decrees, authorizations, registrations, filings and other Governmental App...
	(p) Insurance.  The Borrower shall maintain insurance with financially sound and reputable insurance companies against at least such risks and in at least such amounts as are customarily maintained by similar businesses and as may be required by appli...
	(q) Construction-Related Contracts.  If the Borrower enters into a Construction-Related Contract after the Closing Date, the Borrower shall provide to the Lender an executed version of such Construction-Related Contract, together with any related perf...
	(r) Intentionally Omitted.
	(s) Debt Service.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, the Borrower shall maintain, at all times, in the BOM Debt Service Sub-Account, an amount equal to the requirements of clause (a) of the definition of Adjusted Debt Service Amount.  Furthermore...
	(t) Collection of Revenues.
	(i) Pursuant to the LTF Irrevocable Instruction, the Borrower shall instruct the County of Napa to transfer all Local Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower to the Collateral Agent to be deposited in the Revenue Account immediately upon alloca...
	(ii) On each Transfer Date (as defined in the CASA) and, with respect to funds deposited to the Revenue Account in accordance with Section 5.03(a)(iii) of the CASA, on any date on which such funds are deposited into the Revenue Account, the Borrower s...
	(iii) If Local Transportation Funds and Farebox Revenues on deposit in the Pari Passu Debt Service Account (or the applicable sub-accounts thereunder), the BOM Debt Service Reserve Sub-Account, or any other applicable sub-account of the Pari Passu Deb...


	5.2. Negative Covenants of the Borrower
	(a) Compliance With Laws, Etc.  Violate any laws, rules, regulations, governmental orders or other Governmental Approvals to which it, is subject and of which it is aware after diligent inquiry, which violation could reasonably be expected to result i...
	(b) Amendments.  (i) Subject to the provisions of the CASA, amend, modify or supplement in any manner whatsoever the Authorizing Resolution or the Joint Powers Agreement, (ii) amend, modify or supplement in any manner whatsoever the TIFIA Loan Agreeme...
	(c) Liens, Etc.  Subject to the provisions of the CASA, create or suffer to exist any Lien upon or with respect to any of the funds or accounts created under the CASA other than as consented to by the Lender.
	(d) Swap Contract.  Unless otherwise consented to in writing by the Lender, the Borrower shall not enter into any Swap Contract relating to Debt secured by Revenues.
	(e) Federal Reserve Board Regulations.  The Borrower shall not use any portion of the proceeds of any Loans or the Note for the purpose of carrying or purchasing any Margin Stock.
	(f) Use of Lender’s Name.  Except as may be required by law (including, but not limited to, federal and state securities laws), the Borrower shall not use the Lender’s name in any published materials (other than the Borrower’s staff reports, annual st...
	(g) Accounting Changes.  Change the times of commencement or termination of Fiscal Years or other accounting periods without first disclosing in writing such change to the Lender.
	(h) Consolidation, Merger, Etc.  Dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the assets of the Borrower or consolidate with or merge into another Person or permit one or more other Persons to consolidate with or merge into the Borrowe...
	(i) such merger or consolidation shall be with or into another governmental entity which shall assume in writing, reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Lender, or by operation of law the due and punctual performance and observance of al...
	(ii) such merger or consolidation shall not adversely affect or impair to any extent or in any manner (1) the Revenues, (2) the availability of the Revenues for the payment and security of the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement, and (3) ...
	(iii) the Borrower shall have given the Lender not less than sixty (60) days’ prior written notice of such merger or consolidation and furnished to the Lender all such information concerning such merger or consolidation as shall have been reasonably r...

	(i) Indebtedness.
	(i) Except for Permitted Debt, without the prior written consent of the Lender, issue or incur indebtedness of any kind (including financing leases (other than leases described in clause (e) of the definition of Permitted Debt), certificates of partic...
	(ii) Issue indebtedness for borrowed money that is senior to the Loan in right of payment or security from any Revenues.
	(iii) Issue any Subordinated Obligations without the prior written consent of the Lender; provided, that in no event shall the Lender approve any Subordinated Obligations that (A) are subject to acceleration by the holder thereof or (B) provide rights...
	(iv) Issue or incur Additional Obligations unless the Local Transportation Funds allocated to the Borrower and deposited into the Revenue Account and Farebox Revenues received by or on behalf of the Borrower, in the aggregate, during any twelve (12) c...
	(v) Issue or incur any (A) Capital Appreciation Obligations, (B) Deferred Interest Obligations, or (C) Pari Passu Obligation or Subordinated Obligation that bears interest at a variable interest rate, in each case, without the prior written consent of...
	Furthermore, in connection with the aforementioned restrictions under this Section 5.2(i),
	(1) Prior to the incurrence of Permitted Debt described in clause (d) of the definition thereof or any Subordinated Obligations consented to by the Lender in accordance with clause (iii) above, the Borrower shall deliver to the Lender (A) a Revised Fi...
	(2) To the extent any Permitted Debt consists of Put Obligations, the Borrower must maintain a Liquidity Facility that will pay any amounts payable by the Borrower in respect of such Put Obligations.
	(3) The Borrower shall deliver to the TIFIA Lender a copy of the fully executed Accession Agreement (as defined in the CASA) delivered pursuant to Sections 9.01 and 9.02 of the CASA in connection with the issuance of any Additional Obligations, prompt...



	Article VI  EVENTS OF DEFAULT
	6.1. Events of Default
	(a) The Borrower shall (i) commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, dissolution, composition or other similar relief with respect to itself or its indebtedness under any ba...
	(b) Any of the following shall occur with respect to the Borrower: (i) an involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against the Borrower seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to it or its indebtedness under any...
	(c) Any Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall declare a financial emergency or similar declaration with respect to the Borrower and shall appoint or designate, with respect to the Borrower, an entity such as an organization, a board, ...
	(d) The dissolution or termination of the existence of the Borrower shall occur; or
	(e) The Borrower shall fail to pay the principal of or interest on the Note when due; or
	(f) The Borrower shall fail to pay any Obligation when due (other than as provided in Section 6.1(e) hereof) and such failure shall continue for five (5) days after the Borrower has received written notice from the Lender that any such amount was not ...
	(g) The Borrower shall default in the observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to the Obligations or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other default, event of default or s...
	(h) The occurrence of any event of default or termination under (i) the TIFIA Loan Agreement, (ii) the BOM NVTA Loan Facility, or (iii) under any other document related to the TIFIA Loan Agreement (which is not waived pursuant to the terms thereof); or
	(i) Any material representation or warranty made by or on behalf of the Borrower in this Agreement (including, without limitation, representation and warranties incorporated herein by reference) or in any certificate or statement delivered hereunder o...
	(j) The Borrower shall default in the due performance or observance of any term, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any other Related Document (except for any default under Sections 6.1(e), 6.1(f), 6.1(g), or 6.1(h)) and such default...
	(k) The existence of one or more final, non-appealable judgments, attachments or levies against the Borrower for the payment of money payable out of Revenues, the operation or result of which, individually or in the aggregate, equals or exceeds $5,000...
	(l) Any Lien created by this Agreement or any other Related Document in favor of, or for the benefit of, the Lender shall at any time or for any reason (except as expressly permitted to be released by the terms of such governing document) not constitu...
	(m) (i) Any provision of this Agreement, the Note or any other Related Document related to (A) payment of principal of or interest on the Note or (B) the validity or enforceability of the pledge of, and Lien on, the Revenues shall, at any time and for...
	(n) The TDA shall be repealed or shall be amended or modified in such a manner that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
	(1) the Credit Availability shall immediately terminate or be reduced (as specified by the Lender);
	(2) the aggregate principal of all Loans, all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, all fees and all other Obligations under the Related Documents, shall become due and payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or further notice of any ...
	(3) the Lender may exercise any and all of its other rights and remedies under applicable Law or at equity, hereunder and under the other Related Documents;
	(4) all Obligations hereunder and under the Note to accrue interest at the Default Rate;
	(5) the Lender may cure any Default, Event of Default or event of nonperformance hereunder or under any Related Document; provided, however, that the Lender shall have no obligation to effect such a cure; and
	(6) either personally or by attorney or agent without bringing any action or proceeding, or by a receiver to be appointed by a court in any appropriate action or proceeding, take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to...

	6.2. Application of Proceeds

	Article VII  MISCELLANEOUS
	7.1. Notices
	(a) Generally.  Any notice or other communication herein required or permitted to be given to the Borrower, the Lender, and the Lender shall be sent to such Person’s address as set forth on Appendix A hereof or in the other relevant Related Document. ...
	(b) Electronic Communications.
	(i) Notices and other communications to the Lender hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Lender; provided that the foregoing shal...
	(ii) The Borrower understands that the distribution of material through an electronic medium is not necessarily secure and that there are confidentiality and other risks associated with such distribution and agrees and assumes the risks associated wit...
	(iii) Any Approved Electronic Communications are provided “as is” and “as available”.  None of the Lender or its respective officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors or representatives (the “Lender Affiliates”) warrants the accuracy, adequacy, ...


	7.2. Expenses
	7.3. Indemnity
	7.4. Reserved
	7.5. Amendments and Waivers
	7.6. Participants
	7.7. Independence of Covenants
	7.8. Survival of Representations, Warranties and Related Documents
	7.9. No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative
	7.10. Marshalling; Payments Set Aside
	7.11. Severability
	7.12. Headings
	7.13. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue; Waiver of Jury Trial
	(a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.
	(b) EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION.  EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION (c), EACH OF THE PARTIES AGREES THAT ALL DISPUTES AMONG THEM ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH, RELATED TO, OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED AMONG THEM IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS AG...
	(c) OTHER JURISDICTIONS.  EACH BORROWER AGREES THAT THE LENDER HAS THE RIGHT TO PROCEED AGAINST EACH BORROWER AND ITS RESPECTIVE PROPERTY IN A COURT IN ANY LOCATION TO ENABLE THE LENDER TO (1) OBTAIN PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER ANY BORROWER OR (2) REAL...
	(d) VENUE.  THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY OBJECTION OF THE LAYING OF VENUE OR BASED ON THE GROUNDS OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS) WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE BRINGING OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PR...
	(e) SERVICE OF PROCESS.  THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO THE SERVICE OF PROCESS OF ANY OF THE AFOREMENTIONED COURTS IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY THE MAILING OF COPIES THEREOF BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL, POSTAGE PREPAID, TO SUCH BORROW...
	(f) JUDICIAL REFERENCE.  EACH PARTY AGREES TO SUBMIT TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 638, ET SEQ., OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION, OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY EXHI...
	(g) ADVICE OF COUNSEL.  EACH OF THE PARTIES REPRESENTS TO EACH OTHER PARTY HERETO THAT IT HAS DISCUSSED THIS AGREEMENT AND, SPECIFICALLY, THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION, WITH ITS COUNSEL.

	7.14. Counterparts; Electronic Execution
	7.15. No Strict Construction
	7.16. OFAC; Patriot Act
	(a) The Lender hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the Patriot Act it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and ...
	(b) The Borrower shall (i) ensure that it is not and shall not be listed on the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List or other similar lists maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), the U.S. Department of the Treas...

	7.17. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship
	(a) after making the above-requested Loan on the Credit Date, the Total Outstandings does not exceed the Credit Availability then in effect;
	(b) as of the Credit Date, the representations and warranties contained in each of the Related Documents are true and correct in all material respects (except for those representations and warranties that are conditioned by materiality, which are true...
	(c) as of the Credit Date, no event has occurred and is continuing or would result from the consummation of the borrowing contemplated hereby that would constitute an Event of Default or a Default;
	(d) as of such Credit Date, no event, including any change in any Law, or omission shall have occurred which has resulted, or is likely to result, in a Material Adverse Effect; and



	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 6B Draft Waiver and Consent (Existing BOM Loan)_ls-KM
	Section 1. Definitions.
	Section 2. Acknowledgments, Consents and Waivers.  BOM hereby:
	(a) acknowledges and consents to the Borrower entering into the 2021 BOM Loan Documents and the TIFIA Loan Documents and incurring the obligations owing to both of BOM and to the TIFIA Lender associated with the TIFIA Transaction;
	(b) acknowledges that pursuant to the TIFIA Loan Documents the Borrower will grant a security interest in the TIFIA Collateral to the Collateral Agent under the CASA (for the benefit of the TIFIA Lender and any other lender to the Borrower that become...
	(c) agrees that none of the Borrower’s execution and delivery of the 2021 BOM Loan Documents, the TIFIA Loan Documents, the Borrower’s grant of a security interest in the TIFIA Collateral to the Collateral Agent under the CASA or the TIFIA CASA (for t...
	(d) agrees that notwithstanding any security interest held by BOM in property of the Borrower pursuant to the BOM Documents, the Collateral Agent (acting at the direction of the required creditors under the CASA or the TIFIA CASA) shall have an exclus...
	(e) except as expressly set forth in the 2021 BOM Loan Documents, (i) waives any right, title and interest with respect to the TIFIA Collateral that BOM might otherwise have pursuant to any BOM Document or in law or in equity and (ii) waives any right...
	(f) The Borrower shall not commingle proceeds from TIFIA Collateral, including Local Transportation Funds included therein, with proceeds from non-TIFIA Collateral.

	Section 3. Third-Party Beneficiaries.  BOM, as lender under the 2021 BOM Loan Documents, the TIFIA Lender and the Collateral Agent are each a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement with respect to all rights, benefits, remedies, claims and other pr...
	Section 4. Miscellaneous.
	(a) No amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall in any event be effective without the written consent of each of the parties hereto and the TIFIA Lender.
	(b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.
	(c) In case any provision in or obligation under this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in...
	(d) This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns.
	(e) This Agreement and any amendments, waivers, consents or supplements hereto or in connection herewith may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and del...
	(f) This Agreement shall be effective as of the date first written above.
	[signature page(s) follow(s)]


	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 7 MF Funding Plan as of June 2021_ls-KM
	BMF Budget Jun 2021

	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 8 LTF Redirection Agreement MTC Napa Cty signed_ls-KM
	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 9 Irrevocable Direction to Deposit Farebox Revenues_ls-KM
	9.2_Financing Bus Maint Facility Attch 10 SB450 Disclosure Good Faith Estimate of Costs_ls-KM
	Attachment 10
	GOOD FAITH ESTIMATES



	0006_1_Staff Report
	9.3_Transit Services Contract_Cover ao_ls-KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

	FISCAL IMPACT


	9.3_Transit Services Contract_Memo_Errata
	Action Requested: APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION


	9.3_Transit Services Contract Attch 1 Resolution 21-21 Transit Ops Servs Contract ao_ls
	9.3_Transit Services Contract Attch 2 TRANSDEV (D)-KM
	XX_TRANS OPS SVCS CONTRACT (DRAFT2)
	XX_TRANS OPS SVCS CONTRACT (DRAFT1)
	AGREEMENT NO. 21-12
	TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES
	NAPA VALLEY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
	TRANSDEV SERVICES, INC.
	RECITALS 1
	AGREEEMENT 1
	SIGNATURES 24
	TRANSIT OPERATIONS SERVICES AGREEMENT NO. 21-12
	SECTION 13 - USE OF SUBCONTRACTORS/SUBCONSULTANTS.  The
	SECTION - 15  HOLD HARMLESS/DEFENSE/INDEMNIFICATION.
	SECTION 17 - ENDORSEMENTS.
	SECTION 18 - GENERAL PROVISIONS.
	SECTION 27 -  PERFORMANCE     BOND     AND     PERFORMANCE    BOND
	SECTION 29 - NON-DISCRIMINATION ASSURANCE-TITLE  VI  CIVIL RIGHTS
	SECTION 31 - OTHER FEDERAL COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS (FEDERAL

	ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION
	ATTACHMENT A
	SCOPE OF SERVICES
	1.  List of Routes
	2.  Service Hours and Days
	3.  Routes and Service Area - Local Fixed Route Services
	4.  Routes and Service Area - Regional Routes
	5. Routes and Service Area – Express Bus Service
	6. On Demand Services
	a. Area of Coverage.  On Demand bus service operates in the four (4) communities within the County of Napa outside the City of Napa. On Demand services are provided in the City of Calistoga, the City of St. Helena, the Town of Yountville, and the City...
	b. Days and Span of Service.  On Demand Transit service is generally available. Other local shuttles have specific schedules for their On Demand services that Vine operates.  During the COVID-19 pandemic, all services have transitioned to On Demand or...
	c. Ride the Vine App.  NVTA will provide Ride The Vine app or similar software for use by the CONTRACTOR for operating On Demand services.

	7.  Fare Collection
	8. Clipper Card
	9. Pick-Up of On Demand Passengers
	10. Complementary ADA Para Transit Service
	a. Description of Services - Vine Go.  Vine Go ADA paratransit bus service is available to qualified, certified persons with disabilities unable to board a regular Vine Transit fixed route bus, access a Vine Transit bus stop, or otherwise navigate the...
	b. Area of Coverage.  Vine Go’s Paratransit service is operated within three-quarters (¾) of a mile from a fixed route trip.  Trips continuing outside of the Vine Transit service areas to cities are to be coordinated with the adjacent city’s paratrans...
	d. Service Days & Hours. ADA paratransit service hours shall be consistent with fixed-route service schedule availability and change accordingly with new schedules. To view current paratransit schedules, see Table 2: Vine Transit Span of Services as o...
	e.   Eligibility.  Certification for ADA customers is conducted by CARE Evaluators, which is a third party contracted by NVTA. Eligible individuals are entered into the regional database.
	f. Trapeze Pass.  If the CONTRACTOR does not already use a dispatching software, NVTA will provide a Trapeze PASS or similar dispatching system for use in operating ADA paratransit services. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible at their cost for obtaining ...
	g. Pick-Up of ADA Paratransit Passengers.  CONTRACTOR shall arrive at the appointed passenger pick-up time but under no circumstance no more than fifteen (15) minutes after the appointed pick-up time. If in the case the CONTRACTOR arrives early, they ...
	h. Reservation/Scheduling.  CONTRACTOR shall perform reservations and scheduling of Paratransit trips as follows:

	11.   Shared Vehicle Program
	12.  Other Services or Special Assignments
	a.  Additional Service and Special Events.  NVTA may elect to add additional hours for special events where increased public transit is needed. The CONTRACTOR shall furnish drivers and staff to provide such service.  These services include but are not...
	b.  Emergency Response and Mutual Aid.  NVTA may be called upon for emergency operation services in the event of a disaster.  Also NVTA is a party to the Metropolitan Transportation Commission’s mutual aid agreement.   NVTA could be called upon to pro...
	c.  Procurement of Equipment or Additional Services.  Should there be a need to purchase any additional capital assets, those that cost over $10,000 will be purchased by NVTA.  Anything below this amount will be the responsibility of the CONTRATOR.


	Vehicle Fleet and Matrix
	Description of NVTA Maintained Facilities
	1. Current Maintenance Yard
	2. Future Maintenance Facility
	3. Soscal Gateway Transit Center
	4. Redwood Park and Ride, Napa
	5. Yountville Park and Ride, Yountville
	6. Imola Park and Ride - In Service Date of Summer 2021

	Bus Stops
	1. Standard, Benches, and Shelters

	Responsibility of NVTA
	1. Management/Administrative Oversight
	2. Planning
	3. Maintenance and Equipment
	4. Technology
	5. Amenities
	6. Liability Insurance for Shared Vehicles
	7. Utilities

	Responsibility of CONTRACTOR
	1. Bus Operators (Drivers and Supervisors)
	Minimum Qualifications
	Operator Appearance
	Road Supervision

	2. Emergency Operations
	3. Bus, Vehicle, and Equipment Maintenance
	State of Good Repair
	Preventative Maintenance
	Fueling
	Cleaning
	Technical Ability
	Mechanical Maintenance Program and Training
	Parts
	ADA Equipment
	Tires
	Tools
	Electric Equipment
	Towing
	Utilization of Outside Services
	Road Calls
	Advertisement on Buses

	4. Facility Maintenance
	Use of Vehicles and Equipment
	Maintenance History and Record Retention
	Maintenance Personnel Uniforms

	5. Training, Testing
	Initial Operator Training
	Special Retraining
	Employee Performance

	6. Utilities
	7. Dispatch
	Runcutting
	Dispatch Log

	8. Ticket Office
	9. Customer Service
	10. Comments and Complaints
	11. Number of Administrative Staff
	12. Federal/State Compliance and Reporting
	Federal Reporting
	State Reporting

	General Reporting
	Daily Reporting
	Monthly Reporting
	Quarterly and Other Reporting Requirements

	13. Biannual Fleet Reporting
	Paratransit Specific Reporting
	14. Access to Records and Facility
	15. Reporting, Performance Measures, Metrics, and Incentives and  Deductions
	Service Reliability
	Disadvantage Business Enterprise Goal
	Incentives and Deductions

	16.  Committee and Management Meetings
	17. Transit Workers Focus Group
	18. Technology
	19. CHP Inspections
	20. Other
	Schedule Production
	Identification Badges
	Other On-Board Distribution/Collection of Information
	Regional Transit Discount Card
	Lost and Found
	Emergency Contact
	Media Contact


	Special COVID-19 Service and Requirements
	1. Service during COVID-19
	2. CONTRACTOR COVID-19 Requirements
	Vehicle & Cleaning Requirements
	Staff Requirements



	Transdev BAFO ATTACHMENT A_RFP Multi-Year Price List and Staffing Plan Workbook_v4_5.28.2021TEST
	Attach_A_Instructions
	Attach_A1_Multi-Year Price List
	Attach_A2_Multi-YearStaffPlan
	Data Validation

	XX_TRANS OPS SVCS CONTRACT (DRAFT1)
	Transdev BAFO Response_5.28.21
	XX_TRANS OPS SVCS CONTRACT (DRAFT1)

	E_REQUIRED FORMS
	Napa FINAL - 3.29.21

	XX_TRANS OPS SVCS CONTRACT (DRAFT2)
	F_CERTS
	Napa FINAL - 3.29.21



	0007_1_Staff Report
	9.4_Establishing Salary Ranges FY 2021-22 Cover ao_KM changes
	Action Requested:  APPROVE
	SUBJECT
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	9.4_Establishing Salary Ranges FY 2021-22 Memo ao_
	Action Requested: APPROVE
	RECOMMENDATION
	BACKGROUND


	9.4_Establishing Salary Ranges FY 2021-22 Attch 1 Resolution 21-22_ls
	RESOLUTION No 21-22

	9.4_Establishing Salary Ranges FY 2021-22 Attch 2 Resolution 19-15 - Salary Ranges FY 2019-20_ls
	9.4_Establishing Salary Ranges FY 2021-22 Attch 3 Salary Matrix with Survey Comparison
	Sheet1


	0008_1_Staff Report
	9.5_Legislative Update_Cover_kes
	Action Requested:  INFORMATION
	SUBJECT
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	9.5_Legislative Update_Memo_kes
	Action Requested:  INFORMATION
	RECOMMENDATION
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


	9.5_Legislative Update Attch 1 NVTA State Budget Report 6-29_kes
	9.5_Legislative Update Attch 2 NVTA State Matrix 6-25_kes




